# Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders

Faustino R. Pérez-López *Editor* 



Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders

Faustino R. Pérez-López Editor

# Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders



*Editor* Faustino R. Pérez-López Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology University of Zaragoza Facultad de Medicina Zaragoza Spain

#### ISBN 978-3-030-13935-3 ISBN 978-3-030-13936-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0

#### © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

The second half of female life corresponds to the last years of the reproductive phase and postmenopause. During this period, the specific phenomenon of the menopause occurs, as a consequence of ovarian function cessation, converging in parallel with physical aging. Elder women have specific risk features and disease managements that differ from those of elder men. Therefore, it is clear that due to these differences, medical care should be gender-based. Furthermore, gender biases in medical research have been frequent, and many drugs have not been tested in women before coming into the market. Therefore, it is not surprising that adverse drug reactions are more likely to occur in women than in men due to the lack of gender-oriented research.

Science and medicine are continuous processes characterized by the substitution of "old" for "new" evidence. The so-called evidence-based medicine (EBM) refers to clinical decision-making or the indication of interventions based on validated tests or scientific data. Nonetheless, EBM cannot provide answers to all scientific questions or, in many cases, may not provide a sufficient level of quality. Hence, well-designed observational studies may also provide provisional recommendations—and limitations—for clinical interventions until randomized controlled trials offer a higher level of evidence. Thus, management strategies that are based on clinical trials undertaken in younger people or in men may not be appropriate for postmenopausal women.

For much time, physicians and other healthcare providers have accepted as routine care those procedures and treatments that seem consolidated or free of any discussion. However, sooner or later, uncertainties or limitations are detected, even in the most obvious aspects, and everything is subject to revision. Therefore, science is a *perpetuum mobile*, and this book has tried to collect the most rigorous and current scientific information as a starting point to delve into each topic. The aim of this book is to provide a practical, holistic, unbiased, and non-promotional guide for health professionals dealing with women in their post-reproductive years. International authors and opinion leaders cover the wide spectrum of gynecological and non-gynecological conditions affecting post-reproductive health. Evidencebased information, where available, is presented, and clinical recommendations are put into perspective. The book therefore provides an integrated approach to postreproductive health. This book includes many topics that are relevant to women's health during their second half of life, written by opinion leaders in their corresponding area of knowledge. Each reader will jump into chapters that are closer to their quotidian area of clinical or research interest and healthcare work. In addition, the book also expects to serve as a consulting reference for those borderline/frontier aspects or topics that are not so close to the daily clinical practice yet need to be reassessed or updated in a given moment.

From time to time, we need to "pause" in order to assess where we are, and where we want to go, to reach the best clinical approach as researchers, academics, and healthcare providers. The authors of the different chapters have performed a great effort in order to provide a critical analysis of the state-of-the-art knowledge, without omitting doubts or controversies. The last years have been a time of progress in diagnosis, treatments, and integration of renovated ideas, which have not been exempt from controversy. This book includes the best evidence possible related to different hot topics in older women's health. Many chapters also put into perspective clinical recommendations, always based on recent meta-analyses.

The editor wants to thank the authors for their dedication and efforts in writing on schedule. I would also like to thank Springer Nature for their excellent and rapid editorial assistance. The editor and the authors look forward to an international readership taking advantage of this book to update their knowledge and improve their clinical practice.

Zaragoza, Spain

Faustino R. Pérez-López

## Contents

1	Assisted Reproductive Technology inPerimenopausal Women1Nicolás Mendoza Ladrón de Guevaraand Miguel Angel Motos Guirao
2	Turner Syndrome: Primary Amenorrhea fromAdolescence to Aging19Camil Castelo-Branco and Iuliia Naumova
3	Premature Ovarian Insufficiency33Agnieszka Podfigurna, Monika Grymowicz, Anna Szeliga,33Ewa Rudnicka, Marzena Maciejewska-Jeske, Roman Smolarczyk,and Blazej Meczekalski
4	Human Papillomavirus Infection and Cancer Riskin Peri- and Postmenopausal Women53Pedro Vieira-Baptista, Mario Preti, and Jacob Bornstein53
5	Sporadic Ovarian and Fallopian Tube Cancerin Postmenopausal Women.79Faustino R. Pérez-López
6	Vulvar Dermatoses and Menopause101Joana Lyra and Pedro Vieira-Baptista
7	<b>Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis</b>
8	<b>Overactive Bladder</b>
9	Management of Female Stress Urinary Incontinence
10	Screening and Management of Female Sexual Dysfunction During the Second Half of Life

11	Current Treatment Modalities for the Genitourinary   Syndrome of Menopause 187   Cemal Tamer Erel 187
12	Laser Treatment for Vulvovaginal Atrophy
13	Laser Treatments in Female Urinary Incontinence
14	Metabolic Syndrome and Excessive Body Weight in Peri- and Postmenopausal Women
15	Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis in NondiabeticPostmenopausal Women.237Stavroula A. Paschou, Panagiotis Anagnostis, Dimitrios G. Goulis, and Irene Lambrinoudaki
16	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome-Related Risks in Postmenopausal Women. 249 Panagiotis Anagnostis, Stavroula A. Paschou, Irene Lambrinoudaki, and Dimitrios G. Goulis
17	Sleep and Sleep Disturbances in Climacteric Women
18	<b>Impact of Menopause on Brain Functions</b>
19	Vasomotor Symptoms: Clinical Management
20	Vasomotor Symptoms, Metabolic Syndrome, and Cardiovascular Risks
21	Menopause and Age-Related General Health Risk:A Woman's Heart Needs Her HormonesAdam Czyzyk and John C. Stevenson
22	<b>Menopausal Hormone Therapy to Prevent Chronic Conditions</b> 327 Rafael Sánchez-Borrego
23	Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs):State of the ArtSantiago Palacios

Contents
----------

24	Management of Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Women
25	Anabolic Agents for the Treatment of Postmenopausal Osteoporosis
26	<b>The Links Between Osteoporosis and Sarcopenia in Women</b>
27	Female Sarcopenic Obesity405Fidel Hita-Contreras
28	<b>Cognitive Decline in Women: The ZARADEMP Study</b>
29	Managing Menopause and Post-reproductive Health:Beyond Hormones and Medicines439Skye Marshall and Margaret Rees
30	<b>Effects of Exercise on Menopausal Prevalent Conditions</b>



1

# Assisted Reproductive Technology in Perimenopausal Women

Nicolás Mendoza Ladrón de Guevara and Miguel Angel Motos Guirao

#### 1.1 Fertility and Aging

#### 1.1.1 Age as a Social Factor of Infertility

If we analyze the demographic progression that took place in Europe in the last century, we observe a clear secular trend toward a decrease in the birth rate and an increase in maternal age. As an explanation of this, it seems that a purely cultural reason stands out: the postponement in the desire for genesis, which, in many cases, occurs for a variety of employment, social, and economic reasons. On the other hand, advances in assisted reproduction allow pregnancy at any age, and we face new ethical and health challenges regarding the question of what is the limit for a woman to become pregnant. It is shown that age decreases fertility due to factors such as [1, 2]:

- A decrease in the number of oocytes
- A decrease in the frequency of intercourse
- A decrease in oocyte quality
- A decreases in sperm quality

#### 1.1.2 Problems in Fertility and Pregnancy Derived from Age

Fertility declines with the passage of time, particularly after 35 years. A decline is seen in both the number and quality of the reserve of ovules, which increases the difficulty for pregnancy and the risk of spontaneous abortions (more than 50%) and of fetuses with chromosomal abnormalities (e.g., Down's syndrome) [3].

N. Mendoza Ladrón de Guevara (🖂) · M. A. Motos Guirao

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Granada, Granada, Spain e-mail: nicomendoza@ugr.es; mamotos@ugr.es

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_1

As age itself is the factor that most influences the rate of spontaneous pregnancy and the outcomes of fertility treatments, in people over 35 years of age, it is not recommended to wait a year to see a specialist; instead it is advisable to take matters into their hands after 6 months of trying to conceive. In people aged over 40 years, it is recommended to seek help immediately [4].

The application of assisted reproductive techniques (ARTs) is very common in this age group, with a strong tendency to resort to egg donation. This also prevents the increased risk of fetuses with chromosomal abnormalities (the age of the oocyte is that of the donor), but not that of other pregnancy complications such as gestational diabetes, hypertension, intrauterine growth restriction, placental pathology, and prematurity, which continue to depend on the mother's age. Multiple pregnancies are also more frequent, because of the greater number of embryos transferred. As a consequence, the numbers of operative or instrumental deliveries and perinatal and maternal morbidity/ mortality are all increased during perimenopause [5].

#### 1.1.3 Up to What Age Is Pregnancy Allowed with Fertility Treatments?

Progress in reproductive medicine and in obstetrics itself has raised another important debate regarding age: what is the age limit to conceive or to apply an ART? Certain healthy habits and the feeling of staying young and being prepared for all eventualities have triggered the demand for fertility treatments for women over 40. Oocyte donation makes this a possibility even for those who have crossed the border into menopause. Since uterine age does not correspond to ovarian age, the maternity departments are now full of "older" women, an example of how advances in medicine appear to have developed ahead of the necessary and slow process of legislation and ethics. An older woman, even being postmenopausal, may not feel too old to have a child and may offer the infant a better education now that she no longer has the financial or emotional needs of younger women [6].

However, one of the immediate consequences of an increase in pregnancies in older women is the greater demand for medical and psychological assistance, since there are fewer requests for prenatal diagnostic methods, practices to reduce stress, and voluntary interruptions of pregnancy, along with an increase in perinatal and maternal morbidity and mortality, not to mention the concern for raising grandchildren instead of children.

There is an open debate on whether or not a child's upbringing is optimal at these ages. In particular, some people are shocked to see older women breastfeeding their babies in the nonscientific press, while others warn of the high risk of leaving them as orphans at a young age. In the future vision of our own wellbeing, there are even those who argue that it is preferable to have children—regardless of the age at which they are conceived—to increase the birth rate. In their arguments in favor it is pointed out that they will take care of our care when we are elderly. And even

when the argument seems to have tilted on the side of those who accept as logical, and even normal, a pregnancy over 40 years, common sense should still prevail when it comes to putting a cap on this demand. Although there is no clear limit, it seems to be ethical and medically advisable to place this limit before the age of 55, but it is more reasonable to place it at 50 years, given the high risk of cardiovascular morbidity from that age [7].

#### 1.1.4 Social Controversies of Infertility Treatments

Of all the areas of medicine and all the attributes that have conditioned the evolution of our species, it is without doubt that sexuality and reproduction are those that are most loaded with social singularities. In addition, the rapid advance of reproductive technology has introduced significant changes in the conception of families that is sometimes difficult to assimilate within less advanced societies and those most impregnated with extreme conservatism. Some common practices in reproductive medicine have also generated controversies, such as the donation or freezing of gametes and embryos, embryonic reduction, or the costs of these treatments for the health system.

#### 1.1.5 The Sociocultural Acceptance of the New Models of Families that Emerged with ARTs

From the first birth achieved with ART, what appears to have been most scandalous certain groups is the change in the classic conception of family, that is, two-parent, heterosexual, within a religious or civil commitment, and with the transmission of one's genes to the offspring.

We can see then how far the concept of family to which we have become accustomed has shifted in the new millennium. It is now seen as nothing more than cohabitation with single-parent families, those of homosexual couples with no legal ties or where genes other than those of legal parents are transmitted. In this regard, in countries where surrogacy is allowed, it can be possible for a baby to theoretically have five parents: the donor of the ovule, the sperm donor, the woman who has gestated the child in surrogacy, and the legal parents who have requested the treatment. Improvements in laboratory techniques for the cryopreservation of gametes or embryos have even made it possible for one parent to be deceased. There is no doubt that popular fantasies have been triggered and that continued discussion of these issues will cause perplexity.

Now that ARTs are common throughout the world, the medical, legal, moral, and ethical debates unleashed since their inception have been globalized. Some countries, like Spain, have regulated these by taking into account the clinical recommendations, but in other latitudes and within the groups of immigrants with whom we live, there are opinions of a religious nature that prevail in the deemed suitability and use of these methods [8].

#### 1.2 Infertility Generalities

Infertility is a generic term that refers to the problems that reduce human fertility and that, in the strictest sense, is considered a disease. From an epidemiological perspective, infertility is considered a frequent phenomenon. It is estimated that (i) infertility affects some 70–80 million couples around the world, that 15% of those living in Western countries will consult for it, and (ii) that in these more advanced societies, there is a growing group of men and women who already have at least one child but wish to have another. There is a direct relationship between certain social and lifestyle factors and fertility and infertility: age; use of tobacco, alcohol, caffeine, marijuana, cocaine, and other drugs; use of anabolics; obesity; and psychological stress.

#### 1.2.1 Diagnosis of Infertility

#### 1.2.1.1 When to Diagnose Infertility?

In the absence of previous indications, couples who have been trying to become pregnant for more than 1 year should begin testing and therapeutic measures. An exam should be conducted when the woman is over 35 years old or if there is a history of menstrual rhythm disturbances or suspicion of uterine, tubal, or endometriosis pathology, as well as when the male has a history of cryptorchidism or other testicular pathology.

#### 1.2.1.2 What Is the Basic Infertility Test?

This test consists of establishing a complete clinical history, a menstrual history, a general exam, preconceptional advice, and coital counseling. The exam must be given to both members of the couple. During the infertility test, cost-effective measures should be considered, being as minimally invasive as possible and conducted in accordance with the wishes of the two partners. The causes of infertility are varied and, in many cases, are multiple. This almost always involves both members of a couple. The tests included for infertility are gynecological exam and cytology, ultrasound of the uterus and ovaries, basic seminogram, tubal X-ray (hysterosalpingography), and hormone and ovarian reserve study. In cases where another alteration is suspected and other fertility treatments have failed, other tests may be performed, such as advanced hormonal study, cervical or vaginal cultures, hysteroscopy, advanced seminogram and sperm DNA fragmentation test, and study of coagulation disorders.

#### 1.2.1.3 Monitored Anamnesis in Reproductive Medicine

For female patients, evaluation of anamnesis in reproductive medicine considers parity, obstetrical outcomes, age at first menstruation, menstrual formula, dysmenorrhea, contraceptive methods used, number of sexual relationships, length of infertility and previous treatments, previous surgeries and illnesses, gynecological history, allergies to medication, lifestyle habits (such as use of tobacco, alcohol, drugs, diet, and frequency of exercise), occupation (and any associated stress), and family history. For male patients, anamnesis includes information about children from a previous partner (having other children does not exclude the potential for infertility), length of infertility and results from previous studies and treatments, previous surgeries and illnesses, medication allergies, lifestyle habits (such as use of tobacco, alcohol, drugs), occupation (and any associated stress), and family history.

#### 1.2.1.4 Diagnosis of Ovarian Function and the Hypothalamic-Gonadal Axis

Evaluate ovarian function, menstrual history, basal temperature, cervical mucus, serum progesterone, urinary luteinizing hormone (LH), follicular development, endometrial thickness and appearance, and analysis of androgens, thyroid hormones, prolactin, and gonadotropins. Conduct a transvaginal ultrasound.

#### 1.2.1.5 Study of Ovarian Function

The evaluation of ovulatory function is an important part of the basic infertility test. However, we do not have any evidence that accurately assures us that ovulation has occurred except, obviously, pregnancy. This says a lot about the variability and false-positives of many of the tests that are routinely used in the clinic. A history of regular cycles corresponds to correct ovulation in 97% of cases.

#### 1.2.1.6 The Test of the Ovarian Reserve

Although age is the main prognostic factor of female fertility, in recent decades, motherhood has been possible for older women, which has changed our usual practice in the fertility clinic such that the analysis of the ovarian reserve has become one of the basic pillars upon which an adequate diagnosis and reproductive prognosis can be reached. Parameters for evaluating the ovarian reserve include biochemical markers such as follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), estradiol (E2), inhibins A and B, and, more recently, the anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH). Ultrasound markers include the ovarian volume, the number of antral follicles, and the flow of the uterine artery. In addition, some dynamic tests have been designed to improve the prognosis of those using drugs commonly used in ovarian stimulation (clomiphene, exogenous FSH, or gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) analogues). These tests measure the variation of endogenous FSH, estradiol, and inhibin. Although they have been able to improve the sensitivity of the test, the increase is not sufficient to justify the expense and exposure to the established drug. AMH derives its name from its capacity to cause the regression of the conduits of Müller during masculine differentiation. In women, the AMH has a great paracrine power. The function of AMH is to inhibit the growth of nondominant follicles, with its local concentration increasing until reaching maximum levels in the antral follicles. Consequently, the measurement of AMH is a reflection of follicular activity, and as its peripheral blood values do not fluctuate as much as other hormones, it is used as an excellent ovarian reserve marker.

#### 1.2.1.7 Indicators of Ovarian Reserve

Biochemical indicators of ovarian reserve include FSH, estradiol, inhibins A and B, testosterone, and AMH. Indicators observable by ultrasound include the number of antral follicles and the volume of the ovary. Dynamic tests may include clomiphene testing, exogenous FSH ovarian reserve testing, response of inhibin and E2 to exogen FSH, and testing the response of inhibin and E2 GnRH analogues. These various tests comprise the different ovarian reserve indicators. In summary, the most accurate are the ultrasound counts of antral follicles and the measurement of AMH; the least expensive are the ultrasound counts of antral follicles and the basal value of FSH and E2 (between the first and third day of the cycle); dynamic tests do not provide benefits compared with biochemical indicators or ultrasound tests and are expensive while remaining unable to predict the age of menopause presentation. Dynamic tests are only useful for offering a reproductive prognosis in women who plan to undergo fertility treatment.

#### 1.2.2 Causes of Infertility

#### 1.2.2.1 Ovarian Factors

The evaluation of ovulatory function is important as a first measure in basic infertility testing because it corresponds to 15–25% of the causes of infertility. A history of regular cycles corresponds to ovulation in 97% of the cases. A confirmed pregnancy is the only way to establish that ovulation actually occurred due to the great variability and false-positives involved with other tests. When an ovulatory dysfunction is diagnosed and a pharmacological treatment is indicated after 3–6 months without getting pregnant, another possible cause of infertility must be investigated. As a general rule, when the woman has regular cycles, ovulation is likely to be correct. When irregular cycles are presented, we can measure progesterone in the second phase or request a graph of basal temperature.

A prolactin measurement routine is not necessary unless there are menstrual abnormalities, galactorrhea, or suspected pituitary tumor. Similarly, patients with anovulation have a higher proportion of presenting with thyroid disease, but thyroid-stimulating hormone will only be measured when this disease is suspected. The assessment of the ovarian reserve is made in certain cases of patients over 35 years of age or with the intention of providing them with a prognosis or additional information to decide on possible treatments. An FSH lower than 10 mIU/mL with E2 less than 30 pg/mL reflects a normal follicular reserve status.

#### 1.2.2.2 Uterine Factors

The cervical factor is a rare cause of infertility. The postcoital test is the classic test that determines it, but there is great interobserver variability, and it is not necessary to routinely carry this out because it has no prognostic value and is not indicative of any type of therapy. Although uterine malformations are not usually a cause of infertility, examining the uterine cavity should be part of a basic infertility test. This should be done in an individualized manner, according to other previous findings, and should be based on a transvaginal ultrasound. In case of suspicion of organic pathology (polyps, submucosal fibroids, hyperplasia), a hysterosonography or a hysteroscopy will be requested.

#### 1.2.2.3 Tubal and Peritoneal Factor

Tubal obstruction is responsible for infertility, either as a single cause or accompanied by other causes in 30% of cases. The tubal factor should be investigated when other infertility factors have been ruled out because the test that determines it, called the hysterosalpingography (HSG), is an invasive and often painful technique. Of course, if in vitro fertilization (IVF) or intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) is planned, HSG is not needed. For the study of tubal factor, the HSG is the least invasive and most cost-effective form, allowing diagnosis of tubal obstructions (proximal or distal) and evaluation of the uterine cavity. It is done in the first phase of the cycle before ovulation. If screening for chlamydial infection has not been done, antibiotic prophylaxis must be carried out. However, it is not precise in detecting peritubal adhesions and for diagnosing a peritoneal endometriosis, in which case it is indicated to perform a laparoscopy if there are strong suspicions of endometriosis, tuboperitoneal adhesions, or important tubal pathology.

#### 1.2.2.4 Male Factor

The minimum evaluation of the male should include a complete medical history, a physical exam, and at least two seminograms separated 3 months from each other that should be initiated before subjecting the woman to any type of invasive exam, such as HSG. The seminogram is the main test in the study of the male factor, and abstinence is recommended for 2–3 days. The seminogram offers basic information on seminal volume, concentration, mobility, and sperm morphology. Unless the laboratory has its own criteria, it is recommended to follow the 2010 WHO guidelines.

#### **1.2.3 Techniques for Assisting Reproduction**

#### 1.2.3.1 What Is Artificial Insemination (AI)?

Broadly speaking, AI involves the introduction of semen into the uterus, which is why it is also called intrauterine insemination. We distinguish the conjugal AI (CAI), meaning it is from the male partner, from donor AI (DAI). We have used the word "capacitated," which is an important part of these ART. Indeed, for a sperm to acquire the ability to cross the membrane that surrounds the ovum and fertilize it, it must first undergo biochemical modifications in the most distal part of its head in a region called the acrosome. This phenomenon occurs naturally when the acrosome passes through the cervix and is imitated in the laboratory before being deposited inside the uterine cavity. Sometimes we use it as a diagnostic method known as a training test, and it helps us assess whether a patient's semen is valid for proposing a conjugal AI.

#### 1.2.3.2 What Are the Indications of AI?

It can be supposed that all semen qualifies for CAI. In each clinic or unit of human reproduction, there are criteria to decide if the seminogram, as the analysis is called, is normal or has some alteration and also if it is valid or not for a CAI or even IVF or ICSI. Some centers have their own criteria for defining seminograms, and although few do, they must be centers where there is a researcher who has previously published such criteria in specialized journals. For this reason, the majority of reproduction laboratories use the WHO's criteria, which are periodically renewed. The latest revision is available online.

#### 1.2.3.3 What Is IVF and ICSI?

When IVF or an ICSI is proposed, the two gametes (oocytes and sperm) are needed in the reproduction laboratory to perform the fertilization, which is why it is called in vitro. According to the latest data collected by the Spanish Society of Fertility, the pregnancy rate per transfer is close to 40%. These techniques require the training and accreditation of the personnel in charge (gynecologists and embryologists) and are planned in a series of steps:

- 1. Follicular development: recruitment (rescue) and growth of one or more follicles, the structures of the ovary where the oocytes mature. Development is usually stimulated by a medication that contains gonadotropins, the natural female hormones responsible for follicular development. The process may be controlled with ultrasound and hormonal analysis.
- 2. Obtaining the oocytes. The vagina is punctured, and the process of obtaining the oocytes is guided by ultrasound. The follicles are punctured, and their liquid content (follicular fluid) is suctioned where the oocytes supernate. Although it can be performed under local anesthesia, sedation of the patient is preferred in many centers so that the patient does not suffer pain from the puncture.
- 3. In vitro fertilization (IVF). Fertilization itself occurs when the microinjection (ICSI) or its modern variant is performed with the extension of the microscopic vision and the selection of the sperm with better morphology (intracytoplasmic morphologically selected sperm injection).
- 4. Embryo transfer. Once the oocytes are fertilized, the resulting embryo or embryos are transferred into the uterus in a maneuver similar to that of AI. They are usually scheduled 2–6 days after the follicular puncture, and those that are not chosen for the transfer are cryopreserved for another attempt. The criteria to decide which are transferred and which are frozen are morphological, and each reproduction center usually has its own scale to catalog its quality. The number of embryos to be transferred is controversial and generates uncertainty in patients. The transfer of more than three embryos is not allowed and for ethical reasons it is often recommended to limit this to only one, although this restricts the percentage of pregnancies.

#### 1.2.3.4 What Is Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis?

Preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) was developed as a technique to find out the sex of embryos with a test that detects the Y chromosome in the selected embryonic cells. Evidently, the determination of sex is not the purpose of this technique, but rather its purpose is the location of genetic defects transmitted by the X chromosome. Since the 1990s then, its use has expanded to other genetic diseases. Undoubtedly, the PGD has proved to be an extraordinary step, both for the knowledge of embryonic development and for the infertility and infertility clinic.

#### 1.3 Genetics in Assisted Reproduction

#### 1.3.1 Genetic Counseling and Consultation of Clinical Genetics

Genetic counseling "is a communication process that deals with the human problems associated with the occurrence, or the risk of occurrence, of a genetic disorder in a family" [9]. It is based on medical, reproductive, and family history and must always be carried out. In assisted reproduction, risk assessment includes not only the embryo and the fetus but also the parent itself. In this way, it is necessary to assess the possibilities of giving birth to a child with congenital malformations or genetic diseases and even their long-term appearance (e.g., genomic imprinting diseases), but for this it is necessary to study thoroughly the causes of infertility of the couple and their genetic, personal, and family clinical history. The information must be obtained in a systematic way, and, although the autonomy of the couple prevails, in cases of doubt, the interests of the future children must be put before them. Genetic counseling is always nondirective and is an essentially medical act, although other health professionals may be involved. Today it is not possible to carry out any genetic study detached from genetic counseling, and, in turn, genetic counseling should not be carried out outside the context of medical consultation. This consultation must be conducted by a clinical geneticist and has a multiple purpose-diagnostic, prognostic, preventive, and therapeutic-since it helps to choose the ideal reproduction technique in each case. The consultation also serves the purpose of performing comprehensive genetic counseling and obtaining informed consent for any genetic measure that is to be adopted. In a structured way, the pretest objectives are as follows:

- Obtaining the genetic medical history
- · Report and evaluation of the genetic-reproductive risks of the couple
- Forecast report of future genetic tests
- Evaluation of the results of genetic and complementary tests
- Report of the reproductive genetic counsel
- Genetic eligibility report
- Obtaining the informed consent of genetic tests

Similarly, the posttest objectives are:

- Interpret the results obtained with the genetic analysis carried out pre- and postimplantation (prenatal)
- Establish embryo-fetal viability and the absence of genetic disease in the newborn
- Validate the genetic diagnostic strategy used
- Establish genetic counseling for future pregnancies

In assisted reproduction, pretest genetic counseling falls primarily on the couple and consists of studying the possible genetic etiology of the causes of infertility that have led to it, along with the genetic makeup of the parents. Posttest genetic counseling, in contrast, focuses on the embryo (preimplantation study techniques), fetus (prenatal study techniques), and newborn (postnatal study techniques).

As observed, the work that is carried out in the clinical genetic consultation is extensive and very specialized and is currently considered essential. The various types of genetic reports each fulfill a different but complementary function: genetic risk assessment report, pretest genetic counseling report, posttest genetic counseling report, genetic-reproductive counseling report, estimation report of future genetic tests, and suitability genetic report (in the case in which the carrying out of a preimplantation genetic study is recommended). We must not lose sight of the fact that all these reports are made at the preconception stage. If these genetic reports are not taken into account, this will lead to a situation of poor counseling of couples, a higher failure rate of reproductive techniques, an increase in the number of abortions, and possible clinical and legal repercussions due to the transmission of hereditary diseases, along with an increase in economic spending. It should also be noted that assisted reproduction units are, on many occasions, the first point of contact for a couple with an infertility consultation so, as a first step, the possible genetic etiology of infertility should be studied.

#### 1.3.2 Genetic Diagnosis vs. Preimplantation Genetic Screening

Among the most genuinely "reproductive" genetic diagnostic techniques, there are two available procedures; these are very similar to each other but have very different indications.

The so-called preimplantation genetic test (PGT) is a procedure that consists of obtaining one or two blastomeres from an embryo in the stage of 6–8 cells (usually on the 3rd day postfertilization). The cells obtained can be studied genetically by means of different types of tests, and, depending on the outcome of the study, the decision can me made regarding whether or not to transfer the embryo of origin to the patient. The objective of the study is, of course, to avoid the transmission of a genetic disease to offspring and can be carried out from two different and complementary perspectives. If the aim is to avoid transmitting a known genetic disease, we would speak of a clearly diagnostic procedure (PGD). In contrast, the preimplantation genetic screening procedure (PGS) is a technique similar to the

previous one, whereby the embryo is selected in certain population groups initially "not affected" by a known genetic disease, but with a high risk of having offspring with some type of inherited disease, usually chromosomal abnormalities. The exposed groups are usually women of advanced age, males with different degrees of oligospermia, couples with repeated failures using reproductive techniques, and couples with recurrent miscarriages and normal karyotypes.

This distinction between *PGD* and *PGS* has been losing relevance with changes in molecular diagnostic methods. In a recent review, Harper et al. (2018) have shown that the increasingly frequent use of next-generation sequencing (*NGS*) technology makes it unnecessary to propose a differentiated study between the various chromosomes among themselves or between the different indications of study. Using current terminology we would replace the use of the term *PGT*-*A* techniques (preimplantation genetic test of aneuploidies) with *PGS*, and *PGT*-*M* techniques would be replaced with the *PGD* (preimplantation genetic test on Mendelian diseases). The *PGT*-*M* techniques are no longer reduced to the analysis of a single locus, one or two genes, or a genomic region, but with the use of NGS techniques, it is possible to implement the study of an increasing genomic variability. Even haplotyping techniques, through analysis of *CNVs* (*copy number variations*) and *SNVs* (*single-nucleotide variants*), can be applied to almost any genetic disease [10].

The changes in the embryonic material used for the analysis favor the evolution of the preimplantation diagnosis, since frozen embryos are frequently used with various vitrification techniques, which make more time available for the study. The blastocoel fluid that can genetically represent the internal cell mass is also under investigation, while the study of the trophectoderm cells only represents the extraembryonic tissue. The possibility of studying the DNA present in the embryonic culture media (as a noninvasive source) has even been pointed out, but doubts persist as to whether these culture media are really free of any trace of human DNA or if the presence of cells of the maternal oophore cluster persists in them [11].

One question that has not yet been clarified is whether these embryo selection techniques based on chromosomal screening (*PGT-A*) are really useful, that is, if they have clinical utility. In this context this is measured by their ability to improve clinical outcomes in terms of embryo survival and the birth of children without chromosomal abnormalities in different types of populations (advanced maternal age, infertile, with severe male factors) and with different stages of development (cleavage, blastocyst). This will not be known until enough controlled and randomized clinical trials are published. Therefore, it is preferable to consider these *PGT-A* techniques as a quantitative selection (*ranking tool*) rather than a qualitative selection (*screening tool*) [12].

We have previously warned that no genetic test can be considered outside the context of genetic counseling, particularly these complex preimplantation techniques that require a thorough knowledge of the materials studied, the times in which they are made, the possible techniques to be applied, and the possible results to be obtained, along with the need to explain all of this to the couple in the form of pretest and posttest genetic counseling.

#### 1.3.3 Epigenetic Effects of Assisted Reproduction Techniques

A question of great interest is how can assisted reproduction techniques affect in vitro the epigenome of the developing embryo. The epigenome is the set of chemical processes that affect the genetic material of a cell or organism without altering its sequence, but modifying its expression. The reprogramming moments of the epigenome represent stages that are potentially sensitive to certain effects from outside the embryo. Two stages of reprogramming are clearly distinguished: the period of formation of the reproductive cells (gametogenesis) and postfertilization embryonic development (preimplantation) [13].

Regarding gametogenesis, the mechanisms of epigenetic regulation such as methylation-which can help to stabilize the germline DNA or to silence certain genes—are poorly understood. The degree of methylation in oocytes appears to be half that observed in sperm. Another element of regulation at this stage is the control of the expression of transposons (short and mobile sequences of DNA), which could be involved in the development of some genetic diseases. During initial embryonic development, there are many changes produced by DNA methylation in the form of silencing (or not) of certain genes involved in it. The environmental agents suspected to interfere with this reprogramming are, among others, multiple ovulation [14], the composition of the culture media [15], the vibration to which the embryonic cultures are subjected, light, temperature, and the same genetic manipulation [16]. One of the possible consequences under study is the appearance of genetic diseases in relation to genomic imprinting phenomena, such as the Beckwith-Wiedemann, Prader-Willi, Angelman, and Silver-Russell syndromes. In a recent study on the REMERA (Registre des Malformations en Rhône-Alpes) registry, Uk et al. found up to three times more risk of these diseases among children born by assisted reproduction techniques than those born of natural gestations [17]. Currently, it is too early to establish an unequivocal relationship with these diseases, and the studies carried out are insufficient. The disturbing transgenerational effects that may exist cannot yet be determined until a good number of generations have elapsed. Thus, although in general it could be estimated that the risk is low, no firm conclusions can be drawn until the outcomes of future research are known [18].

#### 1.3.4 Congenital Defects, Population Genetics, and Assisted Reproduction

Currently, it has been accepted that the use of assisted reproduction techniques involves a slight increase in the risk of developing congenital defects, as well as an increase in the genetic causes of infertility in future pregnancies. Although there is evidence for these suggestions, studies that include larger populations and specific designs are necessary to further validate them.

With regard to congenital defects, Chen et al. [19] in a recent review and metaanalysis concluded that there is a significant association between a high prevalence of congenital defects and single pregnancies achieved after the use of assisted reproduction techniques such as IVF/ICSI (both considered in absolute numbers, as for all categories of congenital defects including musculoskeletal, urogenital, circulatory, digestive anomalies, chromosomal defects, face, neck, eyes, auricular pavilions, cleft lip, cleft palate, respiratory system) except for malformations of the nervous system. These authors concluded that the risk of congenital defects is greater after the ICSI technique than after IVF. With regard to the specific case of cardiac defects, Giorgione et al. [20] also concluded after an extensive review and meta-analysis that cardiac defects are more prevalent (up to 50% more) after obtaining pregnancies with ART techniques. This leads to the recommendation of a systematic echocardiographic study of all pregnancies obtained after the use of these techniques. These results, although very indicative of the high risk of congenital defects following assisted reproduction techniques, should be considered with caution [20]. Further cohort studies and a more uniform methodology are needed in order to confirm this correlation.

Finally, the use of assisted reproduction techniques allows couples with abnormal karyotypes, mutations for cystic fibrosis, and microdeletions of the Y chromosome to achieve pregnancy and potentially transmit these genetic defects to their offspring, which represents an increased risk for the fertility of future generations. Harper et al. [10] ask "Is this a true risk?" Will it matter if, simultaneously, it improves our ability to treat infertility? Again we have to conclude that there is not yet a sufficient time perspective to evaluate these possible transgenerational modifications, but we must be vigilant to assess their possible consequences [10].

#### 1.3.5 Regenerative Medicine

Among the potential genetic uses of assisted reproduction techniques there is regenerative medicine, which consists of curing damaged organs by introducing healthy cells. Current techniques allow human embryonic stem cells to be obtained at the blastocyst stage (5–6 days) or even earlier (3rd day). Surprisingly, we now know that completely differentiated somatic cells (such as fibroblasts) can be reprogrammed into pluripotent cells by means of the induced expression of only four key genes [21], *OCT4*, *KLF4*, *SOX2*, and *C-MYC*, which opens the door to its use as an alternative to embryonic cells, as it is devoid of other ethical and legal considerations. The utility of these non-embryonic cells is confirmed as a possible source of highly differentiated tissues or for research, generating disease models from people affected by unique mutations.

Finally, it should be noted that cultures of pluripotent cells have shown to be at risk of generating genomic instability [22] by developing alterations (trisomies of chromosomes 12 and 17 and small recurrent amplifications of chromosome 20 [23], mitochondrial mutations [24], and epigenomic changes [25]) that could be considered precursors of certain types of cancer, particularly those of germ cells, which requires a thorough study to improve the conditions of the crops.

#### 1.3.6 Genetic Therapy and Assisted Reproduction

We will cite two examples of the possible therapeutic uses of the genetic techniques of assisted reproduction: the prevention of the transmission of mitochondrial diseases and the genomic edition.

It is well known that the mitochondria that accompany the pronuclei are exclusively maternal, which gives rise to a type of inheritance with very specific characteristics, the so-called mitochondrial inheritance. Given that this type of disease is currently incurable, solutions are sought through assisted reproduction. To avoid the transmission of known mitochondrial mutations, three types of techniques have been developed, known as mitochondrial replacement techniques (*TRM*): transmission of the achromatic spindle, transmission of the pronuclei, and transmission of the polar corpuscles. All of these techniques are designed to transmit the genome of an egg/zygote containing the abnormal mitochondria to an egg/zygote with normal (donated) mitochondria. An interesting review of this topic has recently been published [26].

Genomic editing is a procedure that involves the use of molecular scissors, capable of identifying a specific sequence of the genome, cutting it and inserting another DNA sequence into it to repair a damaged DNA or modify its expression. These scissors or tools are diverse, the most outstanding of which include zinc finger nucleases (*ZFN*), transcription activating nucleases (*TALEN*), and the revolutionary nucleases of reverse repeated palindromic sequences (*CRISPR-Cas*) [27]. There are still no safe routes of clinical application of this technique directly on the embryo [28], but nevertheless its application to germ cells—both spermatogonia and mature oocytes—is being investigated. However, the actual indications for its possible application are currently limited. Scientific societies such as the ASHG, the ESHG, and the ESHRE<sup>2</sup> are making recommendations on this matter [29].

#### 1.3.7 Ethical and Legal Issues

There are many ethical issues that arise when we address the genetic aspects within the field of assisted reproduction, and in this chapter, we do not intend to analyze them exhaustively although it seems convenient, at least, to list them to have a perspective of the problems that arise and the need to generate adequate responses to them. We are going to stay with genetic issues without entering into other specific ethical debates (even though these are equally necessary) linked to the use of reproductive techniques.

One of the aspects most questioned from the genetic point of view is the preimplantation diagnosis: Who can access it? There is no closed list of possible genetic conditions, although it is considered reasonable that they are diseases that significantly reduce quality of life. In Spain, the consideration of whether or not to study a disease depends on the respective Autonomic Commission of Assisted Reproduction, and each country deals with its own legislation. It is important to harmonize legislation within the European environment. A second question would

be whether these types of genetic studies should be carried out for predisposing mutations to the development of common long-term diseases, including the genetic predisposition to cancer. Regarding the predisposition to cancer, there are numerous records in many European countries, although the absoluteness of this indication decreases when we refer to other common diseases such as diabetes and hypertension. Digging deeper into this idea, we could arrive at the concept of the *designer baby*, in which we would have excluded all possible mutations (deleterious or predisposing) in order to seek the best possible development, hand in hand with the new massive sequencing technologies (*WES/WGS*). This also occurs with the most commonly accepted baby medication (savior sibling) and the corresponding *HLA* determinations. Derived from this general approach of preimplantation study, new doubts arise as to whether it is ethical to transfer an affected embryo (in the case of not having healthy embryos) in very specific cases or about the use of preimplantation genetic screening.

There is also debate about the necessary genetic studies in gamete donors and their implications, not only referring to the future embryos thus conceived but also to the individuals who donate them.

Genetic cascade studies—offered in a general way to certain families that transmit a genetic trait—may clash with the "right to not know" principle and create a new ethical conflict.

On the other hand, there are ethical questions concerning the possible prevention of mitochondrial diseases that, due to their specific type of transmission, represent an unknown on their expression—yes or no—in offspring and the degree of intensity of mitochondrial diseases.

All these and many others are issues of relevance to which we must respond in a consensual and unitary manner. We must ensure that there are no differences in attention and interpretation in reproductive genetic medicine while also preventing the promotion of inequality, or, where appropriate, the increasing disembarkation of private companies, with their offer of the direct tests offered to the consumer (TDC) and the end of anonymity for gamete donors [30] or the even more recent cases of cross-border reproductive care (transboundary reproductive care) [31].

#### References

- 1. Liu XJ. Targeting oocyte maturation to improve fertility in older women. Cell Tissue Res. 2016;363(1):57–68.
- Wilding M. Potential long-term risks associated with maternal aging (the role of the mitochondria). Fertil Steril. 2015;103(6):1397–401.
- 3. Yoldemir T. Fertility in midlife women. Climacteric. 2016;19(3):240-6.
- Sauer MV. Reproduction at an advanced maternal age and maternal health. Fertil Steril. 2015;103(5):1136–43.
- Practice Committee of American Society for Reproductive Medicine in collaboration with Society for Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility. Optimizing natural fertility: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril. 2013;100(3):631–7.
- 6. Braverman AM. Old, older and too old: age limits for medically assisted fatherhood? Fertil Steril. 2017;107(2):329–33.

- MacArthur T, Bachmann G, Ayers C. Menopausal women requesting egg/embryo donation: examining health screening guidelines for assisted reproductive technology. Menopause. 2016;23(7):799–802.
- 8. van den Akker O. A review of family donor constructs: current research and future directions. Hum Reprod Update. 2006;12(2):91–101.
- 9. American Society of Human Genetics. Genetic counseling. Am J Hum Genet. 1975;27:240-2.
- Harper JC, Aittomäki K, Borry P, Cornel MC, de Wert G, Dondorp W, Geraedts J, Gianaroli L, Ketterson K, Liebaers I, Lundin K, Mertes H, Morris M, Pennings G, Sermon K, Spits C, Soini S, van Montfoort APA, Veiga A, Vermeesch JR, Viville S, Macek M Jr. Recent developments in genetics and medically assisted reproduction: from research to clinical applications. Eur J Hum Genet. 2018;26:12–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-017-0016-z.
- 11. Kuznyetsov V, Madjunkova S, Antes R, Abramov R, Motamedi G, Ibarrientos Z, et al. Evaluation of a novel non-invasive preimplantation genetic screening approach. PLoS One. 2018;13(5):e0197262.
- Maxwell SM, Colls P, Hodes-Wertz B, et al. Why do euploid embryos miscarry? A casecontrol study comparing the rate of aneuploidy within presumed euploid embryos that resulted in miscarriage or live birth using next-generation sequencing. Fertil Steril. 2016;106:1414–19. e5.
- Hoeijmakers L, Kempe H, Verschure PJ. Epigenetic imprinting during assisted reproductive technologies: the effect of temporal and cumulative fluctuations in methionine cycling on the DNA methylation state: susceptibility to epigenetic defects in art. Mol Reprod Dev. 2016;83:94–107.
- Marshall KL, Rivera RM. The effects of superovulation and reproductive aging on the epigenome of the oocyte and embryo. Mol Reprod Dev. 2018;85:90–105. https://doi. org/10.1002/mrd.22951
- Koscinski I, Merten M, Kazdar N, Guéant J-L. Culture conditions for gametes and embryos: which culture medium? Which impact on newborn? Gynécol Obstét Fertil Sénol. 2018;46:474–80.
- Ventura-Juncá P, Irarrázaval I, Rolle AJ, Gutiérrez JI, Moreno RD, Santos MJ. In vitro fertilization (IVF) in mammals: epigenetic and developmental alterations. Scientific and bioethical implications for IVF in humans. Biol Res. 2015;48:68. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40659-015-0059-y.
- Uk A, Collardeau-Frachon S, Quentin Scanvion LM, Amarf E. Assisted reproductive technologies and imprinting disorders: results of a study from a French congenital malformations registry. Eur J Med Genet. 2018;61(9):518–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2018.05.017.
- Miranda RC, Salem NA, Fincher AS, Mahnke AH, Burrowes SG. Epigenetic mechanisms and inheritance of acquired susceptibility to disease. In: Medical epigenetics; 2016. p. 531–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803239-8.00030-2.
- Letao Chen B, Yang T, Zheng Z, Hong Y, Wang H, Qin J. Birth prevalence of congenital malformations in singleton pregnancies resulting from in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2018;297:1115–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-018-4712-x.
- Giorgione V, Parazzini F, Fesslova V, Cipriani S, Candiani M, Inversetti A, Sigismondi C, Tiberio F, Cavoretto P. Congenital heart defects in IVF/ICSI pregnancy: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2018;51:33–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/ uog.18932.
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861–72.
- 22. Pasi CE, Dereli-O A, Negrini S, Friedli M, Fragola G, Lombardo A, Van Houwe G, Naldini L, Casola S, Testa G, Trono D, Pelicci PG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic instability in induced stem cells. Cell Death Differ. 2011;18:745–53.
- Spits C, Mateizel I, Geens M, et al. Recurrent chromosomal abnormalities in human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2008;26:1361–3.

- Van Haute L, Spits C, Geens M, Seneca S, Sermon K. Human embryonic stem cells commonly display large mitochondrial DNA deletions. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31:20–3.
- 25. Amps K, Andrews PW, Anyfantis G, et al. Screening ethnically diverse human embryonic stem cells identifies a chromosome 20 minimal amplicon conferring growth advantage. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29:1132–44.
- Greenfield A, Braude P, Flinter F, Lovell-Badge R, Ogilvie C, Perry ACF. Assisted reproductive technologies to prevent human mitochondrial disease transmission. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35:1059–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3997.
- Mojica FJ, Montoliu L. On the origin of CRISPR-Cas technology: from prokaryotes to mammals. Trends Microbiol. 2016;24(10):811–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.06.005.
- Ma H, et al. Correction of a pathogenic gene mutation in human embryos. Nature. 2017;548:413–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23305.
- 29. De Wert G, Heindryckx B, Pennings G, Clarke A, Eichenlaub-Ritter U, van El CG FF, Goddijn M, Howard HC, Radojkovic D, Rial-Sebbag E, Dondorp W, Tarlatzis BC, Cornel MC. Responsible innovation in human germline gene editing. Background document to the recommendations of ESHG and ESHRE. Eur J Hum Genet. 2018;26(4):450–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-017-0077-z.
- 30. Harper JC, Kennett D, Reisel D. The end of donor anonymity: how genetic testing is likely to drive anonymous gamete donation out of business. Hum Reprod. 2016;31:1135–40.
- 31. Salama M, Isachenko V, Isachenko E, Rahimi G, Mallmann P, Westphal LM, Inhorn MC, Patrizio P. Cross border reproductive care (CBRC): a growing global phenomenon with multidimensional implications (a systematic and critical review). J Assist Reprod Genet. 2018;35(7):1277–88. [Epub ahead of print].



### Turner Syndrome: Primary Amenorrhea from Adolescence to Aging

#### Camil Castelo-Branco and Iuliia Naumova

Turner syndrome is a chromosomal disease characterized either by the complete absence of one chromosome or by the presence of a defect in one of the X chromosomes, in at least one cell line. The karyotype of such women may be 45X0, mosaicism type 45X/46XX, 45X/46XY, or 45X/46Xq-, isochromosome or ring chromosome. Up to 98–99% of pregnancies with a fetal karyotype of 45X0 result in spontaneous abortions in the early stages. However, Turner syndrome occurs in 1 of 2000 live births; therefore, this rare entity is one of the most common chromosomal abnormalities among life women [1, 2].

#### 2.1 Etiopathogenesis of Turner Syndrome

Half of patients with Turner syndrome show complete absence of one of the X chromosomes, and in these cases, in 70–80% of occasions, the X chromosome of the father is the absent. In the other half of the patients in which one X chromosome is normal, a mosaicism or other anomalies are identified, such as annular chromosomes (consisting of the remaining sections of the short and long chromosomal arm, rX) or isochromosomes (loss of short arm consisting only in the two long arms of the X chromosome (Xq-) [3].

C. Castelo-Branco (⊠)

Faculty of Medicine, Institut Clinic of Gynecology, Obstetrics and Neonatology, University of Barcelona, Hospital Clinic-Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Barcelona, Spain e-mail: castelobranco@ub.edu

I. Naumova

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of General Medicine, Saratov State Medical University n.a. V.I. Razumovsky, Saratov, Russia e-mail: jvnaumova@list.ru

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_2

Depending on the karyotype, the external manifestations of the syndrome may vary from the presence of all typical marks of the clinical picture to the complete absence of those signs [1, 3]. Chromosomal imbalance, observed with Turner syndrome, leads to the appearance of various anomalies of somatic development. A wide spectrum of abnormalities is mainly due to haploinsufficiency of genes, which are usually expressed by both X chromosomes [4].

Key characteristics of TS are low growth, dysmorphic features, and gonadal failure with sterility and insufficient production of sex steroids. Most patients have a delay in puberty and primary amenorrhea, and, in more than a half of patients, it is possible to detect heart and vascular anomalies, which increase the risk of early mortality in a population of women with TS three times compared with the main female population [5, 6]. Congenital malformations of the kidney are nine times more common in subjects with TS [7].

In adult life, patients with Turner syndrome are affected by disorders such as osteoporosis, hypothyroidism, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and non-congenital heart or nephrourologic changes. The morbidity and mortality rates for this condition are higher than in the main population, and the life expectancy is reduced in more than 10 years mainly due to cardiovascular diseases [8–13].

Diagnosing TS is not always easy since only 10% of TS patients have been antenatally diagnosed, 16% in infancy, and 54% in childhood (1–12 years), and up to 20% have the diagnosis just at adolescence (12–18 years) [14]. Therefore, the main attention in providing medical care to such patients should be focused on early diagnosis, detection of prenatal markers of TS, timely administration of growth hormone (GH), adequate hormone replacement therapy, and treatment of associated diseases [7, 9]. Patients with TS from the stage of verification of diagnosis and throughout life should be observed by specialists of various profiles for monitoring and correcting endocrinological and sensorineural abnormalities, identifying coexisting malformations, reproductive counseling, and sexual health. Along with other specialists, the gynecologist has a core position in the management of such patients, maintaining and controlling hormone replacement and referring the patient to another specialist when necessary. A multidisciplinary approach and a welldeveloped management plan for patients with TS at all age stages are very important for height outcomes, bone health, and psychosocial support.

This chapter discusses possible clinical manifestations, the main aspects of managing patients with TS at different ages, modern approaches to diagnosing the syndrome and associated anomalies, and the specific features of hormone replacement therapy according to the latest guidelines.

#### 2.2 Clinical Features

Most newborn girls with TS have only mild clinical manifestations, but a certain group of babies have lymphatic edema of the hands and feet, as well as skin folds on the posterior surface of the neck. One of the most common anomalies encountered in Turner disease is a short neck with a low level of hair growth and pterygium neck folds, an enlarged rib cage, weakly developed genitals—small labia, clitoris, and uterus—and widely spaced nipples. Some patients have anomalies in the shape and position of the ears (lop-eared), which are combined in half the cases with deafness [7, 14]. Less common are signs such as multiple pigment nevi or vitiligo, anomalies of the metacarpal and metatarsal bones of the hands and feet, deformations of the elbow and shoulder joints, and hypoplastic narrow nails. The face can have features specific for the syndrome—the jawbones are reduced in size, the soft and hard palate is high, and the ovulation of the eyelids is also observed [2, 7, 14].

Regarding the assessment of the integrity of internal organs, nowadays it is possible to detect cardiovascular abnormalities such as coarctation of the aorta, aorta dissection, disruption of the integrity of the interventricular septum, and a twofold aortic valve. Congenital kidney malformations (horseshoe kidney, kidney agenesis, double pelvis and ureter) and blood vessel anomalies such hemangioma or telangiectasia are also antenatal detectable [14–16].

Short stature and gonadal dysgenesis are the most common clinical stigma in women with TS, which are detected in almost all patients and can be combined with other dysmorphic manifestations [11, 12]. A correlation between karyotype and phenotypic manifestations of TS usually exists, but it is not regular. Thus, external dysmorphology and nephrologic or cardiac malformations are common in the case of pure monosomy [8, 17], while almost 40% of patients with mosaic patterns have spontaneous menarche and less pronounced external manifestations of the syndrome. Subjects with isochromosome in karyotype have sensorineural and immunological disorders, but congenital malformations in such patients are usually not diagnosed.

#### 2.2.1 Short Stature

Short tallness is due to haploinsufficiency of the homeobox containing the gene (SHOX) located in the distal part of the short arm of the X chromosome [18]. The height of adult patients with TS varies between 143 and 147 cm. Mutations in this gene could also explain some skeletal abnormalities in TS, such as Madelung deformity of the wrist, cubitus valgus, or short fourth metacarpal. Additionally, haploinsufficiency of SHOX expression could explain other features such as chronic otitis media, prominent ears, and problems of learning how to suck, blow, eat, or articulate [4, 19]. In patients with TS, partial growth hormone (GH) insensitivity is noted with the preserved secretion of growth hormone by adenohypophysis cells, which leads to a primary bone defect. According to clinical studies, there are positive results in the prescription of recombinant growth hormone therapy as an increase in adult height in patients by 5-8 cm [20-22]. However, the effectiveness of such therapy may vary and depends on a set of factors such as the stature of the patient's parents, the age at which the GH therapy began, the height of the patient at the time of initiation of therapy, and the duration and dose of the prescribed hormone therapy. [23].

Treatment of GH is recommended to start already at the age of 4–6 years; in case of lack of growth, therapy is prescribed earlier to provide adequate duration of therapy before puberty begins [15, 24]. Therefore, patients receiving treatment with GH for a mean of 5.7 years were on average 7.2 cm taller than the control group [25]. It is recommended to begin GH treatment 4 years before estrogen replacement [8].

According to the latest recommendations, the optimal initial dose of GH therapy is  $45-50 \ \mu g/kg/day$  with a possible increase in dosage to  $68 \ \mu g/kg/day$  in case of insufficient effect. The drug is administered subcutaneously seven times a week, preferably at nighttime [15].

During the treatment, it is recommended to monitor the patient's growth every 3–4 months in the first year of therapy and every 4–6 months thereafter. GH therapy may be discontinued after linear growth is complete (bone age of approximately 13.5 to 14 years; height velocity <2 cm/year).

Potential risks and benefits of GH therapy should be clarified to the family prior to initiation of therapy, and careful monitoring is also needed to identify possible adverse effects. GH therapy is usually well tolerated; however, slipped capital femoral epiphyses, scoliosis, pancreatitis, and a small risk of intracranial hypertension have been described in TS patients [26, 27]. Moreover, evidence exists suggesting that GH therapy may exacerbate the risk of glucose intolerance [28, 29]. According to the latest guidelines, patients with TS need an annual monitoring of hemoglobin A1c regardless of GH therapy and an annual measurement of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) when the GH dose is increased [15].

In cases of insufficient growth in girls older than 10 with GH monotherapy, the addition of oxandrolone, an anabolic steroid, in a dose of 0.03–0.05 mg/kg/day is recommended [15, 30]. Oxandrolone in combination with GH therapy may improve the adult height by 2–5 cm [31]. Possible side effects of oxandrolone therapy include a slight virilizing effect (acne, hirsutism, clitoromegaly); however, when using the drug in a standard dosage, the risk of virilization is extremely low [30].

#### 2.2.2 Ovarian Dysgenesis

Although the gonads in TS differentiate normally until the third month of pregnancy, an accelerated apoptosis of oocytes occurs after this period, with an increase in ovarian stromal fibrosis. Consequently, it's not uncommon that ovarian failure takes place within the first months or years of life.

Routine extraction of oocytes is not recommended for patients under 12 years of age, but young TS women with normal ovarian function should be informed of options for maintaining fertility [15].

Even though primary amenorrhea is usual in TS, the incidence of spontaneous puberty is not uncommon [11, 32]. Concentrations of follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) are high as early as 5 days of age in infants with TS; although these levels decline afterwards, FSH and LH levels remain higher than in girls with a normal karyotype [12, 33].

In up to 6% of TS patients, the karyotype includes the Y chromosome, which may lead to the development of gonadoblastoma, and malignant neoplasm

composed of stromal and germ cells. Hence, in these cases, early prophylactic excision of the gonads is recommended in TS women, considering that the risk increases with age (from 2% at age 10 to 27.5% at 30 years) [11].

Still, most patients with TS require induction of pubertal and hormone replacement therapy with estrogen-progestational medications for adequate development of the mammary glands and uterus and to get an acceptable peak of bone mass. In these cases for monitoring, it is recommended to check the level of gonadotropins (especially FSH) annually from the age of 11 years to identify hypergonadotropic hypogonadism and timely induction of puberty. It is also recommended in some cases to determine the level of anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) or inhibin B. A low level of these hormones may indicate a decrease in the ovarian reserve [34, 35].

After induction of puberty, patients with TS require prolonged estrogen replacement therapy. The goal of this therapy is to prevent osteoporosis, reduce the risk of atherosclerosis, and improve cognitive functions [11, 16, 35].

The use of preparations containing natural estrogens per os or in parenteral forms is recommended. Currently, preference is given to the transdermal route in order to elude the first-pass effect in the liver, avoiding many adverse effects of hormone therapy. Transdermal 17 $\beta$  estradiol is recommended to be administered from the age of 11–12 years. The minimum dose of 17 $\beta$  estradiol by transdermal route is 14–25 µg, and the dose can be gradually increased up to adult dosage (50–100 µg/day) at 2–3 years of therapy [15].

Progestagen (oral micronized progesterone or synthetic progestin) must be prescribed in the case of withdrawal bleeding or 2 years after initiation of estrogen therapy to minimize the risk of endometrial cancer [7, 15]. The schedule of progestin administration may be sequential—a minimum of 10 days per month—with menstrual deprivation or as a continuous regimen that prevents menstrual bleeding.

Estrogen deficiency causes bone loss, endothelial dysfunction, decreased insulin production, abnormal lipid pattern, increased central adiposity, and early atherosclerosis. In estrogen-deficient females with TS, replacement therapy improves liver enzyme abnormalities and some cognitive deficits (reaction time, nonverbal processing speed, short-term memory) [36]. Therefore, the use of estrogen replacement up to physiological doses should be maintained until the expected age of menopause. Nonetheless, it is important to emphasize that neither the risk of breast cancer nor that of ovarian or endometrial cancer is higher in these patients than in the general population [12].

#### 2.3 Fertility and Pregnancy

Regarding reproductive function, patients with TS are mostly infertile. In patients with 45X monosomy, spontaneous pregnancy is uncommon and occurs in less than 0.5% of cases. The risk of developing congenital anomalies and chromosomal pathologies in the newborns of such patients is extremely high. Among patients with 45X/47XXX mosaicism, the incidence of spontaneous pregnancies reaches up

to 14%, and the risk of congenital anomalies is less than 5% [37]. In most cases, patients with TS are referred to oocyte donation and in vitro fertilization. However, the risk of first trimester miscarriage is higher, probably due to uterine hypoplasia and some uterine ischemia during pregnancy [33, 38, 39]. Cesarean rates are higher due to cephalopelvic disproportion.

TS is associated with a variety of severe cardiovascular pathologies; therefore, taking a decision on future pregnancy and the use of assisted reproductive technologies and cardiac assessment, including echocardiography and strict blood pressure monitoring, is mandatory to these patients since the risk of death is extremely high. The pregnancy is categorically contraindicated in patients with aortic abnormalities.

Finally, prenatal diagnosis of TS allows the prediction of gonadal insufficiency in women demonstrating early evidence of ovarian function; hence, new techniques of ovarian tissue cryopreservation with the aim of replantation might be suitable for a few selected females with TS.

#### 2.4 Osteoporosis

Patients with TS have low cortical mineral density, osteoporosis, and risk of fractures. These conditions are probably related to a primary defect in bone formation. Although the molecular defect remains to be identified, some genes located in X chromosome are associated with connective tissue changes [40]. In women with TS, the peak in bone mass is reduced by 25% compared to the general population of women. The incidence of fracture in girls and adult women with TS is threefold higher than in normal controls [41]. Girls with TS who have had spontaneous menarche have been found to achieve normal bone mass [42].

The prescription of GH therapy in combination with estrogen replacement therapy before the age of 12 significantly improves bone mineral density.

#### 2.5 Cardiovascular Abnormalities

Cardiovascular abnormalities occur in 50% of patients with TS and are the leading cause of early mortality, which is registered three times more often than in the main female population [5–7, 43]. The life expectancy of such patients is reduced by 13 years [44].

Congenital heart defects, aortic root dilatation and aortic dissection, ischemic heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease contribute nearly 50% to the excess morbidity in TS [45]. Dilatation of the root of the aorta, hypertension, and bicuspid aortic valve have been reported as major cardiovascular concerns in TS [44, 46]. It should also be noted that mortality from ischemic heart disease in patients with TS is seven times higher than that among women in the control group [44].

Figure 2.1 shows the main cardiovascular anomalies associated with TS.



Fig. 2.1 Main cardiovascular complaints associated with Turner syndrome

Cardiovascular complications are related mainly to the hypoestrogenism, but it is believed that differences in X chromosome gene expression can also play a role [47]. Several genes localized in the X chromosome have been described as involved in the control of cardiovascular functions such as the angiotensin type 2 receptor and several kinases and transcription factors [48]. Moreover, the abnormal lipid profile with high level of total and LDL cholesterol in patients with TS is responsible for the high risk of atherosclerosis development and cardiovascular complications [49, 50].

Bicuspid aortic valve is the most common congenital malformation (25–39.2%) [46], and although it is usually an isolated abnormality, it may occur together with other anomalies such as aortic coarctation. This combination may result in progressive valve dysfunction due to calcification in the aortic valve and may cause aortic stenosis or regurgitation in adulthood. Coarctation of the aorta affects 10% of women with TS causing hypertension and seems to be more associated with severe lymphoedema, perhaps due to abnormal lymphatic flow by compression of the ascending aorta [4, 51].

Other abnormalities, such as partial anomalous venous drainage and mitral valve abnormalities are more common among TS women, and left-side cardiac anomalies are associated with endocarditis, with prophylactic antibiotics being essential before surgical procedures. However, the most serious risk for females with TS is aortic dissection (risk of 36 per 100, 000/TS person year compared to 6 per 100, 000/year in general population), which may occur several decades earlier than in the general female population causing even sudden death [52].

Hypertension, a bicuspid aortic valve, and dilated aortic root (with an age-related increase of the root diameter greater than the normal population) are risk factors for dissection.

Surveillance for aortic root dilatation, treatment for hypertension, and prophylactic medical therapy with timely surgical consultation are essential to reduce the incidence of aortic dissection [18, 53].

Echocardiography should be included in the assessment of TS patients and should be indicated periodically. Electrocardiogram should be carried out along with the imaging studies because conduction or repolarization defects have been reported attributed to neuroautonomic dysfunction [4].

#### 2.6 Neurocognitive, Sexual, and Behavioral Problems

Usually patients with TS have normal intelligence with good verbal skills, although some subjects may have problems in the neurocognitive and psychosocial spheres. The severity of cognitive impairment is supposed to be associated with a karyotype since these disorders are more pronounced in patients with 45X monosomy or rX than in mosaic patterns [10]. It's noteworthy that nearly 10% of girls with TS (especially those with an X-ring karyotype) may exhibit an intellectual impairment [54]. Difficulties can arise with nonverbal training, performance of numerical work, visual-spatial perception, motor coordination, and motor training. Patients with TS have reduced working memory and processing speed; therefore, autism spectrum disorders as well as attention deficit and hyperactivity may be noted [54–58].

Low self-esteem, depression, anxiety, and difficulties in sexual relations are also common among patients with TS [59]. However, most of the series and studies suggest that the high prevalence of depressive symptoms in TS' patients is mainly due to hypogonadism and subsequent hypoestrogenism and is not a direct effect of the absence of the X chromosome. The incidence of depression in patients with TS is comparable to that of women with premature ovarian failure with normal karyotype [60, 61].

Sexual function in women with TS is impaired compared with the general population [62]. In addition, only 50–55% of patients with TS recognize to be sexually active [63, 64], and among patients with regular relationships, a low level of sexual satisfaction is noted [63]. One of the factors that more strongly affect sexual activity is the height of women being sexually inactive patients of a shorter size than sexually active subjects [63].

Early detection of neurocognitive problems and the use of modern principles of rehabilitation help improve achievement and social well-being in children with TS [54, 65].

Therefore, it is recommended that children with TS be screened every year in order to identify behavioral problems and undergo an official neuropsychiatric testing at the main transitional stages of the child's life [66]. However, as the neuropsychiatric and psychologic problems exist along all the life of these patients, women with TC should have warranted full access to clinical psychologists and psychiatrists for counseling related to anxiety and related conditions [4].

#### 2.7 Sensorineural Disorders

Recurrent otitis media is a common complaint of TS women with a frequency ranging from 61 to 88% of patients upon the different series [67, 68]. Girls with 45X monosomy karyotype are more prone to middle ear problems than those with deletions or mosaicism probably related to altered cranial bone structure [67–69].

Adolescent and young-adult women with TS have a progressive hearing impairment, deteriorating rapidly in adult age. The hearing decline seems to consist of two patterns: a mid-frequency dip and a high-frequency loss resembling age-related hearing impairment [70].

Conductive hearing loss is found in 39–43% of girls under 16 [71, 72], and it persists beyond the age of 20 in around 20% of TS women [68]. This progressive hearing loss seems to be more common in those with a history of recurrent ear infections earlier in life.

The main cause for the infection is the deformity in the pinna, more pronounced in patients with a total deletion of the short arm of the X chromosome, as monosomy 45X0 or isochromosome [68]. Therefore, the conductive loss may have a congenital origin. However, the pathophysiology of sensorineural lesions is not yet fully understood. Some studies indicate that cochlear dysfunction is the cause of the sensorineural impairment and it is possibly influenced by estrogen deficiency [73, 74]. Therefore, regular audiometric checks should be performed referring patients to otorhinolaryngology departments.

#### 2.8 Other Disorders

Congenital renal malformations are ninefold more common in women with TS than in the general population [10]. These abnormalities include horseshoe kidney, duplex systems, and rotated kidneys. Malformations are more common in 45X0 monosomy females, being related to neither hypertension nor other clinical symptoms. Nevertheless, renal ultrasound is recommended at diagnosis and should be repeated at the time of adult transfer.

The most common ocular findings linked to TS are strabismus, ptosis, and amblyopia. All patients should have eye assessment carried out during follow-up if required.

Multiple autoimmune diseases, such as chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis, celiac disease, and inflammatory bowel disease (especially Crohn's disease), are also commonly associated with TS, but the pathophysiologic mechanism of immune alteration remains unclear [75].

Autoimmune thyroid disease with outcome in clinical or subclinical hypothyroidism is detected in approximately 50% of patients. Therefore, regular monitorization of thyroid hormones and antithyroid antibodies is mandatory in women with TS and allows timely initiation of adequate substitution therapy [76].

#### 2.9 Diagnosis

Diagnosis of Turner syndrome is not always simple. Unfortunately, often the syndrome is diagnosed late, and up to 38% of patients learn about their diagnosis in adulthood [77]. However, in some cases, a diagnosis is possible at the prenatal stage. When performing ultrasound, increased nuchal translucency, cystic hygroma, and left-sided obstructive cardiac anomalies (especially coarctation of the aorta) in a fetus can be TS markers [78]. The results of maternal serum screening may also be abnormal; however, prenatal confirmation of the diagnosis requires amniocentesis or chorionic villus analysis. Karyotype is recommended to be repeated in postnatal period [2, 15].

Nowadays, karyotyping is recommended if there is at least one of the following signs: fetal hydrops or cystic hygroma, unexplained short stature, delayed puberty, obstructive left-sided cardiac abnormality such as a bicuspid aortic valve, coarctation, aortic stenosis, hypoplastic left heart syndrome or mitral valve abnormalities, characteristic facial features (such as short broad neck with webbing, narrow palate, micrognathia, low set ears, and down-slanted palpebral fissures with epicanthal folds), or in a couple presenting with infertility. The combination of two or more cardiovascular and/or kidney abnormalities specific for TS, as well as Madelung deformity, dysplastic nails, multiple nevi, neuropsychological issues, and hearing loss associated with short stature, is a clear indication for carrying out karyotyping [15].

#### 2.10 Conclusion

Turner syndrome is a chromosomal abnormality affecting all stages of a woman's life-from intrauterine development to the adult period. The complex of congenital anomalies associated with Turner syndrome is hypogonadism, hypoestrogenism, cardiovascular complications, renal pathology, neurosensory disorders, metabolic disorders, cognitive impairment, and difficulties in social adaptation requiring early diagnosis and timely treatment. The onset of GH therapy in childhood and the timely initiation of pubertal and estrogen replacement therapy in adolescence and adulthood allow patients with TS to have almost normal quality of life indicators and to be psychologically and socially well adapted in society. Subsequently, during adulthood endocrinological-gynecology units might diagnose conditions that may debut later in life, including endocrino-metabolic, immunological, and sensorineural disorders such as diabetes, hypothyroidism, coeliac disease, hearing loss, etc. and refer these patients to other consultants. Only the work of a multidisciplinary team of specialists, including pediatricians, endocrinologists, gynecologists, cardiologists, otolaryngologists, and psychologists, can optimize the management and treatment of such patients (Table 2.1).
	Basal	Yearly	3–5 years of monitoring
Weight and stature	x	x	
Tanner	X		
Blood pressure	x	x	
Lab tests			
Hemogram, lipid profile	Х	Х	
Metabolism (liver enzymes, glucose	Х	Х	
intolerance)			
Thyroid assessment (TSH, T4)/thyroidal Ab	X/X	X/X <sup>a</sup>	X/X
FSH, LH	х		
Autoimmunity	Х	Xa	
Karyotype	X		
Echocardiogram, EKG	Х	Xa	X
Abdominal ultrasound	Х	Xa	X
Gynecological ultrasound	Х	Х	
Bone absorptiometry	Х	Xa	X
Audiometry	X	Xa	X

 Table 2.1
 Regular checks in Turner syndrome patients

<sup>a</sup>When indicated

# References

- Ros C, Serra A, Balasch J, Margarit E, Castelo-Branco C. Comparative cytogenetic analysis in two tissues with different lineage in Turner's syndrome patients: correlation with phenotype. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2014;30(4):282–6.
- Bondy CA, Turner T, Consensus S, et al. Care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: a guideline of the Turner Syndrome Study Group. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;92:10–25.
- Saikia UK, Sarma D, Yadav Y. Delayed presentation of Turner syndrome: challenge to optimal management. J Hum Reprod Sci. 2017;10(4):297–301.
- 4. Davenport M. Approach to the patient with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:1487–95.
- Marin A, Weir-McCall JR, Webb DJ, et al. Imaging of cardiovascular risk in patients with Turner's syndrome. Clin Radiol. 2015;70:803–14.
- Mortensen KH, Gopalan D, Andersen NH, et al. Multimodality cardiac imaging in Turner syndrome. Cardiol Young. 2016;26:831–41.
- 7. Castelo-Branco C. Management of Turner syndrome in adult life and beyond. Maturitas. 2014;79(4):471–5.
- Donalson MDC, Gault EJ, Tan KW, Dunger DB. Optimising management in Turner syndrome: from infancy to adult transfer. Arch Dis Child. 2006;91:513–20.
- 9. Devernay M, Ecosse E, Coste J, Carel JC. Determinants of medical care for young women with Turner Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:3408–13.
- Gravholt C. Epidemiological, endocrine and metabolic features in Turner syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;151:657–87.
- Elsheikh M, Dunger DB, Conway GS, Wass JAH. Turner's syndrome in adulthood. Endocr Rev. 2003;23:120–40.
- 12. Conway GS. The impact and management of Turner's syndrome in adult life. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;16:243–61.
- 13. Stockholm K, Juul S, Juel K, Naeraa RW, Gravholt CH. Prevalence, incidence, diagnostic delay and mortality in Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:3897–902.
- 14. Apperley L, Das U, Ramakrishnan R, Dharmaraj P, Blair J, Didi M, Senniappan S. Mode of clinical presentation and delayed diagnosis of Turner syndrome: a single Centre UK study. Int J Pediatr Endocrinol. 2018;2018:4.

- Gravholt CH, Andersen NH, Conway GS, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: proceedings from the 2016 Cincinnati International Turner Syndrome Meeting. Eur J Endocrinol. 2017;177:1–70.
- Ros C, Castelo-Branco C. Management of Turner's syndrome in adult life: case-series and systematic review. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2012;28(9):726–32.
- 17. Bianco SDC, Kaiser UB. The genetic and molecular basis of idiophatic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009;5:569–76.
- Shankar RK, Backeljauw PF. Current best practice in the management of Turner syndrome. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2018;9(1):33–40.
- Oliveira CS, Alves C. The role of the SHOX gene in the pathophysiology of Turner syndrome. Endocrinol Nutr. 2011;58:433–42.
- Quigley CA, Crowe BJ, Anglin DG, et al. Growth hormone and low dose estrogen in Turner syndrome: results of a United States multi-center trial to near-final height. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:2033–41.
- 21. Baxter L, Bryant J, Cave CB, et al. Recombinant growth hormone for children and adolescents with Turner syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;(1):CD003887.
- 22. Ross JL, Quigley CA, Cao D, et al. Growth hormone plus childhood low-dose estrogen in Turner's syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:1230–42.
- 23. van Pareren YK, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM, Stijnen T, et al. Final height in girls with turner syndrome after long-term growth hormone treatment in three dosages and low dose estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:1119–25.
- Davenport ML, Crowe BJ, Travers SH, et al. Growth hormone treatment of early growth failure in toddlers with Turner syndrome: a randomized, controlled, multi-center trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:3406–16.
- Stephure DK, Canadian Growth Hormone Advisory Committee. Impact of growth hormone supplementation on adult height in Turner syndrome: results of the Canadian randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90:3360–6.
- Bell J, Parker KL, Swinford RD, et al. Long-term safety of recombinant human growth hormone in children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:167–77.
- 27. Darendeliler F, Karagiannis G, Wilton P. Headache, idiopathic intracranial hypertension and slipped capital femoral epiphysis during growth hormone treatment: a safety update from the KIGS database. Horm Res. 2007;68(Suppl.5):41–7.
- Wooten N, Bakalov VK, Hill S, et al. Reduced abdominal adiposity and improved glucose tolerance in growth hormone-treated girls with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93:2109–14.
- 29. Cutfield WS, Wilton P, Bennmarker H, et al. Incidence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in children and adolescents receiving growth-hormone treatment. Lancet. 2000;355:610–3.
- Sas TC, Gault EJ, Bardsley MZ, et al. Safety and efficacy of oxandrolone in growth hormonetreated girls with Turner syndrome: evidence from recent studies and recommendations for use. Horm Res Paediatr. 2014;81:289–97.
- Menke LA, Sas TC, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM, et al. Efficacy and safety of oxandrolone in growth hormone-treated girls with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:1151–60.
- Pasquino AM, Passeri F, Pucarelli I, et al. Spontaneous pubertal development in Turner's syndrome. Italian Study Group for Turner's Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:1810–3.
- 33. Bannink EM, van Sassen C, van Buurent S, de Jong FH, Lequin M, Mulder PGH. Puberty induction in Turner syndrome: results of oestrogen treatment on development of secondary sexual characteristics, uterine dimensions and serum hormone levels. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2009;70:265–73.
- Lunding SA, Aksglaede L, Anderson RA, et al. AMH as predictor of premature ovarian insufficiency: a longitudinal study of 120 Turner Syndrome patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:1030–8.

- Castelo-Branco C, León M, Durán M, Balasch J. Follicle-stimulating hormones does not directly regulate bone mass in human beings: evidence from nature. Fertil Steril. 2008;90:2211–6.
- Ross J, Roentgen D, Zinn A. Cognition and the sex chromosomes: studies in Turner syndrome. Horm Res. 2006;65:47–56.
- 37. Lim HH, Kil HR, Koo SH. Incidence, puberty, and fertility in 45,X/47,XXX mosaicism: report of a patient and a literature review. Am J Med Genet A. 2018;176(4):1029.
- 38. Doerr HG, Bettendorf M, Hauffa BP, Mehls O, Partsch CJ. Uterine size in women with Turner syndrome after induction of puberty with estrogens and long-term growth hormone therapy: results of the German IGLU Follow-up Study 2001. Hum Reprod. 2005;5:1418–21.
- Foudila T, Soderstrom-Anttila V, Hovatta O. Turner's syndrome and pregnancies after oocyte donation. Hum Reprod. 1999;14:532–5.
- 40. Breuil V, Euler-Ziegler L. Gonadal dysgenesis and bone metabolism. Joint Bone Spine. 2001;68:26–33.
- Bakalov V, Bondy CA. Fracture risk and bone mineral density in Turner syndrome. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2008;9:145–51.
- 42. Sass TC, De Muinck SM, Stijnen T, Asarfi A, Van Leeuwen WJ, Van Teunenbroek A, Van Rijn RR, Drop SL. A longitudinal study on bone mineral density until adulthood in girls with Turner's syndrome participating in growth hormone injection frequency-response trial. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2000;52:531–6.
- 43. Schoemaker MJ, Swerdlow AJ, Higgins CD, et al. Mortality in women with Turner syndrome in Great Britain: a national cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93:4735–42.
- 44. Bondy CA. Heart disease in Turner syndrome. Minerva Endocrinol. 2007;32:245-61.
- 45. Mortensen KH, Andersen NH, Gravholt CH. Cardiovascular phenotype in Turner syndromeintegrating cardiology, genetics and endocrinology. Endocr Rev. 2012;33:677–714.
- Donato B, Ferreira MJ. Cardiovascular risk in Turner syndrome. Rev Port Cardiol. 2018;37(7):607–21.
- Thomas J, Yetman AT. Management of cardiovascular disease in Turner syndrome. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 2009;7:1631–41.
- Ross MT, Grafham DV, Coffey AJ, Scherer S, McLay K, Muzny D, et al. The DNA sequence of the human X chromosome. Nature. 2005;434:325–37.
- 49. O'Gorman CS, Syme C, Lang J, Bradley TJ, et al. An evaluation of early cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents with Turner syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2013;78:907–13.
- Akyrek N, Atabek ME, Eklioglu BS, et al. The relationship of periaortic fat thickness and cardiovascular risk factors in children with Turner syndrome. Pediatr Cardiol. 2015;36:925–9.
- Berdahl LD, Wenstrom KD, Hanson JW. Web neck anomaly and its association with congenital heart disease. Am J Med Genet. 1995;56:304–7.
- Gravholt CH, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Stochholm K, et al. Clinical and epidemiological description of aortic dissection in Turner's syndrome. Cardiol Young. 2006;16:430–6.
- Conway GS, Band M, Doyle J, Davies MC. How do you monitor the patient with Turner's syndrome in adulthood? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2010;73:696–9.
- 54. Sybert VP, McCauley E. Turner's syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:1227-38.
- Hong D, Scaletta KJ, Kesler S. Cognitive profile of Turner syndrome. Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2009;15:270–8.
- 56. Green T, Bade SS, Chromik LC, et al. Elucidating X chromosome influences on attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and executive function. J Psychiatr Res. 2015;68:217–25.
- Mazzocco MM. The cognitive phenotype of Turner syndrome: specific learning disabilities. Int Congr Ser. 2006;1298:83–92.
- Nijhuis-van der Sanden MW, Eling PA, Otten BJ. A review of neuropsychological and motor studies in Turner Syndrome. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2003;27:329–38.
- 59. McCauley E, Feuillan P, Kushner H, et al. Psychosocial development in adolescents with Turner syndrome. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2001;22:360–5.

- Sheaffer AT, Lange E, Bondy CA. Sexual function in women with Turner syndrome. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2008;17(1):27–33.
- 61. Cardoso G, Daly R, Haq NA, et al. Current and lifetime psychiatric illness in women with Turner syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2004;19(6):313–9.
- 62. Garrido Oyarzun MF, Castelo-Branco C. Sexuality and quality of life in congenital hypogonadism. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2016;32(12):947–50.
- 63. Ros C, Alobid I, Balasch J, et al. Turner's syndrome and other forms of congenital hypogonadism impair quality of life and sexual function. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;208(6):484–6.
- 64. Carel JC, Elie C, Ecosse E, et al. Self-esteem and social adjustment in young women with Turner syndrome—influence of pubertal management and sexuality: population-based cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(8):2972–9.
- 65. Chadwick PM, Smyth A, Liao LM. Improving self-esteem in women diagnosed with Turner syndrome: results of a pilot intervention. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2014;27:129–32.
- 66. Heilbronner RL, Sweet JJ, Attix DK, et al. Official position of the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology on serial neuropsychological assessments: the utility and challenges of repeat test administrations in clinical and forensic contexts. Clin Neuropsychol. 2010;24:1267–78.
- 67. Ros C, Tercero A, Alobid I, Balasch J, Santamaria J, Mullol J, Castelo-Branco C. Hearing loss in adult women with Turner's syndrome and other congenital hypogonadisms. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2014;30(2):111–6.
- 68. Verver EJ, Freriks K, Thomeer HG, Huygen PL, Pennings RJ, Alfen-van der Velden AA, Timmers HJ, Otten BJ, Cremers CW, Kunst HP. Ear and hearing problems in relation to karyotype in children with Turner syndrome. Hear Res. 2011;275(1–2):81–8.
- 69. Kubba H, Smyth A, Wong SC, Mason A. Ear health and hearing surveillance in girls and women with Turner's syndrome: recommendations from the Turner's Syndrome Support Society. Clin Otolaryngol. 2017;42(3):503–7.
- Hederstierna C, Hultcrantz M, Rosenhall U. A longitudinal study of hearing decline in women with Turner syndrome. Acta Otolaryngol. 2009;129:1434–41.
- Bergamaschi R, Bergonzoni C, Mazzanti L, Scarano E, Mencarelli F, Messina F, Rosano M, Iughetti L, Cicognani A. Hearing loss in Turner syndrome: results of a multicentric study. J Endocrinol Invest. 2008;31(9):779–83.
- Hall JE, Richter GT, Choo DI. Surgical management of otologic disease in pediatric patients with Turner syndrome. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2009;73(1):57–65.
- Hederstierna C, Hultcrantz M, Rosenhall U. Estrogen and hearing from a clinical point of view; characteristics of auditory function in women with Turner syndrome. Hear Res. 2009;252:3–8.
- Parkin M, Walker P. Hearing loss in Turner syndrome. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2009;73:243–7.
- 75. Mortensen KH, Cleemann L, Hjerrild BE, et al. Increased prevalence of autoimmunity in Turner syndrome—influence of age. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;156:205–10.
- Grossi A, Crino A, Luciano R, Lombardo A, Cappa M, Fierabracci A. Endocrine autoimmunity in Turner syndrome. Ital J Pediatr. 2013;39:79.
- 77. Gravholt CH. Clinical practice in Turner syndrome. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2005;1:41–52.
- Bronshtein M, Zimmer EZ, Blazer S. A characteristic cluster of fetal sonographic markers that are predictive of fetal Turner syndrome in early pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003;188:1016–20.



# **Premature Ovarian Insufficiency**

3

Agnieszka Podfigurna, Monika Grymowicz, Anna Szeliga, Ewa Rudnicka, Marzena Maciejewska-Jeske, Roman Smolarczyk, and Blazej Meczekalski

# 3.1 Definition

Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI)—first described in 1942 by Fuller Albright [1] is defined as the loss of ovarian function before the age of 40 years. It's a state of female hypogonadism associated with amenorrhoea, increased gonadotropin levels, and hypoestrogenism [1, 2]. The ESHRE guideline criteria recommend the following diagnosis criteria for POI: oligo-/amenorrhoea for at least 4 months and elevated follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) level >25 IU/L on two occasion >4 weeks apart [3, 4].

# 3.2 Etiopathogenesis

Spontaneous causes of POI include genetic abnormalities, autoimmune disorders, infections, enzyme deficiency, metabolic diseases, or very often idiopathic causes [5, 6]. Induced or iatrogenic POI is often a result of oncological treatment: radio-therapy, chemotherapy, and surgery (bilateral ovariectomy) [5, 7, 8].

Approximately 10–12% of women with POI have chromosomal abnormalities. Among them 94% represent X chromosome abnormalities (X structural defects or X aneuploidy), and the rest 6% are autosomal gene defects. In women with POI and primary amenorrhoea, the incidence of karyotype abnormalities is higher (21%) than in women with secondary amenorrhoea (11%) [9, 10].

Department of Gynecological Endocrinology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland e-mail: marzena@jeske.pl

A. Podfigurna · A. Szeliga · M. Maciejewska-Jeske · B. Meczekalski (🖂)

e man: marzena e jeske.pr

M. Grymowicz  $\cdot$  E. Rudnicka  $\cdot$  R. Smolarczyk

Department of Gynecological Endocrinology, Warsaw Medical University, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: monika.grymowicz@wp.pl; ewa.rudnicka@poczta.onet.pl; rsmolarczyk@poczta.onet.pl

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_3

Turner syndrome is characterized by 45,X0 karyotype and occurrence of dysgenetic gonads and has an incidence of 1 in 2500 females [11]. 80% patients with Turner syndrome lack paternal X chromosome; in the remaining cases, there is an incorrect chromosome X (isochromosome X), the failure of short arm of chromosome X, or damage to chromosomal segment 2.6 Mb Xp-Yp of pseudoautosomal region [12]. Having two chromosomes X is necessary for full development of the ovary and the correct course of folliculogenesis. In case of absence or abnormal chromosome X, the oocytes cannot properly undergo meiosis and degrade [13]. In some cases of Turner syndrome with mosaicism 45,X0/46,XX, we can observe menarche and the occurrence of menstruations for many years [11]. In a study by Gravholt, 12% of women with Turner syndrome (12 of 114 patients) had Y chromosome and elevated risk of developing gonadal neoplasia (10–30%) [14].

Trisomy X (karyotype 47,XXX), with the incidence of 1:800 born girls, is caused by nondisjunction of the X chromosome during maternal meiosis. It's also connected with POI and development of mental disorders, but the prevalence of POI in this group is unknown [15, 16].

One of the most common genetic contributors to POI is permutation of the fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene, which is responsible for up to 13% of familial cases and 0.8–7.5% of sporadic cases of POI [17, 18]. FMR1 gene is located on chromosome X and normally contains 5–44 CGG repeats in a region within the 5' untranslated region of the gen [19]. Expansion of the triplet to 55–199 repeats is considered a "permutation," and 200 or more repeats provide basis for the diagnosis of full mutation FMR1, which can result in mental retardation but primarily in men [19]. 20% of women who carry this permutation will develop POI, which is a much higher percentage than the 1% among women of the general population [20, 21].

# 3.2.1 Autosomal Gene Mutations

POI is a heterogeneous condition with no single underlying cause, but a number of autosomal genes were indicated as the cause of premature ovarian function depletion [22]. For some of these genes, the mutations are recognized, while the others are listed as candidate genes with the necessity for future investigation. The genes that could result in POI are genes involved in folliculogenesis (NRA51, NOBOX, FIGLA, and FOXL2), folliculogenesis growth factors (BMP15, GDF9, inhibin A), ovarian steroidogenesis (FSH, FSHR, LH, LHR), or genes identified in syndromes often associated with POI (BLM, WRN, RTS) [23–25].

Galactosemia is a rare autosomal disorder due to a defect in galactose 1-phosphate uridyltransferase (GALT) metabolism. Proper galactose metabolism is required for ovarian function, and without that its metabolites accumulate to toxic levels and accelerate follicular atresia or the glycosylation of gonadotropin subunits leading to biological inactivity [26].

Autoimmune diseases, such as Addison's disease, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, systemic lupus erythematosus, type 1 diabetes mellitus, Sjögren's syndrome, and rheumatoid arthritis, often occur with POI<sup>27</sup>. POI can be a part of the autoimmune polyglandular syndrome (APS) types 1 and 2. Type 1 is characterized by hypoparathyroidism, adrenal insufficiency, chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis, and the prevalence of POI in 15% cases [28]. Type 2 is associated with adrenal insufficiency, autoimmune thyroid disease, type I diabetes mellitus, and POI with the frequency of 3.6–10% [29]. It has been suggested that autoimmunity explains up to 30% of POI cases [27] [30]. Although coexistence of autoimmune or immune-mediated disorders is frequent in POI, histological examinations on ovarian tissue have documented that signs of oophoritis can be detected only in those women with circulating adrenal or ovarian autoantibodies directed to steroidogenic enzymes (steroid cell autoantibodies (SCA)) [31]. The prevalence of SCA in POI patients is 4–5% [27].

POI is also associated with thyroid autoimmunity; the prevalence of POI among women with Hashimoto's thyroiditis is about 14–27% [31, 32].

Chemotherapy and radiotherapy for treatment of malignant disease are also frequent causes of premature ovarian insufficiency. The risk that oncological treatment will lead to POI increases with age after puberty, with high-dose chemotherapy regimens and with combined chemo- and radiation therapy [33]. Age, radiation field, and dosage of radiation are the most important factors affecting the risk of POI during radiotherapy [34]. Doses of 9 Grays or higher are of high risk of ovarian insufficiency [35]. Chemotherapy affects the structure and function of oocytes and granulosa cells and decreases the number of oocytes in a dose- and drug-dependent manner. The use of anthracycline and alkylating agents has been shown to be most gonadotoxic in childhood and in adulthood [36, 37]. Induced POI could be temporary, but the recovery of ovarian function decreases with patient age [38].

Pelvic surgery has a potential role in early menopause. Laparoscopic excision of bilateral endometriomas leads in 2,4% to premature ovarian insufficiency [39] and ovarian endometrioma surgery is associated with a decline in serum AMH and diminishing the ovarian reserve [40].

Several case reports have indicated the association between various infections, including mumps, HIV, herpes zoster, cytomegalovirus, tuberculosis, malaria, varicella and shigella, and POI [41]. Mumps oophoritis may cause POI, and the incidence of 3–7% has been reported among POI patients [42]. However none of the remaining infectious agents have been able to establish any cause and relationship between the infection and the diagnosis of POI [42].

Smoking has been shown to be associated with earlier menopause, and the suggested pathophysiology is that tobacco smoke contains polycyclic hydrocarbons which are toxic to germ cells [43, 44].

In a significant number of women with POI (up to 90% according the literature), the cause is unknown, and these women are described as having unexplained or idiopathic POI [42, 45].

# 3.3 Epidemiology

The prevalence of POI is about 1% [46, 47] and is variable depending on the age: 1% of women younger than 40 years, 0.1% under 30 years, and 0.01% under the age of 20 years [48]. There are also ethnic differences ranging from 1.4% in women of African-American and Hispanic descent to 1,0% in Caucasian, 0,5% in Chinese,

and 0,1% in Japanese women [47]. Among women with primary amenorrhoea, the frequency of POI is 10–28% and in those with secondary amenorrhoea 4–18% [49].

# 3.4 Clinical Features of Premature Ovarian Insufficiency Patients

In particular, women suffering from POI experience abnormalities in menstrual cycle. Secondary amenorrhea or prolonged oligomenorrhea and primary amenorrhea may be the first symptoms and are the most common complains. About 75% of patients suffering from POI may also manifest typical postmenopausal symptoms. Hot flushes and night sweats are most common and appear, respectively, in 59.2% and 41.5% of POI patients. Moreover patients suffer from vaginal dryness (23.8%), vaginal mucus atrophy or dyspareunia, as well as mood disturbances, such as depression, anxiety (20.3%), and low libido (14.8%) [50]. Iatrogenic POI and older age at diagnosis are associated with exacerbation of symptoms [51].

# 3.5 Diagnostic Evaluation of POI

The diagnosis of POI should be based on the presence of menstrual disturbances and biochemical parameters: 4-month period of oligo-/amenorrhoea and two measurement of elevated FSH >25 IU/L on two occasions >4 weeks [3, 4].

The second part of the diagnostic process is to establish a cause of POI. It is necessary to examine karyotype in every woman with POI, and in case of incidence of Y chromosome, gonadectomy should be advised [52, 53]. FMR1 premutation testing is indicated in all women with POI to determine the cause of hypergonadotropic hypogonadism and also because of the risk of developing POI or cases of mental retardation associated with fragile X syndrome in family members [52, 54]. Routine autosomal genetic testing in POI is not recommended, unless the typical phenotype characteristics of type 1 blepharophimosis, ptosis, and epicanthus inversus syndrome (BPES) (dysplasia of the eyelids) are present [55].

According to data from the literature, autoimmunity explains up to 30% of POI cases [27, 30]. The ESHRE Committee recommended screening for 21OH-Ab (or alternatively adrenocortical antibodies (ACA)) in women with POI and to refer the 21OH-Ab/ACA patients to endocrinologist for testing of adrenal function and to rule out Addison's disease [3, 4]. The screening for thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies (TPO-Ab) is also recommended in all women with POI, and in case of positive test, thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) should be marked every year to exclude hypo- and hyperthyroidism [3, 4]. There is no evidence to recommend routinely screening for diabetes or for infectious disease in women with POI [3, 4]. Although there is no causal relation between cigarette smoking and POI, women with POI should be advised to stop smoking.

# 3.6 Consequences of Premature Ovarian Insufficiency for Women's Health

## 3.6.1 Cardiovascular System

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) seems to be the main cause of death among women. Though there has been an overall decline in CVD mortality over the past 40 years, the mortality in younger women has plateaued since around the year 2000. The incidence of myocardial infarction (MI) in women, although lower than in men, increases dramatically following menopause. The role of menopause itself is not so clear [56].

CVD includes four major areas:

- Coronary heart disease (CHD) clinically manifested by myocardial infarction (MI), angina pectoris, heart failure (HF), and coronary death
- Cerebrovascular disease clinically manifested by stroke and transient ischemic attack
- Peripheral artery disease clinically manifested by intermittent claudication
- Aortic atherosclerosis and thoracic or abdominal aortic aneurysm

It has been postulated that women with POI may be at higher risk for CVD and death due to loss of ovarian function and subsequent deficiency of endogenous estrogens. They present several risk factors for the development of cardiovascular disease: endothelial dysfunction, autonomic dysfunction, abnormal lipid profile, insulin action disturbances, and metabolic syndrome.

Women in the premenopausal period with premature coronary artery disease have significantly lower plasma estradiol levels in comparison to healthy women. Estrogens have effects on ventricular myocyte contractile function and on intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> kinetics in coronary endothelial cells, thus having antiarrhythmic effects in cardiac myocytes. There is also evidence that estrogens decrease insulin resistance and protect against lipid peroxidation. There may be different effects of HRT in younger women (with early menopause starting treatment within 3 years of their last menstrual period in life), compared to older women (with age at menopause higher than 50, starting treatment 10 years after their last menstrual period in life). The difference most probably results from the complexity of estrogen and progestogen receptor systems. A higher expression of the estrogen receptors and higher level of enzymes involved in estrogen metabolism have been found in the vascular smooth muscle cells seen in aortas of women suffered from mild atherosclerosis than in the cells seen in aortas of women with severe atherosclerosis. The abovementioned observations are consistent with experimental data from animal models showing that estrogen administration protects against atherosclerosis only if vessels are healthy without established atherosclerosis. In more advanced stages of atherosclerosis, oral estrogen administration can have negative effects on the cardiovascular system via its prothrombotic effects possibly contributing to plaque instability.

Despite lack of longitudinal outcome data, hormone replacement therapy (HRT) when used early is strongly recommended in women with the diagnosis of POI to control future risk of cardiovascular disease. HRT should be continued at least until the average age of natural menopause [57].

Women with the diagnosis of POI should be advised that HRT may have a role in primary prevention of diseases of the cardiovascular system [58].

Endothelial function, measured as the flow-mediated dilation of the brachial artery, has been demonstrated to be significantly reduced in women with POI. Likewise, the amount of circulating endothelial progenitor cells is decreased and correlated with reduced serum estradiol level [59].

Women with natural POI before the age of 40 years have earlier onset of coronary heart disease and increased CVD mortality [60]. There is an inverse relationship between age at natural menopause and cardiovascular mortality [61]. The POI women present an increased carotid intima media thickness and left ventricular diastolic function [62].

Moreover, patients diagnosed with POI present abnormalities in lipid profile, but the results are conflicting regarding particular lipoproteins. Even though there are conflicting data regarding lipid profile and insulin resistance indices, the overall cardiovascular risk in POI women seems to be significantly increased, as the mortality. Especially the risk of mortality from ischemic heart disease is increased approximately 80% in the POI women group compared to women with menopause at 49–55 years [63].

The primary cardiovascular risk factors in women, along with the conditions considered CHD equivalents are: personal history of CHD or other atherosclerotic vascular disease (peripheral arterial, cerebrovascular, and aortic disease), age over 55, family history of premature CHD (first-degree male relative under age 50 or a female under age 60), hypertension, dyslipidemia—high low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and/or low high-density lipoprotein (HDL), diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, chronic kidney disease (CKD), smoking, postmenopausal status, psychological stress (e.g., depression, posttraumatic stress disorder), inflammatory/rheumatic diseases, pregnancy-related complications (e.g., eclampsia, preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, gestational diabetes). All these risk factors and their assessment should be an important component of periodic health examinations [64, 65].

POI women should be advised of risk factors that they can modify through behavioral change (e.g., stopping smoking, taking regular weight-bearing exercise, and maintaining a healthy weight).

Cardiovascular risk should be assessed in women diagnosed with POI. At least blood pressure, weight, and smoking status should be monitored annually with other risk factors being assessed if indicated [66].

POI is an independent though modest risk factor of ischemic heart disease and overall CVD [67].

Women undergoing prophylactic bilateral oophorectomy before the age of 40 consistently showed an increased risk for cardiovascular disease and cerebral infarction [68–70].

Reduced life expectancy, due to cardiovascular disease, is observed among women with untreated POI [71].

Observational data suggest that early menopause may be associated with small increases in total mortality and mortality due to ischemic heart disease and also possibly ischemic stroke. However, at this time, evidence is insufficient to recommend hormone replacement therapy for the sole purpose of preventing cardiovascular disease or stroke [72].

It is said that for each year's delay in menopause, the cardiovascular mortality risk decreased by 2% [73].

#### 3.6.2 Metabolic Health

Data concerning metabolic health among women with POI are conflicting. Women with POI present similar levels of glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and triglyceride as the controls, but the incidence of metabolic syndrome is significantly increased [74]. In contrast, other authors detected increased serum glucose, insulin, and the homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in POI women (N = 43) vs. controls (N = 33) [75].

#### 3.6.3 Bone Metabolism

It is well established that prolonged estrogen deficiency exerts negative influence on bone mineral density (BMD) and is well-known risk factor of decrease in BMD. POI patients have on average 2–3% lower BMD at L1–L4 spine, femoral neck, and total hip than healthy age-matched controls [76, 77]. Despite the underlying pathomechanism of POI, either Turner syndrome, other gonadal dysgenesis, chemotherapy, or idiopathic POI, patients are particularly vulnerable to decreased BMD [4]. In the study conducted by Maclaran et al. [51], at the moment of diagnosis, over one third of patients had low BMD (29.7% osteopenia, 5% osteoporosis). Moreover it was noticed that women suffering from idiopathic POI had significantly lower BMD in comparison to iatrogenic POI (respectively, 1.108 g/cm<sup>3</sup> and 1.174 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, p = 0.0043). In another study percentage of POI women with abnormal BMD reached even 67% [78]. Risk factors, which particularly contribute to the degree of BMD loss, are duration of estrogen deficiency, POI before the age of 20 years, long period before the beginning of the disease, and initiation of HRT, as well as low calcium intake, lack of physical exercise, and low vitamin D3 concentration (<32 ng/mL) [4, 77, 79].

## 3.6.4 Genitourinary Syndrome

Hypoestrogenism leads to diminished elastin, collagen, and hyaluronic acid content and loss of vascularity in the urogenital region, leading to thinning of vaginal epithelium and impaired smooth muscle proliferation [80]. Symptoms of urogenital estrogen deficiency known as genitourinary syndrome (GS) include vaginal dryness, dyspareunia, vaginal itching and discharge, lesions, vaginal vault prolapse or vaginal stenosis, and shortening. Urological symptoms of GS are connected with stress urinary incontinence and recurrent urinary tract infections. The patients experience loss of libido and dyspareunia.

Information about genitourinary syndrome in patients with POI is scant. The incidence of genitourinary syndrome probably differs depending on the age of the diagnosis and etiology of the ovarian function depletion (from 10 to 42%) [81]. The West London POI database found lower incidence of vaginal dryness and loss of libido in women younger than 30 years than in the patients of age 30–35 years [81]. Moreover, women with POI as a consequence of malignant disease more frequently experienced vaginal dryness and loss of libido than patients with the cessation of ovarian function without malignant cause [81]. Sexual function of POI patients during estrogen therapy stays within the normal range; however the scores are lower than achieved by control women [82]. Interestingly worse sexual function seems to be more related to the psychological than to physiological aspects such as pain or lubrication [83]. No urodynamic changes before and after oral and vaginal estrogen therapy were found in a small group of patients with POI [84]. The authors concluded that estrogen deficiency alone in the absence of aging and other risk factors for stress incontinence is of minimal significance.

Standard and the most efficacious treatment of genitourinary syndrome is estrogen therapy. It restores vaginal epithelium and vasculature and lowers vaginal pH [85, 86]. Both systemic and vaginal estrogens are effective [87].

Non-hormonal treatment modalities, such as local treatment with lubricants and moisturizers, intravaginal laser therapy, oral selective estrogen receptor modulator – ospemifene, or pelvic floor physical therapy, have not been studied in patients with POI.

## 3.6.5 Fertility

Fertility in women is determined by numerous factors; however normal function of hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis plays a key role. Dysfunction at each level of this axis can lead to the infertility. Normal ovarian function is of crucial significance for proper ovulation process. Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) defined as the loss of ovarian function before age 40 has important influence on hypoestrogenism and infertility [88]. This condition is regarded as pathological state in contrast to the menopause which is physiological state. There are numerous factors related to etiopathogenesis of this disorder which were described at the beginning of this chapter [89]. Depending on the causes, ovaries of some POI patients may present activity, particularly at the early stage of this disorder. However chance for spontaneous conception is very limited and ranges from 4.0 to 8.0% [90]. Therefore women diagnosed with this disorder should be informed that there is a small chance of spontaneous pregnancy.

#### 3.6.6 Central Nervous System

Cognitive functions of POI patients are particularly impaired in cases of genetic disorders associated with POI. Fragile X syndrome is an X-linked mutation of the *FMR1* gene leading to mental retardation, especially in males. Women with premutation of *FMR1* are at high risk of developing POI, but they do not suffer from mental retardation. Women with *FMR1* full mutation had a significantly lower IQ when compared to healthy controls; moreover they suffered from weakness on executive function, spatial ability, and visual memory [91]. Trisomy of X chromosome (47,XXX) is anomaly associated with increased prevalence of POI. Moreover women suffering from trisomy X have higher rates of cognitive deficits and learning disabilities in the school-age years with an increased risk of speech and motor delays [92].

It is suspected that early menopause may contribute to increased risk of cognitive impairment and dementia; nevertheless data are not consistent [93]. Earlier age of premature menopause, especially due to oophorectomy, is a risk factor of more rapid cognitive decline [94].

Recently conducted studies indicated that untreated surgical menopause may result in development of Parkinson's disease, while oophorectomy due to nonmalignant pathologies increased the risk of cognitive decline by 64% [95]. Moreover patients after oophorectomy present worse word recall, decreased episodic memory, and semantic memory, which are particularly associated with development of dementia [96, 97]. Moreover earlier menopause contributed to AD neuropathology, particularly to development of neurotic plaques and thus increased risk of Alzheimer's disease [97].

#### 3.6.7 Emotional Health and Sexual Life

It is well estimated that POI patients develop distressing symptoms associated with disturbances in sexual health and quality of life. Taking into consideration Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI), almost all domains of sexual life such as arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and pain are affected [98, 99]. Results from previously conducted studies presented evidence that POI patients are less sexually responsive, have lower libido, and suffer from dyspareunia more often than healthy premenopausal controls [100]. Moreover estrogen deficiency leads to vaginal dryness and difficulties in orgasm achieving and painful intercourse [101]. Lower concentration of androgens associated with POI may also contribute to impaired sexual function; nevertheless data are inconsistent [102]. Problems in sexual life may contribute to loss of self-confidence and self-esteem, increased anxiety, and concerns [101]. Other complications associated with emotional health of POI patients are depression, somatization, sensitivity, hostility, blue mood, despair, depression, and psychological distress [102, 103]. In World Health Organization Quality of Life (WHOQOL-100) questionnaire, physical and psychological health are two main affected domains [103].

# 3.7 Management of Premature Ovarian Insufficiency Patients

# 3.7.1 The Role of Hormonal Replacement Therapy

The mainstay of treatment of POI is hormone replacement therapy (HRT) until at least the age of natural menopause [3, 104, 105].

Estrogen replacement therapy has several important goals, such as puberty induction, maintaining the optimal bone mass density, protection against cardiovascular risk, and alleviating the symptoms of hypoestrogenism.  $17\beta$ -Estradiol, estradiol valerate, conjugated equine estrogens, and synthetic ethinylestradiol are available in many different forms: oral pills, transdermal patches or gels, vaginal rings, or cream.

Progestagen therapy has to be added to systemic estrogen treatment (oral or transdermal) to protect from endometrial cancer. Micronized progesterone is available as oral or vaginal pill, while synthetic progestins are administered in a form of tablets, injections, rings, implants, or an intrauterine device.

Estrogens or progestins can be administered in a separate regimen or can be combined in a form of hormonal replacement therapy intended for postmenopausal women or contraceptive formulations in forms of pills, rings, or patches.

#### 3.7.1.1 Puberty Induction

In prepubertal girls with hypogonadism, small doses of estrogen help to achieve secondary sexual characteristics, induce growth spurt, build maximal bone mass density, and increase the volume and vasculature of the uterus. Natural 17 $\beta$ -estradiol is recommended at the age of 12 at initial doses of 6.25 µg/day transdermally or 0.25 mg/day orally [3]. Then during 2–3 years, the doses are gradually increased reaching at 15–16 years of age doses of 50–100 µg/day transdermally or 1–2 mg/ day orally [3]. Cyclic progestagen (for 10–12 days a month) is recommended after 2 years of estrogen treatment or when the breakthrough bleeding occurs [3, 106]. Regular withdrawal bleeding in POI patients provides a sense of normalcy in comparison with their peers.

## 3.7.1.2 HRT Risk

There is no evidence that risk connected with HRT when used in postmenopausal women can be applied to the younger population of women with POI. Breast cancer is not increased in women treated with HRT before the age of natural menopause; however, HRT is contraindicated in breast cancer survivors [3, 107, 108].

Increased risk of thromboembolism depends on estrogen concentration and type of progestins [109]. Second-generation progestins (levonorgestrel) carry lower risk than third-generation progestins or new progestins (gestodene, desogestrel, cyproterone acetate, drospirenone). Transdermal estrogens have lower risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) than estrogens administered orally.

#### 3.7.1.3 Androgens

Serum androgen levels are decreased in POI patients [110], and some clinicians recommend testosterone supplementation in order to increase libido [111]. The

effect of testosterone on quality of life and self-esteem in women with POI has not been proven [112]. Available evidence does not support routine replacement of testosterone or dehydroepiandrosterone in patients with ovarian failure [3, 113].

## 3.7.1.4 Choice of Estrogen/Progestin Regimen

There is no consensus on the optimum regimen of estrogen and progesterone replacement therapy in patients with premature ovarian insufficiency.

Physiological sex steroid replacement (pSSR) including estradiol patches  $(50-100 \ \mu g/day)$  in regimen with vaginal progesterone  $(100-300 \ mg/day)$  for  $10-12 \ days$  in a month) achieves steroid serum concentrations similar with women with normal ovarian function [107, 113–115]. That treatment regimen in comparison with standard HRT or oral contraceptive pill (OCP) better improves parameters of uterine function [116]; is associated with lower blood pressure, better renal function, and less activation of the renin-angiotensin system [57]; and results in better BMD *z*-scores in lumbar spine region [114].

Transdermal estradiol delivers hormones directly into circulation avoiding firstpass effect on the liver and may be the lowest-risk route of administration of estrogens in women suffering from migraine with aura, hypertension, and obesity or at an increased risk of VTE [3].

Combined oral contraceptive pill containing ethinylestradiol delivers hormones at greater dose than is required for physiological replacement. Some progestins included in standard combined HRT or OCP may have worse influence on lipid profile and carry higher risk of VTE, but they probably offer better endometrial protection than micronized progesterone [1, 13].

Compliance to hormonal therapy in a group of patients with premature ovarian failure is low. The follow-up of the patients shows that around 40% stops the treatment [114, 117]. Main reasons are absence of subjective benefit, adverse effects, fear of breast cancer, and weariness [117]. Therefore, the route, drug, and dose of HRT have to be individualized and adjusted for every patient. The patient's preference for a combined or separate regimen, the need for contraception, and the preferred frequency of withdrawal bleeding should be taken into account. Although the pSSR regimen may seem preferable from the metabolic point of view, combined hormone replacement in a form of HRT or oral contraception pill may appear more convenient and more "peer-friendly" for young patients with POI.

Hormonal replacement therapy should be long term in POI patients; therefore issues of compliance as well as risk-benefit ratio are very important to maximize longer-term health.

## 3.7.2 Treatment of Other POI Consequences

#### 3.7.2.1 Reproductive Health

Treatment in this field is very difficult and still challenging. There are attempts to use treatment to increase natural pregnancy rate in POI patients [118]. Gonadotropins, estrogens, and corticosteroids present very limited action. van Kasteren and Schoemaker [119] analyzed seven controlled trials of the POI treatment, and they did not find statistically significant increase in the ovulation rate.

Data regarding use of immunosuppression in patients with POI are limited. Patient with colitis ulcerosa with autoimmune premature ovarian failure and Addison's disease underwent azathioprine therapy [120]. This treatment helped to restore normal cycles and fertility.

As a consequence that there is no reliable treatment which can increase ovarian activity in POI patients, other methods are needed. At present oocyte donation is the only proven and recommended treatment for women with POI. The first successful procedure was reported by Lutjen [121]. According to Ameratunga et al. [122], pregnancy rate after an oocyte donation cycle is around 40%, and cumulative pregnancy rates after four cycles reach 70–80%. Oocyte donation pregnancies can be associated with some obstetric risks which are related to the cause of POI.

Apart from oocyte donation, other techniques of fertility preservation in POI patients also can be considered. Fertility preservation can concern cryopreservation of oocytes, embryos, and ovarian tissue. There is a question whether it can be applied, for instance, to the Turner syndrome patients [123]. Fertility preservation in cancer patients still requires new advanced methods. Cryopreservation of ovarian tissue is regarded as a medical challenge which can be very promising for young women with cancer. Broadly considering cryopreservation of ovarian tissue can be also a method for women who have hormone-sensitive malignancies and also women anticipating hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of benign hematologic diseases (sickle cell anemia, thalassemia major, aplastic anemia) [124]. The biggest worldwide report on ovarian transplantation tissue was published in 2016. It includes 95 orthotopic transplantation in 74 women of ovarian tissue after cytotoxic treatment in a fertility preservation network (16 centers in Europe) [125]. Twenty-one pregnancies and 17 deliveries were reported. Although this study presents good results of described procedures, the ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation is still regarded as experimental. Additional progress in this field is referred to the new method known as in vitro activation of dormant follicles developed by Kawamura [126]. It presents new perspectives for POI patients.

Treatment of infertility in POI patients presents one of the most important issues of the POI management. It requires professional, modern, and interdisciplinary medical knowledge and also very good communication with the patient.

#### 3.7.2.2 Mood and Sexual Impairment

First-line treatment for mood disturbances is HRT; nevertheless data are inconsistent whether it influences mood or psychological aspect of sexual life. In previously conducted studies, it was suggested that HRT did not improve quality of life of POI patients [83]. Nevertheless in a recent review, it was estimated that it improves results achieved by POI patients in Psychological General Well-Being (PGWB) scale. Moreover patients reported improved self-esteem and increase in the overall McCoy Sex Scale score and in interest in sex [112, 127]. It is also necessary to highlight that additional administration of testosterone did not influence neither quality of life nor self-esteem [127].

#### 3.7.2.3 Genitourinary Health

POI patients treated with oral estrogen show no differences in vaginal pH, cytology of epithelium cells, or vaginal microflora in comparison to healthy patients [85], but still report worse lubrication and higher prevalence of pain during intercourse [86]. Local therapy with estrogens is the most effective and brings the fastest relief of the symptoms of genitourinary syndrome, but does not reduce the risk of osteoporosis or manage vasomotor symptoms. Vaginal estradiol and conjugated equine estrogens or estriol are available in the form of tablet, pessary, ring, or cream. According to Cochrane review, all forms of vaginal estrogens appear to be equally effective for the symptoms of vaginal atrophy [87]. Treatment with estriol seems to be safer, because it is less potent than estradiol, is cleared more quickly, and is not inverted to estradiol.

#### 3.7.2.4 Bone Health

Bone mass density is decreased in patients with premature ovarian insufficiency comparing to their peers [117, 128]. Around 30% of POI patients have osteopenia and 8% osteoporosis at the time of diagnosis [117]. Hormonal replacement therapy improves BMD in POI patients but has not been proven to be completely effective in prevention of osteoporosis [113, 114, 129–131].

## 3.7.2.5 Central Nervous System

It seems that HRT protects POI patients against early dementia and deprivation of cognitive function [97]. Estrogens protect particularly healthy neurons, while pathologically changed neurons show acceleration in their demise when exposed to estrogens [93]. On the other hand, some studies indicated that women after surgical menopause, who underwent HRT, had significantly worse long-term episodic memory and mental flexibility when compared to controls without HRT [132]. It is necessary to highlight the influence of timing of HRT initiation. Postmenopausal patients, who underwent HRT in early age (50–60 years), experienced beneficial and neuroprotective effect of estradiol supplementation. Conversely, HRT in older postmenopausal patients caused increased risk of dementia and cognitive impairment [133].

## 3.7.2.6 Cardiovascular System

POI patients are at higher risk of cardiovascular disease [3]. Endothelial function is impaired in women with premature ovarian insufficiency, and normalization of the parameters was observed after 6 months of hormonal replacement therapy [134]. Although there is lack of strong evidence, it is generally recommended to initiate HRT in POI patients early and continue until the age of natural menopause to control the risk of cardiovascular disease [3, 105].

# References

- 1. Albright F, Smith PH, Fraser R. A syndrome characterized by primary ovarian insufficiency and decreased stature: report of 11 cases with a digression on hormonal control of axillary and pubic hair. Am J Med Sci. 1942;204:625–64.
- 2. de Moraes-Ruehsen M, Jones GS. Premature ovarian failure. Fertil Steril. 1967;18(4):440-61.

- European Society for Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) Guideline Group on POI, Webber L, Davies M, et al. ESHRE Guideline: management of women with premature ovarian insufficiency. Hum Reprod. 2016;31(5):926–37.
- POI Guideline Development Group. Guideline of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology: management of women with premature ovarian insufficiency, December 2015.
- 5. Nelson LM. Clinical practice. Primary ovarian insufficiency. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(6):606–14.
- 6. Chang SH, Kim C-S, Lee K-S, et al. Premenopausal factors influencing premature ovarian failure and early menopause. Maturitas. 2007;58(1):19–30.
- Howell S, Shalet S. Gonadal damage from chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 1998;27(4):927–43.
- Koyama H, Wada T, Nishizawa Y, Iwanaga T, Aoki Y. Cyclophosphamide-induced ovarian failure and its therapeutic significance in patients with breast cancer. Cancer. 1977;39(4):1403–9.
- 9. Kalantari H, Madani T, Zari Moradi S, et al. Cytogenetic analysis of 179 Iranian women with premature ovarian failure. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2013;29(6):588–91.
- 10. Jiao X, Qin C, Li J, et al. Cytogenetic analysis of 531 Chinese women with premature ovarian failure. Hum Reprod. 2012;27(7):2201–7.
- 11. Hook EB, Warburton D. Turner syndrome revisited: review of new data supports the hypothesis that all viable 45,X cases are cryptic mosaics with a rescue cell line, implying an origin by mitotic loss. Hum Genet. 2014;133(4):417–24.
- Zinn AR, Page DC, Fisher EM. Turner syndrome: the case of the missing sex chromosome. Trends Genet. 1993;9(3):90–3.
- Simpson JL, Rajkovic A. Ovarian differentiation and gonadal failure. Am J Med Genet. 1999;89(4):186–200.
- 14. Gravholt CH, Fedder J, Naeraa RW, Müller J. Occurrence of gonadoblastoma in females with Turner syndrome and Y chromosome material: a population study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(9):3199–202.
- 15. Villanueva AL, Rebar RW. Triple-X syndrome and premature ovarian failure. Obstet Gynecol. 1983;62(3 Suppl):70s–3s.
- Tungphaisal S, Jinorose U. True 47,XXX in a patient with premature ovarian failure: the first reported case in Thailand. J Med Assoc Thail. 1992;75(11):661–5.
- 17. Conway GS, Payne NN, Webb J, Murray A, Jacobs PA. Fragile X premutation screening in women with premature ovarian failure. Hum Reprod. 1998;13(5):1184–7.
- Murray A, Schoemaker MJ, Bennett CE, et al. Population-based estimates of the prevalence of FMR1 expansion mutations in women with early menopause and primary ovarian insufficiency. Genet Med. 2014;16(1):19–24.
- Wittenberger MD, Hagerman RJ, Sherman SL, et al. The FMR1 premutation and reproduction. Fertil Steril. 2007;87(3):456–65.
- Hundscheid RD, Sistermans EA, Thomas CM, et al. Imprinting effect in premature ovarian failure confined to paternally inherited fragile X permutations. Am J Hum Genet. 2000;66(2):413–8.
- 21. Hagerman PJ, Hagerman RJ. The fragile-X premutation: a maturing perspective. Am J Hum Genet. 2004;74(5):805–16.
- 22. Qin Y, Vujovic S, Li G, et al. Ethnic specificity of variants of the ESR1, HK3, BRSK1 genes and the 8q22.3 locus: no association with premature ovarian failure (POF) in Serbian women. Maturitas. 2014;77(1):64–7.
- 23. Simpson JL. Genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity in ovarian failure: overview of selected candidate genes. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2008;1135(1):146–54.
- 24. Vujovic S. Aetiology of premature ovarian failure. Menopause Int. 2009;15(2):72-5.
- Chapman C, Cree L, Shelling AN. The genetics of premature ovarian failure: current perspectives. Int J Women's Health. 2015;7:799–810.
- Gubbels CS, Land JA, Evers JLH, et al. Primary ovarian insufficiency in classic galactosemia: role of FSH dysfunction and timing of the lesion. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2013;36(1):29–34.

- La Marca A, Brozzetti A, Sighinolfi G, Marzotti S, Volpe A, Falorni A. Primary ovarian insufficiency: autoimmune causes. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2010;22(4):1.
- Dittmar M, Kahaly GJ. Polyglandular autoimmune syndromes: immunogenetics and longterm follow-up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(7):2983–92.
- Maclaren N, Chen QY, Kukreja A, Marker J, Zhang CH, Sun ZS. Autoimmune hypogonadism as part of an autoimmune polyglandular syndrome. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 2001;8(1 Suppl Proceedings):S52–4.
- Silva CA, Yamakami LYS, Aikawa NE, Araujo DB, Carvalho JF, Bonfá E. Autoimmune primary ovarian insufficiency. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(4-5):427–30.
- Hoek A, Schoemaker J, Drexhage HA. Premature ovarian failure and ovarian autoimmunity. Endocr Rev. 1997;18(1):107–34.
- Kim TJ, Anasti JN, Flack MR, Kimzey LM, Defensor RA, Nelson LM. Routine endocrine screening for patients with karyotypically normal spontaneous premature ovarian failure. Obstet Gynecol. 1997;89(5 Pt 1):777–9.
- Larsen EC, Müller J, Schmiegelow K, Rechnitzer C, Andersen AN. Reduced ovarian function in long-term survivors of radiation- and chemotherapy-treated childhood cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(11):5307–14.
- Meirow D. Ovarian injury and modern options to preserve fertility in female cancer patients treated with high dose radio-chemotherapy for hemato-oncological neoplasias and other cancers. Leuk Lymphoma. 1999;33(1-2):65–76.
- 35. Beerendonk CCM, Braat DDM. Present and future options for the preservation of fertility in female adolescents with cancer. Endocr Dev. 2005;8:166–75.
- Gracia CR, Sammel MD, Freeman E, et al. Impact of cancer therapies on ovarian reserve. Fertil Steril. 2012;97(1):134–40.e1.
- Rosendahl M, Andersen CY, Ernst E, et al. Ovarian function after removal of an entire ovary for cryopreservation of pieces of cortex prior to gonadotoxic treatment: a follow-up study. Hum Reprod. 2008;23(11):2475–83.
- Schmidt KT, Nyboe Andersen A, Greve T, Ernst E, Loft A, Yding AC. Fertility in cancer patients after cryopreservation of one ovary. Reprod Biomed Online. 2013;26(3):272–9.
- Somigliana E, Berlanda N, Benaglia L, Viganò P, Vercellini P, Fedele L. Surgical excision of endometriomas and ovarian reserve: a systematic review on serum antimüllerian hormone level modifications. Fertil Steril. 2012;98(6):1531–8.
- Raffi F, Metwally M, Amer S. The impact of excision of ovarian endometrioma on ovarian reserve: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(9):3146–54.
- 41. Goswami D, Conway GS. Premature ovarian failure. Hum Reprod Update. 2005;11(4):391–410.
- 42. Kokcu A. Premature ovarian failure from current perspective. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2010;26(8):555–62.
- Di Prospero F, Luzi S, Iacopini Z. Cigarette smoking damages women's reproductive life. Reprod Biomed Online. 2004;8(2):246–7.
- Cramer DW, Harlow BL, Xu H, Fraer C, Barbieri R. Cross-sectional and case-controlled analyses of the association between smoking and early menopause. Maturitas. 1995;22(2):79–87.
- NELSON L, COVINGTON S, REBAR R. An update: spontaneous premature ovarian failure is not an early menopause. Fertil Steril. 2005;83(5):1327–32.
- Coulam CB, Adamson SC, Annegers JF. Incidence of premature ovarian failure. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;67(4):604–6.
- Luborsky JL, Meyer P, Sowers MF, Gold EB, Santoro N. Premature menopause in a multiethnic population study of the menopause transition. Hum Reprod. 2003;18(1):199–206.
- Timmreck LS, Reindollar RH. Contemporary issues in primary amenorrhea. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2003;30(2):287–302.
- 49. Anasti JN. Premature ovarian failure: an update. Fertil Steril. 1998;70(1):1–15.
- Maclaran K, Panay N. Current concepts in premature ovarian insufficiency. Women's Health (Lond Engl). 2015;11(2):169–82.

- Maclaran K, Panay N. Presentation and management of POF: findings from the West London POF database. Present 15th World Congr Gynecol Endocrinol Florence, Italy, 7–10 March 2012. 2012; pp. 7–10.
- Bachelot A, Rouxel A, Massin N, et al. Phenotyping and genetic studies of 357 consecutive patients presenting with premature ovarian failure. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;161(1):179–87.
- 53. Rocha VBC, Guerra-Júnior G, Marques-de-Faria AP, de Mello MP, Maciel-Guerra AT. Complete gonadal dysgenesis in clinical practice: the 46,XY karyotype accounts for more than one third of cases. Fertil Steril. 2011;96(6):1431–4.
- Chitayat D, Wyatt PR, Wilson RD, et al. Fragile X testing in obstetrics and gynaecology in Canada. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008;30(9):837–41.
- Harrar HS, Jeffery S, Patton MA. Linkage analysis in blepharophimosis-ptosis syndrome confirms localisation to 3q21-24. J Med Genet. 1995;32(10):774–7.
- 56. GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;385(9963):117–71.
- Langrish JP, Mills NL, Bath LE, et al. Cardiovascular effects of physiological and standard sex steroid replacement regimens in premature ovarian failure. Hypertension. 2009;53(5):805–11.
- Kanis JA, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, et al. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(1):23–57.
- Goldmeier S, De Angelis K, Rabello Casali K, et al. Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in primary ovarian insufficiency: clinical and experimental evidence. Am J Transl Res. 2013;6(1):91–101.
- Gallagher LG, Davis LB, Ray RM, et al. Reproductive history and mortality from cardiovascular disease among women textile workers in Shanghai, China. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40(6):1510–8.
- Jacobsen BK, Nilssen S, Heuch I, Kvåle G. Does age at natural menopause affect mortality from ischemic heart disease? J Clin Epidemiol. 1997;50(4):475–9.
- Knauff EAH, Westerveld HE, Goverde AJ, et al. Lipid profile of women with premature ovarian failure. Menopause. 2008;15(5):919–23.
- Jacobsen BK, Knutsen SF, Fraser GE. Age at natural menopause and total mortality and mortality from ischemic heart disease: the Adventist Health Study. J Clin Epidemiol. 1999;52(4):303–7.
- 64. Mosca L, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, et al. Effectiveness-based guidelines for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in women—2011 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011;123(11):1243–62.
- Sumner JA, Kubzansky LD, Elkind MSV, et al. Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms predict onset of cardiovascular events in women. Circulation. 2015;132(4):251–9.
- 66. Freriks K, Timmermans J, Beerendonk CCM, et al. Standardized multidisciplinary evaluation yields significant previously undiagnosed morbidity in adult women with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(9):E1517–26.
- 67. Roeters van Lennep JE, Heida KY, Bots ML, Hoek A, Collaborators of the Dutch Multidisciplinary Guideline Development Group on Cardiovascular Risk Management after Reproductive Disorders. Cardiovascular disease risk in women with premature ovarian insufficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2016;23(2):178–86.
- 68. Barrett-Connor E. Menopause, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2013;13(2):186–91.
- 69. Baba Y, Ishikawa S, Amagi Y, Kayaba K, Gotoh T, Kajii E. Premature menopause is associated with increased risk of cerebral infarction in Japanese women. Menopause. 2009;17(3):506–10.
- Parker WH, Broder MS, Chang E, et al. Ovarian conservation at the time of hysterectomy and long-term health outcomes in the nurses' health study. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113(5):1027–37.
- Wu X, Cai H, Kallianpur A, et al. Impact of premature ovarian failure on mortality and morbidity among Chinese women. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e89597.

- Rocca WA, Grossardt BR, Miller VM, Shuster LT, Brown RD. Premature menopause or early menopause and risk of ischemic stroke. Menopause. 2012;19(3):272–7.
- van der Schouw YT, van der Graaf Y, Steyerberg EW, Eijkemans JC, Banga JD. Age at menopause as a risk factor for cardiovascular mortality. Lancet. 1996;347(9003):714–8.
- 74. Ates S, Yesil G, Sevket O, Molla T, Yildiz S. Comparison of metabolic profile and abdominal fat distribution between karyotypically normal women with premature ovarian insufficiency and age matched controls. Maturitas. 2014;79(3):306–10.
- Kulaksizoglu M, Ipekci SH, Kebapcilar L, et al. Risk factors for diabetes mellitus in women with primary ovarian insufficiency. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2013;154(3):313–20.
- Popat VB, Calis KA, Kalantaridou SN, et al. Bone mineral density in young women with primary ovarian insufficiency: results of a three-year randomized controlled trial of physiological transdermal estradiol and testosterone replacement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(9):3418–26.
- Popat VB, Calis KA, Vanderhoof VH, et al. Bone mineral density in estrogen-deficient young women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(7):2277–83.
- Anasti JN, Kalantaridou SN, Kimzey LM, Defensor RA, Nelson LM. Bone loss in young women with karyotypically normal spontaneous premature ovarian failure. Obstet Gynecol. 1998;91(1):12–5.
- Giraldo H, Benetti-Pinto C, Ferreira V, Garmes H, Yela D, Giraldo P. Standard hormone therapy is inadequate for bone density in premature ovarian insufficiency. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2017;33(4):283–6.
- Gandhi J, Chen A, Dagur G, et al. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: an overview of clinical manifestations, pathophysiology, etiology, evaluation, and management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;215:704–11.
- Labrie F, Archer D, Bouchard C, et al. Effect of age and aetiology of premature ovarian failure on symptoms at presentation: data from The West London POF Database. 8th Eur Congr Menopause/Matur Suppl. 2009;63(1):1–136.
- Kalantaridou SN, Vanderhoof VH, Calis KA, Corrigan EC, Troendle JF, Nelson LM. Sexual function in young women with spontaneous 46,XX primary ovarian insufficiency. Fertil Steril. 2008;90(5):1805–11.
- Yela DA, Soares PM, Benetti-Pinto C. Influence of sexual function on the social relations and quality of life of women with premature ovarian insufficiency. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet. 2018;40(02):66–71.
- 84. Karram MM, Yeko TR, Sauer MV, Bhatia NN. Urodynamic changes following hormonal replacement therapy in women with premature ovarian failure. Obs Gynecol. 1989;74(2):208–11.
- Benetti-Pinto CL, Giraldo PC, Pacello PCC, Soares PM, Yela DA. Vaginal epithelium and microflora characteristics in women with premature ovarian failure under hormone therapy compared to healthy women. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2015;292(1):159–64.
- Pacello PCC, Yela DA, Rabelo S, Giraldo PC, Benetti-Pinto CL. Dyspareunia and lubrication in premature ovarian failure using hormonal therapy and vaginal health. Climacteric. 2014;17(4):342–7.
- Suckling JA, Kennedy R, Lethaby A, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women (Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD001500.
- Fenton AJ. Premature ovarian insufficiency: pathogenesis and management. J Midlife Health. 2015;6(4):147–53.
- Meczekalski B, Podfigurna-Stopa A. Genetics of premature ovarian failure. Minerva Endocrinol. 2010;35(4):195–209.
- 90. Laven JSE. Primary ovarian insufficiency. Semin Reprod Med. 2016;34(4):230-4.
- Bennetto L, Pennington BF, Porter D, Taylor AK, Hagerman RJ. Profile of cognitive functioning in women with the fragile X mutation. Neuropsychology. 2001;15(2):290–9.
- 92. Tartaglia NR, Howell S, Sutherland A, Wilson R, Wilson L. A review of trisomy X (47,XXX). Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5(1):8.
- Hogervorst E. Effects of gonadal hormones on cognitive behaviour in elderly men and women. J Neuroendocrinol. 2013;25(11):1182–95.

- Torrealday S, Kodaman P, Pal L. Premature ovarian insufficiency—an update on recent advances in understanding and management. F1000Res. 2017;6:2069.
- 95. Rocca WA, Bower JH, Maraganore DM, et al. Increased risk of parkinsonism in women who underwent oophorectomy before menopause. Neurology. 2008;70(3):200–9.
- Zhou G, Liu J, Sun F, Duan L, Yan B, Peng Q. Cognitive functioning in elderly women who underwent unilateral oophorectomy before menopause. Int J Neurosci. 2011;121(4):196–200.
- 97. Bove R, Secor E, Chibnik LB, et al. Age at surgical menopause influences cognitive decline and Alzheimer pathology in older women. Neurology. 2014;82(3):222–9.
- Benetti-Pinto CL, Soares PM, Giraldo HPD, Yela DA. Role of the different sexuality domains on the sexual function of women with premature ovarian failure. J Sex Med. 2015;12(3):685–9.
- de Almeida DMB, Benetti-Pinto CL, Makuch MY. Sexual function of women with premature ovarian failure. Menopause. 2011;18(3):262–6.
- Deeks AA, Gibson-Helm M, Teede H, Vincent A. Premature menopause: a comprehensive understanding of psychosocial aspects. Climacteric. 2011;14(5):565–72.
- 101. Graziottin A. Menopause and sexuality: key issues in premature menopause and beyond. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1205(1):254–61.
- 102. van der Stege JG, Groen H, van Zadelhoff SJN, et al. Decreased androgen concentrations and diminished general and sexual well-being in women with premature ovarian failure. Menopause. 2008;15(1):23–31.
- 103. Benetti-Pinto CL, de Almeida DMB, Makuch MY. Quality of life in women with premature ovarian failure. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2011;27(9):645–9.
- 104. Lumsden MA. The NICE guideline—menopause: diagnosis and management. Climacteric. 2016;19(5):426–9.
- ACOG Committee Opinon no. 502. Primary ovarian insufficiency in the adolescent. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(3):741–5.
- 106. Torrealday S, Pal L. Premature menopause. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2015;44(3):543-57.
- 107. Sassarini J, Lumsden MA, Critchley HOD. Sex hormone replacement in ovarian failure new treatment concepts. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;29(1):105–14.
- Christin-Maitre S. Use of hormone replacement in females with endocrine disorders. Horm Res Paediatr. 2017;87(4):215–23.
- Tsimaris P, Vrachnis N, Iliodromiti Z, Efthymios D. Long-term followup of adolescent and young adult females with hypergonadotropic hypogonadism. Int J Endocrinol. 2012;2012:1–5.
- 110. Janse F, Tanahatoe SJ, Eijkemans MJC, Fauser BCJM. Testosterone concentrations, using different assays, in different types of ovarian insufficiency: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2012;18(4):405–19.
- Davis SR, Tran J. Testosterone influences libido and well being in women. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2001;12(1):33–7.
- 112. Guerrieri GMG, Martinez PE, Klug SPS, et al. Effects of physiologic testosterone therapy on quality of life, self-esteem, and mood in women with primary ovarian insufficiency. Menopause. 2014;21(9):952–61.
- 113. Sullivan SD, Sarrel PM, Nelson LM. Hormone replacement therapy in young women with primary ovarian insufficiency and early menopause. Fertil Steril. 2016;106(7):1588–99.
- 114. Crofton PM, Evans N, Bath LE, et al. Physiological versus standard sex steroid replacement in young women with premature ovarian failure: effects on bone mass acquisition and turnover. Clin Endocrinol. 2010;73(6):707–14.
- 115. Critchley HO, Buckley CH, Anderson DC. Experience with a "physiological" steroid replacement regimen for the establishment of a receptive endometrium in women with premature ovarian failure. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1990;97(9):804–10.
- Critchley HO, Wallace WH, Shalet SM, Mamtora H, Higginson J, Anderson DC. Abdominal irradiation in childhood; the potential for pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1992;99(5):392–4.
- 117. Bachelot A, Nicolas C, Gricourt S, et al. Poor compliance to hormone therapy and decreased bone mineral density in women with premature ovarian insufficiency. PLoS One. 2016;11(12):e0164638.

- 118. Podfigurna-Stopa A, Czyzyk A, Grymowicz M, et al. Premature ovarian insufficiency: the context of long-term effects. J Endocrinol Investig. 2016;39(9):983–90.
- van Kasteren YM, Schoemaker J. Premature ovarian failure: a systematic review on therapeutic interventions to restore ovarian function and achieve pregnancy. Hum Reprod Update. 1999;5(5):483–92.
- 120. Ferraù F, Gangemi S, Vita G, Trimarchi F, Cannavò S. Pregnancy after azathioprine therapy for ulcerative colitis in a woman with autoimmune premature ovarian failure and Addison's disease: HLA haplotype characterization. Fertil Steril. 2011;95(7):2430.e15–7.
- 121. Lutjen P, Trounson A, Leeton J, Findlay J, Wood C, Renou P. The establishment and maintenance of pregnancy using in vitro fertilization and embryo donation in a patient with primary ovarian failure. Nature. 1994;307(5947):174–5.
- 122. Ameratunga D, Weston G, Osianlis T, Catt J, Vollenhoven B. In vitro fertilisation (IVF) with donor eggs in post-menopausal women: are there differences in pregnancy outcomes in women with premature ovarian failure (POF) compared with women with physiological age-related menopause? J Assist Reprod Genet. 2009;26(9-10):511–4.
- 123. Grynberg M, Bidet M, Benard J, et al. Fertility preservation in Turner syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2016;105(1):13–9.
- 124. Albani E, Bracone G, Di S, Vitobello D, Fattizzi N, Emanuele P. Human ovarian tissue cryopreservation as fertility reserve. In: Topics in cancer survivorship. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech; 2012.
- 125. Van der Ven H, Liebenthron J, Beckmann M, et al. Ninety-five orthotopic transplantations in 74 women of ovarian tissue after cytotoxic treatment in a fertility preservation network: tissue activity, pregnancy and delivery rates. Hum Reprod. 2016;31(9):2031–41.
- 126. Kawamura K, Cheng Y, Suzuki N, et al. Hippo signaling disruption and Akt stimulation of ovarian follicles for infertility treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2013;110(43):17474–9.
- 127. Kotz K, Alexander JL, Dennerstein L. Estrogen and androgen hormone therapy and wellbeing in surgically postmenopausal women. J Women's Heal. 2006;15(8):898–908.
- Amarante F, Vilodre LC, Maturana MA, Spritzer PM. Women with primary ovarian insufficiency have lower bone mineral density. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2011;44(1):78–83.
- 129. Cartwright B, Robinson J, Seed PT, Fogelman I, Rymer J. Hormone replacement therapy versus the combined oral contraceptive pill in premature ovarian failure: a randomized controlled trial of the effects on bone mineral density. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(9):3497–505.
- 130. Chatterjee R, Katz M, Bajoria R. Use of hormone replacement therapy for correction of high turnover bone disease in hypogonadal β-Thalassemia Major patients presenting with osteoporosis: comparison with idiopathic premature ovarian failure. Hemoglobin. 2011;35(5-6):653–8.
- 131. Lopez LM, Grimes DA, Schulz KF, Curtis KM, Chen M. Steroidal contraceptives: effect on bone fractures in women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;6:CD006033.
- 132. File S, Heard J, Rymer J. Trough oestradiol levels associated with cognitive impairment in post-menopausal women after 10 years of oestradiol implants. Psychopharmacology. 2002;161(1):107–12.
- 133. Rocca WA, Grossardt BR, Shuster LT. Oophorectomy, estrogen, and dementia: A 2014 update. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2014;389(1-2):7–12.
- 134. Kalantaridou SN, Naka KK, Papanikolaou E, et al. Impaired endothelial function in young women with premature ovarian failure: normalization with hormone therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(8):3907–13.



# Human Papillomavirus Infection and Cancer Risk in Periand Postmenopausal Women

Pedro Vieira-Baptista, Mario Preti, and Jacob Bornstein

# 4.1 Introduction

The most commonly acknowledged complication of human papillomavirus (HPV) infection is invasive cervical cancer (ICC), to which this infection is a *sine qua non* condition. However, the burden of disease associated with HPV is much higher than that of ICC and its precursor lesions (high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions [HSIL] encompassing cervical intraepithelial neoplasia [CIN] 2 and 3) and not limited to women. Besides benign diseases, even if distressing (genital warts, recurrent respiratory papillomatosis, low-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia [LSIL]), HPV infection is regarded as a necessary cause of a variety of preinvasive/invasive lesions of the vulva and vagina, penis, anus/perianus, and oral cavity and oropharynx [1].

The risk of cancer and of squamous intraepithelial lesions is related to the HPV genotype and infection persistence. However, it is still up to debate if a persistent infection implies continuous detection of the virus or can include latent periods—translating into a very relative definition of "transient" and "persistent" infection [2, 3]. HPV is the most prevalent sexually transmitted infection (STI) in the world, with more than 80% of the sexually active women being infected during their lifetime with at least one genotype [4]—a situation that will definitely change in the future, as the effects of HPV vaccination start to be noticed. Several factors must interplay,

P. Vieira-Baptista (🖂)

Hospital Lusíadas Porto, Porto, Portugal

Lower Genital Tract Unit, Centro Hospitalar de São João, Porto, Portugal

M. Preti

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Sant'Anna Hospital, University of Torino, Turin, Italy e-mail: mario.preti@unito.it

J. Bornstein

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Galilee Medical Center, Nahariya and Azrieli Faculty of Medicine, Bar Ilan University, Safed, Israel

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_4

as only a minority of infected people develops disease (HPV genotype, age, smoking, other STIs, vaginal microbiome, immunosuppression, hormonal and genetic factors, etc.).

While HPV infection is more common in younger women, the serious complications tend to occur at later ages (in the peri- or postmenopause). According to that, politics of cervical cancer/precancer screening and treatment tend to take that into account and ponder the risk of being too aggressive (starting screening at young age, treating CIN2 in women younger than 30 years old), with serious impact on obstetrical outcomes (for instance, preterm labor or premature rupture of membranes) against that of missing or not treating significant disease.

As we start anticipating the end of screening, derived from massive vaccination [5], it must not be forgotten that, even in developed countries, there will be extensive cohorts of unvaccinated women for three or four decades more, which cannot be neglected by the euphoria of the anticipated elimination of ICC.

Some older women may consider they are not at risk at this stage, as they already had several screening tests or because they have lost their partners or are in a monogamous relationship.

# 4.2 HPV Epidemiology

Despite the significant geographical variations, global prevalence of cervical highrisk HPV in young women can be as high as 50% in the early twenties, dropping to about 10–15% after the age of 25–30 [6]. After that, in developed countries, there is a slight decrease until the fifth or sixth decades of life, when a new peak is encountered [7–9]. This peak may be even more pronounced for non-oncogenic (low-risk) HPV genotypes, which may be explained, in part, by its higher tropism for the mature squamous epithelial cells, rather than for the transformation zone (TZ) [10]. In less developed countries, the prevalence tends to be higher, and the second peak is typically absent [11]. One study has clearly shown that the risk of having a positive HPV test, 3 years after a negative one, is similar between women aged 51 years and younger ones [12].

The prevalence of HPV16 and HPV18 seems to be stable after the age of 35 years old, but, at least in some countries, they are responsible for significantly less cervical high-grade lesions than in premenopausal women; less aggressive genotypes seem to play a more important role in older women [13, 14].

While the first peak, in young women, can be attributed to the onset of sexual debut, the second one may be due to new sexual partners (especially after divorce or widowing), "Viagra effect," and hormonal milieu (and consequent associated microbiome changes) or just a consequence of a waning of the immune system (immunosenescence). In the second peak, besides newly acquired infections, there may be a role for reactivation of older, latent infections. Having had two or more sexual partners, after a negative HPV test, in postmenopausal women, was associated with an odds ratio of 3.9 (95% CI = 1.2-12.4) of having a subsequent positive test—highlighting the role of acquisition of new infections for the second peak of prevalence of HPV infection. In

this same study, having had two or more sexual partners in the past was associated with a 1.7-fold (95% CI 1.1–2.5) higher likelihood of having a positive HPV test later in life [10]. In a study by Gravitt et al [9], it was found that women with a higher number of sexual partners ( $\geq$ 5) during their lives were at a greater risk of being HPV positive later in life—thus supporting the hypothesis of reactivations of HPV infections. Women entering now the menopause lived their youth after the sexual revolution and, thus, are likely to have had more sexual partners than the previous generation. This may translate into higher rates of HPV infections and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia than what has been usually encountered in postmenopausal women.

As we have previously discussed, there is now enough evidence that previous infections can be reactivated, thus women cannot discontinue screening, even in the absence of a (new) sexual partner [15]. This concept is important and may be worth explaining to patients, as it can help, in some cases, to overcome suspicion of infidelity or feelings of guilt. On the same way, it can be explained that a negative test is not always synonymous of absence of the virus but rather that the viral load is below the defined risk threshold.

The risk of reactivation of HPV at older ages, associated with a lower performance of diagnostic tests (discussed ahead), has led some authors to theorize that in wellscreened populations, this will translate into a proportional increase in the diagnosis of ICC, rather than HSIL [9].

# 4.3 The Interaction of Aging, Hormones, Vaginal Microbiome, and HPV

In general, 90% of HPV infections clear within a year. There are contradictory data concerning clearance of HPV in older women, but apparently, the time for clearance of new HPV infections does not seem to be increased [8, 10, 16]. On the contrary, regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia seems to decrease with the advance of age: a recent meta-analysis has shown that for every 5 years of age, the odds for regression decrease 21%, while those of progression increase. These tendencies were shown to be independent of the grade of the lesion and the presence or not of a high-risk HPV infection (p < 0.001) [17]. Adding to the effect of age on the immune system, there is some evidence that the hormonal changes of menopause, namely, estrogen deprivation, can also contribute to the attenuation of the immune response and an increase in the inflammatory markers [18, 19]. Despite this, the CD4 T-lymphocytes population, which has a key role in the regression of intraepithelial lesions, along with CD8+ and CD56+ macrophages, is diminished. The same is true for B lymphocytes (which contributes to explain the lower efficacy of vaccines in older women), as well as for the activity of NK cells [20-22]. It has been demonstrated that women with a lower immunological response to a challenge with HPV16 virus-like particles are at higher risk of developing an HPV infection [15].

Despite the immunosuppression associated with age, the risk of HSIL associated with a newly identified positive HPV test does not seem to be higher in older women [23].

Several studies have associated the use of combined oral contraceptives with increased risk of HSIL and ICC, assumed to be due to transactivation of viral oncogenes [24]. Postmenopausal hormone therapy has not been associated with increased prevalence of HPV nor with increased viral replication, despite a potential role in modulating the immune response [20, 25]. The EPIC cohort study found a decreased risk of ICC in women who ever used menopausal hormone therapy (HT) (HR = 0.5, 95%CI 0.4–0.8); longer duration of its use also had a trend toward lower risk [26]. The interpretation of these findings is not straightforward, as women who took HT are more likely to have attended more routine gynecological appointments and, thus, more often screened and treated for cervical cancer precursors.

The unopposed use of estrogen was associated with a higher risk of CIN3/CIS [26] and HPV infection [27]. There is evidence that estrogen receptors  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) are essential in the initiation of the invasive process. This led to the theory that selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), namely, raloxifene, can play a role in the prevention of the progression of HSIL to invasive cancer and even that it can be used as an adjuvant treatment of ICC [24, 28].

In one observational study, however, the use of intravaginal estrogen cream, isolated or associated with other modalities of treatment, was associated with rates of regression of vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia (VaIN) [29]. It should be emphasized that its use is usually recommended before other treatments, to increase the thickness and elasticity of the vaginal mucosa.

Given the current knowledge, HPV infection or cervical dysplasia should not affect the decision to start or discontinue menopause HT, contrary to what has been previously suggested [30].

In recent years, a staggering amount of information is being gathered showing that vaginal flora or microbiome plays a key role in the acquisition and persistence of HPV infection, as well as on the development and persistence of CIN. We are, however, far from the full understanding of the picture.

Increased vaginal pH, a surrogate for abnormal vaginal flora (AVF) (absent/ severely depleted number of lactobacilli—usually bacterial vaginosis [BV] or aerobic vaginitis [AV]) has been associated with a 30% increased risk of HPV infection and abnormal Pap test, especially in women younger than 35 or older than 65 years [31]. Data linking BV and mixed flora (most likely AV) to persistence of HPV infection has led some authors to recommend its screening and treatment, even if asymptomatic [32, 33]. BV is encountered more frequently in women with a Pap test worse than LSIL (20.5% vs. 13.2%, p = 0.09); moderate/severe forms of AV are significantly more common in women with these results (16.9% vs. 7.2%, p = 0.009) [33].

Given that the prevalence of BV seems to steadily increase after menopause, and persistence/recurrence seems to be very common, this can be another factor posing these women at risk for HPV acquisition, persistence, or reactivation, as well as development and progression of intraepithelial neoplasia [34]. It is, however, indissociable from the complex relation between vaginal microbiome and hormones.

Recently, it has even been shown that 3 months after loop electrosurgical excision procedure (LEEP) for HSIL, there is a decrease in species diversity and that vaginal microbiome shifts from *Prevotella*, *Leptotrichia*, and *Clostridium* to a *L. iners* dominance [35].

## 4.4 Vaccination

The anti-HPV vaccines have been proven to be highly efficacious in the prevention of the infection, genital warts, abnormal Pap tests, and the development of intraepithelial neoplasia and adenocarcinoma in situ (AIS). Although a significant impact is also expected to be seen in terms of cervical cancer (carcinoma and adenocarcinoma), there are not yet studies with enough duration to prove it [36].

Most studies have focused on the impact of the vaccines in women under the age of 26 years old. The few studies enrolling older women (>25 years old) demonstrated that the efficacy is lower than in younger ones. A recent Cochrane review concluded that in women 24–45 years old, the rate of CIN2+ associated with HPV16/18 and any CIN2 is equivalent between vaccinated and unvaccinated women (RR 0.74 [0.52 to 1.05] and RR 1.04 [0.83 to 1.30], respectively); no conclusions could be drawn for CIN3 or AIS. If women are selected according to HPV16/18 status, those who are DNA negative still benefited from the vaccine (RR 0.30 [0.11 to 0.81]) for CIN2 associated with these specific genotypes [36].

Previous exposure to HPV and a lower immunological response can explain the decrease in vaccine impact. It is still not proven that newly diagnosed HPV infections in older women are indeed associated with a significant increase of relevant disease [10].

The available data does not allow recommending systematic vaccination of postmenopausal women. However, to those who request it, it is reasonable to offer the vaccine, as the existing data are reassuring in terms of safety and the potential benefits seem to last at least for 10 years [37]. Some countries have not licensed the vaccine for women older than 26 (i.e., USA) or 45 years old (i.e., Canada), thus making its use beyond these ages off-label eventhough reasonable [38].

Three doses of vaccine should be administred, as in any individual older than 15 years old.

The vaccines have proven to decrease the risk of vulvar and vaginal HSIL, when given to young girls, an effect that is expected to lead to significant decrease of these diseases in the future. The impact of vaccination of older women in these conditions remains unknown [39]. There is no clinical evidence that HPV vaccination will lower the number of head and neck cancers. However, salivary antibodies have been identified in the majority of people following vaccination [40, 41].

# 4.5 Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia (CIN) and Cervical Cancer

Cervical cancer (Fig. 4.1) is the seventh most common cancer among women in developed countries and the second one in developing countries. Among the 527,000 estimated new cases per year, 444,500 occur where the efficacious preventive tools (screening, vaccines, treatment of HSIL) are still lacking. This cancer is responsible for the death of 230,000 women die every year [42]. This, however, is expected to change if massive vaccination of girls is implemented in those countries—even in the absence of well-organized screening programs [43, 44]. Several low-income countries have already shown that high-coverage vaccination is feasible [45].



Fig. 4.1 Locally advanced cervical cancer

In countries without an effective screening program, the incidence of cervical cancer has a sudden rise in the perimenopause years; after that, the incidence keeps rising with advancing age. In those countries with effective screening, the distribution is usually bimodal: one peak around 35 years old and a latter one around 65 years old [13, 46] (Table 4.2).

In less developed countries, as the toll of deaths attributable to other infectious diseases reduces (namely, with the available treatments for human immunodeficiency virus [HIV]), the number of cervical cancers in older women is expected to increase.

## 4.5.1 Particularities of Screening

The aging of western countries' population will lead to a substantial number of screened women for cervical cancer being postmenopausal. On the other hand, with mass anti-HPV vaccination, disease will become less prevalent in younger women, leading to postponing of the age of beginning of the screening programs. In practical terms, during the next years, there will be an apparent shift of the peak of HSIL [47].

Primary high risk (HR)HPV test for screening is widely acknowledged as the best way to perform cervical cancer screening, in women older than 25–30 years old. A few studies have evaluated specifically how Pap test compares to HR-HPV test in postmenopausal women. The increased rate of parabasal cells, with a higher nucleus-cytoplasm ratio, along with more or less severe inflammation, partially explains the increased difficulty in the assessment of the Pap test in hypoestrogenic women. A Swedish study has shown that screening with Pap test alone misses more than half of the high-grade lesions detected using HR-HPV test [14]. On the other hand, as the positive predictive value of the Pap test seems to be lower in older women, some authors consider that triage with HR-HPV tests of ASC-H and even HSIL Pap tests can be a useful approach in this age group [48, 49]. Besides the

added difficulties for Pap test in postmenopausal women (atrophy, inflammation, regression of the transformation zone to the endocervix [type 3 transformation zone] [50, 51]), it must be taken into account that the Pap test is highly operator dependent—in other settings the results could have been dramatically different [52]. A short course of intravaginal estrogens can improve the performance of the Pap test [53].

Postmenopausal women are more likely to have Pap test without representation of the transformation zone and/or the glandular epithelium. While some clinicians feel uncomfortable with these results, studies have shown that as long as it was classified as negative (NILM), there is no increased risk of missing disease. In the case of absence of representation of the transformation zone, it is, however, preferable to perform an HR-HPV test. The result of this test is not at all influenced by the lack of representation of the transformation zone [54–56].

Cuzick et al., in 2013, presented data showing that HPV triage of LSIL Pap test is an effective measure to avoid unnecessary referrals for colposcopy. After the age of 40, only half these tests are HR-HPV positive; HR-HPV negativity successfully predicted the absence of HSIL [55, 57]. Employing triage of LSIL Pap tests in postmenopausal women can safely reduce to half the number of colposcopies, which is highly significant, given the limitations of this exam in this population. Additionally, in case of positivity, a better risk stratification can be made. The cases that test negative should be reassessed at 12 months, and if either one or both of the tests (Pap test or the HR-HPV test) are positive, the patient should be referred for colposcopy [55].

There is no consensus among different societies on the age to discontinue screening. Most societies recommend, for previously well-screened women, without history of HSIL (CIN2/CIN3) or adenocarcinoma *in situ*, to discontinue it at 65 years old [55, 58]. Some women, however, will be uncomfortable with that or will feel that the system is giving up on them, because of their age. In opportunistic (personalized) screening, the benefits of continuing the screening must be considered and discussed with the woman. A Pap test ASC-US, even if the HPV test is negative, does not allow stopping the screening [55]. Interestingly, there are data suggesting that maintaining screening up to the age of 79 years old could lead to a reduction in ICC of 77–79% in the USA [59]. It has also been shown that long-term survival is higher, also in older women, if the diagnosis of ICC is made in the sequence of a screening test, rather than a clinical diagnosis [60]. These issues must be taken into account, especially with the increase in life expectancy.

According to ASCCP and ACOG guidelines, women with a previous diagnosis of HSIL or AIS should continue routine screening for 20 years after the treatment or regression of the lesion, independently of the age at which it occurred and the presence or not of the cervix [55, 58].

# 4.5.2 Colposcopy and Treatment of Lesions

Colposcopy is a true challenge in postmenopausal women. Lack of estrogens leads to thinning of the vaginal and cervical mucosa and capillary fragility (Figs. 4.2 and 4.3)

**Fig. 4.2** Colposcopy of a postmenopausal woman, before the application of acetic acid. Note the presence of petechiae and easy bleeding upon touch



**Fig. 4.3** Same woman as in Fig. 4.2, after the application of acetic acid



that can lead to discomfort/pain during sexual intercourse and gynecological examination and easy bleeding upon speculum placement.

As previously referred, it is uncommon to find an active TZ readily visible in the ectocervix in these women; the rate of poor visibility colposcopies is thus higher. Up to 44% of the CIN lesions are endocervical in postmenopausal women—and, in accordance, the rate of positive endocervical curettages is also higher in this age group [61, 62]. There are limited and sometimes contradictory data on the role of misoprostol or vaginal estrogens to reduce the number of inadequate colposcopies in hypoestrogenic women. Short courses (3–6 weeks) of intravaginal estrogens seem to be more efficacious and associated with a lower rate of adverse effects [53, 63–66].

The role of endocervical sampling and the best way to perform it are controversial. There is evidence that the use of endocervical brushes has a similar sensitivity and specificity to that of curettage (Fig. 4.4). The former is associated with less discomfort and lower number of insufficient samples (0-7.6% vs. 0-22%), but, on the other hand, grading of the lesions is more difficult, due to the lack of an organized tissue sample [67-69]. The role of this procedure is debatable, with studies finding it to be positive in the range of 1.4-17.9% in women with a good visibility

**Fig. 4.4** Sampling of the endocervix with a cervical brush, due to nonvisible squamous columnar transition. Notice the diffuse lack of staining with iodine solution



of the TZ and up to 57.3% if visibility is poor. Most studies do not favor its use if the squamous columnar junction is fully visible [69]. It has also been reported that endocervical curettage can miss 45% of cases of HSIL while having a 25% false-positive rate [70]. Its role in the study of glandular abnormalities is less debatable, even though performance may be below the desirable [69].

The lack of an active TZ and the fact that the epithelium is usually thinner (Fig. 4.3) imply that any acetowhite lesion must be valued in this age group. Some lesions are not apparent without previous estrogen treatment. Sometimes, in women taking oral or transdermal HT, that may not be enough for proper vaginal epithelium maturation and topical treatment may be needed for a proper valuation of the lesions.

The use of Lugol's iodine solution (Schiller's test) is of more limited value in postmenopausal women, especially in those without estrogen HT: the lack of glycogen in the vaginal cells leads to a diffuse light brown to yellow coloration (Fig. 4.4) that can be mistaken as a negative iodine response.

Like in premenopausal women, excision of the transition zone (TZ) is the definite treatment for HSIL, significantly decreasing the risk of progression to ICC (estimated in some series to be as high as 40%, for untreated CIN3 [17]). The risk of failure of LEEP is usually inferior to 10% [71]. Ablation is usually not considered as an option in postmenopausal women, given the frequency of inadequate colpos-copies and the significant rate of invasive disease only diagnosed with the excisional procedure (up to 4.3%) [72].

Usually, given the characteristics of the TZ, the height of the cone needs to be bigger than in premenopausal women [73]—and also there is no concern with the risk of excessive excision and obstetric outcomes. Even though, the likelihood of positive endocervical margins is higher in postmenopausal women [73, 74].

In case of positive margins, expectant management and a new excision of the TZ are the recommended options. Expectant management implies a compliant patient and, preferably, visible squamous columnar junction (even though this may be a minor issue if HR-HPV test is being used for follow-up and it is negative). A small study reported that after repeated excision of the TZ, the rate of residual disease can be as high as 52.3% [75]. However we can theorize that the rate of positivity probably decreases with time elapsed between the first and second procedure. Some

support the performance of hysterectomy, on the basis that residual disease is common when it is performed in postmenopausal women, following excision of the TZ, independently of the status of margins (67.6%) [76]. This, however, does not seem to correlate with daily practice. It must be kept in mind that long-term follow-up is recommended in women with history of HSIL, even after hysterectomy, because of the increased risk of multicentric HPV lesions [77].

In a systematic review and meta-analysis, Arbyn et al. found that the risk of CIN2+ after an excisional procedure was 0-8% if a follow-up HPV test was negative and 3-7% if margins were free [78]. These figures leave some room for expectant management in the presence of positive margins, especially if the SCJ is totally visible post-procedure.

In hypoestrogenic women, cervical stenosis after excision of the transformation zone is common, thus making the follow-up more complicated. The local use of estrogens may reduce this complication, with some supporting that it should be kept for at least 1 year after the procedure [79, 80]. Except for stenosis, the rate of complications seems to be comparable between pre- and postmenopausal women [73].

As in premenopausal women, hysterectomy should not be performed for isolated treatment/exclusion of HSIL. Besides being a much more complex procedure, with a much higher rate of associated complications, there is the risk of an undiagnosed invasive cancer (better managed with more radical surgery).

Follow-up after treatment of HSIL is better accomplished with HPV test, like in premenopausal women. It is useful to have knowledge of the HPV status prior to the treatment, namely, because of the uncommon cases of HSIL lesions that test negative for HPV—in this setting, a negative test would be a false reassurance. The American Society of Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology (ASCCP) recommends follow-up to be performed using co-testing (HPV and Pap test) at 12 and 24 months. After two consecutive negative tests, they recommend that the woman can be discharged for routine screening [55]. Some studies suggest that one single negative HR-HPV test after treatment, as early as 4–6 months, may be considered a test of cure: the risk of HSIL is similar to that of an HR-HPV-negative woman from the general population [81–83]. Earlier testing, however, may be associated with a higher positivity of tests, not necessarily significant. Older women (>67 years) appear to be at higher risk of subsequent CIN2+, probably deserving a more careful and longer follow-up [81].

A recent paper from the Dutch nationwide registry of histopathology and cytopathology found that the 89.018 women with a previous diagnosis of CIN3 had an increased risk of HR-HPV-associated high-grade lesions and carcinomas of the vulva, vagina, anus, and oropharynx when compared with 89.018 control subjects. In particular, the incidence rate ratios were higher for vulvar cancer, 13.66 (93% CI, 9.69 to 19.25); vulvar HSIL, 86.08 (95% CI, 11.98 to 618.08); and vaginal cancer, 25.65 (95% CI, 10.50 to 62.69).

As long-term follow-up still showed increased risk, new strategies for screening of HPV-related neoplasia, other than cervical ones, must be investigated, validated, and adopted in this increased risk group of patients [84].

## 4.6 Other Lesions

#### 4.6.1 Vagina

High-grade vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia (VaIN) (VaIN2 and VaIN3) is considered the malignant precursor of vaginal cancer. It is usually asymptomatic and HPV-related, mostly with HPV16 (>50% of the cases) [85]. Although its incidence has been reported to be increasing in the last decades, especially in younger women, it is still a rare lesion—100 times less frequent than CIN [86, 87]. That increase, however, may not be real, but rather just translating better screening methods, more awareness, and higher compliance with screening guidelines (for instance, maintenance of follow-up in hysterectomized women with a diagnosis of HSIL). Screening for VaIN or vaginal cancer should not be kept in hysterectomized women, without a previous history of HSIL.

Vaginoscopy, independently of the presence or absence of the cervix, is more complicated than colposcopy, more time consuming, and associated with more discomfort. Previous treatment with topical estrogens is mandatory before performing vaginoscopy in postmenopausal women. Typical patterns of LSIL or HSIL are difficult to establish, implying that, in doubt, a biopsy is needed. VaIN is located in the upper third of the vagina 80% of the time and usually is multifocal [88]. Vaginoscopy should be performed by experienced colposcopists [89].

The risk of progression of vaginal HSIL to invasion is low (3%), and vigilance rather treatment seems to be a relatively safe option [90]. The use of vaginal imiquimod seems to be an efficacious and relatively safe choice, but further studies are needed before it can be assumed as a first-line option for treatment [91, 92]. However, independently of the chosen treatment modality, recurrence is very common, especially in women with multifocal disease [88].

Primary vaginal cancer is one of the rarest gynecologic malignancies, representing 2% of the total number of it. Its incidence is of around 7:1.000.000 women/year [93, 94]. At least 50% of the vaginal cancers of squamous origin are HPV-related, especially with HPV16; HPV18 seems to play a minor role in this neoplasia. A history of previous cervical cancer and/or pelvic irradiation is also common. Other studies have linked previous hysterectomy (in some series in up to 40% of women) and surgical menopause to this neoplasia [85, 93, 95]. Those with a VaIN history following a hysterectomy tend to be older [85].

## 4.6.2 Vulva

## 4.6.2.1 Warts

Genital warts or *condyloma acuminata* are not exclusively found in the vulva, but this location is the most common and is associated with higher levels of psychological suffering [96]. It affects less than 1% of the whole population. It is more prevalent in young people (peaking at the age of 20–24 years old) and rare in postmenopausal women [97–99].

Their presence is frequently asymptomatic but can also manifest by itching and burning or, less frequently, by bleeding. Most frequently, it presents as a cauliflowerlike, skin-colored to pink tumor. Lesions are usually multiple and can involve multiple organs; it can measure a few millimeters or, especially in immunosuppressed patients, can measure several centimeters.

The use of acetic acid in the vulva to identify warts is controversial, as it is nonspecific of HPV infection. Its use by practitioners who are not aware of this frequently leads to overdiagnosis and overtreatment [100], with potential psychological and physical consequences.

Most of the cases are caused by low oncogenic risk HPV genotypes—HPV6 and HPV11 are responsible for at least 80% of the cases. HPV16 can be involved in up to 10% of cases—which could partly explain the decrease in genital warts noticed in adolescents vaccinated with the bivalent vaccine [101, 102].

Especially in older women, a biopsy may be needed to exclude intraepithelial or invasive disease. Screening for other STIs should be performed, and investigation of immunosuppression should be considered in older women.

## 4.6.2.2 Vulvar Intraepithelial Neoplasia and Cancer

Vulvar cancer accounts for approximately 3–5% of all gynecological malignancies, with an incidence rate of 2.4 new cases per 100,000 women per year, and represents 0.4% of all new cancers in the USA [103]. The most common histology (almost 90%) is squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. Other rare histotypes include melanoma, adenocarcinoma, invasive Paget disease, basal cell carcinoma, and sarcoma [104]. Similar incidence rates have been observed in western countries, following a slight preference for white race compared to black and Asian race [105]. Several authors have reported an increase in the overall incidence rate in many countries. Specifically, in Germany, Buttmann-Schweiger et al. observed a doubling in the incidence rate from 1.7 to 3.6 new cases per 100,000 women per year from 1999 to 2011 [106]. In Denmark, a 1.97% per year increase in the incidence rate between 1978 and 2007 has been reported [107]. This trend has been confirmed also in the USA: a 1.0%per year increase in the incidence between 1973 and 2004 [108, 109]. Some authors noticed that this increase has been more pronounced in women below 50 years. Especially in Germany and Denmark, but also in Australia, there was a significant 84% increase in patients below 60, with a substantial stable rate in those older than it; however in the USA, such a pattern was not noticed [106, 107, 109, 110].

These epidemiological data underline the importance of the ISSVD (International Society for the Study of Vulvovaginal Disease) in vulvar disease terminology [111]. Since its foundation in 1970, the ISSVD set the terminology of preneoplastic vulvar lesions as one of its missions, with dedicated committees composed by gynecologists, pathologists, dermatologists, and other specialists. It is clear from the different ISSVD vulvar disease's classifications that not only preneoplastic lesions must be distinguished from nonneoplastic ones, but also that in the former there are different origins (squamous and non-squamous epithelial origin). As a final point, among vulvar squamous intraepithelial lesions (VSIL), ISSVD always underlined the two different precursor lesions of invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva [112].

The most recent ISSVD classification has been published accordingly with these points: VHSIL (vulvar high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion) is the precursor of HPV-related vulvar squamous cell carcinomas (VSCC), and differentiated VIN (vulvar intraepithelial lesion) is the precursor of non-HPV-related VSCC [113] (Table 4.1). The VSIL classification includes VLSIL (vulvar low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion), and it clearly underlines that it includes flat condyloma or HPV effect and it is not precancerous and does not need to be treated, unless symptomatic.

The two types of VSCC and its precursors differ in epidemiology, clinical presentation, histopathology, and molecular profile.

HPV-unrelated VSCC (Fig. 4.5) accounts for more than 70% of the cases, while its underdiagnosed precursor, differentiated VIN (DVIN) (Fig. 4.6), represents less than 10% of all diagnosed VSIL [114]. These neoplasms occur at an older age, in patients with a long-lasting history of itching and burning, in a background of chronic dermatologic disease, in most instances lichen sclerosus or lichen planus. HPV-unrelated VSCC and DVIN will not be prevented by HPV vaccination. Only

Table 4.12015 ISSVDTerminology of vulvar SILs(from Bornstein et al. [113])

LSIL of the vulva (vulvar LSIL, flat condyloma,
or HPV effect)
HSIL of the vulva (vulvar HSIL, VIN usual type)
DVIN

SIL squamous intraepithelial lesion; LSIL low-grade SIL; HPV human papillomavirus; HSIL high-grade SIL; VIN vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia; DVIN differentiated-type VIN



**Fig. 4.5** Vulvar cancer. Notice the background of lichen sclerosus
an appropriate examination of the vulva, and biopsy with no delay in suspect cases, can increase DVIN diagnoses, reducing the incidence of invasive cancer.

VHSIL, on the other hand (Fig. 4.7), occurs at younger ages: van de Nieuwenhof et al. found in a series of 1,893 cases of VSIL a median age of 47.8 years (Table 4.2). In this same study, it was described that the incidence almost doubled (from 1.2/100.000 to 2.1/100.000) from 1992 to 2005 [115]. Increasing age in VHSIL

**Fig. 4.6** Differentiated VIN, in a background of lichen sclerosus



**Fig. 4.7** Vulvar highgrade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia



 Table 4.2
 Age of diagnosis of intraepithelial lesions and invasive cancer

	HSIL (-IN2 or IN3)	Invasive cancer
Cervix [17, 154, 155]	25–41 years old	35–55 years old (>15% in women older than 65 years old)
Vagina [88, 93, 94]	VaIN2—47.2 years old VaIN3—61.8 years old	65–80 years
Vulva [39]	40-44 and >55 years old	55–75 years
Anus [142, 145, 156, 157]	43-49 years old	55–65 years old



Fig. 4.8 Vulvar squamous cell cancer, HPV-related

patients is associated with higher risk of subsequent diagnosis of VSCC (2.7% if <29 years vs. 8.5% if>75 years) and shorter time of progression (50 months for the <29-year group vs. 25 months for the >75-year group) (Fig. 4.8) [116].

Older age is statistically associated with increased prevalence of stromal invasion in patients undergoing surgical excision after an office biopsy of VHSIL (4.2% in patients younger than 42 years, 10.8% in patients between 43 and 62 years, and 18.3% if older than 62 years) [117].

VHSIL can be located around the introitus, often involving the labia minora and majora. They are usually elevated, sharply defined lesions with normal surrounding skin/mucosa. Lesions can be brownish, white, or red (Fig. 4.5).

HPV16 is the most prevalent HPV type in VHSIL (about three-quarters of all HPV-positive cases), followed by HPV 33 and HPV18 [114] confirming the potential of nine-valent HPV vaccine to eradicate the majority of VHSIL [5].

Multifocality (more than one lesion on the vulva) and multicentricity (involvement of vagina, cervix, and/or anus as well as the vulva) are common and indicate a decreased immune response to HPV infection, with the same HPV type involved in all the lesions [116]. Younger patients have a higher risk of multifocal lesions (59% in women aged 20–34 and 10% in patients >50 years of age), but older patients have more often intraepithelial lesions at uncommon sites (vagina, anus, and periurethral region) [118].

Treatment of DVIN must be surgical excision, as it has a high potential of progression and it can occur in a very short time. These women must have a close follow-up, as there is a high risk of recurrence [119–121].

Therapy of VHSIL has to take into account (1) characteristics of the lesion (size, configuration, location, multifocality, and multicentricity); (2) characteristics of the patient (age, general condition, symptomatology, associated disease, psychologic issues, work environment, and reliability to follow-up); and (3) available resources and medical skills [122].

Surgery still represents the standard of treatment, with similar results and recurrence rate independent of the technique used (cold knife, LASER, radiofrequency surgery). Many medical treatments have been attempted to avoid surgery in these women. To date, no medications are approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for this purpose. Several randomized trials have shown imiquimod to be a promising therapy in selected patients [123, 124]. Anyway when, in controlled studies, conservative treatments of VHSIL are chosen, it is of utmost importance to exclude the presence of foci of stromal invasion that exposes patients at risk for metastatic spread to lymph nodes (higher risk if older patients or periclitoral localization) [117].

In the treatment of invasive VSCC that typically occurs in the seventh decade, when comorbidity is common, various conservative and individualized approaches have been proposed to reduce the risk of mutilating en bloc surgery while maintaining oncological radicality and not compromising patients' recurrence-free survival [125–127].

Based on the 1983 definition proposed by the ISSVD, FIGO stage Ia or superficially invasive carcinoma identifies tumors invading the stroma to a depth no greater than 1 mm, with extremely low risk of lymph nodes metastases. These are the only cases where surgical assessment of nodal status can be omitted [128].

For stages higher than Ia, separate incisions for vulva and groins are now considered a standard approach. Radical removal of the tumor can be achieved through a local excision, removing 1–1,5 cm of clinically clear surgical margins in extension and a depth reaching the perineal membrane; the results of this approach are comparable to those of total vulvectomy [129].

Lymph node status is the single most important predictive factor for survival; and nodal recurrence is lethal within 2 years in most patients [130]. The different approaches to inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy must match correct nodal assessment and reduced immediate and long-term morbidity [131].

Sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND) seems to be reliable and safe in early disease [132]. This technique requires specific equipment, a multidisciplinary team (medical physicists and nuclear medicine physicians), and a learning curve for the surgeon. As a consequence, SLND should not be routinely employed by surgeons outside referral centers.

In locally advanced disease [133], new regiments of chemotherapy combined with radio/brachytherapy are promising therapies for this group of patients that usually has a very poor 5-year survival rate [134–137].

There is increasing evidence that HPV-associated VSCC are less aggressive. Recent studies are focusing on p16 overexpression as a prognostic biomarker in VSCC [138]. Other studies showed significant association between p16 expression and improved survival [139, 140].

These promising results have no current impact in the treatment of HPVassociated and HPV-independent VSCC [141], and further cooperative studies are needed to establish HPV status as prognostic factor as in patients with oropharyngeal, anal, and cervical cancers.

#### 4.6.3 Other

#### 4.6.3.1 Anus

Anal cancers are rare (2:100,000 women), but its incidence, and especially that of anal HSIL, has been rising in last decades. Around 90% of anal cancers are HPV-related, having anal HSIL (anal intraepithelial neoplasia [AIN]2-3) as its precursor [142–145]. Anal and cervical cancer share several features, including the existence of a transformation zone, highly susceptible to HPV infection.

While its prevalence is higher in men who have sex with men and immunosuppressed people, the higher number of diagnosis is performed in women—most of them postmenopausal [146]. Women with history of another HPV-related cancer have a three times higher risk of developing an anal cancer [143]. Screening strategies for anal cancer are not yet widespread. In women, the following are likely to benefit from anal cancer screening: HIV patients, organ transplant recipients, past or current history of other intraepithelial neoplasia or cancer (cervical, vaginal, vulvar, or multiple) [142].

Anal cytology seems to be a good option to perform screening in high-risk populations; its low sensitivity precludes its use in low-risk populations. Sampling can be done using a moistened Dacron swabs or cervical brushes. For an optimal specimen, it should be introduced about 4–5 cm into the anal canal and rotated. Classification of the specimens is made according to the Bethesda classification for cervical cytology [142]. The threshold for high-resolution anoscopy is ASC-US.

#### 4.6.3.2 Head and Neck

The list of risk factors for head and neck cavity cancers has included, as most relevant, smoking and alcohol consumption. However, cancers from the oropharynx (tonsils and base of the tongue) do not share these risk factors but rather are HPV-related—especially with HPV16—which is the isolated genotype in 90% of the cases. They have a better prognosis and a better response to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [147, 148]. The relation between HPV and oral cavity cancers in other sites is less clear [149].

While the incidence of other head and neck cancers has been decreasing, in parallel with the decrease in smoking, the ones possibly associated with HPV infection are on the rise. Currently, the latter may represent at least half of the cases [150].

The prevalence of HPV in the mouth ranges between 2 and 8%, with HPV16 being the most prevalent. The infection is less prevalent in women and more frequent in those who engage in oral-genital sex, who are immunosuppressed, or smokers [149]. The reservoir for the infection seems to be the gingival junction [149, 151].

Woon et al., in line with the terminology used for the anus and lower genital tract, have recommended the use of the designation "HPV-associated oral intraepithelial neoplasia" for the dysplastic changes related to HPV and found in the mouth and associated with increased risk for invasive cancer [152].

Currently, there is no recommendation to screen for oral HPV, and no HPV tests have been approved by the FDA for that effect. In a systematic review of studies involving HPV-positive head and neck cancers, the sensitivity of HPV tests was limited (72%, 95% CI 45–89%) [153].

## 4.7 Conclusion

The burden associated with HPV infection goes far beyond that of cervical cancer. There are lots of suffering—both physical and psychological—associated with this infection. A simple positive HR-HPV test, even in the absence of lesions, can raise several questions and doubts. The practitioner must be prepared to give these answers, finding balance between tranquilizing the patient and, at the same time, not missing relevant disease.

Older women may feel not to be at risk for HPV infections, if they are on a monogamous relationship or have no sexual partner. However, the role of latent and reactivated infections is more and more acknowledge and precludes stopping the screening, even in these patients.

As we anticipate the end of cervical cancer, as a consequence of HPV vaccination, in the next decades we will still have large cohorts of unvaccinated women. Any future programs must take this into consideration.

### References

- 1. Bouvard V, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, Ghissassi FE, et al. A review of human carcinogens—Part B: biological agents. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(4):321–2.
- Denis F, Hanz S, Alain S. Clairance, persistance et récidive de l'infection à Papillomavirus. Gynecol Obstet Fertil. 2008;36(4):430–40.
- Roehr B. Presence of HPV in later life may represent reactivation, not reinfection. BMJ. 2012;345:e8517.
- Syrjänen K, Hakama M, Saarikoski S, Väyrynen M, Yliskoski M, Syrjänen S, et al. Prevalence, incidence, and estimated life-time risk of cervical human papillomavirus infections in a nonselected Finnish female population. Sex Transm Dis. 1990;17(1):15–9.
- Mariani L, Preti M, Cristoforoni P, Stigliano CM, Perino A. Overview of the benefits and potential issues of the nonavalent HPV vaccine. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2017;136(3):258–65.
- Bruni L, Diaz M, Castellsagué X, Ferrer E, Bosch FX, de Sanjosé S. Cervical human papillomavirus prevalence in 5 continents: meta-analysis of 1 million women with normal cytological findings. J Infect Dis. 2010;202(12):1789–99.

- Bosch FX, Lorincz A, Muñoz N, Meijer CJLM, Shah KV. The causal relation between human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2002;55(4):244–65.
- Brown DR, Weaver B. Human papillomavirus in older women: new infection or reactivation? J Infect Dis. 2013;207(2):211–2.
- Gravitt PE, Rositch AF, Silver MI, Marks MA, Chang K, Burke AE, et al. A cohort effect of the sexual revolution may be masking an increase in human papillomavirus detection at menopause in the United States. J Infect Dis. 2013;207(2):272–80.
- Gonzalez P, Hildesheim A, Rodriguez AC, Schiffman M, Porras C, Wacholder S, et al. Behavioral/lifestyle and immunologic factors associated with HPV infection among women older than 45 years. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(12):3044–54.
- Franceschi S, Herrero R, Clifford GM, Snijders PJF, Arslan A, Anh PTH, et al. Variations in the age-specific curves of human papillomavirus prevalence in women worldwide. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(11):2677–84.
- 12. Grainge MJ, Seth R, Guo L, Neal KR, Coupland C, Vryenhoef P, et al. Cervical human papillomavirus screening among older women. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005;11(11):1680–5.
- Melkert PW, Hopman E, van den Brule AJ, Risse EK, van Diest PJ, Bleker OP, et al. Prevalence of HPV in cytomorphologically normal cervical smears, as determined by the polymerase chain reaction, is agedependent. Int J Cancer. 1993;53(6):919–23.
- Gyllensten U, Gustavsson I, Lindell M, Wilander E. Primary high-risk HPV screening for cervical cancer in post-menopausal women. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;125(2):343–5.
- Strickler HD, Burk RD, Fazzari M, Anastos K, Minkoff H, Massad LS, et al. Natural history and possible reactivation of human papillomavirus in human immunodeficiency virus–positive women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(8):577–86.
- Petry KU, Horn J, Luyten A, Mikolajczyk RT. Punch biopsies shorten time to clearance of high-risk human papillomavirus infections of the uterine cervix. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):318.
- 17. Bekos C, Schwameis R, Heinze G, Gärner M, Grimm C, Joura E, et al. Influence of age on histologic outcome of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia during observational management: results from large cohort, systematic review, meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):6383.
- 18. Olsen NJ, Kovaks WJ. Gonadal steroids and immunity. Endocr Rev. 1996;17(4):369-84.
- Sakiani S, Olsen NJ, Kovacs WJ. Gonadal steroids and humoral immunity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9(1):56–62.
- Gameiro CM, Romão F, Castelo-Branco C. Menopause and aging: changes in the immune system—a review. Maturitas. 2010;67(4):316–20.
- Stanley MA, Sterling JC. Host responses to infection with human papillomavirus. Curr Probl Dermatol. 2014;45:58–74.
- 22. Scherer EM, Smith RA, Gallego DF, Carter JJ, Wipf GC, Hoyos M, et al. A single human papillomavirus vaccine dose improves B cell memory in previously infected subjects. EBioMedicine. 2016;10:55–64.
- 23. Rodriguez AC, Schiffman M, Herrero R, Hildesheim A, Bratti C, Sherman ME, et al. Longitudinal study of human papillomavirus persistence and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2/3: critical role of duration of infection. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(5):315–24.
- Ramachandran B. Functional association of oestrogen receptors with HPV infection in cervical carcinogenesis. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(4):R99–108.
- Ferenczy A, Gelfand M, Franco E, Mansour N. Human papillomavirus infection in postmenopausal women with and without hormone therapy. Obstet Gynecol. 1997;90(1):7–11.
- 26. Roura E, Travier N, Waterboer T, de Sanjosé S, Bosch FX, Pawlita M, et al. The influence of hormonal factors on the risk of developing cervical cancer and pre-cancer: results from the EPIC cohort. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):e0147029.
- Boonyanurak P, Panichakul S, Wilawan K. Prevalence of high-risk human papillomavirus infection (HPV) and correlation with postmenopausal hormonal therapy in Thai women aged more than 45 years old. J Med Assoc Thai. 2010;93(1):9–16.
- Munger K. Are selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) a therapeutic option for HPVassociated cervical lesions and cancers? Am J Pathol. 2014;184(2):358–61.
- Rhodes HE, Chenevert L, Munsell M. Vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia (VaIN 2/3). J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2014;18(2):115–21.

- 30. Smith EM, Levy BT, Ritchie JM, Jia J, Wang D, Haugen TH, et al. Is use of hormone replacement therapy associated with increased detection of human papillomavirus and potential risk of HPV-related genital cancers? Eur J Cancer Prev. 2002;11(3):295–305.
- 31. Clarke MA, Rodriguez AC, Gage JC, Herrero R, Hildesheim A, Wacholder S, et al. A large, population-based study of age-related associations between vaginal pH and human papillomavirus infection. BMC Infect Dis. 2012;12:33.
- 32. Kero K, Rautava J, Syrjänen K, Grenman S, Syrjänen S. Association of asymptomatic bacterial vaginosis with persistence of female genital human papillomavirus infection. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2017;36(11):2215–9.
- 33. Vieira-Baptista P, Lima-Silva J, Pinto C, Saldanha C, Beires J, Martinez-de-Oliveira J, et al. Bacterial vaginosis, aerobic vaginitis, vaginal inflammation and major Pap smear abnormalities. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;35:657–64.
- Hoffmann JN, You HM, Hedberg EC, Jordan JA, McClintock MK. Prevalence of bacterial vaginosis and Candida among postmenopausal women in the United States. J Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2014;69(Suppl 2):S205–14.
- 35. Zhang H, Lu J, Lu Y, Cai Q, Liu H, Xu C. Cervical microbiome is altered in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia after loop electrosurgical excision procedure in China. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):4923.
- Arbyn M, Xu L, Simoens C, Martin-Hirsch PP. Prophylactic vaccination against human papillomaviruses to prevent cervical cancer and its precursors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;5:CD009069.
- 37. Schwarz TF, Galaj A, Spaczynski M, Wysocki J, Kaufmann AM, Poncelet S, et al. Tenyear immune persistence and safety of the HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine in females vaccinated at 15-55 years of age. Cancer Med. 2017;6(11):2723–31.
- 38. Faubion SS, Larkin LC. Immunizations for adult women. Menopause. 2016;23(12):1345-7.
- 39. Preti M. VIN usual type-from the past to the future. Ecancermedicalscience. 2015;9:531.
- 40. Parker KH, Kemp TJ, Pan Y, Yang Z, Giuliano AR, Pinto LA. Evaluation of HPV-16 and HPV-18 specific antibody measurements in saliva collected in oral rinses and merocel<sup>®</sup> sponges. Vaccine. 2018;36(19):2705–11.
- 41. Pinto LA, Kemp TJ, Torres BN, Isaacs-Soriano K, Ingles D, Abrahamsen M, et al. Quadrivalent human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine induces HPV-specific antibodies in the Oral cavity: results from the mid-adult male vaccine trial. J Infect Dis. 2016;214(8):1276–83.
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA A Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(2):87–108.
- 43. Garland SM, Giuliano A, Brotherton J, Moscicki AB, Stanley M, Kaufmann AM, et al. IPVS statement moving towards elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Papillomavirus Res. 2018;5:87–8.
- 44. Shrestha AD, Neupane D, Vedsted P, Kallestrup P. Cervical cancer prevalence, incidence and mortality in low and middle income countries: a systematic review. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2018;19(2):319–24.
- Franceschi S, Clifford GM, Baussano I. Options for design of real-world impact studies of single-dose vaccine schedules. Vaccine. 2018;36(32 Pt A):4816–22.
- Harper DM, Vierthaler SL. Next generation cancer protection: the bivalent HPV vaccine for females. ISRN Obstet Gynecol. 2011;2011:1–20.
- 47. Oakley F, Desouki MM, Pemmaraju M, Gargano JM, Markowitz LE, Steinau M, et al. Trends in high-grade cervical Cancer precursors in the human papillomavirus vaccine era. Am J Prev Med. 2018;55(1):19–25.
- 48. Halford J, Walker K-A, Duhig J. A review of histological outcomes from peri-menopausal and post-menopausal women with a cytological report of possible high grade abnormality: an alternative management strategy for these women. Pathology. 2010;42(1):23–7.
- 49. Patton AL, Duncan L, Bloom L, Phaneuf G, Zafar N. Atypical squamous cells, cannot exclude a high-grade intraepithelial lesion and its clinical significance in postmenopausal, pregnant, postpartum, and contraceptiveuse patients. Cancer. 2008;114(6):481–8.

- 50. Gilani SM, Mazzara PF. Cytohistologic correlation in premenopausal and postmenopausal women. Acta Cytol. 2013;57(6):575–80.
- Bornstein J, Sideri M, Tatti S, Walker P, Prendiville W, Haefner HK, et al. 2011 terminology of the vulva of the International Federation for Cervical Pathology and Colposcopy. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2012;16(3):290–5.
- 52. Cuzick J, Clavel C, Petry K-U, Meijer CJLM, Hoyer H, Ratnam S, et al. Overview of the European and North American studies on HPV testing in primary cervical cancer screening. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(5):1095–101.
- 53. Piccoli R, Mandato VD, Lavitola G, Acunzo G, Bifulco G, Tommaselli GA, et al. Atypical squamous cells and low squamous intraepithelial lesions in postmenopausal women: implications for management. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2008;140(2):269–74.
- 54. Vieira-Baptista P, Sousa C, Saldanha C, Fonseca-Moutinho JA. Consenso da ASCCP 2012—o que traz de novo e implicações para o dia-a-dia. Acta Obs Ginecol Port. 2013;7(4):241–8.
- 55. Massad LS, Einstein MH, Huh WK, Katki HA, Kinney WK, Schiffman M, et al. 2012 updated consensus guidelines for the management of abnormal cervical cancer screening tests and cancer precursors. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121(4):829–46.
- 56. Zhao C, Austin R. Human papillomavirus DNA detection in ThinPrep Pap test vials is independent of cytologic sampling of the transformation zone. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;107(2):231–5.
- 57. Cuzick J, Thomas Cox J, Zhang G, Einstein MH, Stoler M, Trupin S, et al. Human papillomavirus testing for triage of women with low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. Int J Cancer. 2013;132(4):959–66.
- 58. Practice Bulletin No. 168. Obstet Gynecol. 2016;128(4):e111-30.
- Rustagi AS, Kamineni A, Weinmann S, Reed SD, Newcomb P, Weiss NS. Cervical screening and cervical Cancer death among older women: a population-based, case-control study. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;179(9):1107–14.
- Andrae B, Andersson TM-L, Lambert PC, Kemetli L, Silfverdal L, Strander B, et al. Screening and cervical cancer cure: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2012;344:e900.
- Gage JC, Duggan MA, Nation JG, Gao S, Castle PE. Detection of cervical cancer and its precursors by endocervical curettage in 13,115 colposcopically guided biopsy examinations. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010;203(5):481.e1–9.
- Boulanger JC, Gondry J, Verhoest P, Capsie C, Najas S. Treatment of CIN after menopause. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2001;95(2):175–80.
- 63. Richards A, Dalrymple C. Abnormal cervicovaginal cytology, unsatisfactory colposcopy and the use of vaginal estrogen cream: an observational study of clinical outcomes for women in low estrogen states. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2015;41(3):440–4.
- Makkar B, Batra S, Gandhi G, Zutshi V, Goswami D. Vaginal misoprostol versus vaginal estradiol in overcoming unsatisfactory colposcopy. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2014;77(3):176–9.
- 65. Aggarwal R, Suneja A, Agarwal N, Mishra K. Role of misoprostol in overcoming an unsatisfactory colposcopy: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2006;62(2):115–20.
- 66. Thanapprapasr D, Wilailak S, Ayudhya NIN, Lertkhachonsuk A-A, Likittanasombut P, Chittithaworn S, et al. Can vaginal misoprostol effectively increase rate of a satisfactory colposcopy? A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2010;40(3):203–7.
- 67. Boardman LA, Meinz H, Steinhoff MM, Heber WW, Blume J. A randomized trial of the sleeved cytobrush and the endocervical curette. Obstet Gynecol. 2003;101(3):426–30.
- 68. Tate K, Strickland J. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate the use of the endocervical brush after endocervical curettage. Obstet Gynecol. 1997;90(5):715–7.
- Driggers RW, Zahn CM. To ECC or not to ECC: the question remains. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2008;35(4):583–97.
- Irvin W, Flora S, Andersen W, Stoler M, Taylor P, Rice L. Endocervical curettage. Does it contribute to the management of patients with abnormal cervical cytology? J Reprod Med. 2004;49(1):1–7.

- Martin-Hirsch PP, Paraskevaidis E, Bryant A, Dickinson HO. Surgery for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(6):CD001318.
- 72. Fine BA, Feinstein GI, Sabella V. The pre- and postoperative value of endocervical curettage in the detection of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and invasive cervical cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;71(1):46–9.
- Hasegawa K, Torii Y, Kato R, Udagawa Y, Fukasawa I. The problems of cervical conization for postmenopausal patients. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2016;37(3):327–31.
- 74. Chen Y, Lu H, Wan X, Lv W, Xie X. Factors associated with positive margins in patients with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3 and postconization management. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2009;107(2):107–10.
- Chambo Filho A, Garbeloto E, Guarconi JRA, Partele MP. Positive endocervical margins at conization: repeat conization or colposcopic follow-up? A retrospective study. J Clin Med Res. 2015;7(7):540–4.
- Binyamin L, Segev M, Peled Y, Krissi H, Sabah G, Raban O, et al. Simple hysterectomy for residual cervical intraepithelial neoplasm. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2018;22(2):126–8.
- González Bosquet E, Torres A, Busquets M, Esteva C, Muñoz-Almagro C, Lailla JM. Prognostic factors for the development of vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2008;29(1):43–5.
- 78. Arbyn M, Redman CWE, Verdoodt F, Kyrgiou M, Tzafetas M, Ghaem-Maghami S, et al. Incomplete excision of cervical precancer as a predictor of treatment failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(12):1665–79.
- 79. Tanaka Y, Ueda Y, Kakuda M, Kubota S, Matsuzaki S, Iwamiya T, et al. Predictors for recurrent/ persistent high-grade intraepithelial lesions and cervical stenosis after therapeutic conization: a retrospective analysis of 522 cases. Int J Clin Oncol. 2017;22(5):921–6.
- Penna C, Fambrini M, Fallani MG, Pieralli A, Scarselli G, Marchionni M. Laser CO2 conization in postmenopausal age: risk of cervical stenosis and unsatisfactory follow-up. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96(3):771–5.
- Gosvig CF, Huusom LD, Andersen KK, Duun-Henriksen AK, Frederiksen K, Iftner A, et al. Long-term follow-up of the risk for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or worse in HPVnegative women after conization. Int J Cancer. 2015;137(12):2927–33.
- 82. Ceballos KM, Lee M, Cook DA, Smith LW, Gondara L, Krajden M, et al. Post–loop electrosurgical excision procedure high-risk human papillomavirus testing as a test of cure. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2017;21(4):284–8.
- Cubie HA, Canham M, Moore C, Pedraza J, Graham C, Cuschieri K. Evaluation of commercial HPV assays in the context of post-treatment follow-up: Scottish Test of Cure Study (STOCS-H). J Clin Pathol. 2014;67(6):458–63.
- 84. RMF E, DWE R, IntHout J, WJG M, LFAG M, Bulten J, et al. Long-lasting increased risk of human papillomavirus–related carcinomas and premalignancies after cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3: a population-based cohort study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(22):2542–50.
- 85. Zhang J, Chang X, Qi Y, Zhang Y, Zhang S. A retrospective study of 152 women with vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2016;133(1):80–3.
- Sillman FH, Fruchter RG, Chen YS, Camilien L, Sedlis A, McTigue E. Vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia: risk factors for persistence, recurrence, and invasion and its management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1997;176(1 Pt 1):93–9.
- Dodge JA, Eltabbakh GH, Mount SL, Walker RP, Morgan A. Clinical features and risk of recurrence among patients with vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;83(2):363–9.
- Diakomanolis E, Stefanidis K, Rodolakis A, Haidopoulos D, Sindos M, Chatzipappas I, et al. Vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia: report of 102 cases. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2002;23(5):457–9.
- Sopracordevole F, Barbero M, Clemente N, Fallani MG, Cattani P, Agarossi A, et al. Colposcopic patterns of vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2018;27(2):152–7.
- 90. Ratnavelu N, Patel A, Fisher A, Galaal K, Cross P, Naik R. High-grade vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia: can we be selective about who we treat? BJOG. 2013;120(7):887–93.

- Tainio K, Jakobsson M, Louvanto K, Kalliala I, Paavonen J, Nieminen P, et al. Randomised trial on treatment of vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia-imiquimod, laser vaporisation and expectant management. Int J Cancer. 2016;139(10):2353–8.
- 92. Sopracordevole F, Barbero M, Clemente N, Fallani MG, Cattani P, Agarossi A, et al. Highgrade vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia and risk of progression to vaginal cancer: a multicentre study of the Italian Society of Colposcopy and Cervico-Vaginal Pathology (SICPCV). Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2016;20(5):818–24.
- 93. Sinno AK, Saraiya M, Thompson TD, Hernandez BY, Goodman MT, Steinau M, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype prevalence in invasive vaginal cancer from a registry-based population. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(4):817–21.
- Lilic V, Lilic G, Filipovic S, Visnjic M, Zivadinovic R. Primary carcinoma of the vagina. J BUON. 2010;15(2):241–7.
- 95. Pride GL, Buchler DA. Carcinoma of vagina 10 or more years following pelvic irradiation therapy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1977;127(5):513–7.
- 96. Dominiak-Felden G, Cohet C, Atrux-Tallau S, Gilet H, Tristram A, Fiander A. Impact of human papillomavirus-related genital diseases on quality of life and psychosocial wellbeing: results of an observational, healthrelated quality of life study in the UK. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1):1065.
- 97. Gunter J. Genital and perianal warts: new treatment opportunities for human papillomavirus infection. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003;189(3 Suppl):S3–11.
- Mayeaux EJ, Dunton C. Modern management of external genital warts. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2008;12(3):185–92.
- Patel H, Wagner M, Singhal P, Kothari S. Systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of genital warts. BMC Infect Dis. 2013;13:39.
- 100. van Beurden M, van der Vange N, de Craen AJ, Tjong-A-Hung SP, ten Kate FJ, ter Schegget J, et al. Normal findings in vulvar examination and vulvoscopy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1997;104(3):320–4.
- 101. Chang L, Ci P, Shi J, Zhai K, Feng X, Colombara D, et al. Distribution of genital wart human papillomavirus genotypes in China: a multi-center study. J Med Virol. 2013;85(10):1765–74.
- 102. Howell-Jones R, Soldan K, Wetten S, Mesher D, Williams T, Gill ON, et al. Declining genital warts in young women in England associated with HPV 16/18 vaccination: an ecological study. J Infect Dis. 2013;208(9):1397–403.
- 103. Vulvar cancer-cancer stat facts. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/vulva.html.
- 104. Kurman RJ, American Registry of Pathology, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology (U.S.). Tumors of the cervix, vagina, and vulva. American Registry of Pathology in collaboration with the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 2010. p. 431.
- 105. Saraiya M, Watson M, Wu X, King JB, Chen VW, Smith JS, et al. Incidence of in situ and invasive vulvar cancer in the US, 1998-2003. Cancer. 2008;113(10 Suppl):2865–72.
- 106. Buttmann-Schweiger N, Klug SJ, Luyten A, Holleczek B, Heitz F, Du Bois A, et al. Incidence patterns and temporal trends of invasive nonmelanotic vulvar tumors in Germany 1999-2011. A population-based cancer registry analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0128073.
- 107. Baandrup L, Varbo A, Munk C, Johansen C, Frisch M, Kjaer SK. In situ and invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva in Denmark 1978-2007-a nationwide population-based study. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;122(1):45–9.
- 108. Judson PL, Habermann EB, Baxter NN, Durham SB, Virnig BA. Trends in the incidence of invasive and in situ vulvar carcinoma. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;107(5):1018–22.
- Bodelon C, Madeleine MM, Voigt LF, Weiss NS. Is the incidence of invasive vulvar cancer increasing in the United States? Cancer Causes Control. 2009;20(9):1779–82.
- 110. Barlow EL, Kang Y-J, Hacker NF, Canfell K. Changing trends in vulvar cancer incidence and mortality rates in Australia since 1982. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2015;25(9):1683–9.
- 111. Bornstein J, Bogliatto F, Haefner HK, Stockdale CK, Preti M, Bohl TG, Reutter J, ISSVD Terminology Committee. The 2015 International Society for the Study of Vulvovaginal Disease (ISSVD) terminology of vulvar squamous intraepithelial lesions. Obstet Gynecol. 2016;127(2):264–8.

- 112. Sideri M, Jones RW, Wilkinson EJ, Preti M, Heller DS, Scurry J, et al. Squamous vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia: 2004 modified terminology, ISSVD Vulvar Oncology Subcommittee. J Reprod Med. 2005;50(11):807–10.
- 113. Bornstein J, Bogliatto F, Haefner HK, Stockdale CK, Preti M, Bohl TG, et al. The 2015 International Society for the Study of Vulvovaginal Disease (ISSVD) terminology of vulvar squamous intraepithelial lesions. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2016;20(1):11–4.
- 114. De Sanjosé S, Alemany L, Ordi J, Tous S, Alejo M, Bigby SM, et al. Worldwide human papillomavirus genotype attribution in over 2000 cases of intraepithelial and invasive lesions of the vulva. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(16):3450–61.
- 115. van de Nieuwenhof HP, Massuger LFAG, van der Avoort IAM, Bekkers RLM, Casparie M, Abma W, et al. Vulvar squamous cell carcinoma development after diagnosis of VIN increases with age. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(5):851–6.
- 116. de Bie RP, van de Nieuwenhof HP, Bekkers RLM, Melchers WJG, Siebers a G, Bulten J, et al. Patients with usual vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia-related vulvar cancer have an increased risk of cervical abnormalities. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(1):27–31.
- 117. Preti M, Bucchi L, Ghiringhello B, Privitera S, Frau V, Corvetto E, et al. Risk factors for unrecognized invasive carcinoma in patients with vulvar high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion at vulvoscopy-directed biopsy. J Gynecol Oncol. 2017;28(4):e27.
- 118. Bornstein J, Kaufman RH, Adam E, Adler-Storthz K. Multicentric intraepithelial neoplasia involving the vulva. Clinical features and association with human papillomavirus and herpes simplex virus. Cancer. 1988;62(8):1601–4.
- 119. McAlpine JN, Kim SY, Akbari A, Eshragh S, Reuschenbach M, von Knebel Doeberitz M, et al. HPV-independent differentiated vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia (dVIN) is associated with an aggressive clinical course. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2017;36(6):507–16.
- 120. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Gynecologic Practice, American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology (ASCCP). Committee opinion no. 675. Obstet Gynecol. 2016;128(4):e178–82.
- 121. Kokka F, Singh N, Faruqi A, Gibbon K, Rosenthal AN. Is differentiated vulval intraepithelial neoplasia the precursor lesion of human papillomavirus-negative vulval squamous cell carcinoma? Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21(7):1297–305.
- Preti M, Scurry J, Marchitelli CE, Micheletti L. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;28(7):1051–62.
- 123. Terlou A, Van Seters M, Ewing PC, Aaronson NK, Gundy CM, Heijmans-Antonissen C, et al. Treatment of vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia with topical imiquimod: seven years median follow-up of a randomized clinical trial. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;121(1):157–62.
- 124. Hurt CN, Jones SEF, Madden T, Fiander A, Nordin AJ, Naik R, et al. Recurrence of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia following treatment with cidofovir or imiquimod: results from a multicentre, randomised, phase II trial (RT3VIN). BJOG. 2018;25(9):1171–7.
- 125. Dellinger TH, Hakim AA, Lee SJ, Wakabayashi MT, Morgan RJ, Han ES. Surgical management of vulvar cancer. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2017;15(1):121–8.
- 126. Micheletti L, Preti M. Surgery of the vulva in vulvar cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;28(7):1074–87.
- 127. Baiocchi G, Rocha RM. Vulvar cancer surgery. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2014;26(1):9–17.
- 128. Preti M, Rouzier R, Mariani L, Wilkinson EJ. Superficially invasive carcinoma of the vulva: diagnosis and treatment. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2005;48(4):862–8.
- 129. Zhou J, Shan G. The prognostic role of FIGO stage in patients with vulvar cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Curr Med Res Opin. 2016;32(6):1121–30.
- 130. Luchini C, Nottegar A, Solmi M, Sergi G, Manzato E, Capelli P, et al. Prognostic implications of extranodal extension in node-positive squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Oncol. 2016;25(1):60–5.
- 131. Hudson CN, Shulver H, Lowe DC. The surgery of "inguino-femoral" lymph nodes: is it adequate or excessive? Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2004;14(5):841–5.
- 132. Te Grootenhuis NC, Van Der Zee AGJ, Van Doorn HC, Van Der Velden J, Vergote I, Zanagnolo V, et al. Sentinel nodes in vulvar cancer: long-term follow-up of the GROningen

INternational study on sentinel nodes in vulvar cancer (GROINSS-V) i. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140(1):8–14.

- 133. Aragona AM, Soderini AH, Cuneo NA. Defining the concept of locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a new perspective based on standardization of criteria and current evidence. J Gynecol Oncol. 2014;25(4):272–8.
- 134. Kellas-Śleczka S, Białas B, Fijałkowski M, Wojcieszek P, Szlag M, Cholewka A, et al. Interstitial high-dose-rate brachytherapy in locally advanced and recurrent vulvar cancer. J Contemp Brachytherapy. 2016;8(1):32–40.
- Natesan D, Hong JC, Foote J, Sosa JA, Havrilesky L, Chino J. Primary versus preoperative radiation for locally advanced vulvar cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27(4):794–804.
- 136. Gill BS, Bernard ME, Lin JF, Balasubramani GK, Rajagopalan MS, Sukumvanich P, et al. Impact of adjuvant chemotherapy with radiation for node-positive vulvar cancer: a National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137(3):365–72.
- 137. Oonk MHM, Planchamp F, Baldwin P, Bidzinski M, Brännström M, Landoni F, et al. European Society of Gynaecological Oncology guidelines for the management of patients with vulvar cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27(4):832–7.
- 138. Cao H, Wang S, Zhang Z, Lou J. Prognostic value of overexpressed p16INK4a in vulvar cancer: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0152459.
- 139. Tringler B, Grimm C, Dudek G, Zeillinger R, Tempfer C, Speiser P, et al. p16INK4a expression in invasive vulvar squamous cell carcinoma. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2007;15(3):279–83.
- 140. Dong F, Kojiro S, Borger DR, Growdon WB, Oliva E. Squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a subclassification of 97 cases by clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular features (p16, p53, and EGFR). Am J Surg Pathol. 2015;39(8):1045–53.
- 141. Rakislova N, Saco A, Sierra A, del Pino M, Ordi J. Role of human papillomavirus in vulvar cancer. Adv Anat Pathol. 2017;24(4):201–14.
- 142. Moscicki A-B, Darragh TM, Berry-Lawhorn JM, Roberts JM, Khan MJ, Boardman LA, et al. Screening for anal cancer in women. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2015;19:S26–41.
- 143. Acevedo-Fontánez AI, Suárez E, Torres Cintrón CR, Ortiz AP. Risk of anal cancer in women with a human papillomavirus–related gynecological neoplasm. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2018;22(3):225–30.
- 144. Hillman RJ, Cuming T, Darragh T, Nathan M, Berry-Lawthorn M, Goldstone S, et al. 2016 IANS International guidelines for practice standards in the detection of anal cancer precursors. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2016;20(4):283–91.
- 145. Nielsen A, Munk C, Kjaer SK. Trends in incidence of anal cancer and high-grade anal intraepithelial neoplasia in Denmark, 1978-2008. Int J Cancer. 2012;130(5):1168–73.
- 146. Key statistics for anal cancer [Internet]. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/anal-cancer/about/ what-is-key-statistics.html.
- 147. Vokes EE, Agrawal N, Seiwert TY. HPV-associated head and neck cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107(12):djv344.
- 148. Ndiaye C, Mena M, Alemany L, Arbyn M, Castellsagué X, Laporte L, et al. HPV DNA, E6/ E7 mRNA, and p16INK4a detection in head and neck cancers: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(12):1319–31.
- 149. Hübbers CU, Akgül B. HPV and cancer of the oral cavity. Virulence. 2015;6(3):244-8.
- 150. O'Sullivan B, Huang SH, Su J, Garden AS, Sturgis EM, Dahlstrom K, et al. Development and validation of a staging system for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer by the International Collaboration on Oropharyngeal cancer Network for Staging (ICON-S): a multicentre cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(4):440–51.
- 151. Ortiz AP, González D, Vivaldi-Oliver J, Castañeda M, Rivera V, Díaz E, et al. Periodontitis and oral human papillomavirus infection among hispanic adults. Papillomavirus Res. 2018;5:128–33.
- 152. Woo S-B, Cashman EC, Lerman MA. Human papillomavirus-associated oral intraepithelial neoplasia. Mod Pathol. 2013;26(10):1288–97.

- 153. Gipson BJ, Robbins HA, Fakhry C, D'Souza G. Sensitivity and specificity of oral HPV detection for HPV-positive head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2018;77:52–6.
- 154. Chan PKS, Chang AR, Yu MY, Li W-H, Chan MYM, Yeung ACM, et al. Age distribution of human papillomavirus infection and cervical neoplasia reflects caveats of cervical screening policies. Int J Cancer. 2010;126(1):297–301.
- 155. Key statistics for cervical cancer [Internet]. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cervical-cancer/ about/key-statistics.html.
- Watson AJM, Smith BB, Whitehead MR, Sykes PH, Frizelle FA. Malignant progression of anal intra-epithelial neoplasia. ANZ J Surg. 2006;76(8):715–7.
- 157. Scholefield JH, Castle MT, Watson NFS. Malignant transformation of high-grade anal intraepithelial neoplasia. Br J Surg. 2005;92(9):1133–6.



5

# Sporadic Ovarian and Fallopian Tube Cancer in Postmenopausal Women

Faustino R. Pérez-López

# Abbreviations

AMH	Anti-Müllerian hormone
BMI	Body mass index
COCs	Combined oral contraceptives
EOCs	Epithelial ovarian carcinomas
EPIC	European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition
HR	Hazard ratio
IGF	Insulin growth factor
IGFBP	Insulin growth factor binding protein
MHT	Menopausal hormone therapy
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NSAIDs	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OC3	Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium
OCs	Oral contraceptives
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome

# 5.1 The Burden of Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer is the female genital malignancy that causes the majority of deaths in developed countries. Its high mortality is largely related to its late diagnosis basically due to the lack of presenting early symptoms and the low effectiveness of screening methods [1-4]. Furthermore, the screening of asymptomatic women

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Zaragoza Facultad de Medicina, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: faustino.perez@unizar.es

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_5

without a genetic predisposition does not decrease mortality. In fact, it increases risks in healthy women who undergo unnecessary surgery [2], which itself can increase morbidity and mortality [5, 6].

The incidence of ovarian cancer has decreased during recent years in countries in which there have been changes in reproductive-related factors. Indeed, for instance, more women have used oral contraceptives (OCs) for long periods [7]. On the other hand, knowledge regarding the pathogenia of serous carcinomas has improved. Pathology assessment has included the study of the fallopian tube, which has implications related to the incidence, management, and prevention of ovarian cancer [8]. In addition, the introduction of updated therapeutical strategies has been associated to a slight decrease in ovarian cancer mortality rate [9]. However, worldwide, the frequency of the different types of ovarian cancer (with different prognosis and risk factors) varies amply, and this may influence survival estimations for all combinations of ovarian cancer [10, 11].

This chapter will examine the evidence regarding protective and risk factors for sporadic ovarian cancer in postmenopausal women as well as risk-reducing strategies.

# 5.2 Fallopian Tube, Ovarian, and Peritoneal Carcinogenesis

Ovarian cancer is a heterogeneous group of malignancies more frequently encountered in peri- and postmenopausal women. Ovarian cancer types include (1) epithelial ovarian carcinomas (EOCs) (90%), usually observed in postmenopausal women; (2) germ cell carcinomas (4%), more frequent in adolescents and women in their early 20s, although they may also develop at any age; (3) stromal carcinomas (teratomas, dysgerminomas, and endodermal sinus tumors), generally diagnosed at early stages; (4) and other primitive and metastatic malignant tumors, which are less common.

EOCs derive from the epithelium of the ovarian surface; nevertheless, new evidence suggests that they may arise from endometrial tissue or the epithelium of the fallopian tube. This new paradigm has set changes in the classification of cancer extension, in terms of tumor rupture or surgical spilling and abdominal dissemination [12].

There are currently two types of EOCs in terms of clinical and molecular characteristics. Type I includes low-grade serous, clear-cell, low-grade endometrioid, mucinous cancers and Brenner tumors, which have relatively stable molecular and genetic properties. Type II includes high-grade epithelial serous, high-grade endometrioid, and undifferentiated cancers and mixed mesodermal malignancies. These have allowed genetic stability and a high frequency of p53 mutations and are initiated from extra-ovarian tissue, mostly the fallopian tubes [12–15].

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may characterize ultrasound-indeterminate adnexal masses and differentiate benign versus malignant masses [16, 17]. In addition, MRI has been suggested for the early diagnosis of primary fallopian tube cancer and to differentiate from primary ovarian cancer, although typical images are not always present [18, 19].

Nearly a 10% of ovarian cancers are related to genetic factors, mostly being related to mutations of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes. Other mutations (PTEN mutation of the Cowden syndrome, Lynch syndrome, and Peutz-Jegher syndrome) are less frequent. The Lynch syndrome increases lifetime risk by 4.3% for ovarian cancer [20]. The majority of women with risk of hereditary cancer are managed with surgical interventions (bilateral oophorectomy with or without hysterectomy and salpingectomy) that are carried out in young women during the premenopausal years, in their late 30s or early 40s. Therefore, they are usually treated early, before the appearance of cancer.

## 5.3 Age and Familial Risks

With few exceptions, ovarian cancer risk increases with age. Presentation is dominated by two age profiles. The *first* corresponds to cancers that originate from germ cells and stromal tissue; this type of presentation is generally observed in adolescents and young women (<30 years). The *second* corresponds to EOCs that appear in postmenopausal women, often in their 70s or 80s [21].

A family history of ovarian cancer (and related syndromes) is the most prominent risk factor. Hence, the presence of an ovarian cancer in one first-degree relative increases women's lifetime risk by 5%; the risk increases up to 7% if there are two such relatives [22]. The risk is also high in families with hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndromes in association with autosomal dominant mutations of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes.

The preventive management of gynecological cancer risk in gene-mutated syndromes includes bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy; basically in the majority of consenting women who have achieved reproductive aims. In some particular syndromes, in which endometrial cancer risk is increased, hysterectomy is added to salpingo-oophorectomy.

#### 5.4 Reproductive Factors

#### 5.4.1 Menarche and Menopause

Some reproductive factors are non-modifiable. Age at menarche, age at first fullterm pregnancy, and spontaneous and induced abortion have a small or nil effect over the risk of ovarian cancer [23]. The results of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study and a large Korean prospective cohort failed to find an association between age at menarche and ovarian cancer risk [23, 24]. However, a meta-analysis of case-control studies reported an inverse association between age at menarche and ovarian cancer risk [25].

Reports indicate that there may be a relationship between a late onset of menopause and ovarian cancer risk [26]. The number of menstrual cycles may correlate with ovarian cancer risk. Thus, older age at menopause onset was a risk factor for ovarian cancer in both the EPIC study [27] and a Korean prospective cohort [24]. It has been suggested that women who have a longer exposure to ovarian hormones (menstrual cycles  $\geq$ 40 years) have an increased risk of ovarian cancer.

The anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) is a marker of ovarian reserve, and in experimental conditions, it inhibits the growth of ovarian tumors. Nevertheless, in nine cohorts of premenopausal women, AMH levels were not associated with ovarian cancer risk. Indeed, ovarian cancer risk was similar when comparing the highest with the lowest quartile of AMH levels (there was no inverse association between pre-diagnostic AMH levels and ovarian cancer risk) [28]. It seems that hormones involved in the menstrual cycle have limited influence in carcinogenesis. The current view regarding ovarian cancer is that its origin is from multiple cell types and that many malignant precursors are outside the ovaries (see Sect. 5.2 about Carcinogenesis), with several steps occurring many years after the menstrual cycles are over. This evidence seems to reduce the importance of hormones in the origin of malignant ovarian tumors.

#### 5.4.2 Pregnancy and Breastfeeding

In a case-control study of women living in Massachusetts or New Hampshire, multiparity ( $\geq$ 3 vs. 0 children) had a strong and inverse association with an increased risk of type I ovarian cancers [29]. Wentzensen et al. [30] reported a detailed analysis regarding reproductive factors in relation to the histologic subtypes from the large Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium (OC3), including 1.3 million women from 21 studies. This study reported that a higher parity was associated with a lower relative risk for endometrioid and clear-cell carcinomas.

A recent Australian population-based study reported that increased parity was associated with a reduced risk of high-grade serous ovarian cancer in women without a personal history of breast cancer; however, the "protective" factor was not present in women with a history of a previous breast cancer [31].

A history of gestational diabetes mellitus has been related to a higher risk of female malignancies, including ovarian cancer [32]. Studies indicate that prepregnancy obesity yields a higher cumulative risk of ovarian cancer after adjusting for different confounding factors, including gestational diabetes and maternal age [33].

Women who breastfeed for more than a year have a reduced ovarian cancer risk [34]. A meta-analysis of observational studies found a protective effect of breast-feeding against EOCs as compared with never breastfeeding; in addition, there was a 0.5-fold decreased risk [35].

#### 5.4.3 Hormone Contraception

OCs reduce the risk of any cancer, and the protective effect is strengthened for both ovarian and endometrial cancers when duration is taken into account [7, 8, 36, 37]. In the large (46,022 women) UK Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral

Contraception Study, with four decades of follow-up, the incidence risk ratio was significantly reduced with OC use [36]. Combined oral contraceptives (COC) reduce the risk of EOC.

A meta-analysis of case-control and cohort studies reported a significant reduction in ovarian cancer risk whenever-users are compared to never users. In addition, there is a reduction of more than 50% in the incidence when use is 10 or more years [38]. However, COCs do not seem to reduce the incidence of mucinous tumors [39], and the use of progestin-only contraceptive pills does not seem to provide protection against ovarian cancer risk [40].

The protective effect of OCs is closely related to the dose of estrogen and treatment duration, although there is no accumulative effect of estrogen intake [40], and the protective effect is not reduced with increasing attained age [41]. COC use before the first full-term pregnancy has a protective effect on the risk of EOC. A case-control study of invasive EOCs in parous women aged 40 or more years reported a 9% risk reduction in those who had used combined contraceptives before their first birth, suggesting a protective effect long after hormones were used [42].

There is also a significant inverse association between BRCA-related ovarian cancer risk and the use of COCs. This effect is similar when women are analyzed separately among carrying BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations [43].

As mentioned above, the use of progestogen-only contraceptive pills does not seem to provide protection against ovarian cancer risk [40]. Despite this, the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system decreases the risk of mucinous, endometrioid, and serous ovarian carcinomas [44].

#### 5.4.4 Menopause Hormone Therapy

The incidence of EOC has been related to the use of menopausal hormone therapy (MHT). The worldwide reduction in the prevalence of ovarian cancer during the last decade has been linked with the decline in MHT use, although no causal relationship between MHT use and ovarian carcinogenesis has been demonstrated [45–47].

New publications are now focused on the controversy related to the link between menopause hormone treatments (with interactions with other factors) and ovarian cancer risk. A population-based study addressed the issue regarding long-term MHT use in women aged 50–64 years [48]. In this study, female ovarian cancer risk was increased in long-term MHT users, suggesting a role for hormones in the carcinogenesis that should be considered at the time of prescribing MHT.

A population-based Finnish National study evaluated all women aged over 50 during the period 1995–2007 (receiving menopause hormone therapy) with EOC by histologic subtype, comparing one case with three controls matched for age and place of residency and excluding controls with oophorectomy. The use of estradiol alone for 5 years or more was associated with a significant higher risk of serous ovarian cancer subtype, but with a reduced risk of the mucinous subtype. The sequential treatment of estradiol-progestin for 5 years or more was associated with

an increased risk of overall cancer risk, especially increasing the endometrioid subtype. On the contrary, the use of continuous estradiol-progestin, estradiol + intrauterine levonorgestrel intrauterine system, or tibolone had no significant effect on overall ovarian cancer risk [49]. Therefore, only sequential use of estradiol + progestin increases the overall risk of ovarian cancer.

A subsequent study from the same research group reported the incidence of primary fallopian tube cancer and the use of hormone therapy in women aged 50 or older, which was identified from the Finnish Cancer Registry, excluding cases with a previous salpingectomy [50]. The use of 5 years or more of estradiol combined with the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system and the use of sequential estradiol and progestin treatment were both associated with an increased risk of fallopian tube cancer. On the contrary, the treatment with only estradiol or continuous estradiol and a progestin did not increase the risk of the cited cancer.

#### 5.4.5 Assisted Reproductive Technology

There is controversy regarding any possible increase in ovarian cancer risk in women subject to assisted reproductive technology. It is likely that medication used for fertility treatments may increase the risk of borderline ovarian tumors [51, 52]. However, results seem to depend on the fact of achieving or not pregnancy. It seems that women who are successfully treated for infertility and give birth do not display an increased ovarian cancer risk, when compared to those that remain nulliparous. The latter women have a higher risk of EOCs. Another explanation could be that infertility, *per se*, and not the used treatment, be the cause of an increased ovarian cancer risk [53].

#### 5.4.6 Tubal Ligation, Salpingectomy, and Hysterectomy

Fallopian tube ligation and hysterectomy (if performed before age 35) reduce the risk of EOC, particularly non-serous cancers [54, 55]. An Australian Cancer Study, a Danish register-based case-control study, the OC3, and the Million Women Study reported that tubal ligation has different preventive effects according to histologic types, with protection being higher for high-risk serous, endometrioid, and clear-cell carcinomas, while results are controversial regarding mucinous carcinomas [29, 30, 56–58].

The effect of salpingectomy on ovarian cancer risk has been compared to that achieved with tubal ligation. Madsen et al. [57] and Falconer et al. [59], respectively, reported that salpingectomy reduced EOC in the Danish register-based case-control study and in a national US population-based study. Results suggest that opportunistic bilateral salpingectomy, aimed at removing the site where ovarian cancer might originate, should be recommended when women are hysterectomized due to benign conditions and among those seeking tubal ligation [14, 60].

Opportunistic salpingectomy should be encouraged instead of tubal ligation or performed at the time of hysterectomy in order to reduce the risk of future fallopian and ovarian cancers. However, data of large prospective studies are not available to confirm the value of opportunistic salpingectomy in the prevention of ovarian cancer. On the other hand, there are ongoing trials comparing the effect of salpingectomy (without oophorectomy) with delayed oophorectomy in BRCA mutation carriers [61].

Reports indicate that hysterectomy in young women due to benign conditions, with conservation of the fallopian tubes and the ovaries, may also reduce the risk of ovarian cancer [29, 54, 55]. However, there is no sense of performing a hysterectomy while preserving the fallopian tubes, if childbearing is over. Therefore, it is recommendable that hysterectomy be carried out with concomitant opportunistic salpingectomy. In addition, surgery for pelvic floor disorders treated by hysterectomy can include vaginal opportunistic salpingectomy excision [62–64]. Opportunistic distal salpingectomy can also be performed during a cesarean section in women who are sure they have completed their family [65].

The safety of opportunistic salpingectomy has been confirmed in large cohorts [66]. However, the confirmation of the real value of opportunistic salpingectomy in the prevention of ovarian cancer may require a 20–30-year follow-up. On the other hand, salpingectomy has also been challenged as a risk-reducing intervention [67].

# 5.5 Anthropometric Variables

#### 5.5.1 Body Weight

Birth weight has not been associated with ovarian cancer risk [68]. Prospective studies assessing the effects of body fat at ages 5 and 10, body mass index (BMI) at age 18, and other anthropometric measures have reported a small relationship between height and EOC risk [69].

Data from the large prospective EPIC cohort indicate that obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) is associated with an increased EOC risk, although the association was weaker in pre- versus postmenopausal women. Height, weight gain, and fat distribution were not associated with an increased risk, although waist-hip ratio was associated with a higher risk of mucinous tumors [70]. Results from the Nurse's Health and Women's Health Initiative (WHI) cohorts failed to demonstrate any influence of obesity over ovarian cancer risk [71, 72]. A recent study among African American women pointed out that ovarian cancer risk was significantly elevated in women with a BMI  $\geq$ 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> as compared with those with a BMI <25, and there was an association between this cancer risk and weight gain after age 18 comparing the highest versus the lowest quartile. In postmenopausal women (MHT users and nonusers), ovarian cancer risk increased by 15% per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> increase of BMI or 6% per 5 kg of weight gain [73].

Despite this, a later meta-analysis of 47 studies reported a 12% increase in EOC risk for obese women (>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), after adjusting for different confounding factors such as MHT use [74]. Furthermore, a more recent meta-analysis of prospective studies found a non-linear increase in ovarian cancer for each 5 units of BMI

increase. This rise started with a BMI of  $28 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and higher. In addition, there was no association between ovarian cancer and weight gain, hip circumference, or waist-hip ratio [75]. It is important to note that obesity does not seem to increase the risk of the most aggressive (or lethal) cancers and that associations are similar among MHT users and nonusers [76].

Adult weight gain has been related to female endocrine-related cancers, particularly among non-MHT users. Thus, a meta-analysis found that for each 5 kg increase in adult weight, ovarian cancer risk increased in postmenopausal women, both in low MHT and non-MHT users [77]. These results suggest the importance of preventing weight and obesity in young women.

The links between obesity and higher ovarian cancer risk are probably mediated by alterations in sex steroid hormones, insulin- related alterations and inflammation. Excessive weight has been related to invasive endometrioid, low-grade invasive serous, and invasive mucinous ovarian carcinomas as well as borderline serous tumors. In addition, the risk is similar in postmenopausal MHT users and nonusers.

These studies provide evidence that excessive body weight is a modifiable risk factor for ovarian cancer, especially among postmenopausal women.

## 5.5.2 Height

It has been suggested that altered insulin growth factor (IGF) 1 levels may influence early-life body size and adulthood cancer risk. In the two cohorts of the Nurses' Health Study, height was associated with an increased relative risk of EOC [69]. A pooled analysis of 12 prospective cohorts that collectively included more than a half million women from North America and Europe reported that taller women (>1.69 m vs. <1.60 m) have an increased EOC risk (both pre- and postmenopausal), while there was no statistical difference observed between those with increased BMI compared to those with a normal BMI (BMI >29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 18.5–23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) [78].

A meta-analysis of case-control studies found that IGF-1 and IGF binding protein-3 levels were lower in patients with ovarian cancer [79]. Another meta-analysis (of prospective studies) reported that there was no significant influence of IGF-1/ IGF binding protein-3 on the ovarian cancer risk [80].

# 5.6 Diet, Physical Activity, and Other Modifiable Lifestyle Factors

#### 5.6.1 Diet

Some diets have been postulated to protect against cancer. For example, the Mediterranean diet might decrease the incidence of various cancers by genomic actions and by increasing levels of the sex hormone-binding globulin [81, 82]. However, there is no significant evidence demonstrating that the adherence to the Mediterranean diet reduces ovarian cancer risk [83].

A potential link between the dietary inflammatory index and the risk of EOC was analyzed among African American women. A 10% increase in EOC risk was observed for each unit change in the energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index, and this association was higher in women aged over 60 [84].

In a randomized controlled trial of postmenopausal women, the adherence to a low-fat diet for 4 years decreased ovarian cancer risk [85]. One meta-analysis found that egg consumption was related to ovary cancer, although the dose-response was unclear. A significant effect of egg intake on ovarian cancer has been reported in case-control studies, but not in cohort studies [86].

Studies related to the vitamin D endocrine system and carcinogenesis have produced controversial results. In vitro studies suggest that vitamin D may have a role in cancer prevention. Results from observational clinical studies are masked by confounding factors. However, Ong et al. [87] reported a significant association between decreased vitamin D levels in Europeans and ovarian cancer risk. They used a Mendelian randomization assessment to overcome the usual statistical errors observed in conventional studies. However, further studies are needed before recommendations can be proposed regarding vitamin D supplementation and ovarian cancer risk.

Studies analyzing the association between dietary intake of acrylamide and EOC risk have not been able to demonstrate any effect [88]. In a large prospective Japanese cohort, no association was observed between acrylamide and ovarian cancer [89]. Other dietary components have not been associated with ovarian cancer risk, including the intake of fiber or of curcumin or a high-starch diet, although there might be several confounding factors that have not been taken into account.

#### 5.6.2 Physical Activity

The effect of recreational physical activity on ovarian cancer risk is inconclusive or controversial [90]. The protective effect of recreational physical activity is more consistent among case-control studies, while benefits have been reported in some cohort studies [91]. Nevertheless, recent evidence shows that physical inactivity is independently associated with an increased risk of some particular histologic subtypes of EOC [92]. A prospective study assessing the effect of physical activity on ovarian cancer risk found that in premenopausal women risk increased with low to high levels of cumulative physical activity, while physical activity was not associated with ovarian cancer in postmenopausal women [93]. These investigations, not completely comparable, provide controversial results that do not currently allow providing recommendations regarding the preventive effect of physical activity on ovarian cancer risk.

#### 5.6.3 Perineum Exposure to Body Powder and Vaginal Douching

There is some evidence from case-control studies that the use of powder on the perineum (genital powder) is associated with an increased EOC risk, but the data are

conflicting. The modest increased risk seems to be for invasive serous, endometrioid, and clear-cell carcinomas and borderline tumors in genital but not in nongenital powder users [94]. The same study found no significant trend in the risk with increasing number of lifetime applications of genital powder. Despite this, a casecontrol study of Afro-American women showed a dose-response effect for duration and the lifetime number of applications of genital powder and EOC risk. In addition, non-genital powder use was linked to non-serous EOC [95]. A recent metaanalysis of case-control and cohort studies reported that perineal talc use increases ovarian cancer risk. In addition, this increased risk was significant for serous and endometrioid subtypes, although not for mucinous or clear-cell subtypes [96].

The prospective cohort Sister Study (involving 50,884 women with a sister with breast cancer) found little association between baseline perineal talc use and subsequent ovarian cancer. Douching was more common among talc users, and douching at baseline was associated with an increased subsequent risk of ovarian cancer. The authors of the Sister Study concluded that douching, but not talc use, was associated with an increased ovarian cancer risk [97].

#### 5.6.4 Alcohol, Coffee, and Tea Consumption

Alcohol consumption does not seem to influence ovarian cancer risk [98, 99]. However, low alcohol consumption may reduce the risk of ovarian cancer, but this may depend on the type of alcohol and the age at which it was consumed [100]. Red wine consumption protects against ovarian cancer risk as compared with nonconsumption, but the consumption of white wine, beer, or spirits does do not confer protection. The protection conferred by red wine is greatest when consumption is initiated before the age of 50 [101].

It seems that coffee or tea consumption may not reduce EOC risk [102]. However, higher black tea intake may have a protective effect against several cancer variants [103]. A Danish case-control study reported that coffee consumption and total caffeine consumption (combination of tea and coffee) were associated with a small reduction in ovarian cancer risk [104]. However, a Canadian study did not find any effect of coffee, tea, and caffeine intake on the ovarian cancer risk [105].

#### 5.6.5 Cigarette Smoking

Cigarette smoking has been associated with certain histologic subtypes of ovarian cancer [106]. The large Norwegian-Swedish Women's Lifestyle and Health cohort analyzed national registries according to different measures of smoking exposures and adjusted for confounding factors. This study found that women who smoked for more than 20 years had three times the risk of developing borderline EOCs as compared to never smokers, and there was an almost significant relation for mucinous

tumors. In addition, there was also a significant dose-response effect with smoking intensity and duration for both borderline and serous tumors [107].

The same authors reported new information from the Norwegian cohort regarding smoking and primary invasive and borderline tumors by histologic types [108]. Current smokers who had smoked for more than 10 years had a very much higher risk of developing mucinous ovarian cancers than never smokers, but smoking was not associated with serous or endometrioid ovarian cancers. The OC3 reported that smoking 20 packs/year was associated with an increased risk of mucinous cancers and a decreased risk for clear-cell cancers [30].

In Afro-American women, smoking was associated in a higher degree to serous ovarian cancer than for all types of ovarian cancers. In addition, compared to never smokers, serous ovarian cancer risk was increased in lifetime ever smokers, in former smokers who quit within 0–2 years of diagnosis, and in relation to total pack-years smoked among lifetime smokers. In addition, smoking was not associated with mucinous ovarian cancer [109].

## 5.6.6 Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Analgesic Treatment

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and some analgesics may have chemopreventive actions against cancer from different organs. Pooled data from population-based and case-control studies of ovarian cancer reported that aspirin use was associated with a lower ovarian cancer risk, while non-aspirin NSAIDs and acetaminophen use was not. In addition, the reduction of cancer risk was strong with daily aspirin use as compared with other dosages, while for non-aspirin NSAIDs, the risk reduction was strong for high-dose use [110]. The same authors also reported a prospective analysis of the OC3 regarding analgesic use and ovarian cancer risk. They analyzed data from 13 studies, finding that women who use aspirin daily have a slightly lower risk of developing ovarian cancer than infrequent/ nonusers [111]. This result was similar to the risk reduction observed in case-control analyses.

Low-dose aspirin (150 mg/day for  $\geq$ 5 years) may reduce the risk of EOCs in terms of histological types, the strongest inverse associations observed for mucinous and endometrioid tumors [112].

The African American Cancer Epidemiology Study on the EOC risk analyzed the effect of aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs and acetaminophen use on ovarian cancer risk [113]. The study found that NSAIDs (aspirin and non-aspirin) significantly reduced this risk, while acetaminophen had no protective effect. It is likely that ovarian follicle rupture during ovulation releases fluid containing prostaglandins and other compounds that induce inflammation [114], which can potentially be neutralized by NSAIDs. Therefore, small doses of NSAIDs may be a preventive intervention for women at high risk of ovarian cancer. In addition, it seems that anti-inflammatory drugs may improve ovarian cancer prognosis when used along with chemotherapy [115].

## 5.6.7 Occupation Risk Factors for Ovarian and Primary Fallopian Tube Cancer

The risk of EOC was examined according to occupation in a Canadian populationbased case-control study, adjusting for confounders (BMI, OC use, menopause hormone therapy, previous genital surgery, among others). The authors reported an increased risk of EOC for teaching and related occupations, bookkeepers and accounting clerks, and educational service and noninstitutional health service employees [116].

An Australian population-based case-control study assessed the association of lifetime environment ultraviolet radiation exposure and both invasive and borderline ovarian cancers in women aged 18–79 years. Women in the highest tertile of daily average of environment radiation exposure were at the lowest risk of EOCs than those in the lowest tertile [117]. This study suggests that there is an inverse association between ovarian cancer risk and ultraviolet exposure.

In a Scandinavian study, correlation between occupation and the risk of primary fallopian tube cancer was reported among 2206 cases and more than 50 occupations [118]. The authors found that the risk of primary cancer was significant among smelting workers, artistic workers, hairdressers, packers, nurses, shop workers, and clerical workers. These findings were sustained for the different included countries. The risk was significantly low for farm-working women, painters, and chemical process workers.

# 5.7 Comorbidity and Ovarian Cancer Risk

#### 5.7.1 Endometriosis

Women who had endometriosis during their reproductive years are at a higher risk of developing endometrioid and clear-cell tumors (type I EOC) [29]. The older a woman is when ovarian endometriosis is diagnosed, the higher the risk of ovarian cancer [119]. An international collaborative investigation comprising 13 case-control studies reported an association between a history of endometriosis and an increased risk of clear-cell, low-grade serous, and endometrioid invasive cancers, while there was no association with the risk of mucinous or high-grade serous invasive ovarian cancers or borderline serous and mucinous tumors [120].

There is evidence for shared genetic risk between endometriosis and almost all histologic types of ovarian cancer. The strongest correlation is between endometriosis and clear-cell carcinoma and endometrioid and low-grade serous carcinomas, while high-grade serous carcinoma (which often arises from the fallopian tubes) had a weaker genetic correlation with endometriosis [121]. These findings suggest shared genetic susceptibility factors.

A meta-analysis reported that endometriosis was associated with an increased risk of EOC, and tubal ligation had a protective effect [80]. In that review, hysterectomy did not have any significant effect on ovarian cancer risk in women with endometriosis. The relationship between endometriosis and malignant transformation to ovarian cancer may be related to epigenetic factors exerting effects over the ectopic endometrium [122].

To date, the protective role of opportunistic bilateral salpingectomy among women with previous endometriosis has not been specifically addressed.

#### 5.7.2 Pelvic Inflammatory Disease

Pelvic inflammatory disease/salpingitis increases the risk of serous borderline and invasive ovarian cancers [123–125]. An Australian population-based study reported an increased risk of high-grade serous ovarian carcinoma associated with pelvic inflammatory disease, but not with infertility or the diagnosis of endometriosis [31]. This data support the participation of inflammatory processes in the carcinogenesis of some epithelial ovarian cancers.

Although there are no reports addressing the value of salpingectomy in women with inflammatory adnexal processes, salpingectomy might exert the same protective role as it does in women without an inflammatory process.

#### 5.7.3 Long Menstrual Cycles and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Long and irregular menstrual cycles and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) were not initially related to ovarian cancer risk; however, when histologic subtypes were taken into account in the analysis, menstrual cycle irregularities among women who had never used oral contraceptives and those who were overweight were associated with a reduced risk of high-grade serous EOCs and an increased risk of serous borderline tumors [126].

The association between lifetime number of ovulatory cycles and epithelial ovarian cancer risk has been reported, supporting the hypothesis that incessant ovulation contributes to the pathogenesis of ovarian cancer [84]. Women with menstrual cycle intervals of more than 35 days have a lower risk of invasive ovarian cancer in comparison with those reporting cycle lengths of  $\leq$ 35 days. Also women with irregular menstrual cycles have a lower risk of invasive ovarian cancer as compared to those women with regular cycles [127].

A meta-analysis of few observational studies in women <55 years suggests that PCOS did not increase ovarian cancer risk [128]. Ovarian cancer risk does not seem to be increased in women with PCOS [127].

# 5.7.4 Epithelial Ovarian Borderline Tumors

A significant number of epithelial ovarian borderline tumors are diagnosed at early stages, and fertility-sparing surgery can be used in women without children and those with localized tumors [129, 130]. However, tumor recurrence may affect 10–18% of patients who retain ovarian tissue [131, 132], and it seems that mucinous tumors have a higher recurrence risk than serous types [128]. Therefore, pregnancy should be attempted as soon as possible, in women who wish to do so. However, there is no clear evidence that radical treatment, hysterectomy, or bilateral salpingectomy reduces the risk of recurrence or malignant progression.

# 5.7.5 Previous Malignant Diseases

Girls and women who had suffered a germ cell tumor are more prone to have a second malignant ovarian cancer [133]. An Australian population study reported that breast cancer increases the rate of high-grade serous ovarian cancer threefold [31].

# 5.8 Conclusions

To date, ovarian cancer screening and early diagnosis are not feasible. There are some general recommendations (Table 5.1) from the current knowledge based on risk and protective factors. The use of combined oral contraceptives for more than 5 years, salpingectomy, and hysterectomy may reduce the risk of ovarian cancer. Prevention of obesity and weight gain may also contribute at reducing ovarian cancer risk. Reproductive factors, such as parity and breastfeeding are individual

Risk factors	Protective factors
Increased age	Breastfeeding (>1 year)
Family history (first degree) of ovarian cancer: BRCA1-2	Multiparity (>3 births)
mutations; Cowden syndrome, Lynch syndrome	
Height (taller women)	Combined oral contraceptives
Obesity (>29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) but more important $\geq$ 40 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Fallopian tube ligation or
	salpingectomy
Increase in adult body mass index (>5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Hysterectomy
Diet with a high inflammatory index	Low-fat diet for at least 4 years
Physical inactivity	Red wine
Exposure to talc powder	Black tea
Smoking	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory
	drugs (aspirin and non-aspirin)
Endometriosis	
Pelvic inflammatory disease	
Previous history of epithelial ovarian borderline tumor	

Table 5.1 Risk and protective factors for ovarian cancer

elections. Factors related to healthy lifestyles such as physical activity, alcohol consumption or smoking, body talc use, and moderate red wine and NSAIDs consumption may be a part of general health recommendations. Patients with a history of endometriosis, pelvic inflammatory disease, and ovarian borderline tumors should be appropriately treated and followed up.

Competing Interest None to declare.

Funding: None.

#### References

- 1. Pérez-López FR, Chedraui P, Troyano-Luque JM. Peri- and post-menopausal incidental adnexal masses and the risk of sporadic ovarian malignancy: new insights and clinical management. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2010;26:631–43.
- Moyer VA. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for ovarian cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force reaffirmation recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2012;157:900–4.
- 3. Ebell MH, Culp MB, Radke TJ. A systematic review of symptoms for the diagnosis of ovarian cancer. Am J Prev Med. 2016;50:384–94.
- FDA. Ovarian cancer screening tests: safety communication—FDA recommends against use. http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/ ucm519540.htm?source=govdelivery&utm\_medium=email&utm\_source=govdelivery. Accessed 21 Nov 2018.
- 5. Buys SS, Partridge E, Black A, Johnson CC, Lamerato L, Isaacs C, Reding DJ, Greenlee RT, Yokochi LA, Kessel B, Crawford ED, Church TR, Andriole GL, Weissfeld JL, Fouad MN, Chia D, O'Brien B, Ragard LR, Clapp JD, Rathmell JM, Riley TL, Hartge P, Pinsky PF, Zhu CS, Izmirlian G, Kramer BS, Miller AB, Xu JL, Prorok PC, Gohagan JK, Berg CD, PLCO Project Team. Effect of screening on ovarian cancer mortality: the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) Cancer Screening Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA. 2011;305:2295–303.
- 6. US Preventive Services Task Force, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Davidson KW, Doubeni CA, Epling JW Jr, Kemper AR, Krist AH, Kurth AE, Landefeld CS, Mangione CM, Phipps MG, Silverstein M, Simon MA, Tseng CW. Screening for ovarian cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2018;319:588–94.
- Gentry-Maharaj A, Glazer C, Burnell M, Ryan A, Berry H, Kalsi J, Woolas R, Skates SJ, Campbell S, Parmar M, Jacobs I, Menon U. Changing trends in reproductive/lifestyle factors in UK women: descriptive study within the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening (UKCTOCS). BMJ Open. 2017;7:e011822.
- Samimi G, Trabert B, Duggan MA, Robinson JL, Coa KI, Waibel E, Garcia E, Minasian LM, Sherman ME. Processing of fallopian tube, ovary, and endometrial surgical pathology specimens: a survey of U.S. laboratory practices. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;148:515–20.
- Malvezzi M, Carioli G, Rodriguez T, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Global trends and predictions in ovarian cancer mortality. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:2017–25.
- Matz M, Coleman MP, Carreira H, Salmerón D, Chirlaque MD, Allemani C; CONCORD Working Group. Worldwide comparison of ovarian cancer survival: histological group and stage at diagnosis (CONCORD-2). Gynecol Oncol. 2017;144:396–404. Erratum in: Gynecol Oncol. 2017;147:725.
- Matz M, Coleman MP, Sant M, Chirlaque MD, Visser O, Gore M, Allemani C, The CONCORD Working Group. The histology of ovarian cancer: worldwide distribution and implications for international survival comparisons (CONCORD-2). Gynecol Oncol. 2017;144:405–13.

- Prat J, FIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum: abridged republication of guidelines from the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO). Obstet Gynecol. 2015;126:171–4.
- 13. Lim D, Oliva E. Precursors and pathogenesis of ovarian carcinoma. Pathology. 2013;45:229–42.
- Pérez-López FR, Chedraui P. Surgical prevention of epithelial ovary cancer without oophorectomy: changing the future. Climacteric. 2016;19:417–8.
- 15. Karnezis AN, Cho KR, Gilks CB, Pearce CL, Huntsman DG. The disparate origins of ovarian cancers: pathogenesis and prevention strategies. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17:65–74.
- Haggerty AF, Hagemann AR, Chu C, Siegelman ES, Rubin SC. Correlation of pelvic magnetic resonance imaging diagnosis with pathology for indeterminate adnexal masses. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24:1215–21.
- Masch WR, Daye D, Lee SI. MR imaging for incidental adnexal mass characterization. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am. 2017;25:521–43.
- Ma FH, Cai SQ, Qiang JW, Zhao SH, Zhang GF, Rao YM. MRI for differentiating primary fallopian tube carcinoma from epithelial ovarian cancer. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2015;42:42–7.
- Veloso Gomes F, Dias JL, Lucas R, Cunha TM. Primary fallopian tube carcinoma: review of MR imaging findings. Insights Imaging. 2015;6:431–9.
- 20. Hampel H, Bennett RL, Buchanan A, Pearlman R, Wiesner GL, Guideline Development Group, American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics Professional Practice and Guidelines Committee and National Society of Genetic Counselors Practice Guidelines Committee. A practice guideline from the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the National Society of Genetic Counselors: referral indications for cancer predisposition assessment. Genet Med. 2015;17:70–87.
- Pérez-López FR, Ceausu I, Depypere H, Kehoe S, Lambrinoudaki I, Mueck A, Senturk LM, Simoncini T, Stevenson JC, Stute P, Rees M. Interventions to reduce the risk of ovarian and fallopian tube cancer: a European Menopause and Andropause Society Position Statement. Maturitas. 2017;100:86–91.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for ovarian cancer: recommendation statement. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Am Fam Physician. 2005;71:759–62.
- 23. Tsilidis KK, Allen NE, Key TJ, Dossus L, Lukanova A, Bakken K, et al. Oral contraceptive use and reproductive factors and risk of ovarian cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Br J Cancer. 2011;105:1436–42.
- Jung KJ, Park C, Yun YD, Jee SH. Duration of ovarian hormone exposure and gynecological cancer risk in Korean women: the Korean Heart Study. Cancer Epidemiol. 2016;41:1–7.
- Gong TT, Wu QJ, Vogtmann E, Lin B, Wang YL. Age at menarche and risk of ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. Int J Cancer. 2013;132:2894–900.
- Hankinson S, Danforth K. Ovarian. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JF, editors. Cancer epidemiology and prevention. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006. p. 1013–26.
- Li K, Hüsing A, Fortner RT, Tjønneland A, Hansen L, Dossus L, et al. An epidemiologic risk prediction model for ovarian cancer in Europe: the EPIC study. Br J Cancer. 2015;112:1257–65.
- 28. Jung S, Allen N, Arslan AA, Baglietto L, Barricarte A, Brinton LA, Egleston BL, Falk RT, Fortner RT, Helzlsouer KJ, Gao Y, Idahl A, Kaaks R, Krogh V, Merritt MA, Lundin E, Onland-Moret NC, Rinaldi S, Schock H, Shu XO, Sluss PM, Staats PN, Sacerdote C, Travis RC, Tjønneland A, Trichopoulou A, Tworoger SS, Visvanathan K, Weiderpass E, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Dorgan JF. Anti-Müllerian hormone and risk of ovarian cancer in nine cohorts. Int J Cancer. 2018;142:262–70.
- Merritt MA, De Pari M, Vitonis AF, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Reproductive characteristics in relation to ovarian cancer risk by histologic pathways. Hum Reprod. 2013;28:1406–17.
- Wentzensen N, Poole EM, Trabert B, White E, Arslan AA, Patel AV, Setiawan VW, et al. Ovarian cancer risk factors by histologic subtype: an analysis from the ovarian cancer cohort consortium. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2888–98.

- Stewart LM, Spilsbury K, Jordan S, Stewart C, Holman CDJ, Powell A, Reekie J, Cohen P. Risk of high-grade serous ovarian cancer associated with pelvic inflammatory disease, parity and breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;55:110–6.
- 32. Fuchs O, Sheiner E, Meirovitz M, Davidson E, Sergienko R, Kessous R. The association between a history of gestational diabetes mellitus and future risk for female malignancies. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2017;295:731–6.
- Kessous R, Davidson E, Meirovitz M, Sergienko R, Sheiner E. Prepregnancy obesity: a risk factor for future development of ovarian and breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2017;26:151–5.
- 34. Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, Bandera EV, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Bondy M, Cote ML, Funkhouser E, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry P, Crankshaw S, Wang F, Schildkraut JM. Reproductive factors and ovarian cancer risk in African-American women. Ann Epidemiol. 2016;26:654–62.
- 35. Sung HK, Ma SH, Choi JY, Hwang Y, Ahn C, Kim BG, Kim YM, Kim JW, Kang S, Kim J, Kim TJ, Yoo KY, Kang D, Park S. The effect of breastfeeding duration and parity on the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prev Med Public Health. 2016;49:349–66.
- 36. Iversen L, Sivasubramaniam S, Lee AJ, Fielding S, Hannaford PC. Lifetime cancer risk and combined oral contraceptives: the Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;216:580.e1–9.
- Michels KA, Brinton LA, Pfeiffer RM, Trabert B. Oral contraceptive use and risks of cancer in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187:1630–41.
- Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, Lowery WJ, Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Dinan M, McBroom AJ, Hasselblad V, Sanders GD, Myers ER. Oral contraceptive pills as primary prevention for ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;122:139–47.
- 39. Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian Cancer, Beral V, Doll R, Hermon C, Peto R, Reeves G. Ovarian cancer and oral contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of data from 45 epidemiological studies including 23,257 women with ovarian cancer and 87,303 controls. Lancet. 2008;371:303–14.
- 40. Faber MT, Jensen A, Frederiksen K, Glud E, Høgdall E, Høgdall C, Blaakaer J, Kjaer SK. Oral contraceptive use and impact of cumulative intake of estrogen and progestin on risk of ovarian cancer. Cancer Causes Control. 2013;24:2197–206.
- 41. McGuire V, Hartge P, Liao LM, Sinha R, Bernstein L, Canchola AJ, Anderson GL, Stefanick ML, Whittemore AS. Parity and oral contraceptive use in relation to ovarian cancer risk in older women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2016;25:1059–63.
- 42. Cook LS, Pestak CR, Leung AC, Steed H, Nation J, Swenerton K, Gallagher R, Magliocco A, Köbel M, Brooks-Wilson A, Le N. Combined oral contraceptive use before the first birth and epithelial ovarian cancer risk. Br J Cancer. 2017;116:265–9.
- 43. Moorman PG, Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Lowery WJ, Peragallo Urrutia R, Dinan M, McBroom AJ, Hasselblad V, Sanders GD, Myers ER. Oral contraceptives and risk of ovarian cancer and breast cancer among high-risk women: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:4188–98.
- 44. Soini T, Hurskainen R, Grénman S, Mäenpää J, Paavonen J, Pukkala E. Impact of levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system use on the cancer risk of the ovary and fallopian tube. Acta Oncol. 2016;55:1281–4.
- 45. Yang HP, Anderson WF, Rosenberg PS, et al. Ovarian cancer incidence trends in relation to changing patterns of menopausal hormone therapy use in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2146–51.
- 46. Collaborative Group On Epidemiological Studies Of Ovarian Cancer, Beral V, Gaitskell K, Hermon C, Moser K, Reeves G, Peto R. Menopausal hormone use and ovarian cancer risk: individual participant meta-analysis of 52 epidemiological studies. Lancet. 2015;385:1835–42.
- Pérez-López FR, Rees M. Menopausal hormone therapy and ovarian cancer: putting risk into perspective. Maturitas. 2015;81:3–4.

- Holm M, Olsen A, Kyrø C, Overvad K, Kroman N, Tjønneland A. The influence of menopausal hormone therapy and potential lifestyle interactions in female cancer development—a population-based prospective study. Horm Cancer. 2018;9:254–64.
- Koskela-Niska V, Pukkala E, Lyytinen H, Ylikorkala O, Dyba T. Effect of various forms of postmenopausal hormone therapy on the risk of ovarian cancer—a population-based case control study from Finland. Int J Cancer. 2013;133:1680–8.
- Koskela-Niska V, Pukkala E, Lyytinen H, Ylikorkala O, Dyba T. Postmenopausal hormone therapy-also use of estradiol plus levonorgestrel-intrauterine system is associated with an increased risk of primary fallopian tube carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2015;137:1947–52.
- Jensen A, Sharif H, Frederiksen K, Kjaer SK. Use of fertility drugs and risk of ovarian cancer: Danish Population Based Cohort Study. BMJ. 2009;338:b249.
- 52. Williams CL, Jones ME, Swerdlow AJ, Botting BJ, Davies MC, Jacobs I, Bunch KJ, Murphy MFG, Sutcliffe AG. Risks of ovarian, breast, and corpus uteri cancer in women treated with assisted reproductive technology in Great Britain, 1991-2010: data linkage study including 2.2 million person years of observation. BMJ. 2018;362:k2644.
- Office for National Statistics. Cancer Registrations, 1971 to 2011. 2014. http://www.ons.gov. uk/ons/rel/vsob1/cancer-statistics-registrations-england-series-mb1-/no-43-2012/stb-cancerregistrations-2012.html#tab-Cancer-registrations-1971-to-2011. Accessed 3 Sep 2018.
- Rice MS, Murphy MA, Tworoger SS. Tubal ligation, hysterectomy and ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. J Ovarian Res. 2012;5:13.
- Rice MS, Hankinson SE, Tworoger SS. Tubal ligation, hysterectomy, unilateral oophorectomy, and risk of ovarian cancer in the Nurses' Health Studies. Fertil Steril. 2014;102:192–8.e3.
- Sieh W, Salvador S, McGuire V, Weber RP, Terry KL, Rossing MA, Risch H, et al. Tubal ligation and risk of ovarian cancer subtypes: a pooled analysis of case-control studies. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42:579–89.
- Madsen C, Baandrup L, Dehlendorff C, Kjaer SK. Tubal ligation and salpingectomy and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer and borderline ovarian tumors: a nationwide case-control study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94:86–94.
- 58. Gaitskell K, Green J, Pirie K, Reeves G, Beral V, on behalf of the Million Women Study Collaborators. Tubal ligation and ovarian cancer risk in a large cohort: substantial variation by histological type. Int J Cancer. 2016;138:1076–84.
- Falconer H, Yin L, Grönberg H, Altman D. Ovarian cancer risk after salpingectomy: a nationwide population-based study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107:dju410.
- Yoon SH, Kim SN, Shim SH, Kang SB, Lee SJ. Bilateral salpingectomy can reduce the risk of ovarian cancer in the general population: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2016;55:38–46.
- 61. Anderson M. Prophylactic salpingectomy with delayed oophorectomy, risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy, and ovarian cancer screening among BRCA mutation carriers: a proof-of-concept study (M.D. Anderson study #2013-0340). https://www.mdanderson.org/ patients-family/diagnosis-treatment/clinical-trials/clinical-trials-index/clinical-trials-detail. ID2013-0340.html. Accessed 15 Sep 2018.
- 62. Chene G, Meysonnier C, Buenerd A, Moret S, Nadaud B, Beaufils E, Le Bail-Carval K, Chabert P, Mellier G, Lamblin G. Feasibility of opportunistic salpingectomy at the time of vaginal hysterectomy for benign pathology and evaluation of occult tubal lesions prevalence: preliminary study. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). 2016;45:549–58.
- Antosh DD, High R, Brown HW, Oliphant SS, Abed H, Philip N, Grimes CL. Feasibility of prophylactic salpingectomy during vaginal hysterectomy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217:605.e1–5.
- 64. Giraudet G, Rubod C, Collinet P, Cosson M. Salpingectomy during vaginal hysterectomy: a surgical technique to make it easier. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;132:271–3.
- 65. Subramaniam A, Blanchard CT, Erickson BK, Szychowski J, Leath CA, Biggio JR, Huh WK. Feasibility of complete salpingectomy compared with standard postpartum tubal ligation at cesarean delivery: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;132:20–7.
- 66. Hanley GE, Kwon JS, Finlayson SJ, Huntsman DG, Miller D, McAlpine JN. Extending the safety evidence for opportunistic salpingectomy in prevention of ovarian cancer: a cohort study from British Columbia, Canada. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2018;219:172.e1–8.

- 67. Ayres C, Ratnayake G, McNally O, Quinn M. Challenging salpingectomy as a risk-reducing measure for ovarian cancer: histopathological analysis of the tubo-ovarian Interface in women undergoing risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27:703–7.
- Yang TO, Reeves GK, Green J, Beral V, Cairns BJ, Million Women Study Collaborators; Million Women Study Collaborators. Birth weight and adult cancer incidence: large prospective study and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:1836–43.
- 69. Baer HJ, Hankinson SE, Tworoger SS. Body size in early life and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: results from the Nurses' health studies. Br J Cancer. 2008;99:1916–22.
- Lahmann PH, Cust AE, Friedenreich CM, Schulz M, Lukanova A, Kaaks R, et al. Anthropometric measures and epithelial ovarian cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 2010;126:2404–15.
- Kotsopoulos J, Baer HJ, Tworoger SS. Anthropometric measures and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: results from the Nurses' Health Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010;18:1625–31.
- 72. Zhou Y, Chlebowski R, LaMonte MJ, Bea JW, Qi L, Wallace R, Lavasani S, Walsh BW, Anderson G, Vitolins M, Sarto G, Irwin ML. Body mass index, physical activity, and mortality in women diagnosed with ovarian cancer: results from the Women's Health Initiative. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;133:4–10.
- 73. Bandera EV, Qin B, Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Bondy M, Cote ML, Funkhouser E, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry P, Schildkraut JM. Obesity, weight gain, and ovarian cancer risk in African American women. Int J Cancer. 2016;139:593–600.
- 74. Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian Cancer. Ovarian cancer and body size: individual participant meta-analysis including 25,157 women with ovarian cancer from 47 epidemiological studies. PLoS Med. 2012;9:e1001200.
- Aune D, Navarro Rosenblatt DA, Chan DS, Abar L, Vingeliene S, Vieira AR, Greenwood DC, Norat T. Anthropometric factors and ovarian cancer risk: a systematic review and nonlinear dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:1888–98.
- Olsen CM, Nagle CM, Whiteman DC, Ness R, Pearce CL, Pike MC, et al. Obesity and risk of ovarian cancer subtypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2013;20:251–62.
- 77. Keum N, Greenwood DC, Lee DH, Kim R, Aune D, Ju W, Hu FB, Giovannucci EL. Adult weight gain and adiposity-related cancers: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107:djv088.
- Schouten LJ, Rivera C, Hunter DJ, Spiegelman D, Adami HO, Arslan A, et al. Height, body mass index, and ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of 12 cohort studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2008;17:902–12.
- Gianuzzi X, Palma-Ardiles G, Hernández-Fernández W, Pasupuleti V, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR. Insulin growth factor (IGF) 1, IGF-binding proteins and ovarian cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2016;94:22–9.
- Wang C, Liang Z, Liu X, Zhang Q, Li S. The Association between endometriosis, tubal ligation, hysterectomy and epithelial ovarian cancer: meta-analyses. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2016;13:E1138.
- Casaburi I, Puoci F, Chimento A, Sirianni R, Ruggiero C, Avena P, Pezzi V. Potential of olive oil phenols as chemopreventive and therapeutic agents against cancer: a review of in vitro studies. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2013;57:71–83.
- Sáez-López C, Soriguer F, Hernández C, Rojo-Martínez G, Rubio-Martín E, Simó R, Selva DM. Oleic acid increases hepatic sex hormone binding globulin production in men. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014;58:760–7.
- Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of cancer: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Cancer Med. 2015;4:1933–47.
- Peres LC, Bandera EV, Qin B, Guertin KA, Shivappa N, Hebert JR, Abbott SE, Alberg AJ, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Bondy M, et al. Dietary inflammatory index and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in African American women. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:535–43.

- Prentice RL, Thomson CA, Caan B, et al. Low-fat dietary pattern and cancer incidence in the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Randomized Controlled Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007;99:1534–43.
- 86. Zeng ST, Guo L, Liu SK, Wang DH, Xi J, Huang P, Liu DT, Gao JF, Feng J, Zhang L. Egg consumption is associated with increased risk of ovarian cancer: evidence from a meta-analysis of observational studies. Clin Nutr. 2015;34:635–41.
- Ong JS, Cuellar-Partida G, Lu Y, Australian Ovarian Cancer Study, Fasching PA, Hein A, Burghaus S, Beckmann MW, Lambrechts D, et al. Association of vitamin D levels and risk of ovarian cancer: a Mendelian randomization study. Int J Epidemiol. 2016;45:1619–30.
- Obón-Santacana M, Peeters PH, Freisling H, Dossus L, Clavel-Chapelon F, Baglietto L, et al. Dietary intake of acrylamide and epithelial ovarian cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Cohort. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2015;24:291–7.
- Kotemori A, Ishihara J, Zha L, Liu R, Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Sobue T, Tsugane S, JPHC Study Group. Dietary acrylamide intake and the risk of endometrial or ovarian cancers among Japanese women. Cancer Sci. 2018;109:3316–25.
- Hildebrand JS, Gapstur SM, Gaudet MM, Campbell PT, Patel AV. Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and leisure-time sitting in relation to ovarian cancer risk in a large prospective US cohort. Cancer Causes Control. 2015;26:1691–7.
- Cannioto RA, Moysich KB. Epithelial ovarian cancer and recreational physical activity: a review of the epidemiological literature and implications for exercise prescription. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137:559–73.
- 92. Cannioto R, LaMonte MJ, Risch HA, Hong CC, Sucheston-Campbell LE, Eng KH, et al. Chronic recreational physical inactivity and epithelial ovarian cancer risk: evidence from the ovarian cancer association consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2016;25:1114–24.
- Huang T, Eliassen AH, Hankinson SE, Okereke OI, Kubzansky LD, Wang M, Poole EM, Chavarro JE, Tworoger SS. A prospective study of leisure-time physical activity and risk of incident epithelial ovarian cancer: impact by menopausal status. Int J Cancer. 2016;138:843–52.
- 94. Terry KL, Karageorgi S, Shvetsov YB, Merritt MA, Lurie G, Thompson PJ, Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium, et al. Genital powder use and risk of ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of 8,525 cases and 9,859 controls. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2013;6:811–21.
- 95. Schildkraut JM, Abbott SE, Alberg AJ, Bandera EV, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Bondy ML, Cote ML, Funkhouser E, Peres LC, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry P, Crankshaw S, Camacho F, Wang F, Moorman PG. Association between body powder use and ovarian cancer: the African American Cancer Epidemiology Study (AACES). Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2016;25:1411–7.
- Penninkilampi R, Eslick GD. Perineal talc use and ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Epidemiology. 2018;29:41–9.
- Gonzalez NL, O'Brien KM, D'Aloisio AA, Sandler DP, Weinberg CR. Douching, talc use, and risk of ovarian cancer. Epidemiology. 2016;27:797–802.
- 98. Rota M, Pasquali E, Scotti L, Pelucchi C, Tramacere I, Islami F, Negri E, Boffetta P, Bellocco R, Corrao G, La Vecchia C, Bagnardi V. Alcohol drinking and epithelial ovarian cancer risk. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;125:758–63.
- 99. Kelemen LE, Bandera EV, Terry KL, Rossing MA, Brinton LA, Doherty JA, Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group and Australian Cancer Study (Ovarian Cancer); Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. Recent alcohol consumption and risk of incident ovarian carcinoma: a pooled analysis of 5,342 cases and 10,358 controls from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. BMC Cancer. 2013;13:28.
- 100. Yan-Hong H, Jing L, Hong L, Shan-Shan H, Yan L, Ju L. Association between alcohol consumption and the risk of ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:223.
- 101. Cook LS, Leung AC, Swenerton K, Gallagher RP, Magliocco A, Steed H, Koebel M, Nation J, Eshragh S, Brooks-Wilson A, Le ND. Adult lifetime alcohol consumption and invasive

epithelial ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140:277-84.

- 102. Braem MG, Onland-Moret NC, Schouten LJ, Tjønneland A, Hansen L, Dahm CC, et al. Coffee and tea consumption and the risk of ovarian cancer: a prospective cohort study and updated meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95:1172–81.
- Cassidy A, Huang T, Rice MS, Rimm EB, Tworoger SS. Intake of dietary flavonoids and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;100:1344–51.
- 104. Gosvig CF, Kjaer SK, Blaakær J, Høgdall E, Høgdall C, Jensen A. Coffee, tea, and caffeine consumption and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer and borderline ovarian tumors: results from a Danish case-control study. Acta Oncol. 2015;54:1144–51.
- 105. Arthur R, Kirsh VA, Rohan TE. Associations of coffee, tea and caffeine intake with risk of breast, endometrial and ovarian cancer among Canadian women. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;56:75–82.
- Marchbanks PA, Wilson H, Bastos E, et al. Cigarette smoking and epithelial ovarian cancer by histologic type. Obstet Gynecol. 2000;95:255–60.
- 107. Gram IT, Braaten T, Adami HO, Lund E, Weiderpass E. Cigarette smoking and risk of borderline and invasive epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2008;122:647–52.
- Licaj I, Jacobsen BK, Selmer RM, Maskarinec G, Weiderpass E, Gram IT. Smoking and risk of ovarian cancer by histological subtypes: an analysis among 300 000 Norwegian women. Br J Cancer. 2017;116:270–6.
- 109. Kelemen LE, Abbott S, Qin B, Peres LC, Moorman PG, Wallace K, Bandera EV, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Bondy M, Cartmell K, Cote ML, Funkhouser E, Paddock LE, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry P, Alberg AJ, Schildkraut JM. Cigarette smoking and the association with serous ovarian cancer in African American women: African American Cancer Epidemiology Study(AACES). Cancer Causes Control. 2017;28:699–708.
- 110. Trabert B, Ness RB, Lo-Ciganic W-H, et al. Aspirin, nonaspirin nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and acetaminophen use and risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis in the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106:djt431.
- 111. Trabert B, Poole EM, White E, Visvanathan K, Adami HO, Anderson GL, Brasky TM, Brinton LA, Fortner RT, Gaudet M, Hartge P, Hoffman-Bolton J, Jones M, Lacey JV Jr, Larsson SC, Mackenzie GG, Schouten LJ, Sandler DP, O'Brien K, Patel AV, Peters U, Prizment A, Robien K, Setiawan WV, Swerdlow A, van den Brandt PA, Weiderpass E, Wilkens LR, Wolk A, Wentzensen N, Tworoger SS, Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium (OC3). Analgesic use and ovarian cancer risk: an analysis in the Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2019;111:137–45.
- 112. Baandrup L, Kjaer SK, Olsen JH, Dehlendorff C, Friis S. Low-dose aspirin use and the risk of ovarian cancer in Denmark. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:787–92.
- 113. Peres LC, Camacho F, Abbott SE, Alberg AJ, Bandera EV, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Bondy M, Cote ML, Crankshaw S, Funkhouser E, Moorman PG, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry P, Wang F, Schildkraut JM. Analgesic medication use and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in African American women. Br J Cancer. 2016;114:819–25.
- 114. Peres LC, Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, Bandera EV, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Bondy M, Cote ML, Funkhouser E, Peters ES, Schwartz AG, Terry PD, Abbott SE, Camacho F, Wang F, Schildkraut JM. Lifetime number of ovulatory cycles and epithelial ovarian cancer risk in African American women. Cancer Causes Control. 2017;28:405–14.
- 115. Merritt MA, Rice MS, Barnard ME, Hankinson SE, Matulonis UA, Poole EM, Tworoger SS. Pre-diagnosis and post-diagnosis use of common analgesics and ovarian cancer prognosis (NHS/NHSII): a cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19:1107–16.
- 116. Le ND, Leung A, Brooks-Wilson A, Gallagher RP, Swenerton KD, Demers PA, Cook LS. Occupational exposure and ovarian cancer risk. Cancer Causes Control. 2014;25:829–41.
- 117. Tran B, Jordan SJ, Lucas R, Webb PM, Neale R, Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group. Association between ambient ultraviolet radiation and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2012;5:1330–6.

- 118. Riska A, Martinsen JI, Kjaerheim K, Lynge E, Sparen P, Tryggvadottir L, Weiderpass E, Pukkala E. Occupation and risk of primary fallopian tube carcinoma in Nordic countries. Int J Cancer. 2012;131:186–92.
- 119. Kobayashi H, Sumimoto K, Moniwa N, Imai M, Takakura K, Kuromaki T, Morioka E, Arisawa K, Terao T. Risk of developing ovarian cancer among women with ovarian endometrioma: a cohort study in Shizuoka. Jpn Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2007;17:37–43.
- 120. Pearce CL, Templeman C, Rossing MA, Lee A, Near AM, Webb PM, Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium, et al. Association between endometriosis and risk of histological subtypes of ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of case-control studies. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:385–94.
- 121. Lu Y, Cuellar-Partida G, Painter JN, Nyholt DR, Australian Ovarian Cancer Study; International Endogene Consortium (IEC), Morris AP, Fasching PA, Hein A, Burghaus S, Beckmann MW, Lambrechts D, Van Nieuwenhuysen E, Vergote I, Vanderstichele A, Doherty JA, Rossing MA, Wicklund KG, Chang-Claude J, Eilber U, et al. Shared genetics underlying epidemiological association between endometriosis and ovarian cancer. Hum Mol Genet. 2015;24:5955–64.
- 122. He J, Chang W, Feng C, Cui M, Xu T. Endometriosis malignant transformation: epigenetics as a probable mechanism in ovarian tumorigenesis. Int J Genomics. 2018;2018:1465348.
- 123. Parazzini F, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Moroni S, dal Pino D, Fedele L. Pelvic inflammatory disease and risk of ovarian cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 1996;5:667–9.
- 124. Rasmussen CB, Jensen A, Albieri V, Andersen KK, Kjaer SK. Is pelvic inflammatory disease a risk factor for ovarian cancer? Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2017;26:104–9.
- 125. Rasmussen CB, Kjaer SK, Albieri V, Bandera EV, Doherty JA, Høgdall E, et al. Pelvic inflammatory disease and the risk of ovarian cancer and borderline ovarian tumors: a pooled analysis of 13 case-control studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2017;185:8–20.
- Harris HR, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Long and irregular menstrual cycles, polycystic ovary syndrome, and ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:285–91.
- 127. Harris HR, Babic A, Webb PM, Nagle CM, Jordan SJ, Risch HA, Rossing MA, Doherty JA, Goodman MT, Modugno F, Ness RB, Moysich KB, Kjær SK, Høgdall E, Jensen A, Schildkraut JM, Berchuck A, Cramer DW, Bandera EV, Wentzensen N, Kotsopoulos J, Narod SA, Phelan CM, McLaughlin JR, Anton-Culver H, Ziogas A, Pearce CL, Wu AH, Terry KL, Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium; Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group. Polycystic ovary syndrome, oligomenorrhea, and risk of ovarian cancer histotypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2018;27:174–82.
- 128. Barry JA, Azizia MM, Hardiman PJ. Risk of endometrial, ovarian and breast cancer in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2014;20:748–58.
- 129. Chen RF, Li J, Zhu TT, Yu HL, Lu X. Fertility-sparing surgery for young patients with borderline ovarian tumors (BOTs): single institution experience. J Ovarian Res. 2016;9:16.
- Vancraeynest E, Moerman P, Leunen K, Amant F, Neven P, Vergote I. Fertility preservation is safe for serous borderline ovarian tumors. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2016;26:1399–406.
- 131. Trillsch F, Mahner S, Woelber L, et al. Age-dependent differences in borderline ovarian tumours (BOT) regarding clinical characteristics and outcome: results from a subanalysis of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynaekologische Onkologie (AGO) ROBOT Study. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:1320–7.
- 132. Uzan C, Muller E, Kane A, Rey A, Gouy S, Bendiffallah S, Duvillard P, Fauvet R, Darai E, Morice P. Prognostic factors for recurrence after conservative treatment in a series of 119 patients with stage I serous borderline tumors of the ovary. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:166–71.
- 133. Liao Z, Rodrigues MC, Poynter JN, Amatruda JF, Rodriguez-Galindo C, Frazier AL. Risk of second malignant neoplasms in women and girls with germ cell tumors. Ann Oncol. 2017;28:329–32.

# Check for updates

6

# **Vulvar Dermatoses and Menopause**

# Joana Lyra and Pedro Vieira-Baptista

# 6.1 Introduction

Vulvar dermatoses are inflammatory conditions, frequently associated with itching and burning. Concomitant extragenital involvement may also be present in some cases. The diagnosis is usually clinical. Occasionally, there can be superimposed or associated conditions, such as lichen simplex chronicus and lichen sclerosus, which can add to the diagnostic challenge [1].

Vulvovaginal symptoms such as pruritus, pain, and dyspareunia are a common cause for gynaecological referral. They are estimated to affect, approximately, one in five women [2]. Considering that these symptoms are often chronic, with a gradual onset and persistence over time, one must always consider the presence of dermatologic conditions as a cause. The initial approach to these complains should always include a systematic physical examination and an inquiry about symptoms onset, duration, location, aggravating and alleviating factors, as well as possible precipitating or known risk factors [3]. Although the diagnosis may be complex, mainly when different conditions coexist, a systematic evaluation of the symptoms may simplify this process. The challenge of diagnosis in postmenopausal women is aggravated, as the signs and symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy can overlap with those of a dermatosis—and both situations often coexist. More recently, the creation of the "genitourinary syndrome of menopause" increased the risk that vulvar diseases will be missed or ignored and thus not receive appropriate management [4].

Vulvar dermatoses can be subdivided in nonscarring, e.g. atopic and contact dermatitis and lichen simplex chronicus, and scarring dermatosis, e.g. lichen sclerosus

P. Vieira-Baptista Hospital Lusíadas Porto, Porto, Portugal

Lower Genital Tract Unit, Centro Hospitalar de São João, Porto, Portugal

J. Lyra (🖂)

Gynaecology and Obstetrics Department, Centro Hospitalar de São João, Porto, Portugal

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_6
and lichen planus. The International Society for the Study of Vulvovaginal Diseases (ISSVD), in 2006, divided vulvar dermatoses into eight different histological patterns: spongiotic, acanthotic, lichenoid, dermal homogenization/sclerosis, vesiculobullous, acantholytic, granulomatous, and vasculitic [5]. This classification was aimed at being clinically practical and transversal to all medical specialities working in the field. When the clinician is able to directly make a diagnosis, there is no need to resort to the classification. When that is not the case, a biopsy can be taken, and two new scenarios arise: either the pathologist provides a diagnosis or he is unable to do so and categorizes it into one of those patterns. In the latter case, the clinician evaluates again the clinical aspects inside that pattern and may reach a diagnosis [6].

In 2011, a new ISSVD terminology was approved, based on clinical findings (colour, type of dermatological lesion [pustules, patches, ulcers, etc.], surface, margination, and configuration). This approach leads to eight morphological groups (skin-coloured lesions, red lesions [patches and plaques], red lesions [papules and nodules], white lesions, dark-coloured lesions, blister, erosions and ulcers, and oedema), narrowing the diagnostic options [7]. In our opinion, both documents are useful and complimentary in daily clinical practice.

In this chapter, the most common vulvar dermatoses (Table 6.1) encountered in postmenopausal women will be discussed, including lichen simplex chronicus, lichen sclerosus, lichen planus, psoriasis, and atopic and contact dermatitis.

## 6.2 Vulvar Dermatoses

#### 6.2.1 Lichen Simplex Chronicus

Lichen simplex chronicus (LSC) is a nonscarring, chronic inflammatory skin disorder, representing the most common symptomatic vulvar condition. It is considered a localized variant of atopic dermatitis, and in 65–75% of patients, a history of an allergic condition can be identified [3]. LSC accounts for up to 35% of patients' visits to vulvar specialty clinics, but its prevalence remains unknown. It can be found at any age, but it is typically more common in mid- to late adult life [8].

The cardinal symptom is intense pruritus, worsening during the night and that may disturb sleep [1]. It can first be triggered by a wide variety of initiating processes that cause skin irritation, such as environmental factors (e.g., clothing, chemical, heat, perspiration), infections (e.g. candidosis), and other vulvar dermatoses (e.g. lichen sclerosus), as well as neurological and psychiatric disorders that promote repetitive scratching. In any case, an itch-scratch cycle is promoted which leads to skin thickening and additional irritation. Besides pruritus, women usually complain about pain associated with the excoriations from the scratching process [3]. Scratching is described as relieving or even pleasuring—but inevitably followed by worsening.

On physical examination we can observe (Fig. 6.1) erythematous or white lichenified plaques with irregular borders, with or without excoriations, that

	Treatment	<ol> <li>Avoidance of irritants, barrier protection</li> <li>High potency topical corticosteroids</li> <li>Antihistamines, tricyclic antidepressants, or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors</li> <li>Calcineurin inhibitors</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Avoidance of irritants, barrier protection</li> <li>High potency topical corticosteroids</li> <li>Calcineurin inhibitors</li> <li>Antihistamines, tricyclic antidepressants</li> <li>Systemic treatments: steroids + methotrexate, retinoids methotrexate alone and cyclosporine</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High potency topical corticosteroids</li> <li>Calcineurin inhibitors, systemic steroids, immunomodulators, methotrexate, and retinoids</li> </ol>
	Histopathologic pattern (ISSVD 2006)	Acanthotic pattern	Lichenoid pattern Dermal homogenization/ sclerosis pattern	Lichenoid pattern
Includance	Lesion characteristics	Erythematous or white lichenified plaques and/or excoriations in labia majora Hypopigmented areas that can become hyperpigmented	Reddish papules/ivory patches, hyperkeratosis Fissures, erosions, ulcerations, oedema, hypo-/hyperpigmentation "Figure of 8" or "key hole sign" Introital stenosis, phimosis, fusion and resorption of the labia minora	White, reticulate, lacy, or fernlike striae (Wickham striae) adjacent to erythematous epithelium Pruritic, purple, shiny papules Vaginal involvement Synechiae, obliteration of the vagina
	Presentation	Intense pruritus, worsening during the night, pain Sometimes asymmetrical	Pruritus and/or burning in the vulvar and perianal area Pain, soreness, dyspareunia, and dysuria	Dyspareunia, burning, vaginal discharge, and postcoital bleeding
Idule VII CULIPA		Lichen simplex chronicus	Lichen sclerosus	Lichen planus

 Table 6.1
 Comparison of vulvar dermatosis in menopause

	reu)			
	Presentation	Lesion characteristics	Histopathologic pattern (ISSVD 2006)	Treatment
Psoriasis	Chronic pruritus Usually there are typical lesion in other anatomical areas	Bright red, sharply demarcated lesions Silver scales are often absent and can only be apparent in the mons pubis	Acanthotic pattern	<ol> <li>Low and medium potency topical steroids</li> <li>Emollients, topical vitamin D analogues, and calcineurin inhibitors</li> </ol>
Atopic and contact dermatitis	Acute or chronic pruritus	Acute eczema: erythema, oedema, vesicles/papules Chronic eczema: excoriations and dry scaly lichenification of the vulva	Spongiotic pattern	Elimination of irritants and/or allergens
Vulvovaginal atrophy	Dryness, irritation, dyspareunia, dysuria, and vaginal discharge	Loss of vaginal rugae, shortened vaginal length and width Increases the laxity of the introitus, reduction in the width of labia minora, preserving its length	I	<ol> <li>Avoidance of contact irritants</li> <li>Vaginal moisturizers and low-dose vaginal oestrogen preparations</li> </ol>

Table 6.1 (continued)





commonly involve the labia majora and are mostly asymmetric (usually more pronounced on the dominant side) (Fig. 6.2). It can also present as hypopigmented areas that can later may become hyperpigmented, as consequence of the inflammatory process in long-standing disease. The diagnosis is based on clinical presentation, leaving the biopsy for exceptional cases. Because LSC can disrupt the normal skin barrier, there may be superimposed infections, namely, fungal.

The treatment should involve a multitargeted approach with removal of irritating factors, repair of the skin's barrier function, reduction of inflammation, and disruption of the itch-scratch cycle [1]. Concerning genital hygiene, avoidance of irritants and use of barrier protection (e.g. zinc oxide ointment) should be advised. Considering pharmacological options, moderate to high potency topical corticosteroids in an ointment base are the cornerstone of the treatment, such as clobetasol propionate (applied daily while the symptoms are intense and then for 1 more month). In severe cases the use of calcineurin inhibitors can be considered. For disruption of the itch-scratch cycle and to improve sleep quality, a combination of antihistamines (hydroxyzine), tricyclic antidepressants (amitriptyline), or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (fluoxetine, paroxetine) can be used.

As this may be a recurrent disease, maintained treatment may be needed in some cases. Eviction of triggers is of utmost importance to avoid recurrences.



**Fig. 6.2** Lichen simplex chronicus, predominantly on the left side

## 6.2.2 Lichen Sclerosus

Lichen sclerosus (LS) is a chronic inflammatory disease that affects the genital and perianal areas. Extragenital lesions can be found in about 11-20% of patients (mainly in the chest, upper back, arms, neck, and buttocks) [9]. The true prevalence of LS remains unknown, but recent data showed that it is more common than previously described, with a prevalence of 1:60 [10], and when considering older populations, it can be as high as 1:30 [11]. It can be seen at any age, but usually the distribution of prevalence has two peaks: one prepubertal (7–15% of all cases) and the other at the fifth and sixth decades of life, comprising the majority of cases [12].

While there are several risk factors and conditions known to be linked to LS, its aetiology is still not completely understood [1]. Its association with autoimmunity is well recognized, particularly with thyroid disease (until 30%), but also other disorders,

such as alopecia areata, pernicious anaemia, morphea, vitiligo, diabetes mellitus, inflammatory bowel disease, celiac disease, and psoriasis. Autoantibodies are frequently positive—extracellular matrix 1 protein, anti-basement membrane, and antithyroid antibodies. There is also a genetic association, with a positive familial history in 17% of cases. The hormonal milieu has also been implicated, with hypoestrogenism and a diminished number of androgenic receptors considered to be possible contributing factors—however, lack of response to hormonal treatments (such as oral contraceptives and menopausal hormone therapy) gives no consistency to this theory [13]. The presence of traumatic lesions induced by burning, friction, and scars is a frequent target to the appearance of LS lesions—Köbner or isomorphic phenomenon [12].

The most common symptomatology is vulvar pruritus and/or burning sensation in the vulvar and perianal area, worsening at night time. Some women also refer pain, soreness, dyspareunia, and dysuria. They may present scratching habits, but they do not refer relief with it, contrary to what happens in LSC. They can, however, develop LSC secondary to the repetitive scratching. It is important to recognize that at least 15–40% of the women are asymptomatic [10, 14].

Physical examination may reveal reddish papules or ivory patches, with hyperkeratosis that can coalesce and form plaques, usually symmetrical. It is also common to find fissures, petechiae, purpura, erosions, ulcerations, oedema, hypo- and hyperpigmentation, and "cigarette paper wrinkling" aspect of the skin (Fig. 6.3).



**Fig. 6.3** Lichen sclerosus. Atrophy of the labia minora, phimosis, cigarette paper wrinkling, and hypopigmentation

The lesions are typically confined to hairless vulvar areas (inner portion of labia majora, labia minora, vestibule, clitoral hood) and frequently (30%) perianal area. When there is simultaneous involvement of vulva and perianal area, a "figure of 8" or "key hole sign" is the characteristic observed feature (Fig. 6.4). In cases of long-standing disease, radical anatomical changes can occur, such as introital stenosis, phimosis, fusion (Fig. 6.5), and resorption of the labia minora, with both a reduction in width and length (in senile atrophy of the labia minora, usually the length is preserved), and all these alterations can be asymmetrical. Vaginal involvement is exceptional and seems to be associated with vaginal walls prolapse (Fig. 6.6) [15].

Sexual dysfunction is common among women with LS. Dyspareunia and symptoms derived from distortion of the vulvar anatomy are frequently referred. The phimosis and consequent burying of the clitoris can lead to the formation of smegmatic pseudocysts that can become enlarged, painful, and infected. Also, the formation of synechiae over the urethral meatus or the fusion of labia minora can cause urinary stream alterations and recurrent urinary tract infections (Fig. 6.5).

The most fearful complication of LS is vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN) and vulvar cancer. Although LS is not considered a premalignant condition, it has

**Fig. 6.4** Lichen sclerosus. "Figure of 8" or "key hole sign"



**Fig. 6.5** Lichen sclerosus. Almost complete fusion of the labia minora



been associated with an increased risk of keratinized vulvar squamous cell carcinoma (2.6-6.7%) [12, 16]. The truly premalignant lesion associated with LS is VIN, differentiated type (dVIN). It is much rarer (2-10%) [17] than the HPV-associated vulvar high-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia (HSIL), but it is responsible for the majority of vulvar cancers. Those are indolent lesions, with a 10-year risk of progression estimated in 18% [12].

The diagnosis of LS is clinical. While some authors recommend routine biopsy in all cases, most disagree and recommend it only in cases of treatment failure, when second-line therapy is needed, or to exclude dVIN or cancer. Suspicious lesions that should prompt a biopsy are erosions/ulcers, hyperkeratosis, or pigmented areas. It is important to note that biopsy does not guarantee a final diagnosis of LS, especially in patients already under steroid treatment. Of note, the same area or lesion may have to be biopsied along the time, if suspicion persists [12].



**Fig. 6.6** Lichen sclerosus. Unusual case of LS with involvement of the anterior vaginal wall

As part of the autoimmune diseases workout, we recommend routine testing of thyroid function, including T4, TSH, and thyroid antibodies [12].

The treatment aims to control the symptoms, prevent anatomical distortion, and diminish the risk of malignancy. In about one-fifth of the cases, total remission can be observed [18]. Women compliant to the prescribed treatments are less likely to develop vulvar cancer, reinforcing the importance of treating even asymptomatic women and leading to the discussion on the need of maintenance therapy in asymptomatic women [1, 18, 19].

- 1. General care: it is essential to break the itch-scratch cycle to minimize all possible trauma to the genital area. As so, it is important to advise against multiple washing and use of irritating products (soaps) and to avoid factors that can worsen the symptoms (urinary incontinence, menstruation).
- 2. Topical treatments: ultra-potent topical steroids are the mainstay of the treatment for LS. Clobetasol propionate (CP) ointment 0.05% is the most used one, and its efficacy is due to anti-inflammatory, vasoconstrictor, and antipruritic proprieties. The authors advocate a scheme of application of CP once a day for 4 weeks, followed by once every other day for another 4 weeks, and finally twice a week for another 4 weeks, completing 3 months of initial treatment. Afterwards, it should

be used the lowest dose possible for symptomatic control (application 2–3 times a week), with a maximum dosage of 60–120 g/year. Everyday schemes for more than 3–4 weeks are not advised, not only because of the risk of complications but also due to that of tachyphylaxis [20]. As second-line topical treatment—when topical steroids are not well tolerated or there is no response—calcineurin inhibitors can be considered, starting by applying one to two times daily and then reducing the frequency for long-term maintenance. Those are immunomodulators agents that block the release of inflammatory cytokines from T lymphocytes and are efficient in controlling the signs and symptoms of the disease. Moreover, CP is faster in controlling the symptoms and is associated with higher likelihood of achieving complete remission [21].

- 3. Systemic treatments: reserved for severe LS, nonresponsive to topical treatments. Options include a combination of steroids plus methotrexate, retinoids (acitretin, isotretinoin, or etretinate), methotrexate alone, and cyclosporine. In any case, before initiating one of these options, it is mandatory to have a histological diagnosis. Oral tricyclic antidepressants (amitriptyline, 10 mg), antihistaminic drugs, or local anaesthetics may be used to control the symptoms.
- 4. Surgical treatment: it should be reserved for the treatment of complications, such as urinary obstruction, introital stenosis, synechiae causing symptoms, and symptomatic smegmatic pseudocysts, or treatment of premalignant or malignant lesions. It is important to note that disease tends to relapse in scars and even in grafted tissue [12].

A close follow-up is necessary, with the first visit after beginning the treatment no later than 3 months and the following one no longer than 6 months. The goal of treatment should be controlling the symptoms and normalization of skin colour and texture [22]. There is a risk of vulvar cancer throughout the woman's life, which signifies that the follow-up must be kept indefinitely, independently of being symptomatic or not—at least every 6–12 months.

Recently, there have been some papers suggesting the use of adipose-derived stem cells and platelet-rich plasma and even LASER for the treatment of LS. Up to now, the available evidence does not sustain those claims, and development of LS has even been associated with Nd:YAG LASER therapy for hair removal [23, 24]. In our opinion, and in line with the ISSVD and International Continence Society position, these treatments should be avoided and only used in the context of clinical trials [25].

#### 6.2.3 Lichen Planus

Lichen planus (LP) is an inflammatory disorder that affects mucocutaneous tissues. Vaginal involvement is common, as well as that of other non-genital regions, including the oral mucosa (Fig. 6.7), skin, nails, oesophagus, and conjunctiva. Among women with oral disease, up to 75% have genital involvement [26]. Vulvovaginal LP can be divided in three forms: erosive LP, papulosquamous LP, and hypertrophic LP. Erosive LP is the most common variant that affects the vulva. The prevalence of



**Fig. 6.7** Lichen planus. Oral involvement in a woman who also has vulvar LP

LP is estimated to be of 0.5–3.7% [27], and it mostly affects women between 30 and 60 years old.

LP is considered an autoimmune disease with a T-cell-mediated pathogenesis, and the interaction with some exogenous factors (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory and antihypertensive drugs and, in oral LP, hepatitis C virus [28]) may also play a role. However, the exact aetiology remains unclear, and despite the associations described, recommendations for screening are lacking in asymptomatic women [1].

The symptoms are similar to those described for LS, namely, dyspareunia and burning. Vaginal discharge and postcoital bleeding are also common complains. On physical examination, the presence of white, reticulate, lacy, or fernlike striae (Wickham striae) adjacent to erythematous epithelium is typical, and they often affect the medial aspect of the labia minora and the vulvar vestibule (Figs. 6.8 and 6.9) [29]. Also, the presence of pruritic, purple, shiny papules may be seen, but they are dusky pink in colour, without an apparent scale and less well demarcated than on other areas of the body. Contrary to LS, vaginal involvement is frequent, and the epithelium can have an erythematous, eroded, and acutely inflamed aspect. The use of wet mount microscopy can be useful to evaluate vaginal involvement and monitor the response to treatment (Fig. 6.10). In the posterior vestibule and labia minora, deep, painful, erythematous erosions may be apparent, and they result in a resorption of labial architecture (Fig. 6.9). These erosive lesions are extremely friable, and, over the time, the surfaces may adhere resulting in synechiae and, eventually, complete obliteration of the vagina [3]. The examination of the oral cavity is mandatory, and in woman with genital LP, up to 70% have oral disease (Fig. 6.7) [30]. There are some cases of asymptomatic disease, but it seems to be rare [31]. The diagnosis is clinical, and biopsy is considered for dubious cases in which it is necessary to rule out neoplastic conditions, in which there is no response to treatment, or when a diagnosis of some autoimmune blistering diseases is also being considered [1].



**Fig. 6.8** Lichen planus. Erythema of the vestibule and partial resorption of the labia minora

General care management measures are similar to those previously described for LS. If these patients are taking nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory or antihypertensive drugs, if possible, it should be stopped temporarily, to check if there is improvement. The first-line treatment is, as in LS, the ultra-potent topical steroids, and the application scheme could be the same proposed for the treatment of LS. Second-line options include calcineurin inhibitors, systemic steroids, immunomodulators, methotrexate, and retinoids. The use of vaginal dilators may be considered to prevent vaginal adhesions derived from the coaptation of the inflamed vaginal mucosa. It can be coated with a corticosteroid ointment and oestrogen vaginal cream. Usage can be daily or every other day, according to the response [32]. Surgery is reserved to restore the vaginal vault.

The follow-up schedule is similar to that described for LS. In patients with LP, the risk of cancer of the lip, tongue, oral cavity, oesophagus, and larynx is increased [33], but the occurrence of neoplastic transformation for vulvar LP is controversial. The standardized incidence ratio of vulvar cancer in women has been estimated to double in women with LP [33], and these cancers seem to be more aggressive and more likely to recur [34]. A recent study, however, did not observe any case of HPV-independent vulvar squamous cell carcinoma in women with LP [35]. Of note, Preti et al. have associated higher risk of recurrence of vulvar HSIL in women with



**Fig. 6.9** Lichen planus. Extensive involvement of the perianal area





concurrent steroid-treated LP [36], thus highlighting that these women may have increased risk of vulvar cancer through the two pathways (dermatoses and HPV).

#### 6.2.4 Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease with a prevalence of approximately 2% in the general population. This disease has a bimodal onset, but vulvar manifestations can occur in patients of all ages [37].

On physical examination, bright red, sharply demarcated lesions can appear above the surrounding normal skin (Fig. 6.11). Differently from the typical lesions of psoriasis in other areas, the silver scales are often absent and can only be apparent in the mons pubis [38]. The presence of psoriatic lesions on other areas (knees, elbows, gluteal cleft, scalp) suggests the diagnosis. Köebner or isomorphic phenomenon can also be apparent in genital psoriasis. The biopsy should be considered only in difficult cases without a typical presentation and to exclude malignant lesions.

The treatment should stop the itch-scratch cycle, as it contributes to more inflammation. Low to medium potency topical steroids, in combination with steroidsparing agents, are often used to reduce the inflammation. Second-line treatments

Fig. 6.11 Psoriasis



include emollients, topical vitamin D analogues, and calcineurin inhibitors [38]. In severe cases systemic therapy, including immunosupressants and biologics, may be considered.

#### 6.2.5 Atopic and Contact Dermatitis

Dermatitis or eczema is a poorly demarcated, erythematous, and usually itchy rash that can be found in 20–60% of patients with chronic vulvar symptoms [39].

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a chronic pruritic skin disorder with multiple clinical presentations according to the age, but the vulvar involvement can be seen both in children and adult women. The true prevalence of vulvar AD is not known. A history of other atopic diseases, such as asthma, can be present. Vulvar manifestations arise from a combination of factors that make this area particularly sensitive to eczema or irritant contact dermatitis when exposed to irritants, such as a deficient skin barrier function and a thin epidermis. The principal symptom referred is pruritus. On physical examination, acute eczema is characterized by erythema, oedema, and vesicles/





papules (Fig. 6.12), whereas in chronic eczema, there are excoriations and dry scaly lichenification of the vulva. The presence of typical atopic eczema in other areas suggests the diagnosis. The diagnosis is clinical. Regarding the treatment, median potency topical steroids are the first option. Calcineurin inhibitors may also be used.

Contact dermatitis (CD) may be associated with repeated contact with an irritant or due to sensitization and contact allergy to a specific allergen. A flare-up of the rash after specific exposure should raise the diagnostic suspicion. The main symptoms are pruritus and pain. On physical examination, erythema, vesicles, oedema, and erosions can be found.

Irritant contact dermatitis is the most frequent form of CD, and several factors (e.g. urinary incontinence, detergents, surfactants) have been implicated in causing vulvar eczema. Women with AD are at increased risk for contact dermatitis. One frequent form of irritant contact dermatitis, in middle-age women, is intertrigo. It is caused by increased moisture and friction in the intertriginous areas and that may affect the vulva. Obesity, sweating, poor hygiene, and urinary incontinence are some of the factors associated with it. Intermittent symptomatic treatment with topical corticosteroids is advised.

Allergic contact dermatitis could be nonsystemic or systemic. In the nonsystemic form, many allergens are implicated, and the identification requires a dermatological evaluation with patch testing. Women with vulvar dermatosis have a higher risk of secondary contact sensitization due to locally applied medications (including topical steroids (Fig. 6.13)) and can react with a flare-up vulvar eczema due to contact with products containing the allergen. The systemic form is an allergic type IV reaction in women previously sensitized to a specific allergen, when it is inhaled or injected, resulting in an eczematous reaction. Some of these identified allergens are nickel, chromium, and cobalt that are present in food products as oats, soy, chocolate, nuts, and cocoa.

The therapy for both irritant and allergic contact dermatitis is based on eliminating irritants and/or allergens [40].



Fig. 6.13 Allergic contact dermatitis (clotrimazole + dexamethasone cream)

#### 6.3 Menopause and Vulvar Atrophy

The urogenital tract is dramatically affected by the hormonal changes that characterize menopause. With lower levels of oestrogens, not only the vagina but also the vulva suffers many changes. In the vagina, mucosal thinning, loss of vaginal rugae, reduced vaginal discharge, shortened vaginal length and width, and elevated vaginal pH (associated with a marked decrease in lactobacilli and an increased diversity of species) can be observed. In the vulva, the skin and vestibular mucosa become thinner, subcutaneous fat decreases, the introitus becomes more lax, sensitivity diminishes, and there is a reduction in the width of the labia minora, with preserved length—contrary to what can be seen in lichenoid dermatosis, in which there is a reduction of both width and length [4].

Some of these changes may also be seen in women with vulvar dermatosis, and, on the other hand, the latter are more common in postmenopausal women [14]. Altogether, this makes the differential diagnosis between vulvar dermatosis and natural changes due to menopause a difficult task.

One of every two postmenopausal women will have vulvovaginal symptomatology attributable to menopause, such as dryness, irritation, dyspareunia, dysuria, and noninfectious vaginal discharge. Those symptoms can appear long after other menopausal symptoms have resolved, and 10–25% of women using systemic hormone therapy can still have urogenital symptoms [41].

Treatment may be initiated according to patient preferences and severity of the symptoms. Avoidance of contact irritants, use of vaginal moisturizers, and low-dose vaginal oestrogen preparations can be used. Vaginal oestrogen application (daily for 1-2 weeks and then two times weekly) has been shown to be safe and effective in the relief of genital symptoms than oral formulations [42].

Conflict of Interest No conflicts of interest to declare.

## References

- Stockdale CK, Boardman L. Diagnosis and treatment of vulvar dermatoses. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;131(2):371–86.
- 2. Ozalp SS, et al. Vulval pruritus: the experience of gynaecologists revealed by biopsy. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;35(1):53–6.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Diagnosis and management of vulvar skin disorders. ACOG practice bulletin no. 93. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;111:1243–53.
- Vieira-Baptista P, et al. Deconstructing the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(5):675–9.
- Lynch PJ, Moyal-Barrocco M, Bogliatto F, Micheletti L, Scurry J. 2006 ISSVD classification of vulvar dermatoses: pathologic subsets and their clinical correlates. J Reprod Med. 2007;52(1):3–9.
- Lynch PJ. 2006 International Society for the Study of Vulvovaginal Disease Classification of Vulvar Dermatoses: a synopsis. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2007;11(1):1–2.
- Lynch PJ, Moyal-Barracco M, Scurry J, Stockdale C. 2011 ISSVD Terminology and Classification of Vulvar Dermatological Disorders: an approach to clinical diagnosis. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2012;16(4):339–44.

- Lynch PJ. Lichen simplex chronicus (atopic/neurodermatitis) of the anogenital region. Dermatol Ther. 2004;17:8–19.
- 9. Powell JJ, Wojnarowska F. Lichen sclerosus. Lancet. 1999;353:1777-83.
- Goldstein AT, Marinoff SC, Christopher K, Srodon M. Prevalence of vulvar lichen sclerosus in a general gynecology practice. J Reprod Med. 2005;50(7):477–80.
- Leibovitz A, Kaplun VV, Saposhnicov N, Habot B. Vulvovaginal examinations in elderly nursing home women residents. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2000;31:1–4.
- 12. Pérez-López FR, Vieira-Baptista P. Lichen sclerosus in women: a review. Climacteric. 2017;20(4):339–47.
- 13. Vieira-Baptista P. Lichen Sclerosus in breast cancer survivor. J Gen Intern Med. 2013;28(3):344.
- Vieira-Baptista P, Lima Silva J, Cavaco-Gomes J, Beires J, Martinez-De-Oliveira J. What differentiates symptomatic from asymptomatic women with lichen sclerosus? Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2015;79:263–8.
- Xavier J, Vieira-Baptista P, Moreira A, Portugal R, Beires J. Vaginal lichen sclerosus: report of two cases. Facts Views Vis Obgyn. 2017;9(3):171–3.
- Halonen P, Jakobsson M, Heikinheimo O, Riska A, Gissler M, Pukkala E. Lichen sclerosus and risk of cancer. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:1998–2002.
- Preti M, Scurry J, Marchitelli CE, Micheletti L. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;28:1051–62.
- Cooper SM, Gao XH, Powell JJ, Wojnarowska F. Does treatment of vulvar lichen sclerosus influence its prognosis? Arch Dermatol. 2004;140:702–6.
- Brodrick B, Belkin ZR, Goldstein AT. Influence of treatments on prognosis for vulvar lichen sclerosus: facts and controversies. Clin Dermatol. 2013;780–6(2013):31.
- Drake LA, Dinehart SM, Farmer ER, et al. Guidelines of care for the use of topical glucocorticosteroids. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1996;35:615–9.
- Funaro D, Lovett A, Leroux N, Powell J. A double-blind, randomized prospective study evaluating topical clobetasol propionate 0.05% versus topical tacrolimus 0.1% in patients with vulvar lichen sclerosus. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;71:84–91.
- Lee A, Bradford J, Fischer G. Long-term management of adult vulvar lichen sclerosus: a prospective cohort study of 507 women. JAMA Dermatol. 2015;151:1061–7.
- 23. Eshtiaghi P, Sadownik L. Fact or fiction? Adipose-derived stem cells and platelet-rich plasma for the treatment of vulvar lichen sclerosus. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2018;1:2018.
- Bostanci S, Akay BN, Ertop P, Vural S, Okcu Heper A. Lichen sclerosus associated with Nd:YAG laser therapy. J Cosmet Laser Ther. 2019;21:69–70.
- 25. ISSVD I. ISSVD/ICS comments on the FDA communication on the use of energybased devices to perform vaginal "rejuvenation" or vaginal cosmetic procedures. 2018. https://3b64we1rtwev2ibv6q12s4dd-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/ 2018/08/2018\_08\_05-ISSVD\_ICS.pdf.
- Andreassi L, Bilenchi R. Non-infectious inflammatory genital lesions. Clin Dermatol. 2014;32:307–14.
- Micheletti L, Preti M, Bogliatto F, Zanotto-Valentino MC, Ghiringhello B, Massobrio M. Vulval lichen planus in the practice of a vulval clinic. Br J Dermatol. 2000;143(6):1349–50.
- Alaizari N, Al-Maweri S, Al-Shamiri H, Tarakji B, Shugaa-Addin B. Hepatitis C virus infections in oral lichen planus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Aust Dent J. 2016;61(3):282–7.
- Fruchter R, Melnick L, Pomeranz MK. Lichenoid vulvar disease: a review. Int J Womens Dermatol. 2017;3(1):58–64.
- Cooper SM, Wojnarowska F. Influence of treatment of erosive lichen planus of the vulva on its prognosis. Arch Dermatol. 2006;142:289–94.
- 31. Lewis FM. Vulval lichen planus. Br J Dermatol. 1998;138(4):569-75.
- Schlosser BJ, Mirowski G. Lichen sclerosus and lichen planus in women and girls. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2015;58:125–42.
- Halonen P, Jakobssen M, Heikinheimo O, Riska A, Gissler M, Pukkala E. Cancer risk of Lichen planus: a cohort study of 13,100 women in Finland. Int J Cancer. 2018;142(1):18–22.

- Regauer S, Reich O, Eberz B. Vulvar cancers in women with vulvar lichen planus: a clinicopathological study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;71(4):698–707.
- Day T, Otton G, Jaaback K, Weigner J, Scurry J. Is vulvovaginal lichen planus associated with squamous cell carcinoma? J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2018;22(2):159–65.
- 36. Preti M, Micheletti L, Privitera S, et al. Vulvar lichen planus. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2018;22(3):264–5.
- 37. Simonetta C, Burns EK, Guo MA. Vulvar dermatoses: a review and update. Mo Med. 2015;112:301–7.
- Meeuwis KA, de Hullu J, Massuger LF, van de Kerkhof PC, van Rossum MM. Genital psoriasis: a systematic literature review on this hidden skin disease. Acta Derm Venereol. 2011;91:5–11.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Management of menopausal symptoms. ACOG Practice Bulletin Number 141. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123:202–16.
- Sand FL, Thomsen SF. Skin diseases of the vulva: eczematous diseases and contact urticaria. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;38(3):295–300.
- Stockdale CK, Boardman LA. Evaluation and treatment of postmenopausal dyspareunia. J Clin Outcomes Manag. 2011;414–23(2011):18.
- North American Menopause Society. Management of symptomatic vulvovaginal atrophy: 2013 position statement of the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2013;20:888–902, 2013.



# Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis

Rui Almeida Pinto

## 7.1 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Introduction

Bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis (BPS/IC) is a chronic visceral painful condition of unknown etiology that affects millions of people worldwide. Symptoms can be so severe that patients with BPS/IC may have quality of life with lower scores than those treated for end-stage renal disease [1].

It was previously known as interstitial cystitis, later as painful bladder syndrome, and since 2008 as bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis in an attempt to include and classify all patients with pain related to the bladder, not necessarily with inflammation coursing the bladder. The European Society for the Study of Interstitial Cystitis (ESSIC) and the Bladder Pain Syndrome Committee of the International Consultation on Incontinence defined BPS/IC as chronic (more than 6 months) pelvic pain, pressure, or discomfort perceived to be related to the bladder, accompanied by at least one other urinary symptom such as persistent urge to void or increased daytime and nighttime voiding frequency, with the exclusion of confusable diseases, namely, infection [2, 3]. The term interstitial cystitis (IC) should be reserved for patients that have typical cystoscopic findings like Hunner's lesions and glomerulations as well as histological evidence of bladder inflammation [2, 3].

Patients with the non-ulcerative phenotype, traditionally viewed as more benign, tend to be younger, have lower urinary frequency, and have shorter duration of symptoms before diagnosis. Pain is frequently described in the literature as more intense in patients with ulcerative phenotype, the more aggressive form. Although attractive it is yet to be shown that the ulcerative form of BPS/IC represents a progression of the non-ulcerative disease or a distinct disease within BPS/IC [4–6].

R. Almeida Pinto (🖂)

Department of Urology, Hospital de S. João, Porto, Portugal

Faculty of Medicine of Porto, Porto, Portugal

i3S (Institute of Innovation and Investigation in Health), Porto, Portugal

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_7

## 7.2 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Epidemiology

Based on population studies, the prevalence of BPS/IC shows enormous variations. These variations have been attributed to different factors such as definition used, diagnostic tools applied, and population surveyed [3].

The prevalence of BPS/IC ranges between 0.57 and 12.6% depending upon the use of the O'Leary-Sant (OLS) or Pain and Urgency/Frequency (PUF) questionnaires, respectively [7]. BPS/IC has also 30–50 times higher prevalence with these screening tools/questionnaires than with confirmed physician medical history and physical examination [8].

Using OLS questionnaire, prevalence between countries varies, being so low as 20–30 per 100,000 women in Japan and the Netherlands and 300–450 per 100,000 in Austria, Taiwan, Finland, and the USA [9, 10]. Up to 12% of women experience some symptoms during their lifetime [3]. Typically, BPS/IC age of onset is bimodal: between 21–45 and 66–75 years old [8]. Expert opinion leans to accept an average prevalence of 300 per 100,000 women [3]. The prevalence among first-degree relatives of BPS/IC patients can be 17 times higher than in non-related individuals [11].

## 7.3 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Pathogenesis

Etiology remains unknown and pathophysiology is probably multifactorial. Up to 50% of BPS/IC patients exhibit chronic inflammation on bladder biopsy [12]. Typical histological findings include abundant inflammatory infiltrates in the bladder urothelium with thinning or erosion, detrusor mastocytosis, granulation tissue, and intrafascicular fibrosis [2]. The presence of mast cell migration is one of the diagnostic criteria for BPS/IC from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease (NIDDK).

The hypotheses for etiologies of BPS/IC range from unknown infection, immunologic abnormality, autonomic dysfunction, to pelvic floor dysfunction and even sexual abuse [12].

Since the early 1920s and 1930s, bacterial infection was and still is thought to be a significant cause of the changes observed in BPS/IC. However, until now, studies failed to confirm one of the putative bacteria [13].

There is an association of systemic lupus erythematous and Sjogren syndrome with BPS/IC. This fact strengthens the autoimmune disorder as the initial insult [14]. An abnormal expression of HLA-DR molecules by the urothelium and activation of T-helper lymphocytes in patients with BPS/IC may enable these cells to cause destruction of the urothelium [15]. However, no consistent profile of immune activity has been reported.

BPS/IC patients also have increased resting heart rates [16] and increased sensitivity to ischemia [17]. This autonomic dysfunction can be explained by the raise of sympathetic tone without corresponding activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis

[18]. Moreover, BPS/IC patients have been shown to exhibit high levels of urinary catecholamines and an increase in the number of sympathetic fibers coursing the bladder [19, 20].

BPS/IC patients are often found to have an increased prevalence of conditions such as allergies (up to 70% higher in BPS/IC patients), Sjogren syndrome, or even other somatic or visceral pain syndromes, namely, irritable bowel syndrome, fibromyalgia, dyspareunia, pelvic floor dysfunction, chronic pelvic pain, vulvodynia, and complex regional pain syndrome [21, 22]. The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease was found to be 30 times more common in BPS/IC patients with Hunner's lesions than in general population.

BPS/IC also has been associated with psychiatric illness such as panic disorder. Recently, attention has been drawn to the high prevalence of child abuse in patients with BPS/IC. This is a life event known to be linked with chronic pain development [23].

Higher prevalence of previous pelvic surgery has also been demonstrated among BPS/IC patients [24]. It is therefore possible that, in many patients, surgeries or other unrecognized pelvic insults may be the trigger mechanism to initiate the dys-function of the pelvic region, mainly in postmenopause patients.

After the initial insult, pathophysiology of BPS/IC involves several modifications. Although histological evidence of edema has never been documented, urothelium suffers several changes, namely, altered permeability, decreased tight junction formation, decreased proliferation, and increased apoptosis [12]. The glycosaminoglycan (GAG) layer is disrupted, thus allowing the adherence of microorganisms and the contact of urinary noxious elements with the urothelium, generating pain [25]. Altered bladder permeability is commonly attributed to reduced tight junction formation. Decreased proliferation and reduced tight junction formation are usually related to increased urinary levels of antiproliferative factor (APF) [26]. In addition, increased apoptosis was also reported, mostly due to an upregulation of inflammatory signals mediated by p38 and TNF- $\alpha$  [27].

Proliferation of sensory nerve fibers also occurs in BPS/IC. In fact, some authors suggested that inflammation and tissue injury generate a significant peripheral sprouting of peptidergic, sympathetic, and parasympathetic fibers, which could be the mechanism responsible for sensitization of the bladder, potentiating pain [28–30]. These phenomena could be correlated with the high levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and nerve growth factor (NGF) found in BPS/IC patients [31].

#### 7.4 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Assessment

As previously stated, BPS/IC is a condition characterized by chronic pelvic pain, pressure, or discomfort perceived to be related to the bladder. Associated symptoms could be persistent urgency and increased daytime and nighttime voiding frequency. Pain is believed to be the driving symptom for other lower urinary tract symptoms that commonly afflict BPS/IC patients like frequency and nocturia [2]. Pain could be described as a pressure, burning, discomfort, feeling of fullness/distension, soreness, sharp, stabbing, spasm, or dull sensation related to the bladder. Usually related

to the bladder, pain may radiate to the vulva, clitoris, vagina, rectum, perineum, or sacrum and is relieved by voiding. Patients often report numerous pain sites outside the bladder/pelvic region. Visual analog scale (VAS) is a useful tool to grade pain. Cognitive, behavioral, emotional, and sexual consequences of the pain syndrome must also be evaluated. Other pain syndromes associated with BPS/IC such as irritable bowel syndrome, fibromyalgia, and chronic fatigue syndrome should be investigated. Increased numbers of body pain sites are associated with poorer patient outcomes [32]. A general medical history should give special emphasis to previous pelvic operations or radiation treatment, urinary tract infections, and autoimmune or other urologic diseases.

BPS/IC patients usually complain of frequency and nocturia. A 3-day voiding diary with volume intake and output is typically used to assess urinary frequency and maximum functional bladder capacity.

Two questionnaires have been used to assess symptoms and problems of these patients: O'Leary-Sant (OLS) and Pain and Urgency/Frequency (PUF). These questionnaires address urgency, frequency, nocturia, pain, as well as the bothersomeness for those symptoms [33]. The OLS symptom and problem score has been recognized as the most reliable and valid instrument [12]. These questionnaires can be supplemented with the assessment of the quality of life.

Physical examination should be performed, including the lower abdomen for bladder tenderness and mapping pain during inspection. Special attention should be given to the presence of kyphosis, scars, hernia, abduction/adduction of the hips, and hyperesthetic areas.

Bacterial cultures for *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, *Mycoplasma hominis*, *Mycoplasma genitalium*, *Corynebacterium urealyticum*, *Candida* species, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* should be performed.

BPS/IC patients usually disallow cystoscopy at outpatient clinic. However, cystoscopy with hydrodistension under anesthesia should be carried out to exclude other identifiable causes. Nevertheless, there is no consensus about when it should be performed, immediately at diagnosis [2] or later if patients are refractory to standard management [34]. Bladder signs of BPS/IC are glomerulations and Hunner's lesions. Glomerulations are described as punctate/petechial hemorrhages after hydrodistension. Hunner's lesions are most often recognized on the lateral walls using bladder distension. Before hydrodistension resemble a circumscript inflammatory reaction with radiating small vessels and central scar with fibrin deposit. After distension, Hunner's lesions look like a mucosal rupture with waterfall-like bleeding [12]. Hydrodistension under anesthesia also gives important information about potential functional capacity [12].

Bladder biopsies can be performed during cystoscopy under anesthesia. They are helpful to characterize histologically each BPS/IC patient and to exclude confusable diseases, for example, carcinoma in situ. Common findings include epithelial denudation, submucosal inflammation, granulation tissue, and hemorrhage. More specific findings such as mast cell infiltration and bladder wall fibrosis might also give information about disease severity and prognosis [35]. Up to 50% of BPS/IC patients have normal biopsies [12].

ESSIC, in an attempt to clarify this disease, proposed a classification based on findings during cystoscopy with hydrodistension (presence of Hunner's lesions/glomerulations) and morphological findings in bladder biopsies (presence of inflammatory infiltrates and/or detrusor mastocytosis and/or granulation tissue and/or intrafascicular fibrosis).

Imaging with ultrasound or computed tomography and urodynamics are rarely necessary in BPS/IC.

Potassium sensitivity test or Parson's test consists on instilling a 0.4 Mol solution of potassium chloride (KCL) into the bladder [36]. This test is no longer recommended because of the long-lasting pain persisting after the procedure and its positivity in both healthy and idiopathic overactive bladder patients at this concentration. This test also does not give any information regarding efficacy of treatment and outcome [37].

## 7.5 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Management

There is no cure for BPS/IC. Thus the main goal of available treatments is to decrease the intensity of lower urinary tract symptoms, in particular pain. There is a 50% incidence of temporary remission unrelated to therapy, with a mean duration of 8 months. Therefore, a step-by-step approach is recommended (Fig. 7.1).

Stress reduction, exercise, warm tub baths, and efforts by the BPS/IC patient to maintain a normal lifestyle all contribute to improving overall quality of life. Biofeedback, soft tissue massage, acupuncture, and other physical therapies may aid in muscle relaxation of the pelvic floor [38].

Many patients find that their symptoms are adversely affected by specific diets. Nevertheless, diets should be introduced on an individual basis. Triggering food may include caffeine, alcohol, artificial sweeteners, hot pepper, and beverages like cranberry juice that might acidify the urine.

Long-term use of analgesic medications represents a fundamental part of the treatment of a chronic pain condition like BPS/IC. Concerning more specific oriented therapies, few of the oral drugs commonly used have been supported by unequivocal evidence of efficacy in large, multicenter, randomized controlled clinical trials (RCTs). There is little or no evidence that any therapy changes the natural history of the disease. Pentosan polysulfate sodium (PPS) is a heparin-like macromolecule that resembles urothelium GAG and remains the only oral therapy approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). PPS is postulated to act by replacement of the GAG layer as well as by inhibition of mast cell degranulation [39]. However, PPS showed efficacy in 30% of BPS/IC patients after 6 months of medication in its first study [40]. Amitriptyline, a tricyclic antidepressant, has anticholinergic and sedative properties by decreasing 5-hydroxytryptamine reuptake. It stabilizes mast cells and blocks the actions of histamine [41]. Nevertheless, all RCTs conducted with amitriptyline were negative. Only the subanalysis of the RCT conducted by the Interstitial Cystitis Collaborative Research Network (ICCRN) for



Fig. 7.1 Recently proposed management paradigm for the treatment of IC/BPS according to the Canadian Urological Association

doses above 50 mg/day showed efficacy, however with increased risk of side effects [41]. Hydroxyzine is a H1-receptor antagonist that inhibits mast cells by blocking serotonin release in the bladder. At dosages of 25–50 mg daily, it was suggested to decrease the severity of the symptoms in 40% of patients. In patients that had personal history of allergies, the success rate reached 55% [42]. Again, all RCTs conducted with hydroxyzine were negative [43]. Tanezumab is a humanized anti-NGF monoclonal antibody that binds with high affinity and specificity to NGF, preventing it from interacting with receptors on nociceptive neurons. Tanezumab was investigated for the treatment of BPS/IC pain in a phase 2 RCT against placebo. The modest efficacy (only 50% of patients having a 30% or greater reduction of pain score) and the serious adverse events do not suggest tanezumab as a promising treatment for BPS/IC [44]. Other drugs being tested for BPS/IC include micro-RNA manipulation, APF antagonists, selective cannabinoid type-1 receptor agonists, and phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors. APF antagonists revert tight junction damage in laboratory models [45]. Micro-RNA manipulation may mediate downregulation of NK-1 receptor in BPS/IC [46]. Selective cannabinoid type-1 receptor agonists significantly decrease inflammatory activity in the urothelium [47]. Daily low-dose sildenafil also proved to be an easy, well-tolerated, and effective treatment [48].

Intravesical therapy is another important treatment option. It opens the possibility to directly apply higher drug doses or even to deliver substances that orally are impossible to use. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) is the only intravesical therapy approved by the FDA for BPS/IC. DMSO is an organic solvent, a by-product of the paper pulp industry, which has analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties, muscle relaxant, and collagen-dissolution effects [49]. DMSO alone currently holds an evidence grade C recommendation for BPS/IC, which can be explained by the inexistence of any positive RCT [12]. Moreover, BPS/IC patients frequently feel a typical garlic body odor, when they receive more than 50 mL of 50% DMSO per week. DMSO is often combined in intravesical cocktail solutions (lidocaine, heparin, and/or sodium bicarbonate) that are administered weekly or biweekly. There is no study to conclusively show that these preparations are any more effective than DMSO alone [50]. Intravesical lidocaine or its alkalinized form has shown value in the management of pain and urgency in BPS/IC [51]. Alkalinized lidocaine had a significantly immediate effect on mean pain score, which lasted for 8 days after the instillation [52]. Another molecule that can be instilled is PPS. Through this route it can achieve higher concentrations near urothelium than when given orally. In a recent RCT, simultaneous oral and intravesical PPS showed significant advantage of use over placebo or oral PPS alone [53]. GAG layer restitution has also been attempted with chondroitin sulfate and hyaluronic acid. Nevertheless, RCTs against placebo of intravesical sodium chondroitin sulfate or hyaluronic acid were negative or showed high recurrence rate during the first year [54]. Sensory type C fibers are responsible for pain transmission in BPS/IC. Thus, desensitizing TRPV1 receptor and inactivating C fibers can be an alternative approach. Several studies showed a beneficial effect of resiniferatoxin (RTX) applied intravesically [42]. Nevertheless, the only large RCT conducted with RTX against placebo was negative [55]. Other RCT examined the effect of the intravesical instillation of bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) and concluded that it has no clinical effect on BPS/IC [56].

Hydrodistension under anesthesia in addition to being a diagnostic tool can be also used as a treatment for BPS/IC. After the initial cystoscopic examination, the physician "hydrodistend" the bladder by filling it with fluid at low pressure (60–80 cm) and keeping it full for 1–5 min before letting the fluid out. Long-term symptom-free periods may follow the procedure. Exactly why this procedure has therapeutic benefits for some patients is still unknown. A recently conducted study examined patients with BPS/IC who were treated with hydrodistension and subsequent bladder training. Of the 361 patients recruited into this uncontrolled study, only 13.4% described urgency symptoms 8 weeks after hydrodistension, and more than 80% of patients showed improvement in their BPS/IC flares of pain associated with menstruation and sexual intercourse [57]. Nevertheless, long-term results are not so encouraging [12].

Surgical fulguration of Hunner's lesions with LASER/resection was shown to be effective in relieving symptoms for up to 12 months or more in BPS/IC patients [58]. The drawback of this option is that it is only effective in the subset of ulcerated patients.

Neuromodulation is a procedure in which the S3 sacral nerve or the pudendal nerve roots are stimulated by a mild electrical current. Several studies have shown its safety and efficacy in the management of refractory BPS/IC, with good long-term results [59]. Nevertheless, it is an expensive treatment with frequently reported side effects, namely, bleeding, infection, program malfunction, or lead displacement [59]. Posterior tibial nerve stimulation is designed to deliver stimulation to the sacral nerve via the posterior tibial nerve at the medial malleolus, being less invasive than neuromodulation. However, its efficacy in BPS/IC was never proved [60].

A relatively new technique for refractory BPS/IC patients is the use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy. It has been shown that there is increased expression of  $HIF_{1\alpha}$ and VEGF in patients with BPS/IC, supporting the use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of BPS/IC [61]. This treatment allows hyperoxia of the urothelium, resulting in leucocyte activation and promotion of healthy granulation tissue growth. However, there is no RCT supporting this procedure in BPS/IC.

Pain relief remains very difficult to achieve with standard treatment, leading several investigators to use onabotulinum toxin A (OnaBotA). The toxin impairs nociceptive fibers by preventing neurotransmitter release [62]. Intravesical OnaBotA administration also decreases urinary NGF [63] and VEGF [64], two important molecules in the pathophysiology of BPS/IC. Altogether, these facts indicate a strong antinociceptive effect of OnaBotA in the bladder. Since 2008, some authors showed that 100 U OnaBotA improve symptoms in refractory BPS/IC patients, independently of their initial ESSIC classification or phenotype [65–68]. Two major questions around intravesical OnaBotA are the controversy around which should be the best local of administration and which should be the ideal dose. In a recent randomized placebo-controlled trial, intra-trigonal injections of 100 U significantly improved bladder symptoms and quality of life [69].

Urinary diversion with bladder conservation, supratrigonal cystectomy with enterocystoplasty, subtrigonal cystectomy, or radical cystectomy including excision of the urethra with urinary diversion should be the last resort. Refractory patients with Hunner's lesions and smaller bladder capacities under anesthesia are probably the candidates [70]. Unfortunately, urinary diversion or cystectomy cannot guarantee a pain-free result [71].

#### 7.6 Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis Conclusions

Nowadays, the traditional structured monotherapy approach should not be considered the best standard of care for BPS/IC patients (Fig. 7.2). A tailor-made treatment plan directed toward the patient's unique clinical phenotype will ultimately lead to a better outcome.

Offer sub-type and phenotype-oriented therapy for the treatment of Bladder Pain Syndrome (BPS).
Multimodal behavioural, physical and psychological techniques should always be considered alongside oral or invasive treatments of BPS.
Administer amitriptyline for use in BPS.
Offer oral pentosane polysulphate for the treatment of BPS.
Treatment with oral pentosane polysulphate plus subcutaneous heparin is recommended especially in low responders to pentosane polysulphate alone.
Administer intravesical lidocaine plus sodium bicarbonate prior to more invasive methods.
Administer intravesical pentosane polysulphate before more invasive treatment alone or combined with oral pentosane polysulphate.
Administer submucosal injection of Botulinum toxin type A (BTX-A) plus hydrodistenstion if intravesical installation therapies have failed.
All ablative organ surgery should be the last resort and undertaken by experienced and BPS knowledgeable surgeons only.
Offer intravesical hyaluronic acid before more invasive measures.
Offer intravesical chondroitin sulphate before more invasive measures.
Offer transurethral resection (or coagulation or laser) of bladder lesions, but in BPS type 3 C only.
Offer neuromodulation before more invasive interventions.
Offer dietary advice.
Offer intravesical heparin before more invasive measures alone or in combination treatment.
Offer intravesical bladder wall and trigonal injection of BTX-A if intravesical instillation therapies have failed.
Corticosteroids are not recommended for long-term treatment.
Bladder distension is not recommended as a treatment of BPS.

Fig. 7.2 European Guidelines for treatment of IC/BPS

## References

- 1. Clemens JQ, Calhoun EA, Litwin MS, et al. A survey of primary care physician practices in the diagnosis and management of women with interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome. Urology. 2010;76(2):323–8.
- Van de Merwe JP, Nordling J, Bouchelouche P, et al. Diagnostic criteria, classification, and nomenclature for painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis: an ESSIC proposal. Eur Urol. 2008;53(1):60–7.
- 3. Hanno P, Lin A, Nordling J, et al. Bladder pain syndrome committee of the international consultation on incontinence. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):191–8.
- Peeker R, Fall M. Toward a precise definition of interstitial cystitis: further evidence of differences in classic and nonulcer disease. J Urol. 2002;167(6):2470–2.
- Peters KM, Killinger KA, Mounayer MH, et al. Are ulcerative and nonulcerative interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome 2 distinct diseases? A study of coexisting conditions. Urology. 2011;78(2):301–8.
- Killinger KA, Boura JA, Peters KM. Pain in interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: do characteristics differ in ulcerative and non-ulcerative subtypes? Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(8):1295–301.
- Rosenberg MT, Hazzard M. Prevalence of interstitial cystitis symptoms in women: a populationbased study in the primary care office. J Urol. 2005;174:2231–4.
- Clemens JQ, Meenan RT, O'Keeffe Rosetti MC, et al. Prevalence of interstitial cystitis symptoms in a managed care population. J Urol. 2005;174:576–80.
- Rourke W, Khan SAA, Ahmed K, et al. Painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis: aetiology, evaluation and management. Arch Ital Urol Androl. 2014;86(2):126–31.

- 10. Leppilahti M, Sairanen J, Tammela TL, et al. Prevalence of clinically confirmed interstitial cystitis in women: a population based study in Finland. J Urol. 2005;174:581–3.
- 11. Warren JW, Jackson TL, Langenberg P, et al. Prevalence of interstitial cystitis in first-degree relatives of patients with interstitial cystitis. Urology. 2004;63:17–21.
- 12. Hanno P, Nordling J, Fall M, et al. Bladder pain syndrome. Med Clin N Am. 2011;95:55–73.
- Nickel JC, Shoskes DA, Irvine-Bird K. Prevalence and impact of bacteriuria and/ or urinary tract infection in interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome. Urology. 2010;76(4):799–803.
- 14. Dasgupta J, Tincello DG. Interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: an update. Maturitas. 2009;64(4):212–7.
- 15. Ratliff TL, Klutke CG, Hofmeister M, et al. Role of the immune response in interstitial cystitis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1995;74:209–16.
- Lutgendorf SK, Latini JM, Rothrock N, et al. Autonomic response to stress in interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2004;172:227–31.
- 17. Ness TJ, Powell-Boone T, Cannon R, et al. Psychophysical evidence of hypersensitivity in subjects with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2005;173:1983–7.
- Chelimsky G, McCabe NP, Janata J, et al. Autonomic testing of women with interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome. Clin Auton Res. 2014;24(4):161–6.
- Stein PC, Torri A, Parsons CL. Elevated urinary norepinephrine in interstitial cystitis. Urology. 1999;53(6):1140–3.
- 20. Buffington CA. Norepinephrine content and adrenoceptor function in the bladder of cats with feline interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2002;167(4):1876–80.
- 21. Buffington CA. Comorbidity of interstitial cystitis with other unexplained clinical conditions. J Urol. 2004;172:1242–8.
- Offiah I, McMahon SB, O'Reilly BA. Interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: diagnosis and management. Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(8):1243–56.
- Bullones Rodriguez MA, Afari N, Buchwald DS, et al. Evidence for overlap between urological and nonurological unexplained clinical conditions. J Urol. 2013;189(1 Suppl):S66.
- Warren JW, Howard FM, Morozov VV. Is there a high incidence of hysterectomy and other nonbladder surgeries before and after onset of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;208(1):77e1–6.
- Madersbacher H, van Ophoven A, van Kerrebroeck PE. GAG layer replenishment therapy for chronic forms of cystitis with intravesical glycosaminoglycans—a review. Neurourol Urodyn. 2013;32(1):9–18.
- 26. Zhang CO, Wang JY, Koch KR, et al. Regulation of tight junction proteins and bladder epithelial paracellular permeability by an antiproliferative factor from patients with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2005;174:2382–7.
- 27. Shie JH, Liu HT, Kuo HC. Increased cell apoptosis of urothelium mediated by inflammation in interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome. Urology. 2012;79(2):484e7–484e13.
- Hohenfellner M, Nunes L, Schmidt RA, et al. Interstitial cystitis: increased sympathetic innervation and related neuropeptide synthesis. J Urol. 1992;147(3):587–91.
- Dickson A, Avelino A, Cruz F, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. Peptidergic sensory and parasympathetic fiber sprouting in the mucosa of the rat urinary bladder in a chronic model of cyclophosphamideinduced cystitis. Neuroscience. 2006;141(3):1633–47.
- Ochodnicky P, Cruz CD, Yoshimura N, et al. Neurotrophins as regulators of urinary bladder function. Nat Rev Urol. 2012;9(11):628–37.
- Kiuchi H, Tsujimura A, Takao T, et al. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor expression in patients with bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis: its association with pain severity and glomerulations. BJU Int. 2009;104(6):826–31.
- Tripp DA, Nickel JC, Wong J, et al. Mapping of pain phenotypes in female patients with bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis and controls. Eur Urol. 2012;62(6):1188–94.
- O'Leary MP, Sant G. The interstitial cystitis symptom and problem indices: rationale, development, and application. In: Sant G, editor. Interstitial cystitis. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1997. p. 271–6.

- Hanno P, Dmochowski R. Status of international consensus on interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome/painful bladder syndrome: 2008 snapshot. Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28(4):274–86.
- 35. Larsen MS, Mortensen S, Nordling J, et al. Quantifying mast cells in bladder pain syndrome by immunohistochemical analysis. BJU Int. 2008;102:204–7.
- Parsons CL, Greenberger M, Gabal L, et al. The role of urinary potassium in the pathogenesis and diagnosis of interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 1998;159(6):186206.
- Alp BF, Akyol I, Adayener C, et al. The significance of potassium chloride sensitivity test and urinary uronic acid level in the diagnosis of chronic pelvic pain syndrome. Int Urol Nephrol. 2009;41(3):483–9.
- Lee SW, Liong ML, Yuen KH, et al. Acupuncture versus sham acupuncture for chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain. Am J Med. 2008;121(1):1–7.
- Moutzouris DA, Falagas ME. Interstitial cystitis: an unsolved enigma. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4(11):1844–57.
- Hanno P. Analysis of long-term Elmiron therapy for interstitial cystitis. Urology. 1997;49(Suppl 5A):93–9.
- Foster HE Jr, Hanno PM, Nickel JC, et al. Effect of amitriptyline on symptoms in treatment naïve patients with interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome. J Urol. 2010;183(5):1853–8.
- 42. Fall M, Oberpenning F, Peeker R. Treatment of bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis: can we make evidence-based decisions? Eur Urol. 2008;54(1):65–75.
- Moldwin RM, Evans RJ, Stanford EJ, et al. Rational approaches to the treatment of patients with interstitial cystitis. Urology. 2007;69(4 Suppl):73–81.
- 44. Evans RJ, Moldwin RM, Cossons N, et al. Proof of concept trial of tanezumab for the treatment of symptoms associated with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2011;185(5):1716–21.
- 45. Keay S, Kaczmarek P, Zhang CO, et al. Normalization of proliferation and tight junction formation in bladder epithelial cells from patients with interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome by D-Proline and D-Pipecolic acid derivatives of antiproliferative factor. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2011;77(6):421–30.
- 46. Sanchez Freire V, Burkhard FC, et al. MicroRNAs may mediate the down-regulation of neurokinin-1 receptor in chronic bladder pain syndrome. Am J Pathol. 2010;176(1):288–303.
- 47. Tambaro S, Casu MA, Mastinu A, et al. Evaluation of selective cannabinoid CB(1) and CB(2) receptor agonists in a mouse model of lipopolysaccharide-induced interstitial cystitis. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;729:67–74.
- 48. Chen H, Wang F, Chen W, et al. Efficacy of daily low-dose sildenafil for treating interstitial cystitis: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial—treatment of interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome with low-dose sildenafil. Urology. 2014;84(1):51–6.
- Perez-Marrero R, Emerson LE, Feltis JT. A controlled study of dimethyl sulfoxide in interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 1988;140(1):36–9.
- Stav K, Beberashvili I, Lindner A, et al. Predictors of response to intravesical sulfoxide cocktail in patients with interstitial cystitis. Urology. 2012;80(1):61–5.
- Taneja R. Intravesical lignocaine in the diagnosis of bladder pain syndrome. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21(3):321–4.
- Nickel JC, Moldwin R, Lee S, Davis EL, et al. Intravesical alkalinized lidocaine (PSD597) offers sustained relief from symptoms of interstitial cystitis and painful bladder syndrome. BJU Int. 2009;103(7):910–8.
- Davis EL, El Khoudary SR, Talbott EO, Davis J, Regan LJ. Safety and efficacy of the use of intravesical and oral pentosan polysulfate sodium for interstitial cystitis: a randomized doubleblind clinical trial. J Urol. 2008;179(1):177–85.
- Engelhardt PF, Morakis N, Daha LK, Esterbauer B, Riedl CR. Long-term results of intravesical hyaluronan therapy in bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2011;22(4):401–5.
- Payne CK, Mosbaugh PG, Forrest JB, et al. Intravesical resiniferatoxin for the treatment of interstitial cystitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. J Urol. 2005;173:1590–4.
- Propert KJ, Mayer R, Nickel JC, et al. Follow-up of patients with interstitial cystitis responsive to treatment with intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin or placebo. J Urol. 2008;179(2):552–5.

- Hsieh CH, Chang ST, Hsieh CJ, et al. Treatment of interstitial cystitis with hydrodistention and bladder training. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(10):1379–84.
- 58. Rofeim O, Hom D, Freid RM, et al. Use of the neodymium: YAG laser for interstitial cystitis: a prospective study. J Urol. 2001;166(1):134–6.
- Gajewski JB, Al-Zahrani AA. The long-term efficacy of sacral neuromodulation in the management of intractable cases of bladder pain syndrome: 14 years of experience in one centre. BJU Int. 2011;107(8):1258–64.
- 60. O'Reilly BA, Dwyer PL, Hawthorne G, et al. Transdermal posterior tibial nerve laser therapy is not effective in women with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2004;172:1880–3.
- Tanaka T, Nitta Y, Morimoto K, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis resistant to conventional treatments: long-term results of a case series in Japan. BMC Urol. 2011;24:11.
- 62. Cruz F. Targets for botulinum toxin in the lower urinary tract. Neurourol Urodyn. 2014;33(1):31-8.
- Kuo HC. Potential urine and serum biomarkers for patients with bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis. Int J Urol. 2014;21(Suppl 1):34–41.
- 64. Peng CH, Jhang JF, Shie JH, et al. Down regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor is associated with decreased inflammation after intravesical Onabotulinum toxin A injections combined with hydrodistention for patients with interstitial cystitis - clinical results and immunohistochemistry analysis. Urology. 2013;82(6):1452.e1–6.
- 65. Giannantoni A, Porena M, Costantini E, et al. Botulinum A toxin intravesical injection in patients with painful bladder syndrome: 1-year followup. J Urol. 2008;179(3):1031–4.
- 66. Kuo HC, Chancellor MB. Comparison of intravesical botulinum toxin type A injections plus hydrodistension with hydrodistension alone for the treatment of refractory interstitial cystitis/ painful bladder syndrome. BJU Int. 2009;1:1–5.
- Pinto R, Lopes T, Frias B, Silva A, Silva JA, Silva CM, Cruz C, Cruz F, Dinis P. Trigonal injection of botulinum toxin A in patients with refractory bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis. Eur Urol. 2010;58(3):360–5.
- Pinto R, Lopes T, Silva J, Silva C, Dinis P, Cruz F. Persistent therapeutic effect of repeated injections of onabotulinum toxin a in refractory bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2013;189(2):548–53.
- 69. Pinto R, Costa D, Morgado A, Pereira P, Charrua A, Silva J, Cruz F. Intra- Trigonal Onabotulinum Toxin A improves bladder symptoms and quality of life in bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis patients—a pilot, single centre, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J Urol. 2018;199(4):998–1003.
- Rossberger J, Fall M, Jonsson O, et al. Long-term results of reconstructive surgery in patients with bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis: sub-typing is imperative. Urology. 2007;70(4):638–42.
- Kochakarn W, Lertsithichai P, Pummangura W. Bladder substitution by ileal neobladder for women with interstitial cystitis. Int Braz J Urol. 2007;33(4):486–92.



## **Overactive Bladder**

8

Visha K. Tailor and G. Alessandro Digesu

## 8.1 Introduction

Overactive bladder (OAB) has been defined by the International Continence Society (ICS)/International Urogynecological Association (IUGA) as urinary urgency with or without urge urinary incontinence, usually accompanied by frequency and nocturia in the absence of a urinary tract infection or other pathology [1]. The symptoms can be distressing affecting all aspects of a woman's quality of life (QoL) including social, work-related, emotional and sexual function [2].

OAB has a reported overall prevalence of 16.9% in women which increases with age. Women under 25 have a prevalence of 4.8% increasing to 30.9% in women over 65 [3]. Prevalence has separately been reported as high as 38% in postmeno-pausal women [4].

## 8.2 Pathogenesis

OAB is a symptom-based diagnosis with an aetiology that is still poorly understood. It can be associated with detrusor overactivity which is diagnosed by urodynamic studies. Spontaneous or provoked involuntary contractions of the detrusor muscle during the filling stage of micturition can be observed.

OAB is more prevalent in postmenopausal women with symptoms of genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM). Symptoms include vaginal dryness, burning, dyspareunia and urinary tract infections. The aetiology can be linked with genitourinary atrophy which can be attributed to oestrogen deficiency during the menopause with reduced oestrogen receptors in tissues such as vaginal epithelium and the bladder trigone [5]. This is also thought to contribute to urinary symptoms

V. K. Tailor · G. A. Digesu (🖂)

Department of Urogynaecology, Imperial College NHS Trust, London, UK e-mail: vishatailor@nhs.net; a.digesu@imperial.ac.uk

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_8

because of the increased contact of sensitive nerve endings with urine due to bladder atrophy [6].

There is emerging research suggesting that OAB in some patients may be linked to chronic bladder infection, although the mechanism of how bacterial colonisation causes OAB is unclear. Newer technologies such as RNA sequencing or extended culture techniques have shown different groups of microbiota cultured from patients with or without OAB. This will have an impact on future emerging treatment options [7].

#### 8.3 Assessment of Women

A full clinical history is important to explore factors that can contribute to OAB symptoms and influence ongoing management. Discuss lower urinary tract symptoms divided into storage problems (frequency, urgency, nocturia, incontinence), voiding symptoms (hesitancy, straining, poor and intermittent flow), post-micturition symptoms (sensation of incomplete emptying, post-micturition dribble) and other symptoms (nocturnal enuresis, dysuria). Enquire into menopausal symptoms to explore GSM.

Lifestyle questions exploring fluid intake, type of fluids preferred (e.g. carbonated drinks, caffeinated drinks) and pad usage to assess for modifiable habits and severity of disease.

Past gynaecological and obstetric history is useful to identify if the patient is known to have a fibroid uterus that may compress the bladder causing urinary urgency and frequency or risk factors for vaginal prolapse, for example.

Relevant medical history such as diabetes or neurological symptoms should be assessed to identify co-morbidities that may produce or worsen OAB symptoms. If pharmacotherapy for OAB is being considered, conditions such as prolonged QT interval, uncontrolled hypertension, functional gastrointestinal pathology, myasthenia gravis and uncontrolled narrow-angle glaucoma, as well as renal and liver impairment will influence treatment choice [8].

Previous surgical history, for example, hysterectomy or vaginal prolapse surgery, may have influenced symptoms.

Current medication history may identify medications contributing to worsening of symptoms such as diuretics and sympathomimetics or if any medications will interact with medical treatment of OAB.

Assessment is completed with physical examination. Abdominal examination and bimanual vaginal examination should be carried out to assess for pelvic masses. Vaginal examination is important to assess pelvic organ prolapse (POP) and the integrity of the vaginal mucosa and identify atrophic change. If neurological symptoms are elicited from the history, carry out neurological examination with attention to the sacral neuronal pathways from S1 to S4 with the assessment of perineal sensation, rectal sphincter tone and ability to contract the anal sphincter [8].

#### 8.4 Investigations

#### 8.4.1 Urinalysis and Mid-stream Urine

Urinalysis should be carried out to identify urinary tract infection which may exacerbate symptoms or masquerade as OAB. Overall however urine dipstick analysis has a low sensitivity of 44% and a specificity of 87% for identification of a urinary tract infection when compared to urine cultured from a catheter sample in women with OAB [9]. Detection of blood can suggest infection, stones or cancer. Presence of protein is in keeping with infection or renal impairment; glucose can be identified in patients with diabetes mellitus, especially when not well controlled.

Microbiology culture and sensitivity of a mid-stream urine specimen are recommended for women with symptoms of a urinary tract infection with either a positive or negative urine dipstick or if the urine dipstick test is positive for leucocytes/nitrites. An acute presentation or exacerbation of symptoms may have an infective aetiology.

If urine sampling is consistently positive for blood, cystoscopy and renal ultrasound are indicated.

#### 8.4.2 Bladder Diary

Bladder diary or frequency volume charts can provide an objective assessment of a patient's fluid input and urinary output. It can provide information on a patient's drinking patterns as well as the number of voids and incontinence episodes through the day. This assessment allows review of symptom severity in the everyday situation. Most current practice recommends completing a diary for 3–5 days covering variations in the women's usual activities, such as both working and leisure days.

The bladder diary itself however does not reliably correlate with urodynamic diagnoses [10].

#### 8.4.3 Quality of Life Questionnaire

OAB symptoms are known to have a negative impact on quality of life. Patients with anxiety and depression report a greater severity in their OAB symptoms, poor quality of life and more psychosocial difficulties compared to OAB patients without anxiety [11]. Women with climacteric symptoms (hot flushes, night sweats, vaginal dryness and dyspareunia) are more likely to report anxiety and/or depressive symptoms although a direct causal link between menopause and anxiety and depression has not been clearly found [12].

Clinical trials acknowledge that improvement in quality of life should be considered an endpoint of successful treatment. With a similar principle, routine assessment of OAB symptoms and their impact on QoL can provide women with a manner of tracking their expectations and/or satisfaction with treatment [13]. There are many available validated questionnaires for this purpose. For example, the Overactive Bladder Questionnaire (OAB-q) includes an 8-item symptom bother scale and 25 quality of life items. It is a validated disease-specific questionnaire that assesses symptom bother and health-related quality of life (HRQL) in people with OAB [13]. The King's Health Questionnaire is also widely used and translated patient acceptable and valuable disease-specific questionnaire designed to assess the impact of urinary incontinence on quality of life (QoL) in women through 21 questions [14]. The Bristol Female Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms (B-FLUTS) assessment and International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Short Form (ICIQ-SF) are alternatives.

#### 8.4.4 Urodynamic Investigation

Urodynamic studies describe several investigations that allow functional assessment of the bladder and urethra. It allows abnormalities of storage and voiding to be identified and detrusor overactivity or concomitant stress urinary incontinence to be confirmed. It is recommended in the investigation of OAB after unsuccessful conservative treatment.

Uroflowmetry is the measurement of urine flow rate. The patient is asked to void onto the flow metre with a comfortably full bladder. This part of the study excludes outflow tract obstruction or a hypotonic bladder.

Multichannel cystometry or subtracted cystometry allows measurement of rectal pressure to represent intra-abdominal pressure and intra-vesical pressure to calculate the detrusor pressure. Cystometric bladder capacity, contractility, compliance, presence of provoked or unprovoked detrusor activity or urodynamic stress incontinence can be determined by this investigation. Sixty-four percent of patients with OAB symptoms have detrusor overactivity detected by urodynamic studies. Conversely 84% of patients with urodynamically proven detrusor overactivity have symptoms of OAB [15].

## 8.4.5 Cystoscopy

Cystoscopy allows direct visualisation of the bladder using a flexible or rigid cystoscope under local or general anaesthesia, respectively. It can be considered after failure of medical management of overactive bladder or where there is a history of haematuria or recurrent urinary tract infections. Biopsies can be taken to investigate pathology as needed.

#### 8.5 Management

The aim of OAB treatments is to improve control of micturition (behavioural and lifestyle interventions) or to modify detrusor contractility (pharmacological and surgical treatments). There are a variety of treatments available for OAB showing that

none are universally successful. We discuss treatments specifically for OAB further.

To note women with coexisting pelvic organ prolapse and OAB symptoms who undergo surgical correction of prolapse experience improvement in OAB symptoms after surgery in 60–80% of cases. Women with more severe prolapse however may be at a higher risk of persistent frequency or urge incontinence [16].

#### 8.5.1 Lifestyle Modifications

Lifestyle modifications with avoidance of tea (including green tea), coffee, alcohol, carbonated drinks (particularly diet soft drinks) and smoking and dietary advice to avoid constipation are recommended. Following a healthy lifestyle with weight loss encouraged in those who are overweight is the advice of the ICI guidelines [17].

#### 8.5.2 Bladder Retraining

Behavioural modifications include bladder retraining. Bladder retraining focuses on timed voiding aiming to lengthen the intervals between voiding. Patients are asked to void every hour at the start, even if no desire to void, and then progressively increase the voiding interval each week. Bladder retraining is effective for both overactive bladder symptoms and mixed urinary incontinence symptoms. A cure on improvement in symptoms in 59% of women has been reported in a retrospective study [18] of few adverse side effects. It is therefore recommended as first-line therapy with lifestyle modifications.

#### 8.6 Pharmacological Management

Most medications prescribed to treat OAB have anti-muscarinic effects. However antidepressants, vasopressin analogues and alpha-adrenoceptor antagonists and beta-adrenoceptor agonists are also used. There is no ideal medication and treatments can be limited by side effects.

#### 8.6.1 Anti-muscarinic Drugs

Detrusor contraction is mediated by the neurotransmitter acetylcholine binding to muscarinic receptors. Anticholinergic medication targeting M2 and M3 receptors has been the traditional first-line pharmacological treatment. The medication blocks the parasympathetic acetylcholine pathway to reduce the intensity of detrusor muscle contraction. Action via the sensory pathway allows the anticholinergic agent to modulate afferent innervations in the urothelium, thereby altering sensory feedback during filling phase [19].
Popular agents include oxybutynin, tolterodine, trospium, solifenacin, darifenacin and fesoterodine. All agents have shown a statistically significant improvement in OAB symptoms when compared to placebo.

Anti-muscarinic medication, however, can lack bladder specificity with muscarinic receptors in other organs such as the exocrine glands, the nervous system and the heart also interacted with. The most common side effect as a result is dry mouth in 16–28% of patients and as high as 80% with unmodified oxybutynin. Blurred vision, constipation, tachycardia and drowsiness can also occur. Use of extendedrelease preparations of oxybutynin, tolterodine and fesoterodine or patch or gel formulation of oxybutynin can lower the incidence of dry mouth and constipation [20]. Solifenacin and darifenacin are M3-selective receptor antagonists, in theory more bladder-specific with reduced tendency for anticholinergic side effects, however higher incidence of constipation (9–14%).

Adverse central nervous system side effects include disorientation, hallucinations, convulsions and cognitive impairment. These side effects can be compounded by the total anticholinergic burden contributed to by other regular medication taken by patients, for example, antispasmodic, antipsychotic and tricyclic antidepressants and anti-Parkinson medication [19]. Such side effects limit compliance as well as limit treatment availability for older women with established cognitive impairment.

Contraindications for anti-muscarinic use include hyperthyroidism, myasthenia gravis, narrow-angle glaucoma, hiatus hernia with reflux oesophagitis, heart failure and tachyarrhythmia.

It is good practice to advise patients prior to prescribing this medication of common side effects and that full benefits may take 4 weeks. Prescribe the lowest recommended dose of the medication, and ideally review in 4 weeks to assess symptoms and acceptability of treatment [21].

#### **8.6.2** β3-Adrenoceptor Agonist

Mirabegron, the first  $\beta$ 3-adrenoceptor agonist to enter clinical practice, is a selective  $\beta$ 3-adrenoceptor agonist. In the human lower urinary tract,  $\beta$ 3-adrenoceptors can be found in the bladder detrusor but also in the urothelium. Stimulation of  $\beta$ 3-adrenoceptors leads to detrusor relaxation and increased bladder capacity. Mirabegron is a well-tolerated new medication associated with significant improvements in incontinence episodes and micturition frequency. Benefits of treatment were observed in patients with no previous pharmacotherapy for OAB as well as women who have previously trialled and discontinued anti-muscarinic treatment [22].

Combination therapy of mirabegron with solifenacin has also demonstrated significant improvements in mean volume voided (primary endpoint), micturition frequency and number of urgency episodes, without increasing the bothersome adverse effects associated with anti-muscarinic therapy (with the possible exception of constipation). Reported adverse side effects include hypertension, nasopharyngitis and urinary tract infection. Contraindications to the medication include severe uncontrolled hypertension, severe renal impairment (i.e. GFR 15–29 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) or in those with moderate hepatic impairment.

#### 8.6.3 Desmopressin

Desmopressin is a synthetic analogue of vasopressin. Used at night it can reduce nocturnal urine production by up to 50% and can be used to treat nocturnal enuresis or nocturia in adults or children. The drug should be used with care in the elderly however due to a risk of hyponatraemia [23].

#### 8.6.4 Oestrogen

Although oestrogen deficiency has been implicated in the aetiology of OAB by epidemiological studies, the role of oestrogen replacement treatment remains controversial. A Cochrane review has found low-quality evidence that intra-vaginal oestrogen preparations can improve the symptoms of vaginal atrophy and urinary incontinence in postmenopausal women when compared to placebo [24, 25]. It is widely thought that local oestrogen therapy for OAB however may be of benefit.

A randomised placebo-controlled trial (*n*-1612) reports 25  $\mu$ g of micronised 17beta-oestradiol administered locally improved maximal cystometric capacity (290 mL vs. 200 mL, *P* = 0.023) and volume at which there was a strong desire to void (170 mL vs. 130 mL, *P* = 0.045) with a decrease in uninhibited bladder contractions from baseline pretreatment values [26]. There was no reported endometrial thickening or rise in serum oestrogen level as a result of treatment. Evidence supports a subjective improvement in symptoms of OAB with a better quality of life as assessed by short form-36 [27].

Conversely studies with higher doses of oestrogen, e.g. 25 mg oestradiol implants, have shown adverse effects such as vaginal bleeding with need for investigation and treatment including hysterectomy [28]. Systemic therapy with unopposed or combined hormone treatment has been shown to worsen urinary incontinence and frequency symptoms at 1 year [24] and should not be recommended for lower urinary tract symptoms.

## 8.6.5 Tricyclic Antidepressants

Although these agents are sometimes used for the treatment of OAB, they are not approved for this indication, nor is there any clinical trial evidence supporting this use [20]. Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) are potent inhibitors of muscarinic, a-adrenergic and histamine H1 receptors and inhibit norepinephrine and serotonin

reuptake at nerve terminals. Imipramine or amitriptyline is the most commonly used and may be useful for patients particularly bothered by nocturia or bladder pain [29].

The side effects of TCAs predominantly reflect their anti-muscarinic properties. Caution should be exercised in the context of combination therapy with anticholinergic agents, due to the risk of cumulative side effects, for example, urinary retention, confusion or QT prolongation [23].

# 8.7 Refractory OAB

Despite conservative and medical management, treatment outcomes may not provide optimal improvement in symptoms for 25–40% of patients [30], and secondline therapies may be sought. Although no standardised definition exists, we describe this as refractory OAB. Treatment options include intra-vesical Botox injections, neuromodulatory treatments or surgery. Before further invasive therapy, it is good practice to discuss the patient with a multidisciplinary team and explain the advantages and disadvantages of all treatment options.

# 8.7.1 Intra-vesical Treatment with Botulinum Toxin

Botulinum toxin is a neurotoxin produced by the bacterium *Clostridium botulinum*, of which seven (A to G) serotypes have been identified. The use of botulinum A toxin (Botox) to treat a neurogenic OAB was first described in 1999 by Schurch et al. [31]. Injection of botulinum toxin acts presynaptically and prevents fusion of neurotransmitter-containing vesicles, leading to a decrease of acetylcholine release across the neuromuscular junction. The resultant muscle paralysis with a likely additional effect on the sensory afferent pathway mediates an improvement in OAB symptoms [32].

The botulinum toxin product is administered via cystoscopic injection using either a flexible or rigid cystoscope with local or general anaesthesia. There are no current recommendations for standardised administration and dose of the toxin or long-term safety data; however few side effects or complications are reported. Urine retention and the need to carry out clean intermittent self-catheterisation (ISC) have been reported as 5-15% with a risk of urinary tract infection as 5-31% [32, 33]. The risk of urine retention can increase with age and could develop as late as 2 weeks following injection. As such it is recommended that all women should be taught to carry out ISC prior to the procedure and followed up at 2 weeks following the procedure to assess post-void residual volumes.

## 8.7.2 Neuromodulation

Neuromodulation aims to achieve inhibition of detrusor activity by continuous neural stimulation through peripheral (via the posterior tibial nerve) or central (dorsal sacral nerve roots S2, 3, 4) nerves.

Posterior tibial nerve stimulation (PTNS) is the least invasive method of neuromodulation. It can be carried out in the outpatient setting, usually with 12 weekly sessions. This nerve has mixed fibres originating from L4 to S3 spinal cord segments, in common with bladder and pelvic floor innervation. The technique, first described in 1983, involves passing an electrical current through a 34-gauge needle electrode placed next to the PTN approximately three finger breadths cephalad to the medial malleolus. Subjective improvement in OAB symptoms occurs in about 60% of the patients with 47–56% improvement in frequency voiding charts [34].

The treatment is safe with few side effects (bruising, discomfort, slight bleeding); however without top-up treatments, effectiveness may decrease over time [34]. In a small study, 77% of patients maintained a moderate to marked improvement in their OAB symptoms after 3 years. It is recommended when intra-vesical botulinum A toxin injection treatment to the bladder or sacral neuromodulation is not acceptable or suitable for patients [35].

Central neuromodulation can be carried out using an implantable, programmable medical device with a tined lead electrode that is typically passed through the S3 sacral foramen to lie next to the sacral and pudendal nerves. The battery device delivers continuous electrical stimulation. Originally designed to treat neurogenic bladder disease, the treatment has been shown to be effective in treating overactive bladder, neurogenic bladder symptoms, urinary retention as well as faecal incontinence and chronic pain.

Insertion of the device requires a two-stage procedure. The first implants an external device with a wire or tined electrode for 2 weeks to ensure effectiveness of the product before a subcutaneous permanent device is inserted with a tined electrode. Studies have shown a reduction in improvement in incontinence episodes, leakage severity, voiding frequency and pad use with treatment benefits persisting in 68% of patients at 5 years [33].

Adverse effects must be discussed when offering this treatment modality. The procedure has an overall reported reoperation rate of 33% for pain, lead migration or infection at the implant site or battery change after 5–7 years depending on the device and usage settings. Nine percent of patients required complete removal of the device [36].

Miniature wireless implant devices for pretibial nerve stimulation and rechargeable devices for sacral neuromodulation are currently being developed and trialled for the treatment of OAB which may provide promising treatment alternatives for the future.

#### 8.8 Surgery

Surgical treatment for OAB remains a last resort for those who have failed the above treatment modalities or find them unacceptable. Patients often have a low-capacity, poorly compliant bladder with refractory OAB symptoms. The two most commonly carried out procedures include clam ileocystoplasty or urinary diversion. Both are considered major and complex surgical procedures, and patient selection and comorbidities need to be considered before offering this treatment. The traditional approach to this surgery is through open abdominal surgery; however through

equipment advances, laparoscopic and robotic methods can also be employed in experienced hands [37].

# 8.8.1 Clam Cystoplasty

Clam cystoplasty aims to turn a high-pressure system into a low-pressure one through the anastomosis of a bowel segment to the bladder. The most commonly used intestinal segment is the ileum in an ileocystoplasty. Bladder capacity is therefore increased, detrusor pressure is reduced, upper tracts are protected and any concurrent ureteric reflux can resolve. Satisfactory outcomes from this procedure are reported in up to 88% of patients.

Common side effects or complications long term include the need to carry out ISC for 10–75% of patients. Metabolic disturbances can contribute to vitamin B12 deficiency and hyperchloraemic acidosis with resulting bone demineralisation with osteoporosis. Others include bacteriuria, urinary tract stones (15–40% of patients), mucous retention in the bladder, spontaneous bladder perforation, incontinence and carcinoma. The chronic exposure of the ileal mucosa to urine can lead to malignant change in 1.2% of patients. As a result, long-term yearly cystoscopic and biopsy monitoring after 10 years post-procedure is advised [37, 38].

# 8.8.2 Urinary Diversion

As a last-resort treatment modality who cannot carry out ISC, with uncompromised renal function, a urinary diversion to an ileal stoma or various segments of the intestinal tract (most commonly the appendix or ileum) creates a continence reservoir that requires catheterisation to empty the urine. Low incontinence rates of 2–16% [38] have been reported following this procedure.

#### **Key Points**

- Overactive bladder is prevalent in postmenopausal women and prevalence increases with age.
- OAB can have a significant impact on quality of life, improvement of which is considered a treatment outcome.
- Lifestyle changes and medical management remain first-line treatment options.
- Treatment with topical oestrogen may be of benefit, although synergistic benefits with pharmacotherapy are unclear.
- Refractory overactive bladder symptoms can occur in 25-40% of patients.
- Multidisciplinary management with patient counselling of treatment options and expected outcomes with written information is essential in the management of refractory OAB.
- Intra-vesical botulinum A toxin injections, posterior tibial nerve stimulation (PTNS) or sacral neuromodulation can provide effective second-line treatment.

# References

- Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, Swift SE, Berghmans B, et al. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21:5–26.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Irwin DE, Kopp ZS, Kelleher CJ, Milsom I. The impact of overactive bladder, incontinence and other lower urinary tract symptoms on quality of life, work productivity, sexuality and emotional well-being in men and women: results from the EPIC study. BJU Int. 2008;101:1388–95.
- Stewart WF, Corey R, Herzog AR, et al. Prevalence of overactive bladder in women. Results from the NOBLE programme. Int Urogynaecol J. 2001;12:S66.
- 4. Hakimi S, Aminian E, Charandabi SMA, et al. Risk factors of overactive bladder syndrome and its relation to sexual function in menopausal women. Urologia J. 2018;85:10–4.
- Portman DJ, Gass ML. Vulvovaginal Atrophy Terminology Consensus Conference Panel: Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: new terminology for vulvovaginal atrophy from the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and The North American Menopause Society. Maturitas. 2014;79:349–54.
- Stamm WE, Raz R. Factors contributing to susceptibility of postmenopausal women to recurrent urinary tract infections. Clin Infect Dis. 1999;28:723–72.
- Balachandran AA, Wildman SS, Strutt M, Duckett J. Is chronic urinary infection a cause of overactive bladder? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;201:108–12.
- Corcos J, Przydacz M, Campeau L, et al. CUA guideline on adult overactive bladder. Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11(5):E142–73.
- Hessdoerfer E, Jundt K, Peschers U. Is a dipstick test sufficient to exclude urinary tract infection in women with overactive bladder? Int Urogynecol J. 2011;22:229–32.
- Cutner A. Uroflowmetry. In: Cardozo L, editor. Urogynaecology. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1997. p. 109–16.
- Henry Lai H, Rawal A, Shen B, Vetter J. The relationship between anxiety and overactive bladder/urinary incontinence symptoms in the clinical population. Urology. 2016;98:50–7.
- Llaneza P, García-Portilla MP, Llaneza-Suárez D, Armott B, Pérez-López FR. Depressive disorders and the menopause transition. Maturitas. 2012;71(2):120–30.
- 13. Shy M, Fletcher SG. Objective evaluation of overactive bladder: which surveys should I use? Curr Bladder Dysfunct Rep. 2013;8(1):45–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11884-012-0167-2.
- Vij M, Srikrishna S, Robinson D, Cardozo L. Quality assurance in quality of life assessment—measuring the validity of the King's Health Questionnaire. Int Urogynecol J. 2014;25(8):1133–5.
- Hashim M, Abrams P. Is the bladder a reliable witness for predicting detrusor overactivity? J Urol. 2006;175:191–5.
- Liedl B, Goeschen K, Sutherland SE, Roovers JP, Yassouridis A. Can surgical reconstruction of vaginal and ligamentous laxity cure overactive bladder symptoms in women with pelvic organ prolapse? BJU Int. 2019;123(3):493–510.
- 17. Robinson D, Giarenis I, Cardozo L. You are what you eat: the impact of diet on overactive bladder and lower urinary tract symptoms. Maturitas. 2014;79(1):8–13.
- Majumdar A, Hassan I, Saleh S, et al. Inpatient bladder retraining: is it beneficial on its own? Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2010;21:657–63.
- Geller EJ, Crane AK, Wells EC, et al. Effect of anticholinergic use for the treatment of overactive bladder on cognitive function in post-menopausal women. Clin Drug Investig. 2012;32(10):697–705.
- Cardozo L. Systematic review of overactive bladder therapy in females. Can Urol Assoc J. 2011;5(5 Suppl 2):S139–42. https://doi.org/10.5489/cuaj.11185.
- Smith A, Bevan D, Douglas HR, James D. Management of urinary incontinence in women: summary of updated NICE guidance. BMJ. 2013;347:f5170.

- 22. Nitti VW, Khullar V, Kerrebroeck P, et al. Mirabegron for the treatment of overactive bladder: a prespecified pooled efficacy analysis and pooled safety analysis of three randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase III studies. Int J Clin Pract. 2013;67(7):619–32.
- Jayarajan J, Radomski SB. Pharmacotherapy of overactive bladder in adults: a review of efficacy, tolerability, and quality of life. Res Rep Urol. 2014;6:1–16.
- Cody JD, Jacobs ML, Richardson K, Moehrer B, Hextall A. Oestrogen therapy for urinary incontinence in post-menopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(10):CD001405.
- 25. Lethaby A, Ayeleke RO, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(8):CD001500.
- Simunić V, Banović I, Ciglar S, et al. Local Oestrogen treatment in patients with urogenital symptoms. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2003;82(2):187–97.
- 27. Matarazzo MG, Caruso S, Giunta G, Valenti G, Sarpietro G, Cianci A. Does vaginal estriol make urodynamic changes in women with overactive bladder syndrome and genitourinary syndrome of menopause? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2018;222:75–9.
- Rufford J, Hextall A, Cardozo L, et al. A double-blind placebo-controlled trial on the effects of 25 mg estradiol implants on the urge syndrome in postmenopausal women. Int Urogynecol J. 2003;14:78.
- Robinson D, Cardozo L. Urogynaecology: urinary incontinence. In: Edmunds K, editor. Dewhursts textbook of obstetrics and gynaecology. 8th edn. London: Wiley-Blackwell; 2012. p. 109–116 (Churchill Livingstone. p. 1997).
- 30. Wein AJ. Diagnosis and treatment of the overactive bladder. Urology. 2003;62:20-7.
- Schurch B, Stohrer M, Kramer G, Schmid DM, Gaul G, Hauri D. Botulinum-A toxin for treating detrusor hyperreflexia in spinal cord injured patients: a new alternative to anticholinergic drugs? Preliminary results. J Urol. 2000;164:692–7.
- 32. Wong J, Tincello DG, Management of refractory overactive bladder. Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;18:173–81.
- Miotla P, Cartwright R, Skorupska K, et al. Urinary retention in female OAB after intravesical Botox injection: who is really at risk? Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(6):845–50.
- 34. de Wall LL, Heesakkers JPFA. Effectiveness of percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation in the treatment of overactive bladder syndrome. Res Rep Urol. 2017;9:145–57.
- Peters KM, Carrico DJ, Wooldridge LS, Miller CJ, MacDiarmid SA. Percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation for the long-term treatment of overactive bladder: 3-year results of the STEP study. J Urol. 2013;189:2194–201.
- Brazzelli M, Murray A, Fraser C. Efficacy and safety of sacral nerve stimulation for urinary urge incontinence: a systematic review. J Urol. 2006;175:835–41.
- Veeratterapillay R, Thorpe AC, Harding C. Augmentation cystoplasty: contemporary indications, techniques and complications. Indian J Urol. 2013;29(4):322–7.
- 38. Moon A, Vasdev N, Thorpe AC. Continent urinary diversion. Indian J Urol. 2013;29(4):303-9.



# Management of Female Stress Urinary Incontinence

Giampiero Capobianco, Pier Luigi Cherchi, and Salvatore Dessole

# 9.1 Introduction

Urinary incontinence is defined as a condition of involuntary loss of urine [1]. The three most common types of urinary incontinence are the following: stress urinary incontinence (SUI), characterized by an inadvertent loss of urine occurring as a result of an increase of intra-abdominal pressure due to effort or exertion or on sneezing or coughing; urge urinary incontinence (UUI), denoting involuntary leakage arising for no apparent reason and associated by urgency; and mixed urinary incontinence (MUI), when both are occurring. According to Hunskaar et al. [2], the prevalence and distribution of the types of urinary incontinence in noninstitutionalized women are 49%, 21% and 29%, respectively.

SUI has a prevalence between 10 and 40% of the female population, especially in the postmenopausal age, and has a negative impact on the quality of social, working and affective life of the patients [2]. The wide prevalence range of urinary incontinence, in general, depends on the definitions used in clinical studies (if the loss of involuntary urine takes several times in a day or week or if you consider the last 12 months), from the methodology (telephone interviews, questionnaires shipped at home) and in differences between the populations considered in the world.

The objective of this chapter is to report the current state of the art and new therapies on the management of female stress urinary incontinence.

G. Capobianco (🖂) · P. L. Cherchi · S. Dessole

Department of Medical, Surgical and Experimental Sciences,

University of Sassari, Gynecologic and Obstetric Clinic, Sassari, Italy e-mail: capobia@uniss.it; pcherchi@uniss.it; dessole@uniss.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_9

# 9.2 Methods of Search Strategy

A detailed literature research on MEDLINE, Cochrane Library, EMBASE, NLH, ClinicalTrials.gov and Google Scholar databases was done up to July 2017 with restriction to English language about articles regarding SUI, medical therapy, surgical therapy and most recent treatment options. The keywords used for this review were female stress urinary incontinence, midurethral sling, tension-free vaginal tape (TVT) and transobturator tape (TOT, TVT-O). Original articles, reviews and metaanalysis were included. Studies including exclusively devices no longer available on the market at the date of the review were excluded. Disagreements among authors as to the studies to include were solved by discussion. In cases of duplication, the study with the most recent data was included. In case of cohort studies with multiple publications, the last dataset on efficacy was used.

# 9.3 Pathogenesis of Stress Urinary Incontinence

Urinary continence is the result of the synergy between the structures that constitute the pelvic floor and the sympathetic nervous component, parasympathetic and the motor fibres of the pudendal nerves. An alteration of one or both components leads to an inability of the urethra to counteract increases in abdominal pressure resulting in loss of urine during physical exercises, even minimal in the most severe cases.

Factors that may promote the onset of the SUI are age, parity, especially vaginal delivery and obesity as they can facilitate the onset of a weakening of the pelvic floor support structures resulting in urethral hypermobility. The nerve component may affect both bladder and urethral innervation. Even in this case, advanced age, previous pregnancy and parity may influence this mechanism of urinary continence following the stretching or compression of nerves during the passage of the foetus in the birth canal [3, 4].

# 9.4 Assessment and Investigation of Female Urinary Incontinence

The initial clinical evaluation is the categorization of the woman's urinary incontinence (UI) as SUI, mixed UI or urgency UI/overactive bladder (OAB) because the initial treatment starts on this basis. According to NICE guidelines, if stress incontinence is the predominant symptom in mixed UI, we should discuss with the woman the benefit of conservative management including OAB drugs before offering surgery [5].

Before the use of supervised pelvic floor muscle training for the treatment of UI, routine digital assessment to confirm pelvic muscle contraction is mandatory. Women with UI who have symptomatic prolapse that is visible at or below the vaginal introitus should be referred to a specialist [5].

All women with UI should undertake a urine dipstick test to detect the presence of blood, glucose, protein, leucocytes and nitrites in the urine. If a woman does not have symptoms of urinary tract infections (UTI) and her urine tests are negative for either leucocytes or nitrites, a urine sample for culture is not necessary because she is unlikely to have UTI [5].

Women should complete a minimum of 3-day bladder diaries covering variations in their usual activities, such as both working and leisure days [5].

Assessment of post-void residual urine by bladder scan or catheterization in women with symptoms suggestive of voiding dysfunction or recurrent UTI is good clinical practice as initial evaluation.

In women with UI, the indications for consideration for referral to a specialist service include persistent bladder or urethral pain, clinically benign pelvic masses, associated faecal incontinence, suspected neurological disease, symptoms of void-ing difficulty, suspected urogenital fistulae, previous continence surgery, previous pelvic cancer surgery and previous pelvic radiation therapy [5].

# 9.5 Conservative Treatment of Stress Urinary Incontinence

Figure 9.1 shows the first management of urinary incontinence in women and Fig. 9.2 the specialized management according to the European Association Urology (EAU) guidelines [6]. Recently, among the main care options are included exercises aimed at restoring the strength and muscle tone of the pelvic floor and oestrogenic therapy with the possibility to also associate the administration of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* in a triple therapy that has proven to be effective as the first therapeutic step [7]. Figure 9.3 shows the care pathway of SUI in women. Multichannel urodynamic testing (MUT) should not be performed before starting conservative management [5].

Lifestyle interventions regard reduction of caffeine intake in women with OAB and advise women with UI, who have BMI >30, to lose weight. Adsorbent products, urinals and toileting aids should not be considered as a treatment for UI but should be used only as an adjunct to ongoing therapy and long-term management of UI only after treatment options have been explored.

We should offer pelvic floor muscle training to women in their first pregnancy as preventive strategy for UI [5].

A multidisciplinary team (MDT) for urinary incontinence should include at least the following healthcare professionals: a urogynaecologist, a urologist with a subspecialist interest in female urology, a specialist nurse, a specialist physiotherapist and a colorectal surgeon with a subspecialist interest in functional bowel problems. The MDT should inform any woman wishing to consider surgical treatment for UI on the benefits and risks of non-surgical and surgical options and their provisional plan [5].

#### 9.5.1 Drugs for Stress Urinary Incontinence

Duloxetine has been approved in Europe for treatment of SUI. The adverse effects include mental health problems and suicidality. Duloxetine was effective for SUI in women, but the rates of associated harms outweighed the benefits [8].











Fig. 9.3 Care pathway of female stress urinary incontinence

Furthermore, the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guideline states that duloxetine should not be used as a first-line treatment or routinely offered as a second-line treatment for stress urinary incontinence, given that pelvic floor muscle training is more effective and less costly than duloxetine and that surgery is more cost-effective than duloxetine [5].

# 9.5.2 Laser Therapy

Now, laser therapy has been introduced in the non-invasive treatment of the SUI, already used in the gynaecological field for the treatment of vaginal disorders typically associated with menopause (vaginal atrophy). The lasers used in the gynaecological field are mainly of two types, the  $CO_2$  laser and the vaginal erbium ER:YAG laser (VEL) (so-called because it uses an erbium-doped yttrium-aluminium-garnet medium, (YAG)), which, although not having a microablative function as CO<sub>2</sub> lasers, can induce changes in genital tissues that can induce benefit both in cases of vaginal dryness and dyspareunia and in the treatment of mild and moderate SUI. This type of laser can be used in the SUI therapy with a significant reduction of the symptoms reported by the patients [9-12]. The mechanism of action is attributed to the remodelling, which occurs due to a thermogenic effect of the collagen that constitutes the pelvic floor; with menopause a drastic reduction in the amount produced occurs thus resulting in the decrease of its physiological function of support causing not only urinary incontinence but also facilitating the onset or aggravation of the prolapse of the genital organs. The thermogenic effect is such that it induces in the target tissues a neoangiogenesis, neoformation of collagen, increased epithelial thickness and the content of cellular glycogen thus ensuring greater support for the

urethra. All these changes of the tissues are detectable for at least 6 months after treatment [10]. The first studies on laser therapy in the SUI are due to Fistonic et al. [11] who evaluated through the questionnaire "Incontinence Questionnaire— Urinary Incontinence Short Form" (ICIQ-UI SF) the efficacy and safety of the ER:YAG showing that even in severe SUI, there was a significant improvement in symptomatology, without any particular adverse events being recorded. The efficacy of the treatment is already visible after a single session, further increasing after three sessions with benefits lasting for at least the next 6 months [11]. Although there are not currently enough studies investigating the efficacy of the use of laser in the long term, it appears clear that this represents a therapeutic option that can be developed in the future, minimally invasive for the patient, and with objective benefits demonstrated, not only with regard to the SUI but the whole spectrum of symptoms of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM). A study of Gambacciani et al. [12] evaluated the effects of ER:YAG lasers on the symptoms associated with menopause, demonstrating how patients reported subjective benefits, confirmed objectively by the measurements of VHIS (Vaginal Health Index Score), demonstrating above all how it is a practice very well tolerated by patients with a possibility of results achievable quickly and long lasting, up to 24 weeks [12]. According to this study, the ER:YAG treatment is indicated in all those women who present not only the classic symptoms associated with menopause, such as dryness and vaginal atrophy, but also in the treatment of mild-moderate SUI in those women who cannot benefit from hormonal treatments as is the case of patients with history of previous breast cancer [12].

# 9.5.3 Combination Therapy: Vaginal Topical Medical Therapy and Pelvic Floor Rehabilitation

Significant importance has vaginal topical medical therapy, since oestrogens, which in menopause see a physiological and drastic reduction of their levels, have receptors throughout the genitourinary tract and on the pelvic floor musculature [13]. Oestrogens have an important role in the mechanism of urinary continence since they affect the synthesis of collagen; their topical (vaginal) administration can also act by reducing the frequency and amplitude of the detrusor contractions, thus increasing the sensory threshold of the bladder and promoting relaxation of the detrusor muscle [14]. These oestrogen-dependent mechanisms explain why, with the fall of their values after the menopause, disorders of the urogenital apparatus including the SUI become so frequent. Oestrogenic therapy, in particular estriol, has been extensively demonstrated in literature as being of valid aid in the treatment of urogenital disorders [15]; it also is free of proliferative effect on the endometrium. Intravaginal local therapy with estriol has proven to be effective in the therapy of urogenital atrophy, recurrent infections of the low urinary tract and the SUI in postmenopausal women [16, 17], especially when combined with exercises aimed at the muscular toning of the pelvic floor, a combination that is very well tolerated by the patients [17]. But the effects of combination therapy are only marginal and perhaps not long lasting.

Pelvic floor muscle training should be done for at least 3 months' duration as first-line treatment to women with stress or mixed UI; pelvic floor muscle training programmes should comprise at least eight contractions performed three times per day. Electrical stimulation and/or biofeedback should be considered in women who cannot actively contract pelvic floor muscles in order to aid motivation and adherence to therapy [5].

# 9.6 Evaluation of Uncomplicated Stress Urinary Incontinence in Women Before Surgical Treatment

Counselling about treatment should begin with conservative options. According to the Committee Opinion of American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), the evaluation before primary surgery in women with symptoms of SUI includes six steps: (1) history; (2) urinalysis; (3) physical examination; (4) demonstration of incontinence (cough stress test; if stress test is negative, despite patient symptoms of SUI, multichannel urodynamic testing is recommended); (5) assessment of urethral mobility (cotton swab test; patients who lack urethral mobility may be better candidates for urethral bulking agents rather than sling procedures); and (6) measurement of post-void residual urine volume [18]. Table 9.1 shows basic evaluation findings for uncomplicated versus complicated SUI.

# 9.7 Multichannel Urodynamic Testing

Preoperative multichanel urodynamic testing (MUT) is not necessary before planning primary anti-incontinence surgery in women with uncomplicated SUI, as indicated by observed urinary leakage from the urethra by provocative stress measures, a normal urinalysis result (without urinary tract infection), no POP beyond the hymen and a normal post-void residual urine volume. However, women who have complicated SUI (Table 9.1) may benefit from MUT before initiation of treatment, especially surgery [18].

MUT and voiding cystometry should be performed before surgery, after undertaking a detailed clinical history and examination, in women who have symptoms of OAB leading to a clinical suspicion of detrusor overactivity or symptoms suggestive of voiding dysfunction or anterior compartment prolapse or had previous surgery for stress incontinence [5].

Videourodynamics should be proposed if diagnosis is unclear after conventional urodynamics [5].

# 9.8 Surgical Therapy

The surgery, by techniques such as the retropubic colposuspension by Burch [19], one of the most widely used until about 15 years ago (with abdominal approach in the past while laparoscopic nowadays), the anterior colporrhaphy by Kelly, or the

	Findings		
Evaluation	Uncomplicated	Complicated	
History <sup>a</sup>	UI associated with involuntary loss of urine on effort, physical exertion, sneezing or coughing	Symptoms of urgency, incomplete emptying, incontinence associated with chronic urinary retention, functional impairment or continuous leakage	
	Absence of recurrent urinary tract infection No prior extensive pelvic surgery. No prior surgery for SUI	Recurrent urinary tract infection <sup>b</sup> Previous extensive or radical pelvic surgery (e.g. radical hysterectomy) Prior anti-incontinence surgery or complex urethral surgery (e.g. urethral diverticulectomy or urethrovaginal fistula repair)	
	Absence of voiding symptoms	Presence of voiding symptoms <sup>c</sup>	
	Absence of medical conditions that can affect lower urinary tract function	Presence of neurologic disease, poorly controlled diabetes mellitus or dementia	
Physical examination	Absence of vaginal bulge beyond the hymen on examination. Absence of urethral abnormality	Symptoms of vaginal bulge or known pelvic organ prolapse beyond the hymen confirmed by physical examination, presence of genitourinary fistula or urethral diverticulum	
Urethral mobility assessment	Presence of urethral mobility	Absence of urethral mobility	
Post-void residual urine volume	<150 mL	≥150 mL	
Urinalysis/ urine culture	Negative result for urinary tract infection or haematuria		

Table 9.1	Basic evaluation	findings for	uncomplicated	versus	complicated	female s	tress	urinary
incontinent	ce							

Table modified from: Committee Opinion. Obstet Gynecol 2014; 123(6): 1403-7 [18]

<sup>a</sup>A complete list of the patient's medications should be obtained to determine whether individual drugs may be influencing the function of the bladder or urethra, which leads to urinary incontinence or voiding difficulties

<sup>b</sup>Recurrent tract urinary infection is defined as three documented infections in 12 months or two documented infections in 6 months

<sup>c</sup>Hesitancy, slow stream, intermittency, straining to void, spraying of urinary stream, feeling of incomplete voiding, need to immediately revoid, postmicturition leakage, position-dependent micturition, and dysuria

suspension with needle, is now mostly replaced by the new minimally invasive surgical techniques of midurethral slings (MUSs) including the tension-free vaginal tape and retropubic (TVT) and the transobturator (TVT-O) tape. Another therapeutic option is the injection of urethral bulking agents (UBAs).

We have not included in this review retropubic colposuspension by Burch or autologous fascial slings because there have been no recent high-quality publications relating to these surgical procedures. The treatment of the SUI should be carefully selected for each patient by evaluating the type of disorder, the severity of the symptomatology and concomitant factors that may preclude the use of surgery even with the mini-invasive techniques available today. The preoperative counselling should evaluate patient and surgeon satisfaction with treatment by having a discussion during the planning phase of surgery about individual patient's goals and expectations for their treatment and awareness of potential adverse events [20, 21].

# 9.8.1 Midurethral Slings

The most effective therapy, after the attempt with conservative therapies in case of their failure, is the surgical therapy, which has undergone a breakthrough in the year 1990, thanks to the introduction of the midurethral sling (MUSs), ensuring equal results, in terms of corrective efficacy of the disorder, both compared to the laparotomic Burch colposuspension and the laparoscopic one, but had the undoubted advantage of a lower hospitalization and fewer postoperative complications [22].

NICE 2013 [5] guideline counsels to not offer laparoscopic colposuspension as a routine procedure for the treatment of SUI in women; in fact, only an experienced laparoscopic surgeon working in a multidisciplinary team (MDT) with expertise in the assessment and treatment of UI should perform the procedure [5].

The slings can be made of autologous material, formed by tissue taken from the fascia lata or from the rectus abdominis fascia, or artificial meshes, usually polypropylene monofilament macroporous type 1; in both cases they are introduced by a small vaginal incision and placed "tension-free" in order to guarantee support to the middle urethra. The current trend is aimed at the use of artificial meshes, having been shown the lowest rate of reaction and lowest postoperative complications [23].

The two most used techniques today are the tension-free vaginal tape (TVT), experimented in the year 1990 by Petros and Ulmsten [24, 25], in which the mesh is introduced by the vaginal incision and then directed towards the retropubic space, then coming out from the abdominal wall in the suprapubic area, and the most recent transobturator tension-free vaginal tape (TVT-O), in which the mesh passes through the obturator foramen. Depending on how the needles are inserted during the placement of the sling, we can define the TVT-O (transobturator) technique inside-out (when the needle, bilaterally, goes from the vaginal incision through the obturator membrane and then comes out laterally to the genitocrural fold) and the TOT technique out-inside (when the needles go from an incision a few centimetres from the genitocrural fold and come out in the vaginal incision).

The use of the retropubic midurethral sling (RP-MUS) such as TVT has a higher risk of bladder injury than the TVT-O [26]. Other possible complications of TVT are urinary tract lesions, urinary tract infections and abnormal bladder voiding, which is defined as a post-voiding bladder residual of more than 150 mL. Occasionally, vascular lesions may occur during the placement of the sling due to the passage of the guide trocar in the retropubic space, or intestinal lesions, with risk that increases in case of previous abdominal-pelvic surgery. An indication to the use of retropubic

way is the form of SUI due not to urethral hypermobility but to intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD) with fixed urethra: in such cases its use was found to be more effective than that of transobturator way [27].

An evolution of the MUS is represented by the passage of the sling through the obturator foramen, as in the TVT-O, developed precisely to avoid some of the major complications of the retropubic pathway, such as urinary tract and vascular lesions [28]; complications related to non-complete bladder voiding are also reduced. Another advantage of TVT-O compared to the retropubic technique is the reduction of the duration of the operation, only 15 min on average, and a reduction of hospitalization; on the other hand, patients may report pain, more frequently, especially in the inguinal site compared to the TVT [29].

A modified form of the TVT-O procedure is the TVT-Abbrevo<sup>®</sup> in which a mesh of lesser length, only 12 cm, is used with inside-out technique, from the vaginal incision, coming out laterally to the genitocrural fold. Moreover, in the TVT-Abbrevo<sup>®</sup>, the obturator membrane [30] is not perforated with the guide scissors. Capobianco et al. [31] studied a sample of 56 patients submitted to SUI correction by TVT-Abbrevo<sup>®</sup> technique and followed controls in the postoperative period at 12 and 24 months, demonstrating the high level of success of the procedure with 76.6% of patients who showed a regular urodynamic function at 12 months, 17.86% who had a significant improvement in the symptoms and only 1.78% of the patients examined who showed a "de novo" overactive bladder. The benefits obtained were classified both in terms of patient's subjective well-being and objective measured by urodynamic studies, Q-tip test and stress test with cough, with excellent results also in the long term and high safety profile [31].

Both TVT and TVT-O are associated with high long-term success rates [32], with similar results between the two techniques, as demonstrated by a recent Italian meta-analysis on the basis of data concerning 49 examined studies [33].

However, in the UK and across the world, there has been a lot of publicity and legal action relating to a small percentage of women undergoing TVT procedures who have complications such as erosion and pain. However there are differences in complications between TOT and TVT; in fact RP-MUS showed a higher rate of bladder perforations in comparison to TVT-O [26, 33].

# 9.8.2 Single-Incision Mini Sling

The mini slings represent the third generation of midurethral slings and are differentiated by the use of a single vaginal incision approach as entry and by the less amount of mesh used. It has debated whether or not to submit obese patients to this type of treatment, and a recent study showed that BMI did not affect the outcome (efficacy) of treatment with mini slings [34]. The procedure aims to minimize the risk of major adverse events such as bladder, vaginal, urethral and vascular perforations or erosions and chronic pain that are associated with minimally invasive sling procedures. The SIMSs have shorter tape lengths and different fixation systems to transobturator minimally invasive slings and do not enter the retropubic space (reducing the risk of major vessel or visceral injury) or the lateral half of the obturator foramen (reducing the risk of groin pain), but they are anchored in the obturator membrane or in the obturator muscles. A special tip anchors the sling in place behind the midurethra. SIMS systems may differ in the length of the sling, the fixation method, the fixation location and the method of tension adjustment or control. The mesh implant is permanent, but, if removal is needed because of infrequent complications, the anchoring system can make the device very difficult or impossible to remove. Furthermore, the evidence on efficacy in the long term is inadequate in quality and quantity [5].

# 9.8.3 Urethral Bulking Agents

A further alternative to sling surgery (even less invasive) is now represented by the possibility of using injections of "urethral bulking agents" (UBAs), the use of which is recommended in elderly patients, patients with high anaesthesiological risk or patients reluctant to undergo surgery [35, 36]. UBAs act in thickening the urethral walls by injecting them into the submucosa and elevating the urethral mucosa by restoring the natural continence and urethral resistance [36, 37]. The ideal bulking agent should be easily injectable, with good cost-benefit ratio, and biocompatible and should not migrate from the injection site and cause low inflammatory reaction of the affected tissues [38]. It is also indicated in patients who have already undergone surgery without benefit or with recurrence of symptoms. The American Urological Association recommended the use of UBAs in elderly patients, in patients with increased anaesthesiological risk and in patients who refused a more invasive procedure [39]. In addition, the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) [40] suggests that UBAs are indicated in patients with significant reduction in urethral mobility and in patients who have a history of failure with the conservative therapy of the SUI [39]. Over the years, several materials have been tested, including paraffin, autologous grease, polytetrafluoroethylene, glutaraldehyde combined with bovine collagen, porcine dermis and hyaluronic acid plants. These substances were then abandoned due to health problems, adverse events and marked hypersensitization reactions and because of migration from the injection site [41]. Among the substances used today, as UBAs, the most used are the polydimethylsiloxane (Macroplastique®) and polyacrylamide gel (Bulkamid®). In both cases these are materials that are implanted in the urethral submucosa exerting a mass effect and thus increasing the urethral sphincter pressure and consequently urinary continence. The main advantage of using these agents is the possibility of providing the patient with a less invasive treatment in the care of SUI compared to traditional surgery [42]. For example, polydimethylsiloxane (Macroplastique<sup>®</sup>) is indicated in the treatment of SUI due to intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD). The substance is implanted, during cystoscopy, so as to have direct vision of the area, about 1 cm away from the urethral origin thus going to restore the urethral sphincteric function [43]. There are subjective and objective benefits through urodynamic studies, pad test 24 h and number of incontinence episodes during the day [44]. It is

also possible to repeat the treatment at a distance of time both to consolidate the benefits obtained with the first injection and in case of persistence of the symptoms after the first treatment. Bulking agents are, ultimately, a safe agent in the treatment of SUI, and because of low side effects, they are indicated in case of patients with comorbidities that preclude surgical therapy [45]. Recently, a new silicone-derived elastomer, Urolastic<sup>®</sup>, was introduced into the medical practice; once injected into the paraurethral tissue in a few minutes, it undergoes a change from the liquid state to solid state thereby supporting the urethra. It has proven to be a material that has a good biocompatibility without risks of migration from the injection site and with an excellent duration in terms of improvement of clinical symptomatology precisely for its physical chemical characteristics, which could make it in the future a new option for the treatment of SUI [46, 47].

Women should be made aware regarding UBAs that repeat injections may be needed to achieve efficacy, efficacy diminishes with time and efficacy is inferior to that of synthetic tapes [5].

#### 9.9 Recurrent Stress Urinary Incontinence

Women whose primary surgical procedures for SUI has failed (including women whose symptoms has returned) should be referred to tertiary care for assessment (such as repeat urodynamic testing including additional tests such as imaging and urethral function studies) and discussion of treatment option by a multidisciplinary team [5].

The prevalence of voiding dysfunction, including urinary retention, following MUS procedures, ranges from 2 to 25% with a surgical intervention required to resolve the problem in 0-5% of patients [48].

The rate of a second surgical treatment for recurrent stress urinary incontinence (RSI) after the initial surgery varies according to the studies [49, 50]. In fact, Jonsson Kunk et al. [49] reported a cumulative recurrence of 14.5% with over 155,000 patients examined 9 years after a primary surgery; the type of repeat surgery performed was sling (70.5%), followed by bulking agents (20.1%), Burch (6.5%), laparoscopic (1.5%), needle (0.8%), total vaginal hysterectomy (0.5%) and Kelly (0.2%) [49]. Fialkow et al. [50] had 8.6% recurrence over 40,000 US women who underwent either a sling or retropubic colposuspension (Burch) for surgical treatment of SUI. In a third recent retrospective study [51], the rate decreased at 6% of women retreated within 5 years following their initial standard anti-incontinence procedures (Burch and sling procedures).

Risk factors for recurrent or persistent urinary incontinence after surgical treatment include ageing; obesity; medical comorbidities, such as diabetes mellitus; previous high-grade incontinence; mixed urinary incontinence; and previous failed surgery [52].

The debate in literature at the moment is still open about which of the operative techniques for female recurrent stress urinary incontinence is the most efficient and safest, but there isn't still a consensus, and there are few data regarding the choice of type of surgery for persistent/recurrent SUI.

The choice of the procedure in case of RSI should be individualized and carefully chosen considering the severity and type of symptoms, medical comorbidities and the type of previous surgery. A second anti-incontinence procedure is effective in many women with persistent/recurrent SUI, at least in those women candidate to surgery.

MUS surgery appears to be a good choice in case of recurrent SUI. A metaanalysis of 12 prospective studies with a total of 430 women reported good results both in case of previous sling procedure and other procedures such as Burch colposuspension with cure rate of 79% after any previous surgery and 73% after a prior midurethral sling [52, 53]. Results in terms of cure rates seemed to be higher for TVT compared with TOT midurethral sling (80% versus 54% after any prior surgery); however, data about TOT procedures were too few [53].

The previous procedure to which the patient was submitted seemed to play a role in the following choice of treatment demonstrating that a repeated retropubic TVT seems to offer better results than using a TOT following a failed primary TVT [54, 55].

A retrospective study by Cerniauskiene et al. [56] compared 45 women with recurrent SUI after a first surgery procedure of Burch colposuspension, TVT and TOT. As second surgery Burch colposuspension operation, TOT or TVT procedures were performed. According to this study [56], no differences were shown in the outcomes with the different techniques. Nevertheless, minimally invasive techniques undoubtedly had many advantages compared to the Burch colposuspension operation, and nowadays TVT and TOT procedures are the first choice procedures for recurrent stress urinary incontinence treatment. Repeat surgery seemed also to be associated with a higher risk of intraoperative complications and lower success rate than initial surgery [57].

Regarding medical treatments there is no current evidence about the efficacy of conservative management of SUI for women with persistent/recurrent symptoms after surgical therapy. In general, however, conservative measures are not as effective for treatment of SUI as surgery and should be mainly considered in women who decline or are not candidates to surgery.

Urethral injections of UBAs are an option for women with persistent SUI. They are normally reserved to women who wish to avoid or cannot tolerate an invasive procedure. In a retrospective review of 165 women who had recurrent SUI, after undergoing a synthetic midurethral sling procedure, the use of UBAs showed a higher risk of failure in comparison to a repeated sling procedure [58]. In fact, of this group of women, UBAs were used in the treatment of 67 patients, while the other 98 underwent a repeat sling procedure. The group who underwent a urethral bulking procedure had a worst outcome (38.8% of failure) compared with those who underwent a repeated midurethral sling (11.2%) [58]. Injections often need to be repeated to maintain continence.

# 9.10 Stress Urinary Incontince and Experimental Therapies

There are, nowadays, insufficient clinical data about the use of stem cells (autologous myoblasts, muscle-derived stem cells and autologous fibroblasts) injected in the urethra to treat the intrinsic sphincter deficiency [59].

The artificial urinary sphincter [60] in women has not yet been extensively tested or evaluated with controlled randomized clinical trials. This technique is not recommended as a first-line surgical therapy of SUI [60–62].

# 9.11 Conclusions

Currently, according to the guidelines 2016 of the European Society of Urology and the Position Statement of 2017 of the European Urogynaecological Association, the synthetic midurethral slings are the gold standard for the surgical treatment of SUI [63, 64]. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis on 28 controlled clinical trials on 15,855 patients showed that midurethral slings are more effective than Burch colposuspension and that the comparison studies between the retropubic and transobturator slings have shown a higher rate of subjective and objective care of the retropubic technique but with greater risk of complications such as intraoperative bladder and vaginal perforation (OR 2.4, p = 0.0002), pelvic hematoma (OR 2.61, p = 0.002) and urinary tract infections (OR 1.31, p = 0.04). There was no statistically significant difference in efficacy between the transobturator inside-out technique and that of outside-in though the risks of vaginal perforation were lower in the inside-out [65]. A recent Cochrane Database Systematic Review of Ford et al. [29] concluded that midurethral slings are as effective as retropubic colposuspension but have a shorter operation time and a lower risk of postoperative complications.

Surgical therapy should be indicated only after conservative (rehabilitative, local oestrogenic) therapies have failed. Lifestyle changes such as weight loss and pelvic floor muscle training should always precede surgery.

The current trend is aimed at the continuous research of new therapeutic strategies in order to achieve an ever better balance between high efficacy and maximum reduction of adverse events.

Table 9.2 shows recommendations on management of female SUI [66].

Current data on new therapies such as laser therapy are still limited in their longterm efficacy while showing results that appear to be good in immediacy and that could have a potential role in the future routine medical therapy of the IUS.

	Grade of recommendation
For morbidly and moderately obese women, weight loss helps to reduce UI symptoms	A <sup>6</sup>
Medical therapy and rehabilitation should be the first step of treatment	A <sup>6</sup>
Midurethral slings (MUSs) are the gold standard for surgical treatment	A <sup>6, 29, 63,64</sup>
TVT and TVT-O have high long-term success rates	A <sup>6</sup>
Urethral bulking agents are recommended in elderly patients, in patients with increased anaesthesiological risk and in patients who refuse a more invasive procedure	B <sup>6,39</sup>
The best therapeutic approach for recurrent stress incontinence (RSI) after a sling failure should be individualized. The best choice could be to counsel a repeat MUS (retropubic or transobturator) or bulking agents to women with RSI	C <sup>66</sup>

 Table 9.2
 Recommendation on management of female stress urinary incontinence

A: Based on clinical studies of good quality and consistency addressing the specific recommendations and including at least one randomized trial

B: Based on well-conducted clinical studies but without randomized clinical trials

C: Made despite the absence of directly applicable clinical studies of good quality

# **Practice Points**

- SUI is highly prevalent in postmenopausal women.
- Surgical therapy should be indicated only after conservative (rehabilitative, local oestrogenic) therapies have failed.
- The synthetic midurethral slings (TVT and TVT-O) are the gold standard for the surgical treatment of SUI.
- Urethral bulking agents are recommended in elderly patients, in patients with increased anaesthesiological risk and in patients who refuse a more invasive procedure.

# **Future Research**

- Preventive measures of SUI.
- Define new therapeutic strategies of SUI in order to achieve an ever better balance between high efficacy and maximum reduction of adverse events.
- To taste newer and lighter midurethral slings.
- Define stem cell (autologous myoblasts, muscle-derived stem cells and autologous fibroblasts) role whether injected in the urethra to treat the intrinsic sphincter deficiency.

**Conflict of Interest Disclosure** The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

# References

- 1. Tantanasis T, Daniilidis A, Pantelis A, Chatzis P, Vrachnis N. Minimally invasive techniques for female stress urinary incontinence, how, why, when. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013;288(5):995–1001.
- 2. Hunskaar S, Burgio K, Diokno A, Herzog AR, Hjälmås K, Lapitan MC. Epidemiology and natural history of urinary incontinence in women. Urology. 2003;62(4Suppl 1):16–23.
- 3. Patel DA, Xu X, Thomason AD, Ransom SB, Ivy JS, DeLancey JO. Childbirth and pelvic floor dysfunction: an epidemiologic approach to the assessment of prevention opportunities at delivery. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2006;195(1):23–8.
- Alas AN, Chinthakanan O, Espaillat L, Plowright L, Davila GW, Aguilar VC. De novo stress urinary incontinence after pelvic organ prolapse surgery in women without occult incontinence. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(4):583–90.
- Urinary Incontinence in Women. The management of urinary incontinence in women: NICE clinical guideline CG171. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2013. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG171
- Thüroff JW, Abrams P, Andersson KE, et al. European Association of Urology. EAU guidelines on urinary incontinence. Actas Urol Esp. 2011;35(7):373–88.
- Capobianco G, Wenger JM, Meloni GB, Dessole M, Cherchi PL, Dessole S. Triple therapy with lactobacilli acidophili, estriol plus pelvic floor rehabilitation for symptoms of urogenital aging in postmenopausal women. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2014;289(3):601–8.

- Maund E, Schow Guski L, Gotzsche PC. Considering benefits and harms of duloxetine for treatment of stress urinary incontinence: a meta-analysis of clinical study reports. CMAJ. 2017;189:E194–203.
- 9. Gambacciani M, Palacios S. Laser therapy for the restoration of vaginal function. Maturitas. 2017;99:10–5.
- Baraldi CE, Puricelli E, Kulkes S, Martins GL. Er YAG laser in oral soft tissue surgery. JOLA. 2001;59:17–20.
- Fistonić N, Fistonić I, Guštek ŠF, et al. Minimally invasive, non-ablative Er: YAG laser treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women--a pilot study. Lasers Med Sci. 2016;31(4):635–43.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M, Cervigni M. Vaginal erbium laser: the second-generation thermotherapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2015;18(5):757–63.
- Iosif CS, Batra S, Ek A, Astedt B. Estrogen receptors in the human female lower urinary tract. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1981;141(7):817–20.
- Matsubara S, Okada H, Shirakawa T, Gotoh A, Kuno T, Kamidono S. Estrogen levels influence beta-3-adrenoceptor-mediated relaxation of the female rat detrusor muscle. Urology. 2002;59(4):621–5.
- Fantl JA, Cardozo L, McClish DK. Estrogen therapy in the management of urinary incontinence in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. First report of the hormones and urogenital therapy committee. Obstet Gynecol. 1994;83(1):12–8.
- 16. Dessole S, Rubattu G, Ambrosini G, et al. Efficacy of low-dose intravaginal estriol on urogenital aging in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2004;11(1):49–56.
- Capobianco G, Donolo E, Borghero G, Dessole F, Cherchi PL, Dessole S. Effects of intravaginal estriol and pelvic floor rehabilitation on urogenital aging in postmenopausal women. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012;285(2):397–403.
- Committee Opinion No. 603. Evaluation of uncomplicated stress urinary incontinence in women before surgical treatment. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(6):1403–7.
- Stoppelli I, Milia S, Dessole S, Geromino A. Further considerations on colpo-suspension by Burch's method in the correction of stress urinary incontinence. Minerva Ginecol. 1983;35(6):417–21.
- Capobianco G, Madonia M, Morelli S, Dessole F, De Vita D, Cherchi PL, Dessole S. Management of female stress urinary incontinence: a care pathway and update. Maturitas. 2018;109:32–8.
- Capobianco G, Morelli S, Dessole F, Cherchi PL, Dessole S, Madonia M, De Vita D. Reply to Dr Wael Agur. Maturitas. 2018;110:125.
- Ogah J, Cody JD, Rogerson L. Minimally invasive synthetic suburethral sling operations for stress urinary incontinence in women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(4):CD006375.
- 23. Novara G, Artibani W, Barber MD, et al. Updated systematic review and meta-analysis of the comparative data on colposuspensions, pubovaginal slings, and midurethral tapes in the surgical treatment of female stress urinary incontinence. Eur Urol. 2010;58(2):218–38.
- 24. Ulmsten U, Petros P. Intravaginal slingplasty (IVS): an ambulatory surgical procedure for treatment of female urinary incontinence. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 1995;29(1):75–82.
- Ulmsten U, Falconer C, Johnson P, et al. A multicenter study of tension-free vaginal tape (TVT) for surgical treatment of stress urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(4):210–3.
- Kristensen I, Eldoma M, Williamson T, Wood S, Mainprize T, Ross S. Complications of the tension-free vaginal tape procedure for stress urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21(11):1353–7.
- Kim HG, Park HK, Paick SH, Choi WS. Comparison of effectiveness between tension-free vaginal tape (TVT) and trans-obturator tape (TOT) in patients with stress urinary incontinence and intrinsic sphincter deficiency. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0156306.
- Long CY, Hsu CS, Wu MP, Liu CM, Wang TN, Tsai EM. Comparison of tension-free vaginal tape and transobturator tape procedure for the treatment of stress urinary incontinence. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2009;21(4):342–7.

- 29. Ford AA, Rogerson L, Cody JD, Aluko P, Ogah J. Mid-urethral sling operations for stress urinary incontinence in women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(7):CD006375.
- 30. Kurien A, Narang S, Han HC. Tension-free vaginal tape-Abbrevo procedure for female stress urinary incontinence: a prospective analysis over 22 months. Singap Med J. 2017;58(6):338–42.
- Capobianco G, Dessole M, Lutzoni R, Surico D, Ambrosini G, Dessole S. TVT-ABBREVO: efficacy and two years follow-up for the treatment of stress urinary incontinence. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 2014;41(4):445–7.
- 32. Leone Roberti Maggiore U, Finazzi Agrò E, Soligo M, Li Marzi V, Digesu A, Serati M. Longterm outcomes of TOT and TVT procedures for the treatment of female stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(8):1119–30.
- 33. Tommaselli GA, Di Carlo C, Formisano C, Fabozzi A, Nappi C. Medium-term and long-term outcomes following placement of midurethral slings for stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Int Urogynecol J. 2015;26(9):1253–68.
- 34. Frigerio M, Regini C, Manodoro S, Spelzini F, Milani R. Mini-sling efficacy in obese versus non-obese patients for treatment of stress urinary incontinence. Minerva Ginecol. 2017;69(6):533–7.
- American Urological Association. Incontinence 2017. https://www.auanet.org/education/ guidelines/incontinence.cfm.
- Mamut A, Carlson KV. Periurethral bulking agents for female stress urinary incontinence in Canada. Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11(6 Suppl 2):S152–4.
- Herschorn S. Injection therapy for urinary incontinence. In: Wein A, Kavoussi LR, Novick AC, et al., editors. Campbell-Walsh urology. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2013. p. 2049–69.
- Kotb AF, Campeau L, Corcos J. Urethral bulking agents: techniques and outcomes. Curr Urol Rep. 2009;10:396–400.
- American Urological Association. Incontinence 2016. Linthicum: American Urological Association; 2017. https://www.auanet.org/education/guidelines/incontinence.cfm. Accessed 30 Jan 2017.
- 40. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Intramural urethral bulking procedures for stress urinary incontinence in women. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2005. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/IPG138/chapter/2-Theprocedure. Accessed 30 Jan 2017.
- 41. Kasi AD, Pergialiotis V, Perrea DN, Khunda A, Doumouchtsis SK. Polyacrylamide hydrogel (Bulkamid<sup>®</sup>) for stress urinary incontinence in women: a systematic review of the literature. Int Urogynecol J. 2016;27(3):367–75.
- 42. Siddiqui ZA, Abboudi H, Crawford R, Shah S. Intraurethral bulking agents for the management of female stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(9):1275–84.
- Ghoniem G, Corcos J, Comiter C, Westney OL, Herschorn S. Durability of urethral bulking agent injection for female stress urinary incontinence: 2-year multicenter study results. J Urol. 2010;183(4):1444–9.
- Ghoniem GM, Miller CJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis of Macroplastique for treating female stress urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(1):27–36.
- 45. Kirchin V, Page T, Keegan PE, Atiemo K, Cody JD, McClinton S. Urethral injection therapy for urinary incontinence in women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(2):CD003881.
- 46. de Vries AM, van Breda HM, Fernandes JG, Venema PL, Heesakkers JP. Para-urethral injections with Urolastic<sup>®</sup> for treatment of female stress urinary incontinence: subjective improvement and safety. Urol Int. 2017;99(1):91–7.
- 47. Capobianco G, Azzena A, Saderi L, Dessole F, Dessole S, Sotgiu G. Urolastic<sup>®</sup>, a new bulking agent for treatment of stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Urogynecol J. 2018:29(9):1239–47.
- 48. Smith AR, Dmochowski R, Hilton P, et al. Committee 14: surgery for urinary incontinence in women. In: Abrams P, Cardozo L, Khoury S, Wein A, editors. Incontinence. 4th ed. Paris: Health Publication; 2009. p. 1191–272.

- Jonsson Funk M, Siddiqui NY, Kawasaki A, Wu JM. Long-term outcomes after stress urinary incontinence surgery. Obstet Gynecol. 2012;120(1):83–90.
- Fialkow M, Symons RG, Flum D. Reoperation for urinary incontinence. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;199:546.e1–8.
- Zimmern PE, Gormley EA, Stoddard AM, et al. Management of recurrent stress urinary incontinence after burch and sling procedures. Neurourol Urodyn. 2016;35(3):344–8.
- 52. Eandi JA, Tanaka ST, Hellenthal NJ, et al. Self-reported urinary continence outcomes for repeat midurethral synthetic sling placement. Int Braz J Urol. 2008;34:336–44.
- Pradhan A, Jain P, Latthe PM. Effectiveness of midurethral slings in recurrent stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Urogynecol J. 2012;23(7):831–41.
- Parden AM, Gleason JL, Jauk V, Garner R, Ballard A, Richter HE. Incontinence outcomes in women undergoing primary and repeat midurethral sling procedures. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121(2 Pt 1):273–8.
- Hashim H, Terry T. Management of recurrent stress urinary incontinence and urinary retention following midurethral sling insertion in women. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2012;94(7):517–22.
- 56. Cerniauskiene A, Barisiene M, Jankevicius F, Januska G. Treatment of recurrent stress urinary incontinence in women: comparison of treatment results for different surgical techniques. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2014;9(2):239–45.
- 57. Sivaslioglu AA, Unlubilgin E, Keskin HL, et al. The management of recurrent cases after the Burch colposuspension: 7 years experience. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;283:787–90.
- Gaddi A, Guaderrama N, Bassiouni N, Bebchuk J, Whitcomb EL. Repeat midurethral sling compared with urethral bulking for recurrent stress urinary incontinence. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(6):1207–12.
- 59. Aref-Adib M, Lamb BW, Lee HB, et al. Stem cell therapy for stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review in human subjects. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013;288(6):1213–21.
- Biardeau X, Aharony S, AUS Consensus Group, Campeau L, Corcos J. Overview of the 2015 ICS consensus conference. Neurourol Urodyn. 2016;35(4):437–43.
- Lucas MG, Bosch RJL, Burkhard FC, et al. European Association of Urology guidelines on assessment and nonsurgical management of urinary incontinence. Actas Urol Esp. 2013;37(4):199–213.
- 62. Fritel X, Fauconnier A, Bader G, et al. Diagnosis and management of adult female stress urinary incontinence: guidelines for clinical practice from the French College of Gynaecologists and Obstetricians. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2010;151(1):14–9.
- Hermieu J-F, Conquy S, Leriche B, et al. Synthèse des recommand-tion pour le traitement de l'incontinence urinaire feminine non neurologique. Prog Urol. 2010;20:S94–9.
- 64. Chapple CR, Cruz F, Deffieux X, et al. Consensus Statement of the European Urology Association and the European Urogynaecological Association on the Use of Implanted Materials for Treating Pelvic Organ Prolapse and Stress Urinary Incontinence. Eur Urol. 2017;72(3):424–31.
- 65. Fusco F, Abdel-Fattah M, Chapple CR, et al. Updated systematic review and meta-analysis of the comparative data on colposuspensions, pubovaginal slings, and midurethral tapes in the surgical treatment of female stress urinary incontinence. Eur Urol. 2017;72(4):567–91.
- Nadeau G, Herschorn S. Management of recurrent stress incontinence following a sling. Curr Urol Rep. 2014;15(8):427.



# Screening and Management of Female Sexual Dysfunction During the Second Half of Life

10

Ana M. Fernández-Alonso, Marcos J. Cuerva, Peter Chedraui, and Faustino R. Pérez-López

# 10.1 Introduction

Female sexual dysfunctions (FSDs) are common, affecting 25–43% of women, with lack of desire being the most prevalent. Perimenopausal women report lubrication problems, less sexual participation, orgasm problems, absence of sexual fantasies, less sexual gratification, and decreased sexual interest and activity [1]. FSD increases threefold during climacteric years and is more evident after age 60. Female sexuality is a complex process influenced by many personal and partner factors that may negatively affect quality of life. Although one third to one half of mid-aged women display some degree of sexual problems related to aging and hormonal status, determinant factors may vary according to the studied population, study design, and the used approach [2]. Consequently, clinicians who take care of women should evaluate promptly when they may be vulnerable to sexual dysfunction.

FSD has been linked to the following risk factors: poor physical and mental health, postmenopausal status, stress, genitourinary complaints, sexual abuse, bad relationships, religious beliefs, bad economic conditions, intimate partner violence,

A. M. Fernández-Alonso (🖂)

M. J. Cuerva

P. Chedraui

F. R. Pérez-López Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Zaragoza Facultad de Medicina, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: faustino.perez@unizar.es

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital Torrecárdenas, Almería, Spain

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital Universitario La Paz, Madrid, Spain e-mail: marcosj.cuerva@salud.madrid.org

Instituto de Investigación e Innovación en Salud Integral, Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Universidad Católica de Santiago de Guayaquil, Guayaquil, Ecuador e-mail: peter.chedraui@cu.ucsg.edu.ec

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_10

partner's age, and male sexual dysfunctions (premature ejaculation and/or erectile dysfunction) [3, 4]. Contrarily, protective factors include older age at marriage, partner faithfulness, menopausal hormone therapy, exercise, daily affection, intimate communication, having a positive body image or self-esteem, and the use of hormonal contraception [2, 4–6].

The Fourth International Consultation on Sexual Medicine (ICSM) defined female and male sexual dysfunctions, prevalence, and the risk factors according to the opinion of experts and to current and strong supporting literature [7]. Section 17 of the *International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 11 for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics* defines sexual dysfunctions as syndromes in which adults may have difficulty having satisfying, noncoercive sexual activities [8]. Both organizations used the term FSD.

The fifth edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-5) classifies female sexual disorders as orgasmic disorder, sexual interest/ arousal disorder, and genito-pelvic pain/penetration disorder. The DSM-5 further includes four specific subtypes to categorize the onset of dysfunction: (1) lifelong dysfunction indicating a sexual problem present from the first sexual experience, (2) acquired dysfunction identifying sexual health issues that arise after a time of normal sexual activity, (3) generalized dysfunction referring to sexual issues not limited to a specific situation or partner, and (4) situational dysfunction which occurs with specific partners or situations [9]. Despite this, diagnostic criteria require more precision than before; thus, diagnosis of sexual dysfunction requires the duration of at least 6 months and a frequency of 75–100%. Thus, disorders must cause significant distress, and the "interpersonal difficulty" from the DSM-4 definition has been deleted (American Psychiatric Association, DSM 2013 [9]). The present review will use the old and new nomenclature in order to respect the original articles.

# 10.2 Screening of Female Sexual Dysfunction

During sexual assessment, questions have to be specific, no assumptions have to be made, and a semi-structured interview is recommended [10]. Common questions that may be included are detailed in Table 10.1. The objectives of the sexual history are identifying the predisposing, precipitating, and maintaining factors of sexual symptoms. Menopausal women have the same sexual concerns as young people,

How often do you feel like having a sexual experience?
Are there any situations that help you feel excited?
Do you remember having any sexual fantasy?
Do you ever have erotic dreams?
Do you feel pleasure with sexual activities? Can you explain what you feel?
What do you think has had an influence in the changes you are experiencing in your sexual function?
How long has it been a problem for you?

**Table 10.1** Common questions in a semi-structured interview (sexual history)

and no aspects of sexuality should be avoided [11]. It is recommended to ask about women's current relationship and about partner's possible sexual problems.

Regarding postmenopausal women, Cuerva et al. [12] have suggested to initially omit issues relating to sexuality, unless these are raised by the patient. Then, after 5 min, the gynecologist may offer the possibility of talking about sexuality and ask about possible sexual problems. Using this approach in Spanish women, it was found that 12.1% reported sexual problems during the first 5 min of the interview. However, patients with sexual issues increased to 48.0% when they were asked about sexuality after 5 min. The main factors associated with having a sexual problem were the genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GUSM) and having a stable sexual partner. Therefore, openly asking postmenopausal women about sexuality in gynecological consultations increases the number of diagnoses of sexual problems [12].

Clinicians can also screen women, regardless of age, with the help of a validated sex questionnaire or during a routine review of systems. There are many validated screening tools available. We will briefly mention those which provide a comprehensive assessment of female sexuality and those used to search specific sexual disorders. A high prevalence of different sexual dysfunctions has been reported by using these questionnaires as well as correlations with female sociodemographic and health factors and partner health status and behavior.

## 10.2.1 Changes in Sexual Functioning Questionnaire

The original Changes in Sexual Functioning Questionnaire (CSFQ) is a test that includes 36 items identifying 5 scales of sexual function [13]. The abridged CSFQ of 14 items (CSFQ-14) provides information about sexual desire, arousal, and orgasm. The tool shows construct validity as a global measure of sexual dysfunction, and the individual scales have internal reliability [14].

In Spanish women aged 40–59 years, higher total CSFQ-14 scores (better sexual function) were correlated with better satisfaction with life and inversely correlated to female age and worse menopausal symptoms. The satisfaction with life score correlated with the total CSFQ-14 score and body mass index (BMI) and inversely correlated with economic problems, female tobacco use, lack of healthiness, menopausal symptoms, not having a partner, and partner's lack of healthiness [15]. The prevalence of sexual dysfunction (CSFQ-14 score  $\leq$ 41) was 46% (premenopausal and postmenopausal). Worse sexual function was associated with severe menopause symptoms, low satisfaction with life, and economic problems [15].

About 64.1% of Spanish postmenopausal women (median age 57 years, 17.1% with hypertension, 66.7% with increased BMI, and 48.7% with depressive mood) displayed CSFQ-14 total scores  $\leq$ 41, suggesting sexual dysfunction. In addition, CSFQ-14 total scores inversely correlated with quality of life (total, psychological, and urogenital), and arousal sub-scale scored inversely with global quality of life and urogenital symptoms and orgasm with the global quality of life. In this postmenopausal sample, sexual function correlated with female educational level and

partner education and regular exercising. There is also an inverse correlation between CSFQ-14 score and depressed mood [16].

#### 10.2.2 Female Sexual Function Index

The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI) assesses sexual function of the past 4 weeks. It is composed of 19 questions (FSFI-19) grouped in 6 domains or dimensions: desire (items 1 and 2), arousal (items 3–6), lubrication (items 7–10), orgasm (items 11–13), satisfaction (items 14–16), and pain (items 17–19). Each question can be scored in a Likert fashion from 0 to 5. Higher scores indicate better sexual function [17]. Subsequently, Wiegel et al. [18] determined a cutoff value for the FSFI-19 for the definition of FSD (total FSFI-19 scores of 26.55 or less). Indeed, using this cutoff value, it was found that 70.7% of women with sexual dysfunction and 88.1% of the sexually functional ones were correctly classified. The original FSFI-19 has been validated in several languages. It has been used to assess sexuality of pre- and postmenopausal women and among different ethnical populations and different medical conditions, all displaying good reliability values. Its utility has also been proven in a longitudinal cohort of pre-/postmenopausal British women in whom the main predictors of changes in sexual functioning and satisfaction were desire and arousal [19].

A six-item abridged version (FSFI-6) was developed by Isidori et al. [20] covering desire (original item #2), arousal (original item #4), lubrication (original item #7), orgasm (original item #11), satisfaction (original item #16), and pain (original item #17). Each item is scored as the original FSFI-19. The sensitivity and specificity were 0.93 and 0.94, respectively, at the cutoff of 19 or less. The Spanish language version of the FSFI-6 has been used to study mid-aged Spanish women [1, 2]. Upon multivariate analysis, total FSFI-6 scores positively correlated with both female and partner education and inversely (worse sexual function) with female age, partner alcohol consumption and erectile dysfunction, and total Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) scores and urogenital and somatic symptoms [2].

## 10.2.3 Decreased Sexual Desire Screener

The Decreased Sexual Desire Screener (DSDS) was specifically developed for use by clinicians not experienced in sexual medicine [21]. It is a five-question selfadministered survey that helps identify in a time-efficient manner women with generalized acquired hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD). The DSDS is brief, effective, and self-completed and requires no special training for its application and/ or interpretation. The screener includes five simple "yes/no" questions. The first four incorporate the prerequisites for a diagnosis of generalized acquired HSDD: (1) previous satisfaction with her desire/interest in sex; (2) a decrease from prior satisfaction; (3) bothered by the decline in sexual desire; and (4) wish for the improvement of her sexual desire [22]. Responses of no previous satisfaction with her desire or interest in sex and therefore no decrease from prior satisfaction would be consistent with lifelong low sexual desire or interest. In the fifth item, the patient is asked to identify with "yes or no" responses which, if any, of the seven listed group of factors might apply to her situation, potentially having an adverse effect on her sexual desire/interest [21].

Low sexual desire and the associated distress and behavioral adaptations may impact the partner relationship, or problems in the partner relationship may contribute to low desire. If a woman responds "no" to at least one of the first four questions, then she does not meet the criteria for generalized acquired HSDD but could meet the criteria for either situational or lifelong low sexual desire/interest. If the patient answers "yes" to questions 1 through 4 and "no" to all the factors in question 5, she has generalized acquired HSDD. If any of the factors in question 5 are present, the healthcare provider must evaluate and consider differential diagnoses including biological etiologies of low desire as well as decide whether the responses to question 5 indicate generalized acquired HSDD or situational low sexual desire/interest.

If the DSDS suggests the diagnosis of low sexual interest without distress, distressing lifelong sexual desire, or situational low sexual desire, the healthcare provider should consider strategies that engage education and/or counseling or referral to a specialist. In those with generalized acquired HSDD, the healthcare provider may elicit a sexual history or proceed with the process of care [23].

#### 10.2.4 Screening Tests for Women Who Have Sex with Women

Women who have sex with women may also have sexual dysfunction. Shindel et al. [24] used a modified version of the FSFI-19 to evaluate sexual function in women who have sex with women. This was an Internet-based survey that showed that 24.8% of participants presented FSD, which upon multivariable analysis was independently associated with subjective bothered sexual function, overactive bladder, and having a non-female partner or no partner. In addition, FSFI scores, for all domains (but not desire), were negatively affected by the partner factors and overactive bladder.

# 10.3 Clinical Assessment of Female Sexual Dysfunction

The clinical assessment of FSD starts by a general approach to women's intimacyrelated issues and sexual concerns. When working with special patients like menopausal women, it is convenient also asking about how their specific conditions may affect their sexuality. Specific conditions that may be present in relation to the menopause and can affect sexuality are vasomotor symptoms and the GUSM, pelvic floor disorders, metabolic disorders (overweight or diabetes), adverse mood (depression, anxiety, and perceived stress), or sleep disorders.

The diagnosis of FSD is based on medical and sexual history and self-reports (through questionnaires or diaries) [10]. It should include a comprehensive clinical

interview. The medical history is orientated to identify organic, psychological, and medication issues affecting sexuality. Physical examination is only mandatorily required for sexual pain disorders; however, it may help in every sexual dysfunction at least to confirm normal anatomy and the absence of concurrent gynecological diseases like GUSM or pelvic floor disorders. Laboratory tests are not routinely recommended for the evaluation of FSD. Circulating hormone levels poorly correlate with the assessed sexual function. Androgens, estrogens, and prolactin, among other hormones, are known to be involved in sexuality, but their levels are not independent predictors of women's sexual function. The increase in the prevalence of FSD in the context of menopause shows the important correlation between hormonal status and sexual function, but treatment based only on hormonal therapy does not revert the rise in FSD prevalence. Furthermore, partners of mid-aged women may also have sexual dysfunction and/or work or social issues that may in fact be more negative than hormonal changes as a cause of FSD.

# 10.4 Female Sexual Function and Comorbidity During the Second Half of Life

Both peri- and postmenopausal women need a detailed gynecologic examination that includes the assessment of (1) pelvic floor disorders such as urinary incontinence, fecal incontinence, prolapse, and high-tone pelvic floor dysfunction and (2) menopausal vasomotor symptoms and emotional changes (depressive symptoms, anxiety, perceived stress, fatigue) because each has been associated with decreased sexual desire [25].

# 10.4.1 Menopause and Sexuality

Postmenopausal estrogen loss typically leads to vulvovaginal atrophy and dryness, as well as changes in genital function via reduced clitoral blood flow and decreased sensory perception. Genital estrogen application may reduce the negative effect of menopause, if initiated in the early postmenopausal years/time [26, 27]. In the Real Women's Views on Treatment Options for Menopausal Vaginal Changes study, 63% of women with symptomatic vulvovaginal atrophy reported that their symptoms interfered with enjoyment of sexual intercourse, and 47% of partnered women indicated it interfered with their relationship [28]. Twelve percent of women without a partner reported that they were not seeking a sexual partner because of symptoms related to vulvovaginal atrophy [29]. More intense vulvovaginal symptoms were positively related with biological conditions such as surgical menopause, sexual inactivity, economic problems, urinary incontinence, and the use of phytoestrogens [30].

Menopause has long been assumed to result in decreased desire due to the decline in ovarian testosterone production and estrogen loss. It has also been theorized that fluctuations in testosterone levels lead to decreased libido [31]. Circulating estrone sulfate (E1S) and androsterone glucuronide (ADT-G) are the main metabolites of estrogens and androgens in postmenopausal women. In postmenopausal women, estrogens and androgens are synthesized from circulating dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA) and the vagina layers and nerve density [32]. Postmenopausal women who do not have vulvovaginal symptoms in fact have 16% higher levels of the mentioned metabolites as compared to those reporting moderate to severe symptoms. In addition, estrone serum levels are 14.5% higher in asymptomatic women as compared to those without vulvovaginal atrophy [33]. These endocrine aspects are pivotal for low genital tract health and postmenopausal vulvovaginal atrophy; its correction may improve sexuality.

Bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy at any age is associated with lower total and free testosterone levels. Women should be asked about other pelvic operations, trauma, or radiotherapy because these may be associated with pelvic pain and altered ovarian function. Other conditions associated with lower androgen levels are less frequent than oophorectomy, and potentially diminished desires include hyperprolactinemia and hypopituitarism, adrenal insufficiency, primary ovarian insufficiency, and chemical ovarian suppression. Conditions that may increase sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) levels, and hence lower free testosterone levels, include hyperthyroidism and human immunodeficiency virus infection [34].

# **10.4.2 Pelvic Floor Disorders**

Disorders of the pelvic floor, including pelvic organ prolapse (POP) and stress urinary incontinence, affect approximately one-third of the female population today. There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of POP on sexual function. Crosssectional studies have shown that pelvic floor disorders, including POP, are associated with a large sexual dysfunction burden. Several studies have suggested that pain with sexual activity noted prior to surgery may be attributable to POP. Following surgical repair, most patients experience improvements in their sexual response. However, surgical approaches involving abdominal or transvaginal mesh may result in a decline in sexual function and worsening of dyspareunia [35]. On the other hand, sexual function in women with mild and moderate prolapses may improve with physical rehabilitation.

On the other hand, perineal tears may have a negative impact on female sexual function. Ahmed et al. [36] assessed women who had third- or fourth-degree perineal tears after vaginal delivery (study group), comparing them to women who underwent episiotomy or had minor lacerations (control group). After 12 months, and despite slight improvement, sexual function was significantly lower in those who had tears as compared to the control group. Women in the study group showed significant decreases in FSFI domain scores (desire, arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and pain) 12 months postdelivery [36].

#### 10.4.3 Urinary Incontinence

Urinary incontinence may trigger problems that may contribute to FSD, namely, loss of urine during coitus (coitus incontinence), night losses associated to urgency, and fear of bedwetting [37]. Urinary incontinence related to coitus has been described in two ways: urinary incontinence associated to penetration and associated to orgasm ("squirting") [38]. Fear of malodorous and urinary incontinence during coitus has been associated with alteration of image and self-esteem and, thus, a decrease in sexual activity [39].

Urinary urgency symptoms, especially in the presence of mixed urinary incontinence (MUI), were associated with anxiety disturbances, mood disturbances (depression symptoms), and low quality of life related to stress urinary incontinence that ultimately affect sexual life. Altered sexual domains, as measured with the FSFI, may vary in accordance to the type of urinary incontinence: (1) urgency urinary incontinence may relate to a reduction of lubrication and increase of pain associated to sexual activity; (2) MUI has been related to a reduction of sexual satisfaction; (3) while stress urinary incontinence has no impact on sexual activity [40].

On the other hand, postmenopausal women with urinary incontinence had more severe vulvovaginal symptoms and vice versa [30]. Thus, 77.9% of women presented with at least one vulvovaginal symptom, being the three most prevalent complaints dryness, irritation, and itching. In this population, urinary incontinence of any degree was observed in 54.9%, with 42.6% being slight to moderate and 12.3% severe to very severe. These issues have a negative impact on emotional well-being and body self-image [41]. In addition, vulvar symptoms and diseases may associate with a higher risk for urinary incontinence and other urinary symptoms [42].

#### 10.4.4 Endocrine Disorders

Overt or subclinical hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism have been associated with reduced sexual desire [43]. Oppo et al. [44] reported that abnormal thyroid function (hypo- and hyperthyroidism) significantly impairs female sexual function, as assessed by the FSFI questionnaire, and that restoration to the euthyroid state is associated with a rapid improvement of most of its domain scores. In addition, biochemical restoration to euthyroidism was associated with normalization of desire, satisfaction, and pain domains, while arousal/lubrication and orgasm remained significantly different as compared to healthy euthyroid controls, in spite of some improvement of the orgasm [44]. Correction of hypothyroidism was associated with a normalization of desire, satisfaction, and pain, while arousal and orgasm remained unchanged. Treatment of hyperthyroid women normalized sexual desire, arousal/lubrication, satisfaction, and pain, while orgasm remained significantly unchanged. It seems that the risk of sexual dysfunction is higher among women with nodular goiter [45].

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is often characterized by clinical and/or biochemical signs of hyperandrogenism, with or without oligo-anovulation or anovulation, or polycystic ovaries. Women with PCOS have psychological (feeling less attractive, less feminine, more depressed) and biological (obesity and infertility) factors that may negatively influence their sexual desire [46]. They have worse sexual function, compromising arousal, lubrication, satisfaction, and more pain during the sexual intercourse, besides also having worse self-perception of their health condition than women with normal gonadal function. Obesity/overweight, clinical manifestation frequently associated to PCOS, negatively correlated to the several aspects of quality of life, significantly worsening physical/psychological relation with the environment and health aspects, but it did not correlate to female sexual function [47]. Infertility and alopecia were the most significant factors that contributed to a low FSFI score in women with PCOS, but other clinical characteristics such as hirsutism, acne, irregular menstruation, and android obesity (waist/hip ratio  $\geq 0.8$ ) were not statistically significantly associated with sexual function [48].

# 10.4.5 Depressive Symptoms

Depressive symptoms are more prevalent in women than in men, and peculiar hormone changes during reproductive years and menopause may contribute to this gender difference. However, differences in socialization, education, socioeconomic factors, discrimination, and male factors may contribute to the high rate observed during female second half of life. Women with climacteric symptoms, anxiety, perceived stress, and insomnia may also contribute to FSD associated with depressive symptoms [49]. The presence of depressive symptoms confers a 50–70% increased risk of sexual dysfunction, and the occurrence of the latter is associated with a 130– 210% increased risk of depression [50]. Adding a layer of complexity, most antidepressants are associated with decreased sexual desire [51]. In the Hypoactive Sexual Desire Disorder Registry for Women study, 34% of a clinical sample of women with acquired, generalized HSDD were found to have concurrent depressive symptoms or were being treated with antidepressant medications. However, 58% of women had not been diagnosed or treated for depression before entering the study [52].

# 10.4.6 Cancer

The pathogenesis of sexual problems in female cancer patients is multifactorial, relating to medical, psychological, physiological, and sociological factors. Although sexual dysfunctions affecting women with cancer belong to the same categories as FSD seen in the general population, addressing sexual health issues in cancer patients still meets multiple barriers. Cancer or its treatment may bring many emotional and physical changes that induce women to feel less interested in sexual life. Therefore, patients with cancer are prone to neglect sexual life, with a negative impact on the relationships with their partners. Moreover, time constraints, reluctance of physicians in investigating this aspect, and embarrassment of women to ask about these problems may represent further difficulties in approaching sexual problems in cancer survivors.

Cancer by itself, as well as its treatment, may directly produce FSD [53]. Decreased sexual desire is a common issue for women after a diagnosis of breast cancer, ranging from 23 to 80% of women [54]. Sexual problems are independently associated with being postmenopausal (potentially provoked by chemotherapy), having vasomotor symptoms, and taking aromatase inhibitors [55]. Chemotherapy increases the likelihood of sexual complaints compared with surgery and/or radiation [56]. In addition, aromatase inhibitor therapy is associated with vaginal dryness, dyspareunia, and decreased sexual desire.

# 10.4.7 Medication-Induced Sexual Dysfunction

Chronic use of medication is frequent in postmenopausal women. The most frequently used medications are antidepressants and antihypertensive drugs. This circumstance has to be considered both in the diagnostic and in the therapeutic approach.

#### 10.4.7.1 Antidepressants

Sexual dysfunction is commonly associated with depression. Due to this, it is important to assess possible sexual dysfunctions before and after starting antidepressant therapies [57].

Selective serotonergic reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are known to induce sexual side effects, having a negative impact on quality of life [51]. Sexual dysfunctions have also been observed, however, less frequently, with antidepressants that increase noradrenaline or dopamine uptake and the 5-HT2 receptor blockers [58]. It is advised to discuss with the patient these aspects and the possible influence that the use of antidepressants could have on her sexual life, sometimes having to switch from serotonergic reuptake inhibitors to other antidepressants [57].

SSRIs and serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors are the most commonly prescribed antidepressants [59]. Possible sexual adverse effects of SSRIs are decreased desire, arousal difficulties, and delayed/absent orgasm. The reported incidence varies among studies and ranges from 30 to 70% [60]. Other medications must be considered as a possible source of sexual dysfunction in menopausal women. A detailed list is shown in Table 10.2.

Antidepressants known to cause sexual dysfunctions in more than 25% of users are fluoxetine, paroxetine, sertraline, venlafaxine, and citalopram [51]. They usually affect sexual desire, arousal, and orgasm. Antidepressants like bupropion, vilazodone, and nefazodone are known to have a low impact on sexual function affecting less than 5% of patients [57].

## 10.4.7.2 Antihypertensive Drugs

It is still not fully known if antihypertensive drugs are associated with sexual dysfunction in women. Hypertension, per se, is associated with sexual dysfunction. It is difficult to ascertain to what extent will the medication or the disease be responsible of the sexual dysfunction [61]. In men, antihypertensive drugs like betablockers and diuretics are known to induce sexual dysfunction [62].
Table 10.2 Medications   associated with sexual   dysfunction	Antidepressant/mood stabilizers
	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
	Tricyclic antidepressants
	Benzodiazepines
	Lithium
	Antipsychotics
	Cardiovascular medications
	Beta-blockers
	Digoxin
	Lipid lower medications
	Other drugs
	Oral contraceptives
	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist
	Antiandrogens
	Neuroleptic medications
	Steroids
	Antiepileptics
	Antihistamines
	Anticholinergics

Data from the Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial with 690 women and 26.5% sexually active did not find differences in sexual activity among hypertense women using or not using antihypertensive drugs. However, the study found that women taking an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin receptor blocker were more likely to be sexually active than women not using these medications [63]. Data from the National Social Life, Health, and Aging Project found that women using diuretics had a decreased sexual activity [62].

Although further investigation is warranted, considering what is known from men, and the available data related from women, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin receptor blockers may be considered the antihypertensive drugs with less impact on women's sexual function.

#### 10.5 General Management

After the menopause, the most common forms of sexual dysfunction are genitopelvic pain/penetration disorder, sexual interest/arousal disorder, and female orgasmic disorder [64]. Using a stepped care approach is recommended. The PLISSIT model (permission, limited information, specific suggestions, and intensive therapy) is still relevant and recommended to be followed when managing sexual dysfunction [65].

After the sexual interview, the patient's expectations must be assessed. This is useful for checking up on future progress. For many postmenopausal women, sexual intercourse can remain as the main target when seeking for help. Satisfactory sexual intercourse may be one of the goals in many cases. Another good option for checking progress is the use of validated questionnaires. For the first two steps of the PLISSIT model (permission and limited information), the clinician must work mostly as an education provider [65]. As there is no standard in terms of sexuality, clinicians must avoid giving standard information and provide reassurance [66]. It is important evaluating all possible sexual issues before starting any treatment. Education about sexual anatomy, sexual physiology, and the changes that a woman may suffer after menopause can reduce anxiety and increase acceptance of the normal and pathological changes that may take place [11].

Patients have to be aware of the high prevalence of the GUSM and possible preventive strategies and treatments. It is also important to focus on education aimed at improving the quality of sexual relationship with her partner or partners. It is common that the partners of postmenopausal women may also suffer of chronic medical conditions limiting sexual interaction. If there is a physical limitation, sexual positions or the use of pillows can be taught as part of the specific suggestions [67, 68].

In the third step (specific suggestions), non-pharmacologic options should initially be offered. Non-pharmacologic options include counseling, couple therapy, pelvic physical therapy, psychotherapy, cognitive-behavioral therapy, privacy promotion, body image improvement, and the use of sexual devices. Education on moisturizers, lubricants, and sexual devices and on the possible need of longer foreplay should also be offered. Studies refer that more than 50% of patients describe their treatment as successful after sex therapy [69].

Sensate focus therapy is actually used in most of sexual dysfunctions after menopause. Patients are taught to perform graded series of sensual touching exercises. The objectives of sensate focus therapy are to improve intimacy and reduce sexual-related anxiety while restarting sexual activity gradually. Sensate focus therapy is known to have an important effect on sexual satisfaction and improve symptomatology [70].

When sexual dysfunction has been suffered for a long period, or is complicated with other comorbidities, education may not be enough, and a specialized sex therapy may be indicated, starting the last step (intensive therapy) [71].

#### 10.5.1 Genito-Pelvic Pain/Penetration Disorder

The genito-pelvic pain/penetration disorder is defined when one of the following criteria is presented: pain experienced during attempted or as a result of vaginal penetration; pain, fear, or anxiety in anticipation to intercourse; and tensing of the pelvis in response to attempted penetration [9].

Genito-pelvic pain/penetration disorder is common among postmenopausal women. There are specific conditions in relation to climacteric that can lead to or worsen genito-pelvic pain/penetration disorder. These specific conditions are the GUSM, pelvic floor disorders, and pharmacology-related problems.

#### 10.5.1.1 The Genitourinary Syndrome of Menopause

The GUSM is defined as the combination of signs and symptoms associated with estrogen deficiency that appear in the external genitals, pelvic floor, vagina, urethra, and bladder, which are generally associated to sexual dysfunction [72]. The term was intended to be more inclusive with other symptoms that are not limited to the

vulva and the vagina [73]. It is estimated that the GUSM is present in 50% of postmenopausal women, from 25% in perimenopausal women to 70% in women over 70 years [74]. However, appropriate treatment of different vulvovaginal and urinary complaints requires individual assessment of its components in order to provide a more successful treatment and results [75]. Despite the promotion of some "magic" (panacea) treatments for the syndrome, women still complain because some present a mix of clinical entities that do not respond to a single intervention.

As previously mentioned, low genital tract atrophy is highly prevalent in postmenopausal women, and symptoms' severity is progressive. Vaginal moisturizers and topical estrogen applications have been recommended for decades and still have a place, especially among young postmenopausal women [26]. However, their efficacy is reduced over time since menopause onset increases. A new approach to prevent and treat vulvovaginal atrophy could be based on the vaginal use of DHEA-S or prasterone. Several double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trials have shown that daily intravaginal 0.50% prasterone improves moderate to severe dyspareunia and dryness [76]. Oral use of ospemifene is also a good option for women who are not candidates or do not wish to use vaginal treatments [77].

#### 10.5.1.2 Pelvic Floor Disorders

Pelvic organ prolapse or incontinence can be a physical impediment to sexual intercourse. In addition, prolapse and incontinence often lead to a deterioration of the body image and to the capacity of feeling sexually attractive [78]. Urinary and fecal incontinence, per se, can cause sexual dysfunction. These problems usually require surgery as a treatment, being sexual satisfaction after pelvic surgery influenced by the type of performed surgery [79]. Hysterectomy for organ prolapse has been reported as having a positive effect on sexual functioning [80]. Total vaginal meshes are associated with an increase in dyspareunia [81].

General recommendations for managing patients with pelvic floor disorder and sexual dysfunction are:

- Pelvic floor muscle training has demonstrated an improvement in desire, arousal, and orgasm and should be recommended [82].
- Weight control is recommended as an essential part of the specific suggestions. Increased BMI represents a risk factor for both urinary incontinence and sexual dysfunction [83].
- A careful individualized selection of patients and materials prior to any pelvic floor surgery or implantation of vaginal meshes is recommended [79].

#### 10.5.2 Female Sexual Interest/Arousal Disorder

The female sexual interest/arousal disorder is defined by the presence of at least three of the following criteria: reduced/absent interest in sex, few erotic thoughts or fantasies, decreased start and rejection of sex, little pleasure during sex most of the time, decreased interest in sex even when exposed to erotic stimuli, and little genital or non-genital sensations during sex most of the time [9].

As defined in the DSM-4, the HSDD is currently part of the female sexual interest/ arousal disorder. The loss of desire is estimated to affect more than 40% of all postmenopausal women, being the most common sexual disorder in this population [12, 84]. The management of the HSDD starts, as stated in the "general management" epigraph, with a stepped care approach. Simultaneously or if the non-pharmacological approach fails, there are specific pharmacological treatments for HSDD.

#### 10.5.2.1 Hormone Therapy

Despite knowing that the level of circulating hormones poorly correlates with observed sexual function, hormone therapy has shown to improve sexual function in specific groups of postmenopausal women [85–87].

Estrogens have been suggested as a possible treatment for HSDD. Obtained evidence from the Women's Health Initiative shows that systemic estrogen did not improve sexual satisfaction or desire [88]. Testosterone has been studied and used for the HSDD. Due to adverse effects, most of the presentations are no longer available, and the use of testosterone is almost restricted to topical formulations. Common side effects related to the use of testosterone include decrease of high-density lipoproteins, hirsutism, acne, and virilizing changes with high dosages [89, 90]. However, the UK NICE Menopause Guideline recommends testosterone supplementation for menopausal women if hormone replacement therapy alone is not effective [91], but no pharmaceutical preparation has been approved in most countries.

Systemic DHEA failed at improving sexual desire in peri- and naturally postmenopausal women but was effective when used in women with adrenal insufficiency [92]. However, a more recent evidence from a meta-analysis suggests that DHEA-S supplementation may improve female sexual function, although with some androgenic side effects [93].

Tibolone has shown to improve sexual function and the satisfactory sexual event rate. In a randomized controlled trial, women using oral tibolone experienced a greater increase in the satisfactory sexual event rate and a reduction in sexuality-related personal distress, compared to the control group using estrogen plus nore-thisterone [94–96]. The oral use of ospemifene has shown to significantly increase total FSFI scores when compared to placebo, in the domains of sexual pain, arousal, and desire but only among women suffering of GUSM [77].

The use of vaginal DHEA for 12 weeks may improve four domains of sexual function and the desire domain as assessed with the Menopause Specific Quality of Life and Abbreviated Sex Function questionnaires in comparison to placebo. The arousal domain was improved by 68%, arousal/lubrication by 39%, orgasm by 75%, and dryness during rapport [97].

#### 10.5.2.2 Central-Acting Agents

Flibanserin is the only drug in the USA approved by the Food and Drug Administration for female HSDD [98]. Flibanserin is a serotonin receptor 1A agonist/serotonin receptor 2A antagonist that causes a transient central decrease of serotonin and an increase of dopamine and norepinephrine in selected brain areas. Daily oral use of 100 mg of flibanserin at bedtime has shown to increase sexual

desire, improve the number of satisfactory sexual events, and reduce distress associated with low sexual desire in postmenopausal women [99, 100]. Most frequent adverse effects include dizziness, somnolence, nausea, fatigue, and hypotension making 8–13% of women discontinue the drug [101].

Bupropion is a commonly used antidepressant. Bupropion is a norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake inhibitor with no direct serotoninergic effect. In clinical trials bupropion has shown to improve sexual satisfaction, function, and desire in premenopausal women when compared to placebo [102].

Bremelanotide is a melanocortin 3 and 4 receptor agonist. In clinical trials bremelanotide has shown to increase the number of sexually satisfying events in premenopausal women [103]. No randomized controlled trials have been performed in postmenopausal women. Currently a subcutaneous formulation is being studied. It is administered 45 min before anticipated sexual activity.

#### 10.5.2.3 **Natural Remedies**

Tribulus terrestris is an annual plant that might increase levels of bioavailable testosterone. It has been used in traditional Indian medicine for the improvement of sexual function. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of 30 premenopausal women in each group showed an improvement in desire, arousal, lubrication, satisfaction, and pain domains of the FSFI [104].

Trigonella foenum-graecum is a traditional herbal drug and spice. In a randomized, placebo-controlled trial of 115 women (*Trigonella* n = 59 and placebo n = 56) experiencing menopausal symptoms, treatment with Trigonella foenum-graecum seed extract significantly improved sexual function [105].

#### 10.5.3 Female Orgasmic Disorder

The female sexual orgasmic disorder is defined by reduced intensity, marked delay, infrequency, or absence of orgasm [9]. The female orgasmic disorder is commonly associated with female sexual interest/arousal disorder; due to this, most of the treatments described for female sexual interest/arousal disorder are useful when treating patients affected with female orgasmic disorder. Specific treatments for the female orgasmic disorder include directed masturbation, coital alignment, sexual enhancement products, and specific pharmacological treatments such as phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors and oxytocin.

Masturbation training consists of gradual series of exercises starting with genital auto-exploration, followed by arousal stimuli and ending in masturbation to orgasm (normally in 10-11 sessions) [106]. Various trials have evaluated masturbation training, showing that it increases orgasm consistency, sexual self-acceptance, and sexual pleasure [107].

The coital alignment technique helps improving the frequency of orgasms when having intercourse with a male partner. The coital alignment technique is a variant of the missionary position. The male partner lies above the woman and moves upward until the dorsal side of his penis presses against the clitoris [108].

Improvement in orgasm consistency and sexual pleasure has been observed after using the coital alignment technique [108, 109].

Vibrators and sexually explicit media are often used in masturbation training when enhancing sexual stimulation is needed. Vibrators produce a different orgasmic pattern; they allow more frequent and faster orgasms. It must be taken into consideration that some women may not consider a faster orgasm a better orgasm [110]. Considering that postmenopausal women may not know much about different sizes and types of vibrators and dildos, there is a need for attending physicians to know about the different sizes and materials [111]. Some products may be comfortable for vaginal or anal insertion, but others can cause genital trauma.

Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors have some benefits on arousal and orgasmic function. These drugs work augmenting genital blood flow through the guanosine monophosphate and nitric oxide system. Most studies regarding phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor use do not show a clear clinical improvement in women. Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors do not act on central mechanisms associated with subjective sexual experience; this may be the reason why there is no evidence of improvement on women's sexual subjective experience [112].

Competing Interest None to declare.

Funding: None.

## References

- 1. Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR. Assessing sexual problems in women at midlife using the short version of the female sexual function index. Maturitas. 2015;82:298–302.
- Pérez-López FR, Fernández-Alonso AM, Trabalón Pastor M, Vara C, Chedraui P. Assessment of sexual function with the 6-item female sex function index and related factors in mid-aged sexually active Spanish women. Menopause. 2012;19:1224–30.
- Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR, Blümel JE, Hidalgo L, Barriga J. Hyperglycemia in postmenopausal women screened for the metabolic syndrome is associated to increased sexual complaints. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2010;26:86–92.
- McCool-Myers M, Theurich M, Zuelke A, Knuettel H, Apfelbacher C. Predictors of female sexual dysfunction: a systematic review and qualitative analysis through gender inequality paradigms. BMC Womens Health. 2018;18:108.
- 5. Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR, San Miguel G, Avila C. Assessment of sexuality among middleaged women using the female sexual function index. Climacteric. 2009;12:213–21.
- Ishak IH, Low WY, Othman S. Prevalence, risk factors, and predictors of female sexual dysfunction in a primary care setting: a survey finding. J Sex Med. 2010;7:3080–7.
- McCabe MP, Sharlip ID, Atalla E, Balon R, Fisher AD, Laumann E, Lee SW, Lewis R, Segraves RT. Definitions of sexual dysfunctions in women and men: a consensus statement from the fourth international consultation on sexual medicine 2015. J Sex Med. 2016;13:135–43.
- World Health Organization. International Classification Diseases 11. http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/. Accessed 11 Aug 2018.
- American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5: diagnostic and statistical manual for mental disorders. 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press; 2013.
- Kingsberg SA, Althof S, Simon JA, Bradford A, Bitzer J, Carvalho J, Flynn KE, Nappi RE, Reese JB, Rezaee RL, Schover L, Shifrin JL. Female Sexual Dysfunction-Medical and Psychological Treatments, Committee 14. J Sex Med. 2017;14:1463–91. Erratum in: J Sex Med. 2018;15:270.

- 11. Szwabo PA. Counseling about sexuality in the older person. Clin Geriatr Med. 2003;19:595–604.
- Cuerva MJ, González D, Canals M, Otero B, Espinosa JA, Molero F, Senturk LM, Mendoza N, SMS Young Experts Group. The sexual health approach in postmenopause: the five-minutes study. Maturitas. 2018;108:31–6.
- Clayton AH, McGarvey EL, Clavet GJ. The Changes in Sexual Functioning Questionnaire (CSFQ): development, reliability, and validity. Psychopharmacol Bull. 1997;33:731–45.
- Keller A, McGarvey EL, Clayton AH. Reliability and construct validity of the Changes in Sexual Functioning Questionnaire Short-Form (CSFQ-14). J Sex Marital Ther. 2006;32:43–52.
- Ornat L, Martínez-Dearth R, Muñoz A, Franco P, Alonso B, Tajada M, Pérez-López FR. Sexual function, satisfaction with life and menopausal symptoms in middle-aged women. Maturitas. 2013;75:261–9.
- Llaneza P, Fernández-Iñarrea JM, Arnott B, García-Portilla MP, Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR. Sexual function assessment in postmenopausal women with the 14-item changes in sexual functioning questionnaire. J Sex Med. 2011;8:2144–51.
- Rosen R, Brown C, Heiman J, et al. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): a multidimensional self-report instrument for the assessment of female sexual function. J Sex Marital Ther. 2000;26:191–208.
- Wiegel M, Meston C, Rosen R. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): cross-validation and development of clinical cutoff scores. J Sex Marital Ther. 2005;31:1–20.
- Burri A, Hilpert P, Spector T. Longitudinal evaluation of sexual function in a cohort of preand postmenopausal women. J Sex Med. 2015;12:1427–35.
- Isidori AM, Pozza C, Esposito K, et al. Development and validation of a 6-item version of the Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI) as a diagnostic tool for female sexual dysfunction. J Sex Med. 2010;7:1139–46.
- Clayton AH, Goldfischer ER, Goldstein I, Derogatis L, Lewis-D'Agostino DJ, Pyke R. Validation of the decreased sexual desire screener (DSDS): a brief diagnostic instrument for generalized acquired female hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD). J Sex Med. 2009;6:730–8.
- 22. Goldstein I, Kim NN, Clayton AH, DeRogatis LR, Giraldi A, Parish SJ, Pfaus J, Simon JA, Kingsberg SA, Meston C, Stahl SM, Wallen K, Worsley R. Hypoactive sexual desire disorder: International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health (ISSWSH) expert consensus panel review. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92:114–28.
- 23. Clayton AH, Goldstein I, Kim NN, Althof SE, Faubion SS, Faught BM, Parish SJ, Simon JA, Vignozzi L, Christiansen K, Davis SR, Freedman MA, Kingsberg SA, Kirana PS, Larkin L, McCabe M, Sadovsky R. The International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health process of Care for Management of hypoactive sexual desire disorder in women. Mayo Clin Proc. 2018;93:467–87.
- 24. Shindel AW, Rowen TA, Lin TC, Li CS, Robertson PA, Breyer BN. An internet survey of demographic and health factors associated with risk of sexual dysfunction in women who have sex with women. J Sex Med. 2012;9:1261–71.
- 25. Woods NF, Mitchell ES. Consequences of incontinence for women during the menopausal transition and early postmenopause: observations from the Seattle midlife Women's health study. Menopause. 2013;20:915–21.
- Rees M, Pérez-López FR, Ceasu I, Depypere H, Erel T, Lambrinoudaki I, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Simoncini T, van der Schouw Y, Tremollieres F. EMAS. EMAS clinical guide: low-dose vaginal estrogens for postmenopausal vaginal atrophy. Maturitas. 2012;73:171–4.
- 27. Lethaby A, Ayeleke RO, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(8):CD001500.
- Wysocki S, Kingsberg S, Krychman M. Management of vaginal atrophy: implications from the REVIVE survey. Clin Med Insights Reprod Health. 2014;8:23–30.
- Simon JA, Kokot-Kierepa M, Goldstein J, Nappi RE. Vaginal health in the United States: results from the vaginal health: insights, views & attitudes survey. Menopause. 2013;20:1043–8.

- Fernández-Alonso AM, Alcaide Torres J, Fernández Alonso IM, Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR. Application of the 21-items vulvovaginal symptoms questionnaire in postmenopausal Spanish women. Menopause. 2017;24:1295–301.
- Gracia CR, Sammel MD, Freeman EW, Liu L, Hollander L, Nelson DB. Predictors of decreased libido in women during the late reproductive years. Menopause. 2004;11:144–50.
- 32. Labrie F, Martel C, Pelletier G. Is vulvovaginal atrophy due to a lack of both estrogens and androgens? Menopause. 2017;24:452–61.
- 33. Ke Y, Bélanger A, Simard JN, Gonthier R, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Labrie F. Concentration range of serum sex steroids in normal postmenopausal women and those with diagnosis of vulvovaginal atrophy. Menopause. 2018;25:293–300.
- Davis SR, Worsley R, Miller KK, Parish SJ, Santoro N. Androgens and female sexual function and dysfunction findings from the fourth international consultation of sexual medicine. J Sex Med. 2016;13:168–78.
- 35. Shatkin-Margolis A, Pauls RN. Sexual function after prolapse repair. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2017;29:343–8.
- Sayed Ahmed WA, Kishk EA, Farhan RI, Khamees RE. Female sexual function following different degrees of perineal tears. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:917–92.
- 37. Karbage SA, Santos ZM, Frota MA, de Moura HJ, Vasconcelos CT, Neto JA, Bezerra LR. Quality of life of Brazilian women with urinary incontinence and the impact on their sexual function. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;201:56–60.
- Salama S, Boitrelle F, Gauquelin A, Malagrida L, Thiounn N, Desvaux P. Nature and origin of "squirting" in female sexuality. J Sex Med. 2015;12:661–6.
- 39. Jha S, Ammenbal M, Metwally M. Impact of incontinence surgery on sexual function: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Sex Med. 2012;9:34–43.
- Su CC, Sun BY, Jiann BP. Association of urinary incontinence and sexual function in women. Int J Urol. 2015;22:109–13.
- Hunter MM, Nakagawa S, Van Den Eeden SK, Kuppermann M, Huang AJ. Predictors of impact of vaginal symptoms in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2016;23:40–6.
- Lester RA, Protto RA, Sadownik LA. Provoked vestibulodynia and the health care implications of comorbid pain conditions. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015;37:995–1005.
- Krysiak R, Drosdzol-Cop A, Skrzypulec-Plinta V, Okopien B. Sexual function and depressive symptoms in young women with thyroid autoimmunity and subclinical hypothyroidism. Clin Endocrinol. 2016;84:925–31.
- 44. Oppo A, Franceschi E, Atzeni F, Taberlet A, Mariotti S. Effects of hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, and thyroid autoimmunity on female sexual function. J Endocrinol Investig. 2011;34:449–53.
- 45. Pasquali D, Maiorino MI, Renzullo A, Bellastella G, Accardo G, Esposito D, Barbato F, Esposito K. Female sexual dysfunction in women with thyroid disorders. J Endocrinol Investig. 2013;36:729–33.
- Janssen OE, Hahn S, Tan S, Benson S, Elsenbruch S. Mood and sexual function in polycystic ovary syndrome. Semin Reprod Med. 2008;26:45–52.
- 47. Benetti-Pinto CL, Ferreira SR, Antunes A Jr, Yela DA. The influence of body weight on sexual function and quality of life in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2015;291:451–5.
- Nasiri Amiri F, Ramezani Tehrani F, Esmailzadeh S, Tohidi M, Azizi F, Basirat Z. Sexual function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and their hormonal and clinical correlations. Int J Impot Res. 2018;30:54–61.
- 49. Llaneza P, García-Portilla MP, Llaneza-Suárez D, Armott B, Pérez-López FR. Depressive disorders and the menopause transition. Maturitas. 2012;71:120–30.
- 50. Atlantis E, Sullivan T. Bidirectional association between depression and sexual dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Sex Med. 2012;9:1497–507.
- Clayton AH, El Haddad S, Iluonakhamhe JP, Ponce Martinez C, Schuck AE. Sexual dysfunction associated with major depressive disorder and antidepressant treatment. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2014;13:1361–74.

- Clayton AH, Maserejian NN, Connor MK, Huang L, Heiman JR, Rosen RC. Depression in premenopausal women with HSDD: baseline findings from the HSDD registry for women. Psychosom Med. 2012;74:305–11.
- 53. Alicikus ZA, Gorken JB, Sen RC, Kentli S, Kinay M, Alanyali H, Harmancioglu O. Psychosexual and body image aspects of quality of life in Turkish breast cancer patients: a comparison of breast conserving treatment and mastectomy. Tumori. 2009;95:212–8.
- Stan D, Loprinzi CL, Ruddy KJ. Breast cancer survivorship issues. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2013;27:805–27.
- 55. Panjari M, Bell RJ, Davis SR. Sexual function after breast cancer. J Sex Med. 2011;8:294–302.
- 56. Fobair P, Spiegel D. Concerns about sexuality after breast cancer. Cancer J. 2009;15:19–26.
- Montejo AL, Montejo L, Navarro-Cremades F. Sexual side-effects of antidepressant and antipsychotic drugs. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2015;28:418–23.
- Lorenz T, Rullo J, Faubion S. Antidepressant-induced female sexual dysfunction. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016;91:1280–6.
- Coupland C, Morriss R, Arthur A, Moore M, Hill T, Hippisley-Cox J. Safety of antidepressants in adults aged under 65: protocol for a cohort study using a large primary care database. BMC Psychiatry. 2013;13:135.
- 60. Ishak WW, Christensen S, Sayer G, Ha K, Li N, Miller J, Nguyen JM, Cohen RM. Sexual satisfaction and quality of life in major depressive disorder before and after treatment with citalopram in the STAR\*D study. J Clin Psychiatry. 2013;74:256–61.
- Doumas M, Tsiodras S, Tsakiris A, Douma S, Chounta A, Papadopoulos A, Kanellakopoulou K, Giamarellou H. Female sexual dysfunction in essential hypertension: a common problem being uncovered. J Hypertens. 2006;24:2387–92.
- Spatz ES, Canavan ME, Desai MM, Krumholz HM, Lindau ST. Sexual activity and function among middle-aged and older men and women with hypertension. J Hypertens. 2013;31:1096–105.
- 63. Thomas HN, Evans GW, Berlowitz DR, Chertow GM, Conroy MB, Foy CG, Glasser SP, Lewis CE, Riley WT, Russell L, Williams O, Hess R, SPRINT Study Group. Antihypertensive medications and sexual function in women: baseline data from the SBP intervention trial (SPRINT). J Hypertens. 2016;34:1224–31.
- 64. Bitzer J, Platano G, Tschudin S, Alder J. Sexual counseling in elderly couples. J Sex Med. 2008;5:2027–43.
- 65. Annon JS. The PLISSIT model: a proposed conceptual scheme for the behavioral treatment of sexual problems. J Sex Educ Ther. 1976;2:1–15.
- 66. Herbenick D, Fu T-C, Arter J, Sanders SA, Dodge B. Women's experiences with genital touching, sexual pleasure, and orgasm: results from a U.S. probability sample of women ages 18 to 94. J Sex Marital Ther. 2018;44:201–12.
- 67. Steinke EE. Sexuality and chronic illness. J Gerontol Nurs. 2013;39:18-27.
- 68. Steinke E, Jaarsma T. Sexual counseling and cardiovascular disease: practical approaches. Asian J Androl. 2015;17:32.
- 69. Sarwer DB, Durlak JA. A field trial of the effectiveness of behavioral treatment for sexual dysfunctions. J Sex Marital Ther. 1997;23:87–97.
- Frühauf S, Gerger H, Schmidt HM, Munder T, Barth J. Efficacy of psychological interventions for sexual dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Sex Behav. 2013;42:915–33.
- 71. Bouman WP. Principles and practice of sex therapy. Sex Relation Ther. 2008;23:95–101.
- 72. Kim H-K, Kang S-Y, Chung Y-J, Kim J-H, Kim M-R. The recent review of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. J Menopausal Med. 2015;21:65.
- 73. Portman DJ, Gass ML, Vulvovaginal Atrophy Terminology Consensus Conference Panel. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: new terminology for vulvovaginal atrophy from the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2014;21:1063–8.
- 74. Farrell AE. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Aust Fam Physician. 2017;46:481-4.

- 75. Vieira-Baptista P, Marchitelli C, Haefner HK, Donders G, Pérez-López F. Deconstructing the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:675–9.
- Labrie F, Archer DF, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Montesino M. Combined data of intravaginal prasterone against vulvovaginal atrophy of menopause. Menopause. 2017;24:1246–56.
- 77. Constantine G, Graham S, Portman DJ, Rosen RC, Kingsberg SA. Female sexual function improved with ospemifene in postmenopausal women with vulvar and vaginal atrophy: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Climacteric. 2015;18:226–32.
- Lowenstein L, Gamble T, Sanses TV, van Raalte H, Carberry C, Jakus S, Kambiss S, McAchran S, Pham T, Aschkenazi S, Hoskey K, Kenton K, Fellow's Pelvic Research Network. Sexual function is related to body image perception in women with pelvic organ prolapse. J Sex Med. 2009;6:2286–91.
- Yount SM. The impact of pelvic floor disorders and pelvic surgery on women's sexual satisfaction and function. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2013;58:538–45.
- Uçar MG, İlhan TT, Şanlıkan F, Çelik Ç. Sexual functioning before and after vaginal hysterectomy to treat pelvic organ prolapse and the effects of vaginal cuff closure techniques: a prospective randomised study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;206:1–5.
- Barski D, Otto T, Gerullis H. Systematic review and classification of complications after anterior, posterior, apical, and total vaginal mesh implantation for prolapse repair. Surg Technol Int. 2014;24:217–24.
- 82. Mota RL. Female urinary incontinence and sexuality. Int Braz J Urol. 2017;43:20-8.
- Lee UJ, Kerkhof MH, van Leijsen SA, Heesakkers JP. Obesity and pelvic organ prolapse. Curr Opin Urol. 2017;27:428–34.
- 84. Lindau ST, Schumm LP, Laumann EO, Levinson W, O'Muircheartaigh CA, Waite LJ. A study of sexuality and health among older adults in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:762–74.
- 85. North American Menopause Society. The role of testosterone therapy in postmenopausal women: position statement of the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2005;12:497–511.
- Bhasin S, Enzlin P, Coviello A, Basson R. Sexual dysfunction in men and women with endocrine disorders. Lancet (London, England). 2007;369:597–611.
- Basson R. Review: testosterone therapy for reduced libido in women. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2010;1:155–64.
- 88. Gass ML, Cochrane BB, Larson JC, Manson JE, Barnabei VM, Brzyski RG, Lane DS, LaValleur J, Ockene JK, Mouton CP, Barad DH. Patterns and predictors of sexual activity among women in the hormone therapy trials of the Women's Health Initiative. Menopause. 2011;18:1160–71.
- 89. Shufelt CL, Braunstein GD. Safety of testosterone use in women. Maturitas. 2009;63:63-6.
- Davis SR, Braunstein GD. Efficacy and safety of testosterone in the management of hypoactive sexual desire disorder in postmenopausal women. J Sex Med. 2012;9:1134–48.
- NICE guideline [NG23]. Menopause: diagnosis and management. 2015. https://www.nice. org.uk/guidance/ng23/chapter/recommendations. Accessed 12 Aug 2018.
- Davis SR, Panjari M, Stanczyk FZ. Clinical review: DHEA replacement for postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:1642–53.
- Scheffers CS, Armstrong S, Cantineau AE, Farquhar C, Jordan V. Dehydroepiandrosterone for women in the peri- or postmenopausal phase. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(1):CD011066.
- Wu MH, Pan HA, Wang ST, Hsu CC, Chang FM, Huang KE. Quality of life and sexuality changes in postmenopausal women receiving tibolone therapy. Climacteric. 2001;4:314–9.
- 95. Nijland EA, Weijmar Schultz WC, Nathorst-Boös J, Helmond FA, Van Lunsen RH, Palacios S, Norman RJ, Mulder RJ, Davis SR, LISA Study Investigators. Tibolone and transdermal E2/NETA for the treatment of female sexual dysfunction in naturally menopausal women: results of a randomized active-controlled trial. J Sex Med. 2008;5:646–56.
- Biglia N, Maffei S, Lello S, Nappi RE. Tibolone in postmenopausal women: a review based on recent randomised controlled clinical trials. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2010;26:804–14.

- 97. Labrie F, Archer D, Bouchard C, Fortier M, Cusan L, Gomez JL, Girard G, Baron M, Ayotte N, Moreau M, Dubé R, Côté I, Labrie C, Lavoie L, Berger L, Gilbert L, Martel C, Balser J. Effect of intravaginal dehydroepiandrosterone (Prasterone) on libido and sexual dysfunction in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2009;16:923–31.
- Joffe HV, Chang C, Sewell C, Easley O, Nguyen C, Dunn S, Lehrfeld K, Lee L, Kim MJ, Slagle AF, Beitz J. FDA approval of flibanserin—treating hypoactive sexual desire disorder. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:101–4.
- 99. Simon JA, Kingsberg SA, Shumel B, Hanes V, Garcia M Jr, Sand M. Efficacy and safety of flibanserin in postmenopausal women with hypoactive sexual desire disorder: results of the SNOWDROP trial. Menopause. 2014;21:633–40.
- 100. Portman DJ, Brown L, Yuan J, Kissling R, Kingsberg SA. Flibanserin in postmenopausal women with hypoactive sexual desire disorder: results of the PLUMERIA study. J Sex Med. 2017;14:834–42.
- 101. Jaspers L, Feys F, Bramer WM, Franco OH, Leusink P, Laan ET. Efficacy and safety of flibanserin for the treatment of hypoactive sexual desire disorder in women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176:453–62.
- 102. Safarinejad MR, Hosseini SY, Asgari MA, Dadkhah F, Taghva A. A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy and safety of bupropion for treating hypoactive sexual desire disorder in ovulating women. BJU Int. 2010;106:832–9.
- 103. Clayton AH, Althof SE, Kingsberg S, DeRogatis LR, Kroll R, Goldstein I, Kaminetsky J, Spana C, Lucas J, Jordan R, Portman DJ. Bremelanotide for female sexual dysfunctions in premenopausal women: a randomized, placebo-controlled dose-finding trial. Womens Health (London). 2016;12:325–37.
- 104. Akhtari E, Raisi F, Keshavarz M, Hosseini H, Sohrabvand F, Bioos S, Kamalinejad M, Ghobadi A. *Tribulus* terrestris for treatment of sexual dysfunction in women: randomized double-blind placebo—controlled study. Daru. 2014;22:40.
- 105. Steels E, Steele ML, Harold M, Coulson S. Efficacy of a proprietary *Trigonella foenum-graecum* L. de-husked seed extract in reducing menopausal symptoms in otherwise healthy women: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Phytother Res. 2017;31:1316–22.
- 106. LoPiccolo J, Lobitz WC. The role of masturbation in the treatment of orgasmic dysfunction. Arch Sex Behav. 1972;2:163–71.
- 107. Andersen BL. A comparison of systematic desensitization and directed masturbation in the treatment of primary orgasmic dysfunction in females. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1981;49:568–70.
- 108. Eichel EW, Eichel JD, Kule S. The technique of coital alignment and its relation to female orgasmic response and simultaneous orgasm. J Sex Marital Ther. 1988;14:129–41.
- 109. Hurlbert DF, Apt C. The coital alignment technique and directed masturbation: a comparative study on female orgasm. J Sex Marital Ther. 1995;21:21–9.
- Marcus BS. Changes in a woman's sexual experience and expectations following the introduction of electric vibrator assistance. J Sex Med. 2011;8:3398–406.
- 111. Herbenick D, Barnhart KJ, Beavers K, Benge S. Vibrators and other sex toys are commonly recommended to patients, but does size matter? Dimensions of commonly sold products. J Sex Med. 2015;12:641–5.
- 112. Chivers ML, Rosen RC. Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors and female sexual response: faulty protocols or paradigms? J Sex Med. 2010;7:858–72.



11

# Current Treatment Modalities for the Genitourinary Syndrome of Menopause

Cemal Tamer Erel

## 11.1 Introduction

According to the definition of the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and the North American Menopause Society, genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM) describes all symptoms and signs related to external genital, urological, and sexual complaints secondary to hypoestrogenism during menopause [1]. GSM is a more inclusive term than the term previously used as vulvovaginal atrophy, atrophic vaginitis, or urogenital atrophy. GSM is quite commonly seen among premenopausal (15%) and postmenopausal (50%) women [2–4]. GSM usually remains underdiagnosed and remains untreated. Because either the women may be reluctant to mention about their most confidential problems or the clinicians may ignore to ask for the specific symptoms for GSM. It has been remarked that the prevalence of GSM increased by the years after menopause [5].

Although GSM is commonly seen during menopausal period, it may be observed during reproductive period. In the reproductive period, GSM can be related to other physiological or iatrogenic conditions and disorders associated with hypoestrogenism such as women taking oral contraceptives (OCs), those with breast cancer receiving aromatase inhibitors (AIs) and selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), those using gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist (Gn-RHa) because of different gynecological diseases, and women with hyperprolactinemia or during lactation and hypothalamic amenorrhea.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

C. T. Erel (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Cerrahpasa School of Medicine, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_11

#### 11.2 Symptoms and Signs

Symptoms and signs of GSM can be usually evaluated in two categories: genitosexual and urological. Genito-sexual symptoms are related with the vulvovaginal atrophy. Most common symptoms are vaginal dryness, dyspareunia, loss of libido, lubrication, arousal and dysorgasmia, bleeding or spotting during intercourse, vulvovaginal pain, feeling of pressure, leukorrhea, irritation, burning, tenderness, itching, and vulvovaginal color changes. Since thin vulvovaginal epithelium is inadequately lubricated, intercourse can bring about ulceration and fissures causing dyspareunia and bleeding. Painful intercourse can induce the anxiety toward expected sexual act. Most common signs in the examination of lower genital tract are thinning or pallor of vaginal epithelium, loss of vaginal rugae, increased vaginal friability, intravaginal retraction of urethral meatus, vaginal stenosis and shortening, reduced vaginal-cervical secretion, increased vaginal PH (alkaline), vaginal vault prolapse, cystocele-rectocele-uterine descensus, sagging labia majora due to decreased turgor and elasticity, labial atrophy and shrinkage, fusion of labia minora, shrinkage of clitoris, atrophy of Bartholin glands, introital stenosis, thinning and whitish-reddish color of vulvar skin, and thin gray sparse pubic hair.

On the other hand, most commonly seen urological symptoms and signs result from the uroepithelial atrophy and cystocele. These symptoms are urinary frequency, urgency, dysuria, hematuria, nocturia, postvoid dribbling, stress and/or urge incontinence, and recurrent urinary tract infection. During examination someone can detect the urethral prolapse, polyp, caruncle, retraction of the urethral meatus inside the vagina, cystocele, and stenosis of urethral meatus.

Various epidemiological studies suggested that the vulvovaginal discomfort such as dryness, dyspareunia, itching, burning, and soreness was more prevalent than the urological symptoms (dysuria, urgency, frequency, or incontinence) [5–7]. Most common signs were found as mucosal dryness, loss of vaginal rugae, thinning of the mucosa, fragility, and petechial bleeding.

On the other hand, it has been noticed that GSM was more prevalent and severe in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors who were especially on chemotherapy or hormonotherapy than the normal postmenopausal women [8]. Although both AIs and SERMs are most frequently used drugs as an adjuvant therapy for women with breast cancer, AIs have better outcomes than SERMs [8–10]. These two drugs are recommended to be used at least 5 years in order to reduce the recurrence of risk and death [9]. Although functional mechanisms of these drugs are different, GSM is more severely experienced by AIs users than SERMs.

#### 11.3 Pathophysiology

In the female urogenital area, the vulva is covered by keratinized stratified squamous epithelium, whereas the vestibule, urethra, and vagina are covered by nonkeratinized stratified squamous epithelium. Beneath the uro-vaginal epithelium, there are three distinctive layers: (1) connective tissue layer, (2) muscular tissue layer, and (3) adventitia. In addition, there is a very rich blood vessel network nourishing these anatomic structures. During the embryologic development of female genitalia, trigone of the bladder, urethra, vestibule, and lower two thirds of the vagina arises from the urogenital sinus. Therefore, all anatomic and histologic structures of female urogenital area express estrogen receptors (both alfa and beta) [2, 8, 11, 12].

Estrogen proliferates the stratified squamous epithelium. Basal cell layers of the vaginal epithelium store glycogen under the influence of estrogen. Predominantly present *Lactobacillus* metabolizes glucose into lactic acid which lowers the vaginal pH to maintain an acidic milieu. Estrogen increases the blood flow in this region [2, 8, 11, 12]. Estrogen induces the collagen-elastin synthesis and production of glycosaminoglycan matrix of the connective tissue [13, 14]. Estrogen also stimulates local production of some substances (cytokines, growth factors) which may play an important role in the regeneration of the genital tissue [13, 14]. Estrogen reduces the inflammatory response of the genital tissue. Estrogen restores the number of sensory nerve ends in the vulvar region [13, 14].

Therefore, estrogen provides the strength of the epithelium, connective and striated muscle tissue in the urogenital region. Expandability and distensibility of vaginal wall increase, rugae formation appears, vulvovaginal secretion increases, and vaginal PH decreases. All conditions which lead to estrogen deficiency cause symptoms of urogenital atrophy as mentioned above.

#### 11.4 Quality of Life (QoL)

The QoL of an individual is usually described as a status of being healthy, comfortable, and able to participate in or enjoy life events. There are generic and diseasespecific questionnaires in order to measure the impact of GSM on QoL. However, the measurement of QoL for GSM has many limitations. There is not a unique questionnaire addressing the whole issue of GSM. Since the vaginal discomfort is more frequently encountered in the clinics, the impact of urological symptoms or symptoms due to vulvar discomfort on QoL is usually neglected. According to the new classification of the American Psychiatric Association, genital pain and penetration disorder cause female sexual dysfunction [15]. Genital pain and penetration disorder per se can also trigger the hypoactive sexual desire disorder. Therefore, a doctor should investigate the possible complicated sexual life of a woman with GSM in order to understand the impact of vaginal discomfort on QoL. At this point, either women may be reluctant to open themselves to their doctors about the problems because of personal embarrassment and cultural reasons, or the doctors may not ask the required questions during consultation, since they feel uncomfortable to discuss the sexual issues or have a lack of knowledge about the problems and treatment options [15]. In a recent review article, it has been stated that only 40% of healthcare professionals have asked and talked about their patients' sexual lives [15].

In terms of giving an idea, the Real Women's View of Treatment Options for Menopausal Vaginal Changes (REVIVE) survey claimed that 56% of the participants reported their symptoms regarding the vulvovaginal atrophy with their health-care professionals [7]. On the other hand, European arm of the REVIVE study reported that health-care professionals asked and talked about symptoms due to vulvovaginal atrophy with 62% of the postmenopausal women participating the survey [16]. Nevertheless, only 10% of the participants initiated the conversation. Recently, the Women's EMPOWER Survey informed that most of the participants were unaware of the symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy and they did not realize that the condition was a health issue [17]. Instead, these postmenopausal women accepted their symptoms related to vulvovaginal atrophy as a natural part of aging. Moreover, 50% of the women in this study had never used a treatment, and 70% of them had never discussed their symptoms with their health-care professionals.

More or less different studies showed the same results regarding the negative impact of vaginal discomfort and dryness due to vulvovaginal atrophy on sexual life, self-esteem, emotional well-being, and in summary overall QoL [6, 7, 18–20]. The Clarifying Vaginal Atrophy's Impact on Sex and Relationships (CLOSER) survey included 1000 North American menopausal women with their male partners [20]. The majority of male participants of this study reported vaginal dryness as a cause of avoidance of intimacy (78%), loss of libido (52%), and painful sex (59%).

The other issue is the assessment of QoL in sexually inactive women. Therefore, the new questionnaire which would address the sexually inactive women should be developed and validated for the assessment of QoL.

### 11.5 Examination and Assessment

Careful history taking and examination are the essential parts to identify the impact of GSM on QoL. In the history, previous medical, surgical, gynecological, and obstetric predisposing risk factors to GSM should be identified. Especially other hypoestrogenemic states such as women taking OCs, AIs, SERMs, Gn-RHa, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy and women with hyperprolactinemia or hypothalamic amenorrhea, and women undergone to oophorectomy should be investigated in detail. Habits related with genital hygiene such as the use of soaps, bath gels, powders, lubricants, condoms, pads, tampons, and panty liners or habits to trim or shave the pubic hair should be also asked. Patient's sexual history should include the duration of partner relationship, frequency and quality of sexual activity, and presence of a previous sexually transmitted disease. Lifestyle, diet, exercise, smoking, and alcohol consumption should be taken into consideration.

Most bothersome component of GSM should be determined. The severity and duration should be explored. As mentioned above, since many patients perceive that GSM is an embarrassing issue, they are reluctant to talk about it. Therefore, as the North American Menopause Society (NAMS) suggested, the health-care professionals should be proactive in inquiring the GSM [21].

In the examination, the whole genital area including the vaginal canal and cervix should be carefully evaluated. The vagina may not have normal rugae form and may show thin-pale, shiny epithelium. There may be some erythematous patches or yellowish-green discharge on the vaginal wall. Vaginal canal may have become narrow and short, and cervical and vaginal secretions may be absent. Therefore, vaginal canal may be stenotic and dry. As a result, during the vaginal speculum insertion, the patient feels pain. Therefore, the small-sized vaginal speculum should be preferred. Someone should also evaluate to determine the pelvic organ prolapse into the vaginal canal.

Inspection of the vestibule and retraction of the urethra toward vaginal canal, urethral caruncle, polyp, prolapse, or stenosis should be looked for. Stenosis of the vaginal introitus should be noted. Digital exam may elicit the tonus of the pelvic floor muscles whether they are tense or relax. Digital exam is also important to assess the factors which lead to sexual dysfunction.

The entire vulva, from the mons pubis to the anus, should be inspected, especially the clitoris, prepicium, labia minus, and labia majora. Dermatological lesion should not be missed out. Labial fusion, shrinkage of the clitoris, and sagging labia majora should be noted. Any change in color, turgor or presence of fissure, erosion, ulceration, finally pubic hair, Bartholin glands, and perianal area should also be checked.

During the examination of the genital area, vaginal smear test and PH measurement should be done for the assessment of vaginal health. Any suspicious lesion in the vulvovaginal area should be stained by Toluidine blue, and biopsy should be taken in order to exclude a malignancy. Biopsy may also be performed to differentiate some dermatological lesions. Q-tip test may help in the diagnosis of stress urinary incontinence. Q-tip can also be used to identify the painful area in women suffering the vulvodynia. Of course, in order to complete the exam, transvaginal ultrasonography is going to give us additional information regarding the uterus, endometrium, and adnexa.

#### 11.6 Treatment Options

GSM is a chronic condition and requires long-term therapy. The essential of the therapy should aim to maintain normal vulvovaginal physiology. The therapy of GSM includes lifestyle modifications and non-hormonal, hormonal, and laser treatments.

#### 11.6.1 Lifestyle Modifications

Recently as suggested by the European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS), optimizing the lifestyle modifications for maintaining postreproductive health should be the principal purpose [22]. Since smoking is a risk factor leading to hypoestrogenism, it may worsen the GSM [2, 4, 23]. Being overweight is associated with two- to fourfold increased risk of GSM compared to normal women [11]. Exercise, especially strengthening the pelvic floor muscles, may reduce the GSM [24]. Sedentary lifestyle may increase the GSM [5]. Continuation of sexual activity may prevent the GSM [2, 4, 5]. Overall, sexual activity may have a positive impact on maintaining the normal vulvovaginal physiology in climacteric women.

#### 11.6.2 Moisturizers and Lubricants

The North American Menopause Society [NAMS] recommends the vaginal lubricants and moisturizers as first-line therapy for GSM [21].

Moisturizers contain plant-based or synthetic (mostly polycarbophil-based) polymers for adhering the epithelial cells on the vaginal wall. These substances save and release water into the epithelium to hydrate till the balance of the water content inside the epithelium is equalized. Hence, moisturizers optimize the water content of the epithelium. Moisturizers lower the vaginal PH as well. They help the tissue regeneration and maintain the tissue integrity. Therefore, moisturizers should be continuously used for a long term [2, 4, 12, 25]. The Endocrine Society has recently suggested the vaginal moisturizers to be used at least twice weekly in women with GSM [26].

On the other hand, lubricants are applied to the vulvovaginal area and only used during sexual intercourse. They prevent the dryness and friction which may cause vaginal irritation, burning, bleeding, or discomfort. Lubricants may be used concomitantly with moisturizers. Lubricants are different types of products which may be water-, oil-, silicone-, or hyaluronic acid based. In the market, different lubricants have varying different features in terms of pH and osmolality. Higher osmolality may cause irritation and damage the epithelium of the vaginal wall. Glycol content of the lubricants determines osmolality of the lubricants, whereas paraben content in the lubricants which is stated as an endocrine-disrupting chemical due to the weak estrogenic activity may have a role in carcinogenesis [27, 28]. The PH of the lubricants should be the same as in the vagina of a reproductive woman [2, 4, 12, 25]. While the petroleum content in some lubricants may increase the risk of bacterial vaginosis, oil content may increase the *Candida* species [29].

In conclusion, the right moisturizers and lubricants provide similar moisture, PH, osmolality, and microbiata of the normal vaginal epithelium to an atrophic, dry vaginal epithelium. Vaginal secretion resembles those of normal vaginal epithelium during the reproductive period. Hence, they facilitate sexual intercourse by preventing the vaginal dryness, pain, and discomfort. In addition, ideal moisturizers and lubricants should not cause adverse reactions. Since the hormonal use is contraindicated in women with breast cancer (BC), both moisturizers and lubricants can effectively be a choice of treatment [30].

### 11.6.3 Hormonal Treatments

Hormonal treatments can be applied as local or systemic route. Estrogens, androgens, SERMs, and selective tissue estrogenic activity regulator (STEAR) are used for the treatment of GSM.

#### 11.6.3.1 Local or Systemic Estrogen Therapy

Estrogen therapy is an effective treatment for women with GSM. Estrogen restores the normal vaginal secretion, microbiota, PH, epithelial color, and appearance. It

increases epithelial proliferation up to the superficial layer, hence, the vaginal maturation index. Estrogen stimulates the glycogen storage in the superficial squamous cells. Lactobacilli are dominant in the vaginal milieu in the presence of estrogen. Therefore, in the dominance of *Lactobacilli*, production of lactic acid from the glycogen lowers the vaginal PH. Estrogen also induces the collagen synthesis in the connective tissue layer surrounding the vagina which maintains the elasticity, coaptability, and integrity of the vagina. Estrogen does not only display those effects on the vagina but also on all other tissues having the estrogen receptors in the urogenital area.

Currently in the market, a wide variety of local vaginal estrogen products are available for the treatment of GSM. These are estradiol-containing tablets and rings; estriol pessaries, creams, and ovules; and conjugated estrogens. According to the guidelines of many international societies concerned with menopause, all doses and types of local estrogen preparations, currently available, are effective in the treatment of GSM [21, 22, 26, 31-34]. Those are especially effective in the improvement of vaginal dryness, discomfort, dyspareunia, dysuria, urgency, frequency, recurrent urinary tract infections, and incontinence. Indeed, the Cochrane 2016 review pointed out that there was no evidence of a difference in efficacy in the treatment of vaginal atrophy between the various intravaginal estrogenic preparations [35]. It also signified no evidence of a difference in adverse events (such as vaginal irritation, itching, or discharge) in various estrogenic preparations. However, the most appropriate dose, regimen, duration of use, and route of administration should be carried out for effectiveness and safety issues in the treatment of GSM when the estrogen application is considered [34]. Therefore, lower dose and limited duration of use (less than a year) of these vaginal preparations usually do not need the use of progesterone to encounter the unopposed estrogen for the protection of endometrial hyperplasia [21, 31-36]. Recently, it has been reported that vaginal softgel capsule containing solubilized estradiol might provide an alternative choice to current local treatment for postmenopausal women with GSM [37, 38]. This softgel has an advantage of applying without the need of an applicator and being adhesive to the vaginal epithelium. The treatment of the GSM with the lower dose of vaginal estrogens does not have any impact on exceeding the levels of serum estrogen concentration above the postmenopausal levels [12]. At the beginning of the therapy, the vaginal estrogen absorption due to the atrophy may be excessive, but later, the absorption rate decreases.

On the other hand, the main indication for systemic hormone therapy (HT) administering either oral or non-oral route is the vasomotor symptoms. Beyond the vasomotor symptoms, GSM is another indication for the use of systemic HT. HT is given as estrogen plus gestagen to a woman with intact uterus but given as only estrogen to a woman without a uterus. The chronic use of systemic unopposed estrogen therapy can cause a stimulation on the endometrium leading to proliferation, hyperplasia, and finally carcinoma. There are also unusual side effects of systemic HT such as breast tenderness, vaginal bleeding or spotting, nausea, and weight gain. Systemic HT may have an increased risk of stroke, venous thromboembolism, coronary heart diseases, and breast cancer depending upon some variables (such as

age, the time between the last menstrual period and the initiation time for the HT, estrogen-only or estrogen plus progestin therapy, type and administration route of estrogens and progestins) [26, 32, 34]. Oral systemic HT may not relieve hundred percent of the GSM (75% relief) as even the vasomotor symptoms (85% relief) [39]. Oral estrogen administration may increase the hepatic production of sex hormone-binding globulin, then may cause a decrease in the free form of estradiol in the circulation. Therefore, non-oral route such as patches and gels may be preferred in women with GSM who do not give a sufficient response to orally administered HT.

Systemic HT is contraindicated for breast cancer survivors suffering from GSM while they are using adjuvant hormone therapy [9, 10]. Non-hormonal management should be the first choice in the treatment of breast cancer survivors with GSM [3, 15]. Although there is not a solid evidence regarding the safety issue of using the vaginal lower dose of estrogens in these women, ultralow dose of local estrilo or very low-dose (4  $\mu$ g) softgel capsule of estradiol may be offered for the shortest time [38, 40]. Since AIs especially reduce the blood estradiol level, low-dose vaginal estrogens should not have any increased impact on BC. Management should be based on consulting the situation with the oncology team and having information about the patient's preference, need, and perception regarding the benefits and risks. Informed consent should absolutely be provided.

There is no scientific evident data that local vaginal estrogens increase the risk of breast and endometrial cancer and thromboembolism in women with GSM. Local vaginal estrogens do not treat the vasomotor symptoms nor prevent the osteoporosis.

#### 11.6.3.2 Tibolone

Tibolone is structurally related to 19-nortestosterone derivatives and exhibits weak estrogenic, progestogenic, and androgenic activities [41]. Tibolone is primarily metabolized into  $\delta 4$ ,  $3\beta$ -hydroxy, and  $3\alpha$ -hydroxy isomers. These isomers have different binding affinities for estrogen, progesterone, and androgen receptors. Tibolone has estrogenic effects on vaginal tissue, whereas it shows androgenic effects in the brain. Therefore, tibolone improves vaginal dryness, reduces dyspareunia, and increases libido. Unfortunately, tibolone should not be used in breast cancer survivors with GSM because of a significant increase in cancer recurrence rate [42]. In summary, tibolone may be a good alternative choice for postmenopausal women with GSM, especially suffering from sexual dysfunction not only due to genital pain and penetration disorders but also due to hyposexual desire disorders.

#### 11.6.3.3 Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs)

SERMs exhibit tissue-specific estrogen receptor agonistic or antagonistic activity. Different SERM compounds show different effects in the different tissue having different molecular and functional complexity of the estrogen receptors, mainly different expression patterns of estrogen receptor alpha and beta [43]. SERMs interact with different coactivator and corepressor molecules, and then they cause a conformational change in the complex of estrogen receptor dimer and in the gene expression [44]. Most of SERMs show estrogen receptor agonistic activity on bone,

whereas most of them have an antagonistic effect on the breast. Moreover, excluding bazedoxifene, all other SERMs display the agonistic activity on estrogen receptors in the endometrium [44].

Ospemifene from the SERM family is recently used for the treatment of symptoms due to vulvovaginal atrophy in women who do not want to use estrogen-based therapy or have a contraindication to use the estrogen. Ospemifene has agonistic effects on vaginal tissue [45]. Recommended dose (60 mg/daily) of ospemifene ameliorates dyspareunia and vaginal dryness and improves the maturation index and vaginal PH [45-47]. A very recent publication of six, phase II and III randomized, double-blind, multicenter placebo-controlled studies, evaluating the effects of ospemifene 60 mg on the breast, cardiovascular system, and bone in postmenopausal women, has reported that the most commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse events (TEAEs) with ospemifene were hot flush (8.5%) and urinary tract infection (6.5%) [48]. Discontinuation of ospemifene due to TEAEs was found to be low (7.6%). When the long-term use (up to 52 weeks) of ospemifene for the treatment of GSM was evaluated in terms of adverse effect on breast cancer, cardiovascular disease, deep vein thrombosis, and endometrial stimulation, it seemed to be safe. But, there does not exist solid evidence regarding the safety issue of ospemifene use in the breast cancer survivors as well as the evidence regarding the efficacy issue on urologic components of the GSM [9, 10, 49].

#### 11.6.3.4 Tissue-Selective Estrogen Complex (TSEC)

The TSEC is a compound which comes from merging a SERM (bazedoxifene, BZA) and an estrogen (conjugated equine estrogen, CEE). Therefore, an ideal TSEC would combine the estrogenic agonistic activities (on vasomotor symptoms, vulvovaginal atrophy, and bone) with the estrogen-antagonistic activities (on the endometrium and breast).

Indeed, a review of the randomized controlled studies regarding the efficacy of a certain type of TSEC compound (BZA plus CEE) has clearly shown the improvement in the maturation of the vaginal epithelium and PH [26, 49, 50]. An increase in the percentage of superficial cells while a decrease in the parabasal cells was observed. It has been reported that there was a reduction of the severity in GSM including dyspareunia, vaginal dryness, itching, and burning, in both two different doses of BZA plus CEE (20 mg BZA plus 0.425 mg CEE and 20 mg BZA plus 0.625 mg CEE). Moreover, BZA plus CEE-specific TSEC reduces the hot flushes and sleep quality and subsequently improves the quality of life. It has a positive impact on the bone, whereas it exerts estrogen-antagonistic activity on the breast and endometrial tissue. But there is no solid evidence regarding the safety issue of BZA plus CEE use in the breast cancer survivors as well as the evidence regarding the efficacy issue on urologic components of the GSM [9, 10, 26, 49]. Venous thromboembolism risk of BZA plus CEE should not be ignored.

#### 11.6.3.5 Local Androgens

Although the prescription of testosterone is very common for the treatment of hypoactive sexual desire disorder in women, the FDA has not approved testosterone as a therapy option because of the lack of evidence regarding the long-term safety issue [51]. On the other hand, androgen receptors present throughout the urogenital tract. After menopause not only a decrease in estradiol levels in the circulation is seen, but also a decrease in circulating levels of testosterone is detected. In accordance with this decrease in testosterone levels in the circulation, there is an extinction of androgen receptors in the tissue of the urogenital tract likewise all other different types of tissues expressing the androgen receptors. However, androgen supplementation induces the replenishment of androgen receptors in the tissue of the urogenital tract [52]. In addition, the vaginal epithelium expresses the aromatase activity which converts the androgens to estrogens [53].

Recently, the use of intravaginal testosterone for treatment of vulvovaginal atrophy in women has been reviewed for efficacy and safety issues in six clinical trials of which three included the women taking AIs [54]. The publication suggests that intravaginal testosterone decreases vaginal pH, provides the vaginal dominance of Lactobacilli, and improves the vaginal maturation index [53]. GSM, including dryness and dyspareunia, is improved significantly by the application of intravaginal testosterone. However, there are some weak points of the studies such as the duration of the use of intravaginal testosterone, the number of patients, the lack of placebo group, and finally the uncertainty of the effect on sexual function. These prevent us to reach a firm conclusion regarding the safety and efficacy of intravaginal use of testosterone.

Another weak androgen is dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) which is mainly produced in surrenal gland and has been recently used for the treatment of GSM [55, 56]. DHEA starts to decrease at around the age of 30. For insufficient production of estrogens and androgens after menopause, DHEA becomes the exclusive source for these sex steroids in peripheral tissues. Indeed, each peripheral tissue having the ability of expression of some specific steroid-forming enzymes transforms DHEA into the appropriate small amounts of estrogens and androgens for the absolutely intracellular and local action [57]. On the other hand, there are intracellular steroid-inactivating enzymes in humans which inactivate the estrogens and androgens at the site where they are synthesized inside the cell.

Local use of vaginal DHEA successfully treats women with GSM. The clinical data regarding the small dose of intravaginal DHEA shows an improvement in the vaginal maturation index and PH without significant changes in serum estradiol and testosterone levels [57]. Intravaginal DHEA provides improvement in sexual desire/interest, arousal and orgasm and lessens pain during sexual activity. It relieves dyspareunia, vaginal dryness, irritation, or itching without systemic effect. It also ameliorates vaginal epithelial thickness, integrity, and color and increases the vaginal secretion [55]. It can be concluded that the daily intravaginal administration of 0.50% (6.5 mg) DHEA is effective in the treatment of GSM without systemic effect. Moreover, daily use of 6.5 mg (0.50%) DHEA has been found to be comparable efficacious with 0.3 mg CEE or 10  $\mu$ g E2 in the treatment of GSM [56]. There is no clinical evidence regarding the intravaginal use of DHEA on specifically urological symptoms. Although there is not any evidence regarding the intravaginal use of DHEA in breast cancer survivor, the recommendation has been thought to be acceptable by some authors [10, 11].

#### 11.6.4 Laser Treatment

Light amplification by stimulated emission of radiation (LASER) is currently suggested to be used for the treatment of GSM [2, 8, 58-62]. Before looking into the available clinical evidence regarding the results of laser treatment in women with GSM, it would be better to mention briefly the laser basics and its tissue effects. Three important characteristics of laser light are collimation, monochromy, and coherence. Wavelength of laser light can be in the different electromagnetic spectrum ranging from the ultraviolet (157-400 nm), visible (400-800 nm), nearinfrared (800–3000 nm), mid-infrared (3000–30,000 nm) to far infrared (more than 30,000 nm). Laser light may be absorbed, transmitted, reflected, and scattered by the tissue. Absorption of laser light by the target tissue which is the most important effect may cause photothermal (most desirable effect), photochemical, and photomechanical reactions. Besides the energy power applied, the different wavelength and tissue chromophore (such as melanin and hemoglobin) and water content determine the photothermal effects of laser light in the tissue. Melanin and hemoglobin absorb the light in the spectrum of visible and near-infrared, while the water in the mid-infrared. On the other hand, the same applied energy may cause a different effect in the tissue (such as superficial carbonization, coagulation, and cell activation due to thermal conduction) by changing the parameters of power and exposure time of the laser light [58].

Nowadays, two forms of laser are mainly used for the treatment of GSM in the market: carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and erbium:yttrium-aluminum-garnet (Erb:YAG). Emitted wavelength of CO<sub>2</sub> laser light is 10,600 nm, while it is 2940 nm for Erb:YAG laser. When compared to the Erb:YAG laser to CO<sub>2</sub> laser in terms of their technical features and tissue effects, Erb:YAG laser has nearly 16 times more absorption rate in water, less penetration depth, and thermal diffusion without ablation. Hence, Erb:YAG laser usually has less discomfort, erythema, edema, and faster recovery rate [58, 60].

There are two types of laser beam delivery techniques: fractional ablative and non-ablative techniques. Fractional laser beams create microscopic tissue injury columns alongside the non-traumatized tissue columns which stimulate the recovery. In the non-ablative technique, Erb: YAG laser is used in the smooth mode pulse by altering the pulse duration without causing ablation in the tissue [58]. There are two types of laser effects in the target tissue in terms of timing: early or immediate effect and late effect [58, 59]. The first and early effect is the thermomechanical effect. Thermomechanical effect which usually occurs when the epithelial tissue heats above the 60-65 °C is the tissue ablation and then the tissue tightening by the immediate shrinkage of the collagen. Moreover, the heat conduction is transmitted to the deeper layer of the epithelium by decreasing temperature down to 40-45 °C. This range of tissue temperature is ideal for the breakdown of the collagen fibrils and also cell activation. This is the second or late effect of laser light in the target tissue. This effect takes time. Because at this point, 40-45 °C temperature increases the heat shock response (HSR); in turn heat shock protein production by the tissue increases [58]. HSP70 especially plays an important role in the expression of some growth factors (such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , basic

fibroblast growth factor, epidermal growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor), cytokines (such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ), and interleukin-1 $\beta$  in the target tissue [58]. These local factors are responsible from the inflammatory response, fibrogenic process, and the new production of collagen and extracellular matrix. In addition, these substances improve the microvascularization and enhance the oxygenation of the tissue.

Indeed, histopathologic studies verify collagen remodeling, new collagen synthesis (neocollagenogenesis), the increase in elastin content (elastogenesis), and new formation of blood capillaries (neoangiogenesis) after an immediate tissue shrinkage following laser treatment [58, 59, 63–65]. There is an increase in tissue collagen and elastin content. The vaginal epithelium gets thicker. Rugae formation reappears. The vagina becomes tight and elastic. Superficial epithelial cells of the vagina contain glycogen; thus, vaginal microbiata changes to normal flora and the vaginal PH decreases [58–62, 66, 67].

Laser treatment for GSM can be applied by a specifically designed vaginal or urethral cannula or external beam shot directed to the vulva. Although both laser types (CO<sub>2</sub> and Erb:YAG) can be applied to vulvovaginal area, intraurethral cannula is recently present only for the application of the Erb:YAG laser [68]. Even the intraurethral cannula can safely be inserted along the urethra under the ultrasonographic guidance [69]. Although most of the studies are lacking solid evidence, they reach a consensus on that both types of laser treatments improve the atrophic vaginal epithelium [58-67, 70-76]. The studies usually have the limited number of patients, short duration of follow-up, no consistency regarding the evaluation and treatment protocols, and finally lack of control groups and proper randomization. However, available data has shown that the intravaginal laser application improved the Vaginal Health Index Score (VHIS) which includes vaginal elasticity, pH, discharge, mucosal integrity, and moisture [60-62, 70-76]. Another consisting result is the fact that Visual Analog Scale (VAS) for the vaginal dryness, dyspareunia, itching, burning, and dysuria has shown an improvement after the vaginal laser treatment of GSM [60-62, 70-76]. Usually, three laser sessions have been recommended for the treatment of symptoms due to the vaginal atrophy, but an extra fourth or fifth sessions might further increase the GSM symptom-free rate [60, 62, 70–72, 74]. Recently, it has reported that the improvement in the atrophic vaginal epithelium provided by the laser treatment was found to be comparable with the estrogen treatment [60, 70]. Even the laser treatment is better, since its maintenance of vaginal health continues longer duration after the cessation of therapy [60]. Its effect on the vaginal health can last ranging from 12 to 24 months [71, 72, 76]. Intravaginal laser treatment also provides an increase in sexual gratification [63, 73, 74, 76–78]. This improvement in sexual function is not only due to vaginal health, but it also ameliorates the vaginal relaxation in some degree [60, 63]. Moreover, intravaginal laser application was defined as an acceptable procedure by most of the patients [66]. Breast cancer survivors with vulvovaginal atrophy may be treated safely and effectively by intravaginal laser application [71, 75]. In addition to vaginal atrophy symptoms, other symptoms (such as pain, itching, burning) due to lichen sclerosus et atrophicus, lichen planus, and other atrophic changes in the vulva may be improved by the application of laser light [58].

Intravaginal laser application may treat the urological components of the GSM such as dysuria, frequency, urgency, and urinary incontinence [58–60, 74, 76–82]. After the laser application, most of the studies report an improvement in urological symptoms which are usually determined by the International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Urinary Incontinence Short Form (ICIQ-UI SF). Although there is not a randomized controlled trial, intravaginal laser treatment may relieve the symptoms of stress urinary incontinence (SUI) [77-82]. Erb: YAG laser has been used to treat the SUI in most of the studies. It has been suggested that younger age and normal BMI women with moderate to severe SUI showed better improvement [79]. The patients who had more severe UI had the greatest benefit from the laser therapy [78, 81]. On the other hand, patients with SUI had a higher rate of improvement than those with mixed urinary incontinence [81]. In addition to the success of laser therapy for SUI, a study reported a decrease in pad weights before and after the operation, while no differences were found in urodynamic values [77]. Three years after the initial treatment, the laser therapy might be repeated in some patients with mild incontinence [81]. Optimal results can be achieved after three sessions with 3-4-week interval. Specific group of patient having SUI with poor intrinsic sphincter function who is defined as intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD) may be treated by the application of an intraurethral cannula with non-ablative Erb:YAG laser tip [68]. During this treatment, ultrasound guidance of the intraurethral laser cannula allows us to treat the patients with ISD, safely [69].

### References

- 1. Portman DJ, Gass ML, Vulvovaginal Atrophy Terminology Consensus Conference Panel. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: new terminology for vulvovaginal atrophy from the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2014;21:1063–8.
- Gandhi J, Chen A, Dagur G, Suh Y, Smith N, Cali B, Khan SA. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: an overview of manifestations, pathophysiology, etiology, evaluation, and management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;215(6):704–11.
- Faubion SS, Sood R, Kapoor E. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: management strategies for the clinician. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92(12):1842–9.
- 4. Palacios S, Mejia A, Neyro JL. Treatment of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):23–9.
- Palma F, Volpe A, Villa P, Cagnacci A, as the Writing Group of the AGATA Study. Vaginal atrophy of women in postmenopause. Results from a multicentric observational study: the AGATA study. Maturitas. 2016;83:40–4.
- 6. Nappi RE, Kokot-Kierepa M. Vaginal health: insights, views & attitudes (VIVA)—results from an international survey. Climacteric. 2012;15:36–44.
- Kingsberg SA, Wysocki S, Magnus L, Krychman ML. Vulvar and vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women: findings from the REVIVE (Real Women's VIews of treatment options for menopausal vaginal ChangEs) survey. J Sex Med. 2013;10:1790–9.
- Hutchinson-Colas J, Segal S. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause and the use of laser therapy. Maturitas. 2015;82:342–5.
- Sousa MS, Peate M, Jarvis S, Hickey M, Friedlander M. A clinical guide to the management of genitourinary symptoms in breast cancer survivors on endocrine therapy. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2017;9(4):269–85.

- Biglia N, Bounous VE, Sgro LG, D'Alonzo M, Pecchio S, Nappi RE. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause in breast cancer survivors: are we facing new and safe hopes? Clin Breast Cancer. 2015;15(6):413–20.
- Monteleone P, Mascagni G, Giannini A, Genazzani AR, Tommaso Simoncini T. Symptoms of menopause—global prevalence, physiology and implications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018;14:199–215.
- 12. Palacios S, Castelo-Branco C, Currie H, Mijatovic V, Nappie RE, Simon J, Rees M. Update on management of genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a practical guide. Maturitas. 2015;82:307–12.
- 13. Brincat MP, Baron YM, Galea R. Estrogens and the skin. Climacteric. 2005;8:110-23.
- 14. Thornton MJ. Estrogens and aging skin. Dermatoendocrinology. 2013;5(2):264-70.
- 15. Iglesia CB. What's new in the world of postmenopausal sex? Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2016;28:449–54.
- Nappia RE, Palacios S, Panay N, Particco M, Krychman ML. Vulvar and vaginal atrophy in four European countries: evidence from the European REVIVE Survey. Climacteric. 2016;19(2):188–97.
- Kingsberg SA, Krychman M, Graham S, Bernick B, Mirkin S. The Women's EMPOWER Survey: identifying women's perceptions on vulvar and vaginal atrophy and its treatment. J Sex Med. 2017;14(3):413–24.
- Simon JA, Kokot-Kierepa M, Goldstein J, Nappi RE. Vaginal health in the United States: results from the vaginal health: insights, views & attitudes survey. Menopause. 2013;20:1043–8.
- Nappi RE, Mattsson LA, Lachowsky M, Maamari R, Giraldi A. The CLOSER survey: impact of postmenopausal vaginal discomfort on relationships between women and their partners in northern and southern Europe. Maturitas. 2013;75:373–9.
- 20. Simon JA, Nappi RE, Kingsberg SA, Maamari R, Brown V. Clarifying vaginal atrophy's impact on sex and relationships (CLOSER) survey: emotional and physical impact of vaginal discomfort on North American postmenopausal women and their partners. Menopause. 2014;21(2):137–42.
- 21. Management of symptomatic vulvovaginal atrophy: 2013 position statement of the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2013;20(9):888–904.
- 22. Armeni E, Lambrinoudaki I, Ceausu I, Depypered H, Muecke A, Pérez-López FR, van der Schouw YT, Senturk LM, Simoncini T, Stevenson JC, Petra Stute P, Rees M. Maintaining postreproductive health: a care pathway from the European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS). Maturitas. 2016;89:63–72.
- Karamanidis D1, Tamiolakis D, Koutsougeras G, Tripsanas CH, Retzos K, Karidis S, Liberis B. Cigarette smoking and the degree of maturation of the vaginal squamous epithelium in postmenopausal women. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 2001;28(4):274–6.
- Mercier J, Morin M, Lemieux MC, Reichetzer B, Khalifé S, Dumoulin C. Pelvic floor muscles training to reduce symptoms and signs of vulvovaginal atrophy: a case study. Menopause. 2016;23(7):816–20.
- Edwards D, Panay N. Treating vulvovaginal atrophy/genitourinary syndrome of menopause: how important is vaginal lubricant and moisturizer composition? Climacteric. 2016;19(2):151–61.
- 26. Stuenkel CA, Davis SR, Gompel A, Lumsden MA, Murad MH, Pinkerton JAV, Santen RJ. Treatment of symptoms of the menopause: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:3975–4011.
- Caserta D, Maranghi L, Mantovani A, Marci R, Maranghi F, Moscarini M. Impact of endocrine disruptor chemicals in gynaecology. Hum Reprod Update. 2008;14(1):59–72.
- Edwards TM, Myers JP. Environmental exposures and gene regulation in disease etiology. Environ Health Perspect. 2007;115:1264–70.
- Brown JM, Hess KL, Brown S, Murphy C, Waldman AL, Hezareh M. Intravaginal practices and risk of bacterial vaginosis and candidiasis infection among a cohort of women in the United States. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121(4):773–80.

- Juliato PT, Rodrigues AT, Stahlschmidt R, Juliato CRT, Mazzola PG. Can polyacrylic acid treat sexual dysfunction in women with breast cancer receiving tamoxifen? Climacteric. 2017;20(1):62–6.
- Rees M, Pérez-López FR, Ceasu I, Depypere H, Erel T, Lambrinoudaki I, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Simoncini T, van der Schouw Y, Tremollieres F, EMAS. EMAS clinical guide: low-dose vaginal estrogens for postmenopausal vaginal atrophy. Maturitas. 2012;73(2):171–4.
- Baber RJ, Panay N, Fenton A, IMS Writing Group. 2016 IMS recommendations on women's midlife health and menopause hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2016;19(2):109–50.
- 33. Rahn DD, Carberry C, Sanses TV, Mamik MM, Ward RM, Meriwether KV, Olivera CK, Abed H, Balk EM, Murphy M, for the Society of Gynecologic Surgeons Systematic Review Group. Vaginal Estrogen for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;124(6):1147–56.
- 34. The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of the North American Menopause Society: position statement. Menopause. 2017;24(7):728–53.
- 35. Lethaby A, Ayeleke RO, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women (review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(8):CD001500.
- 36. Archer DF, Kimble TD, Lin FDY, Battucci S, Sniukiene V, Liu JH. A randomized, multicenter, double-blind, study to evaluate the safety and efficacy of Estradiol vaginal cream 0.003% in postmenopausal women with vaginal dryness as the most bothersome symptom. J Womens Health. 2018;27(3):231–7.
- 37. Constantine GD, Bouchard C, Pickar JH, Archer DF, Graham S, Bernick B, Mirkin S. Consistency of effect with a low-dose, estradiol vaginal capsule (TX-004HR): evaluating improvement in vaginal physiology and moderate-to-severe dyspareunia in subgroups of post-menopausal women. J Womens Health. 2017;26(6):616–23.
- Pickar JH, Amadio JM, Hill JM, Bernick BA, Mirkin S. A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled phase 2 pilot trial evaluating a novel, vaginal softgel capsule containing solubilized estradiol. Menopause. 2016;23(5):506–10.
- 39. Barnabei VM, Cochrane BB, Aragaki AK, Nygaard I, Williams RS, McGovern PG, Young RL, Wells EC, O'Sullivan MJ, Chen B, Schenken R, Johnson SR, Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Menopausal symptoms and treatment-related effects of estrogen and progestin in the women's health initiative. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;105:1063–73.
- 40. Donders G, Neven P, Moegele M, Lintermans A, Bellen G, Prasauskas V, Grob P, Ortmann O, Buchholz S. Ultra-low-dose estriol and lactobacillus acidophilus vaginal tablets (Gynoflor®) for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal breast cancer patients on aromatase inhibitors: pharmacokinetic, safety, and efficacy phase I clinical study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;145(2):371–9.
- 41. Erel CT, Senturk LM, Kaleli S. Tibolone and breast cancer. Postgrad Med J. 2006;82(972):658–62.
- 42. Sismondi P, Kimmig R, Kubista E, Biglia N, Egberts J, Mulder R, Planellas J, Moggio G, Mol-Arts M, Kenemans P. Effects of tibolone on climacteric symptoms and quality of life in breast cancer patients—data from LIBERATE trial. Maturitas. 2011;70(4):365–72.
- 43. Komm BS, Mirkin S. An overview of current and emerging SERMs. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2014;143:207–22.
- 44. Mirkin S, Archer DF, Taylor HS, Pickar JH, Komm BS. Differential effects of menopausal therapies on the endometrium. Menopause. 2014;21(8):899–908.
- 45. Simon JA, Lin VH, Radovich C, Bachmann GA, The Ospemifene Study Group. One year long-term safety extension study of ospemifene for the treatment of vulvar and vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women with a uterus. Menopause. 2013;20:418–27.
- 46. Portman DJ, Bachmann GA, Simon JA, Ospemifene Study Group. Ospemifene, a novel selective estrogen receptor modulator for treating dyspareunia associated with postmenopausal vulvar and vaginal atrophy. Menopause. 2013;20:623–30.
- Portman D, Palacios S, Nappi RE, Mueck AO. Ospemifene, a non-oestrogen selective oestrogen receptor modulator for the treatment of vaginal dryness associated with postmenopausal

vulvar and vaginal atrophy: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase III trial. Maturitas. 2014;78:91–8.

- Simon JA, Altomare C, Cort S, Jiang W, Pinkerton JAV. Overall safety of ospemifene in postmenopausal women from placebo-controlled phase 2 and 3 trials. J Womens Health. 2018;27(1):14–23.
- 49. Archer DF, Carr BR, Pinkerton JAV, Taylor HS, Constantine GD. Effects of ospemifene on the female reproductive and urinary tracts: translation from preclinical models into clinical evidence. Menopause. 2014;22(7):786–96.
- Mirkin S, Komm BS. Tissue-selective estrogen complexes for postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2013;76:213–20.
- Brotto LA. Evidence-based treatments for low sexual desire in women. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2017;45:11–7.
- Traish AM, Vignozzi L, Simon JA, Goldstein I, Kim NN. Role of androgens in female genitourinary tissue structure and function: implications in the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Sex Med Rev. 2018;6(4):558–71.
- 53. Bertin J, Ouellet J, Dury AY, Pelletier G, Labrie F. Expression of the estrogen receptors and steroidogenic enzymes involved in estradiol formation in the monkey vagina. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2014;211(5):499.e1–9.
- Bell RJ, Rizvi F, Islam RM, Davis SR. A systematic review of intravaginal testosterone for the treatment of vulvovaginal atrophy. Menopause. 2018;25(6):704–9.
- 55. Labrie F, Archer DF, Koltun W, Vachon A, Young D, Frenette L, Portman D, Montesino M, Côté I, Parent J, Lavoie L, Beauregard A, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Balser J, Moyneur E, and the members of the VVA Prasterone Research Group. Efficacy of intravaginal dehydro-epiandrosterone (DHEA) on moderate to severe dyspareunia and vaginal dryness, symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy, and of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Menopause. 2016;23(3):243–56.
- 56. Archer DF, Labrie F, Montesino M, Martel C. Comparison of intravaginal 6.5 mg (0.50%) prasterone, 0.3 mg conjugated estrogens and 10 μg estradiol on symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;174:1–8.
- Labrie F, Bélanger A, Pelletier G, Martel C, Archer DF, Utian WH. Science of intracrinology in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2017;24(6):702–12.
- 58. Tadir Y, Gaspar A, Lev-Sagie A, Alexiades M, Alinsod R, Bader A, Calligaro A, Elias JA, Gambaciani M, Gaviria JE, Iglesia CB, Martinec KS, Mwesigwa PL, Ogrinc UB, Salvatore S, Scollo P, Zerbinati N, Nelson JS. Light and energy based therapeutics for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: consensus and controversies. Lasers Surg Med. 2017;49(2):137–59.
- 59. Vizintin Z, Lukac M, Kazic M, Tettamanti M. Erbium laser in gynecology. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):4–8.
- 60. Gambacciani M, Palacios S. Laser therapy for the restoration of vaginal function. Maturitas. 2017;99:10–5.
- Arunkalaivanan A, Kaur H, Onuma O. Laser therapy as a treatment modality for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a critical appraisal of evidence. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:681–5.
- Athanasiou S, Pitsouni E, Falagas ME, Salvatore S, Grigoriadis T. CO2-laser for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. How many laser sessions? Maturitas. 2017;104:24–8.
- 63. Lee MS. Treatment of vaginal relaxation syndrome with an erbium: YAG laser using 90° and 360° scanning scopes: a pilot study & short-term results. Laser Ther. 2014;23(2):129–38.
- 64. Lapii GA, Yakovleva AY, Neimark AI. Structural reorganization of the vaginal mucosa in stress urinary incontinence under conditions of Er:YAG laser treatment. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2017;162(10):510–4.
- 65. Zerbinati N, Serati M, Origoni M, Candiani M, Iannitti T, Salvatore S, Marotta F, Calligar A. Microscopic and ultrastructural modifications of postmenopausal atrophic vaginal mucosa after fractional carbon dioxide laser treatment. Lasers Med Sci. 2015;30:429–36.
- 66. Gambacciani M, Torelli MG, Martella L, Bracco GL, Casagrande AG, Albertin E, Tabanelli S, Viglietta M, D'Ambrogio G, Garone G, Cervigni M. Rationale and design for the Vaginal

Erbium Laser Academy Study (VELAS): an international multicenter observational study on genitourinary syndrome of menopause and stress urinary incontinence. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):43–8.

- 67. Athanasiou S, Pitsouni E, Antonopoulou S, Zacharakis D, Salvatore S, Falagas ME, Grigoriadis T. The effect of microablative fractional CO2 laser on vaginal flora of postmenopausal women. Climacteric. 2016;19(5):512–8.
- Gaspar A, Brandi H. Non-ablative erbium YAG laser for the treatment of type III stress urinary incontinence (intrinsic sphincter deficiency). Lasers Med Sci. 2017;32:685–91.
- Erel CT. Ultrasound guided intraurethral laser application: new and safe approach. Accepted for poster presentation in IMS 16 World Congress on Menopause, Vancouver, 6–9 June 2018.
- Gaspar A, Brandi H, Gomez V, Luque D. Efficacy of erbium: YAG laser treatment compared to topical estriol treatment for symptoms of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Laser Surg Med. 2017;49:160–8.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M. Vaginal erbium laser as second-generation thermotherapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a pilot study in breast cancer survivors. Menopause. 2016;248(3):316–9.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M, Russo E, Vacca L, Simoncini T, Cervigni M. Long-term effects of vaginal erbium laser in the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2018;21(2):148–52.
- Sokol ER, Karram MM. Use of a novel fractional CO2 laser for the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause: 1-year outcomes. Menopause. 2017;24(7):810–4.
- 74. Pitsouni E, Grigoriadis T, Falagas ME, Salvatore S, Athanasiou S. Laser therapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2017;103:78–88.
- Mothes AR, Runnebaum M, Runnebaum IB. Ablative dual-phase erbium: YAG laser treatment of atrophy-related vaginal symptoms in post-menopausal breast cancer survivors omitting hormonal treatment. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2018;144:955–60.
- 76. Behnia-Willison F, Sarraf S, Millerc J, Mohamadid B, Care AS, Lam A, Willisonf N, Behnia L, Salvatore S. Safety and long-term efficacy of fractional CO2 laser treatment in women suffering from genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2017;213:39–44.
- 77. Tien YW, Hsiao SM, Lee CN, Lin HH. Effects of laser procedure for female urodynamic stress incontinence on pad weight, urodynamics, and sexual function. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(3):469–76.
- Pardo JI, Solà VR, Morales AA. Treatment of female stress urinary incontinence with erbium-YAG laser in non-ablative mode. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;204:1–4.
- 79. Fistonić N, Fistonić I, Lukanovič A, Guštek FS, Turina ISB, Franić D. First assessment of short-term efficacy of Er:YAG laser treatment on stress urinary incontinence in women: prospective cohort study. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):37–42.
- 80. Fistonić N, Fistonic I, Guštek SF, Turina ISB, Marton I, Vižintin Z, Kažič M, Hreljac I, Perhavec T, Lukač M. Minimally invasive, non-ablative Er:YAG laser treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women—a pilot study. Lasers Med Sci. 2016;31:635–43.
- Ogrinc UB, Sencar S, Lenasi H. Novel minimally invasive laser treatment of urinary incontinence in women. Laser Surg Med. 2015;47:689–97.
- 82. Erel CT, Mut A, Cebi S, Senturk ML. A new approach in the treatment of stress urinary incontinence: short-term results of a preliminary study. Poster presentation in IMS 16 world congress on menopause, Vancouver, 6–9 June 2018.



Laser Treatment for Vulvovaginal Atrophy

12

Marco Gambacciani

## 12.1 Introduction

The genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM) is a chronic and progressive condition that includes a constellation of symptoms related to the decline of circulating ovarian hormones, as vulvovaginal atrophy (VVA), vaginal dryness, dyspareunia, recurrent urinary tract infections, and urinary incontinence [1–5]. GSM can affect up to 70% of women [1–5]. GSM is defined as a collection of signs and symptoms involving changes to the vulva, vagina, urethra, and bladder, including, but not limited to, dryness, burning and irritation, poor lubrication, discomfort or pain, impaired sexual function, and urinary symptoms of urgency, dysuria, and recurrent urinary tract infections [1–5].

The diagnosis of GSM is clinical, based upon characteristic symptoms, associated with typical signs on physical examination. Classic vaginal findings include a pale, dry vaginal epithelium that is smooth and shiny, with loss of most rugation. Women may present with some or all of the signs and symptoms, which must be bothersome jeopardizing sexual activity and the quality of life [1-5].

Several therapeutic options are available to alleviate GSM symptoms, including hormonal and non-hormonal products. The non-hormonal moisturizers and lubricants may provide only a temporary relief. Local vaginal estrogen administration is nowadays considered the treatment of choice [1-5]. However, some women may not wish to take hormone preparation for long term or have absolute contraindications to estrogen therapy [1-5]. In addition, different studies report that the compliance to local therapies is very low, and the rate of discontinuation in the first few months is high.

Recently a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), ospemifene, has been introduced as oral agent for dyspareunia treatment. It provides an alternative to oral and local estrogen therapies [6-8]. New management strategies for GSM can

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_12

M. Gambacciani (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Pisa University Hospital, Pisa, Italy

increase our armamentarium in order to offer a wide range of options to enable women to choose, considering the benefits and risks associated with each strategy. Today the laser therapy may offer new options in order to stimulate tissue repair and to restore normal vaginal functions.

#### 12.2 Principles of Laser

Current medical lasers emit wavelengths from the ultraviolet to the mid-infrared portions of the spectrum [9]. Laser treatment has been safely and effectively used in many areas including gynecology. The different wavelengths are specifically absorbed by a tissue component, a specific chromophore, including hemoglobin, melanin, and water [9].

The concept behind laser procedures to treat vulvovaginal conditions is to use a wavelength having high water absorption, such as the carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) laser and the Erbium (Er:YAG) [9, 10]. Laser treatment induces tissue remodeling, with histological evidence of the restoration of vaginal mucosa, a thickening of the epithelium, with the maturation of epithelial cells, a new formation of papillae indenting the epithelium with newly formed and extended small vessels. In addition, in the connective tissue underlying the epithelium, the formation of new thin fibrils and morphological features of fibroblasts supporting a renewal of the extracellular matrix with functional restoration [9, 10] are generated.

## 12.3 Types and Mechanisms of Action of Laser Used in Vaginal Atrophy

Fractional  $CO_2$  laser was the first used to treat vaginal atrophy. According to the concept of fractional photothermolysis, these lasers ablate a fraction of the vaginal mucosa in the treatment area. An array of microscopic thermal wounds is created that ablates the vagina within very tiny zones; adjacent to these areas, the mucosa is spared and leads to natural healing process that builds new healthy tissue. In 2011, Gaspar et al. [11] first demonstrated that vaginal fractional  $CO_2$  laser treatment induced a significant improvement of clinical and histological signs of vaginal atrophy. Successively, Salvatore et al. [12] reported in a short-term study that after  $CO_2$  laser treatment, vaginal symptoms and dyspareunia improved in postmenopausal women.

The microablative fractional  $CO_2$  laser effects on vaginal atrophy lead to an improvement of both sexual function and quality of life [13]. These papers opened a new era for non-hormonal treatment of GSM. All the above data were obtained with the same microablative fractional  $CO_2$  laser technology [11–13]. Other  $CO_2$  laser systems are marketed for the treatment of GSM, using different devices and different technologies, claiming the effects obtained using the abovementioned apparatus [11–13]. However, at the moment no solid efficacy figures and convincing safety data are available for GSM treatment with different  $CO_2$  lasers.

At variance of  $CO_2$  laser, the second-generation vaginal erbium laser (VEL<sup>®</sup>) stimulates photothermal effects by a non-ablative thermal diffusion to the vaginal walls [9, 14]. The studies of the thermal effects of a non-ablative 2940 nm erbium are conducted using precisely controlled, sequentially packaged bursts of pulses (SMOOTH<sup>®</sup> mode) [9, 14]. The "smooth mode pulse," with a duration of 250 ms, consisted of a fast sequence of individual micropulses (300  $\mu$ s) with intrapulse intervals of 50 ms. In this mode, vaginal mucosa temperatures increased to 60–65 °C, without inducing superficial ablation, with an increased vascularization and a deep collagen remodeling and new collagen synthesis [9, 14]. Thus, the specifically designed sequence of SMOOTH Er:YAG laser pulses can be delivered to the vaginal tissue in order to achieve controlled heating of the collagen in the deeper mucosa layers, without ablation or overheating of the mucosa surface, resulting in the generation of new collagen and an overall improvement of treated tissue tightness and elasticity. VEL usually is associated with a very low incidence of discomfort, erythema, edema, and fast recovery rate [14–29].

Specific vaginal probes have been designed to enable a uniform and wellcontrolled VEL distribution on the whole length and circumference of the vaginal canal. As for the first-generation microablative CO<sub>2</sub> laser, also for the erbium laser, we have to underline that the core of the published data was obtained using the specific SMOOTH erbium in yttrium aluminum-garnet crystal (Er:YAG) technology. The SMOOTH<sup>®</sup> mode allowing the use of full beam and patterned handpieces to deliver Er:YAG laser energy with different fluences to the vaginal tissue is a patented and registered technology which differs from other Er:YAG lasers on the market. Therefore, the term vaginal erbium laser (VEL) refers to SMOOTH<sup>®</sup> mode technology.

#### 12.4 Vaginal Erbium Laser

Recent publications suggest that VEL may provide a new noninvasive treatment with non-ablative, second-generation photothermal vaginal therapy [14–29]. Vaginal laser stimulates profound effects on the vaginal epithelium and lamina propria [14–16]. Gaspar et al. [15] presented seminal data on the effects of VEL in comparison to estrogen vaginal administration. Other groups reported the improvement of GSM as well as stress urinary incontinence and initial grades of vaginal prolapse in VEL-treated patients [14–29].

In a prospective study, the effects of VEL in women with GSM were compared with another group of women treated with vaginal estriol administration, a standard treatment of GSM [19]. Signs and symptoms were evaluated subjectively by the visual analog scale (VAS) and objectively by the vaginal health index (VHIS) [19]. Three applications of VEL every 30 days induced a significant improvement in both subjective symptoms of vaginal dryness and dyspareunia and objective evaluation of VHIS. These changes were matching those induced by 3 months of vaginal estriol administration [19]. In both groups the VAS scores for vaginal dryness and dyspareunia showed a significant improvement with VEL treatments or 12 weeks of estriol. However, in the estriol group a reduction of efficacy was seen 12 weeks after the end of treatment. Conversely, in the VEL group, the same positive results were maintained throughout all the study period up to the 6 months of follow-up. In that study [19] the VEL treatment was performed in PMW suffering from GSM without any previous or concomitant treatment with estrogens or even non-hormonal vaginal creams. Therefore, the effects of VEL seems to be independent from any pretreatment, suggesting that VEL can be proposed in PMW that cannot be treated with hormones, as in breast cancer survivors. In fact, in a parallel study [26], it has been demonstrated that VEL is effective and safe for the treatment of GSM in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors [26]. In these particular set of patients, VEL improved both dryness and dyspareunia, inducing a rapid and long-lasting positive effect on the appearance of vaginal mucosa, up to the 12 months after the VEL treatment [26].

These observations are of relevance, since one of the frequently asked questions is how long the laser effects can last. This issue was evaluated in a large prospective, longitudinal study conducted in more than 200 women [28]. The results of this study indicate that the VEL effects are rapid and long-lasting in PMW suffering from GSM. Patients were treated with three VEL applications, and follow-up evaluations were performed up to 24 months from the last laser application. Vaginal dryness and dyspareunia showed a significant decrease after the first VEL treatment, and in the follow-up period, the dryness and dyspareunia values were significantly different from baseline values during the follow-up period up to the 12 months of observation. Conversely, the values measured after 18 and 24 months from the last VEL application were not significantly different anymore from basal values [28]. It is noteworthy that 73.6% of them (n = 151) reported that the VEL treatment was effective for 12–18 months [28]. Only 8 patients (3.9%) affirmed that the treatment was not effective in reducing GSM symptoms, while total of 174 (84.9%) patients decided to repeat the VEL procedure [28].

Thus, this large longitudinal study [28] can be of help in setting the timing of when a repeated laser procedure(s) can be offered. The positive action on VEL thermotherapy may last at least 1 year, and it can be suggested that 12 months could be a therapeutic window for the vast majority of women. Therefore, a new VEL procedure could be indicated every 12 months. In this view, the use of a non-ablative laser such as VEL with the smooth mode is particularly appropriate in younger women suffering from GSM in which we can imagine many laser procedure during their lifetime. Thus, VEL is appropriate for women that cannot or do not want to be treated with hormones, such as breast cancer survivors, often young and sometimes premenopausal before cancer treatment. In addition VEL can be of help in women who do not accept long-term use of moisturizing and lubricants for the interferences with sexuality.

This study [28] demonstrates that the large majority of patients were satisfied, as demonstrated by the high percentage (85%) that chooses to repeat the treatment. The possible difference in the outcomes of VEL treatment with or without estrogen or other non-hormonal pretreatment or the current use of other therapies is a matter of future randomized studies.

## 12.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, although data from large randomized trials are not available, the results from a large number of observational studies are encouraging (Table 12.1). The effect of laser treatment is comparable to that exerted by local hormone

<b>Table 12.1</b> Vaginal erbiumlaser (VEL) treatment for thegenitourinary syndrome(GSM) of menopause: keypoints	• VEL is a noninvasive, ambulatory procedure
	• VEL is effective in the treatment of GSM
	The results are rapid and long-lasting
	• The clinical effects are comparable to local estrogen treatment
	• VEL is intrinsically safe and can be repeated every year

treatment in postmenopausal women suffering from GSM. Cohort prospective longterm studies show that the second-generation VEL-Smooth<sup>®</sup> procedure is effective and intrinsically safe, if applied with the appropriate parameters, and no serious adverse effects were ever reported. Thus, VEL-Smooth<sup>®</sup> for vaginal functional restoration can be seen as an effective, noninvasive ambulatory procedure for the treatment of GSM. VEL-Smooth<sup>®</sup> can increase our armamentarium in order to offer a new, long-term therapeutic option, to improve the quality of life, allowing women to choose, considering the limits and the balance between benefits and risks associated with each therapeutic approach.

### References

- Portman DJ, Gass MLS, on behalf of the Vulvovaginal Atrophy Conference Panel. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: new terminology for vulvovaginal atrophy from the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and the North American Menopause Society. Climacteric. 2014;17(5):557–63.
- Management of symptomatic vulvovaginal atrophy: 2013 position statement of the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2013;20:888–902.
- Stuenkel CA, Davis SR, Gompel A, Lumsden MA, Murad MH, Pinkerton JV, Santen RJ. Treatment of symptoms of the menopause: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(11):3975–4011.
- 4. Palacios S, Castelo-Branco C, Currie H, Mijatovic V, et al. Update on management of genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a practical guide. Maturitas. 2015;82:307–12.
- Gambacciani M, Biglia N, Cagnacci A, Caruso S, Cicinelli E, DE Leo V, DI Carlo C, Farris M, Gambera A, Guaschino S, Lanzone A, Paoletti AM, Russo N, Vicariotto F, Villa P, Volpe A, Italian Menopause Society (SIM). Menopause and hormone replacement therapy: the 2017 recommendations of the Italian Menopause Society. Minerva Ginecol. 2018;70(1):27–34.
- Bachmann GA, Komi JO. Ospemifene effectively treats vulvovaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women: results from a pivotal phase 3 study. Menopause. 2010;17(3):480–6.
- Portman DJ, Bachmann GA, Simon JA. Ospemifene, a novel selective estrogen receptor modulator for treating dyspareunia associated with postmenopausal vulvar and vaginal atrophy. Menopause. 2013;20(6):623–30.
- Portman D, Palacios S, Nappi RE, Mueck AO. Ospemifene, a non-oestrogen selective oestrogen receptor modulator for the treatment of vaginal dryness associated with postmenopausal vulvar and vaginal atrophy: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase III trial. Maturitas. 2014;78(2):91–8.
- Tadir Y, Gaspar A, Lev-Sagie A, et al. Light and energy based therapeutics for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: consensus and controversies. Lasers Surg Med. 2017;49(2):137–59.
- Gambacciani M, Palacios S. Laser therapy for the restoration of vaginal function. Maturitas. 2017;99:10–5.
- Gaspar A, Addamo G, Brandi H. Vaginal fractional CO2 laser: a minimally invasive option for vaginal rejuvenation. Am J Cosmet Surg. 2011;28:156–62.

- 12. Salvatore S, Nappi RE, Zerbinati N, et al. A 12-weeks treatment with fractional CO2 laser for vulvovaginal atrophy: a pilot study. Climacteric. 2014;17(4):363–9.
- 13. Salvatore S, Nappi RE, Parma M, et al. Sexual function after fractional microablative CO2laser in women with vulvovaginal atrophy. Climacteric. 2015;18:219–25.
- 14. Vizintin Z, Lukac M, Kazic M, Tettamanti M. Erbium laser in gynecology. Climacteric. 2015;18(suppl 1):4–8.
- 15. Gaspar A. Comparison of new minimally invasive Er:YAG laser treatment and hormonal replacement therapy in the treatment of vaginal atrophy. Climacteric. 2014;17(Suppl 1):48–108.
- Lapii GA, Yakovleva AY, Neimark AI. Structural reorganization of the vaginal mucosa in stress urinary incontinence under conditions of Er:YAG laser treatment. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2017;162:510–4.
- 17. Gambacciani M, Levancini M. Short-term effect of vaginal erbium laser on the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Minerva Ginecol. 2015;67(2):97–102.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M. Vaginal erbium laser: the second generation thermotherapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM) in breast cancer survivors. A preliminary report of a pilot study. It J Gynaecol Obstet. 2015;27:15–7.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M, Cervigni M. Vaginal erbium laser: the second-generation thermotherapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2015;18:757–63.
- Fistonić N, Fistonić I, Lukanovič A, FindriGuštek Š, SortaBilajacTurina I, Franić D. First assessment of short-term efficacy of Er:YAG laser treatment on stress urinary incontinence in women: prospective cohort study. Climacteric. 2015;18:37–42.
- 21. Lee MS. Treatment of vaginal relaxation syndrome with an erbium: YAG laser using 90° and 360° scanning scopes: a pilot study & short-term results. Laser Ther. 2014;23:129–38.
- Ogrinc UB, Senčar S, Lenasi H. Novel minimally invasive laser treatment of urinary incontinence in women. Lasers Surg Med. 2015;47(9):689–97.
- Pardo JI, Solà VR, Morales AA. Treatment of female stress urinary incontinence with erbium-YAG laser in non-ablative mode. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;204:1–4.
- Fistonic N, Fistonic I, Findri-Gustek S, Bilajac Turina I, Kristofic I, Franic D. Minimally invasive, non-ablative Er:YAG laser treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women—a pilot study. Lasers Med Sci. 2016;31:635–43.
- 25. Gambacciani M, Torelli MG, Martella L, et al. Rationale and design for the vaginal erbium laser academy study (VELAS): an international multicenter observational study on genitourinary syndrome of menopause and stress urinary incontinence. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):43–8.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M. Vaginal erbium laser as second generation thermotherapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a pilot study in breast cancer survivors. Menopause. 2017;24(3):316–9.
- Gaspar A, Brandi H, Gomez V, Luque D. Efficacy of erbium: YAG laser treatment compared to topical estriol treatment for symptoms of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Laser Surg Med. 2017;49:160–8.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M, Russo E, Vacca L, Simoncini T, Cervigni M. Long-term effects of vaginal erbium laser in the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2018;21(2):148–52.
- 29. Blaganje M, Šcepanovic D, Žgur L, Verdenik I, Pajk F, Lukanovic A. Non-ablative Er:YAG laser therapy effect on stress urinary incontinence related to quality of life and sexual function: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2018;224:153–8.



13

## Laser Treatments in Female Urinary Incontinence

Ivan Fistonić and Nikola Fistonić

## Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index		
CRC	Collagen Remodeling Capacity		
Er:YAG	Erbium:yttrium-aluminum-garnet		
FSFI	Female sexual function index		
GSM	Genitourinary syndrome of menopause		
ICIQ-UI SF	International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Urinary		
	Incontinence Short Form		
ISD	Intrinsic sphincter deficiency		
ISI	Incontinence Severity Index		
LUTS	Lower urinary tract symptoms		
MUS	Mid-urethral sling		
OAB	Overactive bladder		
OABSS	Overactive Bladder Symptoms Score Questionnaire		
PISQ12	Pelvic Organ Prolapse/Urinary Incontinence Sexual Function		
	Questionnaire		
POP	Pelvic organ prolapse		
QoL	Quality of life		
RTD	Residual thermal damage		
SUI	Stress urinary incontinence		
UCP	Urethral closure pressure		
UI	Urinary incontinence		
VEL	Vaginal erbium laser		

I. Fistonić (🖂)

Institute for Women's Health, Zagreb, Croatia e-mail: ivan.fistonic@zg.t-com.hr

N. Fistonić Ob/Gyn Department, University Hospital Merkur, Zagreb, Croatia

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_13

#### 13.1 Introduction

A wide spectrum of treatments for stress urinary incontinence (SUI) include noninvasive (pelvic floor muscle training, weight reduction, laser interventions), minimally invasive (bulking methods), less invasive (sling and mesh), and invasive surgical procedures. Less invasive operative techniques are relatively effective but are still related to >15% complications (bleeding, erosions, urethral injury, infection, chronic pain, and urine retention) [1], while conventional surgery relates to anesthesia risks and high recurrence rates (25%) [2].

The association between pelvic organ prolapse (POP) and SUI with collagen is well established. The expression levels of Type I and Type III collagen are significantly lower in patients with POP and SUI when compared to the controls (p < 0.01) [3], and pubocervical fasciae of incontinent women have a lower collagen content [4]. Postmenopausal hormonal deficiency with increased degradation of collagen reserve is a possible explanation for the failure of many surgical procedures aimed at correcting prolapse/incontinence with a frequent recurrence of symptoms [5].

Contemporary scientific and technological breakthroughs have led to better clinical outcomes with less invasive procedures with shorter recovery times and lower implicated costs. In this sense, recent evidence supports laser treatment as an alternative and effective intervention for SUI [6].

## 13.2 Mode of Laser Action and Protocol for Its Use for Stress Urinary Incontinence

Pulsed laser photothermal energy can improve collagen structure and initiate neocollagenesis in the skin [7] and pelvic floor with nearby tissue as well [8]. An increase in temperature breaks up intermolecular cross-links and stabilizes the collagen triple-helix structure, thus resulting in the shortening of collagen fibers with consequent neocollagenesis, elastogenesis, neoangiogenesis, and increased fibroblast pool. In addition, morphometry showed an increase of the volume density of blood capillaries and the thickness of the epithelial layer [9].

The Er:YAG laser SMOOTH<sup>®</sup> mode beam (Fotona, Slovenia) is strongly absorbed in water which is the major constituent of human soft tissue. Precisely controlled sequences of non-ablative Er:YAG laser pulses are delivered to the intravaginal mucous tissue in order to achieve controlled heating of the collagen in the deeper mucosa layers (lamina propria), without ablation and overheating of the mucosa surface, so avoiding the risk of perforation with accidental lesions of the urethra, bladder, or rectum. Recommended parameters are laser spot size of 7 mm, frequency of 1.6 Hz, and fluence (laser energy emitted per unit area) of 6.0 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. Mechanical pull of the deeper tissue layers following shrinkage of the upper, photothermally processed tissue layers further contributes to the tightening effect [10]. No general anesthesia is needed. The lower vaginal third and introitus can be covered with a thin layer of anesthetic cream. Treatment regimen consists of three sessions 3–4 weeks apart. When the process of neocollagenesis is well on its way, and assuming the
patient Collagen Remodeling Capacity (CRC) was not fully reached during the first session, with the second and third session, some previously not affected collagen fibers are additionally captured. Minor side effects include sensation of warmth, increased vaginal discharge, and rarely transient urge urinary incontinence [11].

 $CO_2$  laser system MonaLisa Touch<sup>®</sup> (DEKA, Florence, Italy) intravaginal therapy is delivered once a month for 3 consecutive months. Recommended settings [12, 13] of the microablative fractional  $CO_2$  laser (MFCO<sub>2</sub>-Laser) are as follows: D-pulse mode, dot power 40 W, dwell time 1000  $\mu$ s, and dot spacing 1000  $\mu$ m for the treatment of the vaginal canal and the dot power 24 W, dwell time, 400  $\mu$ s, and dot spacing 1000  $\mu$ m for the treatment of the vaginal introitus. The procedure is performed in the outpatient setting and does not require any specific preparation or anesthesia. Patients are recommended to avoid coital sexual activity for at least 3 days after each laser application as mild inflammatory reaction may last up to 48 h.

#### 13.3 Stress Urinary Incontinence (SUI)

The first pilot study regarding Er:YAG laser for the treatment of female SUI started on September 20, 2009 [14]. The degree of incontinence and its impact on quality of life were assessed with the International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Urinary Incontinence Short Form (ICIQ-UI SF) [15] tool, where a maximum score of 21 represents permanent incontinence.

The inclusion criteria for entering the study were a history of vaginal delivery, SUI, normal cell cytology, negative urine culture, and a vaginal canal, introitus, and vestibule free of injuries and bleeding. The exclusion criteria were severe prolapse and damage of the rectovaginal fascia, urge incontinence, severe neurological conditions associated with incontinence (multiple sclerosis, spinal cord injury, stroke, Parkinson's disease), neurogenic bladder, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, current urinary tract infection, hematuria, age <18 and >70 years, pregnancy, less than 24 weeks after vaginal delivery, body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, intake of photosensitive drugs, injury and/or active infection in the area to be treated, and undiagnosed vaginal bleeding.

At the first follow-up measurement (1 month after the intervention), the number of those with an ICIQ-UI score = 0 increased from zero to 17/52 (42.3% continent). At the second follow-up measurement, 2–6 months after the intervention, 18/47 (38.3% continent) had an ICIQ-UI score = 0 (Fig. 13.1). From the baseline to the second follow-up, a total of 34/47 (72.3%) of participants experienced improvement, whereas 11/47 (23.4%) experienced no change in the ICIQ-UI score, and two (4.3%) experienced worsening of symptoms. No major adverse events throughout the course of laser treatment and the follow-up period were noticed or reported. The rare mild reported symptoms such as slight edema, vaginal discharge, and transient urgency vanished spontaneously after 8 days.

Ogrinc et al. published a study of 175 women with newly diagnosed SUI (66%) and mixed urinary incontinence (MUI, 34%) [16]. Patients were treated according



**Fig. 13.1** Kloving's categories of ICIQ-UI SF score severity at the baseline and follow-up visits. *ICIQ-UI* International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Urinary Incontinence Short Form, *UI* urinary incontinence. Reproduced with permission from Fistonic et al. [14]

to the uniform Er:YAG laser protocol. Follow-ups were performed at 2, 6, and 12 months after procedure. Results were based on the Incontinence Severity Index (ISI) and the reduction in ICIQ-UI SF scores. One year after laser treatment, 77% of the SUI patients and only 34% of mixed UI remained continent. No difference in efficacy was noted between pre- and postmenopausal patients.

In another study [17], using the same Er: YAG protocol for SUI, urodynamic studies, pad testing, lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS), and sexual function were assessed before and after treatment. The authors concluded that the procedure for mild SUI was effective at 6-month follow-up, but was not for the patients with an initial pad weight >10 g. Moreover, it improved LUTS, quality of life (OoL), and sexual function. Urodynamic values did not differ across the timeline. The authors speculate that this paradox originates from tighter and more elastic collagen that acts as a "hammock," preventing urine leakage and reducing pad weights. Although procedure follow-up was only up to the sixth month, authors summarize that IncontiLase<sup>™</sup> should not replace mid-urethral sling (MUS) surgery as the standard therapy for SUI patients who fail to improve following first-line therapy. In addition, authors stress that the injection of bulking agents has been reported to have a cure rate of 53–73.2%, which is better than the cure rate of 39.3% they achieved at a 6-month follow-up with IncontiLase<sup>TM</sup>. In conclusion authors admit that, based on its minimally invasive nature and the lack of significant adverse effects, the IncontiLase<sup>™</sup> procedure may be used as an alternative therapy for mild SUI cases.

In a long-term, 24-month follow-up study [18] of 114 postmenopausal women suffering from SUI, the vaginal erbium laser (VEL) treatment induced a

significant decrease of baseline ICIQ-SF scores of  $12.2 \pm 2.5$ . The ICIQ-UI SF scores remained significantly (p < 0.01) lower than basal values 1 ( $4.8 \pm 1.8$ ), 3 ( $6.2 \pm 1.9$ ), 6 ( $7.0 \pm 2.3$ ), and 12 ( $8.0 \pm 1.8$ ) months after the last VEL application. Scores after 18 ( $9.3 \pm 2.7$ ) and 24 ( $9.9 \pm 2.8$ ) months from the last VEL application were, however, not significantly different from the baseline values. This study shows for the first time that VEL treatment significantly improves the genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM) at 12 months after the last laser application, while the effects decrease afterward. The study confirms that VEL is effective in the treatment of GSM, with clinical effects similar to those exerted by established local therapies.

Several other observational studies in which Er:YAG was used for mild to moderate SUI also showed improvement of SUI symptoms [19–21]. Up to date, there is only one patient-blinded randomized controlled trial for SUI [22] consisting of 114 women patients receiving a single-session of non-ablative thermal-only Er:YAG laser treatment. This study reported improvement of SUI symptoms, QoL (ICIQ-UI SF), and sexual function (PISQ12 and FSFI) in premenopausal parous women. A 21.4% (12/56) of the laser group patients were continent 3 months after treatment according to ICIQ-UI SF (score = 0) in comparison to only 3.6% (2/56) continence in the sham control group. Covariates age, BMI, and parity had no significant effect on the outcome. All pelvic floor muscle variables, derived from perineometry studies (duration and maximum pressure), showed a significant improvement in the laser group but not in the sham control group.

Carbon (CO<sub>2</sub>) laser has been used for the treament of GSM, particularly focusing on the vulvovaginal atrophy segment [8]. To date, very few studies regarding  $CO_2$  laser treatment of SUI have been published.

Isaza et al. [23] used the SmartXide2 V2LR fractional microablative CO<sub>2</sub> laser system (MonaLisa Touch<sup>TM</sup>; Deka, Florence, Italy) in a prospective study of 161 postmenopausal women suffering from mild SUI. Patients received four sessions 30–45 days apart. SUI was evaluated using the 1-h pad test and the ICIQ-UI SF at the baseline and at 12, 24, and 36 months of follow-up. Basal ICIQ-UI SF score (14.34 ± 2.65) significantly decreased 12 (7.09 ± 1.1, p < 0.001), 24 (7.49 ± 0.94, p < 0.001), and 36 months (6.76 ± 0.82, p < 0.001) of follow up. The 1-h pad test reduced from 9.89 ± 0.57 g at the baseline to  $3.52 \pm 1.89$  g,  $3.55 \pm 1.88$  g, and  $3.72 \pm 2.05$  g at 12, 24, and 36 months, respectively (all p < 0.001). Histology analyzed pretreatment and 6 weeks after the first treatment showed essentially thicker epithelium with a higher population of intermediate and superficial cell shedding. Nevertheless, such multiple ablative vaginal treatments raise concerns regarding the possibility of vaginal scarring and infection, which can be reduced with the use of a non-ablative treatment [22].

The prospective observational study regarding the efficacy of fractional  $CO_2$  laser in postmenopausal women with moderate to severe clinical signs of GSM [24] showed significant improvement of dyspareunia, dryness, burning, itching, dysuria, urgency, and SUI scores assessed by standard questionnaires. Participants received intravaginal therapy, once a month for 3 consecutive months, with a  $CO_2$  laser system

(MonaLisa Touch<sup>®</sup>, DEKA, Florence, Italy). As a secondary outcome, authors noted that urinary symptoms improved, as scores of the urinary and QoL questionnaires significantly decreased. ICIQ-UI SF at the baseline was  $8.1 \pm 5.6$  vs.  $3.4 \pm 4.3$  at the 3rd month of follow-up. All participants showed a >5-point improvement in the King's Health Questionnaire (KHQ) score, which includes psychometric aspects of urinary incontinence. Despite this, authors concluded that factors predictive of ideal CO<sub>2</sub> laser therapy candidates were not identified. Considering predictive, preventive, and personalized medicine (PPPM) current goal is not only to predict the risk of an adverse clinical event but also benefits [25]. A recent study [26] identified predictors for the segment of patients achieving optimal short term Er:YAG laser treatment outcomes. The best results after Er:YAG laser treatment of SUI should be expected in younger women (<47.5 years) with a body mass index of <23.3, average newborn birth weight of >3.6 kg, ICIQ-UI at a baseline of <10, and a perineometer squeeze duration at a baseline of >3.51 s.

However, despite the rigorous selection of patients, in a certain group, laser treatment will not succeed. Namely, SUI is not only induced by urethral hypermobility, as a result of weakening or disruption of the pelvic floor musculature and/ or pubourethral ligament, but also due to the weakening of the urethral sphincter, resulting in more severe intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD) [27]. The urethral sphincter function depends on the muscular component; the rhabdosphincter, extending along 60-70% of the urethra length; and the mucosal or intrinsic component, extending across the urethra and contributing to urethral closure [28]. Gaspar et al. [29, 30] hypothesized that by targeting the mucosal component of the urethral sphincter, urethral coaptation ability would be able to increase. Authors used the novel Er:YAG intraurethral cannula (IntraLase<sup>TM</sup>, Fotona, Slovenia). As assessed by a questionnaire addressing QoL (ICIQ-UI SF) and the 1-h pad test, therapeutic efficacy was measured at 3 and 6 months after the procedure. ICIQ-SF scores improved by an average of 64% at 3 months and by 40% at 6 months. The 1-h pad test showed a reduction of the quantity of leaked urine by 59% at 3 months and by 42% at 6 months.

Patel [31] enrolled women whose urodynamic studies showed a maximal urethral closure pressure (UCP) of less than 40 cm H<sub>2</sub>O. Subjects received three fractional CO<sub>2</sub> laser treatments 4 weeks apart. Three months posttreatment, urodynamic reevaluation showed an increase in maximal UCP from 19 to 33 cm H<sub>2</sub>O at pretreatment to 45–73 cm H<sub>2</sub>O posttreatment.

# 13.4 Overactive Bladder

Perino et al. [32] analyzed the effect of  $CO_2$  laser treatment in postmenopausal women with overactive bladder (OAB) symptoms ( $\geq 8$  times micturition/24 h) and  $\geq 1$  symptoms of GSM (itching, burning, reduced lubrication, superficial and/or severe dyspareunia) in the previous 3 months. OAB symptoms were assessed using the validated Overactive Bladder Questionnaire Short Form (OAB-Q SF). Results at 1-month follow-up after the third laser session indicated

a significant reduction of the number of micturitions and number of urge episodes (p < 0.0001). Since atrophy of muscles and reduction of collagen content may be important factors in the increased prevalence of urinary incontinence, authors stress that fractional CO<sub>2</sub> laser system can irradiate deeper layers of the vaginal wall, ultimately enhancing tissue trophysm and reactivating the extracellular matrix and collagen synthesis, with beneficial effects in the three layers of the vaginal wall, in contrast to estrogens or other local therapies that only treat the epithelium.

Besides improvement of SUI episodes using the Er:YAG protocol, Tien and coauthors [17] also found a positive effect over OAB, as evidenced by the improvements in the Urgency Severity Scale Questionnaire (USS), the Overactive Bladder Symptoms Score Questionnaire (OABSS), nicturia episodes, and daytime frequency episodes. Since the majority of women with stress predominant MUI experience significant improvement in OAB symptoms following incontinence surgery [33], authors speculate that their findings may be at least partly related to SUI improvements following laser treatment.

In patients with SUI, urine leakage into the proximal urethra may stimulate urethral afferents and facilitate the voiding reflex [34]. Lin et al. [35] hypothesized that laser therapy may slightly increase the entire urethral pressure, including proximal urethral pressure, and in turn alleviate OAB symptoms due to a reduction of the bladder reflex response observed in SUI patients. Their treatment consisted of two sessions, 4 weeks apart using the Er:YAG laser (XS Dynamis, Fotona, Slovenia). OABSS scores were significantly improved at 3-month follow-up (p < 0.027), especially in terms of urinary frequency (p < 0.001). However, symptom scores were not sustained at the 12-month follow-up. By most patients' report, the optimal therapeutic effect was maintained for the duration of 3–6 months, similar to results observed by Fistonic et al. [14] (2–6 months). Neocollagenesis induced by Er:YAG SMOOTH<sup>®</sup> mode can change the composition of the pelvic floor structures and thus increase pressure over the entire length of the urethra. In SUI patients, the increased proximal urethral pressure may alleviate OAB symptoms by reducing the bladder reflex response.

#### 13.5 Vaginal Microbiota

An effect of laser on vaginal microbiota has been reported by Athanasiou et al. They assessed the effect of microablative fractional CO<sub>2</sub> laser (MFCO<sub>2</sub>-laser) therapy on the vaginal microenvironment of postmenopausal women [13]. Findings suggest that in their sample of 53 postmenopausal women with moderate to severe GSM symptoms, the completion of three laser therapies (at monthly intervals) significantly increased *Lactobacillus* (p < 0.001) and normal flora (p < 0.001), which decreased vaginal pH from a mean of  $5.5 \pm 0.8$  (baseline) to  $4.7 \pm 0.5$  (third month, p < 0.001). The prevalence of *Lactobacillus* changed from a baseline value of 30-79% at 3 months. Clinical signs and symptoms of bacterial vaginosis, aerobic vaginitis, or candidiasis did not appear in any participant. Although significant

decreases were observed only for *E. coli* and *Mobiluncus*, there was a trend of lower growth of all *Lactobacillus* antagonists.

Authors suggest that the observed increase of the normal vaginal epithelial cells confirms the results of the histological study of Zerbinati et al. [36] where it was demonstrated that one of the effects of the MFCO<sub>2</sub>-Laser therapy on the vaginal mucosa was the high degree of epithelial exfoliation, with superficial cells filled with glycogen shedding at the epithelial surface. In conclusion, authors believe that MFCO<sub>2</sub>-Laser therapy is a promising treatment for the improvement of postmeno-pausal vaginal health, aiding the repopulation of the vagina with normally existing *Lactobacillus* species and reconstituting the normal flora as that observed in the premenopausal status.

# 13.6 Histology

Histological changes in the epithelium and lamina propria, following fractional  $CO_2$  laser treatments ( $CO_2$  RE Intima, Syneron Candela, Wayland, MA), correlated with clinical findings of vaginal hydration and pH in SUI patients [37]. At the 3-month follow-up, biopsies showed increased collagen and elastin staining, as well as a thicker epithelium with an increased number of cell layers and a better degree of surface maturation (increase in the ratio of parabasal, intermediate, and superficial cells showing an estrogenic effect). At the 6-month follow-up, histology showed increased submucosal vascularity with increased collagen and elastin deposits (Fig. 13.2).

Histological study of vaginal wall biopsies showed signs of neocollagenesis, elastogenesis, neoangiogenesis, reduction of epithelial degeneration and atrophy, and an increase of the fibroblast population after non-ablative Er:YAG laser SUI treatment (IncontiLase<sup>TM</sup>, Fotona, Slovenia) [38].



**Fig. 13.2** (a) Pretreatment histology of a 59-year-old woman. (b) At 8 months post-baseline, histological findings showed increased submucosal vascularity, as well as increased collagen deposits and elastic fibers. Reproduced with permission from Samuels and Garcia [37]

# 13.7 Non-ablative Photothermal Er:YAG Laser and Microablative Fractional CO<sub>2</sub> Laser in SUI Treatment: Differences

Lasers used in SUI treatment emit thermal energy at the different wave lengths (Er:YAG 2940 nm; CO<sub>2</sub> 10,600 nm), but they both induce similar changes related to increased tissue trophysm such as retraction of collagen, neocollagenesis, elastogenesis, enhanced density of connective particles, and neovascularization.  $CO_2$  laser thermal action spreads to the depth of 50–125 µm in the vaginal tissue, causing superficial vaporization. Under the same conditions, Er:YAG laser reaches only 5–20 µm in depth with no ablation at all [8].

Er:YAG laser has 10-15 times the affinity for water absorption compared with carbon dioxide laser. Mucous membranes have a very high percentage of water, which is a good target for the Er:YAG laser beam. Because of the extremely high absorption in water, the incident photon energy is almost totally attenuated in the first few micrometers of the tissue, producing at appropriate parameters a very controlled column of ablation with an extremely narrow band of secondary coagulation. This process has been known as residual thermal damage (RTD) [39]. This translates into shorter down time with quicker healing and has been the cornerstone for the use of the Er:YAG in full-face ablative laser resurfacing when compared to the  $CO_2$  laser, which has a much larger RTD zone [40]. That was a rationale for Lee to use Er: YAG in the treatment of the vaginal relaxation syndrome [41]. The authors emphasize that the depth control associated with the Er:YAG wavelength offers major benefits as ablative damage depth is minimized. Multiple micro-pulses create a shallow, few µm-thick epidermal windows in the vaginal epithelium with minimal RTD, and subsequent micro-pulses create a pulse-stacking effect without further ablation but with thermal buildup down into the lamina propria, increasing the RTD zone. Only Er: YAG laser is characterized by the critical temperature above ablation temperature, making this laser the safest medical laser for dual-tissue regeneration mechanism (DRM) non-ablative resurfacing (Fig. 13.3) [42].

Athanasiou et al. [13] stress out, based on Hutchinson-Colas et al. [43] and Helbig et al. [44], that erbium YAG laser only has a thermal effect, while the MFCO<sub>2</sub>-Laser has both ablative and thermal effects, thus stimulating heat shock proteins and other factors (e.g., TGF- $\beta$ ), promoting neocollagenesis and neoangiogenesis, and consequently resulting in tissue rejuvenation.

#### 13.8 Review Papers

Most review articles discuss different methodological aspects of the published studies regarding the use of laser for the treatment of the GSM, vaginal relaxation syndrome, and urinary incontinence [11, 45–50]. Conte et al. [51] reviewed the use of laser for the treatment of female SUI in seven prospective, single-centered, and non-comparative studies without control groups. All studies used Er:YAG or a  $CO_2$ laser. Primary outcomes were ICIQ-UI SF scores in six studies and the pad test in



**Fig. 13.3** Critical temperature depends on penetration depth. Only Er:YAG laser is characterized by the critical temperature above ablation temperature. Reproduced with permission from Lukac et al. [42]

one. Follow-up ranged from 5 to 36 months. Improvement rates ranged from 62 to 78%. No major adverse events were noted. Minor side effects included sensation of warmth, increased vaginal discharge, and transient urge urinary incontinence. Authors stand for more rigorous and adequately powered trials to assess the benefits and adverse event profile of laser treatment of SUI, as compared with other minimally invasive procedures.

An updated technical bulletin on laser for GSM and SUI was prepared by the urogynecology committee and approved by the Board of the Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada [52]. Analyzing contemporary reviews on the SUI topic, conclusion is that short-term observational studies of small patient number with the use of intravaginal laser have demonstrated improvements in symptoms of SUI. Evidence is insufficient to offer intravaginal laser therapy as an effective modality for the treatment of SUI compared to alternate managements such as pelvic floor physiotherapy, incontinence pessaries, or surgery.

The Canadian group [53] summarized Er:YAG laser therapy as a minimally invasive, alternative treatment option for female SUI and that laser therapy has yielded reasonable initial outcomes with an acceptable low cost and safety profile. At the same time, authors emphasized that it was not clear which group of patients will respond better to this therapy, as the mechanism of action was still somewhat vague. In this sense, a recently published predictive model [26] detects patients' baseline characteristics that may aid at achieving the best results after Er:YAG laser treatment for SUI. A clinically relevant decrease in the ICIQ-UI (minimum important difference, MID) of >30% can be predicted based on age, body mass index, average newborn birth weight, perineometer squeeze duration, and pre-intervention ICIQ-UI score. In addition, the first single-blinded sham study regarding Er:YAG laser treatment for SUI [22] moderately reduced frequent criticism on the lack of randomized controlled trials in this field. Results showed a significant improvement in 114 women at the 3rd month follow-up, with a single-session treatment with nonablative thermal-only Er:YAG laser.

A systematic critical review published in July 2018 analyzed 17 eligible studies including 652 (12 studies) and more than 240 patients (5 studies) treated with Er:YAG-laser and  $CO_2$  laser, respectively. Authors concluded that the use of laser for women with urinary incontinence seems a promising minimally invasive alternative to the current standard therapies. On the other hand, there is still lack of evidence showing long-term safety and effectiveness. Additionally, all reviewed studies included only patients with primary urinary incontinence, so there is no information about these treatments on patients previously treated with surgery [54].

Upon the review of the literature derived from the PubMed database up to July 2018, using the key words "laser" and "urinary incontinence", 326 articles were found. After exclusion for incontinence in male, laser use in surgery, and non-laser techniques, 34 articles met criteria regarding laser use in women with urinary incontinence. Twelve of them were review articles and 22 were original papers. Laser effect in SUI patients was analyzed in 19 and OAB patients in three articles. Authors used Er:YAG laser in 16 studies, while  $CO_2$  laser was used in six studies. A total of 1310 patients were enrolled at the 1–36 months of follow up (average 7.9 months).

Although laser is an attractive [45] novel, non-hormonal but expensive [47] new technology for the treatment of the GSM, additional studies are needed to explore the long-term safety and efficacy of various laser therapies for genitourinary symptoms as most of published evidence rely on short-term follow-up (1–6 months). Three studies extended to 12–24 months (Er:YAG) [16, 18, 35] and 1–36 months (CO<sub>2</sub>) [23]. To date, only one patient-blinded randomized controlled laser sham trial for SUI, using Er:YAG laser, has been published [22]. Also, future studies need to be designed taking mentioned considerations into account, including the histological assessment performed immediately after treatment, which will help compare morphology at baseline with changes in the vaginal architecture following laser procedure [41]. Next studies should focus on the individual patient level in order to predict personal risk or benefit based on the decision of undergoing a given proposed procedure [26, 55]. Simultaneously, predictive systems may impact public health policies in terms of prevention [56].

#### References

- Blaivas JG, Purohit RS, Benedon MS, Mekel G, Stern M, Billah M, et al. Safety considerations for synthetic sling surgery. Nat Rev Urol. 2015;12:481–509.
- Lazarou G, Minis E, Grigorescu B. Outcomes of stress urinary incontinence in women undergoing TOT versus Burch colposuspension with abdominal sacrocolpopexy. Int Urogynecol J. 2019;30:245–50.
- 3. Han L, Wang L, Wang Q, Li H, Zang H. Association between pelvic organ prolapse and stress urinary incontinence with collagen. Exp Ther Med. 2014;7:1337–41.

- Rechberger T, Postawski K, Jakowicki JA, et al. Role of fascial collagen in stress urinary incontinence. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1998;179:1511–4.
- Tinelli A, Malvasi A, Rahimi S, Negro R, Vergara D, Martignago R, Pellegrino M, Cavallotti C. Age-related pelvic floor modifications and prolapse risk factors in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2010;17:204–12.
- 6. Bergsland J. Major innovations and trends in the medical device sector. Acta Inform Med. 2012;20:44-6.
- El-Domyati M, Abd-El-Raheem T, Medhat W, et al. Multiple fractional erbium: yttriumaluminum-garnet laser sessions for upper facial rejuvenation: clinical and histological implications and expectations. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2014;13:30–7.
- Tadir Y, Gaspar A, Lev-Sagie A, et al. Light and energy based therapeutics for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: consensus and controversies. Lasers Surg Med. 2017;49:137–59.
- Lapii GA, Yakovleva AY, Neimark AI. Structural reorganization of the vaginal mucosa in stress urinary incontinence under conditions of Er:YAG laser treatment. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2017;162:510–4.
- Fistonić N, Fistonić I, Guštek ŠF, Turina ISB, Marton I, Vižintin Z, Kažič M, Hreljac I, Perhavec T, Lukač M. Minimally invasive, non-ablative Er:YAG laser treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women-a pilot study. Lasers Med Sci. 2016;31:635–43.
- 11. Gambacciani M, Palacios S. Laser therapy for the restoration of vaginal function. Maturitas. 2017;99:10–5.
- Salvatore S, Nappi RE, Zerbinati N, Calligaro A, Ferrero S, Origoni M, Candiani M, Leone Roberti Maggiore U. A 12-week treatment with fractional CO2 laser for vulvovaginal atrophy: a pilot study. Climacteric. 2014;17:363–9.
- Athanasiou S, Pitsouni E, Antonopoulou A, Zacharakis D, Salvatore S, Falaggas ME, et al. The effect of microablative fractional CO2 laser on vaginal flora of postmenopausal women. Climacteric. 2016;19:512–8.
- 14. Fistonic N, Fistonic I, Lukanovic A, Findri Gustek S, Sorta Bilajac T, Franic D. First assessment of short-term efficacy of Er:YAG laser treatment on stress urinary incontinence in women: prospective cohort study. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):37–42.
- Klovning A, Avery K, Sandvik H, Hunskaar S. Comparison of two questionnaires for assessing the severity of urinary incontinence: the ICIQ-UI SF versus the incontinence severity index. Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28:411–5.
- Ogrinc BU, Sencar S, Lenasi H. Novel minimally invasive laser treatment of urinary incontinence in women. Lasers Surg Med. 2015;47:689–97.
- Tien YW, Hsiao SM, Lee CN, Lin HH. Effects of laser procedure for female urodynamic stress incontinence on pad weight, urodynamics, and sexual function. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:469–76.
- Gambacciani M, Levancini M, Russo E, Vacca L, Simoncini T, Cervigni M. Long-term effects of vaginal erbium laser in the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2018;21:148–52.
- Pardo J, Sola V, Morales A. Treatment of female stress urinary incontinence with erbium YAG laser in non-ablative mode. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2016;204:1–4.
- Leshunov EV, Martov AG. Application of laser technologies for treatment of urinary stress incontinence in women of reproductive age. Urologiia. 2015;1:36–40.
- Neimark AI, Yakovleva AY, Lapii GA. Outcomes of ER:YAG laser treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women. Urologiia. 2018;2:20–5.
- 22. Blaganje M, Šćepanović D, Žgur L, Verdenik I, Pajk F, Lukanović A. Non-ablative Er:YAG laser therapy effect on stress urinary incontinence related to quality of life and sexual function: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2018;224:153–8.
- 23. Isaza PG, Jaguszewska K, Cardona JL, Lukaszuk M. Long-term effect of thermoablative fractional CO<sub>2</sub> laser treatment as a novel approach to urinary incontinence management in women with genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Int Urogynecol J. 2018;29:211–5.
- Pitsouni E, Grigoriadis T, Tsiveleka A, et al. Microablative fractional CO2-laser therapy and the genitourinary syndrome of menopause: an observational study. Maturitas. 2016;94:131–6.

- Golubnitschaja O, Kinkorova J, Costigliola V. Predictive, preventive and personalised medicine as the hardcore of "horizon 2020": EPMA position paper. EPMA J. 2014;5:6.
- 26. Fistonić I, Fistonić N. Baseline ICIQ-UI score, body mass index, age, average birth weight, and perineometry duration as promising predictors of the short-term efficacy of Er:YAG laser treatment in stress urinary incontinent women: a prospective cohort study. Lasers Surg Med. 2018;50:636–43.
- Lane TM, Shah PJR. Valsalva leak point pressure in the evaluation of stress urinary incontinence. Braz J Urol. 2000;26:420–5.
- McGuire EJ, Fitzpatrick CC, Wan J, et al. Clinical assessment of urethral sphincter function. J Urol. 1993;150:1452–4.
- Gaspar A, Brandi H. Non-ablative erbium YAG laser for the treatment of type III stress urinary incontinence (intrinsic sphincter deficiency). Lasers Med Sci. 2017;32:685–91.
- Gaspar A, Maestri S, Silva J, Brandi H, Luque D, Koron N, Vižintin Z. Intraurethral erbium:YAG laser for the management of urinary symptoms of genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a pilot study. Lasers Surg Med. 2018;50:802–7.
- 31. Patel F. The effects of RF excited fractional CO2 laser on the vaginal canal in treating stress urinary incontinence [2G]. Obstet Gynecol. 2017;129:S71–2.
- 32. Perino A, Cucinella G, Gugliotta G, Saitta S, Polito S, Adile B, Marci R, Calagna G. Is vaginal fractional CO2 laser treatment effective in improving overactive bladder symptoms in postmenopausal patients? Preliminary results. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2016;20:2491–7.
- Zyczynski HM, Albo ME, Goldman HB, et al. Change in overactive bladder symptoms after surgery for stress urinary incontinence in women. Obstet Gynecol. 2015;126:423–30.
- Geirsson G, Fall M. Reflex interaction between the proximal urethra and the bladder. A clinical experimental study. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 1999;33:24–6.
- Lin YH, Hsieh WC, Huang L, Liang CC. Effect of non-ablative laser treatment on overactive bladder symptoms, urinary incontinence and sexual function in women with urodynamic stress incontinence. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;56:815–20.
- 36. Zerbinati N, Serati M, Origoni M, Candiani M, Iannitti T, Salvatore S. Microscopic and ultrastructural modifications of postmenopausal atrophic vaginal mucosa after fractional carbon dioxide laser treatment. Lasers Med Sci. 2015;30:429–36.
- Samuels JB, Garcia MA. Treatment to external labia and vaginal canal with CO<sub>2</sub> laser for symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. Aesthet Surg J. 2019;39:83–93.
- Lapii GA, Yakovleva AY, Neimark AI, Lushnikova EL. Study of proliferative activity of vaginal epithelium in women with stress urinary incontinence treated by Er:YAG laser. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2017;163:280–3.
- Price CR, Carniol PJ, Glaser DA. Skin resurfacing with the erbium: YAG laser. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am. 2001;9:291–302.
- Newman JB, Lord JL, Ash K, McDaniel DH. Variable pulse erbium: YAG laser skin resurfacing of perioral rhytides and side-by-side comparison with carbon dioxide laser. Lasers Surg Med. 2000;26:208–14.
- 41. Lee MS. Treatment of vaginal relaxation syndrome with an erbium: YAG laser using 90° and 360° scanning scopes: a pilot study & short-term results. Laser Ther. 2014;23:129–38.
- 42. Lukac M, Gaspar A, Bajd F. Dual tissue remodeling: non-ablative resurfacing of soft tissues with FotonaSmooth<sup>®</sup> mode Er:YAG laser. J Laser Health Acad. 2018;1:1–16.
- Hutchinson-Colas J, Segal S. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause and the use of laser therapy. Maturitas. 2015;82:342–5.
- 44. Helbig D, Bondendorf MO, Grunewald S, et al. Immunohistochemical investigation of wound healing in response to fractional photothermolysis. J Biomed Opt. 2009;14:064044.
- 45. Gandhi J, Chen A, Dagur G, Suh Y, Smith N, Cali B, Khan SA. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: an overview of clinical manifestations, pathophysiology, etiology, evaluation, and management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;215:704–11.
- 46. Song S, Budden A, Short A, Nesbitt-Hawes E, Deans R, Abbott J. The evidence for laser treatments to the vulvo-vagina: making sure we do not repeat past mistakes. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;58:148–62.

- Arunkalaivanan A, Kaur H, Onuma O. Laser therapy as a treatment modality for genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a critical appraisal of evidence. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:681–5.
- Digesu G, Swift S. Laser treatment in urogynaecology and the myth of the scientific evidence. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28:1443–4.
- 49. Pitsouni E, Grigoriadis T, Falagas ME, Salvatore S, Athanasiou S. Laser therapy for the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2017;103:78–88.
- Faubion SS, Sood R, Kapoor E. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: management strategies for the clinician. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92:1842–9.
- Conté C, Jauffret T, Vieillefosse S, Hermieu JF, Deffieux X. Laser procedure for female urinary stress incontinence: a review of the literature. Prog Urol. 2017;27:1076–83.
- Walter JE, Larochelle A. No. 358-intravaginal laser for genitourinary syndrome of menopause and stress urinary incontinence. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2018;40:503–11.
- Shamout S, Campeau L. Stress urinary incontinence in women: current and emerging therapeutic options. Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11(6 Suppl 2):S155–8.
- 54. Henriques J, Brandão P, Almeida A, et al. Female urinary incontinence: is laser treatment effective? A systematic review. Obstet Gynecol Int J. 2018;9:227–32.
- 55. Sinderman AD, D'Agostino RB Sr, Pencina MJ. The role of physicians in the era of predictive analytics. JAMA. 2015;314:25–6.
- 56. Vogenberg FR. Predictive and prognostic models: implications for healthcare decision-making in a modern recession. Am Health Drug Benefits. 2009;2:218–22.



# Metabolic Syndrome and Excessive Body Weight in Peri- and Postmenopausal Women

Andrea Giannini, Maria Magdalena Montt-Guevara, Jorge Eduardo Shortrede, Giulia Palla, Peter Chedraui, Andrea Riccardo Genazzani, and Tommaso Simoncini

# 14.1 Introduction

The metabolic syndrome (MetS), previously known as the insulin resistance syndrome or syndrome X, was first described by Reaven in 1988, and it is a complex of interrelated risk factors for cardiovascular risk and diabetes. In women, the loss of sex hormones during aging contributes to changes in body mass, musculoskeletal integrity, sexual dysfunction, and long-term risks of health and disease. The MetS increases in prevalence after menopause and consists of insulin resistance, abdominal obesity, dyslipidemia, elevated blood pressure, and pro-inflammatory and prothrombotic states. This syndrome usually precedes the development of diabetes mellitus and carries a twofold increased risk for cardiovascular events.

Similar, the prevalence of obesity (body mass index  $[BMI] \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) is higher in postmenopausal women than in premenopausal women. This is a consequence of a multifactorial process that involves reduced energy expenditure due to physical inactivity, which is sometimes compounded by depression, as well as to muscle atrophy and a lower basal metabolic rate. Although the menopause, *per se*, is not associated with weight gain, it leads to an increase of total body fat and a redistribution of body fat from the periphery to the trunk, which results in visceral adiposity. Increased BMI and upper body fat distribution (indicated by waist-to-hip ratio) and menopausal estrogen decline are associated with adverse metabolic changes such as insulin resistance

e-mail: andrea.giannini@unipi.it; tommaso.simoncini@med.unipi.it

P. Chedraui

A. Giannini  $\cdot$  M. M. Montt-Guevara  $\cdot$  J. E. Shortrede  $\cdot$  G. Palla  $\cdot$  A. R. Genazzani

T. Simoncini (🖂)

Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Instituto de Investigación e Innovación en Salud Integral, Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Universidad Católica de Santiago de Guayaquil, Guayaquil, Ecuador e-mail: peter.chedraui@cu.ucsg.edu.ec

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_14

and a propensity to develop type 2 diabetes mellitus and dyslipidemia characterized by high triglyceride levels (TG), low high-density lipoprotein (HDL-C) cholesterol levels, and an increased frequency of small, dense low-density lipoprotein (LDL-C) particles. Altered adipokine secretion, which leads to chronic inflammation, is a possible mechanism that links abdominal obesity to its metabolic consequences.

Insulin resistance and diabetes have been associated with greater cardiovascular risk among women in different clinical trials. Moreover, data from a meta-analysis suggest that the risk for fatal coronary artery disease associated with diabetes is 50% higher in women, whereas diabetes and hypertension represent the two most important cardiovascular risk factors in women, especially when they occur in association [1–4].

Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies using waist circumference or the waistto-hip ratio show no effect of menopause on body fat distribution. By contrast, studies using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) showed increased trunk fat in postmenopausal women. Moreover, studies using computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) show that postmenopausal women have greater amounts of intra-abdominal fat compared to premenopausal women.

Collectively, these studies confirm that the menopause transition is associated with an accumulation of central fat and, in particular, intra-abdominal fat. Postmenopausal women had 36% more trunk fat, 49% greater intra-abdominal fat area, and 22% greater subcutaneous abdominal fat area than premenopausal women. The menopause-related difference in intra-abdominal fat persisted after statistical adjustment for age and fat mass, whereas no differences were noted in trunk or abdominal subcutaneous fat [5, 6]. In vivo and in vitro studies indicate that estrogen receptors (ER) are mechanistically implicated in endocrine-related diseases. Recent studies with ER knockout mice have helped to unravel the role of ER in brain degeneration, osteoporosis, cardiovascular diseases (CDV), and obesity [7]. In humans, hormones help integrate metabolic interactions among major organs that are essential for metabolically intensive activities like reproduction and metabolic function. Sex steroids are involved in the metabolism of adipocytes and also influence the sex-specific remodeling of particular adipose depots. The concentrations of sex hormones partially control fat distribution: men have less total body fat but more central/intra-abdominal adipose tissue, whereas women tend to have more total fat in gluteal/femoral and subcutaneous depots. Weight and abdominal fat distribution differ among women of reproductive age and menopausal women. Estrogen function is mediated by nuclear receptors that are transcription factors that belong to the superfamily of nuclear receptors. Two types of nuclear ERs have been identified, the alpha (ER $\alpha$ ) and beta (ER $\beta$ ) receptors. Human subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissues express both ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , whereas only ER $\alpha$  mRNA has been identified in brown adipose tissue. ER $\alpha$  plays a major role in the activity of adipocytes and sexual dimorphism of fat distribution. Polymorphism of ER $\alpha$  in humans has been associated with risk factors for CVD. Lipolysis in humans is controlled primarily by the action of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors (lipolytic) and  $\alpha$ 2A-adrenergic receptors (antilipolytic) [8]. Genazzani's group in 2006 evaluated the effects of climacteric modifications on body weight and fat distribution [9]: they selected 2175 untreated normal healthy women attending a menopause clinic. Women were divided into three groups, premenopausal, perimenopausal, and postmenopausal, and compared them with 354 postmenopausal women receiving different forms of HRT. The total body fat tissue mass and distribution were analyzed using DXA. Body weight and BMI were significantly higher in perimenopausal and postmenopausal than in premenopausal women. Fat tissue and regional fat tissue as a percentage of total fat tissue were higher in the trunk and arms in perimenopausal and postmenopausal than in premenopausal women. Instead, in age-matched HRT-treated postmenopausal women, the fat tissue was similar to that in the premenopausal group. Perimenopausal and postmenopausal women show a shift to a central, android fat distribution that can be counteracted by HRT.

#### 14.2 The Menopausal Transition and Cardiovascular Risk

Early after the menopause women begin to gain weight, and their body fat is redistributed from a gynecoid to an android pattern. The increase in BMI and the proportion of visceral fat are strongly correlated with the development of hypertension, insulin resistance, and a number of metabolic risk factors for CVD. It is otherwise known that the menopause is associated with an increase of TG, LDL-C, and lipoprotein-a (Lp(a)). Levels of HDL-C gradually fall after the menopause, although concentrations always remain significantly higher in women as compared to men. This finding could be considered a protective factor for female subjects.

CVD is the number one cause of death globally, both for men and women. It is well documented that morbidity and mortality rates from CVD are higher in men than in women; however, this gender gap narrows after the menopause suggesting a role of female sex hormones and aging. In fact, the incidence of CVD in women increases substantially with aging, probably because the menopause diminishes the gender protection hence contributing to an adverse impact over cardiovascular risk variables. Nevertheless, whether this higher cardiovascular risk is a function of aging or a consequence of the loss of endogenous estrogen due to the menopause or both has been debated in the literature for many years [10].

Several studies in recent years have analyzed the differences of hormonal modifications observed during the menopausal transition between obese and normalweight women. For instance, the results of the study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) are worth mentioning; SWAN is a multicenter, multiethnic longitudinal study designed to characterize the physiological and psychosocial changes that occur during the menopausal transition and to observe their effects on subsequent health and risk factors for age-related diseases. A total of 3302 women were enrolled at seven clinical sites between 1996 and 1997. At the time of enrollment, women were premenopausal, non hormone users, and aged from 42 to 52. The participants were self-identified as African-American (28%), Caucasian (47%), Chinese (8%), Hispanic (8%), or Japanese (9%). SWAN has a multidisciplinary focus and thus has repeated measures of bone health, cardiovascular risk factors, psychosocial factors, and ovarian hormones [11]. In this set, Matthews et al. evaluated the change in coronary heart disease (CHD) risk factors in relation to a very particular and critical period of women's life that is the final menstrual period (FMP). Women who experienced a natural menopause (1054 out of the total) were analyzed independent of age and other confounders. The results showed significant increases in total cholesterol, LDL-C, and apolipoprotein B (Apo B) within a year of the FMP; importantly, the rate of change relative to FMP did not vary by ethnicity, suggesting that menopause had a uniform influence on lipids. The other risk factors changed in a linear pattern consistent with chronologic aging: TG, Lp(a), insulin, factor VIIc, and systolic blood pressure increased; diastolic blood pressure, tissue plasminogen activator antigen, fibrinogen, and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein did not change [10].

Similar to the SWAN study, in the Penn Ovarian Aging Study (POAS), obese women had lower estradiol (E2) and follicular stimulating hormone (FSH) levels than nonobese women. However, more rigorous analysis of hormonal changes between obese and nonobese women before and after the FMP found that the patterns of change in FSH and estradiol (E2) in relation to the FMP were not statistically different. The E2 change was less pronounced in obese women when compared with nonobese women. The rate of E2-blunted decline observed among obese women is physiologically corroborated by a similarly blunted FSH rise surrounding the FMP in obese versus nonobese women. Ultrasound data have shown no difference in antral follicle count between obese and nonobese women in their late reproductive years (40–52 years). This lack of difference does not support low ovarian reserve as the mechanism underlying lower E2 levels in obese women premenopausally, mechanism which is currently unclear.

In the POAS, the anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) was found to be lower in obese women compared to nonobese ones in the late reproductive years, demonstrating the complex relationship between obesity and reproductive hormones in women approaching the menopause. Follicular dysfunction and alterations in the central nervous system regulation of hormonal levels among obese women may be factors, but additional research in this area is required. The blunted magnitude of change in reproductive hormones in obese women during menopausal transition may be related to the modification in the primary source of circulating E2 as the menopausal transition progresses; the primary source of circulating E2 in premenopausal period is the ovary, whereas in postmenopause, the primary source of circulating E2 is the aromatization of androgens within the adipose tissue. This change in E2 source provides postmenopausal obese women with a non-ovarian reservoir of estrogen that normal-weight women do not have, which may blunt gonadotropin rises and mitigate ovarian estrogen loss related with the menopause. These hormonal alterations may also blunt menopause-associated adverse health effects [12, 13]. Data from the Women's Healthy Lifestyle Project provide clear evidence that weight gain and increased waist circumference, along with elevations in lipid levels and other CVD risk factors, are preventable through lifestyle intervention in healthy menopausalaged women. In fact, although these changes are inevitable with age and menopause, physical activity may attenuate the impact of both events. Thus, weight gain prevention should be recognized as an important health goal for women before they approach the menopause and women should make regular physical activity [14].

# 14.3 Other Menopausal Changes Related to Excessive Body Weight

Genitourinary syndrome (GSM) is a relatively new terminology describing vulvovaginal changes at menopause, as well as urinary symptoms of frequency, urgency, nocturia, dysuria, and recurrent urinary tract infections. Vaginal dryness is common after the menopause and unlike vasomotor symptoms (VMS) it usually persists and may worsen with time. Urogenital symptoms are effectively treated with either local (vaginal) or systemic estrogen therapy. Pelvic floor dysfunction is more common in the overweight and obese women. Risk factors for developing pelvic organ prolapse (POP) can be divided into obstetric, lifestyle, comorbidity, aging, social, pelvic floor, and surgical factors. The most important lifestyle factor is a higher BMI. Obesity may impair pelvic floor function increasing intra-abdominal pressure that damages pelvic musculature and nerve; this is linked to conduction abnormalities and obesity-related comorbidities including diabetic neuropathy and intervertebral disc herniation [15, 16].

# 14.4 Management of Women with the MetS and Obesity Across the Menopause

All women at midlife should be encouraged to maintain or achieve a normal body weight, be physically active, adopt a healthy diet, limit alcohol consumption, and quit smoking. Some women find that avoidance of spicy food, hot drinks, and alcohol lessens their VMS. Obesity is associated with a greater likelihood of VMS, although women who are overweight (BMI from 25 to <30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), as opposed to obese (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), are more likely to have severe symptoms. For obese women, weight loss may lessen VMS, as well as reduce the risks of CVD; diabetes; urinary incontinence; breast, pancreatic, and endometrial cancer; and dementia.

Estrogens seem to influence glucose homeostasis through increased glucose transport into cells, whereas the lack of estrogens has been associated with a progressive decrease in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity as well as with insulin resistance. These may explain why HRT administration to postmenopausal women is associated with a significant decrease in the incidence of type II diabetes. Estrogen deficiency is the principal pathophysiological mechanism that underlies menopausal symptoms, and various estrogen formulations are prescribed as menopausal hormone therapy, which remains the most effective available therapeutic option. The addition of progesterone aims at protecting against the consequences of systemic therapy with estrogen only in women with intact uteri [17], namely, endometrial pathologies, including hyperplasia and cancer. The risk-benefit ratios of all treatment options must be considered, taking into acount the nature and severity of symptoms and individual treatment-related risks.

In the systemic circulation, E2 and estrone, as well as testosterone, are partly bound to sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), as well as to albumin. Increasing or decreasing SHBG levels will affect the amount of unbound circulating estrogen and testosterone [18].

Obesity is a biologically plausible risk factor for venous thromboembolism (VTE), but the mechanisms underlying the relation of obesity with VTE are not totally understood. A strong positive correlation between plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) levels and BMI has been reported. PAI-1 is the main fibrinolytic inhibitor, and reduced plasma fibrinolytic potential may be a risk factor for venous thrombosis. Decreased fibrinolysis due to a high level of PAI-1 could explain in part the association of VTE with overweight and obesity. Moreover, other studies suggested that an increased BMI was associated with higher levels of prothrombotic factors such as fibrinogen and factor VII (F-VII). Thus, both oral estrogen and obesity may have synergistic effects on the unbalance between procoagulant factors and antithrombotic mechanisms. By contrast, transdermal estrogen appears to have little or no effect on hemostasis. Alternatively, increased C-reactive protein levels have been reported in obese individuals with a history of VTE, and low-grade inflammation could explain in part these findings. In addition to the effects on hemostasis and inflammation, obesity may also have direct mechanical effects on the venous system. An increased BMI may result in a higher VTE risk through an increased intra-abdominal pressure and a decreased venous return. These effects may result in venous hypertension, varicose veins, and venous stasis which promote the development of VTE [19].

For those who require pharmacological therapies, average dose HRT is the most effective treatment for VMS [20] with reductions in both frequency and severity in the order of 75%, and the improvement of quality of life in symptomatic women [21]. HRT should be avoided in those with unexplained vaginal bleeding, active liver disease, previous breast cancer, coronary heart disease, stroke, personal history of thromboembolic disease, or a known high inherited risk. CVD risk factors do not automatically preclude HRT but should be taken into account. Upregulation of the hepatic synthesis of procoagulants is another known effect of oral estrogens. Transdermal estradiol does not seem to increase the risk of venous thromboembolic events. Evidence shows that transdermal estrogen ( $\leq$ 50 µg) is associated with a lower risk of deep vein thrombosis, stroke, and myocardial infarction compared to oral therapy and may be the preferred mode of treatment in women with an increased thrombosis risk, such as obese women and smokers. In addition, unlike oral estrogen, transdermal estradiol does not increase the risk of gallbladder disease [22, 23].

Estrogen therapy restores the normal vaginal flora, lowers the pH, and thickens and revascularizes the vaginal lining. The number of superficial epithelial cells is increased and symptoms of atrophy are alleviated. Importantly, low-dose vaginal estrogen improves vaginal atrophy without causing proliferation of the endometrium. Given the documented efficacy and proven safety, vaginal estrogen is the first-line approach to treat symptoms of vaginal atrophy in the majority of women: vaginal estrogen is effective, and while systemic absorption does occur, it does not induce endometrial hyperplasia. Concerns regarding systemic absorption has lead to the tendency that vaginal estrogens be avoided in breast cancer patients taking aromatase inhibitors. The relationship between HRT and urinary incontinence depends on the delivery route. Systemic HRT worsens urinary incontinence, but vaginal treatment may improve urge incontinence and prevent recurrent urinary tract infections. Using very low doses for the first few weeks is helpful if irritation occurs, and indeed lower doses of vaginal estrogens, with less frequent administration, often yields satisfactory results [16, 24].

In conclusion, initiation of hormone therapy is usually contraindicated in women with a personal history of breast cancer or VTE or those with a high risk for breast cancer, thrombosis, or stroke. Transdermal estrogen therapy may be considered and preferred when highly symptomatic women with type 2 diabetes mellitus or obesity, or those at high risk of CVD, do not respond to non-hormonal therapies. In general, initiation of of HRT is not recommended for women who are aged >60 [25].

In order to avoid undue chronic stimulatory effects on the endometrium, control menstrual bleeding, avoid abnormal bleeding, and avoid cancer development, the combination of the estrogen with a progestogen is needed. Endometrial cancer is the most common gynecologic cancer: it is estimated that risk of endometrial cancer increases about 59% for every 5 units of increase in BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and overweight and obesity are responsible for 57% of all cases of endometrial cancer in the USA. Obesity increases exposure to estrogen unopposed by progesterone in pre- and postmenopausal women. The inclusion of progesterone appears to increase breast cancer risk, but progestogens are still indicated to prevent endometrial hyperplasia and cancer risk [26].

Progesterone is naturally produced in women in the ovaries (particularly the corpus luteum), in the placenta, and to a certain extent in the adrenal glands. There are a variety of synthetic progestogens. One of these progestogens, dydrogesterone, is a retro-progesterone, and another, drospirenone (DRSP), is spironolactone derivative. The "newer" progestogens belong to different classes based on their structure. For each of them, progestogenic, as well as antiestrogenic action, is common. The antiandrogenic effect is relevant for dienogest (DNG) and DRSP and lesser for nomegestrol acetate (NOMAC). None of them have a glucocorticoid effect. DRSP is different due to its strong antimineralocorticoid action and has a favorable effect on blood pressure. In addition, these progestogens do not interfere with the positive effect of estrogens on lipid and carbohydrate metabolism, they do not augment hemostasis processes as monotherapy, and they avoid the induction of abnormal proliferation of the endometrium in doses clinically tested. Therefore, all three progestogens appear to be suitable for the treatment of menopausal women [27].

Nonetheless, considering that HRT could create important health risks, it is highly desirable the discovery of new alternatives for the management of menopause-related symptoms, with minor side effects. Over the past 15 years, hormone preparations of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) have been available over the counter and have been sold as the "fountain of youth." DHEA serves as a precursor for estrogens and androgens from fetal life to the postmenopause, and many people believe that DHEA is merely an inactive precursor pool for the formation of bioactive steroid hormones. DHEAs represent the most abundant sex steroid in plasma in humans (more than 1000 times higher than estradiol and testosterone levels), but its serum concentration goes down to 10–20% of its maximum level by around the

age of 70. The large difference between low and high serum DHEA levels has a major clinical impact. Among postmenopausal women with coronary risk factors, lower DHEA levels were linked to higher CVD and all-cause mortality [25]. Several studies had previously demonstrated that 1-year treatment, using administration of 10 mg DHEA daily in symptomatic postmenopausal women with lower (fifth percentile) baseline DHEA sulphate levels, improved climacteric and sexual symptoms and directly reversed some age-related changes in adrenal enzymatic pathways, including adrenal DHEA and progesterone synthesis [28–30].

## 14.5 Non-hormonal Treatments

In the past 2 years, two new pharmaceutical preparations were approved in the USA and Europe for the treatment of menopausal symptoms: an oral selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), ospemifene, for the treatment of moderate to severe pain during intercourse associated with vulvovaginal atrophy [31] and a tissue-selective estrogen complex (TSEC), a combination of oral conjugated equine estrogen (CEE) and bazedoxifene (BZA, a SERM), for the management of moderate to severe VMS in women with an intact uterus. Tissue selectivity is achieved through the concurrent use of estrogen and a SERM, which replaces a progestogen and selectively blocks the undesirable actions of estrogen. In the case of CEE-BZA the proliferative effects of estrogen are blocked in the uterus and possibly also the breast, whereas the bone-sparing actions of estrogen are preserved. The role of testosterone for the treatment of postmenopausal desire or arousal disorders and the long-term implications of such a therapy in postmenopausal women are unclear. The motivation for combining CEE-BZA is to retain the beneficial effects of estrogens over VMS, vulvovaginal atrophy, and bone while incorporating the antiestrogenic effects of the SERM on the breast and endometrium to improve the overall safety profile [32]. The combination of 20 mg BZA and 0.45 mg CEE is the only approved drug to date for the management of moderate to severe VMS in the USA and Europe [33].

Tibolone is a synthetic steroid that is rapidly converted into two metabolites with estrogenic activity and to a third metabolite characterized by a mixed progestogenic/androgenic activity. Tibolone controls hot flushes, sweating, and mood symptoms and is effective at improving libido, due to its androgenic component. Randomized, controlled studies show that tibolone increases bone mineral density and reduces fracture risk. These beneficial effects are seen over long-term treatments [34] (over 10 years) and in both early and late postmenopausal women, as well as in women with established osteoporosis. The combined analysis of randomized clinical studies of tibolone indicates no increase in risk of breast cancer development compared with the placebo group. Tibolone treatment is associated with a reduction of proliferation and a stimulation of apoptosis in normal breast cells that is possibly attributable to the impact of this compound on the activity of estrogen-metabolizing breast enzymes [35]. The metabolization of tibolone is tissue selective, and the conversion to the progestogenic metabolite is particularly active in the endometrium. Investigation of endometrial histology in women treated with

tibolone shows no hyperplasia and a high level of atrophic endometrium, indicating no proliferative effect of this molecule.

Some non-hormonal therapies are effective against menopausal VMS and should be considered for women who do not wish to take estrogens or those with contraindications. For VMS, many drugs have demonstrated efficacy in several studies: paroxetine, fluoxetine, and citalopram (which are selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors); venlafaxine and desvenlafaxine (selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors); clonidine ( $\alpha_2$ -adrenergic receptor agonist); and anticonvulsants (gabapentin and pregabalin). Paroxetine and fluoxetine are potent cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) inhibitors, and as they decrease the metabolism of tamoxifen (a SERM used in the treatment of breast cancer)—which may reduce its anticancer effects these drugs should be avoided among tamoxifen users. However, consistency of treatment response and efficacy of the various alternative options remain questionable [33, 36–38].

## 14.6 Conclusions

MetS refers to a clustering within the same individual of hyperinsulinemia, mild to severe glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, hypertension, an increased risk for CVD and diabetes. Parallel to this, adipose tissue could be an "insulator" and interfere with normal thermoregulatory mechanisms of heat dissipation. Women with higher abdominal adiposity, particularly subcutaneous adiposity, report an increase of VMS during the menopausal transition and in the early postmenopause. Healthy weight among mid-aged women who are early in the menopausal transition may help prevent VMS. Overweight women may suffer psychosocial consequences, with a significant impact on self-esteem and general well-being: obese postmenopausal women have lower health-related quality of life, physical functioning, energy, and vitality compared with normal-weight women. Obesity is also a major risk factor for pelvic floor dysfunction, some cancers (endometrial, breast and colon) and musculoskeletal disorders, especially osteoarthritis (a highly disabling degenerative disease of the joints). It could be necessary to encourage lifestyle measures in addition to therapeutic interventions throughout the menopausal transition in order to control menopausal obesity and to manage menopause-related symptoms, with mild side effects (Tables 14.1 and 14.2).

Direct effects	Indirect effects	
Nitric oxide production and release ↑	Total cholesterol $\downarrow$ , LDL $\downarrow$ , HDL $\uparrow$	
Prostacyclin production and release $\uparrow$	Antioxidant effects: oxidation of LDL $\downarrow$	
Endothelin-1 production and release $\downarrow$	Blood pressure ↓	
Cytokine release ↓	Insulin sensitivity ↑	
Inflammation ↓	Homocysteine ↓	
Smooth-muscle cell growth $\downarrow$	Ischemia/reperfusion injury ↓, cardiac hypertrophy ↓	
Atherosclerotic plaque progression $\downarrow$		

Table 14.1 Mechanisms by which estrogen may exert beneficial cardiovascular effects

	0	5	
	WHO (1999)	ATP-III (2001)	IDF (2005)
Fasting glucose	Diabetes mellitus, impaired glucose tolerance	>110 mg/dL	>100 mg/dL or previously type-II diabetes
Blood pressure	≥140/90 mmHg or use of medication	>130/85 mmHg or use of medication	>130/85 mmHg or use of medication
Dyslipidemia (TG)	≥150 mg/dL	≥150 mg/dL	≥150 mg/dL
Dyslipidemia (HDL-CH)	<35 mg/dL for males	<40 mg/dL for males	<40 mg/dL for males
	<39 mg/dL for females	<50 mg/dL for females	<50 mg/dL for females
Central obesity	WHR >0.9 in males	Waist circumference	Waist circumference
	>0.85 for females and/or BMI >30	≥102 cm for males	>94 cm for males
		≥88 cm for females	>80 cm for females for Caucasian race
Microalbuminuria	Urinary albumin excretion ratio ≥20 µg/min or albumin:creatinine ratio ≥30 mg/g		
Diagnostic criteria	MD type II or IGT and two criteria	Three or more criteria	Central obesity and two criteria

**Table 14.2** Criteria for the diagnosis of metabolic syndrome

# References

- Corcoran MP, Meydani M, Lichtenstein AH, Schaefer EJ, Dillard A, Lamon-Fava S. Sex hormone modulation of proinflammatory cytokine and C-reactive protein expression in macrophages from older men and postmenopausal women. J Endocrinol. 2010;206(2):217–24.
- Hu G, Lindstrom J, Jousilahti P, Peltonen M, Sjoberg L, Kaaja R, et al. The increasing prevalence of metabolic syndrome among Finnish men and women over a decade. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(3):832–6.
- Fu XD, Simoncini T. Non-genomic sex steroid actions in the vascular system. Semin Reprod Med. 2007;25(3):178–86.
- Donaldson C, Eder S, Baker C, Aronovitz MJ, Weiss AD, Hall-Porter M, et al. Estrogen attenuates left ventricular and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by an estrogen receptordependent pathway that increases calcineurin degradation. Circ Res. 2009;104(2):265–75, 11p following 75.
- 5. Toth MJ, Tchernof A, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Effect of menopausal status on body composition and abdominal fat distribution. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24(2):226–31.
- Toth MJ, Tchernof A, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Menopause-related changes in body fat distribution. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;904:502–6.
- 7. Mueller SO, Korach KS. Estrogen receptors and endocrine diseases: lessons from estrogen receptor knockout mice. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2001;1(6):613–9.
- 8. Lizcano F, Guzman G. Estrogen deficiency and the origin of obesity during menopause. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:757461.
- Genazzani AR, Gambacciani M. Effect of climacteric transition and hormone replacement therapy on body weight and body fat distribution. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2006;22(3):145–50.
- Matthews KA, Crawford SL, Chae CU, Everson-Rose SA, Sowers MF, Sternfeld B, et al. Are changes in cardiovascular disease risk factors in midlife women due to chronological aging or to the menopausal transition? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54(25):2366–73.

- Santoro N. The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN). Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2011;38(3):xvii–xix.
- 12. Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Sanders RJ. Risk of long-term hot flashes after natural menopause: evidence from the Penn ovarian aging study cohort. Menopause. 2014;21(9):924–32.
- Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Liu L, Gracia CR, Nelson DB, Hollander L. Hormones and menopausal status as predictors of depression in women in transition to menopause. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2004;61(1):62–70.
- 14. Simkin-Silverman LR, Wing RR. Weight gain during menopause. Is it inevitable or can it be prevented. Postgrad Med. 2000;108(3):47–50, 53–6.
- Giri A, Hartmann KE, Hellwege JN, Velez Edwards DR, Edwards TL. Obesity and pelvic organ prolapse: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217(1):11–26.e3.
- Palacios S, Mejia A, Neyro JL. Treatment of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Climacteric. 2015;18(Suppl 1):23–9.
- 17. Davis SR, Castelo-Branco C, Chedraui P, Lumsden MA, Nappi RE, Shah D, et al. Understanding weight gain at menopause. Climacteric. 2012;15(5):419–29.
- Dunn JF, Nisula BC, Rodbard D. Transport of steroid hormones: binding of 21 endogenous steroids to both testosterone-binding globulin and corticosteroid-binding globulin in human plasma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1981;53(1):58–68.
- Canonico M, Oger E, Conard J, Meyer G, Levesque H, Trillot N, et al. Obesity and risk of venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women: differential impact of hormone therapy by route of estrogen administration. The ESTHER study. J Thromb Haemost. 2006;4(6):1259–65.
- 20. Gartoulla P, Worsley R, Bell RJ, Davis SR. Moderate to severe vasomotor and sexual symptoms remain problematic for women aged 60 to 65 years. Menopause. 2015;22(7):694–701.
- Welton AJ, Vickers MR, Kim J, Ford D, Lawton BA, MacLennan AH, et al. Health related quality of life after combined hormone replacement therapy: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2008;337:a1190.
- 22. Olie V, Plu-Bureau G, Conard J, Horellou MH, Canonico M, Scarabin PY. Hormone therapy and recurrence of venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2011;18(5):488–93.
- 23. Hoibraaten E, Qvigstad E, Arnesen H, Larsen S, Wickstrom E, Sandset PM. Increased risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism during hormone replacement therapy—results of the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled estrogen in venous thromboembolism trial (EVTET). Thromb Haemost. 2000;84(6):961–7.
- 24. Palacios S, Castelo-Branco C, Currie H, Mijatovic V, Nappi RE, Simon J, et al. Update on management of genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a practical guide. Maturitas. 2015;82(3):308–13.
- Davis SR, Lambrinoudaki I, Lumsden M, Mishra GD, Pal L, Rees M, et al. Menopause. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15004.
- Roberts H, Hickey M, Lethaby A. Hormone therapy in postmenopausal women and risk of endometrial hyperplasia: a cochrane review summary. Maturitas. 2014;77(1):4–6.
- Schindler AE. The "newer" progestogens and postmenopausal hormone therapy (HRT). J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2014;142:48–51.
- Pluchino N, Carmignani A, Cubeddu A, Santoro A, Cela V, Errasti T. Androgen therapy in women: for whom and when. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013;288(4):731–7.
- 29. Genazzani AR, Stomati M, Valentino V, Pluchino N, Pot E, Casarosa E, et al. Effect of 1-year, low-dose DHEA therapy on climacteric symptoms and female sexuality. Climacteric. 2011;14(6):661–8.
- Pluchino N, Ninni F, Stomati M, Freschi L, Casarosa E, Valentino V, et al. One-year therapy with 10 mg/day DHEA alone or in combination with HRT in postmenopausal women: effects on hormonal milieu. Maturitas. 2008;59(4):293–303.
- 31. Constantine G, Graham S, Portman DJ, Rosen RC, Kingsberg SA. Female sexual function improved with ospemifene in postmenopausal women with vulvar and vaginal atrophy: results of a randomized, placebokcontrolled trial. Climacteric. 2015;18(2):226–32.

- Pickar JH, Yeh IT, Bachmann G, Speroff L. Endometrial effects of a tissue selective estrogen complex containing bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens as a menopausal therapy. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(3):1018–24.
- Genazzani AR, Komm BS, Pickar JH. Emerging hormonal treatments for menopausal symptoms. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs. 2015;20(1):31–46.
- 34. Rymer J, Robinson J, Fogelman I. Ten years of treatment with tibolone 2.5 mg daily: effects on bone loss in postmenopausal women. Climacteric. 2002;5(4):390–8.
- 35. Valdivia I, Campodonico I, Tapia A, Capetillo M, Espinoza A, Lavin P. Effects of tibolone and continuous combined hormone therapy on mammographic breast density and breast histochemical markers in postmenopausal women. Fertil Steril. 2004;81(3):617–23.
- Hickey M, Schoenaker DA, Joffe H, Mishra GD. Depressive symptoms across the menopause transition: findings from a large population-based cohort study. Menopause. 2016;23(12):1287–93.
- 37. Ingle JN, Johnson PA, Suman VJ, Gerstner JB, Mailliard JA, Camoriano JK, et al. A randomized phase II trial of two dosage levels of letrozole as third-line hormonal therapy for women with metastatic breast carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;80(2):218–24.
- Pachman DR, Barton DL, Swetz KM, Loprinzi CL. Troublesome symptoms in cancer survivors: fatigue, insomnia, neuropathy, and pain. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(30):3687–96.



Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis in Nondiabetic Postmenopausal Women 15

Stavroula A. Paschou, Panagiotis Anagnostis, Dimitrios G. Goulis, and Irene Lambrinoudaki

# 15.1 Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is one of the most prevalent conditions predisposing to cardiovascular disease (CVD). Although various criteria have been proposed for the definition and diagnosis of the syndrome, the most commonly used is the Joint Interim Societies (JIS) MetS definition. According to these criteria, the diagnosis of MetS is established in the concomitant presence of any three of the following: (1) increased waist circumference depending on ethnicity (e.g. >94 cm for men and >80 cm for women from a Mediterranean population), (2) hypertension (systolic blood pressure > 130 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure > 85 mmHg or known hypertension on drug treatment), (3) decreased concentrations of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) (<50 mg/dL), (4) increased concentrations of triglycerides (TG) (>150 mg/dL or known hypertriglyceridemia on drug treatment) and (5) hyperglycaemia (fasting glucose >100 mg/dL or known glycaemic disorder on drug treatment) [1]. Insulin resistance is considered as the pathophysiological hallmark

S. A. Paschou

P. Anagnostis

Unit of Reproductive Endocrinology, First Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, "Papageorgiou" General Hospital, Thessaloniki, Greece

D. G. Goulis

I. Lambrinoudaki (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Division of Endocrinology and Diabetes, "Aghia Sophia" Hospital, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Unit of Reproductive Endocrinology, First Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece e-mail: dgg@auth.gr

Division of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Second Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece e-mail: ilambrinoudaki@med.uoa.gr

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_15

of all parameters of MetS and is mostly met in centrally obese individuals [2]. Many researchers have doubted the importance of the syndrome and the need for such a diagnosis. However, the cardiometabolic factors that MetS includes increase independently and additively the risk for the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), atherosclerosis and CVD [3]. Therefore, their recognition and treatment are of great value.

Menopause represents the end of reproductive life of women, as the result of depletion of the follicle pool in ovaries. Transition to menopause is associated with a substantial decrease in oestrogen concentrations and a less intense one in androgen concentrations, resulting in a state of relative androgen excess. This imbalance is further amplified by the decrease in sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) concentrations [4]. These hormonal changes are accompanied by other phenotypical, metabolic and biochemical changes. Postmenopausal women have significantly higher rates of obesity compared with women of reproductive age [5], and they present a more atherogenic lipid profile, derangement of glucose homoeostasis and body fat redistribution into an "android" pattern with increased visceral adiposity [6, 7]. These changes increase the likelihood to develop MetS and, possibly, atherosclerosis and CVD [8]. Indeed, the prevalence of MetS in postmenopausal women is higher compared with women of reproductive age [9–12]. Whether these phenomena are independent of the chronological ageing itself has been a matter of scientific discussion.

The aim of this chapter is to analyse and qualitatively synthesise current information regarding MetS and atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women without preexisting diabetes. The following topics are discussed: (1) the effect of menopause on the risk of MetS as a whole, (2) the effect of menopause on individual components of MetS and (3) the risk of atherosclerosis and CVD in women after menopause.

# 15.2 Menopause and the Metabolic Syndrome

The prevalence of MetS in women older than 20 years old in the USA is 23.4% [2]. The prevalence of MetS in postmenopausal women ranges between 31 and 55% in different studies [9, 10], depending on the diagnostic criteria and ethnicity, as well as on dietary, cultural and environmental factors. In any case, postmenopausal women present a significantly higher prevalence of MetS compared with premenopausal women [9–12].

Small studies have indicated that MetS is not associated with the menopausal status after adjustment for age [13, 14]. However, larger studies support that menopause affects the prevalence of MetS after adjustment for age and/or body mass index (BMI) [15–17]. Subgroup analysis of a cross-sectional study in women with premature menopause revealed that these women had significantly higher risk of MetS compared with age-matched premenopausal women (40% vs. 24%, respectively) [16]. Interestingly, decrease in SHBG concentrations and increase in serum testosterone concentrations were significantly correlated with the development of MetS in postmenopausal women, while the decrease in oestradiol concentrations was not [18]. It has been demonstrated that the increase in androgen-to-oestrogen

ratio over the menopausal transition is associated with increased incidence of MetS, independently of ethnical background or other possible confounders [19]. Similarly, in a study in 362 postmenopausal women, those in the highest quartile of free androgen index (FAI) had a fivefold higher likelihood to present MetS when compared with women in the lowest quartile of FAI after adjustment for age and ethnicity [20], indicating an essential association between free androgen concentrations and the presence of the syndrome.

The years after menopause also seem to affect the prevalence of MetS. It has been reported that the risk for MetS increases during the first 14 years after menopause. The peak incidence was shown in the group of women between 10 and 14 years after the last menstrual cycle [odds ratio (OR) 4.0, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.6–9.8], while after this time the incidence decreased [15]. In accordance, Park et al. reported that the peak prevalence of MetS is reached in around mid-60 years of age in women [9]. Of note, surgical menopause is associated with a 1.5-fold higher risk of MetS in comparison with natural menopause. This was demonstrated by a recent meta-analysis, which included 428 surgically menopausal women and 1259 naturally menopausal women from three observational studies with low heterogeneity (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.2–1.9, p < 0.001) [21]. The exact mechanism is not clear; however, the sudden decrease in oestrogen concentrations after surgical menopause may play an essential role.

## 15.3 Menopause and the Individual Components of the Metabolic Syndrome

#### 15.3.1 Central Obesity

One of the most notable phenotypical changes in women after menopause is weight gain, associated with an increase in total body fat mass and central abdominal fat accumulation, as well as loss of muscle mass and strength [22]. Various studies have shown that the transition from pre- to post-reproductive life is associated with an increase in waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) [20, 23, 24]. Even after adjustment for BMI and other possible confounding factors, postmenopausal women present about fivefold risk of central obesity compared with premenopausal women [25]. A recent meta-analysis, including 12,277 premenopausal and postmenopausal women, revealed that the mean waist circumference was by 4.1 cm increased in postmenopausal women (95% CI 3.1–5.1). Regarding BMI, results from a study including 14,445 subjects showed that it was significantly higher too in postmenopausal women (0.94 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 95% CI 0.7–1.2) [21].

The use of accurate body composition assessment techniques, such as dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) or computed tomography (CT), has provided evidence that the main parameter affected during the menopausal transition is that of intra-abdominal fat [26–28]. When perimenopausal women were studied for 4 years, only women who reached menopause showed an increase in visceral fat. In addition, these women presented significant reduction in energy expenditure from fat oxidation, which favoured an increase in total body and visceral fat, without important changes in energy intake [29]. Another study suggested that the increase in abdominal obesity (OR 3.0, 95% CI 1.1–8.3) associated with menopause is timedependent and occurs primarily in the early postmenopausal period, mainly within the first 5 years after the last menses [15]. Interestingly, the peak prevalence of MetS in postmenopausal women is seen later in life, during the mid-1960s [9].

## 15.3.2 Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance is the pathophysiological hallmark of MetS and originally was included within the diagnostic criteria [30]. It is highly associated with central obesity. Abdominal fat deposition after menopause leads to systemic low-grade inflammation through the action of cytokines and adipokines which results in insulin resistance in the peripheral tissues. Decreased lean muscle mass due to sarcopenia further contributes to this phenomenon. However, few studies investigated the possible direct effect of menopause, independently of changes in body composition. With the use of intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT), insulin sensitivity was found to be decreased in postmenopausal women in early studies [31, 32]. Such differences were not detected with the use of euglycaemic, hyperinsulinaemic clamp, which constitutes the gold standard, but it cannot always detect clinically important alterations [33, 34].

Bidirectional pathophysiological associations between MetS, insulin resistance and androgens have been proposed, indicating that the higher the concentrations of androgens, the higher the degree of insulin resistance [35]. This association may be mediated by ovarian androgens, as adrenal hyperandrogenism does not further deteriorate the metabolic profile of women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) [36]. Even after menopause, there is evidence indicating a positive independent association between insulin resistance, increased FAI and decreased concentrations of SHBG [4, 37].

#### 15.3.3 Dyslipidaemia

Women after menopause present multiple disturbances in their lipid profile, with increase in total cholesterol (TC), increase in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c) and increase in TG, as well as decrease in HDL-c concentrations [6, 7, 38]. Close monitoring of lipid profile in perimenopausal women from the SWAN (Study of Women's Health Across the Nation) study revealed that changes in TC and LDL-c concentrations are associated with menopause per se rather than with chronological ageing [39]. This is not the same for HDL-c concentrations, as they seem to be affected by both chronological and ovarian ageing [39, 40]. TG concentrations increase steadily during the menopausal transition [38, 41], but this change is strongly affected by the presence of central obesity [38]. Regarding sex hormone concentrations during menopause and lipids, a significant negative correlation of

TC and LDL-c with SHBG and a positive correlation with FAI was reported, but not with testosterone or oestradiol concentrations. Multiple regression analysis indicated that this association was affected by waist circumference [13].

Furthermore, concentrations of apolipoproteins may also change after menopause. Postmenopausal women demonstrate higher apolipoprotein B (apoB), as well as A-I (apoA-I) and A-II (apoA-II) concentrations compared with premenopausal women, which result in significant changes in the cholesterol content of LDL and HDL particles [7, 42]. Lipoprotein (a) may slightly increase during the menopausal transition; the evidence, however, is inconclusive [43].

#### 15.3.4 Hypertension

Age represents a strong risk factor for hypertension in both genders. The prevalence of hypertension in the USA increases from 11.6% between 20 and 39 years to 37.3% between 40 and 59 years to 67.2% for  $\geq$ 60 years of age. Interestingly, after the age of 65 years, the prevalence of hypertension in women is higher compared with that in men [44-48]. Hypertension is more prevalent in postmenopausal women compared with that in premenopausal women of the same age. The incidence of hypertension increases steeply during the first years after the last menstrual cycle [45, 49]. Central obesity and insulin resistance essentially affect the risk of hypertension. The follow-up of 3848 postmenopausal Hispanic women for 3 years showed that 27.3% of normotensive at baseline women progressed to prehypertension and 9% to hypertension and the likelihood of this progression was much higher for those who had a BMI ≥25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> [50]. Similarly, a study from India, including 415 postmenopausal women 40-85 years of age, demonstrated that the development of hypertension was affected primarily by central obesity and waist circumference [51]. Another study from Tunisia revealed a higher prevalence of hypertension in postmenopausal women compared with premenopausal women of similar age (72.8% vs. 26.0%, p < 0.001). Waist circumference and insulin resistance were the strongest predictors for hypertension too [52].

There are also cross-sectional studies which suggest that menopause increases the risk of hypertension, independently of age and BMI [38, 53]. On the other hand, there are various, epidemiological mainly studies, which did not find any differences in blood pressure between premenopausal and postmenopausal women after adjustment for age and BMI [54–56]. A recent meta-analysis, pooling data from 12 studies and 1211 women, concluded that both systolic [mean difference (MD) 6.1, 95% CI 3.8–8.4] and diastolic blood pressure (MD 3.5, 95% CI 2.1–4.9) were significantly increased in postmenopausal women but without any adjustment [21]. The relative androgen excess associated with menopause may also play a role in the development of hypertension. In a study of 180 postmenopausal women followed up for 29 months, 13% of women in the highest FAI quartile developed new-onset hypertension as compared to only 4% in the lower quartiles [57]. The same group investigated 411 consecutive apparently healthy postmenopausal women and showed that FAI was an independent determinant of systolic blood pressure [58]. In general, hypertension is more common in postmenopausal women and is strongly associated with central obesity and insulin resistance and cardinal metabolic consequences of menopause.

#### 15.3.5 Impairment of Glucose Homeostasis

Hyperglycaemia, even in the milder type of impaired fasting glucose (IFG, fasting glucose  $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$ ), represents one of the criteria for MetS. In a study evaluating women at midlife, fasting glucose concentrations in postmenopausal women were higher compared with those in premenopausal women (93.9 ± 7.6 vs. 96.8 ± 7.0 mg/ dL, *p* = 0.001). Multivariable analysis including various potential confounders, such as age, BMI, TG, TC, LDL-c, HDL-c, systolic and diastolic blood pressure as well as menopausal status, showed that menopause remained an independent risk factor for increased fasting glucose, along with BMI and TG concentrations [59]. A meta-analysis pooled data from 15 trials and 12,466 participants for this parameter and, even though with high heterogeneity (*I*<sup>2</sup> 95%), resulted that fasting glucose concentrations were significantly increased in postmenopausal women compared with premenopausal ones (MD 4.6, 95% CI 3.9–5.3). The same difference was found for fasting insulin concentrations (MD 20.9, 95% CI 2.1–39.7) [21].

Regarding T2DM development after menopause, the initial findings of the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) proposed that it is related with age and was not associated with the hormonal changes due to the decline of ovarian function [39, 60]. However, later analysis of the same data resulted that lower oestradiol concentrations contributed 47% higher risk for the clinical presentation of T2DM [61]. Further studies followed and confirmed these results. The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-InterAct study, which followed women for 11 years, provided evidence that menopause before the age of 40 years contributed 32% greater risk for T2DM [62]. A study in 16,299 women from China showed that menopause before 45 years of age was associated with 20% greater risk for T2DM compared with the normal age at menopause [63]. Studies with surgically menopausal women reported increased risk up to 57% for T2DM [64]. A recent analysis of data from 124,379 postmenopausal women from the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) study, after adjustment for chronological age, is of great interest. This analysis provided evidence that women with less than 30 years between menarche and menopause presented 37% greater risk for T2DM compared with women having 26-40 years of reproductive lifetime [65]. Therefore, it seems that menopause and its consequences can predispose to the development of T2DM, independently of and additively to ageing.

## 15.4 Menopause, Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis

The adverse cardiometabolic profile which occurs after menopause can ultimately predispose to increased CVD risk. Indeed, endothelial dysfunction is evident early during the menopausal transition [66]. The Framingham Heart Study is one

of the first major studies which demonstrated a higher incidence of CVD events in postmenopausal women compared with age-matched premenopausal women [67]. The evidence is more robust regarding premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) (menopause before 40 years of age) and early menopause (menopause between 40 and 45 years of age). A recent meta-analysis of prospective cohorts showed that women with POI present an increased risk for ischaemic heart disease mortality [relative risk (RR) 1.48, 95% CI 1.02-2.16] and all-cause mortality (RR 1.39, 95% CI 1.10–1.77) [68]. Another meta-analysis also provided evidence that POI is associated with increased risk of ischaemic heart disease [hazard ratio (HR) 1.69, 95% CI 1.29–2.21] and total CVD mortality (1.61, 95% CI 1.22–2.12) [69]. Early menopause is also associated with a higher CVD risk, but to a lower extent than POI. One meta-analysis concluded in slightly increased risk for death from ischaemic heart disease in women with early menopause compared with those after normal menopause (RR 1.09, 95% CI 1.00-1.18) [68], while another one showed that early menopause increases the risk for coronary heart disease (RR 1.50, 95% CI 1.28-1.76), total CVD mortality (RR 1.19, 95% CI 1.08-1.31) and all-cause mortality (RR 1.12, 95% CI 1.03-1.21) [70]. Of note, surgical menopause is soundly associated with increased risk for CVD. The risk for coronary heart disease was more than twofold increased in women with bilateral oophorectomy (RR 2.2, 95% CI 1.2-4.2) [71]. It has been established that surgical menopause under the age of 45 years is not only firmly linked with increased CVD risk [71, 72] but also with a higher all-cause mortality [73].

In large population studies, the increase in the risk of CVD in postmenopausal women was largely attributed to coexisting metabolic risk factors [74]. MetS is a major contributor to atherosclerosis and CVD in postmenopausal women. When 473 postmenopausal women without T2DM were studied, MetS was found in 17.3% of them. Pulse wave velocity increased linearly with the accumulation of features of the syndrome, while carotid artery intima-media thickness was independently affected by MetS [75]. In the same cohort, the triglyceride-glucose index (TyG index) was shown to be strongly associated with carotid atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness mainly in lean postmenopausal women, while MetS was proved to be a better predictor of subclinical atherosclerosis in overweight and obese women [76]. A comparative analysis of data from young postmenopausal women (n = 101) with men (n = 85) without T2DM, matched for other risk factors, resulted that the prevalence and severity of carotid atherosclerosis was similar between the two populations [77]. In accordance, an Iranian prospective cohort study that followed women for 12 years reported that women who had MetS were those who developed CVD more often (24.2% vs. 15%) [78]. Data from the Rotterdam Study with a median follow-up of 7.2 years also indicated that the presence of MetS was associated with a slightly increased risk of coronary artery disease (HR 1.08–1.32) [79].

In another study with 120 healthy postmenopausal women with low-to-medium calculated cardiovascular risk, subclinical atherosclerosis was found to be highly prevalent, especially in those with higher age, more years since menopause and increased insulin resistance and blood pressure [80]. The relative androgen excess associated with menopause may has been implicated in atherosclerosis development

too. In the same population of healthy postmenopausal women [80], it was shown that total testosterone and FAI were the most important predictors of common carotid artery intima-media thickness [81]. Similarly, FAI was the only significant independent predictor of pulse wave velocity after adjustment for age, smoking, BMI, insulin resistance and lipid concentrations. On the contrary, dehydroepian-drosterone sulphate (DHEA-S) concentrations were shown to exhibit a negative association with arterial stiffness [81].

#### 15.5 Conclusions

Transition to menopause is associated with changes in fat tissue distribution, which predispose to central obesity and increased risk for the development of MetS. The substantial decrease in oestrogen concentrations, the state of relative androgen excess and the decrease in SHBG concentrations may mediate these phenotypical and metabolic consequences. Regarding individual components of MetS, some of them seem to be affected by menopause per se, such as glucose metabolism, while some others seem to be the result of increased central obesity and insulin resistance, such as hypertension. The lipid profile worsens after the menopause, but whether this phenomenon is irrespective of age, BMI and central obesity is inconclusive. The presence of MetS appears to increase the CVD risk after menopause. Surgical menopause is strongly associated with a higher prevalence of MetS and increased risk for CVD. Bearing in mind that most women will spend more than one-third of their lifespan in the postmenopausal status, public health strategies should encourage women to maintain normal body weight during the transition to post-reproductive life, in an attempt to counteract the inevitable consequences of both chronological and ovarian ageing.

**Competing Interest** None to declare. *Funding*: None.

# References

- Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation. 2009;120:1640–5.
- 2. Ford ES, Giles WH, Dietz WH. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA. 2002;287:356–9.
- Katsiki N, Athyros VG, Karagiannis A, Mikhailidis DP. Characteristics other than the diagnostic criteria associated with metabolic syndrome: an overview. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2014;12:627–41.
- Paschou SA, Anagnostis P, Goulis DG, Lambrinoudaki I. Androgen excess and post-reproductive health. Maturitas. 2018;115:115–6.

- Tchernof A, Desmeules A, Richard C, et al. Ovarian hormone status and abdominal visceral adipose tissue metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:3425–30.
- 6. Barrett-Connor E. Menopause, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2013;13:186–91.
- Anagnostis P, Stevenson JC, Crook D, Johnston DG, Godsland IF. Effects of menopause, gender and age on lipids and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol subfractions. Maturitas. 2015;81:62–8.
- Zuo H, Shi Z, Hu X, Wu M, Guo Z, Hussain A. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and factors associated with its components in Chinese adults. Metabolism. 2009;58:1102–8.
- Park YW, Zhu S, Palaniappan L, Heshka S, Carnethon MR, Heymsfield SB. The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163:427–36.
- Stefanska A, Bergmann K, Sypniewska G. Metabolic syndrome and menopause: pathophysiology, clinical and diagnostic significance. Adv Clin Chem. 2015;72:1–75.
- Khanam MA, Qiu C, Lindeboom W, Streatfield PK, Kabir ZN, Wahlin A. The metabolic syndrome: prevalence, associated factors, and impact on survival among older persons in rural Bangladesh. PLoS One. 2011;6:e20259.
- 12. Kwasniewska M, Pikala M, Kaczmarczyk-Chalas K, et al. Smoking status, the menopausal transition, and metabolic syndrome in women. Menopause. 2012;19:194–201.
- 13. Mesch VR, Boero LE, Siseles NO, et al. Metabolic syndrome throughout the menopausal transition: influence of age and menopausal status. Climacteric. 2006;9:40–8.
- Wamala SP, Lynch J, Horsten M, Mittleman MA, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Orth-Gomer K. Education and the metabolic syndrome in women. Diabetes Care. 1999;22:1999–2003.
- 15. Cho GJ, Lee JH, Park HT, et al. Postmenopausal status according to years since menopause as an independent risk factor for the metabolic syndrome. Menopause. 2008;15:524–9.
- Eshtiaghi R, Esteghamati A, Nakhjavani M. Menopause is an independent predictor of metabolic syndrome in Iranian women. Maturitas. 2010;65:262–6.
- Miller AM, Wilbur J, Chandler PJ, Sorokin O. Cardiovascular disease risk factors and menopausal status in midlife women from the former Soviet Union. Women Health. 2003;38:19–36.
- Ziaei S, Mohseni H. Correlation between hormonal statuses and metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. J Family Reprod Health. 2013;7:63–6.
- Torrens JI, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Zhao X, et al. Relative androgen excess during the menopausal transition predicts incident metabolic syndrome in midlife women: study of Women's health across the nation. Menopause. 2009;16:257–64.
- Hallajzadeh J, Khoramdad M, Izadi N, et al. Metabolic syndrome and its components in premenopausal and postmenopausal women: a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis on observational studies. Menopause. 2018;25(10):1155–64.
- Pu D, Tan R, Yu Q, Wu J. Metabolic syndrome in menopause and associated factors: a metaanalysis. Climacteric. 2017;20:583–91.
- 22. Carr MC. The emergence of the metabolic syndrome with menopause. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:2404–11.
- 23. Szmuilowicz ED, Stuenkel CA, Seely EW. Influence of menopause on diabetes and diabetes risk. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009;5:553–8.
- 24. Ebtekar F, Dalvand S, Gheshlagh RG. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis in Iran. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2018;12(6):955–60.
- Donato GB, Fuchs SC, Oppermann K, Bastos C, Spritzer PM. Association between menopause status and central adiposity measured at different cutoffs of waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio. Menopause. 2006;13:280–5.
- Svendsen OL, Hassager C, Christiansen C. Age- and menopause associated variations in body composition and fat distribution in healthy women as measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Metabolism. 1995;44:369–37.

- Toth MJ, Tchernof A, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Effect of menopausal status on body composition and abdominal fat distribution. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24:226–31.
- Lee CG, Carr MC, Murdoch SJ, et al. Adipokines, inflammation, and visceral adiposity across the menopausal transition: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:1104–10.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes. 2008;32:949–58.
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med. 1998;15:539–53.
- 31. Lindheim SR, Buchanan TA, Duffy DM, et al. Comparison of estimates of insulin sensitivity in pre- and postmenopausal women using the insulin tolerance test and the frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance test. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 1994;1:150–4.
- Walton C, Godsland IF, Proudler AJ, Wynn V, Stevenson JC. The effects of the menopause on insulin sensitivity, secretion and elimination in non-obese, healthy women. Eur J Clin Investig. 1993;23:466–73.
- Muscelli E, Kozakova M, Flyvbjerg A, et al. The effect of menopause on carotid artery remodeling, insulin sensitivity, and plasma adiponectin in healthy women. Am J Hypertens. 2009;22:364–70.
- Toth MJ, Sites CK, Eltabbakh GH, Poehlman ET. Effect of menopausal status on insulinstimulated glucose disposal: comparison of middle-aged premenopausal and early postmenopausal women. Diabetes Care. 2000;23:801–6.
- 35. Yang R, Yang S, Li R, Liu P, Qiao J, Zhang Y. Effects of hyperandrogenism on metabolic abnormalities in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a meta-analysis. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2016;14:67.
- 36. Paschou SA, Palioura E, Ioannidis D, Anagnostis P, Panagiotakou A, Loi V, Karageorgos G, Goulis DG, Vryonidou A. Adrenal hyperandrogenism does not deteriorate insulin resistance and lipid profile in women with PCOS. Endocr Connect. 2017;6:601–6.
- 37. Kavanagh K, Espeland MA, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Barinas-Mitchell E, El Khoudary SR, Wildman RP. Liver fat and SHBG affect insulin resistance in midlife women: the study of Women's health across the nation (SWAN). Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013;21:1031–8.
- de Kat AC, Dam V, Onland-Moret NC, Eijkemans MJ, et al. Unraveling the associations of age and menopause with cardiovascular risk factors in a large population-based study. BMC Med. 2017;15:2.
- Matthews KA, Crawford SL, Chae CU, et al. Are changes in cardiovascular disease risk factors in midlife women due to chronological aging or to the menopausal transition? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54:2366–73.
- 40. Stevenson JC, Crook D, Godsland IF. Influence of age and menopause on serum lipids and lipoproteins in healthy women. Atherosclerosis. 1993;98:83–90.
- Choi Y, Chang Y, Kim BK, et al. Menopausal stages and serum lipid and lipoprotein abnormalities in middle-aged women. Maturitas. 2015;80:399–405.
- Anagnostis P, Stevenson JC, Crook D, Johnston DG, Godsland IF. Effects of gender, age and menopausal status on serum apolipoprotein concentrations. Clin Endocrinol. 2016;85:733–40.
- Anagnostis P, Karras S, Lambrinoudaki I, Stevenson JC, Goulis DG. Lipoprotein(a) in postmenopausal women: assessment of cardiovascular risk and therapeutic options. Int J Clin Pract. 2016;70:967–77.
- 44. Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, et al.; American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2017;135:e146–603.
- 45. Zhou Y, Zhou X, Guo X, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of hypertension among pre- and post-menopausal women: a cross-sectional study in a rural area of Northeast China. Maturitas. 2015;80:282–7.
- 46. Stamler J, Stamler R, Riedlinger WF, Algera G, Roberts RH. Hypertension screening of 1 million Americans. Community hypertension evaluation clinic (CHEC) program, 1973 through 1975. JAMA. 1976;235:2299–306.

- Flegal KM, Ogden CL, Carroll MD. Prevalence and trends in overweight in Mexican-American adults and children. Nutr Rev. 2004;62:S144–8.
- 48. Qiuping G, Burt VL, Paulose-Ram R, Charles F. Dillon gender differences in hypertension treatment, drug utilization patterns, and blood pressure control among US adults with hypertension: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2004. Am J Hypertens. 2008;21:789–98.
- Lima R, Wofford M, Reckelhoff JF. Hypertension in postmenopausal women. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2012;14:254–60.
- Zambrana RE, López L, Dinwiddie GY, Ray RM, Phillips LS, Trevisan M, Wassertheil-Smoller S. Prevalence and incident prehypertension and hypertension in postmenopausal Hispanic women: results from the Women's Health Initiative. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27:372–81.
- 51. Ganguli D, Das N, Saha I, Chaudhuri D, Ghosh S, Dey S. Risk factors for hypertension in a population-based sample of postmenopausal women in Kolkata, West Bengal, India. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2013;25:388–97.
- 52. Ben Ali S, Belfki-Benali H, Ahmed DB, Haddad N, Jmal A, Abdennebi M, Romdhane HB. Postmenopausal hypertension, abdominal obesity, apolipoprotein and insulin resistance. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2016;38:370–4.
- 53. Zanchetti A, Facchetti R, Cesana GC, Modena MG, Pirrelli A, Sega R, SIMONA Participants. Menopause-related blood pressure increase and its relationship to age and body mass index: the SIMONA epidemiological study. J Hypertens. 2005;23:2269–76.
- Cifkova R, Pitha J, Lejskova M, Lanska V, Zecova S. Blood pressure around the menopause: a population study. J Hypertens. 2008;26:1976–82.
- 55. Coylewright M, Reckelhoff JF, Ouyang P. Menopause and hypertension: an age-old debate. Hypertension. 2008;51:952–9.
- 56. Casiglia E, Tikhonoff V, Caffi S, et al. Menopause does not affect blood pressure and risk profile, and menopausal women do not become similar to men. J Hypertens. 2008;26:1983–92.
- Georgiopoulos GA, Lambrinoudaki I, Athanasouli F, et al. Free androgen index as a predictor of blood pressure progression and accelerated vascular aging in menopause. Atherosclerosis. 2016;247:177–83.
- Lambrinoudaki I, Georgiopoulos GA, Athanasouli F, et al. Free androgen index as a determinant of arterial stiffness in menopause: a mediation analysis. Menopause. 2017;24:635–44.
- 59. Otsuki M, Kasayama S, Morita S, et al. Menopause, but not age, is an independent risk factor for fasting plasma glucose levels in nondiabetic women. Menopause. 2007;14:404–7.
- Matthews KA, Gibson CJ, El Khoudary SR, Thurston RC. Changes in cardiovascular risk factors by hysterectomy status with and without oophorectomy: study of Women's health across the nation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:191–200.
- Park SK, Harlow SD, Zheng H, et al. Association between changes in oestradiol and folliclestimulating hormone levels during the menopausal transition and risk of diabetes. Diabet Med. 2017;34:531–8.
- 62. Brand JS, van der Schouw YT, Onland-Moret NC, et al. Age at menopause, reproductive life span, and type 2 diabetes risk: results from the EPIC-InterAct Study. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:1012–9.
- 63. Shen L, Song L, Li H, et al. Association between earlier age at natural menopause and risk of diabetes in middle-aged and older Chinese women: the Dongfeng-Tongji cohort study. Diabetes Metab. 2017;43:345–50.
- Appiah D, Winters SJ, Hornung CA. Bilateral oophorectomy and the risk of incident diabetes in postmenopausal women. Diabetes Care. 2014;37:725–33.
- 65. LeBlanc ES, Kapphahn K, Hedlin H, et al. Reproductive history and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in postmenopausal women: findings from the Women's Health Initiative. Menopause. 2017;24:64–72.
- Moreau KL, Hildreth KL, Meditz AL, Deane KD, Kohrt WM. Endothelial function is impaired across the stages of the menopause transition in healthy women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97:4692–700.

- Kannel WB, Hjortland MC, McNamara PM, Gordon T. Menopause and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med. 1976;85:447–52.
- Tao XY, Zuo AZ, Wang JQ, Tao FB. Effect of primary ovarian insufficiency and early natural menopause on mortality: a meta-analysis. Climacteric. 2016;19:27–36.
- Roeters van Lennep JE, Heida KY, Bots ML, Hoek A. Cardiovascular disease risk in women with premature ovarian insufficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2016;23:178–86.
- 70. Muka T, Oliver-Williams C, Kunutsor S, et al. Association of age at onset of menopause and time since onset of menopause with cardiovascular outcomes, intermediate vascular traits, and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol. 2016;1:767–76.
- Colditz GA, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, et al. Menopause and the risk of coronary heart disease in women. N Engl J Med. 1987;316:1105–10.
- 72. Atsma F, Bartelink ML, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Postmenopausal status and early menopause as independent risk factors for cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. Menopause. 2006;13:265–79.
- Rocca WA, Grossardt BR, de Andrade M, Malkasian GD, Melton LJ 3rd. Survival patterns after oophorectomy in premenopausal women: a population-based cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2006;7:821–8.
- Mikkola TS, Gissler M, Merikukka M, Tuomikoski P, Ylikorkala O. Sex differences in agerelated cardiovascular mortality. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63347.
- 75. Lambrinoudaki I, Kazani A, Armeni E, et al. The metabolic syndrome is associated with carotid atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness in asymptomatic, nondiabetic postmenopausal women. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2018;34:78–82.
- Lambrinoudaki I, Kazani MV, Armeni E, et al. The TyG index as a marker of subclinical atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness in lean and overweight postmenopausal women. Heart Lung Circ. 2018;27:716–24.
- 77. Stamatelopoulos KS, Armeni E, Georgiopoulos G, et al. Recently postmenopausal women have the same prevalence of subclinical carotid atherosclerosis as age and traditional risk factor matched men. Atherosclerosis. 2012;221:508–13.
- Soleimani A, Pourmoghaddas A, Sadeghi M, et al. Risk and age of cardiovascular event in women with metabolic syndrome: menopause age in focus. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2018;16:127–34.
- 79. van Herpt TT, Dehghan A, van Hoek M, et al. The clinical value of metabolic syndrome and risks of cardiometabolic events and mortality in the elderly: the Rotterdam study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15:69.
- 80. Lambrinoudaki I, Armeni E, Georgiopoulos G, et al. Subclinical atherosclerosis in menopausal women with low to medium calculated cardiovascular risk. Int J Cardiol. 2013;164:70–6.
- Creatsa M, Armeni E, Stamatelopoulos K, et al. Circulating androgen levels are associated with subclinical atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness in healthy recently menopausal women. Metabolism. 2012;61:193–201.


# Polycystic Ovary Syndrome-Related Risks in Postmenopausal Women

16

Panagiotis Anagnostis, Stavroula A. Paschou, Irene Lambrinoudaki, and Dimitrios G. Goulis

# 16.1 Introduction

Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder of reproductive life, with an estimated prevalence of 6–20%, depending on the criteria used [1]. Three different definitions have been used so far: (a) National Institutes of Health (NIH) (1990), which requires the presence of both hyperandrogenism and oligo- or anovulation; (b) Rotterdam criteria (2003), which requires two out of the following three, oligo- or anovulation, hyperandrogenism (either clinical or biochemical), and polycystic ovarian morphology (PCOM); and (c) Androgen Excess PCOS Society (AEPCOS), which requires the coexistence of hyperandrogenism (either clinical or biochemical), as a sine qua non for PCOS diagnosis, and either PCOM on ultrasound or clinical anovulation [1]. According to NIH criteria, the prevalence of PCOS is estimated at 8.7%, rising to 17.8% with the Rotterdam criteria and approaching 12% with the AEPCOS definition [2]. These criteria can be applied only in premenopausal women, after excluding other causes of androgen

P. Anagnostis (🖂)

I. Lambrinoudaki

D. G. Goulis

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Unit of Reproductive Endocrinology, First Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, "Papageorgiou" General Hospital, Thessaloniki, Greece

S. A. Paschou

Division of Endocrinology and Diabetes, "Aghia Sophia" Hospital, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Division of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Second Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece e-mail: ilambrinoudaki@med.uoa.gr

Unit of Reproductive Endocrinology, First Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Medical School, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece e-mail: dgg@auth.gr

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_16

excess [1]. In postmenopausal women, there is no uniform definition of PCOS. A potential, but precarious, diagnosis can be indirectly set in cases of menstrual irregularity (oligo- or amenorrhea) during the reproductive ages and current clinical and/ or biochemical hyperandrogenism [3, 4].

PCOS has been associated with metabolic disorders, with insulin resistance (IR) being the central pathogenetic component. These disorders include impaired glucose metabolism [predisposing to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)], dyslipidaemia, hypertension and central adiposity [1, 3]. Whether these PCOS-related cardiometabolic risk factors are also translated into an increased cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk in postmenopausal life remains to be established.

The purpose of this chapter is to present current data on the association between PCOS and the risk of co-morbidities, such as T2DM, hypertension, CVD and cancer, in postmenopausal women.

## 16.2 Diabetes Mellitus in Postmenopausal Women with PCOS

In general, PCOS is associated with increased IR and concomitant higher risk of impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or T2DM. The prevalence of IR in lean and obese PCOS women is estimated at 30% and 70%, respectively [5]. Only obese women with PCOS are prone to exacerbating IR and developing T2DM during the ageing process. Thus, not all women with PCOS should be considered as "high risk" of T2DM, since weight loss may ameliorate T2DM risk [6]. Except for body mass index (BMI), the risk of developing IGT or T2DM is dependent on the ethnicity (higher in Hispanic than non-Hispanic PCOS women), the PCOS phenotype (type 1, including all three Rotterdam criteria, presents the highest IR and type 4, with PCO morphology and hyperandrogenism, the lowest), testosterone (positive relation with IR) and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) concentrations (negative relation with IR) [1].

A meta-analysis of 35 studies, published in 2010, showed that women with PCOS are at a 2.5-fold risk of IGT [OR 2.48, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.63–3.77] and more than fourfold risk of T2DM (OR 4.43, 95% CI 4.06–4.82). These OR remained significant after adjustment for BMI (OR 2.54, 95% CI 1.44–4.47 for IGT and 4.00, 95% CI 1.97–8.10) for T2DM [7]. However, in this meta-analysis only two studies were conducted in premenopausal women [8, 9]. The first [8] included 28 perimenopausal women with PCOS (mean age 51.9 years) and showed a higher risk of T2DM compared with 752 non-PCOS controls (32% versus 8%, p < 0.001), as defined by increased fasting plasma glucose (FPG) concentrations ( $\geq$ 7 mmol/L). Except for the small sample size, another limitation was the low proportion of postmenopausal women (35.7%) [8]. The second study [9] was conducted exclusively in postmenopausal women with PCOS and showed a higher risk of T2DM; nevertheless, it was withdrawn due to inability of the authors to replicate the original results.

In general, few studies have assessed T2DM risk in postmenopausal women. One retrospective study included 2301 women with PCOS, defined by the NIH and Rotterdam criteria. For the age groups 45–54, 55–64 and >65 years, the ORs for T2DM were 3.75 (95% CI 2.59–5.43), 2.89 (95% CI 1.57–5.34) and 7.09 (2.15–23.35), respectively, compared with the general female population. The overall OR was 2.02 (95% CI 1.71–2.38). This increased T2DM risk was affected by a history of hypertension, older age, obesity and South Asian ethnicity [10]. However, a prospective cohort study in 295 postmenopausal women with PCOS (defined as premenopausal menstrual irregularity and postmenopausal biochemical hyperandrogenism) failed to show an independent effect of the history of PCOS on the development of T2DM in later life, after a median follow-up of 9.3 years [11]. In a cross-sectional study, the prevalence of T2DM in postmenopausal women with PCOS (n = 106, defined by a history of both cycle irregularities and biochemical hyperandrogenism) was higher than in women without PCOS (n = 171, 20% versus 7%, p < 0.01) [12].

The effect of menopause per se on the deregulation of glucose metabolism during the menopausal transition should be considered when assessing the impact of PCOS history on T2DM risk. This is mainly attributed to the increased abdominal obesity and concomitant insulin resistance as well as to a defect in insulin secretion, as a result of oestrogen depletion [13]. It is not clear if these pathogenetic mechanisms are entirely independent of the ageing process [13]. Another confounding factor could be the past use of oral contraceptives (OC), anti-androgens or insulin sensitizers that may affect evolution to T2DM following menopause in women with PCOS. Of note, a recent meta-analysis showed that OC use does not affect FPG (irrespective of the regimen) or IR indices, such as the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) [14]. Concomitant use of anti-androgens, such as cyproterone acetate, may increase HOMA-IR and abolish possible beneficial or neutral effects of OC [15].

## 16.3 Arterial Hypertension in Postmenopausal Women with PCOS

Most studies show a higher prevalence of (mainly systolic) hypertension in women with PCOS, at least in their later post-reproductive life, compared with the general population [1]. The exact pathogenetic mechanisms are not fully elucidated, since both BMI and IR may play a role. Independent factors have been suggested, such as activation of the renin-angiotensin system by testosterone; testosterone seems to increase plasma renin concentrations and angiotensin-converting enzyme activity [16], although this hypothesis has not been confirmed [17].

In general, data regarding the effect of PCOS on the risk of developing hypertension in postmenopausal women are inconclusive, mainly due to the different study design, the small number of patients and the various definitions used. A prospective study (including 35 women with PCOS and 68 age-matched controls, mean age 70.4 and 70.7 years, respectively, with 21 years of follow-up) showed a higher prevalence of hypertension in PCOS (histologically verified Stein-Leventhal syndrome at wedge resection) compared with controls (69% versus 41%, p = 0.008) [18]. However, another prospective cohort study in 295 postmenopausal women failed to show an independent effect of PCOS on the development of hypertension in later life, after a median follow-up of 9.3 years [11].

A cross-sectional study included 286 asymptomatic postmenopausal women (43 with PCOS) and showed that PCOS was characterised by higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure (BP) compared with controls. However, BP did not reach hypertensive levels in either group [systolic BP,  $127.0 \pm 20.5$  versus  $118.3 \pm 15.3$  mmHg, (p = 0.001); diastolic BP,  $78.7 \pm 11.8$  versus  $74.4 \pm 10.2$  mmHg (p = 0.014)] [19]. However, a cross-sectional study did not find any difference in either systolic or diastolic BP between perimenopausal women with (n = 35) or without PCOS (n = 752). Of note, only ten PCOS women were postmenopausal [8].

Some confounding factors should be taken into consideration when evaluating the risk of hypertension in postmenopausal women with a diagnosis of PCOS. Transition to menopause per se may increase the risk of arterial hypertension, irrespective of BMI [20, 21]. The decline in oestrogen concentrations during menopause and the decline in oestrogen/androgen ratio increase the production of vasoconstrictive factors, such as endothelin and angiotensinogen, as well as the sympathetic activity [22]. The effect of OC use during the reproductive years on the development of hypertension in later life is not known, although current data do not indicate such a detrimental effect [14].

### 16.4 Dyslipidaemia in Postmenopausal Women with PCOS

PCOS has been associated with an atherogenic lipid profile in 70% of the cases, including increased low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c), very-low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (VLDL-c), triglyceride (TG) and free fatty acid concentrations, as well as decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) concentrations, mainly HDL2-c, due to reduced apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I). The quality of LDL particles is also affected in PCOS, since it is characterised by the predominance of small and dense LDL particles and higher concentrations of oxidised LDL-c. These disorders of lipid metabolism are independent of BMI but may be aggravated by obesity and IR [1]. On the other hand, menopause per se is also associated with these alterations [23, 24], as well as a potential increase in lipoprotein (a) [Lp(a)] concentrations [25], further augmenting CVD risk.

It can be concluded that the effect of PCOS on lipid profile in postmenopausal women cannot be precisely estimated, taking into account the heterogeneity in PCOS definition and study design, as well as the use of hypolipidaemic drugs and OC in the past [26]. Prospective cohort and cross-sectional studies have shown either a null effect of PCOS history on lipid profile [8, 11] or an increase in TG and a decrease in HDL-c concentrations during postmenopausal years [12, 18, 19]. No difference has been identified in any lipid parameters in the retrospective studies [27].

## 16.5 Cardiovascular Risk in Postmenopausal Women with PCOS

Data from premenopausal women indicate that PCOS confers a potentially higher CVD risk in these patients, considering the higher prevalence of traditional CVD risk factors and CVD surrogate markers, such as arterial stiffness and carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT), compared with their age-matched controls. However, whether postmenopausal women with PCOS are indeed at a higher risk of CVD events compared with postmenopausal women without a history of PCOS has not been yet established. Many factors compromise the exact estimation of this risk. First, most data derive from retrospective cohort and case-control studies. Second, the definition of PCOS in postmenopausal women is quite obscure, based mostly on the history of irregular menses during the reproductive age and the presence of biochemical or clinical hyperandrogenism. Third, the ultrasound criterion of PCOM cannot be implicated in postmenopausal women. Fourth, some of these women have been treated with agents that may have affected the metabolic profile with unknown consequences on their CVD risk, such as OC and/or anti-androgens. Fifth, some clinical features in postmenopausal women, such as menstrual irregularities, may be attributed to other surgical or anatomical causes than PCOS. This limitation is further expanded considering that the pattern of menstruation due to PCOS during the reproductive ages usually improves during the last years before the menopausal transition. Sixth, the most crucial parameter compromising an independent effect of PCOS on CVD risk is the age- and menopause-associated deterioration of the metabolic profile (including body fat redistribution leading to increased central adiposity [28], dyslipidaemia [23, 24], deregulation of glucose metabolism [29, 30], arterial hypertension [30]), which confers a well-established CVD risk.

Three meta-analyses have been conducted on the concept of assessing CVD risk in women with PCOS. Despite the heterogeneity in study design and quality, as well as PCOS definition, these meta-analyses showed a higher CVD risk in PCOS than in women without PCOS. However, this risk was found to be lower than the one predicted by the accumulation of CVD risk factors during the premenopausal ages. The first one [31], which included three retrospective and two prospective studies, showed a twofold increased risk for the composite outcome of coronary heart disease (CHD) events and stroke [pooled relative risk (RR): 2.02, 95% CI 1.47–2.76]. After using BMI-adjusted risk data, the RR remained significant (1.55, 95% CI 1.27–1.89) [31].

The second meta-analysis [32] assessed the risk for nonfatal CHD events and stroke between women with and without PCOS and showed no significant results (OR: 1.61, 95% CI 0.82–3.15 and 1.63, 95% CI 0.96–2.78, respectively). When the analysis was confined to women older than 45 years, the risk for nonfatal stroke was increased in women with PCOS (OR: 1.94, 95% CI 1.19–3.17), whereas this was not true for CHD (OR: 1.70, 95% CI 0.92–3.11). This difference was not shown, when the analysis was restricted to studies (n = 3) with similar BMI values between women with and without PCOS.

The third meta-analysis included data from five case-control and five cohort studies. It also showed an increased risk of CVD in women with PCOS compared with controls (OR: 1.30, 95% CI 1.09–1.56), especially for CHD (OR: 1.44, 95% CI 1.13–1.84). In a subgroup analysis, the risk remained increased only for case-control and prospective cohort studies (OR: 1.79, 95% CI 1.16–2.77 and 1.20, 95% CI 1.06–1.37, respectively), but not for retrospective studies [33].

The effect of PCOS on CVD risk cannot be safely extrapolated to postmenopausal women, mainly for two reasons. First, the proportion of postmenopausal women in the study samples was relatively small or not reported [8, 27, 34]. Second, the diagnosis of PCOS was not based on NIH or Rotterdam criteria in most studies, but on menstrual irregularity [35, 36]. In some studies, the number of women with PCOS was very small to draw safe conclusions for CVD risk [8, 18, 37]. A study that overcame most of these methodological restraints [10] included 2301 women with PCOS, using the NIH or Rotterdam criteria. For age groups of 45-54, 55-64 and >65 years, the OR for myocardial infarction (MI) were 10.63 (95% CI 4.93–22.90), 9.27 (95% CI 3.73-23.03) and 12.88 (95% CI 3.41-48.00), respectively. The OR for the composite outcome of MI, angina, heart failure, cerebrovascular death and CVD death was increased for these age groups (2.95, 95% 1.81-4.83; 3.09, 95% CI 1.64-5.84; and 6.31, 95% CI 1.84-21.56, respectively), providing evidence for an association of PCOS with CHD risk in postmenopausal life. In a logistic regression analysis, this risk was affected by age, history of hypertension and smoking, but not by BMI and T2DM [10].

A cross-sectional study conducted in 390 postmenopausal women with clinical features of PCOS showed a higher prevalence of angiographic coronary artery disease (CAD) compared with women without PCOS. Furthermore, the cumulative 5-year CVD event-free survival was lower (78.9% versus 88.7%) [9]. However, this study was withdrawn because of the inability of the authors to replicate their results [11]. Eight years later, the same group published the results from their prospective cohort (n = 295), after a median follow-up time of 9.3 years. PCOS was defined as premenopausal menstrual irregularities in combination with postmenopausal biochemical hyperandrogenism. The study failed to show an effect of the history of PCOS on the development of CAD, CVD and all-cause mortality [11].

The risk for CVD in women with PCOS seems to be elevated even from the premenopausal ages. A Danish register-based study (n = 18,112, median age 29 years, range 23–35 years, follow-up time 11.1 years) showed that women with PCOS were at an increased risk of CVD [hazard ratio (HR): 1.7, 95% CI 1.7–1.8] compared with their age-matched controls. The total CVD event rate was 22.6/1000 patientyears and a median age at CVD diagnosis of 35 (range 28–42) years. This risk was affected by obesity, T2DM, history of infertility and/or previous OC use [38]. Hyperandrogenism did not seem to affect CVD risk in postmenopausal women with PCOS [12, 39].

Premenopausal women with PCOS have a higher prevalence of subclinical atherosclerosis compared to controls as it is evident by surrogate markers for CVD, such as arterial stiffness [assessed by means of pulse wave velocity (PWV)], arterial structure (evaluated by means of cIMT) and coronary artery atherosclerosis (CAC) [1, 40]. This association is confirmed by two meta-analyses [41, 42]. In postmenopausal women, very few studies exist. In one representative study of asymptomatic postmenopausal women (n = 286), PCOS diagnosis was independently associated with increased arterial stiffness, as assessed by PWV. No difference in cIMT was observed between postmenopausal women with and without PCOS [19].

The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study assessed a mixed population of pre- and postmenopausal women for CAC (n = 982) and cIMT (n = 988). Fifty-five of those (mean age 45.4 years, 12.7% postmenopausal) were defined as PCOS, when both menstrual irregularities and hyperandrogenism existed. The prevalence of CAC was higher in PCOS compared with healthy controls or those women with isolated irregular menses or isolated hyperandrogenism, yielding an OR of 2.69 (95% CI 1.37–5.25), independently of CVD risk factors, such as obesity, menopausal status, hypertension, smoking, HOMA-IR and TG. Similar OR were observed for PCOS with regard to internal cIMT (OR: 2.00, 95% CI 1.07–3.75) [43]. However, others found no association between PCOS phenotype and indices of subclinical or clinical CVD in postmenopausal women [12].

#### 16.6 Cancer Risk in Postmenopausal Women with PCOS

PCOS is characterised by chronic hyperoestrogenaemia, unopposed by progesterone, due to anovulation, a state associated with increased risk of some types of cancer, such as breast, endometrial and ovarian cancer. In a meta-analysis (11 studies, 919 women with and 72,054 without PCOS), no increased risk was found for breast cancer (OR: 0.95, 95% CI 0.64–1.39), a finding that remained non-significant after excluding studies conducted in women older than 54 years (OR: 0.78, 95% CI 0.46–1.32) [44]. Other systematic reviews and meta-analyses were confirmatory [45, 46]. However, PCOS has been associated with a high risk of endometrial cancer (OR: 2.79, 95% CI 1.31–5.95), which was further increased when studies including women >54 years were excluded (OR: 4.05, 95% CI 2.42–6.76) [44]. However, these findings were not adjusted for BMI. Studies that reported effect estimates adjusted for BMI provided inconsistent results with either increased or attenuated ORs or lack of significance [45].

The association between PCOS and ovarian cancer has been attributed to the chronic androgen exposure and the presence of androgen receptors in normal ovarian cells [45]. The aforementioned meta-analysis [44] did not show any association between PCOS and ovarian cancer risk (OR: 1.41, 95% CI 0.93–2.15), which reached significance after excluding studies in women aged >54 years (OR: 2.52, 95% CI 1.08–5.89). Perhaps, there is an association of PCOS with an increased risk of only the serous borderline subtype of ovarian cancer [45]. This finding was not supported by a recent study for any ovarian cancer both for women with self-reported PCOS and those with a history of menstrual cycle length >35 days [47].

The potential effect of obesity and long-term use of OC [48] should be taken into consideration when evaluating the link between PCOS and cancer. In a nationwide study, the OR for cancer ranged from 1.09 (95% CI, 0.96–1.23) with <1 year of OC use to 1.38 (95% CI, 1.26–1.51) with >10 years of use [49].

## 16.7 Conclusions: Future Perspectives

PCOS is associated with an increased prevalence of CVD risk factors, such as deregulation of glucose metabolism, dyslipidaemia and arterial hypertension, predisposing to the development of subclinical atherosclerosis and CVD. Despite the clustering of these risk factors, an association between PCOS and CVD has not been established in the post-reproductive life, at least to the extent that would be expected. Many reasons contribute to this phenomenon, such as the heterogeneity of both PCOS and CVD definitions in postmenopausal women, study design, small sample size, amelioration of menstrual pattern with ageing and insufficient follow-up. Well-designed, high-quality prospective studies are needed to establish whether the history of PCOS confers an independent CVD risk in postmenopausal women, irrespective of obesity, ageing and menopause per se. Finally, there is no evidence of an association between PCOS and breast or ovarian cancer, as a consequence of prolonged unopposed oestrogen and androgen stimulation. However, this is not the case for endometrial cancer, although an independent effect of obesity should be considered.

Competing Interest None to declare.

Funding: None.

## References

- 1. Anagnostis P, Tarlatzis BC, Kauffman RP. Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS): long-term metabolic consequences. Metabolism. 2018;86:33–43.
- March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DI, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. Hum Reprod. 2010;25(2):544–51.
- Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, Welt CK, Endocrine S. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(12):4565–92.
- Paschou SA, Anagnostis P, Goulis DG, Lambrinoudaki I. Androgen excess and postreproductive health. Maturitas. 2018;115:115–6.
- Randeva HS, Tan BK, Weickert MO, Lois K, Nestler JE, Sattar N, Lehnert H. Cardiometabolic aspects of the polycystic ovary syndrome. Endocr Rev. 2012;33(5):812–41.
- Livadas S, Kollias A, Panidis D, Diamanti-Kandarakis E. Diverse impacts of aging on insulin resistance in lean and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: evidence from 1345 women with the syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. 2014;171(3):301–9.
- Moran LJ, Misso ML, Wild RA, Norman RJ. Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2010;16(4):347–63.
- Cibula D, Cifkova R, Fanta M, Poledne R, Zivny J, Skibova J. Increased risk of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension and coronary artery disease in perimenopausal women with a history of the polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum Reprod. 2000;15(4):785–9.
- 9. Shaw LJ, Bairey Merz CN, Azziz R, Stanczyk FZ, Sopko G, Braunstein GD, Kelsey SF, Kip KE, Cooper-Dehoff RM, Johnson BD, Vaccarino V, Reis SE, Bittner V, Hodgson TK, Rogers W, Pepine CJ. Postmenopausal women with a history of irregular menses and elevated androgen measurements at high risk for worsening cardiovascular event-free survival: results from the National Institutes of Health—National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute sponsored Women's ischemia syndrome evaluation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(4):1276–84.

- Mani H, Levy MJ, Davies MJ, Morris DH, Gray LJ, Bankart J, Blackledge H, Khunti K, Howlett TA. Diabetes and cardiovascular events in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a 20-year retrospective cohort study. Clin Endocrinol. 2013;78(6):926–34.
- Merz CN, Shaw LJ, Azziz R, Stanczyk FZ, Sopko G, Braunstein GD, Kelsey SF, Kip KE, Cooper-DeHoff RM, Johnson BD, Vaccarino V, Reis SE, Bittner V, Hodgson TK, Rogers W, Pepine CJ. Cardiovascular disease and 10-year mortality in postmenopausal women with clinical features of polycystic ovary syndrome. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2016;25(9):875–81.
- Meun C, Franco OH, Dhana K, Jaspers L, Muka T, Louwers Y, Ikram MA, Fauser B, Kavousi M, Laven JSE. High androgens in postmenopausal women and the risk for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease: the Rotterdam study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103(4):1622–30.
- Paschou SA, Anagnostis P, Pavlou DI, Vryonidou A, Goulis DG, Lambrinoudaki I. Diabetes in menopause: risks and management. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2018 Jun 25. https://doi.org/10.217 4/157016111666180625124405.
- Amiri M, Ramezani Tehrani F, Nahidi F, Kabir A, Azizi F, Carmina E. Effects of oral contraceptives on metabolic profile in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a meta-analysis comparing products containing cyproterone acetate with third generation progestins. Metabolism. 2017;73:22–35.
- 15. Fruzzetti F, Perini D, Lazzarini V, Parrini D, Gambacciani M, Genazzani AR. Comparison of effects of 3 mg drospirenone plus 20 mug ethinyl estradiol alone or combined with metformin or cyproterone acetate on classic metabolic cardiovascular risk factors in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2010;94(5):1793–8.
- Komukai K, Mochizuki S, Yoshimura M. Gender and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2010;24(6):687–98.
- 17. Pinola P, Puukka K, Piltonen TT, Puurunen J, Vanky E, Sundstrom-Poromaa I, Stener-Victorin E, Linden Hirschberg A, Ravn P, Skovsager Andersen M, Glintborg D, Mellembakken JR, Ruokonen A, Tapanainen JS, Morin-Papunen LC. Normo- and hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome exhibit an adverse metabolic profile through life. Fertil Steril. 2017;107(3):788–795.e2.
- Schmidt J, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Brannstrom M, Dahlgren E. Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in PCOS women of postmenopausal age: a 21-year controlled follow-up study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(12):3794–803.
- Armeni E, Stamatelopoulos K, Rizos D, Georgiopoulos G, Kazani M, Kazani A, Kolyviras A, Stellos K, Panoulis K, Alexandrou A, Creatsa M, Papamichael C, Lambrinoudaki I. Arterial stiffness is increased in asymptomatic nondiabetic postmenopausal women with a polycystic ovary syndrome phenotype. J Hypertens. 2013;31(10):1998–2004.
- 20. Tremollieres FA, Pouilles JM, Cauneille C, Ribot C. Coronary heart disease risk factors and menopause: a study in 1684 French women. Atherosclerosis. 1999;142(2):415–23.
- Dallongeville J, Marecaux N, Isorez D, Zylbergberg G, Fruchart JC, Amouyel P. Multiple coronary heart disease risk factors are associated with menopause and influenced by substitutive hormonal therapy in a cohort of French women. Atherosclerosis. 1995;118(1):123–33.
- 22. Maas AH, Franke HR. Women's health in menopause with a focus on hypertension. Neth Heart J. 2009;17(2):68–72.
- Anagnostis P, Stevenson JC, Crook D, Johnston DG, Godsland IF. Effects of menopause, gender and age on lipids and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol subfractions. Maturitas. 2015;81(1):62–8.
- Anagnostis P, Stevenson JC, Crook D, Johnston DG, Godsland IF. Effects of gender, age and menopausal status on serum apolipoprotein concentrations. Clin Endocrinol. 2016;85(5):733–40.
- Anagnostis P, Karras S, Lambrinoudaki I, Stevenson JC, Goulis DG. Lipoprotein(a) in postmenopausal women: assessment of cardiovascular risk and therapeutic options. Int J Clin Pract. 2016;70(12):967–77.
- 26. Lambrinoudaki I. Cardiovascular risk in postmenopausal women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. Maturitas. 2011;68(1):13–6.

- Iftikhar S, Collazo-Clavell ML, Roger VL, St Sauver J, Brown RD Jr, Cha S, Rhodes DJ. Risk of cardiovascular events in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. Neth J Med. 2012;70(2):74–80.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes. 2008;32(6):949–58.
- 29. Nadal A, Alonso-Magdalena P, Soriano S, Quesada I, Ropero AB. The pancreatic beta-cell as a target of estrogens and xenoestrogens: implications for blood glucose homeostasis and diabetes. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009;304(1–2):63–8.
- 30. Lee JS, Hayashi K, Mishra G, Yasui T, Kubota T, Mizunuma H. Independent association between age at natural menopause and hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus: Japan nurses' health study. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2013;20(2):161–9.
- de Groot PC, Dekkers OM, Romijn JA, Dieben SW, Helmerhorst FM. PCOS, coronary heart disease, stroke and the influence of obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2011;17(4):495–500.
- 32. Anderson SA, Barry JA, Hardiman PJ. Risk of coronary heart disease and risk of stroke in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2014;176(2):486–7.
- Zhao L, Zhu Z, Lou H, Zhu G, Huang W, Zhang S, Liu F. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and the risk of coronary heart disease (CHD): a meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2016;7(23):33715–21.
- Wild S, Pierpoint T, McKeigue P, Jacobs H. Cardiovascular disease in women with polycystic ovary syndrome at long-term follow-up: a retrospective cohort study. Clin Endocrinol. 2000;52(5):595–600.
- 35. Wang ET, Cirillo PM, Vittinghoff E, Bibbins-Domingo K, Cohn BA, Cedars MI. Menstrual irregularity and cardiovascular mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(1):E114–8.
- Solomon CG, Hu FB, Dunaif A, Rich-Edwards JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Manson JE. Menstrual cycle irregularity and risk for future cardiovascular disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(5):2013–7.
- Krentz AJ, von Muhlen D, Barrett-Connor E. Searching for polycystic ovary syndrome in postmenopausal women: evidence of a dose-effect association with prevalent cardiovascular disease. Menopause. 2007;14(2):284–92.
- Glintborg D, Rubin KH, Nybo M, Abrahamsen B, Andersen M. Cardiovascular disease in a nationwide population of Danish women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2018;17(1):37.
- Paschou SA, Palioura E, Ioannidis D, Anagnostis P, Panagiotakou A, Loi V, Karageorgos G, Goulis DG, Vryonidou A. Adrenal hyperandrogenism does not deteriorate insulin resistance and lipid profile in women with PCOS. Endocr Connect. 2017;6(8):601–6.
- 40. Vryonidou A, Papatheodorou A, Tavridou A, Terzi T, Loi V, Vatalas IA, Batakis N, Phenekos C, Dionyssiou-Asteriou A. Association of hyperandrogenemic and metabolic phenotype with carotid intima-media thickness in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(5):2740–6.
- 41. Meyer ML, Malek AM, Wild RA, Korytkowski MT, Talbott EO. Carotid artery intima-media thickness in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2012;18(2):112–26.
- 42. Sprung VS, Atkinson G, Cuthbertson DJ, Pugh CJ, Aziz N, Green DJ, Cable NT, Jones H. Endothelial function measured using flow-mediated dilation in polycystic ovary syndrome: a meta-analysis of the observational studies. Clin Endocrinol. 2013;78(3):438–46.
- 43. Calderon-Margalit R, Siscovick D, Merkin SS, Wang E, Daviglus ML, Schreiner PJ, Sternfeld B, Williams OD, Lewis CE, Azziz R, Schwartz SM, Wellons MF. Prospective association of polycystic ovary syndrome with coronary artery calcification and carotid-intima-media thickness: the coronary artery risk development in young adults Women's study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34(12):2688–94.
- 44. Barry JA, Azizia MM, Hardiman PJ. Risk of endometrial, ovarian and breast cancer in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2014;20(5):748–58.

- 45. Harris HR, Terry KL. Polycystic ovary syndrome and risk of endometrial, ovarian, and breast cancer: a systematic review. Fertil Res Pract. 2016;2:14.
- Shobeiri F, Jenabi E. The association between polycystic ovary syndrome and breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2016;59(5):367–72.
- 47. Harris HR, Babic A, Webb PM, Nagle CM, Jordan SJ, Risch HA, Rossing MA, Doherty JA, Goodman MT, Modugno F, Ness RB, Moysich KB, Kjaer SK, Hogdall E, Jensen A, Schildkraut JM, Berchuck A, Cramer DW, Bandera EV, Wentzensen N, Kotsopoulos J, Narod SA, Phelan CM, JR ML, Anton-Culver H, Ziogas A, Pearce CL, Wu AH, Terry KL, Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium; Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group. Polycystic ovary syndrome, oligomenorrhea, and risk of ovarian cancer histotypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2018;27(2):174–82.
- Kyrgiou M, Kalliala I, Markozannes G, Gunter MJ, Paraskevaidis E, Gabra H, Martin-Hirsch P, Tsilidis KK. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: umbrella review of the literature. BMJ. 2017;356:j477.
- Morch LS, Skovlund CW, Hannaford PC, Iversen L, Fielding S, Lidegaard O. Contemporary hormonal contraception and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(23):2228–39.



# Sleep and Sleep Disturbances in Climacteric Women

17

Päivi Polo-Kantola, Tarja Saaresranta, and Laura Lampio

# 17.1 The Importance of Sleep

Good and sufficient sleep is necessary for good quality of life [1, 2] and health. Chronic sleep disturbances are associated with both physical and mental negative health consequences, like with cardiovascular diseases [3–6], diabetes [7, 8], depression [9], and cognitive impairment [10, 11]. In addition, sleep disturbances are related to increased work absenteeism [12–15], poor work performance [16, 17], accidents, and increased healthcare costs [18, 19]. Sleep disturbances increase in prevalence during climacteric [20, 21], thus influencing in health-related quality of life, work productivity, and healthcare utilization [22].

P. Polo-Kantola (🖂)

T. Saaresranta Sleep Research Centre, Department of Pulmonary Diseases and Clinical Allergology, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

Department of Pulmonary Diseases and Clinical Allergology, University of Turku, Turku, Finland e-mail: tasaare@utu.fi

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Turku University Hospital and University of Turku, Turku, Finland e-mail: paivi.polo@tyks.fi

Division of Medicine, Department of Pulmonary Diseases, Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland

L. Lampio Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland e-mail: lmlamp@utu.fi

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_17

## 17.2 The Sleep Regulation and Measuring the Sleep Quality

The sleep-wake cycle is regulated by two biological processes, which interact and balance each other, the circadian process C and homeostatic process S [23]. Circadian rhythm (circa *dia*) is an approximately 24-h regulation cycle of the body's internal processes and alertness levels [24]. Sleep-wake homeostasis, process S, is an internal mechanism that produces a pressure to sleep and regulates sleep intensity; i.e., the longer awake, the stronger the need to sleep, and vice versa. Several brain areas are involved in regulation of sleep, most importantly the medulla oblongata, pons, formation reticularis, midbrain, thalamus, hypothalamus, preoptic area, basal forebrain, hippocampus, and cerebral cortex. Of neurotransmitters, adenosine and nitric oxide [25] and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), hypocretin, and histamine [26] are critical for sleep regulation. Also various hormones, such as growth hormone, cortisol, melatonin, prolactin, and ovarian hormones, are involved [27–34].

Sleep quality is divided to subjectively reported sleep quality (*subjective sleep quality*) and objectively measured sleep quality (*sleep architecture*). Subjective sleep quality and daytime consequences (fatigue, tiredness, reduced attention, cognition or memory impairment, mood disturbance, or irritability) are evaluated with structured questionnaires or sleep diaries. Subjective sleep quality is most commonly worsened by insomnia symptoms (e.g., difficulty initiating or maintaining sleep, or too early morning awakening) but sometimes by sleep disordered breathing (SDB) or restless legs syndrome (RLS) as well. One or more insomnia symptoms which occur at least three times per week during at least 1 month with daytime symptoms are required for the definition of insomnia disorder [35]. Generally, older age, female sex, and lower socioeconomic status, as well as previously diagnosed insomnia, positive family history of insomnia, and poor perceived mental and general health are risk factors for insomnia [36–39]. Also several systemic diseases and the use of medicaments may induce sleep disturbances [40, 41].

Sleep can be objectively measured with polysomnography (PSG), which consists of an electroencephalogram (EEG), electrooculogram (EOG), and electromyogram (EMG). Sleep is divided into wake, non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep, and REM sleep. NREM is further divided into stages N1–N3 (former S1–S4). N3 (former S3 and S4) is also called as slow-wave sleep (SWS) [42–44] (Fig. 17.1). In addition to the percentages of sleep stages and total sleep time, sleep latency, sleep efficiency, slow-wave activity (SWA), and the number of arousals and awakenings are typically determined from PSG-measured sleep. The optimal average sleep duration in order to maintain good health ranges from 7 to 8 h [45]. Shorter and longer sleep durations have been associated with increased morbidity and mortality in general populations [46–49]. The basic challenge for evaluating sleep quality and sleep disorders is that the correspondence between subjectively and objectively measured sleep is not unambiguous [50–53]. However, the individual's perceptions of sleep disturbance and daytime consequences are more likely to direct diagnosis and treatment.



**Fig. 17.1** Hypnograms derived from the polysomnograms of the same woman. Premenopausal situation (upper hypnogram) and perimenopausal situation 6 years later (lower hypnogram). Note especially the sleep fragmentation. *MT* movement time, *S1* stage 1 non-REM sleep, *S2* stage 2 NREM sleep, *S3* stage 3 NREM sleep, *S4* stage 4 NREM sleep. *Data from Lampio* et al., 2017

# 17.3 Subjective Sleep Quality and Insomnia Symptoms in Climacteric

Sleep disturbances, especially insomnia symptoms, are one of the most bothersome symptoms in climacteric, being reported by 40-60% of climacteric women [54]. Both cross-sectional [55–59] and longitudinal [60–63] studies confirm that the prevalence of perceived sleep disturbances increases in the menopausal transition, even after controlling for age. A meta-analysis of 24 cross-sectional studies reported higher odds of experiencing sleep disturbance relative to premenopause in perimenopausal (1.60), postmenopausal (1.67), and surgically menopausal (2.17) women [64]. The most common sleep-related complaint is nighttime awakenings [55, 58, 61, 63], although also difficulty falling asleep increases across the menopausal transition [55, 58, 61, 63]. The increase in early morning awakening is shown to level off from late perimenopause to postmenopause [55, 58, 61, 63]. Although the insomnia symptoms inevitably increase in climacteric, the research about insomnia disorder in climacteric is limited. The phone interview of nearly 1000 women showed that 26% of perimenopausal women qualified for a DSM-IV diagnosis of insomnia, with difficulty maintaining sleep the most common symptom [65]. As for increasing follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), the association with greater odds of waking up several times was found, whereas decreasing estradiol ( $E_2$ ) was associated with higher odds of difficulty falling and staying asleep [61]. Despite this clear increase in poor sleep quality as women enter climacteric, the severity and persistence of poor sleep, as well as the extent of impairment in daytime function, vary between women.

## 17.4 Sleep Architecture in Climacteric

Even though the evidence for declining subjective sleep quality in climacteric is strong, polysomnographic (PSG) studies have generally not found a corresponding negative change in sleep architecture. The observed mismatch between subjective and objective sleep quality [66] has been explained by a possible influence of psychological state on sleep quality judgments by affecting the sleep appraisal process rather than sleep itself [67]. Also, most PSG studies have been cross-sectional with small sample sizes and differences in definitions of menopausal stages, age ranges, presence of systemic diseases and sleep disorders, and sleep-recording techniques. Some studies have found no differences in sleep architecture between pre- and postmenopausal women [68-72], while a few studies have reported more slow-wave sleep (SWS) in peri- and postmenopausal women than premenopausal women [59, 73–76]. More SWS could be interpreted as reflecting a better sleep pattern, on the one hand, but alternatively could reflect a recovery response to sleep deprivation. A single study has found more time spent awake and lower sleep efficiency in periand postmenopausal women compared to premenopausal women, but all studied women were insomnia patients [77].

Few studies have investigated the association between serum concentration of FSH and PSG measures. A cross-sectional study of women mostly in the early menopausal transition without sleep complaints found that higher FSH concentrations were associated with more wakefulness after sleep onset, awakenings, and arousals, after adjusting for age and BMI [78]. However, in women with insomnia symptoms, PSG measures did not correlate with FSH, whereas they were associated with anxiety and symptoms of depression [78]. In a small study with a group of pre- and postmenopausal women with diagnoses of depression, FSH concentration was positively associated with wakefulness after sleep onset and negatively associated with SWS [79]. Further, in another cross-sectional study, a more rapid rate of FSH change over the previous few years was associated with higher amount of SWS and longer total sleep time during a subsequent sleep study [80]. In the only longitudinal, 6-year follow-up study addressing changes in PSG measures across the menopausal transition, at follow-up, women had a shorter total sleep time, lower sleep efficiency, more wakefulness after sleep onset, and more awakenings after adjusting for vasomotor symptoms, BMI, and mood (Fig. 17.1). These changes in sleep were linked with advancing age rather than increased FSH levels. Increasing FSH was associated with a greater proportion of SWS, presumably reflecting an adaptive change to counteract the age-related sleep fragmentation [73] (Table 17.1).

Only limited work about PSG measures in climacteric women with insomnia disorder exists. One study showed substantial objective sleep disruption, with a poorer sleep efficiency, more wakefulness after sleep onset, and shorter total sleep time, matching the subjective poor sleep quality in this group compared to women without insomnia [81]. Further, women with insomnia were more likely to have objectively measured hot flashes, and the presence of hot flashes predicted the number

		Sample		~
Authors	Study design	characteristics	Findings	Comments
Shaver et al. 1988 [72]	Cross-sectional	Pre-, peri-, and postmenopausal women aged 40–59 y ( <i>n</i> = 76)	No differences in sleep parameters between the groups	Peri- and postmenopausal women experiencing hot flashes had longer REM latency and tended to have lower SE compared to women without hot flashes
Young et al. 2003 [59]	Observational epidemiologic study	Pre-, peri-, and postmenopausal women, mean age 46.3 y, SD 8.1 ( <i>n</i> = 589)	Peri- and postmenopausal women had more SWS, and postmenopausal women had less S2, and higher SE compared to premenopausal women	Peri- and postmenopausal women were more dissatisfied with their sleep quality compared to premenopausal women. No adaptation night
Sharkey et al. 2003 [76]	Cross-sectional	Pre- and postmenopausal women aged 45-56 y ( $n = 25$ )	Postmenopausal women had more SWS and less S1	No difference in subjective sleep quality. Two consecutive laboratory nights
Freedman et al. 2004 [71]	Cross-sectional	Pre- and postmenopausal women with and without hot flashes, aged 46–51 y (n = 31)	No differences in sleep parameters	Most awakenings preceded a hot flash, but not vice versa in the three consecutive laboratory nights
Kalleinen et al. 2008 [70]	Cross-sectional	Young (aged 20–26 y), premenopausal (aged 45–51 y) and postmenopausal (aged 59–71 y) (n = 61)	No differences between pre- and postmenopausal women. Young women had longer TST, higher SE and SWA, more SWS, and less WASO compared to pre- and postmenopausal women	Postmenopausal women were less satisfied with their sleep quality compared to premenopausal women. Two consecutive laboratory nights

**Table 17.1** Polysomnography sleep studies in menopausal transition

(continued)

Authors	Study design	Sample characteristics	Findings	Comments
Sowers et al. 2008 [80]	Sleep was studied cross- sectionally and FSH annually 7 y prior the sleep study	At the time of the sleep study, women were premenopausal, early or late perimenopausal, and postmenopausal, median age 52 y $(n = 365)$	More rapid rate of FSH change was associated with more SWS and longer TST	More rapid rate of FSH change was associated with poorer subjective sleep quality. Two nights of in-home PSG
Hachul et al. 2009 [69]	Cross-sectional	Early and late postmenopausal women aged 50-65  y (n = 30)	No differences in sleep parameters	Two consecutive laboratory nights
Hachul et al. 2010 [75]	Cross-sectional	Reproductive (mean age 38.8 y [SD 10.4]) and postmenopausal (55.9 y [SD 7.9]) women $(n = 931)$	More SWS, less S2 and REM in postmenopausal women compared to reproductive women; after adjustment of age and BMI, only greater chance of having AHI >5 for postmenopausal	No adaptation night
Campbell et al. 2011 [68]	Cross-sectional	Pre-, early peri-, late peri-, and postmenopausal women aged 48–59 y ( <i>n</i> = 321)	No differences in PSG measures. Beta EEG power, indicating arousal, ↑ in late peri- and postmenopausal women, but no difference in delta EEG power	Beta EEG power was related to hot flash frequency. Three consecutive in-home PSG- measurement nights. Results adjusted with age and other covariates
Xu et al. 2011 [77]	Cross-sectional	Pre-, peri-, and postmenopausal women aged 40-59  y (n = 74)	Longer total wake time and lower SE in peri- and postmenopausal women compared to premenopausal women	All subjects were insomnia patients. No differences in subjective sleep quality. Three consecutive laboratory nights

(continued)	Table 17.1	(continued)
-------------	------------	-------------

(continued)

Authors	Study design	Sample	Findings	Comments
de Zambotti et al. 2015 [78]	Cross-sectional	Young (aged 18-27  y) and perimenopausal women with and without insomnia (aged 43–52 y) (n = 44)	FSH ↑ was associated with WASO, awakenings and arousals ↑ in perimenopausal non-insomniacs, but not in insomnia patients in young women FSH ↑ was related to WASO and N1 ↑	In perimenopausal insomniacs TST correlated with anxiety and depression. No adaptation night
Hachul et al. 2015 [74]	Cross-sectional	Reproductive (mean age 34.6 y, (SD 8.4)), early (5.22 y (5.3)), and late (63.3 y (8.6)) postmenopausal women ( $n = 535$ )	More N3, higher AHI, and lower SaO <sub>2</sub> in postmenopausal women compared to premenopausal, no difference between early and late postmenopausal women	Wide age range (20–80 y), results were adjusted with age, BMI, blood pressure. No adaptation night
Lampio et al. 2017 [73]	6-year follow-up	At baseline all women (mean age 46 y, SD 0.9) were premenopausal and at the follow-up in different stages of menopausal transition ( $n = 60$ )	Increase in FSH associated with SWS ↑, after controlling for BMI, vasomotor and depressive symptoms	Aging was associated with shorter TST, lower SE, increased transitions from SWS to wake, increased WASO and amount of awakenings after controlling for confounding factors

Table 1	7.1	(continued)
---------	-----	-------------

*n* number, *y* year, *REM* rapid-eye movement sleep, *SD* standard deviation, *SWS* slow-wave sleep, *S2* stage 2 non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep, *SE* sleep efficiency, *S1* stage 1 NREM sleep, *FSH* follicle-stimulating hormone, *TST* total sleep time, *PSG* polysomnography, *WASO* wake after sleep onset, *N1* stage 1 NREM sleep, *N3* stage 3 NREM sleep, *SD* standard deviation, *EEG* electroencephalogram, *AHI* apnea-hypopnea index

of PSG awakenings per hour of sleep [81]. According to another study, where subjective sleep quality and PSG measures were compared between premenopausal and peri-/postmenopausal women with insomnia disorder, subjective sleep quality and depression were similar between the two groups, whereas peri-/postmenopausal women had a longer PSG-defined total wake time and lower sleep efficiency, suggesting that PSG measures of sleep quality are impacted to a greater extent in peri-/ postmenopausal than in premenopausal women with insomnia disorder [77].

## 17.5 Primary Sleep Disorders in Climacteric

Sleep disturbances may arise in climacteric in association with primary sleep disorders, such as sleep disordered breathing (SDB), restless legs syndrome (RLS), and periodic limb movement disorder (PLMD) [21, 82]. SDB is characterized by snoring, upper airway obstruction, inspiratory flow limitation, and excessive daytime sleepiness [83]. An apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) of five or more per hour of sleep indicates SDB [83]. The prevalence of SDB is higher in men than in women before menopause [84]; however, the prevalence increases in women following menopausal transition [85-89]. The postmenopausal women have shown to be 2.6 times more likely to have an AHI > 5 per hour and 3.5 times more likely to have an AHI > 15 per hour, compared with premenopausal women, after adjusting for confounding factors (age, BMI, and smoking) [88]. In the recent longitudinal analyses of the same data, AHI increased from premenopause to peri- and postmenopause, independent of age and changes in body habitus, although these factors were also associated with AHI [85]. Furthermore, in a large follow-up study, the hazard ratio for OSA in women with surgical menopause was 1.27 compared in women with natural menopause independently of age at menopause. The increased OSA risk due to surgical menopause persisted for over 15 years into the postmenopausal period and was more pronounced in leaner women, as well as among women who never used menopausal hormone therapy (MHT). OSA risk associated with surgical menopause was attenuated among physically more active women [90]. The greater prevalence of SDB after menopause might, in part, be due to the loss of the protective effects of female reproductive steroid hormones, especially progesterone, which have shown to have respiratory stimulative effects [88, 89], as well as changes in fat distribution after menopause [86]. The clinical picture of SDB in women usually differs from that of men, and therefore women are probably more likely to be undiagnosed. Women are more symptomatic with lower AHI compared to men, and they have more prolonged partial upper airway obstruction and report insomnia as a symptom of SDB more frequently [91, 92]. Of importance, patients with SDB and insomnia-like symptoms have higher burden of cardiovascular, pulmonary, and psychiatric comorbidity and lower adherence to continuous positive airway pressure treatment compared to patients with traditional sleepy phenotype despite less severe SDB in terms of AHI [92].

The prevalence of RLS and PLMD increases with age, and RLS is more common in women [93]. Freedman et al. found periodic limb movements and apneas to be the best predictors for poorer sleep efficiency in peri- and postmenopausal women reporting sleep disturbances [94]. However, in a group of asymptomatic postmenopausal women, the incidence of periodic limb movements was unrelated to  $E_2$  or FSH levels [95], suggesting that the increase in prevalence of RLS and PLMD after menopause may be related more to aging than to hormonal changes.

In addition to primary sleep disorders, other medical disorders, as well as use of medications, become more common with advancing age and may affect sleep in midlife women [41, 96, 97]. In one of the few prospective studies assessing predictors for menopausal sleep disturbances, medical diseases and use of prescribed

medication predicted future sleep disturbances [98]. In another prospective study, depressive symptoms, personal crises, use of medications affecting the CNS, and perceived impaired general health already 5 years before menopause predicted various sleep disturbances in menopausal transition [99].

# 17.6 Contributing Factors for Sleep Disturbances in Climacteric

# 17.6.1 Vasomotor Symptoms (Hot Flashes and Sweating)

Several factors contribute for sleep disturbances in climacteric (Fig. 17.2). Nocturnal hot flashes and sweating are an important component of sleep disturbance during midlife: self-reported vasomotor symptoms are consistently associated with poorer self-reported sleep quality and chronic insomnia [57, 61, 65, 100]. Women with



**Fig. 17.2** Factors contributing for sleep quality and sleep disorders in climacteric. *SDB* sleepdisordered breathing, *PLMD* periodic limb movement disorder, *RLS* restless legs syndrome

moderate-severe hot flashes are almost three times more likely to report frequent nocturnal awakenings compared to women without hot flashes [101]. However, studies that investigated relationships between reported vasomotor symptoms and objectively measured sleep (with actigraphy or PSG) have produced conflicting results, with no relationship [59, 71] or with association between hot flashes and disrupted sleep [102–104].

Objectively measured vasomotor symptoms have been linked to sleep disruption in some [102, 103, 105, 106], but not all [71, 94, 104] studies. Differences between studies might relate to the classification of hot flashes in association with awakenings [102], as well as between-women variability in the impact of hot flashes on sleep. In an experimental model of new-onset hot flashes in young premenopausal women treated with a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist, hot flashes were linked with more PSG awakenings, more wakefulness after sleep onset, and more stage 1 sleep [107], providing a link between hot flashes and disturbed sleep. In an analysis of the overall impact of hot flashes on sleep architecture, wake time attributed to hot flashes was responsible for, on average, 27% of objective wakefulness after sleep onset, although there was wide variability in hot flash impact between women [102]. Additionally, an awakening occurred simultaneously with the majority (69%) of hot flashes. The strong overlap in timing between hot flash onset and awakenings suggests that these events may be driven by a common mechanism within the central nervous system in response to fluctuating estrogen levels, although sweating triggered by a hot flash may still contribute to or extend the interval of waking [102].

### 17.6.2 Depressive Symptoms

Risk for depression increases in climacteric, independently of other factors [108–111]. Women have been reported to be two to four times more likely to develop major depressive disorder in the menopausal transition and early postmenopause compared to premenopause, after adjusting for confounding factors [109].

Mood and sleep disturbances act in a bidirectional relationship [112, 113]. This relationship has also been documented in climacteric women [114–116]. In a longitudinal study, depressive symptoms were unrelated to menopausal status or annual change in  $E_2$  but were associated with hot flashes and sleep disturbance [117]. Further, in another longitudinal study, the presence of subjective sleep problems at baseline was an important predictor of persistent/recurrent major depressive disorder at follow-up [118]. Studies about the association between sleep architecture and depressive symptoms have produced, however, conflicting results. In one study, more depressive symptoms were associated with lower sleep efficiency and shorter total sleep time in perimenopausal women [116]. In contrast, in another study, mood symptoms were not independently related to sleep architecture, but anxiety symptoms were related to longer sleep onset latency and lower sleep efficiency; however, this was found only in women who

also reported vasomotor symptoms [119]. Moreover, hot flashes and depressive symptoms have shown to be associated with different sleep disturbance patterns, with hot flashes being exclusively associated with frequent awakenings whereas depression was uniquely associated with difficulty falling asleep and too early morning awakening [120]. In addition, an intervention study in depressive perimenopausal women found that improvement in depression was predicted by improved sleep and increasing  $E_2$ , but not by alleviation of vasomotor symptoms [121].

## 17.6.3 Psychosocial and Sociodemographic Factors

In midlife, women face several challenges and personal life stressors, including changing family roles, loss of significant others, health concerns and worries about getting old, as well as alterations and increasing demands at work or retirement [122]. Life stressors and experiencing stress may contribute to sleep disturbances [122–124]. Indeed, perceived stress and poor perceived health have been associated with subjective sleep disturbances in midlife women [63, 97]. Furthermore, midlife women with higher chronic stress exposure over a 9-year follow-up period were more likely to have insomnia and more wake in objectively measured sleep than participants with moderate stress exposure [125]. Concerning work stress with sleep disturbances, a recent prospective study with over 24,000 participants (82% women, mean age 44 years) showed that the disappearance of job strain was associated with lower odds of insomnia symptoms [126]. In a study of 131 Egyptian teachers in the menopausal transition (aged 46–59 years), the most important menopausal symptoms that affected their work capacity and performance were tiredness (83%) and sleep disturbances (64%) [127]. A larger study of 961 midlife women found that insomnia symptoms were the most problematic menopausal symptoms to affect daily life and working performance [128]. As for work stress and sleep disorders in climacteric, postmenopausal women had worse sleep than premenopausal women during working days, but few differences during leisure days, showing an existing coping mechanism of work stress after menopause and the requirement of enough rest [129].

Some socioeconomic factors are protective against the development of sleep disturbances in climacteric; higher educational level [100], lower financial strain [130], and satisfactory marriage [131, 132] are all related to fewer sleep disturbances. Further, the prevalence of menopausal sleep disturbances is influenced by race and ethnicity: Caucasian women have higher rates, while Hispanic women have lower rates of sleep disturbances [61]. A study assessing the burden of menopausal sleep disturbances on societal costs concluded that menopausal chronic insomnia, characterized by nighttime awakenings, was linked with increased healthcare utilization and associated costs, decreased work productivity, and decreased health-related quality of life after adjustment for demographics and comorbidity [22].

## 17.7 Management of Sleep Disturbances in Climacteric

As the reasons for sleep disturbances in climacteric are potentially multiple, and sometimes overlapping, before prescription of the treatment, the causes behind should be accurately evaluated. For note is that for some women, sleep disturbances may be transient and thus not requiring any active treatment, whereas for other women, sleep disturbances may be severe, with a significant impact on day-time functioning and quality of life and thus necessity for treatment. In addition, occasionally combined treatments may be required, such as for women who have depression in addition to severe vasomotor symptoms and sleep problems. The cornerstone of management of sleep disorders is good sleep hygiene: appropriate sleeping environment, regular sleep-wake rhythm, sufficient exercise, and avoidance of stimulants, i.e., coffee, especially too late in the evening. Treatment options include MHT, non-hormonal pharmacological medications, and non-pharmacological and self-management strategies (Table 17.2).

## 17.7.1 Menopausal Hormone Therapy

Several studies have evaluated the effect of MHT on sleep; however, findings are mixed and difficult to compare, given the heterogeneity in study populations and tools to evaluate sleep and various MHT preparations (formulation, dose, and type of administration). According to a recent meta-analysis, MHT modestly improves subjectively evaluated sleep disturbance [133]. In most studies, improved sleep quality has co-occurred with improvement of vasomotor symptom [133–137]. However, there are also some data of enhanced sleep quality with MHT without the report of vasomotor symptoms [135]. PSG studies examining the effect of MHT

Non-pharmacological treatment
Sleep hygiene
Appropriate sleeping environment (calm, dark, appropriate temperature; comfortable bed)
Regular sleep-wake rhythm
Reducement of daytime stimulants
Regular daytime exercise
Relaxation techniques
Behavioral techniques, i.e., stimulus control or sleep restriction
Cognitive-behavioral treatment of insomnia (CBT-I)
Menopausal hormone therapy
Antidepressants (i.e., low-dose selective serotonin/serotonin noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors,
mirtazapin)
Gabapentin
Melatonin
H1-antihistamin
Sleep medication (i.e., intermediate-acting benzodiazepines, "Z-drugs")

 Table 17.2
 Treatment of climacteric sleep disturbances

on sleep architecture in menopausal women share the same problems with study design as the studies evaluating subjective sleep quality and MHT. In addition, those studies are rare, and the results are conflicting. Some studies have observed positive changes in sleep architecture with MHT [138–141], mainly decreasing wake after sleep onset, although other studies found no improvement [142–144].

## 17.7.2 Non-hormonal Pharmacological Medications

Of other treatment options, low-dose selective serotonin/serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors have shown to reduce hot flashes to some extent and modestly reduce insomnia symptoms in women with hot flashes [145–147], although the adverse-effect profiles of these medications need to be carefully considered. Evidence from a single trial shows that gabapentin improves sleep quality in perimenopausal women with hot flashes and insomnia [148]. As for sleep medication, melatonin, antihistamine, intermediate-acting benzodiazepines, and so-called Z-drugs can be used, although especially the two latter with short-term only.

## 17.7.3 Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment and Other Nonpharmacological Treatments

Cognitive-behavioral treatment of insomnia (CBT-I) is considered the primary intervention for patients with chronic insomnia [149], and it is superior to sleep medication alone in the long term [150]. Recently, a study using CBT-I during the menopausal transition in a randomized clinical trial of peri- and postmenopausal women with insomnia symptoms and daily hot flashes showed that 8 weeks of CBT-I led to a greater reduction in insomnia symptoms, with improvements maintained at 6 months posttreatment [151]. An open trial of CBT-I in women with menopausal sleep problems also found a reduction in insomnia (and depression) symptoms posttreatment [152].

Other non-pharmacological approaches for treating menopausal insomnia, like acupuncture, yoga, massage, exercise, and nutritional supplements containing soy isoflavones, have been used, with mixed effects [153].

## 17.8 Conclusion

Sleep quality decreases and sleep disturbances increase in climacteric. Sleep problems may be severe and thus deteriorate daytime functioning and quality of life in part of the women, having often also long-term consequences for mental and physical health. Climacteric symptoms, especially vasomotor symptoms, typically interfere with sleep and are strongly associated with reports of sleep disturbances as well as PSG-measured wakefulness. However, also other factors directly related to climacteric (e.g., hormonal changes), as well as a variety of health and/or life circumstances (e.g., SDB or movement disorders, mood disturbances, presence of medical conditions, or life stressors), have an impact and thus should be evaluated. Given the presence of distinctive sleep-disruptive factors (e.g., hot flashes) and the multifactorial nature of sleep disturbances in climacteric women, treatment needs to be tailored.

Disclosure Statement The authors have nothing to disclose.

# References

- 1. Ishak WW, Bagot K, Thomas S, et al. Quality of life in patients suffering from insomnia. Innov Clin Neurosci. 2012;9(10):13–26.
- Kyle SD, Morgan K, Espie CA. Insomnia and health-related quality of life. Sleep Med Rev. 2010;14(1):69–82.
- He Q, Zhang P, Li G, Dai H, Shi J. The association between insomnia symptoms and risk of cardio-cerebral vascular events: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2017;24(10):1071–82.
- 4. Laugsand LE, Strand LB, Platou C, Vatten LJ, Janszky I. Insomnia and the risk of incident heart failure: a population study. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(21):1382–93.
- Fernandez-Mendoza J, Vgontzas AN, Liao D, et al. Insomnia with objective short sleep duration and incident hypertension: the Penn State Cohort. Hypertension. 2012;60(4):929–35.
- Laugsand LE, Vatten LJ, Platou C, Janszky I. Insomnia and the risk of acute myocardial infarction: a population study. Circulation. 2011;124(19):2073–81.
- Lai YJ, Lin CL, Lin MC, et al. Population-based cohort study on the increase in the risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus development from nonapnea sleep disorders. Sleep Med. 2013;14(9):913–8.
- Vgontzas AN, Liao D, Pejovic S, Calhoun S, Karataraki M, Bixler EO. Insomnia with objective short sleep duration is associated with type 2 diabetes: a population-based study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(11):1980–5.
- 9. Baglioni C, Battagliese G, Feige B, et al. Insomnia as a predictor of depression: a meta-analytic evaluation of longitudinal epidemiological studies. J Affect Disord. 2011;135(1–3):10–9.
- Shekleton JA, Flynn-Evans EE, Miller B, et al. Neurobehavioral performance impairment in insomnia: relationships with self-reported sleep and daytime functioning. Sleep. 2014;37(1):107–16.
- 11. Fortier-Brochu E, Beaulieu-Bonneau S, Ivers H, Morin CM. Insomnia and daytime cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2012;16(1):83–94.
- Lallukka T, Kaikkonen R, Härkänen T, et al. Sleep and sickness absence: a nationally representative register-based follow-up study. Sleep. 2014;37(9):1413–25.
- Rahkonen O, Lallukka T, Kronholm E, Vahtera J, Lahelma E, Laaksonen M. Sleep problems and sickness absence among middle-aged employees. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2012;38(1):47–55.
- 14. Salo P, Oksanen T, Sivertsen B, et al. Sleep disturbances as a predictor of cause-specific work disability and delayed return to work. Sleep. 2010;33(10):1323–31.
- Sivertsen B, Øverland S, Bjorvatn B, Maeland JG, Mykletun A. Does insomnia predict sick leave? The Hordaland Health Study. J Psychosom Res. 2009;66(1):67–74.
- Bolge SC, Doan JF, Kannan H, Baran RW. Association of insomnia with quality of life, work productivity, and activity impairment. Qual Life Res. 2009;18(4):415–22.
- Daley M, Morin CM, LeBlanc M, Gregoire JP, Savard J, Baillargeon L. Insomnia and its relationship to health-care utilization, work absenteeism, productivity and accidents. Sleep Med. 2009;10(4):427–38.

- Daley M, Morin CM, LeBlanc M, Gregoire JP, Savard J. The economic burden of insomnia: direct and indirect costs for individuals with insomnia syndrome, insomnia symptoms, and good sleepers. Sleep. 2009;32(1):55–64.
- Shahly V, Berglund PA, Coulouvrat C, et al. The associations of insomnia with costly workplace accidents and errors: results from the America Insomnia Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2012;69(10):1054–63.
- 20. Shaver JL, Woods NF. Sleep and menopause: a narrative review. Menopause. 2015;22(8):899–915.
- 21. Polo-Kantola P. Sleep problems in midlife and beyond. Maturitas. 2011;68(3):224-32.
- Bolge SC, Balkrishnan R, Kannan H, Seal B, Drake CL. Burden associated with chronic sleep maintenance insomnia characterized by nighttime awakenings among women with menopausal symptoms. Menopause. 2010;17(1):80–6.
- 23. Borbely AA. A two process model of sleep regulation. Hum Neurobiol. 1982;1(3):195-204.
- Dogas Z, Pecotic R, Valic M. Regulation of sleep and wakefulness. In: Bassetti C, Dogas Z, Peigneux P, editors. ESRS sleep medicine textbook. Regensburg: European Sleep Research Society (ESRS); 2014. p. 13–25.
- 25. Porkka-Heiskanen T. Sleep homeostasis. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2013;23(5):799-805.
- Luppi PH, Adamantidis A, Fort P. The neurophysiology and neurobiology of sleep. In: Bassetti C, Dogas Z, Peigneux P, editors. ESRS sleep medicine textbook. Regensburg: European Sleep Research Society (ESRS); 2014. p. 3–11.
- 27. Aeschbach D, Lockyer BJ, Dijk DJ, et al. Use of transdermal melatonin delivery to improve sleep maintenance during daytime. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2009;86(4):378–82.
- Holl RW, Hartman ML, Veldhuis JD, Taylor WM, Thorner MO. Thirty-second sampling of plasma growth hormone in man: correlation with sleep stages. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1991;72(4):854–61.
- Lancel M, Faulhaber J, Holsboer F, Rupprecht R. Progesterone induces changes in sleep comparable to those of agonistic GABAA receptor modulators. Am J Phys. 1996;271(4 Pt 1):E763–72.
- Morgan E, Schumm LP, McClintock M, Waite L, Lauderdale DS. Sleep characteristics and daytime cortisol levels in older adults. Sleep. 2017;40(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/ zsx043.
- 31. Saaresranta T, Polo O. Hormones and breathing. Chest. 2002;122(6):2165-82.
- 32. Spath-Schwalbe E, Gofferje M, Kern W, Born J, Fehm HL. Sleep disruption alters nocturnal ACTH and cortisol secretory patterns. Biol Psychiatry. 1991;29(6):575–84.
- 33. Van Cauter E, Leproult R, Plat L. Age-related changes in slow wave sleep and REM sleep and relationship with growth hormone and cortisol levels in healthy men. JAMA. 2000;284(7):861–8.
- 34. Vgontzas AN, Zoumakis M, Bixler EO, et al. Impaired nighttime sleep in healthy old versus young adults is associated with elevated plasma interleukin-6 and cortisol levels: physiologic and therapeutic implications. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(5):2087–95.
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine, editor. International classification of sleep disorders. 3rd ed. Darien: American Academy of Sleep Medicine; 2014.
- Jarrin DC, Morin CM, Rochefort A, et al. Familial aggregation of insomnia. Sleep. 2017;40(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsw053.
- Ellis JG. Insomnia: nosological classification, definitions, epidemiology. In: Bassetti C, Dogas Z, Peigneux P, editors. ESRS sleep medicine textbook. Regensburg: European Sleep Research Society (ESRS); 2014. p. 151–63.
- LeBlanc M, Merette C, Savard J, Ivers H, Baillargeon L, Morin CM. Incidence and risk factors of insomnia in a population-based sample. Sleep. 2009;32(8):1027–37.
- Morin CM, LeBlanc M, Daley M, Gregoire JP, Merette C. Epidemiology of insomnia: prevalence, self-help treatments, consultations, and determinants of help-seeking behaviors. Sleep Med. 2006;7(2):123–30.
- 40. Ancoli-Israel S. The impact and prevalence of chronic insomnia and other sleep disturbances associated with chronic illness. Am J Manag Care. 2006;12(8 Suppl):S221–9.

- Plotkin K. Insomnia caused by medical disorders. In: Attarian HP, Schuman C, editors. Clinical handbook of insomnia. 2nd ed. Totowa: Humana; 2010. p. 195–208.
- 42. Rechtschaffen A, Kales A. A manual of standardized terminology, techniques and scoring systems for sleep stages of human subjects. Los Angeles: Brain Information Service, Brain Research Institute, UCLA; 1968.
- Berry RB, Brooks R, Gamaldo C, et al. AASM scoring manual updates for 2017 (version 2.4). J Clin Sleep Med. 2017 13(5):665-666.
- 44. Iber C, Ancoli-Israel S, Chesson A, et al. The AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events: rules, terminology, and technical specifications. 1st ed. Westchester: American Academy of Sleep Medicine; 2007.
- 45. Bixler E. Sleep and society: an epidemiological perspective. Sleep Med. 2009;10(Suppl 1):S3-6.
- 46. Cai H, Shu XO, Xiang YB, et al. Sleep duration and mortality: a prospective study of 113 138 middle-aged and elderly Chinese men and women. Sleep. 2015;38(4):529–36.
- Cappuccio FP, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA. Sleep duration and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Sleep. 2010;33(5):585–92.
- 48. Capers PL, Fobian AD, Kaiser KA, Borah R, Allison DB. A systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials of the impact of sleep duration on adiposity and components of energy balance. Obes Rev. 2015;16(9):771–82.
- Kronholm E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Sippola R, Partonen T. Self-reported sleep duration, all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in Finland. Sleep Med. 2011;12(3):215–21.
- Westerlund A, Lagerros YT, Kecklund G, Axelsson J, Åkerstedt T. Relationships between questionnaire ratings of sleep quality and polysomnography in healthy adults. Behav Sleep Med. 2016;14(2):185–99.
- McCrae CS, Rowe MA, Tierney CG, Dautovich ND, Definis AL, McNamara JP. Sleep complaints, subjective and objective sleep patterns, health, psychological adjustment, and daytime functioning in community-dwelling older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2005;60(4):182–9.
- 52. Rosa RR, Bonnet MH. Reported chronic insomnia is independent of poor sleep as measured by electroencephalography. Psychosom Med. 2000;62(4):474–82.
- 53. Åkerstedt T, Hume K, Minors D, Waterhouse J. The meaning of good sleep: a longitudinal study of polysomnography and subjective sleep quality. J Sleep Res. 1994;3(3):152–8.
- 54. Nelson HD. Menopause. Lancet. 2008;371(9614):760-70.
- 55. Cheng MH, Hsu CY, Wang SJ, Lee SJ, Wang PH, Fuh JL. The relationship of self-reported sleep disturbance, mood, and menopause in a community study. Menopause. 2008;15(5):958–62.
- 56. Hung HC, Lu FH, Ou HY, Wu JS, Yang YC, Chang CJ. Menopause is associated with self-reported poor sleep quality in women without vasomotor symptoms. Menopause. 2014;21(8):834–9.
- 57. Kravitz HM, Ganz PA, Bromberger J, Powell LH, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Meyer PM. Sleep difficulty in women at midlife: a community survey of sleep and the menopausal transition. Menopause. 2003;10(1):19–28.
- Shin C, Lee S, Lee T, et al. Prevalence of insomnia and its relationship to menopausal status in middle-aged Korean women. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2005;59(4):395–402.
- 59. Young T, Rabago D, Zgierska A, Austin D, Laurel F. Objective and subjective sleep quality in premenopausal, perimenopausal, and postmenopausal women in the Wisconsin Sleep Cohort Study. Sleep. 2003;26(6):667–72.
- Berecki-Gisolf J, Begum N, Dobson AJ. Symptoms reported by women in midlife: menopausal transition or aging. Menopause. 2009;16(5):1021–9.
- 61. Kravitz HM, Zhao X, Bromberger JT, et al. Sleep disturbance during the menopausal transition in a multi-ethnic community sample of women. Sleep. 2008;31(7):979–90.
- Tom SE, Kuh D, Guralnik JM, Mishra GD. Self-reported sleep difficulty during the menopausal transition: results from a prospective cohort study. Menopause. 2010;17(6):1128–35.

- 63. Woods NF, Mitchell ES. Sleep symptoms during the menopausal transition and early postmenopause: observations from the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. Sleep. 2010;33(4):539–49.
- 64. Xu Q, Lang CP. Examining the relationship between subjective sleep disturbance and menopause: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Menopause. 2014;21(12):1301–18.
- 65. Ohayon MM. Severe hot flashes are associated with chronic insomnia. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(12):1262–8.
- 66. Kaplan KA, Hardas PP, Redline S, Zeitzer JM, Sleep Heart Health Study Research Group. Correlates of sleep quality in midlife and beyond: a machine learning analysis. Sleep Med. 2017;34:162–7.
- 67. Krystal AD, Edinger JD. Measuring sleep quality. Sleep Med. 2008;9(Suppl 1):S10-7.
- 68. Campbell IG, Bromberger JT, Buysse DJ, et al. Evaluation of the association of menopausal status with delta and beta EEG activity during sleep. Sleep. 2011;34(11):1561–8.
- 69. Hachul H, Bittencourt LR, Soares JM Jr, Tufik S, Baracat EC. Sleep in post-menopausal women: differences between early and late post-menopause. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2009;145(1):81–4.
- Kalleinen N, Polo-Kantola P, Himanen SL, et al. Sleep and the menopause do postmenopausal women experience worse sleep than premenopausal women? Menopause Int. 2008;14(3):97–104.
- Freedman RR, Roehrs TA. Lack of sleep disturbance from menopausal hot flashes. Fertil Steril. 2004;82(1):138–44.
- Shaver J, Giblin E, Lentz M, Lee K. Sleep patterns and stability in perimenopausal women. Sleep. 1988;11(6):556–61.
- Lampio L, Polo-Kantola P, Himanen SL, et al. Sleep during menopausal transition: a six-year follow-up. Sleep. 2017;40(7):10.
- 74. Hachul H, Frange C, Bezerra AG, et al. The effect of menopause on objective sleep parameters: data from an epidemiologic study in Sao Paulo, Brazil. Maturitas. 2015;80(2):170–8.
- Hachul H, Andersen ML, Bittencourt LR, Santos-Silva R, Conway SG, Tufik S. Does the reproductive cycle influence sleep patterns in women with sleep complaints? Climacteric. 2010;13(6):594–603.
- Sharkey KM, Bearpark HM, Acebo C, Millman RP, Cavallo A, Carskadon MA. Effects of menopausal status on sleep in midlife women. Behav Sleep Med. 2003;1(2):69–80.
- 77. Xu M, Belanger L, Ivers H, Guay B, Zhang J, Morin CM. Comparison of subjective and objective sleep quality in menopausal and non-menopausal women with insomnia. Sleep Med. 2011;12(1):65–9.
- de Zambotti M, Colrain IM, Baker FC. Interaction between reproductive hormones and physiological sleep in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(4):1426–33.
- Antonijevic IA, Murck H, Frieboes RM, Uhr M, Steiger A. On the role of menopause for sleep-endocrine alterations associated with major depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2003;28(3):401–18.
- Sowers MF, Zheng H, Kravitz HM, et al. Sex steroid hormone profiles are related to sleep measures from polysomnography and the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Sleep. 2008;31(10):1339–49.
- Baker FC, Willoughby AR, Sassoon SA, Colrain IM, de Zambotti M. Insomnia in women approaching menopause: beyond perception. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;60:96–104.
- 82. Guidozzi F. Sleep and sleep disorders in menopausal women. Climacteric. 2013;16(2):214-9.
- Shneerson JM. Obstructive sleep apnoeas and snoring. In: Shneerson JM, editor. Handbook of sleep medicine. 1st ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 2000. p. 194–218.
- Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence of sleepdisordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177(9):1006–14.
- Mirer AG, Young T, Palta M, Benca RM, Rasmuson A, Peppard PE. Sleep-disordered breathing and the menopausal transition among participants in the sleep in midlife women study. Menopause. 2017;24(2):157–62.

- Polesel DN, Hirotsu C, Nozoe KT, et al. Waist circumference and postmenopause stages as the main associated factors for sleep apnea in women: a cross-sectional population-based study. Menopause. 2015;22(8):835–44.
- Anttalainen U, Saaresranta T, Aittokallio J, et al. Impact of menopause on the manifestation and severity of sleep-disordered breathing. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2006;85(11):1381–8.
- Young T, Finn L, Austin D, Peterson A. Menopausal status and sleep-disordered breathing in the Wisconsin Sleep Cohort Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167(9):1181–5.
- Bixler EO, Vgontzas AN, Lin HM, et al. Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in women: effects of gender. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;163(3 Pt 1):608–13.
- Huang T, Lin BM, Redline S, Curhan GC, Hu FB, Tworoger SS. Type of menopause, age at menopause, and risk of developing obstructive sleep apnea in postmenopausal women. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(7):1370–9.
- Anttalainen U, Tenhunen M, Rimpilä V, et al. Prolonged partial upper airway obstruction during sleep—an underdiagnosed phenotype of sleep-disordered breathing. Eur Clin Respir J. 2016;3:31806.
- 92. Saaresranta T, Hedner J, Bonsignore MR, et al. Clinical phenotypes and comorbidity in European sleep apnoea patients. PLoS One. 2016;11(10):e0163439.
- 93. Harmell A, Ancoli-Israel S. Diagnosis and treatment of sleep disorders in older adults. In: Avidan AY, editor. Handbook of sleep medicine. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2011. p. 261–73.
- 94. Freedman RR, Roehrs TA. Sleep disturbance in menopause. Menopause. 2007;14(5):826-9.
- Polo-Kantola P, Rauhala E, Erkkola R, Irjala K, Polo O. Estrogen replacement therapy and nocturnal periodic limb movements: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;97(4):548–54.
- 96. Polo-Kantola P, Laine A, Aromaa M, et al. A population-based survey of sleep disturbances in middle-aged women—associations with health, health related quality of life and health behavior. Maturitas. 2014;77(3):255–62.
- 97. Vaari T, Engblom J, Helenius H, Erkkola R, Polo-Kantola P. Survey of sleep problems in 3421 women aged 41-55 years. Menopause Int. 2008;14(2):78–82.
- Tom SE, Kuh D, Guralnik JM, Mishra GD. Patterns in trouble sleeping among women at mid-life: results from a British prospective cohort study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2009;63(12):974–9.
- 99. Lampio L, Saaresranta T, Engblom J, Polo O, Polo-Kantola P. Predictors of sleep disturbance in menopausal transition. Maturitas. 2016;94:137–42.
- Blümel JE, Cano A, Mezones-Holguin E, et al. A multinational study of sleep disorders during female mid-life. Maturitas. 2012;72(4):359–66.
- Kravitz HM, Joffe H. Sleep during the perimenopause: a SWAN story. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2011;38(3):567–86.
- 102. de Zambotti M, Colrain IM, Javitz HS, Baker FC. Magnitude of the impact of hot flashes on sleep in perimenopausal women. Fertil Steril. 2014;102(6):1708–15.e1.
- 103. Joffe H, White DP, Crawford SL, et al. Adverse effects of induced hot flashes on objectively recorded and subjectively reported sleep: results of a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist experimental protocol. Menopause. 2013;20(9):905–14.
- 104. Thurston RC, Santoro N, Matthews KA. Are vasomotor symptoms associated with sleep characteristics among symptomatic midlife women? Comparisons of self-report and objective measures. Menopause. 2012;19(7):742–8.
- 105. Joffe H, Massler A, Sharkey KM. Evaluation and management of sleep disturbance during the menopause transition. Semin Reprod Med. 2010;28(5):404–21.
- 106. Savard MH, Savard J, Caplette-Gingras A, Ivers H, Bastien C. Relationship between objectively recorded hot flashes and sleep disturbances among breast cancer patients: investigating hot flash characteristics other than frequency. Menopause. 2013;20(10):997–1005.
- Joffe H, Crawford S, Economou N, et al. A gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist model demonstrates that nocturnal hot flashes interrupt objective sleep. Sleep. 2013;36(12):1977–85.

- Bromberger JT, Matthews KA, Schott LL, et al. Depressive symptoms during the menopausal transition: the study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN). J Affect Disord. 2007;103(1–3):267–72.
- 109. Bromberger JT, Kravitz HM. Mood and menopause: findings from the study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) over 10 years. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2011;38(3):609–25.
- 110. Cohen LS, Soares CN, Vitonis AF, Otto MW, Harlow BL. Risk for new onset of depression during the menopausal transition: the Harvard study of moods and cycles. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2006;63(4):385–90.
- 111. Steinberg EM, Rubinow DR, Bartko JJ, et al. A cross-sectional evaluation of perimenopausal depression. J Clin Psychiatry. 2008;69(6):973–80.
- 112. Kahn M, Sheppes G, Sadeh A. Sleep and emotions: bidirectional links and underlying mechanisms. Int J Psychophysiol. 2013;89(2):218–28.
- 113. Sivertsen B, Salo P, Mykletun A, et al. The bidirectional association between depression and insomnia: the HUNT study. Psychosom Med. 2012;74(7):758–65.
- 114. Burleson MH, Todd M, Trevathan WR. Daily vasomotor symptoms, sleep problems, and mood: using daily data to evaluate the domino hypothesis in middle-aged women. Menopause. 2010;17(1):87–95.
- 115. Pien GW, Sammel MD, Freeman EW, Lin H, DeBlasis TL. Predictors of sleep quality in women in the menopausal transition. Sleep. 2008;31(7):991–9.
- 116. Toffol E, Kalleinen N, Urrila AS, et al. The relationship between mood and sleep in different female reproductive states. BMC Psychiatry. 2014;14:177.
- 117. Avis NE, Crawford S, Stellato R, Longcope C. Longitudinal study of hormone levels and depression among women transitioning through menopause. Climacteric. 2001;4(3):243–9.
- 118. Bromberger JT, Kravitz HM, Youk A, Schott LL, Joffe H. Patterns of depressive disorders across 13 years and their determinants among midlife women: SWAN mental health study. J Affect Disord. 2016;206:31–40.
- 119. Kravitz HM, Avery E, Sowers M, et al. Relationships between menopausal and mood symptoms and EEG sleep measures in a multi-ethnic sample of middle-aged women: the SWAN sleep study. Sleep. 2011;34(9):1221–32.
- 120. Vousoura E, Spyropoulou AC, Koundi KL, et al. Vasomotor and depression symptoms may be associated with different sleep disturbance patterns in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2015;22(10):1053–7.
- 121. Joffe H, Petrillo LF, Koukopoulos A, et al. Increased estradiol and improved sleep, but not hot flashes, predict enhanced mood during the menopausal transition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(7):E1044–54.
- 122. Darling CA, Coccia C, Senatore N. Women in midlife: stress, health and life satisfaction. Stress Health. 2012;28(1):31–40.
- 123. Saaresranta T, Polo-Kantola P, Polo O. Practical approach to the diagnosis and management of menopausal insomnia. In: Attarian HP, Viola-Saltzman M, editors. Sleep disorders in women: a guide to practical management. 2nd ed. The Netherlands: Humana Press/Springer; 2013. p. 293–324.
- 124. Cuadros JL, Fernandez-Alonso AM, Cuadros-Celorrio AM, et al. Perceived stress, insomnia and related factors in women around the menopause. Maturitas. 2012;72(4):367–72.
- 125. Hall MH, Casement MD, Troxel WM, et al. Chronic stress is prospectively associated with sleep in midlife women: the SWAN sleep study. Sleep. 2015;38(10):1645–54.
- 126. Halonen JI, Lallukka T, Pentti J, et al. Change in job strain as a predictor of change in insomnia symptoms: analyzing observational data as a non-randomized pseudo-trial. Sleep. 2017;40(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsw007.
- 127. Hammam RA, Abbas RA, Hunter MS. Menopause and work—the experience of middleaged female teaching staff in an Egyptian Governmental Faculty of Medicine. Maturitas. 2012;71(3):294–300.

- 128. Simon JA, Reape KZ. Understanding the menopausal experiences of professional women. Menopause. 2009;16(1):73–6.
- Lampio L, Saaresranta T, Polo O, Polo-Kantola P. Subjective sleep in premenopausal and postmenopausal women during workdays and leisure days: a sleep diary study. Menopause. 2013;20(6):655–60.
- 130. Hall MH, Matthews KA, Kravitz HM, et al. Race and financial strain are independent correlates of sleep in midlife women: the SWAN sleep study. Sleep. 2009;32(1):73–82.
- 131. Troxel WM, Buysse DJ, Matthews KA, et al. Marital/cohabitation status and history in relation to sleep in midlife women. Sleep. 2010;33(7):973–81.
- 132. Troxel WM, Buysse DJ, Hall M, Matthews KA. Marital happiness and sleep disturbances in a multi-ethnic sample of middle-aged women. Behav Sleep Med. 2009;7(1):2–19.
- 133. Cintron D, Lipford M, Larrea-Mantilla L, et al. Efficacy of menopausal hormone therapy on sleep quality: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endocrine. 2017;55(3):702–11.
- 134. Hays J, Ockene JK, Brunner RL, et al. Effects of estrogen plus progestin on health-related quality of life. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(19):1839–54.
- 135. Polo-Kantola P, Erkkola R, Helenius H, Irjala K, Polo O. When does estrogen replacement therapy improve sleep quality? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1998;178(5):1002–9.
- 136. Savolainen-Peltonen H, Hautamäki H, Tuomikoski P, Ylikorkala O, Mikkola TS. Healthrelated quality of life in women with or without hot flashes: a randomized placebo-controlled trial with hormone therapy. Menopause. 2014;21(7):732–9.
- 137. Welton AJ, Vickers MR, Kim J, et al. Health related quality of life after combined hormone replacement therapy: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2008;a1190:337.
- Parry BL, Meliska CJ, Martinez LF, et al. Menopause: neuroendocrine changes and hormone replacement therapy. J Am Med Womens Assoc (1972). 2004;59(2):135–45.
- 139. Montplaisir J, Lorrain J, Denesle R, Petit D. Sleep in menopause: differential effects of two forms of hormone replacement therapy. Menopause. 2001;8(1):10–6.
- 140. Polo-Kantola P, Erkkola R, Irjala K, Pullinen S, Virtanen I, Polo O. Effect of short-term transdermal estrogen replacement therapy on sleep: a randomized, double-blind crossover trial in postmenopausal women. Fertil Steril. 1999;71(5):873–80.
- 141. Scharf MB, McDannold MD, Stover R, Zaretsky N, Berkowitz DV. Effects of estrogen replacement therapy on rates of cyclic alternating patterns and hot-flush events during sleep in postmenopausal women: a pilot study. Clin Ther. 1997;19(2):304–11.
- 142. Tansupswatdikul P, Chaikittisilpa S, Jaimchariyatam N, Panyakhamlerd K, Jaisamrarn U, Taechakraichana N. Effects of estrogen therapy on postmenopausal sleep quality regardless of vasomotor symptoms: a randomized trial. Climacteric. 2015;18(2):198–204.
- 143. Kalleinen N, Polo O, Himanen SL, Joutsen A, Polo-Kantola P. The effect of estrogen plus progestin treatment on sleep: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial in premenopausal and late postmenopausal women. Climacteric. 2008;11(3):233–43.
- 144. Purdie DW, Empson JA, Crichton C, Macdonald L. Hormone replacement therapy, sleep quality and psychological wellbeing. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1995;102(9):735–9.
- 145. Ensrud KE, Joffe H, Guthrie KA, et al. Effect of escitalopram on insomnia symptoms and subjective sleep quality in healthy perimenopausal and postmenopausal women with hot flashes: a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2012;19(8):848–55.
- 146. Ensrud KE, Guthrie KA, Hohensee C, et al. Effects of estradiol and venlafaxine on insomnia symptoms and sleep quality in women with hot flashes. Sleep. 2015;38(1):97–108.
- 147. Pinkerton JV, Joffe H, Kazempour K, Mekonnen H, Bhaskar S, Lippman J. Low-dose paroxetine (7.5 mg) improves sleep in women with vasomotor symptoms associated with menopause. Menopause. 2015;22(1):50–8.
- 148. Yurcheshen ME, Guttuso T Jr, McDermott M, Holloway RG, Perlis M. Effects of gabapentin on sleep in menopausal women with hot flashes as measured by a Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index factor scoring model. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2009;18(9):1355–60.
- 149. Sateia MJ, Buysse DJ, Krystal AD, Neubauer DN, Heald JL. Clinical practice guideline for the pharmacologic treatment of chronic insomnia in adults: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med. 2017;13(2):307–49.

- 150. Sivertsen B, Omvik S, Pallesen S, et al. Cognitive behavioral therapy vs zopiclone for treatment of chronic primary insomnia in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;295(24):2851–8.
- 151. McCurry SM, Guthrie KA, Morin CM, et al. Telephone-based cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in perimenopausal and postmenopausal women with vasomotor symptoms: a MsFLASH randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176(7):913–20.
- Hall MH, Kline CE, Nowakowski S. Insomnia and sleep apnea in midlife women: prevalence and consequences to health and functioning. F1000Prime Rep. 2015;7:63. eCollection 2015.
- 153. Attarian H, Hachul H, Guttuso T, Phillips B. Treatment of chronic insomnia disorder in menopause: evaluation of literature. Menopause. 2015;22(6):674–84.



# Impact of Menopause on Brain Functions

18

Alice Antonelli, Andrea Giannini, Marta Caretto, Tommaso Simoncini, and Andrea R. Genazzani

# 18.1 Introduction

Menopause, defined as cessation of menses after 1 year, represents an important transition in reproductive states in women. It occurs at a median age of 51, preceded by 4-6 years of cycle alterations, and it's associated with fluctuating hormone levels and emergence of symptoms like sleep disturbances, mood and memory changes, cognitive impairment, hot flushes, and vaginal dryness. Those symptoms occur with different grades of severity, frequency, and duration and can invalidate women's life. In this scenario, specific brain areas are involved: olfactory bulb, thalamus, hypothalamus, amygdala, mammillary bodies, nucleus accumbens, septum, hippocampal formation, parahippocampal gyrus, insula, orbitofrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and cingulate gyrus. Increasing evidences suggest that cognitive complaints after menopause may represent an important marker for early neural dysfunction and dementia connected with the physiological postmenopausal loss of estradiol. In fact, even if subjective cognitive decline can be associated with nonmenopause-related conditions (i.e., normal aging; psychiatric, neurologic, and medical disorders; substance use; and drug effects), several studies demonstrate organic neurological changes caused by sex hormone deprivation [1]. This opens new frontiers to an additional understanding of peripheral hormones affecting cognitive and, in general, neurological functions

A. Antonelli · A. Giannini · M. Caretto · T. Simoncini (⊠) · A. R. Genazzani Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy e-mail: andrea.giannini@unipi.it; tommaso.simoncini@med.unipi.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_18

## 18.2 From Reproductive Age to Menopausal Transition

The estrogen and progesterone synthesis from enzymatic modifications of cholesterol takes place primarily in the ovaries but also in the adrenal gland and adipose tissue. The two main active estrogens in nonpregnant women are estrone and estradiol, while pregnant women also produce significant quantities of estriol. Gonadotropins, luteinizing hormone (LH), and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), released from the pituitary gland under hypothalamus control, modulate both production and secretion. During the entire life, physiological hormonal fluctuations may determine organic and cognitive changes (Fig. 18.1). During childhood, estrogen and progesterone



Fig. 18.1 Fluctuations and modifications of sexual steroids in different physiological and paraphysiological scenarios throughout women's life

levels are low but increase at the onset of puberty under the influence of LH and FSH leading to regular menstrual cycling. In this last scenario, it's possible to identify two phases: follicular phase when serum estrogen levels are high and progesterone low and luteal phase when progesterone level is high compared to the estrogen level. It's interesting to notice that luteal phase can be associated with several premenstrual symptoms such as abdominal bloating, cramping, weight changes, headaches, decreased concentration, depression, irritability, and anxiety. Specific hormonal changes happen during pregnancy: both estrogen and progesterone increase across the three trimesters and then return to baseline after parturition. During postpartum phase on the one hand, the high prolactin level suppresses the synthesis of sex hormones (GnRH mediated) so that ovulation can't occur; on the other hand, the relatively low estrogen level detected can cause in some women postpartum depression. Interestingly, another hormonal modification starts during perimenopause when progesterone levels decline more quickly than estrogen. Instead, levels of progesterone and estrogen become permanently low after menopause transition. Specifically, the decline of sex steroid and inhibins leads to a loss of hypothalamic feedback inhibition that stimulates GnRH and gonadotropin production. Moreover, the decrease inhibin production results in a decreased activin receptor inhibition and, together with the increase in bioavailable activin, leads to a further increase in the secretion of GnRH and gonadotropins. As a consequence, without a negative feedback, the elevated secretion of GnRH, LH, and FSH causes ovarian senescence and impairment.

#### 18.3 Estrogen Receptor Alpha and Beta

Estrogen receptors are members of the nuclear receptor superfamily and DNAbinding transcription factors localized in synaptic terminals, dendritic spines and shafts, axons, mitochondria, and glial cell. It's possible to identify two different isoforms, ER  $\alpha$  and ER  $\beta$ , differing in expression and actions [2]. Both are able to heterodimerize, suggesting that different responses are modulated by their coexistence [3]. During aging, changes in the ratio ER  $\alpha$ /ER  $\beta$  regulate estrogen-mediated gene transcription and control memory, cognition, attention, sensory integration, mood, emotion, and motivation [4]. In this scenario estrogens act both via traditional and nontraditional mechanisms, on the one hand binding ER  $\alpha$  or ER  $\beta$  in the nucleus and on the other hand cooperating in association with lipid rafts and receptors like G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER) [5]. In the classical mechanism, after the dimerization between receptors, a binding to a DNA estrogen receptor (ERE) occurs; thus transcription of estrogen-sensitive genes and proteins can initiate. It's interesting to notice that there is a higher affinity between ER  $\alpha$  and ERE than the one with ER  $\beta$ that may reflect in a more successful transcription. In nonclassical mechanism, estrogens bind to membrane-bound receptors, including GPER, which activates second messenger systems, causing the resulting response. Evidence suggests a combination of both membrane-initiated and genomic actions to affect transcription.

Evidences have demonstrated that ERs may be integrated into the plasma membrane: it's reasonable that they may be localized in lipid rafts microstructures and they would take part in cell survival with other molecules which may modulate their physiological activities. The list includes GPI-anchored receptors, G proteincoupled receptors (adrenergic receptors, adenosine receptors, and cannabinoid receptors), glutamate receptors (AMPA, NMDA, mGluR), neurotrophin receptors (tyrosine kinase receptors, TrkA, TrkB, ephrin receptor, Eph, c-Ret, ErbB), Src family receptors (c-Src, Lyn, Fyn), cell adhesion molecules (NCAMs, TAG-1, Thy-1), and proteins associated with myelin glycosynapse (LINGO1, p75, NgR1, myelinassociated glycoprotein). What is certain is that numerous studies demonstrate the lipid raft involvement in nervous system functioning like modulating synapsis, neuronal plasticity, cell-cell communication, myelin organization and stability, autophagy, neuronal survival, and neurodegeneration and protection from oxygen deprivation, stroke, and A $\beta$ - and glutamate-induced toxicities [6].

## **18.4** ER α

It's primarily expressed as a nuclear receptor in prefrontal cortex, in hippocampus, and especially in amygdala and hypothalamus, regions that mediate memory and emotional process; however, an extranuclear form is found in both cytoplasmic and membrane locations including within dendritic spines and at the synapse (Fig. 18.2). Gonzalez et al. [7] demonstrated that expression of ER  $\alpha$  in the nuclei of pyramidal



**Fig. 18.2** Estradiol regulates spine synapses on hippocampal pyramidal neurons through ER  $\alpha$ . In the diestrus phase, when estradiol levels are low, spine densities are also low. During proestrus, when ovulation occurs, both estrogen levels and spine densities increase in parallel. In the estrus phase, the day after proestrus, the system prepares for the next cycle, and spine densities return to baseline
cell of the hippocampus could occur from 15 gestational week to adulthood where it was maintained with the association of the cytoplasmatic isoform. Moreover, during the transition period to menopause, we assist to an increased expression of ER $\alpha$ -splice variant (MB1) as an indicator of its potential role during aging.

Supporting the importance of ER  $\alpha$  in neuronal process, the study by Wang AC et al. "Synaptic estrogen receptor-alpha levels in prefrontal cortex in female rhesus monkeys and their correlation with cognitive performance" asserts that in ovariectomized female monkeys, estradiol treatment with the presence of postsynaptic ER  $\alpha$  improves cognitive performance.

Moreover ER  $\alpha$  nonneuronal expression may contribute to estrogen actions, including injury-sensitive expression of ER  $\alpha$  in glial cells.

# **18.5** ER β

This receptor is transcribed from a different gene than ER  $\alpha$ , and for this reason, despite similar properties, it has both ligand-dependent and ligand-independent actions. It's expressed as a nuclear receptor in the hippocampus, neocortex, claustrum, and thalamus, participating to preservation of neuronal integrity. ER  $\beta$  is also found in the mitochondria, protecting from the oxidative and metabolic stress implicated in Alzheimer and Parkinson disease. Its first detection appears at 15 gestational weeks in proliferative zones, and then, at 25 gestational weeks, ER  $\beta$  is detected in cortical neurons, both in the nuclei and in the cytoplasm. This condition changes during life; in fact in adulthood much of the nuclear isoform is lost, while cytoplasmatic ER  $\beta$  receptors become predominant; however, the total percentage of synapse connected to ER  $\beta$  decreases.

# 18.6 Neuroendocrine Changes Across the Menopausal Transition

Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity regulates several physiological and neurological functions by monoamine neurotransmitter and glucocorticoids. Given the early change of GNRH and FHS in middle-aged women before ovarian decline, the hypothesis outlined is that HPA undergoes independent functional modifications during its physiological aging. The dysregulation of this axis causes loss of coordination with ovarian hormonal secretion. In particular the loss of estrogenic sensitivity at the hypothalamic level determines an increased production of gonadotropins that, with a concomitant lower ovarian response to FSH and LH, leads to anovulatory cycles.

Furthermore, the general evidence is that in areas such as the prefrontal cortex, limbic system, and hypothalamus, high levels of ERs are expressed so that, thanks to its interactions with ER alpha and beta estradiol, these can modulate the synthesis, release, and metabolism of peptides like dopamine, serotonin, acetylcholine,  $\beta$ -endorphin, and neurosteroids, such as allopregnanolone and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) (Fig. 18.3) [8]. In fact, during climacterium and menopause, the



Fig. 18.3 Hormonal and neurosteroid modifications related to the neuroendocrine changes across the menopausal transition

fluctuation of steroid hormones induces a dysregulation of neurotransmitter pathways that concomitant with the persistently high levels of FSH and LH leads to neurologic, mood, memory, sleep, and thermoregulation disturbances. Moreover, the decreases in both DHEA/cortisol ratio and androgens may have implication in the lack of energy, sexual arousal and satisfaction, and learning and memory processes [9]. Finally, a study by Farrag et al. [10] suggested that surgical menopause obtained with oophorectomy before the natural onset of menopause may result in a more negative symptom manifestation when compared to oophorectomy after the menopause transition is completed.

# 18.7 Symptoms and Consequence

# 18.7.1 Mood Disorders and Depression

Mood disorders are the second leading cause of disability in developed countries, affecting over 350 million people worldwide without distinction of sex, age, and social status.

Epidemiologic data suggest two different incidence and prevalence peaks of depressive symptoms in women: the first at 40s and the second between 55 and 64 years, following the trend of menopause transition. During this period, the risk of developing mood disorders is greater the more the woman is exposed to sex hormone fluctuations rather than to their decline. Since perimenopause can last for several years, the risk of developing depression increases over time as the transition is longer [11]. Furthermore the Mayo Clinic Cohort Study of Oophorectomy and Aging by Rocca et al. asserts that mono- or bilateral oophorectomy before the onset of menopause can cause a major risk of anxiety symptoms, standing for a risk factor for depression.

Underlying all these modifications are some emerging hypotheses such as the reduction of neurosteroids and the expression of high serum MKP-1 levels.

Low circulating allopregnanolone levels (caused by ovarian failure) could be responsible for depressive symptoms in vulnerable women since they determine a consequent reduced synthesis of GABA-A receptor in specific brain areas deputed to mood and emotional control [12].

Ling-yun et al. [13] find a correlation between high serum MKP-1 (a protein that inactivate mitogen-activated protein kinase MAKP-1), low serum levels of brain neurotrophic derived factor (BDNF), and depression. However more studies need to be elaborated.

Moreover vasomotor symptoms represent an index of increased prevalence of mood disorders that can be studied in the late reproductive years. Indeed, Boulant et al. [14] confirm this association describing an increased number of hot flushes episodes in women with severe depressive symptoms rather than in those without mood alterations. In addition, general data support the fact that high levels of anxiety correlate with more severe and frequent vasomotor symptoms.

Finally as glucose is fundamental for brain metabolism, a decrease in its blood concentration and consumption in the hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus, and temporal lobe, shown by 18F-FDG\_PET images, may have a plausible role in mood disorders [15].

# 18.8 Alzheimer Disease

Alzheimer disease, one of the major neurodegenerative causes of dementia, mostly affects women (16.7% versus 9.1% for men). This is confirmed by several evidences which show the influence of sex hormone fluctuation on brain changes during women aging. The transition from pre-menopause to menopause may represent the crucial time frame in which the metabolically active and healthy status of the female brain switches to a hypometabolic and oxidative state.

Short et al. [16], studying gonadotrophin levels in Alzheimer postmenopausal women, prove the relation between increased production of amyloid- $\beta$  and high levels of FSH and LH. Indeed, the use of leuprolide acetate reduces the plaque formation blocking FSH and LH release.

Long et al. [17], testing neuronal mitochondria, suggest that the reduction of ER  $\beta$  expression in the mitochondria associated with a consequent increase in oxidative stress may play an important role in Alzheimer disease in women.

Many other studies on apolipoprotein E (APOE), a protein responsible for the transport of lipids in the blood, show that its expression is stimulated in specific brain areas dedicated to learning and memory including the hippocampus and cortex by interactions between  $17\beta$ -estradiol and ERs. In particular, increasing evidence indicates that the link between APOE4 and Alzheimer disease is far more prominent in women, suggesting that female sex hormones play a role in modulating the effect of this protein in the development of this neurodegenerative disorder.

Finally, data like the one by Brinton et al. [18] demonstrate a significantly reduced risk for the development of Alzheimer in women who start estrogen therapy immediately after menopause, while this benefit disappears and turns into adverse effect if therapy is taken years later after menopause.

# 18.9 Sleep Disruption

Sleep disturbances are one of the major complaints of women during climacterium because of their impact on the quality of life, mood, productivity, and general physical health. Specifically, as for brain functions, multiple studies show the correlation between sleep deprivation and reduced hippocampus and parietal gray matter volume, causing decreased memory, cognitive impairment, and increased risk of β-amyloid accumulation [19]. The biological mechanism underlying sleep difficulties is still unclear; however, the suprachiasmatic nucleus may have a relevant role, thanks to its ER  $\beta$  expressions which follows a diurnal rhythm [20]. Furthermore lower levels of inhibin B, which represent a marker for early menopausal transition, can be used to predict poor sleep quality. Instead, the same marker role in late menopausal transition and in postmenopause is described by high urinary FSH levels. As confirmed, the FSH increase is associated with longer sleep duration, indicative of less restful and non-REM sleep [21]. Moreover, the Penn Ovarian Aging Study 8 asserts that the decrease in sex hormone levels is associated with worse sleep quality and more severe sleep problems such as obstructive sleep apnea (considering the respiratory-stimulating properties of progesterone).

# 18.10 Thermoregulation

Hot flushes are one of the characteristic symptoms of perimenopause, affecting about 80% of women, with an average duration of about 7 years. They are described as sudden increases in body temperature associated with profuse sweating and redness mainly of the upper body, followed by dissipation within seconds to minutes. The frequency and severity of such episodes can affect the woman's lifestyle, leading in some cases to stress, anxiety, and drowsiness [22]. Behind this there is the thermoregulatory center, located in the hypothalamus and more specifically in the anterior nucleus and the adjacent preoptic area regions. As the temperature varies from the baseline, endocrine production initiates control mechanisms to increase or decrease energy production/dissipation as needed to return to the initial temperature. Thermoregulatory dysfunctions can be associated with alteration of the noradrenergic and serotoninergic pathways that occur during estrogen level fluctuations. As a matter of fact, the progressive reduction of vasomotor system during menopausal transition indicates a readjustment of the brain to the different sex hormone concentrations. Despite the certain role of the hypothalamus, new theories have been proposed. A hypothesis deriving from RMN studies of brain functions suggests a control of thermoregulation also at subcortical level, showing an activation of the insula and anterior cingulate cortex during hot flushes [23]. Another finding is the association between thermoregulatory dysfunction and low brain glucose metabolism highlighted by 18F-FDG PET. As confirmed, in the SWAN study, the rising of hot flushes frequency is related to a simultaneous increase in fasting blood glucose and HOMA index. Finally other factors play a role in this scenario:

low levels of adiponectin, high levels of leptin, and cytokine monocyte chemotactic protein 1 indicating a strong association with impaired glucose homeostasis in perimenopausal women [14].

# 18.11 Migraine

Headache is one of the relatively common symptoms that occurs during menopause, increasing in peri- and decreasing in postmenopausal period. It tends to be more frequent for menopausal women who experienced premenstrual migraine during fertile years; however, its prevalence is stable at between 10 and 29% [24]. Migraine in women is usually caused by the abrupt decline in estrogen levels that occurs both before menses and during menopausal transition. In fact, several findings confirm the importance of areas such as hippocampus and prefrontal cortex rich in ERs, in influencing electrical excitability and neurotransmission, thanks to the release of neurotransmitters and neuropeptides. Emerging data suggest that the typical pulsing pain reported could be exacerbated by changes in estradiol levels in the brain that induce an inflammatory neurogenic state and determine vasodilatation and plasma extravasation [25].

In this scenario, the age at the onset of menopause represents a critic parameter that impacts differently cognitive outcomes, influencing hormone therapy efficacy, and for this reason it has to be examined in depth in future researches.

# 18.12 Imaging of the Menopause

Increasing evidence for hormone-dependent modification of function and behavior during the menstrual cycle leads to research of the corresponding data from neuroimaging. The study conducted by Hagemann et al. [26], using MRI to investigate brain volume changes connected to estrogens in fertile women, asserts that there is an increase in gray matter volume and a decrease in cerebrospinal fluid between the luteal and periovulatory phases, while no changes are detected in white matter volume. The hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus, fusiform gyrus, cingulate cortex, insula, middle frontal gyrus, thalamus, and cerebellum are areas found to have a hormone structural plasticity. In these regions, estrogen seems to have trophic effects.

Goto et al. [27], using the same technique and comparing neurological volume changes in premenopausal vs. postmenopausal women, show a significant decline in hippocampal volume in the second group of studies rather than the first.

Thanks to MRI and PET, Kantarci et al. [28] studied the effects of oral conjugated equine estrogen (oCEE, Premarin 0.45 mg/dL), transdermal 17 $\beta$ -estradiol (tE2, Climara 50 µg/day), and placebo therapy within 3–36 months after the onset of menopause. This study leads to a major finding: no difference is detected in global brain volumes and cognitive function between mHT group (tE2 or oCEE) and placebo group 3 years after the exposure to mHT. However, during those first 3 years, white matter hyperintensity volume increases in the oCEE group more than in placebo and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex volumes are preserved (and correlated with lower global cortical  $\beta$ -amyloid deposition) in the tE2 group more than in the placebo. Furthermore, PET images show a correlation between the lower PiB uptake (i.e.,  $\beta$ -amyloid deposition) and the preservation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex volume in the tE2 group (but not in the oCEE group). The subsequent normalization of changes in brain structure after the cessation of mHT confirms the transient mHT effects and the difference in all formulations.

# 18.13 Hormonal Treatment and the Brain

Studies on the effects of postmenopausal hormone treatment on cognitive functions are still not conclusive; however, new evidences suggest that cognitive effects are influenced by specific hormone formulations [29]. The KEEPS Cog study analyzing the efficacy of oral conjugated equine estrogen and transdermal estradiol suggests the second formulation to have a more effective action on cognitive function in peri- and early menopausal women. In general, more positive cognitive effects have been identified with the single estrogen therapy rather than the one combined with progestin. For example, the combination of equine estrogen with medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) may not have the same positive effects of estrogen alone because of the MPA neutralizing activity. In addition, the new common trend leads to think that progestins and progesterone have no the same influence on neurobiological mechanisms of cognitive function and that progesterone is probably more beneficial and less dangerous than its synthetic counterparts. As confirmed, verbal ability appears to be negatively influenced by progestins, while those formulations with less antiestrogenic effects seem to have neutral or positive impact on benefits conferred by estradiol treatment. Moreover neurotrophic and neuroprotective progesterone actions are well known in animal models (i.e., modifying hippocampus response, reducing cell inflammation, protecting from traumatic brain injury and cerebral ischemia) so that it gives the input to examine in depth its potential effects on women postmenopausal cognition.

A study conducted by Berent-Spillson et al. [30] demonstrates the association between both estrogen or progesterone treatments and activation of verbal processing and encoding. In particular these treatments are found to be in association with an increase in number of words remembered, while only progesterone is related to visual memory task. These results are aligned with the general evidence that menopausal estrogen treatment increases prefrontal activation and cognitive processes, thanks to mechanisms like modulation of interactions with neurotransmitter systems, growth factors, and dendritic spine density. Although much more data needs to be collected, the general evidence is that estrogen treatment has positive effect on neurological activity exclusively in the initial period after the cessation of the menstrual cycle or immediately following surgical menopause, while it has deleterious effects in older women.

#### 18.14 Prospective

Having laid the foundations of neurobiological and hormonal changes and their correlation with menopause encourages us to elucidate molecular mechanisms, cognitive pathways, and homeostasis as aging occurs. This will yield insight into how and when the brain responds to endogenous hormone changes as well as to exogenous hormone treatment. Moreover, it will permit to develop new opportunities for menopausal women that not only solve undesirable symptoms but also potentially prevent, attenuate, or postpone cognitive and affective changes. One interesting target would be focusing on receptor dynamics and synaptic regulation rather than on circulating estrogen and progesterone levels, in the way to develop more successful treatments.

Another finding that needs to be more investigated is the differential effect of natural versus surgical menopause. In fact several studies suggest that the abrupt loss of estrogens induced by oophorectomy/ovariectomy in humans produces a more severe consequence in cognitive and synaptic health than what happens with the gradual loss of estrogens in natural menopause. These differences may suggest distinct treatment regimens more efficacious for each condition.

In conclusion, more detailed investigations are required to develop more specific and effective interventions tailoring the treatments to each woman's need.

# References

- Vega JN, Zurkovsky L, Albert K, Melo A, Boyd B, Dumas J, et al. Altered brain connectivity in early postmenopausal women with subjective cognitive impairment. Front Neurosci. 2016;10:433.
- 2. Foster TC. Role of estrogen receptor alpha and beta expression and signaling on cognitive function during aging. Hippocampus. 2012;22:656–69.
- Daniel JM, Witty CF, Rodgers SP. Long-term consequences of estrogens administered in midlife on female cognitive aging. Horm Behav. 2015;74:77–85.
- 4. Hara Y, Waters EM, McEwen BS, Morrison JH. Estrogen effects on cognitive and synaptic health over the life course. Physiol Rev. 2015;95(3):785–807.
- Gonzalez M, Cabrera-Socorro A, Perez-Garcia CG, Fraser JD, Lopez FJ, Alonso R, et al. Distribution patterns of estrogen receptor alpha and beta in the human cortex and hippocampus during development and adulthood. J Comp Neurol. 2007;503:790–802.
- Bomberg J, Schott LL, Kraviz H, Sowers MF, Avis NE, Gold EB, et al. Longitudinal change in reproductive hormones and depressive symptoms across the menopausal transition results from the study of women's health across the nation (SWAN). Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010;67(6):598–607.
- Giannini A, Gennazzani AR, Simoncini T. Management of symptoms during the menopausal transition. In: Frontiers in gynecological endocrinology. Ovarian function and reproduction—from needs to possibilities. ISGE Series. Vol 3(19). New York: Springer; 2014. p. 161–7.
- Farrag AF, Khedr EM, Abdel-Aleem H, Rageh TA. Effects of surgical menopause on cognitive functions. Dement Geritar Cogn Disord. 2002;13:193–8.
- Fogle RH, Stanczyk FZ, Zhang X, Paulson RJ. Ovarian androgen production in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(8):3040–3.

- Avis NE, Brambilla D, McKinlay SM, Vass K. A longitudinal analysis of the association between menopause and depression. Results from the Massachusetts Women's Health Study. Ann Epidemiol. 1994;4(3):214–20.
- Hui L, Wang Y, Zhou F, Ma X, Yan R, Zhang L, et al. Association between MKP-1, BDNF, and gonadal hormones with depression on perimenopausal women. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2016;25(1):71–7.
- 12. Boulant JA. Role of the preoptic-anterior hypothalamus in thermoregulation and fever. Clin Infect Dis. 2000;31(Suppl 5):S157–61.
- 13. Kenna H, et al. Fasting plasma insulin and the default mode network in women at risk for Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2013;34:641–9.
- 14. Short RA, Bowen RL, O'Brien PC, Graff-Radford NR. Elevated gonadotropin levels in patients with Alzheimer disease. Mayo Clin Proc. 2001;76(9):906–9.
- Long J, He P, Shen Y, Li R. New evidence of mitochondria dysfunction in the female Alzheimer's disease brain: deficiency of estrogen receptor-beta. J Alzheimers Dis. 2012;30:545–58.
- Brinton RD. Investigative models for determining hormone therapy-induced outcomes in brain: evidence in support of a healthy cell bias of estrogen action. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1052:57–74.
- Ju YE, Lucey BP, Holtzman DM. Sleep and Alzheimer disease pathology-a bidirectional relationship. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10:115–9.
- Brinton RD, Yao J, Yin F, Mack WJ, Cadenas E. Perimenopause as a neurological transition state. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11:393–405.
- 19. Sowers MF, Zheng H, Kravitz HM, et al. Sex steroid hormone profiles are related to sleep measures from polysomnography and the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Sleep. 2008;31(10):1339–49.
- 20. Avis NE, et al. Change in health-related quality of life over the menopausal transition in a multiethnic cohort of middle-aged women: Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Menopause. 2009;16:860–9.
- Freedman RR, Benton MD, Genik RJ, Graydon FX. Cortical activation during menopausal hot flashes. Fertil Steril. 2006;85:674–8.
- 22. Thurston RC, Chang Y, Mancuso P, Matthews KA. Adipokines, adiposity, and vasomotor symptoms during the menopause transition: findings from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Fertil Steril. 2013;100:793–800.
- Monteleone P, Mascagni G, Giannini A, Genazzani AR, Simoncini T. Symptoms of menopause—global prevalence, physiology and implications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018;14(4):199–215.
- 24. Hagemann G, Ugur T, Schleussner E, Mentzel HJ, Fitzek C, Witte OW, Gaser C. Changes in brain size during the menstrual cycle. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e14655.
- Goto M, Abe O, Miyati T, Inano S, Hayashi N, Aoki S, et al. 3 Tesla MRI detects accelerated hippocampal volume reduction in postmenopausal women. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2011;33(1):48–53.
- Kantarci K, Tosakulwong N, Lesnick TG, Zuk SM, Lowe VJ, Fields JA, et al. Brain structure and cognition 3 years after the end of an early menopausal hormone therapy trial. Neurology. 2018;90(16):e1404–12.
- Tschanz JT, Norton MC, Zandi PP, Lyketsos CG. The cache county study on memory in aging: factors affecting risk of Alzheimer's disease and its progression after onset. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2013;25(6):673–85.
- Gleason CE, Dowling NM, Wharton W, Manson JE, Miller VM, Atwood CS, et al. Effects of hormone therapy on cognition and mood in recently postmenopausal women: findings from the randomized, controlled KEEPS cognitive and affective study. PLoS Med. 2015;12(6):e1001833.
- Brinton RD, Nilsen J. Effects of estrogen plus progestin on risk of dementia. J Am Med Assoc. 2003;290:1706.
- Berent-Spillson A, Briceno E, Pinsky A, Simmen A, Persad CC, Zubieta J, et al. Distinct cognitive effects of estrogen and progesterone in menopausal women. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;59:25–36.



# 19

# Vasomotor Symptoms: Clinical Management

# Maria Celeste Osorio-Wender and Mona Lúcia Dall'Agno

Vasomotor symptoms (VMS) or "hot flashes" are the most common complaint during the menopausal transition, occurring in up to 80% of women, with approximately 33% experiencing more than ten episodes per day [1, 2]. Despite the high prevalence, only a minor seek medical attention for treatment.

The pathophysiology of the hot flash is not fully understood and is likely related to multiple factors. Changes in reproductive hormones and in thermoregulatory mechanisms are involved. The thermoregulatory zone is narrowed and becomes more sensitive to subtle changes in core body temperature. Small increases in temperature trigger thermoregulatory mechanisms causing the sensation of a hot flash (vasodilatation, sweating, and decreased skin resistance) [1, 3]. They affect quality of life (QoL) and appear to be associated with adverse health outcomes including cardiovascular, bone, and brain health [4]. VMS may also interfere with sleep and cause chronic sleep disruption [1, 5].

Symptoms are progressive during the menopausal transition until early postmenopausal stage and can last 7.4 years. Women who experience early VMS have the longer total duration: 11.8 years being that 9.4 years is after the final menstrual period (FMP) [6].

Frequency, duration, and severity of symptoms appear to vary by culture and ethnicity. African American women reported the most vasomotor symptoms, and Asian women reported the fewest symptoms compared with other groups in a study that assessed menopause symptoms in a large sample of women with diverse ethnic backgrounds [6].

The management of VMS is based on the symptoms' intensity and frequency and the women's medical history and personal choice. Usually, the

M. C. Osorio-Wender (🖂) · M. L. Dall'Agno

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia, Grupo de Pesquisa Climatério e Menopausa, Serviço de Ginecologia e Obstetrícia, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil e-mail: mwender@hcpa.edu.br

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_19

pharmacological treatments are used for women with moderate to severe hot flashes (symptoms that interfere with usual activities or usual activities cannot be performed).

# 19.1 Non-pharmacological Treatments

# 19.1.1 Behavioral Measures

Besides the lack of data from well-structured clinical trials, these behavioral measures are recommended. These measures help the core body temperature not to increase and not to initiate mechanisms to dissipate heat [7].

Higher temperatures are triggers for vasomotor symptoms, and identifying that is recommended [8, 9]. Also it is recommended avoiding spicy foods and stressful situations, alcohol intake, hot foods, or liquids [8].

Although other lifestyle changes, like performing aerobic physical exercises, yoga practice, or weight loss, have beneficial effects on several aspects of the physical and psychological health of the individual, they are not yet supported by high-quality evidence for improving VMS [8, 10, 11].

#### 19.1.2 Other Techniques

Other potential options may include cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR), relaxation, paced respiration, hypnosis, and vitamin E.

CBT effectively reduced the impact of VMS by an average of 50% after 8 h of group CBT or self-help CBT with benefits maintained at 6 months. Improvements in QoL are more expressive in individuals who experienced group CBT. The frequency of night sweats reduced subjectively and objectively in healthy women who underwent CBT [12, 13]. This technique is recommended for management of hot flashes [8].

Current evidence does not support the efficacy of MBSR for VMS [9, 14]. There is insufficient evidence to recommend relaxation techniques [14, 15]. Paced breathing was previously recommended but has been found to be ineffective [9].

Hypnosis is recommended for treatment supported by randomized controlled trials [8, 16]. The mean reduction in hot flash score was 18.83 (80.32%) for the clinical hypnosis intervention compared with 3.53 (15.38%) for controls (P < 0.001; 95% CI 12.60–17.54) [8, 16].

The improvement superior to placebo for VMS in some pilot studies using vitamin E has been suggested. It was tested in a study with women treated for breast cancer, with a marginal reduction when compared with placebo (mean of 1 less episode/day). At the dose of 800 international units (IU)/day, it is well tolerated and not associated with toxicity [17].

Some preliminary data suggest that stellate ganglion blockade (SGB), by local injection of anesthetic into the sympathetic nerve fibers of the neck, may reduce vasomotor symptoms in women with contraindications to HT. This is an invasive and costly procedure, and more evidence is needed [7, 8].

Initial evidence suggests that transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) showed a trend in VMS improvement. Complementary data are needed [18].

#### 19.1.3 Alternative Techniques

#### 19.1.3.1 Acupuncture

Several studies have been conducted to assess the effectiveness of acupuncture for the management of VMS with contradictory results [8, 19–23]. A systematic review published in 2017 concluded that acupuncture was more effective than no treatment [21]. Comparison with hormonal therapy with estrogen (HT) found that acupuncture was less effective than HT for hot flash frequency [8, 20].

#### 19.1.3.2 Phytoestrogens

Phytoestrogens are found naturally in foods. Its chemical structure is compared with intrinsic estradiol, acting as an estrogen agonist or antagonist. This occurs with respect to the type of estrogen receptor present in various tissues [24].

*Isoflavone* components genistein and daidzein are found in soy products that bind to estrogen receptors and have both estrogen agonist and antagonist properties. Soy supplementation with soy foods or soy extracts, including derivatives and metabolites, has been extensively studied, and there's no conclusive evidence to be more effective than placebo for VMS treatment [25–27]. Their safety are not established. Some limitations are the uncontrolled manufacturing process with resulting variability in composition and poor quality studies [8].

*Black cohosh (Actaea racemosa* L.—previously *Cimicifuga racemosa)* active compounds are unknown, as well as the mechanisms of action. After 23 weeks of black cohosh or placebo use, there was no significant difference in VMS treatment in perimenopausal or postmenopausal women [28]. There is insufficient evidence to support its use—and safety—for menopausal symptoms [8].

Other herbal treatments that have been studied for VMS include ginseng, St. John's wort, *Ginkgo biloba*, *Trifolium pratense* (red clover), maca, and dong quai (*Angelica polymorpha*). However, the overall quality of evidence for these therapies is poor. Despite the "natural" appeal, there is no data that phytoestrogens are proven to be superior to placebo in most well-designed studies, and, little is known about their safety, particularly in women with contraindication to hormone therapy (HT). Current evidence from randomized controlled trials does not support specific diet regimens such as plant-based diets or supplementations for the management of VMS [7–9, 24].

# 19.2 Pharmacological Treatments

# 19.2.1 Hormonal Treatment

# 19.2.1.1 Hormone Therapy

Systemic HT, with estrogen alone or in combination with progestogen, is the most effective therapy for vasomotor symptoms related to menopause [4, 29]. HT was found to reduce VMS frequency in 75% (IC: 64%–82%) and symptom severity in 87% (RR: 0.13; IC95%: 0.27) [30].

The candidates for HT are symptomatic women, younger than 60 years or who are within 10 years of FMP. The therapy should be individualized, taking into account the potential benefits and risks. The lowest dose that offers relief should be used, since it may have lower risks and may reduce the adverse events such as breast tenderness and vaginal bleeding [4, 29].

The association of estrogen and progestogen is required for the endometrial protection in women with a uterus [4, 29].

# 19.2.1.2 Combination of Selective Estrogen-Receptor Modulator (SERM)/Estrogen: TSEC

Bazedoxifene is a SERM that in combination with an estrogen results in a tissueselective estrogen complex (TSEC). This class of drug is available for the treatment of VMS and osteoporosis prevention [4]. The association of bazedoxifene and conjugated equine estrogen (CEE) has estrogen agonist effects on bone, antagonist effects on the endometrium, and apparently neutral effects on breast. It promotes a decrease in the incidence of hot flashes with no increased risk of endometrial hyperplasia, without the need for a progestogen. It has also been associated with a lower incidence of breast pain and tenderness than other therapies. In addition, breast density does not increase [31, 32].

The combination of bazedoxifene with CEE is indicated for women with moderate to severe VMS who have breast tenderness with estrogen-progestin therapy or for women who cannot tolerate oral progestin therapy [4].

# 19.2.1.3 Tibolone

Tibolone is a synthetic steroid with tissue-specific estrogenic and progestogenic effects and appears to have a beneficial effect on bone density, vasomotor symptoms, and vaginal symptoms without estrogenic effects on the uterus [33, 34].

Tibolone is not FDA-approved and is not available in the United States.

# 19.2.1.4 Compounded Bioidentical Hormones

Bioidentical hormones are substances that are chemically similar or structurally identical to those produced by the body. Most compounded preparations have not undergone any rigorous clinical testing for either safety or efficacy, so the purity, potency, and quality of compounded preparations are a concern. There are no controlled trials which support claims for better efficacy and safety concerns.

Data do not support the use of progestin-only medications, testosterone, or compounded bioidentical hormones for the treatment of vasomotor symptoms [4, 7, 24, 29].

# 19.2.2 Nonhormonal Treatments

There are some options for women with moderate to severe VMS who are not candidates or don't want to use hormone therapy. It also can be tried in women who experience recurrent hot flashes after stopping HT.

The choice will depend whether the patient is taking tamoxifen, the pattern of hot flashes, and the presence of a mood disorder or sleep problem.

#### 19.2.2.1 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs)/ Serotonin-Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors (SNRIs)

Although paroxetine 7.5 mg/day is the only nonhormonal medication approved by the FDA for treatment of moderate to severe VMS of menopause, other SSRIs, SNRIs, and others show evidence of efficacy. SSRIs and SNRIs are the most effective nonhormonal pharmacologic alternatives, demonstrated in placebo-controlled trials and meta-analysis [8, 9, 35, 36].

Some drugs have been tested and have shown some degree of efficacy in symptomatic women. Although no head-to-head trials have been performed, indirect comparisons suggest that paroxetine [35, 37, 38], venlafaxine [39-41], desvenlafaxine [42–45], citalopram [46], and escitalopram [47, 48] have a similar benefit for hot flashes. These drugs appear to be equally effective [36].

These medications increases the levels of serotonin and norepinephrine, both implicated in the origin of hot flashes. The clinical response is rapidly observed, usually in 2 weeks, and is associated with mild to moderate improvements in symptomatic postmenopausal women. Reduction in hot flash frequency varies from 25 to 69% and severity from 27 to 61%. There's no difference between the responses in women with surgical or natural menopause [8]. Suggested dose of SSRI and SNRI for hot flash treatment is expressed in Table 19.1.

There's no consistent evidence to use fluoxetine and sertraline to hot flash treatment [35, 49–53].

Besides that, the use of paroxetine or fluoxetine is not recommended to treat hot flashes in women who use tamoxifen. These drugs may interfere with the

Table 19.1         Suggested           dosing of SSRI and SNRI for           hot flash therapy	Drug	Suggested dose (mg/day)	
	Paroxetine salt	7.5	
	Paroxetine	10-25	
	Escitalopram	10-20	
	Citalopram	10-20	
	Desvenlafaxine	100–150	
	Venlafaxine	37.5–150	

Modified from the North American Menopause Society [8]

Table 19.2         Suggested           gabapentin and pregabalin         doses for hot flash therapy	Drug	Suggested dose (mg/day)	
	Gabapentin	900–2400	
	Pregabalin	150–300	

Modified from the North American Menopause Society [8]

metabolism of tamoxifen by inhibiting cytochrome CYP 3A and CYP 2D6 reducing the effect of treatment of breast cancer [54].

# 19.2.2.2 Gabapentin and Pregabalin

Gabapentin is an antiepileptic drug whose action seems to involve a direct effect on the hypothalamus. Although it's used for neuropathy and neuralgia, some evidences have shown improvement in frequency and severity of hot flashes at 900 mg/day [8, 9, 35, 36, 55–57].

Gabapentin, SSRIs, and SNRIs have similar effects to reduce the VMS [58]. Gabapentin may be an option in some women whose hot flashes are primarily at night, interrupting sleep (because drowsiness can be an adverse event). Other adverse events include dizziness and unsteadiness, mainly at first week. Higher doses seem to be as effective as estrogen, but adverse events limit the use [8]. Suggested dose of gabapentin and pregabalin for hot flash treatment is expressed in Table 19.2.

Also there's evidence that pregabalin is effective for treatment of hot flashes [59].

# 19.2.2.3 Clonidine

Clonidine is an alfa-adrenergic agonist, with antihypertensive action. The decrease of VMS occurs by the reduction of central and peripheral vascular reactivity but is less effective than SSRIs, SNRIs, gabapentin, and pregabalin [9, 35].

The use is limited by security and adverse events of hypotension, dry mouth, sedation, dizziness, and constipation.

# 19.2.2.4 Sulpiride

Sulpiride is an atypical neuroleptic that can act on serotonin receptors in low doses. Originally, it is known that this drug has clinical positive effects on schizophrenia and for mood spectrum disorder treatment.

One pilot clinical trial comparing sulpiride 50 mg/day versus placebo results in improvement of frequency of hot flashes after 4–8 weeks, with minimal adverse events [60].

# 19.3 Conclusions

VMS are the most common complaint during the menopausal transition and postmenopausal women.

The management of hot flashes is individualized and based on symptom's intensity and frequency and women's medical history and personal choice. The aim is to promote QoL offering evidence-based information and safety and effective treatments, when needed.

# References

- Thurston RC, Joffe H. Vasomotor symptoms and menopause: findings from the Study of Women's Health across the Nation. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2011;38(3):489–501.
- Blümel JE, Chedraui P, Baron G, Belzares E, Bencosme A, Calle A, et al. A large multinational study of vasomotor symptom prevalence, duration, and impact on quality of life in middleaged women. Menopause. 2011;18(7):778–85.
- 3. Freedman RR. Menopausal hot flashes: mechanisms, endocrinology, treatment. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2014;142:115–20.
- The NAMS 2017 Hormone Therapy Position Statement Advisory Panel. The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2017;24(7):728–53.
- Kravitz HM, Joffe H. Sleep during the perimenopause: a SWAN story. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2011;38(3):567–86.
- Avis NE, Crawford SL, Greendale G, Bromberger JT, Everson-Rose SA, Gold EB, et al. Duration of menopausal vasomotor symptoms over the menopause transition. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(4):531–9.
- ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 141: management of menopausal symptoms. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(1):202–16.
- Nonhormonal management of menopause-associated vasomotor symptoms: 2015 position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2015;22(11):1155–72; quiz 73–4.
- Hickey M, Szabo RA, Hunter MS. Non-hormonal treatments for menopausal symptoms. BMJ. 2017;359:j5101.
- Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Thomas A, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(11):CD006108.
- Cramer H, Peng W, Lauche R. Yoga for menopausal symptoms-a systematic review and metaanalysis. Maturitas. 2018;109:13–25.
- 12. Mann E, Smith MJ, Hellier J, Balabanovic JA, Hamed H, Grunfeld EA, et al. Cognitive behavioural treatment for women who have menopausal symptoms after breast cancer treatment (MENOS 1): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(3):309–18.
- Ayers B, Smith M, Hellier J, Mann E, Hunter MS. Effectiveness of group and self-help cognitive behavior therapy in reducing problematic menopausal hot flushes and night sweats (MENOS 2): a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2012;19(7):749–59.
- 14. Goldstein KM, Shepherd-Banigan M, Coeytaux RR, McDuffie JR, Adam S, Befus D, et al. Use of mindfulness, meditation and relaxation to treat vasomotor symptoms. Climacteric. 2017;20(2):178–82.
- 15. Saensak S, Vutyavanich T, Somboonporn W, Srisurapanont M. Relaxation for perimenopausal and postmenopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(7):CD008582.
- 16. Elkins GR, Fisher WI, Johnson AK, Carpenter JS, Keith TZ. Clinical hypnosis in the treatment of postmenopausal hot flashes: a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2013;20(3):291–8.
- Barton DL, Loprinzi CL, Quella SK, Sloan JA, Veeder MH, Egner JR, et al. Prospective evaluation of vitamin E for hot flashes in breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(2):495–500.
- Bianchi MS, Ferreira CF, Fregni F, Schestatsky P, Caumo W, Wender MCO. Transcranial direct current stimulation effects on menopausal vasomotor symptoms. Menopause. 2017;24(10):1122–8.
- 19. Lee MS, Shin BC, Ernst E. Acupuncture for treating menopausal hot flushes: a systematic review. Climacteric. 2009;12(1):16–25.
- 20. Dodin S, Blanchet C, Marc I, Ernst E, Wu T, Vaillancourt C, et al. Acupuncture for menopausal hot flushes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(7):CD007410.
- Ee C, French SD, Xue CC, Pirotta M, Teede H. Acupuncture for menopausal hot flashes: clinical evidence update and its relevance to decision making. Menopause. 2017;24(8):980–7.

- Taylor-Swanson L, Thomas A, Ismail R, Schnall JG, Cray L, Mitchell ES, et al. Effects of traditional Chinese medicine on symptom clusters during the menopausal transition. Climacteric. 2015;18(2):142–56.
- Befus D, Coeytaux RR, Goldstein KM, McDuffie JR, Shepherd-Banigan M, Goode AP, et al. Management of menopause symptoms with acupuncture: an umbrella systematic review and meta-analysis. J Altern Complement Med. 2018;24(4):314–23.
- Cobin RH, Goodman NF, Committee ARES. American association of clinical endocrinologists and American college of endocrinology position statement on menopause-2017 update. Endocr Pract. 2017;23(7):869–80.
- Lethaby A, Marjoribanks J, Kronenberg F, Roberts H, Eden J, Brown J. Phytoestrogens for menopausal vasomotor symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(12):CD001395.
- Chen MN, Lin CC, Liu CF. Efficacy of phytoestrogens for menopausal symptoms: a metaanalysis and systematic review. Climacteric. 2015;18(2):260–9.
- Society NAM. The role of soy isoflavones in menopausal health: report of The North American Menopause Society/Wulf H. Utian Translational Science Symposium in Chicago, IL (October 2010). Menopause. 2011;18(7):732–53.
- Leach MJ, Moore V. Black cohosh (Cimicifuga spp.) for menopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(9):CD007244.
- 29. Baber RJ, Panay N, Fenton A, Group IW. 2016 IMS recommendations on women's midlife health and menopause hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2016;19(2):109–50.
- Maclennan AH, Broadbent JL, Lester S, Moore V. Oral oestrogen and combined oestrogen/progestogen therapy versus placebo for hot flushes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(4):CD002978.
- Komm BS, Mirkin S. Incorporating bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens into the current paradigm of menopausal therapy. Int J Women's Health. 2012;4:129–40.
- 32. Lobo RA, Pinkerton JV, Gass ML, Dorin MH, Ronkin S, Pickar JH, et al. Evaluation of bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens for the treatment of menopausal symptoms and effects on metabolic parameters and overall safety profile. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(3):1025–38.
- Cummings SR, Ettinger B, Delmas PD, Kenemans P, Stathopoulos V, Verweij P, et al. The effects of tibolone in older postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(7):697–708.
- 34. Serati M, Uccella S, Bolis P. Tibolone in older postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(20):2173. author reply.
- Nelson HD, Vesco KK, Haney E, Fu R, Nedrow A, Miller J, et al. Nonhormonal therapies for menopausal hot flashes: systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2006;295(17):2057–71.
- Rada G, Capurro D, Pantoja T, Corbalán J, Moreno G, Letelier LM, et al. Non-hormonal interventions for hot flushes in women with a history of breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;(9):CD004923.
- 37. Stearns V, Beebe KL, Iyengar M, Dube E. Paroxetine controlled release in the treatment of menopausal hot flashes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2003;289(21):2827–34.
- Stearns V, Slack R, Greep N, Henry-Tilman R, Osborne M, Bunnell C, et al. Paroxetine is an effective treatment for hot flashes: results from a prospective randomized clinical trial. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(28):6919–30.
- Loprinzi CL, Kugler JW, Sloan JA, Mailliard JA, LaVasseur BI, Barton DL, et al. Venlafaxine in management of hot flashes in survivors of breast cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2000;356(9247):2059–63.
- Evans ML, Pritts E, Vittinghoff E, McClish K, Morgan KS, Jaffe RB. Management of postmenopausal hot flushes with venlafaxine hydrochloride: a randomized, controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;105(1):161–6.
- Carpenter JS, Storniolo AM, Johns S, Monahan PO, Azzouz F, Elam JL, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover trials of venlafaxine for hot flashes after breast cancer. Oncologist. 2007;12(1):124–35.
- 42. Archer DF, Seidman L, Constantine GD, Pickar JH, Olivier S. A double-blind, randomly assigned, placebo-controlled study of desvenlafaxine efficacy and safety for the treatment of vasomotor symptoms associated with menopause. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(2):172. e1–10.

- Bouchard P, Panay N, de Villiers TJ, Vincendon P, Bao W, Cheng RJ, et al. Randomized placebo- and active-controlled study of desvenlafaxine for menopausal vasomotor symptoms. Climacteric. 2012;15(1):12–20.
- 44. Pinkerton JV, Constantine G, Hwang E, Cheng RF, Investigators S. Desvenlafaxine compared with placebo for treatment of menopausal vasomotor symptoms: a 12-week, multicenter, parallel-group, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled efficacy trial. Menopause. 2013;20(1):28–37.
- 45. Pinkerton JV, Archer DF, Guico-Pabia CJ, Hwang E, Cheng RF. Maintenance of the efficacy of desvenlafaxine in menopausal vasomotor symptoms: a 1-year randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2013;20(1):38–46.
- 46. Barton DL, LaVasseur BI, Sloan JA, Stawis AN, Flynn KA, Dyar M, et al. Phase III, placebocontrolled trial of three doses of citalopram for the treatment of hot flashes: NCCTG trial N05C9. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(20):3278–83.
- 47. Freeman EW, Guthrie KA, Caan B, Sternfeld B, Cohen LS, Joffe H, et al. Efficacy of escitalopram for hot flashes in healthy menopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2011;305(3):267–74.
- Freedman RR, Kruger ML, Tancer ME. Escitalopram treatment of menopausal hot flashes. Menopause. 2011;18(8):893–6.
- 49. Loprinzi CL, Sloan JA, Perez EA, Quella SK, Stella PJ, Mailliard JA, et al. Phase III evaluation of fluoxetine for treatment of hot flashes. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(6):1578–83.
- Suvanto-Luukkonen E, Koivunen R, Sundström H, Bloigu R, Karjalainen E, Häivä-Mällinen L, et al. Citalopram and fluoxetine in the treatment of postmenopausal symptoms: a prospective, randomized, 9-month, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. Menopause. 2005;12(1):18–26.
- 51. Kimmick GG, Lovato J, McQuellon R, Robinson E, Muss HB. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study of sertraline (Zoloft) for the treatment of hot flashes in women with early stage breast cancer taking tamoxifen. Breast J. 2006;12(2):114–22.
- Gordon PR, Kerwin JP, Boesen KG, Senf J. Sertraline to treat hot flashes: a randomized controlled, double-blind, crossover trial in a general population. Menopause. 2006;13(4):568–75.
- Grady D, Cohen B, Tice J, Kristof M, Olyaie A, Sawaya GF. Ineffectiveness of sertraline for treatment of menopausal hot flushes: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;109(4):823–30.
- Desmarais JE, Looper KJ. Interactions between tamoxifen and antidepressants via cytochrome P450 2D6. J Clin Psychiatry. 2009;70(12):1688–97.
- Brown JN, Wright BR. Use of gabapentin in patients experiencing hot flashes. Pharmacotherapy. 2009;29(1):74–81.
- 56. Pandya KJ, Morrow GR, Roscoe JA, Zhao H, Hickok JT, Pajon E, et al. Gabapentin for hot flashes in 420 women with breast cancer: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;366(9488):818–24.
- Hayes LP, Carroll DG, Kelley KW. Use of gabapentin for the management of natural or surgical menopausal hot flashes. Ann Pharmacother. 2011;45(3):388–94.
- Bordeleau L, Pritchard KI, Loprinzi CL, Ennis M, Jugovic O, Warr D, et al. Multicenter, randomized, cross-over clinical trial of venlafaxine versus gabapentin for the management of hot flashes in breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(35):5147–52.
- Loprinzi CL, Qin R, Balcueva EP, Baclueva EP, Flynn KA, Rowland KM, et al. Phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled evaluation of pregabalin for alleviating hot flashes, N07C1. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(4):641–7.
- 60. Borba CM, Ferreira CF, Ferreira FV, Bianchi MS, Dall'Agno ML, Pérez-Lopez FR, et al. Sulpiride attenuates hot flashes: initial results from a randomized, double-blind clinical trial. 2019 (In preparation).



# Vasomotor Symptoms, Metabolic Syndrome, and Cardiovascular Risks

20

Pauliina Tuomikoski and Hanna Savolainen-Peltonen

# 20.1 Vasomotor Symptoms and Metabolic Syndrome

Although the majority of menopausal women suffer from vasomotor symptoms (VMS; hot flushes and night sweats), the underlying etiopathology behind them is not fully identified. However, the decrease in endogenous estrogens and an elevated central sympathetic tone, mediated through alpha-2 adrenergic receptors, have been associated with a narrowed thermoneutral zone in the thermoregulatory center in the brain possibly causing VMS [1]. Menopausal symptoms and their impact on the quality of life are described. Abundant data link metabolic disturbances to the activation of the sympathetic nervous system [2]. This is, in turn, associated with changes in blood pressure (BP) [3], dyslipidemia [4], and the development of insulin resistance [2], which all are components of the MetS. Although both VMS and MetS are linked to sympathetic overactivity, it is unclear whether VMS are an independent risk factor for MetS.

# 20.1.1 VMS and BP

Cross-sectional data on BP and VMS are mixed. For instance, one study found that in lean and healthy postmenopausal women, the more frequent the VMS, the lower the systolic BP [5]. Data on no association between VMS and BP [6] also exist. In

P. Tuomikoski (🖂)

University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Eira Hospital and Medical Center, Helsinki, Finland e-mail: pauliina.tuomikoski@eiransairaala.fi

H. Savolainen-Peltonen University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland e-mail: hanna.savolainen-peltonen@hus.fi

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_20

another study both systolic and diastolic BPs were significantly higher in menopausal women with VMS, when compared with asymptomatic women [7]. Of note, women with VMS and increased BP [7] were overweight with a mean BMI between 26 and 29 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. On the contrary, in studies [6, 7] showing lack of association, the women were lean (mean BMI  $\leq$ 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

The Study of Women's Health across the Nation (SWAN) is a large and ethnically diverse longitudinal study of the menopausal transition with long follow-up and 3302 women enrolled [8]. One of the reports from the SWAN study focuses on the association between VMS and BP [9]. In this study (n = 2839), data on VMS and BP was collected at each annual study visit, and mean follow-up was 8.2 years. Women with  $\geq 6$  days with VMS during the preceding 2 weeks had greater increases in diastolic BP over time than did asymptomatic women or those with less symptoms. Symptomatic women were also at an increased risk of developing prehypertension or hypertension during follow-up (hazard ratio of 1.39, 95% CI 1.09–1.79).

# 20.1.2 VMS and Lipids

As regards lipids, in the SWAN study [10], the presence and frequency of VMS after 8 years was associated with higher lipid and lipoprotein levels. Overall, good quality data on VMS and lipids seems scarce. In a recent pooled analysis [11], data on VMS and lipids consisted of only two studies. A larger number of studies were analyzed for night sweats, and the meta-analysis showed that night sweats were associated with significantly increased levels of total cholesterol (0.17 mmol/L, 95% CI 0.03–0.31) and LDL-cholesterol (mean difference: 0.07 mmol/L, 95% CI 0.01–0.13).

A Korean cross-sectional study on 1906 postmenopausal women with no current HT use addressed specifically the relation between VMS and MetS [12]. The study showed that women with VMS had a higher risk for MetS and that the relationship was stronger for women with a BMI over 25 (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.3–3.5).

According to a recent systematic review on VMS and metabolic health [13], many studies suffer from high heterogenicity and do not possess the quality to make definite conclusions. However, the majority of data point toward an unbeneficial association between VMS and BP and lipids, to name a few [11], and obesity may well be a factor that modulates these relations [14].

#### 20.1.3 VMS, Obesity, and Insulin Resistance

The prevalence of obesity is increasing steadily in the Western world, and this is in line with the growing incidence of MetS [15]. According to the World Health Organization statistics, the worldwide prevalence of obesity nearly doubled between 1980 and 2008. Excessive body weight and the related MetS are mutually related. Briefly, the hormonal changes in menopause are associated with an increase in total and abdominal adipose tissue [16–18], and these changes, together with estrogen deficiency, are well-known risk factors for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus, elevated BP, dyslipidemia, and MetS.

Both epidemiologic and longitudinal studies have linked obesity with postmenopausal VMS [19–22]. The mechanisms are by far not clear, but there is support for the idea that adipose tissue-derived adipokines may be one link between increased adiposity, metabolic disturbances, and VMS. Abdominal obesity is characterized with chronic low-grade inflammation of adipose tissue, which results in impaired adipokine secretion and metabolic dysregulation [23]. Adipokines have been shown to influence the central nervous system, the body temperature [24, 25], as well as sympathetic nerve activity [26]. In the SWAN study, higher odds of VMS in pre- and early perimenopause was related to an adverse adipokine profile [22].

Altered adipokine profile and an increased sympathetic nerve activity have been linked to impaired glucose metabolism as well [26]. However, there are conflicting data on the association between VMS and insulin resistance [14]. In some, but not all studies, elevated BMI explained the positive association between VMS and insulin resistance [27–30]. However, there is a growing number of data that links increased adiposity, adipokines, metabolic disturbances, and VMS in postmenopausal women.

# 20.2 Vasomotor Symptoms and Cardiovascular Disease

# 20.2.1 VMS and Subclinical CVD

Vascular aging, seen as endothelial dysfunction and development of subclinical atherosclerosis, increases the risk of later CVD. Studies on VMS, endothelial dysfunction, and subclinical atherosclerosis, some of them reviewed here, have yielded somewhat conflicting results.

Findings from the SWAN study point toward endothelial dysfunction and subclinical CVD in women with VMS. In a cross-sectional setting of the SWAN study (*n* = 432–492), women with VMS had poorer endothelial function assessed as brachial flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) [31]. Symptomatic women also had greater aortic calcification and greater carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) than asymptomatic women [32]. This effect was independent of traditional cardiovas-cular risk factors, hormone therapy (HT) use, or estradiol levels. Relation between VMS and CIMT was most pronounced in overweight and obese women and in women with persistent VMS. However, no association between symptom status and CIMT progression during a 2-year follow-up was found. A follow-up of the SWAN study [33] shows that long-lasting VMS that begin already in the early menopausal years are associated with a higher CIMT at approximately 59 years of age, when compared with women who traverse through menopause with a low frequency of VMS. Perhaps the longevity of symptoms may be of more significance than just the presence of them?

On the contrary, two studies on recently postmenopausal women with a low CVD risk profile found no adverse effect of VMS on vascular function [34], coronary artery calcification (CAC), or CIMT [35]. Both studies included only lean women; thus, obesity may indeed be a factor that modifies the risk profile associated with vasomotor symptoms. Also, the estrogen-only arm of the WHI trial shows contrasting results as regards CAC [36]. Women with a history of VMS had significantly reduced odds for CAC (OR 0.66, 95% CI 0.45-0.98) compared with women with no VMS. Moreover, estrogen therapy in women with VMS, initiated within 2 years from menopause, resulted in an even lower risk of CAC (OR 0.48, 0.26–0.89), indicating perhaps a more beneficial effect of estrogen therapy in women with VMS. This finding is supported by data from a randomized, placebocontrolled trial, which shows that in women with tolerable VMS or no VMS at all, oral estradiol led to unbeneficial vascular reactivity as assessed by pulse wave analysis and rises in BP. Women with intolerable VMS showed no unbeneficial effects of HT on vascular function, and BP actually decreased during the 6-month intervention [37].

# 20.2.2 VMS and CVD Outcomes

The exact mechanism by which VMS may affect risk factors for CVD is not known. In addition to risk factors, such as MetS and its components or endothelial dysfunction, researchers have also investigated whether presence of VMS influences clinical outcomes.

An Italian observational study [38] examined whether a history of VMS could affect the outcome of acute coronary syndrome (ACS). A total of 373 consecutive women undergoing coronary angiography due to ACS were followed for 1 year, and data on VMS history was gathered through questionnaires. Women with VMS at menopause were younger at the time of the ACS than asymptomatic women. However, the extent of calcifications at angiography or incidence of cardiovascular events, such as stroke or recurrent ACS at 1 year, did not differ between the groups. Of note, information on VMS was recalled, and the researchers were not able to adjust for possible confounding factors, so these results need to be interpreted cautiously.

A large (n = 11,725) Australian longitudinal population-based study [39] with a 14-year follow-up sought to elucidate whether there could be a difference between hot flushes or night sweats on the risk of incident CHD. The participants were surveyed for VMS and CHD events with repeated self-completed questionnaires at approximately 3-year intervals. Cause of death was confirmed from a national register. Menopause status, type (hot flushes or night sweats), and frequency of VMS and HT use were queried at every survey point. Adjusting for age, menopause status, and lifestyle and chronic disease factors revealed a similarly increased risk for developing CHD for women with frequent hot flushes (OR 1.70, 95% CI 1.16–2.51) or night sweats (OR 1.84, 95% CI 1.24–2.73). Of note, long duration of VMS did not further increase the risk of CHD in this population.

The data on VMS and CVD risk are not unanimous. As regards hard outcomes, an observational study found a decrease in all-cause mortality associated with VMS. The Rancho Bernardo study [40] included white middle- to upper-middle class women, and the researchers distinguished between hot flushes and night sweats instead of overall VMS. During the average 11.5-year follow-up, hot flushes alone were not associated with all-cause mortality, but in women with both hot flushes and night sweats, the risk of all-cause mortality was 28% lower compared with women without VMS. This finding was independent of body mass index, past or current use of estrogen or progestin, physical exercise, and smoking habit. The study included a very selected group of women, and of course, the findings cannot be directly extrapolated to women of other ethnic origins or other social classes.

The longevity of VMS and the cardiovascular effects of estrogen are of interest also when considering the discontinuation of HT. The mean duration of vasomotor symptoms is longer than previously thought, even up to 7–10 years [41]. On the other hand, many current guidelines recommend that HT should be used for the shortest possible time. Both epidemiological [42, 43] and clinical studies have shown an increased risk for overall mortality [44] and CVD outcomes [42, 45] after HT discontinuation. In a Finnish nationwide study, the risk increases were evident during the first post-HT year and significantly higher in women who were younger than 60 years of age at HT discontinuation [42, 43]. Although the mechanisms behind this finding are not known, one interesting possibility is the reoccurrence of VMS in women under 60 years of age at HT discontinuation, and an increased sympathetic activity, which could predispose some women to fatal arrhythmias [46]. Also, withdrawal of the vasodilatory effect of estrogen could lead to vasoconstriction and result in ischemia.

# 20.2.3 Timing of VMS and CVD Risk

Another piece in the puzzle is the possible impact of the timing of VMS on cardiovascular health. The HERS trial studied women with established CHD. For women with VMS (mean age at baseline 63 years), the risk of CHD events during the first year of HT was ninefold compared to those with no VMS (mean age at baseline 67 years) [47]. The observational arm of the WHI study (WHI-OS) [48], in turn, showed that VMS during menopausal transition did not associate with CVD, whereas women with VMS starting in their sixties or later were at increased risk for CHD, stroke, total CVD, and all-cause mortality, compared with women without a history of VMS. Of note, 44–55% of women in the WHI-OS were current HT users.

Also the Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) addressed the timing of VMS on CVD mortality and nonfatal events [49], and the findings are contradictory to those of HERS and WHI. The WISE study was a four-center prospective cohort study on women (n = 254, mean age 67 years) undergoing coronary angiography due to a suspicion of myocardial ischemia. Nonfatal events were unaffected by the VMS status, but women with early-onset VMS (before age 42) had three times higher CVD mortality risk than women with later-onset VMS (after age 42).

Interpretation of the findings is complicated by the fact that also women without VMS had an increased mortality risk when compared with women with later-onset VMS. Women with early-onset VMS had also a lower FMD than women with no or later-onset VMS. Of note, some of the women with early-onset VMS could perhaps suffer from premature ovarian insufficiency, which is an independent CVD risk. Moreover, women with early-onset VMS were obese, whereas women with later-onset VMS were only overweight (p < 0.05). Once again, obesity could play a role here.

# 20.3 Importance of VMS Measurement

Increasing attention has been given to how VMS are measured, and concerns have been raised that self-reported and recalled VMS may be subject to several biases [50–52]. Recent studies have utilized both objective and subjective methods to assess VMS [53, 54]. In two studies that assessed VMS and markers for subclinical CVD, the women (aged 40-60 years) recorded their VMS for 3 days in an electronic hot flush diary and a wrist actigraph and wore a physiologic hot flush monitor for 24 h. The median numbers of physiologically detected and self-reported hot flushes were 12 and 5, respectively, indicating that women do underreport their symptoms. The VMS data were compared to brachial artery FMD (n = 272) and CIMT (n = 295) measurements and controlled for common CVD risk factors. Age bore an impact on the association between physiologically monitored hot flush frequency and brachial FMD. Greater VMS frequency was associated with poorer FMD among women aged 40-53 years, when compared with older women. For this youngest tertile of women, VMS also accounted for the most variance in FMD. In this setting age did not affect CIMT, but women with  $\geq$ 4 self-reported VMS or with  $\geq$ 10 physiologically measured VMS had higher CIMT and more carotid plaque than non-flushers. The presence of carotid plaques was positively related to physiologically measured VMS only in women aged 54 or more.

Taken together, women may underreport their symptoms, which may enhance the importance of physiological measurements. Furthermore, different markers for CVD may show different temporal relations to VMS. Whether this in later life translates to clinical CVD, especially with early-onset, long-lasting VMS, needs to be determined.

# 20.4 Summary

Menopausal VMS are a form of neurovascular dysregulation, and they show a complex interplay with different risk factors for CVD. Current data point toward an increased risk of MetS and CVD in women with VMS. Thus, clinicians should consider screening their patients with VMS for MetS and CVD risk factors.

Majority of the studies are cross-sectional, and the presence and frequency of VMS is often recalled rather than observed. Furthermore, VMS may not have been

included in the original study protocol, and the power to detect differences may be low. Thus, we need studies specifically designed to investigate VMS, and future research needs focus on using also objective methods to assess what type of VMS is the most relevant as regards cardiovascular health.

As VMS may negatively affect the quality of life, the use of HT is often needed. Future research should also try to elucidate whether HT possibly reverses any unbeneficial effects of VMS. Some of the questions that still remain open are as follows: (1) if VMS indeed are a risk factor for CVD, should also mild symptoms be treated, and (2) due to the longevity of symptoms, and a possible adverse effect of the discontinuation of HT use in women under 60 years of age, should longer treatments be encouraged?

# References

- 1. Freedman RR. Menopausal hot flashes: mechanisms, endocrinology, treatment. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2014;142:115–20.
- Schlaich M, Straznicky N, Lambert E, Lambert G. Metabolic syndrome: a sympathetic disease? Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3:148–57.
- Vongpatanasin W. Autonomic regulation of blood pressure in menopause. Semin Reprod Med. 2009;27:338–45.
- Lambert E, Straznicky N, Sari CI, et al. Dyslipidemia is associated with sympathetic nervous activation and impaired endothelial function in young females. Am J Hypertens. 2013;26:250–6.
- Hitchcock CL, Elliott TG, Norman EG, Tajic V, Teede H, Prior JC. Hot flushes and night sweats differ in associations with cardiovascular markers in healthy early postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2012;19:1208–14.
- Tuomikoski P, Haapalahti P, Ylikorkala O, Mikkola TS. Vasomotor hot flushes and 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure in recently post-menopausal women. Ann Med. 2010;42:216–22.
- Silveira JS, Clapauch R, Souza MD, Bouskela E. Hot flashes: emerging cardiovascular risk factors in recent and late postmenopause and their association with higher blood pressure. Menopause. 2016;23:846–55.
- Thurston RC, Joffe H. Vasomotor symptoms and menopause: findings from the study of Women's health across the nation. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2011;38:489–501.
- Jackson EA, El Khoudary SR, Crawford SL, Matthews K, Joffe H, Chae C, et al. Hot flash frequency and blood pressure: data from the study of Women's health across the nation. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2016;25:1204–9.
- Thurston RC, El Khoudary SR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Crandall CJ, Gold EB, Sternfeld B, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and lipid profiles in women transitioning through menopause. Obstet Gynecol. 2012;119:753–61.
- Franco OH, Muka T, Colpani V, Kunutsor S, Chowdhury S, Chowdhury R, Kavousi M. Vasomotor symptoms in women and cardiovascular risk markers: systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2015;81:353–61.
- 12. Ryu KJ, Park HT, Kwon DH, Yang KS, Kim YJ, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and metabolic syndrome in Korean postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2015;22:1239–45.
- van Dijk GM, Maneva M, Colpani V, Dhana K, Muka T, Jaspers L, et al. The association between vasomotor symptoms and metabolic health in peri- and postmenopausal women: a systematic review. Maturitas. 2015;80:140–7.
- Tuomikoski P, Savolainen-Peltonen H. Vasomotor symptoms and metabolic syndrome. Maturitas. 2017;97:61–5.
- 15. Grundy SM. Metabolic syndrome pandemic. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28:629–36.

- Sowers M, Zheng H, Tomey K, Karvonen-Gutierrez C, Jannausch M, Li X, et al. Changes in body composition in women over six years at midlife: ovarian and chronological aging. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:895–901.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes. 2008;32:949–58.
- Abdulnour J, Doucet E, Brochu M, Lavoie JM, Strychar I, Rabasa-Lhoret R, et al. The effect of the menopausal transition on body composition and cardiometabolic risk factors: a Montreal-Ottawa new emerging team group study. Menopause. 2012;19:760–7.
- 19. Gallicchio L, Visvanathan K, Miller SR, Babus J, Lewis LM, Zacur H, et al. Body mass, estrogen levels, and hot flashes in midlife women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;193:1353–60.
- 20. Gold EB, Colvin A, Avis N, Bromberger J, Greendale GA, Powell L, et al. Longitudinal analysis of the association between vasomotor symptoms and race/ethnicity across the menopausal transition: study of women's health across the nation. Am J Public Health. 2006;96:1226–35.
- Thurston RC, Sowers MR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Everson-Rose SA, Lewis TT, Edmundowicz D, et al. Abdominal adiposity and hot flashes among midlife women. Menopause. 2008;15:429–34.
- 22. Thurston RC, Chang Y, Mancuso P, Matthews KA. Adipokines, adiposity, and vasomotor symptoms during the menopause transition: findings from the study of Women's health across the nation. Fertil Steril. 2013;100:793–800.
- Karastergiou K, Mohamed-Ali V. The autocrine and paracrine roles of adipokines. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2010;318(1–2):69–78.
- Luheshi GN, Gardner JD, Rushforth DA, Loudon AS, Rothwell NJ. Leptin actions on food intake and body temperature are mediated by IL-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:7047–52.
- 25. Jéquier E. Leptin signaling, adiposity, and energy balance. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2002;967:379-88.
- 26. Thorp AA, Schlaich MP. Relevance of sympathetic nervous system activation in obesity and metabolic syndrome. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:341583.
- Thurston RC, El Khoudary SR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Crandall CJ, Sternfeld B, Joffe H, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and insulin resistance in the study of women's health across the nation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97:3487–94.
- Lee SW, Jo HH, Kim MR, Kwon DJ, You YO, Kim JH. Association between menopausal symptoms and metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012;285:541–8.
- 29. Gast GC, Samsioe GN, Grobbee DE, Nilsson PM, van der Schouw YT. Vasomotor symptoms, estradiol levels and cardiovascular risk profile in women. Maturitas. 2010;66:285–90.
- Kwon DH, Lee JH, Ryu KJ, Park HT, Kim T. Vasomotor symptoms and the homeostatic model assessment of insulin-resistance in Korean postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2016;59:45–9.
- Thurston RC, Sutton-Tyrell K, Everson-Rose SA, Hess R, Matthews KA. Hot flashes and subclinical cardiovascular disease. Findings from the study of women's health across the nation heart study. Circulation. 2008;118:1234–40.
- Thurston RC, Sutton-Tyrell K, Everson-Rose SA, Hess R, Powell LH, Matthews KA. Hot flashes and carotid intima media thickness among midlife women. Menopause. 2011;18:352–8.
- 33. Thurston RC, El Khoudary SR, Tepper PG, et al. Trajectories of vasomotor symptoms and carotid intima media thickness in the study of women's health across the nation. Stroke. 2016;47:12–7.
- 34. Tuomikoski P, Ebert P, Haapalahti P, Hautamäki H, Rönnback M, Ylikorkala O, et al. Evidence for a role of hot flushes in vascular function in recently postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113:902–8.
- 35. Wolff EF, He Y, Black DM, Brinton EA, Budoff MJ, Cerdars MI, et al. Self-reported menopausal symptoms, coronary artery calcification, and carotid intima-media thickness in recently menopausal women screened for the Kronos early estrogen prevention study (KEEPS). Fertil Steril. 2013;99:1385–91.

- Allison MA, Manson JE, Aragaki A, Langer RD, Rossouw J, Curb D, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and coronary artery calcium in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2010;17:1136–45.
- 37. Tuomikoski P, Haapalahti P, Sarna S, Ylikorkala O, Mikkola TS. Vasomotor hot flushes and 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure in normotensive women: a placebo-controlled trial on post-menopausal hormone therapy. Ann Med. 2010;42:334–43.
- Ferri LA, Morici N, Bassanelli G, Fraqnco N, Misuraca L, Lenatti L, et al. History of vasomotor symptoms, extent of coronary artery disease, and clinical outcomes after acute coronary syndrome in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2018;25:635–40.
- Herber-Gast GCM, Brown WJ, Mishra GD. Hot flushes and night sweats are associated with coronary heart disease risk in midlife: a longitudinal study. BJOG. 2015;122:1560–7.
- Svartberg J, von Muhlen D, Kritz-Silverstein D, Barrett-Connor E. Vasomotor symptoms and mortality: the Rancho Bernardo study. Menopause. 2009;16:888–91.
- 41. Avis NE, Crawford SL, Greendale G, Bromberger JT, Everson-Rose SA, Gold EB, et al. Duration of menopausal vasomotor symptoms over the menopause transition. Study of women's health across the nation. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:531–9.
- Mikkola TS, Tuomikoski P, Lyytinen H, Korhonen P, Hoti F, Vattulainen P, et al. Increased cardiovascular mortality risk in women discontinuing postmenopausal hormone therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:4588–94.
- 43. Venetkoski M, Savolainen-Peltonen H, Rahkola-Soisalo P, Hoti F, Vattulainen P, Gissler M, et al. Increased cardiac and stroke death risk in the first year after discontinuation of postmenopausal hormone therapy. Menopause. 2018;25:375–9.
- 44. Manson JE, Chlebowski RT, Stefanick ML, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, Prentice RL, et al. Menopausal hormone therapy and health outcomes during the intervention and extended poststopping phases of the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. JAMA. 2013;310:1353–68.
- 45. Grady D, Herrington D, Bittner V, Blumenthal R, Davidson M, Hlatky M, et al.; HERS Research Group. Cardiovascular disease outcomes during 6.8 years of hormone therapy: heart and estrogen/progestin replacement study follow-up (HERS II). JAMA. 2002;288:49–57.
- 46. Buber J, Mathew J, Moss AJ, Hall WJ, Barsheshet A, McNitt S, et al. Risk of recurrent cardiac events after onset of menopause in women with congenital long-QT syndrome types 1 and 2. Circulation. 2011;123:2784–91.
- 47. Huang AJ, Sawaya GF, Vittinghoff E, Lin F, Grady D. Hot flushes, coronary heart disease, and hormone therapy in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2009;16:639–43.
- Szmuilowicz ED, Manson JE, Rossouw JE, Howard BV, Margolis KL, Greep NC, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and cardiovascular events in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2011;18:603–10.
- 49. Thurston RC, Johnson BD, Shufelt CL, et al. Menopausal symptoms and cardiovascular disease mortality in the women's ischemia syndrome evaluation (WISE). Menopause. 2017;24:126–32.
- Freedman RR. Objective or subjective measurement of hot flashes in clinical trials: quo vadis. Maturitas. 2010;67:99–100.
- Fu P, Matthews KA, Thurston RC. How well do different measurement modalities estimate the number of vasomotor symptoms? Findings from the study of women's health across the nation FLASHES study. Menopause. 2014;21:124–30.
- 52. Miller VM, Kling JM, Files JA, Joyner MJ, Kapoor E, Moyer AM, et al. What's in a name: are menopausal "hot flashes" a symptom of menopause or a manifestation of neurovascular dysregulation? Menopause. 2018;25:700–3.
- Thurston RC, Chang Y, Barinas-Mitchell E, Jennings JR, von Känel R, Landsittel DP, et al. Menopausal hot flashes and carotid intima media thickness among midlife women. Stroke. 2016;47:2910–5.
- Thurston RC, Chang Y, Barinas-Mitchell E, Jennings JR, von Känel R, Landsittel DP, et al. Physiologically assessed hot flashes and endothelial function among midlife women. Menopause. 2017;24:886–93.



21

# Menopause and Age-Related General Health Risk: A Woman's Heart Needs Her Hormones

Adam Czyzyk and John C. Stevenson

# 21.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains the leading cause of morbidity and mortality, and about two out of three individuals will suffer from some form of the CVD [1]. Although the lifetime risk of CVD is equal in males and females, it is well established that in women CVD occurs later, and the incidence increases significantly after the menopause. Three major CVD are coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease (stroke), and venous thromboembolism (VTE). Epidemiological data shows the lifetime risk of CHD is higher in males than in females at a younger age (at age 40 approximately 50% for men and 32% for females) [2]. VTE also tends to be more prevalent in males; the risk of the first episode is twice as high in males as in females [3, 4]. Referring to the stroke risk, data are unfavorable for women; at the age of 55 years old, the risk of the first incident of cerebrovascular disease is higher than in men [1].

Gender differences in cardiovascular pathophysiology are believed to be an effect of multiple mechanisms, including the contribution of sex hormones, sex chromosomes, and epigenetic mechanisms [5]. In this chapter, we will focus on links between the risk of CHD and hormonal changes related to menopausal transition and the role of endogenous and exogenous estrogens in modifying the CHD risk.

J. C. Stevenson (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Czyzyk

The Fertility Partnership, Vitrolive Fertility Clinic, Szczecin, Poland

National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, Royal Brompton Hospital, London, UK e-mail: j.stevenson@imperial.ac.uk

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_21

# 21.2 Estrogens Effects on the Cardiovascular System

At the cellular level, estrogens exert their effects through two kinds of estrogen receptors (ERs)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  which may act in different compartments of the cell: cytoplasm/nucleus and mitochondria. Nuclear receptors act as transcription factors; estrogens cause dissociation of ER from heat shock proteins which lead to dimerization of ER subunits and direct up- or downregulation of gene transcription. In general, nuclear ER $\alpha$  is responsible for cell proliferation and anti-apoptotic effects, whereas ER $\beta$  causes differentiation and apoptosis [6]. Since these receptors modulate transcription processes, their effects are considered as long-acting. The rapid action of estrogens is mainly dependent on the activation of the membrane ER. The primary membrane receptor has been identified as a G protein-coupled receptor (GPR30), which is expressed in veins and arteries [7].

In the CVS, these receptors are probably responsible for mediating vasodilatation after exposure to estrogens. Kinases act in this phenomenon as a second messenger and activate endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS) [8]. In mitochondria, ER $\beta$  is the more abundant form. Activation of mitochondrial ER is believed to induce cell protective mechanisms, by inhibition of apoptosis [9]. ER $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are expressed in the heart, but some gender-specific differences are present, i.e., ER $\beta$  expression is higher in males than females [10].

#### 21.2.1 The Action of Estrogens on Cardiac Function

Many animal studies have been conducted to elucidate the relationship between estrogens and the heart [11, 12]. Experimental data on ovariectomized mice, which mimic the postmenopausal hormonal milieu, bring some insights. In pathological models of pressure overload, augmented hypertrophy of myocardium was revealed in ovariectomized mice in comparison to mice supplemented with estrogens. Moreover, models of volume overload (i.e., aortocaval fistula) showed more severe left ventricular eccentric hypertrophy and pulmonary edema in ovariectomized females vs. intact individuals [13]. Experimental models also showed a cardioprotective potential of estrogens, which is mediated by both types of ERs [11, 14, 15]. Estrogens have a potential to attenuate the heart injury after ischemia. Female animals suffer from milder injury after ischemia in comparison to male counterparts; in one study the mean infarct in females was 37% vs. 48% in males [16]. This protective action is believed to be dependent on a number of mechanisms including an increase in nitric oxide signaling, increasing transcription of cardioprotective genes like heat shock proteins and nitric oxide synthase via ER nuclear receptor. On the other hand, estrogens also influence the expression of genes involved in metabolism like prostaglandin D2 synthase, lipoprotein lipase, and peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha, to name a few [11].

Estrogens exert a protective action on myocardial contractility by altering the expression of several regulators of contractility: ventricular  $\beta$ 1-adrenoreceptor, intracellular calcium homeostasis related to the L-type Ca2+ channel, cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ uptake, and Ca2+ sensitivity of cardiac myofilaments

[5]. Animal experiments demonstrated that estradiol has a negative inotropic effect on ventricular myocytes mediated by reducing systolic Ca2+ influx [10].

# 21.2.2 The Action of Sex Steroids on the Vasculature

The presence of ERs has been confirmed in the wall of peripheral vessels: ER $\alpha$  is predominant in myocytes and ER $\beta$  in endothelial cells.

The genomic effects of estrogen action in the peripheral circulation are related to the regulation of gene expression involved in vascular tone and remodeling, e.g., nitric oxide synthase, cyclooxygenase, prostacyclin synthase, collagen, elastin, metalloproteinases, and enzymes involved in reactive oxygen species (ROS) elimination [17, 18]. Estrogens stimulate the proliferation of endothelial cells and, in contrast to androgens, inhibit proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells in the blood vessel wall. They also inhibit endothelin-1 expression [19]. Moreover, ER stimulation decreases the angiotensin receptor (AT1) in smooth muscles [20]. Altogether, these mechanisms contribute to the anti-atherogenic action of estrogens in the blood vessel wall. On the other hand, ER $\beta$  stimulation may increase the proinflammatory and atherogenic processes, including destabilization of the atheromatous plaque once it is formed [21]. Estrogens also inhibit calcium channels and activates BKCa channels, both of which are vasodilatory [22].

Non-genomic, rapid action of estrogens on the peripheral circulation is predominantly linked to vasodilation. This action is mediated mainly through stimulation of NO synthesis. Also increased production of PGI2 and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor has been reported. Interestingly activation of GPR30 is responsible for the proapoptotic action, as opposed to the classical nuclear ER-mediated pathway [22] (Table 21.1).

Heart			
Genomic changes	Ischemia	Remodeling	
↓ Adhesion molecules	↓ Ischemia/ROS	↓ Fibrosis	
↓ Inflammatory cytokines	↓ Necrosis	↓ Pathologic hypertrophy	
↓ Metalloproteinase expression	↓ Apoptosis		
Blood vessels			
Endothelium-dependent	Smooth muscles	Inflammation	Atherosclerosis
↑NOS	↓ Proliferation	↓ROS	↓LDL
↑NO	↓ AT1R	↓ Inflammatory cytokines	↑ HDL
↑Relaxation	↓ Ca channels		↓ Adhesion molecules
↑ Flow-induced dilation			↓ Monocyte adhesion

 Table 21.1
 Summary of crucial actions of estrogens on the heart and blood vessels, according to [22]

# 21.3 Hormonal Alterations of Menopausal Transition and Their Influence on CVS

#### 21.3.1 Hormonal Changes During Menopause

The menopause is defined as the last spontaneous menstrual period, reflecting the cessation of ovarian function in women. The age of menopause in Western countries is typically between 51 and 52 years old and is determined genetically [23]. The menopause is related to significant changes in the hormonal milieu of women, which in turn has a substantial impact on CVS function. The decrease in estrogen concentration is marked, on average the estradiol concentration is 55 pmol/L, ranging from 35 to 90 pmol/L [24]. A surgical menopause is related to even more profound hypoestrogenism, below 35 pmol/L. Also, estrone concentration drops, but to a smaller extent than estradiol (30 pg/mL). The estrone concentration may be higher in overweight/obese females, due to aromatization of peripheral androgens. Interestingly, ovaries continue to produce androgens (testosterone, androstenedione). Adrenal synthesis of androgens in postmenopausal women decreases, approximately 2% per year [25]. The sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) concentration also decreases, which result in a higher proportion of free active androgens.

# 21.3.2 The Influence of Decreased Endogenous Levels on CVS Function

The lack of steroidal activity of the ovary has profound consequences on CVS function. In general, there are two main types of effects. One is related to direct vascular and cardiac action of estrogens, as described above. The other is related to indirect actions: modification of metabolic parameters, coagulation balance, and inflammation. It is difficult to assess if direct or indirect effects are more important, but generally these mechanisms are viewed as equal.

The most marked metabolic alterations following menopause are rises in total and LDL cholesterol, which in turn are strong risk factors for CHD. Also, changes in body fat distribution, blood pressure, and glucose and insulin metabolism are observed. Other changes in lipid metabolism develop after menopause, such as increases in triglycerides, very-low-density lipoproteins, and lipoprotein(a). Also, oxidation of LDL-C is increased, while high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) concentrations decrease [26, 27].

Some changes in coagulation balance have also been observed, but an increase of some factors (fibrinogen, factor VII) is balanced by endogenous anticoagulants (e.g., antithrombin, proteins C and S) [1, 26]. The rise in inflammatory markers (e.g., C-reactive protein) is a phenomenon related to increasing CHD risk.

Direct effects relate to actions of estrogens on the CVS. Reduced activity of nitric oxide synthase and prostacyclin synthesis is observed after menopause. Moreover, endothelin concentrations increase, and blood flow through the blood vessels generally decreases [28–30].

# 21.4 Exogenous Estrogens and CHD Risk Factors

# 21.4.1 Metabolic Effects

Estrogens are known to decrease total and LDL-C and increase HDL-C. These effects are more significant with oral than with transdermal estrogen. The impact on triglycerides is dependent on the route of administration. Triglycerides are increased with oral estrogen but decreased with transdermal estrogen administration [31]. Lipoprotein (a) is reduced by HRT, and this contributes to the overall beneficial impact of exogenous estrogens on the lipid profile [32, 33].

Another risk factor for CHD is insulin resistance. Oral estradiol appears to reduce insulin resistance more effectively than transdermal estradiol [34]. For conjugated equine estrogens (CEE), the effect is dose-dependent, and high doses may worsen glucose tolerance. Some of these metabolic effects of estrogen can be negated or reversed by the addition of androgenic progestogens.

Interestingly, HRT is able to decrease the central deposition of body fat, which is another risk factor for CHD [35].

# 21.4.2 Exogenous Estrogens Impact on CHD Surrogates: Timing Hypothesis

To date, a large body of evidence has been collected regarding the issue of possible effects of exogenous estrogens on CHD risk factors. The first experimental and observational studies brought very optimistic conclusions about the beneficial effects on the CVS and risk factors for CHD. A wave of enthusiasm for estrogens for the primary prevention of CHD was countered by the preliminary results of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) study [36, 37]. WHI was a large randomized clinical trial (RCT) which showed an increase in cardiovascular morbidity in women treated with combined oral HRT. These first results from WHI dramatically changed doctors and patients perception of HRT and resulted in a withdrawal of therapy in the majority of patients. Subsequent analysis of the WHI [37] and other RCTs changed our understanding of the relationship between exogenous hormones and circulatory system. Currently, our knowledge about the complex and multifactorial relationship between "hormones and women's hearts" brings us better understanding. Recent meta-analyses of existing RCTs and some more recent RCTs have highlighted the "timing hypothesis." This hypothesis proposes that giving exogenous hormones to relatively young (soon after menopause) otherwise healthy women brings benefits for CHD. However, older women may be affected by early, asymptomatic CHD, and initiation of HRT in this group may be less beneficial. This hypothesis was supported by a number of experimental and clinical studies.

A study of cynomolgus macaques placed on an atherogenic diet following surgical menopause showed that CEE administration reduced the amount of atheromatous plaque by 70% compared with placebo [38]. In a similar study, animals were put on an atherogenic diet before undergoing oophorectomy. The degree of the protective effect of CEE on atheromatous plaque formation was smaller (50%) in this study [39], suggesting less benefit in those with already established arterial disease. The timing hypothesis originated in a third macaque experiment. This time the randomization to CEE/placebo occurred with a delay of the equivalent of six human years after surgical menopause. This study found no difference in atheromatous plaque extent in both CEE and placebo groups [40]. This series of studies shows that the introduction of hormonal therapy soon after cessation of ovarian function can improve CHD risk.

A similar conclusion comes from a human RCTs. The Early versus Late Intervention Trial with Estradiol (ELITE, n = 643) compared two groups of women, early postmenopausal (<6 years) and late postmenopausal (at least 10 years), treated with oral estradiol plus sequential vaginal progression eversus placebo. Oral estradiol 1 mg daily reduced carotid artery atheroma progression if initiated within 6 years of the onset of menopause, while no such effect was seen in those initiated treatment beyond 10 years postmenopause [41]. The trial failed to reveal any effect of HRT on coronary artery calcium scores.

The Kronos Early Estrogen Prevention Study (KEEPS n = 868) also measured surrogates of CHD in women within 3 years of menopause onset, randomized to either CEE 0.45 mg daily, transdermal estradiol 50 µg, or placebo for 4 years. In this study, there was no difference between the groups regarding carotid artery intimamedia thickness changes or coronary artery calcification scores. Furthermore, endothelial function, measured as a reactive hyperemia index using digital volume tonometry, was not altered by HRT [37]. A subset of women enrolled in KEEPS (n = 76) were followed up for an additional 3 years. At 7 years, carotid artery intimamedia thickness (CIMT) increase in the treatment group compared with the placebo group was not different. The authors concluded that the CIMT increase was mainly dependent on chronological age and timing of menopause [37].

# 21.4.3 HRT Effects on CVD Clinical Endpoints

Recently, data from several RCTs have been published assessing clinical endpoints in patients taking HRT for primary or secondary prevention of CHD (see Table 21.2 for a summary).

The Women's Health Initiative (WHI, n = 27,347) studies remain the largest primary prevention studies. After 5.6 years of treatment with CEE 0.625 mg plus MPA 2.5 mg daily or 7.2 years of treatment with CEE 0.625 mg alone, HRT was

Study, year	Participants, design	Main result
PEPI, 1995 [43]	175 E vs. 348 EP vs. E vs. 178 EmP vs.	CHD 1 (E: 0.6%) vs. 1 (EP:
	placebo – 3 years	0.3%) vs. 3 (EmP: 1.7%) vs. 0
		(placebo); NS
ERA, 2000 [44]	100 E vs. 104 EP vs. 105	CVE
	placebo—3.2 years	29 (29.0%) vs. 28 (26.9%) vs.
		34 (32.4%); <b>NS</b>
STOP-IT, 2001	121 E/EP vs. 121 E/EP + calcitriol vs.	CVE
[45]	123 calcitriol vs. 123 placebo	8 (E/EP: 3.3%) vs. 7 (calcitriol
		only or placebo: 2.8%) NS
EPAT, 2001 [46]	111 E vs. placebo—2 years	CVE 3 (2.7%) vs. 4 (3.6%); NS
WAVE, 2002	Women with a confirmed coronary	MI or CD
[47]	stenosis	26 vs. 15 ( <b>HR, 1.9</b> ; 95% CI,
	124E vs. 86 EP vs. 213 placebo	0.97–3.6)
WHI EP, 2002	8506 EP vs. 8102 placebo-5.6 years	CHD
[36]-2013 [37]		196 (0.41%) vs. 159 (0.35%);
		HR, 1.18 (95% CI, 0.95–1.45)
WHI E, 2004	5310 E vs. 5429 placebo – 7.2 years	CHD
[48]-2013 [37]		204 (0.55%) vs. 222 (0.58%);
		NS
Greenspan, 2005	66	CHD
[49]	E vs. 121 EP vs. 186 placebo – 3 years	66 (16.3%) vs. 62 (16.6%); <b>HR</b>
		<b>1.03</b> (95% CI, 0.73–1.46)
EPHT, 2006 [50]	404 EP vs. 373 placebo – 3.4 years	CVE 11 (15.7%) vs. 8 (11.1%);
		NS
EMS, 2009 [51]	70 EP vs. placebo – 2 years	CVE
		2 (0.2%) vs. 7 (0.3%) vs. 0
		(0.0%); <b><i>p</i></b> = <b>0.016</b>
WISDOM, 2007	826 E vs. 2196 EP vs. 2189 placebo –	
[52]	1 year (closed because of WHI results)	

 Table 21.2
 Table with a summary of trials reporting cardiovascular disease (based on [42])

CHD coronary heart disease, CI confidence interval, CVD cardiovascular disease, CVE cardiovascular event, DOPS Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study, E estrogen only, EP estrogen plus progestin, EMS Estrogen Memory Study, EPAT Estrogen in the Prevention of Atherosclerosis Trial, EPHT Estonian Postmenopausal Hormone Therapy Trial, ERA estrogen replacement and atherosclerosis, HR hazard ratio, MI myocardial infarction, NS nonsignificant, PEPI Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions Trial, RR relative risk, STOP-IT Trial of Short-Course Antimicrobial Therapy for Intraabdominal Infection, WHI Women's Health Initiative, WISDOM Women's International Study of Long Duration Oestrogen After Menopause

not significantly superior to placebo in terms of myocardial infarction or coronary death. The hazard ratio (HR) for coronary heart disease in women within 10 years of menopause on combined HRT was 0.90 (95% CI, 0.56–1.45), while in women more than 20 years postmenopause, the HR was 1.52 (95% CI, 1.07–2.17) (p = 0.08). On the other hand, the number of coronary interventions and coronary atheroma formation indices was smaller in women initiating estrogen treatment below age 60 years compared with placebo [37]. The hazard ratio (HR) for coronary heart disease in women within 10 years of menopause on estrogen-alone HRT was 0.50 (95% CI, 0.22–1.18), while in women more than 20 years postmenopause, the HR

was 1.08 (95% CI, 0.83–1.40) (p = 0.16). Furthermore, with long-term follow-up post-intervention in those women initiating estrogen-alone treatment below age 60 years, there was a significant reduction in CHD events compared with placebo, HR **0.65** (95% CI, 0.44–0.96) [37]. Reduction in CHD was also observed in the Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study (DOPS, n = 1006), a randomized trial of women in the early postmenopause. HRT for 10 years (oral estradiol with or without norethisterone acetate addition) reduced by approximately half the risk of death, admission to hospital for heart failure, and myocardial infarction, in comparison to no treatment. In the same study, no increased risk for any cancer, including breast cancer, VTE, or stroke, was observed [53]. However, this study was criticized for being underpowered to draw these conclusions [54].

Recently, the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) published a review, regarding hormonal therapy as primary prevention for chronic conditions. The group reviewed the available data regarding combined hormonal therapy and risk of coronary heart disease. Data from six clinical trials were included, but only three were eligible for meta-analysis. They provided data on more than 18,000 individuals and treatment duration of 2–5 years. Overall, unselected data showed the numerically higher but nonsignificant risk of coronary events in women treated with HRT versus placebo (2.1% vs. 1.7%; RR, 1.23 [95% CI, 0.996–1.520]) [42]. In the same statement, authors found evidence that timing of HRT initiation in relation to the menopause onset is of importance, and early initiation of HRT is not related to increased risk of coronary disease. This review has been heavily criticized [55]. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline on the diagnosis and management of menopause concluded that HRT does not increase the risk of death related to CHD and estrogen-only HRT may be linked to decreased risk of CHD [56].

A recent Cochrane database meta-analysis of 19 RCT of HRT versus placebo or no treatment included over 49,000 women. The authors conclude that there is strong evidence that HRT in postmenopausal women for either primary or secondary prevention of CVD has little if any benefit [57]. This strong conclusion was criticized later in the literature [58]. According to the same Cochrane review, initiating HRT within 10 years of menopause had a significant 50% reduction in the endpoint of myocardial infarction or death, while there was no significant change in those initiating HRT beyond 10 years postmenopause [57]. The optimal duration of HRT use for CHD prevention remains to be determined, but need not necessarily be lifelong.

# 21.5 Summary and Future Perspectives

A woman's heart needs her hormones. This is the truth from the cellular to the clinical level and also for endogenous and exogenous hormones. Even though the preliminary results from the WHI appeared unfavorable and some ongoing RCTs were then closed, further analysis of WHI results supported the "critical window" hypothesis and showed an eventual benefit for CHD prevention. Contemporary studies revealed surrogate and clinical results confirming the protective action of

estrogens on the CVS. Many questions still require answers and need further studies. Firstly, what is the upper limit of age for the safe introduction of HRT, and what are the safe starting doses at different ages? Similarly, what about comorbidities which increase CHD risk? Tailoring therapy to individuals with certain conditions may remain an unsolved problem for many years, due to difficulties in conducting appropriate clinical trials. More attention is needed for the characterization of benefit/risk ratios for different estrogens, progestogens, and routes of administration. Non-oral estrogen administration has less adverse effects on coagulation activation compared with oral administration, although this could in part also be related to dosage. Regarding progestogens, non-androgenic preparations potentially may be safer, because they do not exert the adverse metabolic and vascular effects seen with androgenic progestogens. There are still many unanswered questions, but it is time to change the WHI paradigm of a harmful influence of estrogens on CHD. The totality of current evidence shows that HRT can be beneficial for the primary prevention of CHD when given appropriately.

# References

- Leening MJG, Ferket BS, Steyerberg EW, et al. Sex differences in lifetime risk and first manifestation of cardiovascular disease: prospective population based cohort study. BMJ. 2014;349:g5992.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Beiser A, Levy D. Lifetime risk of developing coronary heart disease. Lancet (London, England). 1999;353:89–92.
- Roach REJ, Lijfering WM, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC, le Cessie S. Sex difference in risk of second but not of first venous thrombosis clinical perspective. Circulation. 2014;129:51–6.
- 4. Eichinger S, Heinze G, Jandeck LM, Kyrle PA. Risk assessment of recurrence in patients with unprovoked deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism: the Vienna prediction model. Circulation. 2010;121:1630–6.
- dos Santos RL, da Silva FB, Ribeiro RF, Stefanon I. Sex hormones in the cardiovascular system. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2014;18:89–103.
- 6. Yakimchuk K, Jondal M, Okret S. Estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in the normal immune system and in lymphoid malignancies. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2013;375:121–9.
- Feldman RD, Gros R. Rapid vascular effects of steroids-a question of balance? Can J Cardiol. 2010;26(Suppl A):22A–6A.
- Eyster KM. The estrogen receptors: an overview from different perspectives. New York: Humana Press; 2016. p. 1–10.
- 9. Del Principe D, Ruggieri A, Pietraforte D, Villani A, Vitale C, Straface E, Malorni W. The relevance of estrogen/estrogen receptor system on the gender difference in cardiovascular risk. Int J Cardiol. 2015;187:291–8.
- Prabhavathi K, Selvi KT, Poornima KN, Sarvanan A. Role of biological sex in normal cardiac function and in its disease outcome—a review. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8:BE01–4.
- Murphy E, Steenbergen C. Gender-based differences in mechanisms of protection in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res. 2007;75:478–86.
- 12. Hayward C. The roles of gender, the menopause and hormone replacement on cardiovascular function. Cardiovasc Res. 2000;46:28–49.
- Brower GL, Gardner JD, Janicki JS. Gender mediated cardiac protection from adverse ventricular remodeling is abolished by ovariectomy. Mol Cell Biochem. 2003;251:89–95.
- Newton-Cheh C. Sex differences and genetic associations with myocardial infarction. JAMA. 2004;291:3008.

- Thompson EL, Patterson M, Murphy KG, Smith KL, Dhillo WS, Todd JF, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. Central and peripheral administration of Kisspeptin-10 stimulates the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis. J Neuroendocrinol. 2004;16:850–8.
- Bae S. Gender differences in cardioprotection against ischemia/reperfusion injury in adult rat hearts: focus on Akt and protein kinase C Signaling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2005;315:1125–35.
- Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH. The protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1801–11.
- 18. Lacka K, Czyzyk A. Hormones and the cardiovascular system. Endokrynol Pol. 2008;59:420–32.
- Bilsel AS, Moini H, Tetik E, Aksungar F, Kaynak B, Ozer A. 17Beta-estradiol modulates endothelin-1 expression and release in human endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Res. 2000;46: 579–84.
- Nickenig G, Strehlow K, Wassmann S, Bäumer AT, Albory K, Sauer H, Böhm M. Differential effects of estrogen and progesterone on AT 1 receptor gene expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circulation. 2000;102:1828–33.
- Chakrabarti S, Lekontseva O, Davidge ST. Estrogen is a modulator of vascular inflammation. IUBMB Life. 2008;60:376–82.
- 22. Knowlton AA, Lee AR. Estrogen and the cardiovascular system. Pharmacol Ther. 2012;135:54–70.
- Luoto R, Kaprio J, Uutela A. Age at natural menopause and sociodemographic status in Finland. Am J Epidemiol. 1994;139:64–76.
- 24. Yen SS. The biology of menopause. J Reprod Med. 1977;18:287-96.
- Muniyappa R, Wong KA, Baldwin HL, Sorkin JD, Johnson ML, Bhasin S, Harman SM, Blackman MR. Dehydroepiandrosterone secretion in healthy older men and women: effects of testosterone and growth hormone administration in older men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:4445–52.
- Samaan SA, Crawford MH. Estrogen and cardiovascular function after menopause. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1995;26:1403–10.
- Matthews KA, Meilahn E, Kuller LH, Kelsey SF, Caggiula AW, Wing RR. Menopause and risk factors for coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 1989;321:641–6.
- Snowdon DA, Kane RL, Beeson WL, Burke GL, Sprafka JM, Potter J, Iso H, Jacobs DR, Phillips RL. Is early natural menopause a biologic marker of health and aging? Am J Public Health. 1989;79:709–14.
- Wenger NK, Arnold A, Bairey Merz CN, et al. Hypertension across a woman's life cycle. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;71:1797–813.
- 30. Cooper GS, Sandler DP. Age at natural menopause and mortality. Ann Epidemiol. 1998;8:229–35.
- Eapen DJ, Kalra GL, Rifai L, Eapen CA, Merchant N, Khan BV. Raising HDL cholesterol in women. Int J Womens Health. 2010;1:181–91.
- 32. Lobo RA, Pickar JH, Stevenson JC, Mack WJ, Hodis HN. Back to the future: hormone replacement therapy as part of a prevention strategy for women at the onset of menopause. Atherosclerosis. 2016;254:282–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.10.005.
- 33. Stevenson JC, Rioux JE, Komer L, Gelfand M. 1 and 2 mg 17β-estradiol combined with sequential dydrogesterone have similar effects on the serum lipid profile of postmenopausal women. Climacteric. 2005;8:352–9.
- 34. Spencer CP, Godsland IF, Cooper AJ, Ross D, Whitehead MI, Stevenson JC. Effects of oral and transdermal  $17\beta$ -estradiol with cyclical oral norethindrone acetate on insulin sensitivity, secretion, and elimination in postmenopausal women. Metabolism. 2000;49:742–7.
- 35. Gambacciani M, Ciaponi M, Cappagli B, Piaggesi L, De Simone L, Orlandi R, Genazzani AR. Body weight, body fat distribution, and hormonal replacement therapy in early postmeno-pausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:414–7.
- Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288:321–33.
- 37. Manson JE, Chlebowski RT, Stefanick ML, et al. Menopausal hormone therapy and health outcomes during the intervention and extended poststopping phases of the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. JAMA. 2013;310:1353.
- Clarkson TB, Anthony MS, Jerome CP. Lack of effect of raloxifene on coronary artery atherosclerosis of postmenopausal monkeys. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83:721–6.
- Clarkson TB, Anthony MS, Morgan TM. Inhibition of postmenopausal atherosclerosis progression: a comparison of the effects of conjugated equine estrogens and soy phytoestrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:41–7.
- Williams JK, Anthony MS, Honoré EK, Herrington DM, Morgan TM, Register TC, Clarkson TB. Regression of atherosclerosis in female monkeys. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15:827–36.
- Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Henderson VW, et al. Vascular effects of early versus late postmenopausal treatment with estradiol. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:1221–31.
- 42. Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, et al. Hormone therapy for the primary prevention of chronic conditions in postmenopausal women. JAMA. 2017;318:2224.
- Mebane-Sims. Effects of estrogen or estrogen/progestin regimens on heart disease risk factors in postmenopausal women: the postmenopausal estrogen/progestin interventions (PEPI) trial. J Am Med Assoc. 1994;273:199–208.
- 44. Herrington DM, Reboussin DM, Brosnihan KB, et al. Effects of estrogen replacement on the progression of coronary-artery atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:522–9.
- Gallagher JC, Fowler SE, Detter JR, Sherman SS. Combination treatment with estrogen and calcitriol in the prevention of age-related bone loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:3618–28.
- Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Lobo RA, et al. Estrogen in the prevention of atherosclerosis. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 2001;135:939–53.
- Waters DD, Alderman EL, Hsia J, et al. Effects of hormone replacement therapy and antioxidant vitamin supplements on coronary atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288:2432–40.
- Anderson GL. Effects of estrogen plus progestin on gynecologic cancers and associated diagnostic procedures. The Women's Health Initiative randomized trial. JAMA. 2003;290:1739.
- Greenspan SL, Resnick NM, Parker RA. The effect of hormone replacement on physical performance in community-dwelling elderly women. Am J Med. 2005;118:1232–9.
- Veerus P, Hovi S-L, Fischer K, Rahu M, Hakama M, Hemminki E. Results from the Estonian postmenopausal hormone therapy trial [ISRCTN35338757]. Maturitas. 2006;55:162–73.
- 51. Tierney MC, Oh P, Moineddin R, Greenblatt EM, Snow WG, Fisher RH, Iazzetta J, Hyslop PSG, MacLusky NJ. A randomized double-blind trial of the effects of hormone therapy on delayed verbal recall in older women. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009;34:1065–74.
- 52. Vickers MR, MacLennan AH, Lawton B, et al. Main morbidities recorded in the women's international study of long duration oestrogen after menopause (WISDOM): a randomised controlled trial of hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women. BMJ. 2007;335:239.
- Schierbeck LL, Rejnmark L, Tofteng CL, Stilgren L, Eiken P, Mosekilde L, Køber L, Jensen J-EB. Effect of hormone replacement therapy on cardiovascular events in recently postmenopausal women: randomised trial. BMJ. 2012;345:e6409.
- Rossouw JE, Manson JE, Kaunitz AM, Stefanick ML. Study had insufficient power to investigate safety. BMJ. 2012;345:e8146; author reply e8164.
- 55. Langer RD, Simon JA, Pines A, Lobo RA, Hodis HN, Pickar JH, Archer DF, Sarrel PM, Utian WH. Menopausal hormone therapy for primary prevention: why the USPSTF is wrong. Climacteric. 2017;20:402–13.
- 56. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). Menopause. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK); 2015.
- 57. Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Risks and benefits of Estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's health initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288:321–33.
- Goulis DG, Lambrinoudaki I. Menopausal hormone therapy for the prevention of cardiovascular disease: evidence-based customization. Maturitas. 2015;81:421–2.



# Menopausal Hormone Therapy to Prevent Chronic Conditions

22

Rafael Sánchez-Borrego

# Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
BC	Breast cancer
BMD	Bone mineral density
CE/BZA	Combination of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
E2	Estradiol
E4	Estetrol
E-MHT	Unopposed estrogen therapy
EP-MHT	Combined therapy of estrogen and progestogen
ER	Estrogen receptor
FSFI	Female Sexual Function Index
HR	Hazard ratio
HSDD	Hypoactive sexual desire disorder
KEEPS	Kronos Early Estrogen Prevention Study
LMP	Last menstrual period
LNG-IUS	Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system
MHT	Menopausal hormone therapy
P4	Natural progesterone
POP	Pelvic organ prolapse
QoL	Quality of life
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
ROS	Reactive oxygen species

R. Sánchez-Borrego (⊠)

DIATROS, Clínica de Atención a la Mujer, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: rschez.borrego@diatros.com

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_22

SERM	Selective estrogen receptor modulator
TSEC	Tissue-selective estrogen complex
VMS	Vasomotor symptoms
VTE	Venous thromboembolism

#### 22.1 Introduction

Menopause is a biological process that occurs as a part of aging in women. The symptoms of the menopause go beyond vasomotor effects (hot flashes and night sweats). Other symptoms associated with the onset of the menopause include potential alterations in sexual response, musculoskeletal complaints, mood swings, irritability, and sleep disorders, all of which affect quality of life and for which menopausal hormone therapy (MHT)—previously known as hormone replacement therapy—has proven beneficial.

Because chronic disease rates generally increase with age, absolute risks tend to be greater in older women, even if the relative risks remain similar. Guidelines [1] and systematic reviews [2] have expressed that MHT is not indicated for the prevention of chronic conditions. Given recent findings, specifically regarding the effect of the timing of MHT initiation on woman's health risk, it seems appropriate to reassess the clinician's approach to menopause based on recent data. In an era of personalized medicine, a more holistic approach needs to be made inclusive of menopausal symptoms. Health advice should be tailored across the life course and encompass a healthy diet, physical activity, as well as pharmacological interventions such as MHT [3].

# 22.2 Menopausal Hormone Therapy

The concept of menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) after menopause is based on clinical observations that elderly women with very low serum estrogen levels have a higher incidence of osteoporotic fractures; coronary heart disease (CHD); onset of VSM, such as hot flashes and night sweats; and, most importantly, loss of quality of life (QoL).

By convention, MHT includes any estrogenic or estrogen-like therapy, such as estrogen therapy, alone or in combination with progestogens, tibolone and the combination of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene (CE/BZA), and even testosterone. We will name the unopposed estrogen therapy as E-MHT, the combined therapy of estrogen and progestogen as EP-MHT, and hormone therapy for menopause as MHT.

# 22.3 How to Prescribe MHT

Women with an intact uterus require an estrogen antagonist (usually a progestogen) in addition to estrogen to prevent endometrial hyperplasia. For women whose last menstrual period (LMP) was less than 12 months ago, the progestogen should be

cyclical. Use of continuous combined estrogen and progestogen too soon after the LMP can result in unpredictable breakthrough bleeding. For women whose LMP was more than 12 months ago, continuous combined estrogen plus progestogen therapy can be used. Approved pharmaceutical preparations with combinations of estrogen and progestogen have been shown in clinical trials to provide symptom relief and endometrial protection [4].

#### 22.3.1 Contraindications

Before MHT is prescribed to symptomatic women, personal and familial risk factors should be taken into consideration, as should age and time since onset of the menopause. MHT may not be suitable for some women with a greater risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) or transient ischemic attack; a greater risk of thromboembolic disease (e.g., those with obesity or a history of venous thrombosis), stroke, active liver disease, and unexplained vaginal bleeding; or a greater risk of some types of cancer, such as breast cancer [5]. Age and duration of estrogen deficiency at initiation of MHT should be taken into account.

#### 22.3.2 Dose

Dose and time of administration seem to be the main indicators of safety in MHT. The importance of the type of estrogen and the route of administration remains open to debate. Even if women whose menopause is of recent onset have similar and substantial reductions in hot flashes and night sweats with doses of oral or transdermal estrogens that are lower than the standard doses, it is important to transmit the message that the dose necessary to obtain the desired effect must be used. We suggest starting at the lowest dose possible for the formulation and adjusting according to response.

# 22.3.3 Route

All routes of administration of estrogens seem to be equally efficient for relief of symptoms, although their metabolic effects differ. Transdermal formulations should be taken into consideration because of their less severe adverse effects: as they avoid the first-pass effect in the liver, there may be no accumulation of metabolites with estrogenic activity. Oral estrogens should be avoided in women with hypertriglyceridemia, active gallbladder disease, or known thrombophilias such as factor V Leiden (without a personal history of venous thromboembolism [VTE]). Transdermal estrogen is also preferred for women with migraine headaches with auras.

In addition to oral and transdermal estrogen preparations, estrogen is available as a vaginal ring and as a topical spray, cream, or gel. Percutaneous  $E_2$  gel is another parenteral preparation and passes through the skin and then forms a reservoir in the

epidermal layer for continuous release of  $E_2$  [6]. Compared with patches, gel has lower adverse skin effects and could provide higher  $E_2$  serum values with less day-to-day variation [7].

# 22.3.4 Adding a Progestogen

All women with an intact uterus need a progestogen in addition to estrogen to prevent endometrial hyperplasia, which can occur after as little as 6 months of unopposed ET [8]. When use of progestogens, natural progesterone (P4), or its synthetic alternative dehydrogesterone, is necessary—administered at appropriate doses via the route chosen (oral or vaginal)—this is considered the safest approach [9]. Additionally, risk of venous thromboembolism and breast cancer does not appear to increase with use of P4 plus estrogens as shown with synthetic progestins plus estrogens in large observations studies, and no detrimental effects of P4 in HT have been found on outcomes related to cardiovascular disease or cognition [10].

In women using a levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) that is active at onset of symptoms, addition of other progestogens is not necessary [11]. This alternative may be valid—albeit off-label—for women who do not tolerate oral progestogens. Another option can be found in the combination of bazedoxifene with conjugate estrogens. In this combination, bazedoxifene prevents the endometrial hyperplasia induced by estrogens; therefore, it is not necessary to administer a progestogen.

#### 22.3.5 Duration of Use

In the absence of other factors, age is not a limitation for the duration of MHT. Decisions on a longer or shorter duration of MHT should be taken on an individual basis and according to the risk for various diseases (venous thrombosis, stroke, and some types of cancer). MHT can be interrupted if symptoms disappear. The duration of treatment-free periods should be as short as possible and will depend on the reappearance of symptoms.

#### 22.3.6 Monitoring

The use of MHT during the menopause does not imply the need to carry out tests other than those corresponding to basic health tests in this age group. As with any medical intervention, treatment should be on an individual basis using the best available evidence to maximize benefits and minimize risks, with regular re-evaluation of the risks and benefits of continuing or suspending menopause MHT.

#### 22.3.7 Discontinuation

Options for discontinuation are either to stop treatment immediately or to gradually wean off by decreasing the dose or number of days per week. Given that strong evidence does not exist to indicate differential outcomes for tapering or abruptly stopping, both methods can be used, and this decision should be based on the woman's preference. Recent data suggesting that discontinuation of MHT may lead to increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality do not yet indicate whether the risks can be mitigated through tapering the dosage [12]. This clearly warrants further investigation.

#### 22.3.8 Custom-Compounded Bioidentical Hormone Therapy

Although most often used to describe custom-made MHT formulations compounded according to a clinician's prescription, the term *bioidentical hormone* refers to hormones identical to those made by the ovaries. We do not recommend the use of alternative MHT (also incorrectly known as "bioidentity") [13]. There is no scientific evidence in favor of greater efficacy or safety with these products. Very often, the content or release of the components is inconsistent; consequently, lower or higher quantities of the biologically active hormone are administered [14]. No controlled clinical trials support efficacy or rule out concern over safety.

#### 22.3.9 Early Menopause

In women with early-onset menopause (primary ovarian insufficiency) and those who undergo bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy before age 50 years, MHT is recommended at least until they reach the age for spontaneous menopause in the general population. Systemic MHT is an effective approach to treat the symptoms of hypoestrogenism and mitigate long-term health risks if there are no contraindications to treatment. Hormone therapy is indicated to reduce the risk of osteoporosis, cardiovascular disease, and urogenital atrophy and to improve the quality of life of women with primary ovarian insufficiency [15].

# 22.4 MHT and Vasomotor Symptoms

Vasomotor symptoms (VMS) continue to be the main indication for MHT. The most efficient approach for relief of the VMS of the menopause at any age comprises MHT based on estrogens alone or in combination with progestogens, tibolone, and the combination of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene (CE/BZA). Findings from randomized clinical trials (RCTs), as well as preclinical, clinical,

and epidemiologic studies, clarify the favorable benefit-risk profile for MHT use by recently menopausal women with bothersome vasomotor and related menopausal symptoms.

• A Cochrane review of double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trials of oral MHT concluded that estrogen therapy, alone or in combination with progestogens, is highly effective in alleviating hot flushes and night sweats. Hot flush frequency was reduced 75%, and severity decreased as well [16]. The dropout rate due to side effects was only marginally increased in the MHT groups.

# 22.4.1 Tibolone

Tibolone is a drug with complex tissue-specific action that exhibits a combination of estrogenic, progestogenic, and slight androgenic activity. Its variable profile explains its clinical effects, depending on the target tissue where it is metabolized, its metabolites' affinity for and potency in hormone receptors, and probable enzymatic activity modulation. Tibolone, used at the daily dose of 2.5 mg, may be less effective than combined MHT in alleviating menopausal symptoms although it reduced the incidence of vaginal bleeding [17]. There are the same concerns about their long-term safety as with estroprogestins [18].

# 22.4.2 Conjugated Estrogen-Bazedoxifene

The combination of conjugated estrogen with a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), bazedoxifene, also called tissue-selective estrogen complex (TSEC), is projected as a progestogen-free option for the treatment of estrogen deficiency symptoms in postmenopausal, non-hysterectomized women. A combination conjugated estrogen 0.45 and 20 mg bazedoxifene tablet is effective in reducing VMS frequency and severity, as well as sleep parameters when compared to placebo [19]. In addition, TSEC has shown improvements in quality of life and vaginal atrophy. In respect to MHT using progestogens, the benefits of TSEC are found mainly in the bleeding pattern, amenorrhea rate, and reduction in mammary repercussion (i.e., breast tenderness and radiological density) [20]. It can be an alternative to conventional combined estrogen-progestin therapy. Its efficacy and safety have been evaluated in randomized controlled trials (RCT) compared with placebo or menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) [21], but long-term data are lacking.

# 22.5 MHT and Other Menopause-Related Symptoms

Other menopause-related symptoms including mood swings, sleep disturbance, sexual dysfunction, and myalgia may improve with MHT [22].

#### 22.5.1 Sleep Disturbance

Poor sleep quality is common in recently menopausal women. Sleep quality improved with MHT formulations. The relationship of VMS with domains of sleep suggests that assessing severity of symptoms and domains of sleep may help direct therapy to improve sleep for postmenopausal women [23].

#### 22.5.2 Mood Lability/Depression

During the menopausal transition, there is an increased risk of depressive symptoms and depressive disorders. Although there are few trials, it seems that treatment with estrogens, alone [24] or combined with progesterone [25, 26], which could minimize estradiol (E2) fluctuation and/or withdrawal, is an effective treatment for perimenopausal depression. MHT, alone or in combination with an antidepressant as a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), is effective for women who experience lability or depression of mood during the perimenopause [27].

#### 22.5.3 Joint Aches and Pains

It is unclear whether the pain is related to estrogen deficiency or a rheumatologic disorder, but MHT has been shown to have some benefit in alleviating arthralgia associated with menopausal transition and can be considered in women who report distressing vasomotor symptoms [28, 29]. SERMs and estrogen may represent therapeutic options to treat joint diseases in the future [30]. A new group of estrogen-related drugs, TSECs, may have the potential to protect other joint tissues [31].

#### 22.5.4 Sexual Function

The perimenopausal and postmenopausal periods are associated with many symptoms, including sexual complaints. MHT treatment with estrogens alone or in combination with progestogens was associated with a small to moderate improvement in sexual function, particularly in pain, when used in women with menopausal symptoms or in early postmenopause (within 5 years of amenorrhoea), but not in unselected postmenopausal women. Since oral estrogen increases the liver's production of sex hormone-binding globulin, resulting in lower free (bioavailable) testosterone, sexuality concerns may represent a reason to prefer the use of transdermal as opposed to oral estrogen [32].

Evidence regarding other MHTs (synthetic steroids and SERMs) is of low quality, and we are uncertain of their effect on sexual function. The current evidence does not suggest an important effect of tibolone or of SERMs alone or combined with estrogens on sexual function [33]. Available data are not adequate to provide counseling by the physicians in menopausal women regarding the efficacy of vaginal therapies as an alternative to estrogens, on all parameters of sexual function [34].

# 22.6 Urogenital Atrophy

The female genital and lower urinary tracts share a common embryological origin, arising from the urogenital sinus, and both are sensitive to the effects of the female sex steroid hormones, which may be the reason for frequent symptoms related to the lower urinary tract in menopause [35]. Recently, a panel of experts incorporated this increased frequency of urinary tract symptoms into a unifying concept called "genitourinary syndrome of menopause" (GSM) [36]. While the creation of a new medical entity has been widely debated and criticized, it highlights how menopause does not affect solely vaginal tissues.

The beneficial effects of estrogen therapy include both the improvement of symptoms associated with vaginal atrophy and the restoration of the vaginal anatomy [37]. Both systemic estrogen and vaginal estrogen are effective for the symptoms of genitourinary atrophy, although in women who only have GSM with no other menopausal symptoms (e.g., flashes), vaginal estrogens are more efficient. Vaginal estrogens can be used at any age, and progestogens typically are not prescribed to women using any of these products [38].

• A Cochrane review of 30 randomized, controlled trials involving 6235 women reported that the efficacy of any estrogenic formulation in relieving symptoms of VVA was similar [39].

#### 22.6.1 Promestriene

**Promestriene** is an analogue of estradiol which is minimally absorbed, and it has been shown to be effective in reversing atrophic changes caused by estrogen deficiency in women undergoing natural or surgically induced menopause. Given the absence of systemic activity, promestriene may be a good choice in women requiring purely locally estrogen and those who have survived or who are at risk of breast cancer and who have severe vulvovaginal symptoms [35]. There are little data available in the literature, mostly consisting of small, open-label, short duration studies and few RCTs. After a long-term market experience (almost 40 years), the side effects were very rarely reported in pharmacovigilance data, whereas the effectiveness to relieve atrophy was good [40].

#### 22.6.2 Ospemifene

**Ospemifene** is a systemic selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) that acts as an estrogen agonist in the vagina and appears to have no clinically significant estrogenic effect on the endometrium or breast. A 1-year clinical trial did not identify endometrial safety concerns [41]. However, hot flushes were reported by 7.2% of participants randomized to ospemifene 60 mg vs. 2.0% of those randomized to placebo. Although there may be the possibility of its use in breast cancer survivors who are disease-free and who have completed their anticancer treatment, as with systemic MHT and low-dose vaginal ET, package labelling for ospemifene cautions against using this medication in women with a personal history of breast cancer or thromboembolic disease.

The International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health (ISSWSH) stressed the importance of androgens for women with GSM as they support genitourinary tissue structure and function. In the vagina, androgens and estrogens regulate vaginal mucin production in epithelial cells, and sex steroid hormones may regulate androgen and estrogen expression in genitourinary tissues. Although positive immunostaining for estrogen and androgen has been demonstrated in human vulvar tissue, estrogen was less prevalent, and androgen was more prevalent when compared with vaginal tissue. Clitoral hypertrophy is considered one of the most sensitive markers for excess androgen production in women through menopause [42].

#### 22.6.3 Transdermal Testosterone

**Transdermal testosterone** has shown efficacy for the treatment of hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD) in both naturally and surgically postmenopausal women, either alone or in combination with estrogen [43]. In RCTs at 24 weeks in women with natural or surgical menopause and referring HSDD, a 300  $\mu$ g/day testosterone patch significantly improved the measures of primary efficacy of sexual desire and the frequency of satisfying sexual events (measured by patented instruments) versus placebo [44, 45]. Levels of sexually related distress also decreased significantly compared to placebo. However, given the concern about the long-term safety of the use of testosterone in postmenopausal women [46], their use has been declining.

Treatments for GSM should combine both androgenic and estrogenic actions, such as seen with esterified estrogens with methyltestosterone and tibolone, which exerts estrogenic, progestogenic, and androgenic effects.

#### 22.6.4 Vaginal Prasterone

**Vaginal prasterone**, another name for dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), an androgen derivative, has shown effectiveness in treating GSM [47]. In placebo-controlled

clinical trials, daily insertion of dehydroepiandrosterone vaginal ovules decreased vaginal pH, improved the vaginal epithelial maturation index and vaginal epithelial thickness and integrity, and increased vaginal secretions resulting in improvement in dyspareunia.

Clinical trial data addressing the use of vaginal testosterone are limited; longer as well as larger studies are needed to assess efficacy and safety. Information related to systemic testosterone therapy and low testosterone therapy for GSM is insufficient; more trials are needed in a postmenopausal population to determine whether testosterone therapies are beneficial.

Several RCTs have demonstrated that low-dose vaginal estrogen, intravaginal prasterone, and oral ospemifene effectively treat GSM and related dyspareunia. Although libido can improve with adequate treatment of dyspareunia, these biological improvements alone do not guarantee a good sexual response. However, DHEA has showed that all the six domains of the Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI) are improved over placebo (from P = 0.047 to 0.0005), by an action exerted exclusively at the level of the vagina, in the absence of biologically significant changes of serum steroids levels [48]. A study evaluated the long-term (52 weeks) effect of treatment with daily intravaginal 0.50% (6.5 mg) DHEA on the various domains of female sexual function using a questionnaire at baseline, week 26 and week 52 [49]. Postmenopausal women with at least one mild to severe symptom of VVA and who had completed the questionnaire at baseline and at least one post-baseline time point were included in the analysis (n = 154). All domains of sexual function analyzed increased as well as the total score [49]. Also, a randomized trial found that ospemifene (60 mg/day, 12 weeks) resulted in improvements in sexual pain, arousal, and desire domains of the FSFI, a validated measure of function sexual activity [50].

On the other hand, vaginal estrogens reduce irritative urinary symptoms, such as frequency and urgency, and have been demonstrated to reduce the likelihood of recurrent urinary tract infections in postmenopausal women [51]. Although incontinence is a significant problem for aging women, the effect of estrogen deficiency remains unclear [52].

• In a Cochrane review, 34 trials were identified which included approximately 19,676 incontinent women of whom 9599 received estrogen therapy (1464 involved in trials of local vaginal estrogen administration). Urinary incontinence may be improved with the use of local estrogen treatment. However, there was little evidence from the trials on the period after estrogen treatment had finished and no information about the long-term effects of this therapy was given. Conversely, systemic MHT using conjugated equine estrogen may worsen incontinence [53]. There were too few data to reliably address other aspects of estrogen therapy, such as estrogen type and dose, and no direct evidence comparing routes of administration.

Menopause is reckoned to be a key event associated with the emergence or a worsening of pelvic organ prolapse (POP). Symptoms and severity increase significantly across the menopausal transition [54]. Despite this, it is difficult to

differentiate the specific contribution of estrogen withdrawal from that of the aging process per se. Pelvic organs, and their muscular and connective tissue supports, are estrogen-responsive. The use of postmenopausal systemic hormone therapy also stimulates steroid hormone receptors in the pelvic floor [55]. Based on the Cochrane analysis, the impact of postmenopausal hormone therapy on the pelvic floor support is, however, still unclear [56]. Controversy remains as to whether the use of local estrogens before and/or after vaginal surgery is beneficial. The use of local estrogens improves the rate of vaginal maturation at the time of surgery and increases the thickness of the vaginal epithelium, but this does not translate into increased vaginal subepithelial/muscularis thickness [57], and, therefore, possible surgical advantages still need to be demonstrated.

# 22.7 Cardiovascular Effects

The effect of MHT on cardiovascular health remains unclear and controversial. The many of the apparent benefits of MHT observed in epidemiologic studies were not found in the randomized trials. Rather than a reduction in risk of CHD events, an increase was seen [58, 59]. Possible methodologic explanations for the striking difference in CHD data include "healthy user" bias, older age of the study population, and timing of initiation of therapy.

The impact of age and years since menopause on the relationship between MHT initiation and health outcomes, also known as the *timing hypothesis*, has been identified as one of the important factors explaining the complex, and sometimes discrepant, findings. Specifically, it has been found that women who were less than 10 years from menopause or aged between 50 and 59 years at baseline when MHT was started had lower *hazard ratios* (HR) for CHD than women initiating MHT at an older age [60], which in turn would be related to the health of the underlying vascular tissue or other factors, such as the reduction in or downregulation of estrogen receptors (ER) [61].

In fact, available scientific evidence supports the hypothesis that MHT halts progression of atherosclerosis in women whose menopause is of recent onset but that it would have a neutral or adverse effect in older women or if it is started more than 10 years after onset of the menopause. In addition, when initiated late in the atherosclerotic process, MHT could have adverse effects, potentially destabilizing existing plaques and triggering a coronary event [62, 63]. There is greater support for the possibility that the metabolic effects of estrogens can vary with age and time since onset of the menopause, and there is evidence that ER may be more functional and sensitive at the initiation of the menopause than afterward. As a result, any preventive treatment for CHD, including MHT, is more effective in younger women with less established atherosclerosis.

However, although there is biological plausibility, the "timing" hypothesis has not been tested in an RCT as hard endpoints of myocardial infarction or CVD mortality are not possible in a young healthy population. Use of "intermediate" endpoints with a high correlation to CHD has been proposed and has been incorporated into the design of ongoing RCTs, namely, KEEPS and ELITE.

- The *Early* versus *Late Intervention Trial with Estradiol* (ELITE) attempted to demonstrate the *timing hypothesis* for atherosclerosis progression [64]. The main finding was that women who started MHT within 6 years of menopause had a significantly lower atheroma progression than those who initiated it beyond 10 years past of menopause. These findings support a benefit of MHT in the primary prevention of CHD, particularly when it begins near the onset of menopause.
- Kronos Early Estrogen Prevention Study (KEEPS) is a multicenter, randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial, designed to test the hypothesis that low-dose MHT, either oral or transdermal, along with oral micronized progesterone, initiated in recently postmenopausal women will reduce the progression of subclinical atherosclerosis, defined by carotid artery intima-media thickness and coronary artery calcification.

After 4 years of early use of MHT, the progression of atherosclerosis was not affected despite improving some markers of cardiovascular disease risk [65]. At first glance, the first KEEPS results were frustrating, since many expected to see clear cardioprotective outcomes in hormone users, which apparently was not the case. However, these KEEPS results are not surprising, since they reflect the almost nil expected progression of atherosclerosis during 4 years of follow-up in recently menopausal healthy women who had no atherosclerotic burden at the beginning of the study [66].

In addition, there is evidence that factors related to the type, the dose, and the route of delivery of MHT affect the risk of cardiovascular disease. Not only that, but there is strong suggestion that low-dose MHT via the transdermal route does not increase the risk of VTE, and biological data support this difference between oral and transdermal estrogens [64, 67]. However, KEEPS did not find any meaningful differences between transdermal and oral MHT with regard to effects on thromboembolic and cardiovascular markers (VTE and CVD events were not assessed) [65].

The use of a progestogen and its type most probably has an impact on cardiovascular risk: norpregnane derivatives are associated with higher risk of VTE, whereas micronized progesterone appears safe [68, 69]. In conclusion, transdermal estrogens alone or combined with micronized progesterone may represent the safest alternative for women who require MHT [67].

So far, there is no firm support for the use of MHT solely for the prevention of CHD, but evidence of the use of MHT in the primary prevention of CHD in postmenopausal women continues to accumulate.

# 22.8 Cognition, Mood, and Psychosocial Functioning

Although a relationship between the development of cognitive impairment and lifestyle-related risk factors, such as obesity, tobacco, and alcohol use, has been reported, age is still the strongest risk factor for dementia and other neurodegenerative

disorders [70]. Estrogen has an array of action mechanisms underlying cognitive benefits [71]. Recently, some studies reported a significant effect of estrogen on DNA repair enzymes in the brain [72]. However, research on this issue and the related mechanisms are still scarce.

Many observational studies and meta-analyses agree that the use of estrogens in mid-life reduces a woman's risk of subsequent dementia, whereas MHT initiation in late life could have deleterious effects [73]. Regarding the impact of estrogen on cognition, the effects of timing, route of administration, and dosage remain to be clarified. The timing hypothesis for dementia has been recently challenged by RCT [74] assessing the impact of oral estrogen on cognition.

Three large randomized trials found that MHT initiated early in menopause and continued for less than 7 years had no impact on cognitive function [26, 74, 75]. The Cache County (Utah) long-term prospective cohort study, however, found that MHT started early in menopause and continued for 10 years or longer was associated with a significant reduction in risk of Alzheimer's disease (AD) or other dementia [76].

Of note are results from the 2017 report of 18-year cumulative mortality among WHI participants [77]. In that study, mortality from AD and other dementia was lower among participants who were randomly assigned to treatment with estrogen alone versus placebo (HR, 0.74; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.59–0.94). With estrogen-progestin therapy, the HR was 0.93 (95% CI, 0.77–1.11), and the *pooled* HR for the 2 trials was 0.85 (95% CI, 0.74–0.98) [77].

Cognitive impacts of progestogen differ widely by preparation. Analogous to estrogen, natural progesterone (P4) could be neuroprotective, stimulate synaptic plasticity, and enhance hippocampal neurogenesis [78]. Moreover, P4 might improve cholinergic neurotransmission. In animal and in vitro experiments, synergistic effects of  $E_2$  and P4 have been reported [79]. Small, short-term clinical trials of progesterone show no meaningful effect on cognition. The quality of evidence is low, but overall findings do not reveal consistent, clinically important effects of progesterone on cognitive function in women [80].

Although MHT should not be considered in the prevention of dementia, these new studies reinforce the "critical window" hypothesis [81], leaving open the possibility that initiating systemic MHT soon after the onset of menopause (especially in surgical menopause) and continuing it in the long term may have positive cognitive benefits and may decrease the risk of AD. It is necessary to evaluate the individual characteristics of the patients, the possible benefits and risks, and ongoing assessment over time.

Based on findings from observational studies, the timing hypothesis posits that estrogen may preserve neurologic function and decrease the risk of dementia when administered early in menopause; however, the effects may be neutral or even harmful if estrogen is initiated later in life [75, 76].

## 22.9 Cancer

Sex steroids are not known to damage DNA directly. They can stimulate or inhibit cell proliferation and thus can modulate tumor developmental progression. However, it is important to consider that not all estrogens and progestins are used with the same dosage and route of administration (for oral, transdermal, and estradiol intranasal) and, mostly, different estrogens do not show the same bioavailability and tissue effects. The available data do not allow to discriminate for all these variables, and therefore it is inappropriate to consider jointly all forms of hormonal therapy.

During the 18 years of follow-up Women's Health Initiative (WHI) studies, cancer mortality rates were almost identical between hormone users and nonusers (8.2% vs. 8.0%; HR, 1.03 [95% CI, 0.95–1.12]) [77].

#### 22.9.1 Breast Cancer

The relationship between estrogens to postmenopausal development of breast cancer (BC) is controversial, and the results of studies with respect to causality are mixed. Both in the original WHI study and in the long-term follow-up of this population, the incidence of BC increased with combined EP-MHT. The use of estrogen only was paradoxically associated with a decrease in BC incidence [82, 83].

The slightly increased relative risk of BC could have been related to the duration of hormone use or the sequential administration of progestin therapy or even the progestogen formulation itself. In contrast, MHT users had more localized tumors and better survival rates. Individual risks were very small. Several other studies have reported differences in risk related to the type of MHT regimen.

- The safer risk profile of natural progesterone and dydrogesterone respects to other synthetic progestins, as showed in the E3N study, a French observational study of teachers, on menopausal MHT [84]. The increase in risk of breast cancer observed with the use of synthetic progestogens seems to apply preferentially to ER+ carcinomas, especially those ER+/PR-, and to affect both ductal and lobular carcinomas [85].
- Similarly, a Finnish observational study reported that sequential progestin use resulted in a smaller increased risk of BC than did continuous progestin use, but one should note that in this study most patients used NETA [86].

Regarding BC, the time hypothesis is also supported by several studies. Contrary to what happens in the cardiovascular and cognitive systems, starting therapy later than 5 years after the onset of menopause is associated with a significant reduction in BC risk, because the estrogen deprivation associated with menopause determines a sensitization of breast cancer cells to the proapoptotic effects of estrogen, whereas immediate initiation has no advantageous effects [87]. Furthermore, hormone receptor-positive breast cancers in postmenopausal women respond to treatment with high-dose estrogen therapy, while similar tumors in premenopausal women do not. This paradoxical response to addition or deprivation of estrogen can explain both decrease in BC after initiation of MHT and the decrease following cessation of treatment [88].

#### 22.9.2 Another Cancer

We do not consider ovarian cancer to be a major consideration when deciding to take MHT for symptomatic relief, because the absolute risk of ovarian cancer with MHT is very low. On the other hand, we did not consider in the assessment of the use of MTH the positive effect on the risk of colorectal cancer seen with combined conjugated equine estrogen-medroxyprogesterone acetate use [89].

# 22.10 Osteoporotic Fracture

Numerous studies have shown the effectiveness of MHT in preventing bone loss in postmenopausal women with and without osteoporosis. From a regulatory perspective, it may be rational to separate the indication of MHT for prevention from treatment of osteoporosis. But both prevention and treatment of osteoporosis share a common clinical goal, which is prevention of fractures. The efficacy of MHT on fracture reduction in postmenopausal osteoporotic women has been demonstrated in some small RCTs [90, 91]; however, there are no large long-term RCTs (i.e., more than 2–3 years as required by the Regulatory Agencies for bone mineral density data).

Given that bone mineral density (BMD) is considered a surrogate marker for osteoporotic fracture and that there are other approved osteoporosis drugs, highquality antifracture evidence of MTH in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis may be forever unavailable.

Although the effect of BMD preservation dissipates rapidly after discontinuation of MHT [92], it seems that there is no accelerated bone loss [93] or rebound fracture risk after stopping MHT [94]. Limited evidence suggests that the longterm residual bone preservative benefit may extend for years after the interruption of MHT [94]. Evidence from both human and animal studies suggests that estrogen can enhance muscle mass and strength [95] and increase collagen content and preserve the health of collagen-rich tissues, including the intervertebral discs [96]. Women reporting continuous or remote past MHT use had significantly less pronounced kyphosis than never users by their mid-80s [97]. Maintenance of lean paraspinal muscle mass and intervertebral disc heights is essential to prevent kyphosis and vertebral fracture.

Along with a "timing hypothesis" supported by a critical mass of data and emerging evidence of residual skeletal benefit after HT discontinuation, MHT as a bone-sparing agent has a distinct value in treating postmenopausal women with or without established osteoporosis. It may be considered first-line therapy for some patients with appropriate indications mentioned above.

# 22.11 Mortality

A new analysis from the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) randomized trials examined all-cause and cause-specific mortality during the intervention and postintervention follow-up periods (total cumulative follow-up of 18 years) [77]. The primary outcome measure was all-cause mortality in the two pooled trials and in each trial individually. There was no link between MHT and all-cause mortality in the overall study population (ages 50–79) in either trial. However, there was a trend toward lower all-cause mortality among the younger women in both trials. In women aged 50–59, there was a statistically significant 31% lower risk of mortality in the pooled trials among women taking active MHT compared with those taking placebo, but no reduction in mortality with MHT among older women (P for trend by age = 0.01) [77].

# 22.12 Conclusions

Hormone therapy continues to have an important clinical role in the management of menopausal symptoms. Currently available evidence does not support the use of MHT for chronic disease prevention. However, the absolute risks of adverse events in younger women are much lower than in older women, and the quality-of-life benefits are likely to outweigh the risks for many women who seek treatment for symptoms in early menopause. Given the lack of validated primary prevention strategies other than lifestyle changes for younger women (<60 years), MHT is considered a good strategy—taking into account current knowledge thereof—for reducing the risk of osteoporosis fractures in menopausal women and for reducing the frequency of CHD and general mortality of women in their sixth decade (or in the 10 years since onset of the menopause), unless there are specific contraindications.

In conclusion, our understanding of the benefits and risks of MHT has advanced substantially. The guidance for physicians and women should reflect this evolution and emphasize the individualization and shared decision-making that facilitates appropriate decisions regarding the use of MHT.

### References

- US Preventive Services Task Force, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Davidson KW, Doubeni CA, Epling JW Jr, Kemper AR, Krist AH, Kurth AE, Landefeld CS, Mangione CM, Phipps MG, Silverstein M, Simon MA, Tseng CW. Hormone therapy for the primary prevention of chronic conditions in postmenopausal women: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2017;318(22):2224–33.
- Marjoribanks J, Farquhar C, Roberts H, Lethaby A, Lee J. Long-term hormone therapy for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(1):CD004143.
- Cano A, Rees M, Simoncini T. Comments on the USPSTF draft recommendation statement on menopausal hormone therapy: primary prevention of chronic conditions. Maturitas. 2018;107:A1–2.

- Manson JE, Kaunitz A. Menopause management: getting clinical care back on track. N Engl J Med. 2019;374:803–6.
- Taylor HS, Manson JE. Update in hormone therapy use in menopause. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(2):255–64.
- Choi DS, Lee DY, Yoon BK. Effects of transdermal estrogen gel in postmenopausal Korean women. J Korean Soc Menopause. 2012;18:113–8.
- Naunton M, Al Hadithy AF, Brouwers JR, Archer DF. Estradiol gel: review of the pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, efficacy, and safety in menopausal women. Menopause. 2006;13(3):517–27.
- Gompel A. Progesterone, progestins and the endometrium in perimenopause and in menopausal hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2018;21(4):321–5.
- 9. Furness S, Roberts H, Marjoribanks J, Lethaby A. Hormone therapy in postmenopausal women and risk of endometrial hyperplasia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(8):CD000402.
- 10. Mirkin S. Evidence on the use of progesterone in menopausal hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2018;21(4):346–54.
- Depypere H, Inki P. The levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system for endometrial protection during estrogen replacement therapy: a clinical review. Climacteric. 2015;18(4): 470–82.
- 12. Faubion SS, Kaunitz AM. Stopping systemic menopausal hormone therapy: why, when and how. Maturitas. 2016;89:3–4.
- Sánchez-Borrego R, Llaneza P, Mendoza N, Comino R, Ferrer J, Baquedano L, Jurado AR, Manubens M, Otero B, Lubián D, Coronado P, Cancelo MJ, Calaf J, Palacios S. AEEM-SEGO position statement on menopausal hormone therapy. Progr Obstet Gynecol. 2018;61(3): 232–6.
- Pinkerton JV. What are the concerns about custom-compounded "bioidentical" hormone therapy? Menopause. 2014;21(12):1298–300.
- Mendoza N, Juliá MD, Galliano D, Coronado P, Díaz B, Fontes J, Gallo JL, García A, Guinot M, Munnamy M, Roca B, Sosa M, Tomás J, Llaneza P, Sánchez-Borrego R. Spanish consensus on premature menopause. Maturitas. 2015;80(2):220–5.
- Maclennan AH, Broadbent JL, Lester S, Moore V. Oral oestrogen and combined oestrogen/progestogen therapy versus placebo for hot flushes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(4):CD002978.
- Mendoza N, Abad P, Baró F, Cancelo MJ, Llaneza P, Manubens M, Quereda F, Sánchez-Borrego R. Spanish menopause society position statement: use of tibolone in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2013;20(7):754–60.
- Formoso G, Perrone E, Maltoni S, Balduzzi S, D'Amico R, Bassi C, Basevi V, Marata AM, Magrini N, Maestri E. Short and long term effects of tibolone in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(2):CD008536.
- Pickar JH, Boucher M, Morgenstern D. Tissue selective estrogen complex (TSEC): a review. Menopause. 2018;25(9):1033–45.
- Llaneza P, Calaf J, Jurado AR, Mendoza N, Otero B, Quereda F, Sánchez-Borrego R, Lubian D. What do TSECs provide in the menopausal hormone therapy? Gynecol Endocrinol. 2018;34:826–32.
- Baquedano L, Sánchez-Borrego R, Abad P, Jurado AR, Manubens M, Mendoza N. Innovative treatment in menopause: tissue-selective estrogen complex (TSEC). Reprod Med Int. 2018;1(1):1–5.
- de Villiers TJ, Hall JE, Pinkerton JV, Cerdas Pérez S, Rees M, Yang C, Pierroz DD. Revised global consensus statement on menopausal hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2016;19(4):313–5.
- 23. Cintron D, Lahr BD, Bailey KR, Santoro N, Lloyd R, Manson JE, Neal-Perry G, Pal L, Taylor HS, Wharton W, Naftolin F, Harman SM, Miller VM. Effects of oral versus transdermal menopausal hormone treatments on self-reported sleep domains and their association with vasomotor symptoms in recently menopausal women enrolled in the Kronos early Estrogen prevention study (KEEPS). Menopause. 2018;25(2):145–53.

- Joffe H, Petrillo LF, Koukopoulos A, et al. Increased estradiol and improved sleep, but not hot flashes, predict enhanced mood during the menopausal transition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(7):E1044–54.
- 25. Soares CN, Arsenio H, Joffe H, et al. Escitalopram versus ethinyl estradiol and norethindrone acetate for symptomatic peri- and postmenopausal women: impact on depression, vasomotor symptoms, sleep, and quality of life. Menopause. 2006;13(5):780–6.
- 26. Gleason CE, Dowling NM, Wharton W, et al. Effects of hormone therapy on cognition and mood in recently postmenopausal women: findings from the randomized, controlled KEEPScognitive and affective study. PLoS Med. 2015;12(6):e1001833.
- Gordon JL, Rubinow DR, Eisenlohr-Moul TA, Xia K, Schmidt PJ, Girdler SS. Efficacy of transdermal Estradiol and micronized progesterone in the prevention of depressive symptoms in the menopause transition: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiat. 2018;75(2):149–57.
- 28. Barnabei VM, Cochrane BB, Aragaki AK, Nygaard I, Williams RS, McGovern PG, Young RL, Wells EC, O'Sullivan MJ, Chen B, Schenken R, Johnson SR, Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Menopausal symptoms and treatment-related effects of estrogen and progestin in the Women's Health Initiative. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;105(5 Pt 1):1063.
- 29. Chlebowski RT, Cirillo DJ, Eaton CB, Stefanick ML, Pettinger M, Carbone LD, Johnson KC, Simon MS, Woods NF, Wactawski-Wende J. Estrogen alone and joint symptoms in the Women's Health Initiative randomized trial. Menopause. 2013;20(6):600.
- 30. Xiao YP, Tian FM, Dai MW, Wang WY, Shao LT, Zhang L. Are estrogen-related drugs new alternatives for the management of osteoarthritis? Arthritis Res Ther. 2016;18:151.
- Komm BS, Vlasseros F, Samadfam R, Chouinard L, Smith SY. Skeletal effects of bazedoxifene paired with conjugated estrogens in ovariectomized rats. Bone. 2011;49:376–86.
- 32. Taylor HS, Tal A, Pal L, et al. Effects of oral vs transdermal estrogen therapy on sexual function in early post menopause: ancillary study of the Kronos early estrogen prevention study (KEEPS). JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177(10):1471–9.
- 33. Nastri CO, Lara LA, Ferriani RA, Rosa-E-Silva AC, Figueiredo JB, Martins WP. Hormone therapy for sexual function in perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(6):CD009672.
- 34. Pitsouni E, Grigoriadis T, Douskos A, Kyriakidou M, Falagas ME, Athanasiou S. Efficacy of vaginal therapies alternative to vaginal estrogens on sexual function and orgasm of menopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2018;229:45–56.
- 35. Sánchez-Borrego R, Manubens M, Navarro MC, Cancelo MJ, Beltrán E, Duran M, Orte T, Baquedano L, Palacios S, Mendoza N, Spanish Menopause Society. Position of the Spanish menopause society regarding vaginal health care in postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2014;78(2):146–50.
- 36. Portman DJ, Gass ML, Vulvovaginal Atrophy Terminology Consensus Conference Panel. Genitourinary syndrome of menopause: new terminology for vulvovaginal atrophy from the International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health and the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2014;21:1063–8.
- Robinson D, Toozs-Hobson P, Cardozo L. The effect of hormones on the lower urinary tract. Menopause Int. 2013;19(4):155–62.
- 38. Nappi RE, Davis SR. The use of hormone therapy for the maintenance of urogynecological and sexual health post WHI. Climacteric. 2012;15(3):267–74.
- 39. Lethaby A, Ayeleke RO, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(8):CD001500.
- 40. Del Pup L, Di Francia R, Cavaliere C, Facchini G, Giorda G, De Paoli P, Berretta M. Promestriene, a specific topic estrogen. Review of 40 years of vaginal atrophy treatment: is it safe even in cancer patients? Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2013;24(10):989–98.
- 41. Simon J, Portman D, Mabey RG Jr, Ospemifene Study Group. Long-term safety of ospemifene (52-week extension) in the treatment of vulvar and vaginal atrophy in hysterectomized postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2014;77(3):274–81.

- 42. Simon JA, Goldstein I, Kim NN, Davis SR, Kellogg-Spadt S, Lowenstein L, Pinkerton JV, Stuenkel CA, Traish AM, Archer DF, Bachmann G, Goldstein AT, Nappi RE, Vignozzi L. The role of androgens in the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM): International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health (ISSWSH) expert consensus panel review. Menopause. 2018;25(7):837–47.
- 43. Davis SR, Worsley R, Miller KK, Parish SJ, Santoro N. Androgens and female sexual function and dysfunction—findings from the fourth international consultation of sexual medicine. J Sex Med. 2016;13:168–78.
- 44. Simon J, Braunstein G, Nachtigall L, Utian W, Katz M, Miller S, Waldbaum A, Bouchard C, Derzko C, Buch A, Rodenberg C, Lucas J, Davis S. Testosterone patch increases sexual activity and desire in surgically menopausal women with hypoactive sexual desire disorder. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(9):5226–33.
- 45. Shifren JL, Davis SR, Moreau M, Waldbaum A, Bouchard C, DeRogatis L, Derzko C, Bearnson P, Kakos N, O'Neill S, Levine S, Wekselman K, Buch A, Rodenberg C, Kroll R. Testosterone patch for the treatment of hypoactive sexual desire disorder in naturally menopausal women: results from the INTIMATE NM1 study. Menopause. 2006;13(5):770–9.
- 46. Nachtigall L, Casson P, Lucas J, Schofield V, Melson C, Simon JA. Safety and tolerability of testosterone patch therapy for up to 4 years in surgically menopausal women receiving oral or transdermal oestrogen. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2011;27:39–48.
- 47. Labrie F, Archer DF, Koltun W, Vachon A, Young D, Frenette L, Portman D, Montesino M, Côté I, Parent J, Lavoie L, Beauregard A, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Balser J, Moyneur É, VVA Prasterone Research Group. Efficacy of intravaginal dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) on moderate to severe dyspareunia and vaginal dryness, symptoms of vulvovaginal atrophy, and of the genitourinary syndrome of menopause. Menopause. 2016;23(3):243–56.
- 48. Labrie F, Derogatis L, Archer DF, Koltun W, Vachon A, Young D, Frenette L, Portman D, Montesino M, Côté I, Parent J, Lavoie L, Beauregard A, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Balser J, Moyneur É, Members of the VVA Prasterone Research Group. Effect of intravaginal prasterone on sexual dysfunction in postmenopausal women with vulvovaginal atrophy. J Sex Med. 2015;12(12):2401–12.
- 49. Bouchard C, Labrie F, Derogatis L, Girard G, Ayotte N, Gallagher J, Cusan L, Archer DF, Portman D, Lavoie L, Beauregard A, Côté I, Martel C, Vaillancourt M, Balser J, Moyneur E, VVA Prasterone Group. Effect of intravaginal dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) on the female sexual function in postmenopausal women: ERC-230 open-label study. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2016;25(3):181–90.
- 50. Constantine G, Graham S, Portman DJ, Rosen RC, Kingsberg SA. Female sexual function improved with ospemifene in postmenopausal women with vulvar and vaginal atrophy: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Climacteric. 2015;18(2):226–32.
- 51. Stamm WE. Estrogens and urinary-tract infection. J Infect Dis. 2007;195(5):623.
- 52. Pérez-López FR, Cuadros JL, Fernández-Alonso AM, Chedraui P, Sánchez-Borrego R, Monterrosa A. Urinary incontinence, related factors and menopause-related quality of life in mid-aged women assessed with the Cervantes scale. Maturitas. 2012;73(4):369–72.
- Cody JD, Jacobs ML, Richardson K, Moehrer B, Hextall A. Oestrogen therapy for urinary incontinence in post-menopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(10): CD001405.
- 54. Giannini A, Russo E, Cano A, Chedraui P, Goulis DG, Lambrinoudaki I, Lopes P, Mishra G, Mueck A, Rees M, Senturk LM, Stevenson JC, Stute P, Tuomikoski P, Simoncini T. Current management of pelvic organ prolapse in aging women: EMAS clinical guide. Maturitas. 2018;110:118–23.
- Fuermetz A, Schoenfeld M, Ennemoser S, Muetzel E, Jeschke U, Jundt K. Change of steroid receptor expression in the posterior vaginal wall after local estrogen therapy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2015;187:45–50.
- Ismail SI, Bain C, Hagen S. Oestrogens for treatment or prevention of pelvic organ prolapse in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;(9):CD007063.

- Rahn DD, Good MM, Roshanravan SM, Shi H, Schaffer JI, Singh RJ, et al. Effects of preoperative local estrogen in postmenopausal women with prolapse: a randomized trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99:3728–36.
- Rossouw JE, Prentice RL, Manson JE, et al. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of cardiovascular disease by age and years since menopause. JAMA. 2007;297:1465.
- 59. Anderson GL, Limacher M, Assaf AR, et al. Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2004;291:1701.
- Clarkson TB, Meléndez GC, Appt SE. Timing hypothesis for postmenopausal hormone therapy: its origin, current status, and future. Menopause. 2013;20(3):342–53.
- Usselman CW, Stachenfeld NS, Bender JR. The molecular actions of oestrogen in the regulation of vascular health. Exp Physiol. 2016;101(3):356–61.
- 62. Hodis HN, Mack WJ. The timing hypothesis and hormone replacement therapy: a paradigm shift in the primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women. 1. Comparison of therapeutic efficacy. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61:1005–10.
- 63. Hodis HN, Mack WJ. The timing hypothesis and hormone replacement therapy: a paradigm shift in the primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women. 2. Comparative risks. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61:1011–8.
- 64. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Henderson VW, et al.; for the ELITE Research Group. Vascular effects of early versus late postmenopausal treatment with estradiol. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(13):1221–1231.
- 65. Harman SM, Black DM, Naftolin F, Brinton EA, Budoff MJ, Cedars MI, Hopkins PN, Lobo RA, Manson JE, Merriam GR, Miller VM, Neal-Perry G, Santoro N, Taylor HS, Vittinghoff E, Yan M, Hodis HN. Arterial imaging outcomes and cardiovascular risk factors in recently menopausal women: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161(4):249–60.
- 66. Pines A. KEEPS results: a true frustration? Climacteric. 2015;18(2):110-1.
- 67. Canonico M. Hormone therapy and risk of venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2015;82(3):304–7.
- 68. Canonico M, Oger E, Plu-Bureau G, Conard J, Meyer G, Levesque H, Trillot N, Barrellier MT, Wahl D, Emmerich J, Scarabin PY, Estrogen and Thromboembolism Risk Study Group. Hormone therapy and venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women: impact of the route of estrogen administration and progestogens: the ESTHER study. Circulation. 2007;115:840–5.
- Canonico M, Fournier A, Carcaillon L, Olie V, Plu-Bureau G, Oger E, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, Clavel-Chapelon F, Scarabin PY. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of idiopathic venous thromboembolism: results from the E3N cohort study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30:340–5.
- World Health Statistics. Mental health of older adults. 2017. www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs381/en/.
- 71. Luine VN. Estradiol and cognitive function: past, present and future. Horm Behav. 2014;66(4):602–18.
- Zárate S, Stevnsner T, Gredilla R. Role of estrogen and other sex hormones in brain aging. Neuroprotection and DNA repair. Front Aging Neurosci. 2017;9:430.
- 73. Whitmer RA, Quesenberry CP, Zhou J, Yaffe K. Timing of hormone therapy and dementia: the critical window theory revisited. Ann Neurol. 2011;69(1):163–9.
- 74. Henderson VW, St John JA, Hodis HN, McCleary CA, Stanczyk FZ, Shoupe D, Kono N, Dustin L, Allayee H, Mack WJ. Cognitive effects of estradiol after menopause: a randomized trial of the timing hypothesis. Neurology. 2016;87(7):699–708.
- 75. Espeland MA, Shumaker SA, Leng I, Manson JE, Brown CM, LeBlanc ES, Vaughan L, Robinson J, Rapp SR, Goveas JS, Wactawski-Wende J, Stefanick ML, Li W, Resnick SM, WHIMSY Study Group. Long-term effects on cognitive function of postmenopausal hormone therapy prescribed to women aged 50 to 55 years. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(15):1429–36.
- 76. Shao H, Breitner JC, Whitmer RA, Wang J, Hayden K, Wengreen H, Corcoran C, Tschanz J, Norton M, Munger R, Welsh-Bohmer K, Zandi PP, Cache County Investigators. Hormone ther-

apy and Alzheimer disease dementia: new findings from the Cache County study. Neurology. 2012;79(18):1846–52.

- 77. Manson JE, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Chlebowski RT, Howard BV, Thomson CA, Margolis KL, Lewis CE, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Johnson KC, Martin LW, Shumaker SA, Espeland MA, Wactawski-Wende J, WHI Investigators. Menopausal hormone therapy and long-term all-cause and cause-specific mortality: the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. JAMA. 2017;318(10):927–38.
- Barros LA, Tufik S, Andersen ML. The role of progesterone in memory: an overview of three decades. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;49:193–204.
- 79. Yoon BK, Kim DK, Kang Y, Kim JW, Shin MH, Na DL. Hormone replacement therapy in women with Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, prospective study. Fertil Steril. 2003;79:274–80.
- 80. Henderson VW. Progesterone and human cognition. Climacteric. 2018;21(4):333-40.
- Zandi PP, Carlson MC, Plassman BL, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Mayer LS, Steffens DC, Breitner JC, Cache County Memory Study Investigators. Hormone replacement therapy and incidence of Alzheimer disease in older women: the Cache County study. JAMA. 2002;288(17): 2123–9.
- 82. Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperberg C, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Beresford SA, Howard BV, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM, Ockene J, Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288(3):321–33.
- LaCroix AZ, Chlebowski RT, Manson JE, et al.; WHI Investigators. Health outcomes after stopping conjugated equine estrogens among postmenopausal women with prior hysterectomy: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2011;305:1305–1314.
- Fournier A, Berrino F, Clavel-Chapelon F. Unequal risks for breast cancer associated with different hormone replacement therapies: results from the E3N cohort study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;107:103–11.
- Fournier A, Fabre A, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, Berrino F, Clavel-Chapelon F. Use of different postmenopausal hormone therapies and risk of histology- and hormone receptordefined invasive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:1260–8.
- Lyytinen H, Pukkala E, Ylikorkala O. Breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women using estradiol–progestogen therapy. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113:65–73.
- Fournier A, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, Clavel-Chapelon F. Estrogen-progestagen menopausal hormone therapy and breast cancer: does delay from menopause onset to treatment initiation influence risks? J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:5138–43.
- Plotogea MN, Ionescu OM, Bratila E, Comandasu DE, Berceanu C, Mehedintu C. Hormone replacement therapy and the impact of "gap time" in cardiovascular versus breast cancer risk. Maturitas. 2017;100:152.
- Chlebowski RT, Wactawski-Wende J, Ritenbaugh C, Hubbell FA, Ascensao J, Rodabough RJ, et al. Estrogen plus progestin and colorectal cancer in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:991–1004.
- Lufkin EG, Wahner HW, O'Fallon WM, Hodgson SF, Kotowicz MA, Lane AW, Judd HL, Caplan RH, Riggs BL. Treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis with transdermal estrogen. Ann Intern Med. 1992;117(1):1–9.
- Ishida Y, Kawai S. Comparative efficacy of hormone replacement therapy, etidronate, calcitonin, alfacalcidol, and vitamin K in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: the Yamaguchi Osteoporosis Prevention Study. Am J Med. 2004;117(8):549–55.
- 92. Manson JE, Chlebowski RT, Stefanick ML, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, Prentice RL, Anderson G, Howard BV, Thomson CA, LaCroix AZ, Wactawski-Wende J, Jackson RD, Limacher M, Margolis KL, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Beresford SA, Cauley JA, Eaton CB, Gass M, Hsia J, et al. The Women's Health Initiative hormone therapy trials: update and overview of health outcomes during the intervention and post-stopping phases. JAMA. 2013;310(13): 1353–68.

- 93. Papadakis G, Hans D, González-Rodríguez E, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Marques-Vidal PM, Lamy O. The benefit of menopausal hormone therapy on bone density and microarchitecture persists after its withdrawal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(12):5004–11.
- 94. Watts NB, Cauley JA, Jackson RD, LaCroix AZ, Lewis CE, Manson JE, Neuner JM, Phillips LS, Stefanick ML, Wactawski-Wende J, Crandall C, Women's Health Initiative Investigators. No increase in fracture after stopping hormone therapy: results from the Women's Health Initiative. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(1):302–8.
- 95. Tiidus PM. Benefits of estrogen replacement for skeletal muscle mass and function in post-menopausal females: evidence from human and animal studies. Eurasian J Med. 2011;43:109–14.
- Calleja-Agius J, Muscat-Baron Y, Brincat MP. Estrogens and the intervertebral disc. Menopause Int. 2009;15:127–30.
- Woods GN, Huang M-H, Cawthon PM, McDaniels-Davidson C, Fink HA, Kado DM, Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF) Research Group. Patterns of menopausal hormone therapy use and hyperkyphosis in older women. Menopause. 2018;25(7):738–43.



23

# Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs): State of the Art

Santiago Palacios

# 23.1 Introduction

During and after menopause, women may experience various symptoms, such as vasomotor symptoms and genitourinary syndrome associated with menopause, attributable to the decrease in estrogen levels, with the consequent physiological changes [1]. In addition, there has been shown to be a strong link between decreased estrogen levels and loss of bone mass with the consequent risk of osteoporosis and fracture [2].

Hot flushes affect 50-82% of women undergoing menopause [3], and 40-50% have vaginal atrophy [4]. In addition, more than 40% of women have low bone mass between the ages of 50 and 60 [5].

Estrogen therapy at menopause is considered the number one treatment for both hot flushes and vulvovaginal atrophy, and most scientific societies consider estrogen therapy to be a very effective treatment for the prevention and/or treatment of osteoporosis [2, 6-8].

But estrogen therapy, even local, has its contraindications. After any gynecological or hormone-dependent cancer, it is preferable to start with non-hormonal therapies [8]. On the other hand, in general, concerns about the possible stimulating effects of systemic estrogen on the breast and endometrium as well as other negative effects of long-term estrogen treatment may be a barrier to its use [9]. Another important point is that adherence to drugs prescribed for long-term conditions is often poor [10, 11].

Therefore, the search for an alternative to estrogen therapy, both systemic and local, has proved necessary. Selective estrogen receptor modulators have been used for more than 30 years and have made it possible to avoid many of the side effects of estrogens. The possibility of them being used for the therapeutic purpose of treating

S. Palacios (🖂)

Instituto Palacios de Salud y Medicina de la Mujer, Madrid, Spain e-mail: spalacios@institutopalacios.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_23

osteoporosis and vulvovaginal atrophy has been investigated. The result of this is the emergence of various selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) with different applications, ranging from the prevention and treatment of breast cancer to the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis or even dyspareunia and vulvovaginal atrophy.

The aim of this paper is to briefly compare the pharmacology of different SERMs and provide a detailed review of the available clinical data on their effects. The relevant English-language articles, published between 1985 and 2018, were first identified through a PubMed database search with the search string "selective estrogen receptor modulator or SERM." Furthermore, a specific review has been made of each individual SERM.

# 23.2 Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators

SERMs are compounds with a molecular structure different from that of steroids. They share their selective binding to estrogen receptors (ER) with steroids and produce an estrogen agonist or antagonist effect depending on the target cell and hormonal environment. They have been developed with the aim of producing specific positive estrogenic effects on some target tissues, but with negative or neutral estrogenic effects on other tissues [12].

They were first known as antiestrogens and developed for the treatment of breast cancer. The four best known SERMs are tamoxifen, raloxifene, bazedoxifene, and ospemifene, wherein tamoxifen is currently being used for the prevention and treatment of breast cancer, both raloxifene and bazedoxifene for the treatment of osteoporosis, and ospemifene for dyspareunia or vulvovaginal atrophy. Therefore, the main aim of the pharmacological development of SERMs is to increase the benefit/ risk ratio compared to estrogen therapy in the prevention and treatment of several highly prevalent, chronic, postmenopausal diseases that are associated with this state of estrogen deficiency.

Tamoxifen, a drug that was introduced more than 40 years ago for the treatment of hormone-dependent breast cancer, has been considered an antiestrogen for decades because of its blocking action on the binding of endogenous estrogens to the estrogen receptor (ER) of neoplastic breast cells. However, several studies suggest that tamoxifen may have a protective action on bone tissue (estrogen agonist) [13]. Raloxifene is the first SERM approved for preventing and treating osteoporosis [14]. In addition, raloxifene is as effective as tamoxifen in reducing the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women [15] and does not significantly affect the risk of cardiovascular disease [16]. Bazedoxifene has been shown to be effective in reducing vertebral and, in a high-risk group, non-vertebral fractures [17]. Finally, the first SERM, ospemifene, has recently been approved in the USA and Europe for the treatment of dyspareunia in the USA and for patients with vulvovaginal atrophy who are not eligible for estrogen treatment in Europe [18]. This class of drugs has enormous potential in the primary and secondary prevention of various types of estrogen-dependent tumors, postmenopausal osteoporosis, and vulvovaginal atrophy.

# 23.3 SERM Classification

There is an extensive list of compounds that can be considered SERMs for which results are available in either in vitro or in vivo animal cell models and in human experiments. There are more than 60 molecules already described with a SERM pharmacological profile [19]. Table 23.1 provides a summary of the main SERM groups classified according to chemical structure [20]. But they could also be divided by generations (Table 23.2) [21]. Certain phytoestrogens, such as genistein and daidzein, also appear to have a SERM-type pharmacological profile. There are currently three main chemical classes of SERM approved for clinical use: triphenylethylene derivatives, such as tamoxifen and ospemifene, used to treat and prevent breast cancer and vulvovaginal atrophy, respectively, and clomiphene to induce

Table 23.1 SERMs	Classification of	Class	Examples	
		Triphenylethylenes	Tamoxifen	
			Clomiphene	
			Droloxifene	
			Fispemifene	
			GW-5638	
			Idoxifene	
			MDL-103,323	
			Miproxifene	
			Ospemifene	
			Toremifene	
		Benzothiophenes	Raloxifene	
			Arzoxifene	
			LY-117018	
		Indoles	Bazedoxifene	
			Pipendoxifene	
		Naphthalenes	Lasofoxifene	
			Trioxifene	
		Benzopyrans	EM-800	
			Acolbifene	
			Levormeloxifene	
			Ormeloxifene	
			NNC 45-0781 and derivatives	
			SP-500263	

Table 23.2         Classification of	Generation	Product Class	
SERMs	1°	Clomifene	Triphenylethylene
		Tamoxifen	Triphenylethylene
	2°	Raloxifene	Benzothiophene
	3°	Bazedoxifene	Indole
		Lasofoxifene	Naphthalene
		Ospemifene	Triphenylethylene
	TSEC	Bazedoxifene + conjugated estrogens	Indole + estrogen

ovulation; benzothiophene derivatives, such as raloxifene, used for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis; and indoles such as bazedoxifene used for the treatment of women at risk of osteoporotic fracture.

# 23.4 Mechanism of Action

To understand the mechanism of action of SERMs, we must remember how estrogen works. After the binding of the hormone to the receptor, a hormone-receptor complex is formed, which in turn binds to another complex of the same characteristics to form homodimers, which acquire a unique spatial configuration and bind to DNA with high affinity and to different cofactors and stimulate or inhibit gene transcription by means of the AF-1 and AF-222 regions. The DNA region to which the activation domains or activation factors of the AF-1 and AF-2 transcription are attached is called the estrogen response element (ERE), which is a specific area and which, thanks to the spatial structure created by the hormone-receptor complex and its attachment to this area of DNA, causes a series of specific cofactors to bind together and activate or repress a series of genes [22].

To explain why the response induced by SERMs, after their binding to the receptor, may be similar or different from that induced by estrogens themselves, the spatial configuration of the SERM-receptor complex must be understood. Thus, after its binding to the receptor, the SERM creates an anomalous configuration of the hormone-receptor complex that causes it to be located in a different area of the DNA from the ERE and to bind to another type of cofactor, which entails another type of message and genetic expression. This makes each SERM unique [23, 24] (Fig. 23.1).

#### 23.5 Main SERMs

#### 23.5.1 Triphenylethylenes

#### 23.5.1.1 Tamoxifen

Tamoxifen, a triphenylethylene derivative, has been used for more than 45 years. The accumulated clinical experience of more than ten million women/year is



evidence of its beneficial effect in the treatment of breast cancer and in the primary prevention of women at high risk of developing this disease [25–27]. It is important to note that treatment with a first-generation SERM such as tamoxifen is effective in all subgroups of breast cancer except ER-negative tumors in premenopausal women, which is not surprising given its mechanism of action.

Tamoxifen has been widely used in the adjuvant treatment of invasive breast cancer involving surgery and chemotherapy. It has been shown to be effective in preventing new contralateral tumors and local or peripheral recurrences [28, 29]. After 1, 2, and 5 years of adjuvant treatment, relapses were reduced by 21, 19, and 47% and mortality by 12, 17, and 26%, respectively.

The most relevant study for primary prevention is the Breast Cancer Prevention Trial (BCPT, NSABP-P1) [25]. The women were randomly assigned to receive either tamoxifen (6681) or placebo (6707) for 5 years. However, the trial was stopped early because the findings provided strong evidence of a reduction in breast cancer with tamoxifen therapy. The administration of tamoxifen was effective in reducing the annual rate of ER+ tumors, both invasive and in situ, by 69%, but was not effective in reducing the recurrence of ER– tumors.

Tamoxifen has a partial estrogenic agonist effect in the uterus, and this effect has caused concern as it increases the incidence of endometrial pathology and endometrial cancer. The likelihood of a woman developing endometrial cancer in the general population is low, ranging from 12 cases per 100,000 women aged 40 to 84 cases per 100,000 women aged 60 [30]. Tamoxifen increases the risk of endometrial cancer according to most studies. Relative risks (RR) appear to vary between 1.3 [31] and 6.4 [25] for 20 and 40 mg/day doses.

In the Breast Cancer Prevention Trial, the reduction in breast cancer risk with tamoxifen was accompanied by an increase in the incidence of invasive endometrial cancer (mean RR = 2.53). The increased risk was observed primarily among women aged  $\geq$ 50 years with a RR = 4.01, whereas among those aged 49 years or less, the RR was 1.21 [25]. However, it appears that adding metformin to tamoxifen may reduce this increased risk of endometrial cancer [32].

A meta-analysis of 55 trials in 37,000 women showed that the risk of breast cancer recurrence was significantly reduced by 18%, 25%, and 42% after 1, 2, or 5 years, respectively, of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy compared to no treatment [33].

Ding and Field [34] examined the effect of tamoxifen on bone health in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer and found that bone mineral density (BMD) is retained in the spine and hip, but not the wrist [34]. While there is no evidence that tamoxifen reduces the risk of fracture, the incidence of fractures is lower in users of tamoxifen than in users of aromatase inhibitors [35]. Recently a large cohort study found that the risk of fracture in premenopausal women with breast cancer and tamoxifen was twice that of the control group, with the risk being similar in postmenopausal women [36]. Tamoxifen is not suitable for the prevention or treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis.

In tamoxifen users, the risk of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism is twice as high as in the general population. This increase, however, does not imply increased mortality in the pool of randomized trials of tamoxifen as an adjuvant treatment for early breast cancer [33].

#### 23.5.1.2 Clomiphene

Clomiphene, which may be considered the first SERM for clinical use, is also a derivative of triphenylethylene but has been used since 1967 exclusively for ovulation induction [37], and no research exists for its clinical use in postmenopausal women. However, there are data in rats that show it to have the same positive effect on bones as estrogen [38]. A recent review indicates a possible increased risk of thyroid cancer and malignant melanoma, especially if clomiphene is used in more than six cycles [39]. This fact must be confirmed with further trials.

#### 23.5.1.3 Ospemifene

Ospemifene belongs to the family of triphenylethylenes. It is a biologically active metabolite of toremifene (desamino-hydroxy-toremifene) that demonstrated prevention of bone loss and reduced cholesterol levels in castrated rats without weight gain in the uterus [40]. In addition, in in vitro studies, it acts as a potent estrogen antagonist in ER-positive breast cancer cell lines [41]. Ospemifene greatly reduces the incidence of breast carcinomas in comparison to control mice and was similar to tamoxifen in dimethylbenzanthracene (DMBA)-induced breast tumors [42].

Ospemifene proved more estrogenic than raloxifene, as shown by changes in serum levels of follicle-stimulating hormone and sex hormone-binding globulin. Neither ospemifene nor raloxifene stimulated the endometrium, but in contrast to raloxifene, ospemifene had a clear estrogenic effect on the vagina [43]. For this reason, a comprehensive clinical program was conducted on its effect on vulvovaginal atrophy.

Ospemifene has been assessed for the treatment of postmenopausal women with vulvovaginal atrophy in two 12-week phase III trials, two long-term safety extension trials, and one 52-week safety and efficacy trial [44–47]. The first trial with ospemifene (60 mg) was randomized, double-blind, and placebo-controlled. It included 919 women with moderate to severe vulvovaginal atrophy (ospemifene, n = 463; placebo, n = 456) and lasted 12 weeks [46, 47]. The women were subdivided into two strata according to whether subjective perception was more important for dyspareunia or vaginal dryness. Both strata, dyspareunia and vaginal dryness, had their own randomization programs and were analyzed as independent trials. The trial with dyspareunia patients included 605 participants. At 12 weeks, 60 mg ospemifene produced a statistically significant improvement compared to placebo at all the points analyzed: percentages of decrease in parabasal cells (p < 0.0001) and increase in superficial cells (p < 0.0001) in the rate of vaginal maturation, reduction in vaginal pH (p < 0.0001), and improvement in symptoms related to vulvovaginal atrophy (p = 0.0001) [46].

Another 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial assessed the efficacy and safety of ospemifene (30 or 60 mg/day) in 826 postmenopausal women with moderate to severe vulvovaginal atrophy (ospemifene 30 mg/ day, n = 282; ospemifene 60 mg/day, n = 276; placebo, n = 268) [44]. Compared to placebo, ospemifene (30 and 60 mg) significantly increased the percentage of surface cells and decreased the percentage of parabasal cells (improved maturation rate) at weeks 4 and 12 (p < 0.001 for all comparisons for both doses and placebo); a significantly greater reduction in vaginal pH was also observed in the ospemifene group compared to the placebo group at weeks 4 and 12 (p < 0.001) for both doses of ospemifene. After 12 weeks of treatment, ospemifene (30 and 60 mg) significantly decreased the vaginal dryness symptom rating compared to placebo (p = 0.04 and 0.021 for the 30 and 60 mg ospemifene groups, respectively). Also, 60 mg ospemifene significantly reduced the symptom rating of the women who reported dyspareunia as the major symptom in comparison to placebo (p = 0.023).

In this trial, an endometrial biopsy was performed at the beginning to rule out endometrial hyperplasia and adenocarcinoma. At the end of the 12-week efficacy study, patients were invited to enroll in a further 40-week, double-blind, safety extension study for a total of 52 weeks of treatment: ospemifene 30 mg/day, n = 62; ospemifene 60 mg/day, n = 69; and placebo, n = 49 [45]. Endometrial safety was assessed by transvaginal ultrasound and biopsy. At week 52, an increase in mean endometrial thickness of 0.68 and 1.14 mm was observed with ospemifene 30 and 60 mg/day, respectively. The vast majority of endometrial biopsy samples were atrophic or inactive.

In a post hoc analysis of a pool of six phase II and three double-blind, randomized clinical trials, hot flushes (8.5% vs. 3.3% placebo) and urinary tract infections (86.5% vs. 4.8%) were found to be the most frequent side effects [47].

We can conclude that it is the first non-hormonal oral alternative for vulvovaginal atrophy. It is a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) that selectively exerts agonistic effects on vaginal tissue. Sixty milligrams of ospemifene has been shown to reduce symptoms of dyspareunia and vaginal dryness significantly compared to placebo and to be safe at 52 weeks.

#### 23.5.1.4 Toremifene

Toremifene has been in clinical use for more than 20 years for the treatment of advanced hormone-sensitive breast cancer and the adjuvant treatment of early breast cancer, and there is experience of use in more than 500,000 women/year [48]. The incidence of secondary endometrial cancer was lower with toremifene than with tamoxifen and similar to raloxifene. The risk of stroke, pulmonary embolism, and cataracts may be lower with toremifene than with tamoxifen, and the risk of pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis may be lower than with raloxifene [49, 50].

After 5 years of follow-up, toremifene 60 mg/day has no substantial negative effect on bone mineral density in pre- or postmenopausal women and may have a positive influence on lipids [51].

#### 23.5.2 Benzothiophenes

#### 23.5.2.1 Raloxifene

Raloxifene was originally designed as a drug to treat breast cancer, but its clinical development later focused on the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis, becoming the first SERM approved to prevent and treat this metabolic bone disease [52]. Raloxifene has also been investigated for the primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease in postmenopausal women [16] and for the prevention of breast cancer in high-risk women [53]. After tamoxifen, raloxifene is the SERM with the most information available on its pharmacological effects in postmenopausal women, due to the size of its clinical program (more than 40,000 women included in phase III trials) and the fact that, since its commercialization in 1998, it is estimated that more than one million patients/year have been treated with the drug. Initial research in experimental osteoporosis models in castrated rats showed that raloxifene induces a bone anti-resorptive effect similar to estrogens, but without inducing endometrial proliferation [54]. In the same animal model, it was shown to have a very estrogen-like effect on lipid metabolism [54, 55]. In in vivo and in vitro studies on ER-positive breast cancer, raloxifene has also been shown to inhibit tumor growth and spread [56].

The MORE trial in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis has shown that raloxifene reduces bone turnover markers by 25–35% after 1 year of treatment and reduces the relative risk of new vertebral fractures by 30–50% after 3 years of treatment [14]. According to a meta-analysis including seven clinical trials, raloxifene at doses of 60 mg or 120/150 mg a day reduces the risk of vertebral fracture by 40% (RR, 0.60; 95% CI, 0.49–0.74) and 49% (RR, 0.51; 95% CI, 0.41–0.64), respectively [57].

The rate of invasive ER-positive breast cancer, a secondary objective in the MORE trial, showed an 84% reduction after 4 years of follow-up [58]. Moreover, during the next 4 years of follow-up, invasive ER-positive breast cancer was reduced by 66% [59]. These results have not been associated with any harmful effects on the endometrium [60] or the pelvic floor [61].

In order to compare the relative effects and safety of raloxifene and tamoxifen and the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other outcomes of the disease, the Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) was conducted. It is a prospective randomized double-blind trial conducted in 19,747 postmenopausal women with a mean age of 58.5 years and an increased risk of breast cancer in 5 years (mean risk 4.03%). The results of the STAR trial show that raloxifene and tamoxifen are equally effective in reducing the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. This means that tamoxifen and raloxifene can reduce the risk of breast cancer by half in 5 years. There were 36 cases of uterine cancer with tamoxifen and 23 with raloxifene (RR, 0.62). No differences were found in other types of cancer or in episodes of ischemic heart disease or stroke. Thromboembolism events occurred less frequently in the raloxifene group (RR, 0.70). The number of osteoporotic fractures in the different groups was similar. There were fewer cataracts (RR, 0.79) in women taking raloxifene. There was no difference in the total number of deaths or cause of death [15].

The effect of raloxifene on coronary heart disease (CAD) has been studied in the Raloxifene Use for the Heart (RUTH) trial. Ten thousand one hundred and one postmenopausal women with coronary heart disease or multiple risk factors for coronary heart disease were assigned 60 mg raloxifene or placebo. Compared to placebo, raloxifene had no significant effect on the risk of primary coronary events (RR, 0.95) and reduced the risk of invasive breast cancer (RR, 0.56). Raloxifene was associated with an increased risk of fatal stroke (RR, 1.49) and venous thromboembolism (RR, 1.44). Raloxifene reduced the risk of clinical vertebral fractures (RR, 0.65). Raloxifene did not significantly affect the risk of heart disease.

Therefore, raloxifene is suitable for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women in the USA and Europe [52]. In the USA, it is also recommended for reducing the risk of invasive breast cancer in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis and in women at high risk of invasive breast cancer [52].

In recent years, various randomized trials have shown that raloxifene administration appears to be effective and safe in improving psychotic symptoms in postmenopausal women with schizophrenia [62].

#### 23.5.2.2 Arzoxifene

Arzoxifene, a potent raloxifene-like benzothiophene, has demonstrated an antagonist potency ten times greater than raloxifene in MCF-7 breast cancer cells and endometrial cancer cell lines [63]. In both ovariectomized rats and rats with ovaries, arzoxifene does not increase uterine weight [64].

Arzoxifene has shown skeletal effects similar to raloxifene in experimental osteoporosis models [65, 66]. In phase II with different doses of arzoxifene in women with estrogen receptor-positive but tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer and with advanced or metastatic breast cancer, positive results were shown in reducing disease progression time [67] and response rates [68].

However, the data from the pivotal studies, although they showed a decrease in vertebral fractures and breast cancer in this population [69, 70], did not show it to

have more potency than raloxifene but did show it to have more gynecological side effects than in the placebo group [71]. These data made the company decide not to submit it for registration.

### 23.5.3 Indoles

#### 23.5.3.1 Bazedoxifene

Bazedoxifene is one of the newest SERMs recommended for the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis.

In preclinical models, bazedoxifene increases bone mineral density and bone strength in rats. Bazedoxifene did not stimulate the proliferation of MCF-7 cells but inhibited the proliferation induced by  $17\beta$ -estradiol. In an immature rat uterus model, bazedoxifene was associated with less uterine weight gain than ethinyl estradiol or raloxifene [72–74].

In phases I and II, the data reveal that bazedoxifene is safe, very well tolerated, and effective. After therapy of just 3 months in 494 postmenopausal women, bazedoxifene (at doses as low as 5 mg/day) showed effects on bone turnover and LDL-cholesterol markers comparable to those seen with raloxifene. There were no increases in hot flushes or endometrial thickness [75].

Bazedoxifene was assessed in two phase III studies. In a 2-year prevention trial involving 1583 healthy postmenopausal women with low or normal bone mineral density (BMD), patients received daily doses of 10, 20, or 40 mg of bazedoxifene or 60 mg raloxifene or placebo, and all took 600 mg of elemental calcium daily [76]. All three doses of bazedoxifene and the raloxifene were equally effective in maintaining bone mineral density (BMD) in the hip, lumbar spine, femoral trochanter, and femoral neck. Within 6 months, all three doses of bazedoxifene had already demonstrated a significant reduction in BMD loss compared to placebo. The differences in the mean percentage of BMD in the lumbar spine relative to baseline at 24 months with 10, 20, and 40 mg bazedoxifene, compared to placebo, were  $1.08 \pm 0.28\%$ ,  $1.41 \pm 0.28\%$ , and  $1.49 \pm 0.28\%$ , respectively (with a statistical significance of p < 0.001 for all of them).

A pivotal phase III trial was conducted to assess the efficacy and safety of bazedoxifene in preventing fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis (55– 85 years of age) [77]. Participants received daily treatment with 20 mg (n = 1886) or 40 mg (n = 1872) of bazedoxifene, 60 mg of raloxifene (n = 1849), or placebo (n = 1885), as well as a daily supplement of 1200 mg of calcium and 400–800 IU of vitamin D. Among 6847 subjects in the intention-to-treat population, the incidence of new vertebral fractures was significantly lower (p < 0.05) with 20 mg bazedoxifene (2.3%), 40 mg bazedoxifene (2.5%), and 60 mg raloxifene (2.3%) compared to placebo (4.1%), with relative risk reductions of 42%, 37%, and 42%, respectively. The effect of treatment was similar among subjects with or without prevailing vertebral fracture (p = 0.89). The incidence of non-vertebral fractures with bazedoxifene or raloxifene was not significantly different from placebo. In an analysis of a subgroup of women at higher risk of fracture (femoral neck *T*-score  $\leq 0.0$  and/or one moderate or severe vertebral fracture or multiple mild vertebral fractures; n = 1772), 20 mg bazedoxifene showed a 50% and 44% reduction in the risk of non-vertebral fracture relative to placebo (p = 0.02) and 60 mg raloxifene (p = 0.05), respectively.

The 3-year study was given a 2-year extension, involving a total of 4216 women and providing 5-year data [78]. The raloxifene arm was discontinued after 3 years; subjects receiving 40 mg bazedoxifene were switched to 20 mg bazedoxifene after 4 years. At 5 years, the incidence of new vertebral fractures in the intention-to-treat population was significantly lower with 20 mg (4.5%) and 40/20 mg (3.9%) bazedoxifene compared with placebo (6.8%, p < 0.05), with relative risk reductions of 35% and 40%, respectively. The incidence of non-vertebral fractures was similar between the groups. In a subgroup of women at high risk of fracture (n = 1324; femoral neck *T*-score  $\leq -3.0$  and/ or  $\geq 1$  moderate or severe or  $\geq 2$  mild vertebral fracture), 20 mg bazedoxifene showed a reduced risk of non-vertebral fracture compared with placebo (37%, p = 0.06).

A further 2-year extension was conducted. At 7 years the cumulative incidence of new vertebral fractures remained significantly lower in the 20 mg bazedoxifene group, 30.4% less than in the placebo group (p < 0.001) [79].

In terms of bazedoxifene safety data, the number of reported heart disorders and cerebrovascular events was equally low among all treatment groups treated for up to 7 years [77, 78]. Although pulmonary embolism and venous thrombosis of the retina increased in the treatment groups compared to placebo, this was not statistically significant [80–82]. However, the risk of deep vein thrombosis increased significantly after 3 years (RR 8 (95% CI 1.01–64.25)) [80–82]. After 3, 5, and 7 years, there was no difference in the incidence of breast cancer between the different groups [80–82]. Bazedoxifene has shown a good safety profile in the incidence of vaginal bleeding, uterine cancer, and ovarian cysts among the groups treated for up to 7 years [80–82].

The only adverse effects found with bazedoxifene and which increased compared to the placebo group were hot flushes (p < 0.001) and leg cramps (p < 0.01). Most of the adverse reactions that occurred during the clinical trials were mild to moderate and did not result in discontinuation of treatment [80–82].

Thus, in a meta-analysis of four randomized and placebo-controlled trials, it is concluded that the use of bazedoxifene reduces the incidence of vertebral fractures and increases bone mineral density at 3 and 7 years. Furthermore, serious adverse events such as myocardial infarction, stroke, venous thromboembolic events, and breast cancer do not increase during this period of use [17].

A new approach to hormone therapy is to combine an estrogen with a SERM in order to achieve all the positive effects of estrogens and even increase them and avoid their negative effects by using a SERM, and this combination is called the tissue-selective estrogen complex (TSEC). The purpose is to decrease hot flushes, prevent and treat vulvovaginal atrophy, and prevent bone loss, without stimulating the breast or endometrium. Bazedoxifene in combination with conjugated estrogens in doses of 0.45 or 0.625 mg significantly reduces vasomotor symptoms [83], improves vaginal symptoms [83], and increases bone mineral density in the lumbar spine and hip [83]. It is clear that this is a promising treatment for both vasomotor symptoms and the prevention of osteoporosis [84].

#### 23.5.4 Naphthalenes

#### 23.5.4.1 Lasofoxifene

The main representative of this SERM group is lasofoxifene. This compound selectively binds to both estrogen receptors (alpha and beta) with a high affinity and a mean inhibitory concentration that is similar to that observed with estradiol and higher than those reported for other SERMs (raloxifene and tamoxifen) [85]. Lasofoxifene has a significantly higher bioavailability than other SERMs due to increased resistance to glucuronidation of the intestinal wall.

In preclinical models of postmenopausal osteoporosis, lasofoxifene inhibited bone turnover and reduced bone loss [86]. In animals, lasofoxifene did not alter endometrial thickness, the glandular area of the endometrium, or the basal area of the luminal epithelium, compared to control animals [86, 87].

Two phase III clinical trials have been conducted: Osteoporosis Prevention and Lipid Lowering (OPAL) and Postmenopausal Evaluation and Risk Reduction with Lasofoxifene (PEARL). The OPAL trial involved 1907 non-osteoporotic postmenopausal women aged 40–75 years, who were randomly assigned to 0.0025, 0.25, or 0.5 mg/day of lasofoxifene or placebo for 2 years. At 2 years, lumbar BMD increased by 1.5, 2.3, and 2.3% with 0.025, 0.25, and 0.5 mg lasofoxifene, respectively, compared to a decrease of 0.7% in placebo users. Vaginal atrophy (assessed by vaginal pH or by an increase in the percentages of intermediate and superficial vaginal cells) improved after 1 and 2 years of treatment, at all doses of lasofoxifene compared to placebo [88, 89].

The PEARL trial is a randomized pivotal trial involving 8556 women aged 59–80 years, with a BMD *T*-score of -2.5 or less in the femoral neck or spine. It was randomized for the women to receive a daily dose of lasofoxifene (0.25 or 0.5 mg) or placebo for 5 years. Compared to placebo, lasofoxifene at a dose of 0.5 mg per day was associated with a lower risk of vertebral fracture (13.1 vs. 22.4 cases per 1000 person-years; RR, 0.58; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.47–0.70), non-vertebral fracture (18.7 vs. 24.5 cases per 1000 person-years; RR, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.64–0.91), ER-positive breast cancer (0.3 vs. 1.7 cases per 1000 person-years; RR, 0.19; 95% CI, 0.07–0.56), coronary heart disease events (5.1 vs. 7.5 cases per 1000 person-years; risk ratio, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.41–0.99). At a dose of 0.25 mg per day, compared with placebo, lasofoxifene was associated with a lower risk of vertebral fracture (16.0 vs. 22.4 cases per 1000 person-years; risk ratio, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.37–0.83) and stroke (2.4 vs. 3.9 cases per 1000 person-years; risk ratio, 0.61; 95% CI, 0.39–0.96) [90, 91].

However, both the lower and higher doses of lasofoxifene, compared to placebo, were associated with an increase in venous thromboembolic events (3.8 and 2.9 cases vs. 1.4 cases per 1000 person-years; RR, 2.67 (95% CI, 1.55–4.58) and 2.06 (95% CI, 1.17–3.60), respectively). Endometrial cancer occurred in three women in the placebo group, two women in the low-dose lasofoxifene group, and two women in the high-dose lasofoxifene group. The death rates per 1000 person-years were 5.1 in the placebo group, 7.0 in the low-dose lasofoxifene group, and 5.7 in

the high-dose lasofoxifene group [91]. Lasofoxifene increased hot flushes and leg cramps at both doses (0.25 and 0.5 mg) (p < 0.001 and <0.001) [90]. Although it was submitted and accepted for the treatment of osteoporosis by the European health authorities, this product was never launched on the market because the company decided not to do so because the FDA requested further trials before its acceptance. Recently lasofoxifene has been acquired by another company to investigate its use for the treatment of breast and ovarian cancers.

#### 23.6 Conclusions

There is an estrogenic agonist effect that may be beneficial either on the bone or on the vagina and which appears to be an effect dependent on the greater or lesser potency of the SERM (in postmenopausal women). The SERMs assessed appear to have antiestrogenic or neutral effects on the breast; tamoxifen, raloxifene, and lasofoxifene have shown antiestrogenic effects in clinical trials; and bazedoxifene and ospemifene have shown antiestrogenic effects in preclinical trials but appear to be neutral in clinical trials to date. Most SERMs have been associated with a slightly increased risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE). The cardiovascular and cardiometabolic effects of SERMs in clinical trials appear to be positive or neutral. The adverse effects of tamoxifen, relative to other SERMs, on the endometrium are well documented.

We currently have extensive experience concerning the risks and benefits of SERMs (Table 23.3). Therefore, we know the benefits that are ideally required of a SERM, such as those that help in the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis, those that help in the primary and secondary prevention of breast cancer, and those that may represent added cardiovascular benefits. Now, thanks to ospemifene, we can add treatment of dyspareunia and vulvovaginal atrophy. We also know the possible side effects to be avoided: the risk of endometrial cancer with tamoxifen, and venous thrombosis, and the possible increase in hot flushes with all SERMs. Therefore, the search for what we require of a SERM is clear.

In the short term, it does not seem realistic to expect a SERM to be able to meet all requirements. But each SERM that appears provides more information on efficacy and safety.

	E effect in bone	E effect in vagina	E effect in endometrium	Anti-E effect in breast
Tamoxifen	+/	=	++	+++
Raloxifene	+++	=	=/+	+++
Bazedoxifene	+++	=	Anti E	=
Ospemifene	+	+++	=/+	=

 Table 23.3
 Intensity of clinical effects in clinical trials with SERMs

E estrogenic, *anti-E* antiestrogenic, + mild, ++ moderate, +++ intense, = neutral, +/- controversial
Another interesting concept would be TSEC, a combination of bazedoxifene with conjugated estrogens as a possible alternative to classical hormonal treatment and which opens up the possibility of different combinations.

Meanwhile, the rapid developments in the molecular biology of the ER activation cascade, together with advances in genomics and chemistry and proteomics, make us optimistic about the future of different estrogen modulators in the medium term.

# References

- Palacios S, Coronado PJ. New options for menopausal symptoms after 15 years of WHI Study. Minerva Ginecol. 2017;69(2):160–70.
- The NAMS 2017 Hormone Therapy Position Statement Advisory Panel. The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2017;24(7):728–53.
- Palacios S, Henderson VW, Siseles N, Tan D, Villaseca P. Age of menopause and impact of climacteric symptoms by geographical region. Climacteric. 2010;13(5):419–28.
- Palacios S, Nappi RE, Bruyniks N, Particco M, Panay N, EVES Study Investigators. The European Vulvovaginal Epidemiological Survey (EVES): prevalence, symptoms and impact of vulvovaginal atrophy of menopause. Climacteric. 2018;21(3):286–91.
- Boschitsch EP, Durchschlag E, Dimai HP. Age-related prevalence of osteoporosis and fragility fractures: real-world data from an Austrian Menopause and Osteoporosis Clinic. Climacteric. 2017;20(2):157–63.
- Baber RJ, Panay N, Fenton A, IMS Writing Group. 2016 IMS recommendations on women's midlife health and menopause hormone therapy. Climacteric. 2016;19(2):109–50.
- Cobin RH, Goodman NF, AACE Reproductive Endocrinology Scientific Committee. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology Position Statement on Menopause-2017 update. Endocr Pract. 2017;23(7):869–80.
- Woods NF, Utian W. Quality of life, menopause, and hormone therapy: an update and recommendations for future research. Menopause. 2018;25(7):713–20.
- Archer DF. Efficacy and tolerability of local estrogen therapy for urogenital atrophy. Menopause. 2010;17:194–203.
- 10. NICE. Medicines adherence clinical guideline CG76. Report no.: CG76; 2009.
- Newton KM, Reed SD, Nekhyludov L, Grothaus LC, Ludman EJ, Ehrlich K, et al. Factors associated with successful discontinuation of hormone therapy. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2014;23(5):382–8.
- Palacios S, Brincat M, Erel CT, Gambacciani M, Lambrinoudaki I, Moen MH, et al. EMAS clinical guide: selective estrogen receptor modulators for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Maturitas. 2012;71(2):194–8.
- Love RR, Mazess RB, Barden HS, Epstein S, Newcomb PA, Jordan V, et al. Effects of tamoxifen on bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1992;326(13):852–6.
- 14. Ettinger B, Black DM, Mitlak BH, Knickerbocker RK, Nickelsen T, Genant HK, et al. Reduction of vertebral fracture risk in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis treated with raloxifene: results from a 3-year randomized clinical trial. Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation (MORE) Investigators. JAMA. 1999;282(7):637–45. Erratum in: JAMA 1999 Dec 8;282(22):2124.
- 15. Vogel VG, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Cronin WM, Cecchini RS, Atkins JN, et al.; National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP). Effects of tamoxifen vs raloxifene on the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other disease outcomes: the NSABP Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) P-2 trial. JAMA. 2006;295(23):2727–41.

- Barrett-Connor E, Mosca L, Collins P, Geiger MJ, Grady D, Kornitzer M, et al.; Raloxifene Use for The Heart (RUTH) Trial Investigators. Effects of raloxifene on cardiovascular events and breast cancer in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(2):125–37.
- Peng L, Luo Q, Lu H. Efficacy and safety of bazedoxifene in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(49):e8659.
- 18. Senshio, INN-ospemifene-European Medicines Agency. www.ema.europa.eu/ema/.
- Meegan MJ, Lloyd DG. Advances in the science of estrogen receptor modulation. Curr Med Chem. 2003;10(3):181–210.
- 20. Palacios S. The future of the new selective estrogen receptor modulators. Menopause Int. 2007;13(1):27–34.
- 21. Palacios S. Third generation SERMs: anything new? Maturitas. 2010;67(2):101-2.
- Maximov PY, Lee TM, Jordan VC. The discovery and development of selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) for clinical practice. Curr Clin Pharmacol. 2013;8(2):135–55.
- Brzozowski AM, Pike AC, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engstrom O, et al. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature. 1997;389(6652):753–8.
- 24. Tzukerman MT, Esty A, Santiso-Mere D, Danielian P, Parker MG, Stein RB, et al. Human estrogen receptor transactivational capacity is determined by both cellular and promoter context and mediated by two functionally distinct intramolecular regions. Mol Endocrinol. 1994;8(1):21–30.
- 25. Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Redmond CK, Kavanah M, Cronin WM, et al. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90(18):1371–88.
- Jordan VC, Morrow M. Tamoxifen, raloxifene, and the prevention of breast cancer. Endocr Rev. 1999;20(3):253–78.
- 27. Wickerham L. Tamoxifen—an update on current data and where it can now be used. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2002;75(Suppl 1):S7–12; discussion S33–5.
- Nolvadex Adjuvant Trial Organisation. Controlled trial of tamoxifen as adjuvant agent in management of early breast cancer. Interim analysis at four years by Nolvadex Adjuvant Trial Organisation. Lancet. 1983;1(8319):257–61.
- 29. Cuzick J, Baum M. Tamoxifen and contralateral breast cancer. Lancet. 1985;2(8449):282.
- 30. Rose PG. Endometrial carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:640-9.
- Van Leeuwen FE, Benraadt J, Coebergh JW, Kiemeney LA, Gimbrère CH, Otter R, et al. Risk of endometrial cancer after tamoxifen treatment of breast cancer. Lancet. 1994;343: 448–52.
- 32. Davis SR, Robinson PJ, Jane F, White S, Brown KA, Piessens S, et al. The benefits of adding metformin to tamoxifen to protect the endometrium—a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2018;89(5):605–12.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Tamoxifen for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Lancet. 1998;351:1451–67.
- Ding H, Field TS. Bone health in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: how protective is tamoxifen? Cancer Treat Rev. 2007;33(6):506–13.
- 35. Rabaglio M, Sun Z, Price KN, Castiglione-Gertsch M, Hawle H, Thürlimann B, et al.; BIG 1-98 Collaborative and International Breast Cancer Study Groups. Bone fractures among postmenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer treated with 5 years of letrozole or tamoxifen in the BIG 1-98 trial. Ann Oncol. 2009;20(9):1489–98.
- 36. Kyvernitakis I, Kostev K, Hadji P. The tamoxifen paradox-influence of adjuvant tamoxifen on fracture risk in pre- and postmenopausal women with breast cancer. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(11):2557–64.
- 37. Sinawat S, Buppasiri P, Lumbiganon P, Pattanittum P. Long versus short course treatment with metformin and clomiphene citrate for ovulation induction in women with PCOS. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(10):CD006226.

- Uyar Y, Koltan SO, Pögün S, Vatansever S, Caglar H. The effect of clomiphene citrate on osteoporosis in ovariectomized rats. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2008;278(2):107–14.
- Yilmaz S, Yilmaz Sezer N, Gönenç İM, İlhan SE, Yilmaz E. Safety of clomiphene citrate: a literature review. Cytotechnology. 2018;70(2):489–95.
- 40. Qu Q, Zheng H, Dahllund J, Laine A, Cockcroft N, Peng Z, et al. Selective estrogen effects of a novel triphenylethylene compound, FC1271 a, on bone, cholesterol level, and reproductive tissues in intact ovariectomized rats. Endocrinology. 2000;141:809–20.
- 41. Taras TL, Wurz GT, DeGregorio MW. In vitro and in vivo effects of ospemifene (FC-1271a) in breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2001;77:271–9.
- 42. Wurz GT, Read KC, Marchisano-Karpman C, Gregg JP, Beckett LA, Yu Q, et al. Ospemifene inhibits the growth of dimethylbenzanthracene-induced mammary tumors in Sencar mice. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2005;97(3):230–40.
- 43. Komi J, Lankinen KS, Harkonen P, DeGregorio MW, Voipio S, Kivinen S, et al. Effects of ospemifene and raloxifene on hormonal status, lipids, genital tract, and tolerability in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2005;12(2):202–9.
- Bachmann GA, Komi JO. Ospemifene effectively treats vulvovaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women: results from a pivotal phase 3 study. Menopause. 2010;17:480–6.
- 45. Simon J, Lin V, Radovich C, Bachmann GA, The Ospemifene Study Group. One-year long-term safety extension study of ospemifene for the treatment of vulvar and vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women with a uterus. Menopause. 2013;20:418–27.
- 46. Portman DJ, Bachmann G, Simon J, The Ospemifene Study Group. Ospemifene, a novel selective estrogen receptor modulator for treating dyspareunia associated with postmenopausal vulvar and vaginal atrophy. Menopause. 2013;20(6):623–30.
- 47. Simon JA, Altomare C, Cort S, Jiang W, Pinkerton JV. Overall safety of ospemifene in postmenopausal women from placebo-controlled phase 2 and 3 trials. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2018;27(1):14–23.
- 48. Vogel CL, Johnston MA, Capers C, Braccia D. Toremifene for breast cancer: a review of 20 years of data. Clin Breast Cancer. 2014;14(1):1–9.
- Mustonen MV, Pyrhönen S, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen PL. Toremifene in the treatment of breast cancer. World J Clin Oncol. 2014;5(3):393–405.
- Mao C, Yang ZY, He BF, Liu S, Zhou JH, Luo RC, et al. Toremifene versus tamoxifen for advanced breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(7):CD008926.
- 51. Erkkola R, Mattila L, Powles T, Heikkinen J, Toivola B, Korhonen P, et al. Bone mineral density and lipid changes during 5 years of follow-up in a study of prevention of breast cancer with toremifene in healthy, high-risk pre- and post-menopausal women. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;93(3):277–87.
- 52. Pickar JH, MacNeil T, Ohleth K. SERMs: progress and future perspectives. Maturitas. 2010;67(2):129–38.
- 53. Vogel VG, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Cronin WM, Wolmark N. The study of tamoxifen and raloxifene: preliminary enrollment data from a randomized breast cancer risk reduction trial. Clin Breast Cancer. 2002;3:153–9.
- 54. Black LJ, Sato M, Rowley ER, Magee DE, Bekele A, Williams DC, et al. Raloxifene (LY139481 HCI) prevents bone loss and reduces serum cholesterol without causing uterine hypertrophy in ovariectomized rats. J Clin Invest. 1994;93(1):63–9.
- 55. Frolik CA, Bryant HU, Black EC, Magee DE, Chandrasekhar S. Time dependent changes in biochemical bone markers and serum cholesterol in ovariectomized rats: effects of raloxifene HC1, tamoxifen, estrogen and alendronate. Bone. 1996;18:621–7.
- Anzano MA, Peer CW, Smith JM, Mullen LT, Shrader MW, Logsdon DL, et al. Chemoprevention of mammary carcinogenesis in the rat: combined use of raloxifene and 9-cis-retinoic acid. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1996;88:23–5.
- 57. Seeman E, Crans GG, Diez-Perez A, Pinette KV, Delmas PD. Anti-vertebral fracture efficacy of raloxifene: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2006;17(2):313–6.
- Cauley JA, Norton L, Lippman ME, Eckert S, Krueger KA, Purdie DW, et al. Continued breast cancer risk reduction in postmenopausal women treated with raloxifene: 4-year results from the MORE trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2001;65:125–34.

- Martino S, Cauley JA, Barrett-Connor E, Powles TJ, Mention J, Disch D, et al. Continuing outcomes relevant to evista: breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal osteoporotic women in a randomized trial of raloxifene. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96:1751–61.
- Cohen FJ, Watts S, Shah A, Akers R, Plouffe L Jr. Uterine effects of 3-year raloxifene therapy in postmenopausal women younger than age 60. Obstet Gynecol. 2000;95:104–10.
- Goldstein SR, Neven P, Zhou L, iaylot YL, Ciaccia AV, Plouffle L. Raloxifene effect on frequency of surgery for pelvic floor relaxation. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;98:91–6.
- 62. Zhu XM, Zheng W, Li XH, Cai DB, Yang XH, Ungvari GS, et al. Adjunctive raloxifene for postmenopausal women with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. Schizophr Res. 2018. pii: S0920-9964(18)30037-9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.schres.2018.01.017.
- 63. Sato M, Zeng GQ, Rowley E, Turner CH. LY353381 x HC1: an improved benzothiophe analog with bone efficacy complementary to parathyroid hormone-(1-34). Endocrinology. 1998;139:4642–51.
- Russo J, Gusterson BA, Rogers AE, Russo IH, Wellings SR, van Zwieten MJ. Comparative study of human and rat mammary tumorigenesis. Lab Investig. 1990;62(3):244–78.
- Li X, Takahashi M, Kushida K, Inoue T. The preventive and interventional effects of raloxifene analog (LY117018HC1) on osteopenia in ovariectomized rats. Bone Miner Res. 1998;13:1005–10.
- 66. Diaz Curiel M, Calero JA, Guerrero R, Gala J, Gazapo R, de la Piedra C. Effects of LY-117018 HC1 on bone remodeling and mineral density in the oophorectomized rat. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1998;178:320–5.
- 67. Buzdar A, O'Shaughnessy JA, Booser DJ, Pippen JE Jr, Jones SE, Munster PN, et al. Phase 11, randomized, double-blind study of two dose levels of arzoxifene in patients with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:1007–14.
- Baselga J, Llombart-Cussac A, Bellet M, Guillem-Porta V, Enas N, Krejcy K, et al. Randomized, double-blind, multicenter trial comparing two doses of arzoxifene (LY353381) in hormonesensitive advanced or metastatic breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol. 2003;14:1383–90.
- Cummings SR, McClung M, Reginster JY, Cox D, Mitlak B, Stock J, et al. Arzoxifene for prevention of fractures and invasive breast cancer in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res. 2011;26(2):397–404.
- Kendler DL, Palacios S, Cox DA, Stock J, Alam J, Dowsett SA, et al. Arzoxifene versus raloxifene: effect on bone and safety parameters in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23(3):1091–101.
- Goldstein SR, Bhattoa HP, Neven P, Cox DA, Dowsett SA, Alam J, et al. Gynecologic effects of arzoxifene in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis or low bone mass. Menopause. 2012;19(1):41–7.
- Miller CP, Collini MD, Trail BD, Harris HA, Kharode YP, Marzolf JT, et al. Design, synthesis, and preclinical characterization of novel, highly selective indole estrogens. J Med Chem. 2001;44:1654–7.
- Komm BS, Lyttle CR. Developing SERM: stringent preclinical selection criteria leading to an acceptable candidate (WAY-140424) for clinical evaluation. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;949:317–26.
- 74. Komm BS, Kharode YP, Bodine PV, Harris HA, Miller CP, Lyttle CR. Bazedoxifene acetate: a selective estrogen receptor modulator with improved selectivity. Endocrinology. 2005;146(9):3999–4008.
- Ronkin S, Clarke L, Boudes P, Constantine G. TSE-124, a novel tissue selective estrogen, reduces biochemical indices of bone metabolism in a dose-related fashion. J Bone Miner Res. 2001;16(Suppl):S413.
- Miller PD, Chines AA, Christiansen C, Hoeck HC, Kendler DL, Lewiecki EM, et al. Effects of bazedoxifene on BMD and bone turnover in postmenopausal women: 2-yr results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-, and active-controlled study. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23:525–35.
- 77. Silverman SL, Christiansen C, Genant HK, Vukicevic S, Zanchetta JR, de Villiers TJ, et al. Efficacy of bazedoxifene in reducing new vertebral fracture risk in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results from a 3-year, randomized, placebo- and active-controlled clinical trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23:1923–34.

- Silverman SL, Chines AA, Kendler DL, Kung AW, Teglbjærg CS, Felsenberg D, et al.; for the Bazedoxifene Study Group. Sustained efficacy and safety of bazedoxifene in preventing fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results of a 5-year, randomized, placebocontrolled study. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23(1):351–63.
- 79. Palacios S, Silverman SL, de Villiers TJ, Levine AB, Goemaere S, Brown JP, et al.; Bazedoxifene Study Group. A 7-year randomized, placebo-controlled trial assessing the longterm efficacy and safety of bazedoxifene in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: effects on bone density and fracture. Menopause. 2015;22(8):806–13.
- 80. Christiansen C, Chesnut CH 3rd, Adachi JD, Brown JP, Fernandes CE, Kung AW, et al. Safety of bazedoxifene in a randomized, double-blind, placebo- and active-controlled phase 3 study of postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2010;11:130.
- De Villiers TJ, Chines AA, Palacios S, Lips P, Sawicki AZ, Levine AB, et al. Safety and tolerability of bazedoxifene in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results of a 5-year, randomized, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(2):567–76.
- 82. Palacios S, de Villiers TJ, Nardone Fde C, Levine AB, Williams R, Hines T, et al.; BZA Study Group. Assessment of the safety of long-term bazedoxifene treatment on the reproductive tract in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results of a 7-year, randomized, placebocontrolled, phase 3 study. Maturitas. 2013;76(1):81–7.
- Lobo RA, Pinkerton JV, Gass ML, Dorin MH, Ronkin S, Pickar JH, et al. Evaluation of bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens for the treatment of menopausal symptoms and effects on metabolic parameters and overall safety profile. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(3):1025–38.
- 84. Palacios S, Ríos M. A bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens combination for the treatment of the vasomotor symptoms associated with menopause and for prevention of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Drugs Today (Barc). 2015;51(2):107–16.
- 85. Ke HZ, Paralkar VM, Grasser WA, Crawford DT, Qi H, Simmons H, et al. Effects of CP-336,156, a new, nonsteroidal estrogen agonist/antagonist, on bone, serum cholesterol, uterus, and body composition in rat models. Endocrinology. 1998;139:2068–76.
- Maeda T, Ke HZ, Simmons H, Thompson D. Lasofoxifene, a next generation estrogen receptor modulator: preclinical studies. Clin Calcium. 2004;14(10):85–93.
- Ke HZ, Foley GL, Simmons HA, Shen V, Thompson DD. Long-term treatment of lasofoxifene preserves bone mass and bone strength and does not adversely affect the uterus in ovariectomized rats. Endocrinology. 2004;145(4):1996–2005.
- 88. FABLYN® (lasofoxifene tartrate) 0.5 mg tablets, NDA22–242, Reproductive Health Drugs Advisory Committee Briefing Document. 2008. http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/ac/08/ briefing/2008-829 4381b1-02-Pfizer.pdf. Accessed 25 Feb 2011.
- Fablyn® (lasofoxifene tartrate) summary of product characteristics. Pfizer. Final Summary Minutes, Advisory Committee for Reproductive Health Drugs Meeting. 2008. http://www.fda. gov/ohrms/dockets/ac/08/minutes/2008-4381m1-final.pdf. Accessed 25 Mar 2011.
- Cummings SR, Ensrud K, Delmas PD, LaCroix AZ, Vukicevic S, Reid DM, et al.; PEARL Study Investigators. Lasofoxifene in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(8):686–96.
- LaCroix AZ, Powles T, Osborne CK, Wolter K, Thompson JR, Thompson D, et al.; PEARL Investigators. Breast cancer incidence in the randomized PEARL trial of lasofoxifene in postmenopausal osteoporotic women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(22):1706–15.



# Management of Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Women

24

J. J. Hidalgo-Mora, Antonio J. Cano-Marquina, A. Szeliga, Miguel Ángel García-Pérez, and A. Cano

# 24.1 Introduction

Osteoporosis is a systemic disease of the skeleton consisting of a reduction of bone mass and deterioration of bone microarchitecture. Loss of bone strength and increased risk for fragility fracture are the consequences. Osteoporosis translates in the bone, as for other systems in the body, the impact of aging, which imposes a progressive deterioration of the biological regulators. There is a gradual, unfavorable disequilibrium between bone formation and bone resorption, which leads to the mentioned net loss of bone mass and disintegration of bone architecture.

The development of osteoporosis in concomitance with aging is universal, but as for other noncommunicable chronic diseases (NCD), the progression is asymmetrical. The variables responsible of the individual differences are several, among

J. J. Hidalgo-Mora

A. J. Cano-Marquina Service of Radiology, Hospital de Sagunto, Valencia, Spain

A. Szeliga Department of Gynecological Endocrinology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

M. Á. García-Pérez (⊠) Department of Genetics, University of Valencia, Burjassot, Valencia, Spain

Institute of Health Research INCLIVA, Valencia, Spain e-mail: miguel.garcia@uv.es

A. Cano (🖂) Service of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital Clínico Universitario-INCLIVA, Valencia, Spain

Department of Pediatrics, Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain e-mail: antonio.cano@uv.es

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_24

Service of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital Clínico Universitario-INCLIVA, Valencia, Spain

them, genetic susceptibility, lifestyle, hormonal problems, etc. Also important, the propensity to fall, a strong variable with an impact in the risk of fracture, varies between individuals.

Because aging is a global phenomenon, osteoporosis occupies a privileged position among the causes of morbidity and mortality. According to the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF), it is estimated that the disease affects 200 million people worldwide [1]. Common sites for osteoporotic fracture are the spine and the hip but also the distal forearm, pelvis, proximal humerus, ribs, and distal femur. Given the population trends, the impact of the disease is expected to increase. So the 1.66 million hip fractures diagnosed worldwide in 1990 are estimated to reach 6.26 million in 2050 [1].

Osteoporotic fractures are followed by increased mortality and loss of healthy life years (HLY). Hip fracture, for example, requires hospitalization in most cases and is associated with risk of death. Data from Sweden forecast that around 1% of all deaths are due to hip fracture, something that is only slightly lower to deaths due to breast cancer [2].

Osteoporosis particularly affects women. Studies from different sources estimate that one in three women over age 50 will suffer osteoporotic fractures, the corresponding figures in men being one in five [3–5]. The reasons are that women (1) have more fragile bone architecture, (2) have a longer life expectancy, and (3) suffer menopause. The impact of menopause resides in the high sensitivity of bone metabolism to estrogens. The size of the effect is huge, and postmenopausal osteoporosis (PMO) is the most prevalent form of the disease as opposed to involutional osteoporosis, which is that due to aging.

# 24.2 Biological Background

#### 24.2.1 The Tissue Structure of Bone

Against its static appearance, the structure of bone is subjected to a continuous process of change, which is known as bone turnover or bone remodelling. There is of course inert material, composed of hydroxyapatite, a calcium salt, which gives consistency, and that contributes to the stable shape. There is also organic components, including cells and a thick network of collagen that, once mineralized with hydroxyapatite, provides a strong structure, which warrants both resistance and flexibility to absorb impact energy without breaking.

All those material components organize according to two different basic structures, cortical and trabecular bone.

Cortical bone, the main component of long bones, is comprised of successive apposition of osteons, basic organizations composed of concentric layers of compact bone (lamellae) encircling a central canal (Haversian canal). The strength provided by such a structure is optimal.

Trabecular bone, which is found in the vertebral bodies or the distal portions of long bones, has a spongelike structure. A network of interconnected trabecular plates provides a structure in which the energy is transmitted efficiently while maintaining a light texture. The intertrabecular spaces are filled with bone marrow.

#### 24.2.2 The Cells in Bone

The three basic cell types in bone are osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and osteocytes. All the three work in a harmonious and continuous process that governs bone turnover and regularly provides renovated bone.

Osteoclasts and osteoblasts derive from progenitor cells in the near bone marrow and articulate a process within the so-called bone multicellular unit (BMU) (Fig. 24.1).

Bone remodelling results from a program in which resorption, a responsibility of osteoclasts, is the initial step. Osteoclasts firstly differentiate to become multinuclear cells capable of digesting damaged bone areas [6]. As a result of a coupled and well-concatenated process, osteoblasts differentiate subsequently and start synthesizing protein in the form of a matrix called osteoid, which fills up the cavities created by osteoclasts. This is the phase of bone formation. Osteoid undergoes a slow process of mineralization along several months in order to consolidate new bone. One crucial condition during this process is that the balance between resorption and formation is finally neutral, i.e., the volume of renovated bone equals that digested, so that there is not a net loss of material.

Osteocytes are key cells that derive from the osteoblasts that leave buried under the osteoid. Although apparently isolated within a mineralized mass, osteocytes are interconnected through a network of cytoplasmic dendritic processes extending through a thick net of canaliculi. This sophisticated system acts as a sensitive sensor capable of detecting areas of bone fatigue (microcracks, etc.) in which remodelling is desirable [7].



**Fig. 24.1** The basic multicellular unit (BMU) includes the coupled collaboration between osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and osteocytes. The canopy of the bone lining cells and one associated marrow capillary are also included in the figure. There is a net of canaliculi that serves to interconnect osteocyte dendritic processes. (With permission of Elsevier from Khosla S, et al. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2012; 23:576–81. Permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.)

There is a very detailed knowledge of the molecular mechanisms subserving the elaborated process of bone renovation (for review see [8, 9]). Osteocytes are the main regulatory cells involved in the control of bone resorption and formation, modulating the function of osteoclasts and osteoblasts at a molecular level. One key step is the contribution of osteocytes to the secretion of a crucial cytokine, the receptor activator of nuclear factor kB ligand (RANKL), which plays a necessary role in the differentiation of osteoclasts from progenitor cells [6]. Interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-11 (IL-11), interleukin-17 (IL-17), tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and prostaglandin E2 contribute to increased RANKL secretion, while 17beta-estradiol downregulates its production [10]. Osteocytes modulate bone turnover by secretion of not only RANKL but also other specific factors, like sclerostin (SOST) and Dickkopf-1 (DKK1), inhibitors of osteoblast activity, as well as macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and osteoprotegerin (OPG), substances regulating osteoclast functions. Results from previously conducted studies indicate that RANKL, acting on its receptor located on precursor cells, cooperates with M-CSF in osteoclastogenesis upregulation. On the other hand, osteocytes produce also OPG, a soluble factor inactivating RANKL, nitric oxide, and transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), and thus contribute to decrease in osteoclast formation [11].

Noteworthy, recent studies indicate that interleukin-20 (IL-20) is considered a relevant factor in regulation of osteoclasts activity. IL-20 has the ability to upregulate the expression of RANK and other markers of osteoclast differentiation (like nuclear factor of activated T-cells c1 [NFATc1], c-Fos, cathepsin K, and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase [TRAP]). Additionally IL-20 stimulates production of cathepsin G by osteoclasts, which subsequently contributes to the increase of soluble RANKL (sRANKL) secretion from osteoblasts, thus osteoclastogenesis promotion [12].

# 24.2.3 The Key Role of Estrogens

Clinical investigators in the middle of the previous century already detected the association between ovarian function and bone metabolism. More recent basic work detected the presence of estrogen receptor (ER) mRNA expression in cell cultures and in both animal and human tissues [13–15]. Soon afterward, both the ER $\alpha$  and the ER $\beta$  were found in histological sections of the growth plate and in mineralized bone as well as in cell cultures of the three bone cellular types.

The experimental work has run in parallel with a series of clinical findings. Observations in individuals with genetic deficiencies confirmed that estrogens were the key regulator of bone metabolism not only in women but also in men [16, 17], and clinical studies in ovariectomized women proved that treatment with estrogens prevented bone loss [18]. The evidences have accumulated throughout the years to generate a solid body of knowledge confirming the crucial role of estrogens as regulators of bone metabolism [19].

One important point to understand the role of estrogens relates with the pathophysiological basis of PMO. The neutral balance in the process of bone remodelling, mentioned above as a condition to maintain the integrity of bone mass, starts being unbalanced as a result of aging. Resorption progressively separates from formation, which stays behind. In fact, involutional osteoporosis is the result of the prolongation of that slow disequilibrium during years.

Menopause in women imposes an acceleration of that process, and this has been proved to be the responsibility of estrogens that, therefore, act as the closing gate preventing the rapid loss of bone. Estrogens are, therefore, bone anti-resorptives. Clinical observation is consistent with that premise, and, for example, there is already an initial increase of bone loss during the perimenopausal years, when there are only slight reductions in the ovarian output of estrogens [20]. Also studies with bone biochemical markers across the menopausal transition are eloquent since there is an increase of markers of bone resorption in parallel with the decline in circulating estrogens. As a result of the coupling process between osteoclasts and osteoblasts, there is also an increase in markers of bone formation but of lower magnitude [21].

The identification of ER in osteocytes and osteoblasts raises questions about a potential effect of estrogens on both cell types. The action on osteocytes has been indirectly evaluated through histological assessments in bone biopsies during the use of analogues of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (aGnRH) [22]. There is an increase in cell apoptosis, which seems to be probably followed by an osteoclastogenic response emanating from signals released from the dying osteocytes [23]. The mechanism for the apoptosis of osteocyte associated with estrogen loss is unknown, although animal experiments suggest that might be related with increase of oxidative stress [24].

The action of estrogens on osteoblasts is less apparent. As for osteocytes, estrogens reduce apoptosis of osteoblasts, although the mechanisms for such an effect are still elusive (for review, see [19]).

# 24.3 Diagnosis of Postmenopausal Osteoporosis

There are three main tools, clinical history, radiological imaging, and biochemical markers. All the three have to be used under the framework of a basic principle: the assessment of PMO and the interventions to reduce risk or treat the established disease need to be organized bearing in mind that the objective should always be the reduction of fragility fracture.

# 24.3.1 Clinical Assessment

Clinical history should be always the first and necessary step in every evaluation of PMO. Two important measures at this step are to identify major risk factors for fragility fracture and to discard secondary osteoporosis.

<b>Table 24.1</b> Major risk     factors for fragility fracture	Age	
	Fracture history after age 54	
	Parental hip fracture	
	Densitometry showing hip osteoporosis	
Table 24.2 Main causes of secondary osteoporosis	Endocrine-metabolic	History or actual hypogonadism
		(anorexia nervosa, early menopause,
		post-chemotherapy, etc.)
		Cushing syndrome
		Hyperthyroidism
		Hyperparathyroidism
		Diabetes mellitus
	Nutritional	Malabsorptive disease/malnutrition
		Chronic liver disease
		Chronic alcoholism
	Drugs	Glucocorticoids
	Collagen diseases	Osteogenesis imperfecta
		Ehlers-Danlos syndrome
		Marfan syndrome
	Others	Rheumatoid arthritis
		Multiple myeloma
		Prolonged immobility
		Mastocytosis

The major risk factors have been traditionally considered to be four (Table 24.1), although the recent introduction of tools to calculate absolute risk has reduced the value of this analysis, since every relevant factor, and not only those in Table 24.1, is introduced and given the relative weight in the risk calculation. Age is a central risk factor, something of particular importance in the clinical management of women with PMO. Also important in anamnesis, potential causes of secondary osteoporosis should be detected (Table 24.2). Some of those are not too prevalent, and therefore there is insufficient information about the size of the relative risk. Therefore, they have not been included in the risk calculator algorithms.

In practical terms, it has been useful to separate risk factors in two groups, attending to whether they are modifiable or not. There is little point in paying attention to those that are unmodifiable, such as age, ethnicity (e.g., lower risk in blacks as compared with Caucasians), female gender, significant loss of height (4 cm at least) [25], etc., but preventive measures may be taken against the modifiable factors, such as sedentariness, smoking, very low body mass index, or very low calcium intake (<500 mg/day, see below).

# 24.3.1.1 Predictive Potential Based on Risk Factors (Risk Calculators)

The increased power of modern epidemiological databases together with the sophistication of advanced computational statistics has allowed for the design of tools with potential to predict the absolute risk of fracture. The Fracture Risk Assessment algorithm (FRAX) from the World Health Organization (WHO) predicts the 10-year risk of hip fracture or major osteoporotic fracture. FRAX is supported by potent scientific societies, like the IOF or the National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF).

Despite being customized to different countries or regions in the world, there is a debate about the utility of FRAX. Retrospective and some prospective studies have suggested that the predictive potential in practice is limited, specifically in some countries [26, 27]. Part, but not all, of the debate moves around the threshold for intervention. Even so, the low sensitivity to predict fracture of the imaging techniques (e.g., densitometry; see below) makes FRAX a very helpful instrument [28]. Moreover, one key factor of FRAX has been the rehabilitation of clinical risk factors, age mainly, in the decision-making.

#### 24.3.2 Radiological Imaging

Several radiological techniques have been developed to provide information useful in the assessment of the strength of the skeleton.

The most popular technique at present is dual X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), which measures bone mineral density (BMD) at both the spine and the hip (Fig. 24.2), and that has been taken by the WHO as the gold standard to diagnose osteoporosis (hip *T*-score  $\leq -2.5$ ). Moreover, DXA may be used to monitor the response to treatment, although with some limitations because accuracy is poor with variations of as much as 7% in repeated measures.

The basis of DXA utility resides in that the absorption of X-ray is very sensitive to the content of calcium in the tissue. Modern densitometry machines may measure both areal and volumetric densitometries, but areal densitometry is preferred because it accounts for some two thirds of bone strength. In this way the technique offers a quantitative parameter that directly relates with the risk of fracture. Moreover, recent technical developments have improved imaging so that deformities of the vertebral bodies may be identified and conventional X-ray assessments are no longer necessary.

### 24.3.2.1 DXA in Practice

The simplicity of DXA use and the low radiation of the technique invite to perform universal screening in women as soon as they enter menopause. However, and for general population, that should never be done before the age in which a minimum fracture risk already exists, and this occurs at 65 years. This is a general *dictum* of most scientific societies, such as the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) (level B recommendation) [29]. This is not the case, however, in women with any risk factor, as those mentioned in Tables 24.1 and 24.2.

Another important point concerning DXA refers to the potential for monitoring, which may apply to women with or without treatment. The limited accuracy of the technique has been already mentioned, and substantial changes need to have occurred to get a reliable report. Of course, this also depends on the speed of loss,



**Fig. 24.2** Standard report of a densitometry scan of the hip. The X-Y diagram shows BMD in the Y-axis (g/cm<sup>2</sup>) and age (years) in the X-axis. The middle line represents the mean population value as a function of age. Scans at different dates may allow for follow-up studies

but it seems wise to wait for at least 1 year before performing a second DXA, and, ideally, the interval should extend to 2 years. This will help to prevent diagnostic errors and to reduce unnecessary anxiety in women.

# 24.3.2.2 Imaging Alternatives to DXA

The poor accuracy of DXA in monitoring BMD evolution and the issue of bone quality motivated a National Institutes of Health consensus conference, which urged to search for imaging alternatives [30].

High-resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HR-pCT) provides purely trabecular BMD, which may be more sensitive to therapy. Also, there is already experience, although most in the research setting, which separately measures trabecular and cortical bone architecture with HR-pCT (Fig. 24.3). Translating this information into assessment of bone quality remains as a challenging issue at present.

There is experience with other techniques. Quantitative ultrasound has been extensively investigated due to the low cost and the easiness to use in the office. Much of the work has been performed on the calcaneus, with the speed and attenuation of sound as principal variables. Quantitative ultrasound has demonstrated



**Fig. 24.3** A micro-CT figure of mice bones shows that the technique offers clear separation between cortical and trabecular bones. Information may be obtained about a list of parameters concerning the trabecular network, such as number of trabeculae, trabecular thickness, etc.

predictive potential of fragility fractures that, together with the poor correlation with BMD, has been taken to claim that the technique is measuring parameters related with bone quality. However, several insufficiencies, like a monitoring performance even worse than that of DXA and the variety of techniques and parameters, moved the International Society of Clinical Densitometry to prioritize DXA as the reference technique [31].

Magnetic resonance is attractive because of the lack of radiation. The 3T technology has been shown to offer enhanced trabecular bone architecture imaging but mainly restricted to peripheral bones. Efforts to get quality information from the proximal femur are still challenging. There is much hope in the potential of this technology, although the actual state is far from becoming competitive with the easy-to-perform DXA [32].

Trabecular bone score (TBS) is a new technological procedure that aims at giving information about bone texture and microarchitecture. The method consists of software that works on the spine imaging provided by some specific densitometers. The understanding is that the standard DXA offers a global assessment of bone density in the area of interest, while TBS would be capable of distinguishing the irregularities of the density map, something that would be close to the bone microarchitecture. It seems that TBS might improve the fracture risk prediction of conventional DXA in specific cases, like, for example, diabetes [33, 34] or women with osteoarthritis [35], but the experience is still short [36].

# 24.3.3 Biochemical Markers

The metabolic activity of osteoclasts and osteoblasts releases different molecular products that should be accessible for measurement in blood or urine. Since both types of cells are coupled at the BMU, markers of either cell should work as reliable indicators of the resorption activity. Ideally, bone markers should form the most

appropriate approach to assess resorption, with the added advantage of being real time. However, important conditions are specificity of cell type to prevent contamination from other sources and an appropriate correspondence between resorption and the cellular output of the marker in question.

Much has been advanced in this field in the latter years. Although there is a list of candidates, scientific societies like the IOF or the Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine have selected the degradation products of type I collagen, both the carboxy (CTX-1) and the amino-terminals (NTX-1) like the most consolidated option for assessing resorption. Formation markers have been less popular, but again, the procollagen type I propeptide, an osteoblast-derived protein, is preferred, and more specifically the N-terminal fraction, PINP, has been selected in most studies.

# 24.4 Prevention and Treatment

Osteoporosis shares with other NCD a long subclinical period. There is, therefore, room for risk reduction strategies before the incidence of a clinical event, in this case the fragility fracture. Since age is a decisive risk factor and the peak prevalence of fractures occurs in older subjects (80 years for hip fracture), PMO offers a splendid opportunity for risk reduction. Lifestyle plays a crucial role at all ages, and, when risk is sufficiently high, the pharmacological option should be at hand.

# 24.4.1 Lifestyle

Osteoporosis is not different to other NCD, and omission of toxics (essentially smoking and excessive alcohol), balanced nutrition, and physical activity (PA) are the three pivotal measures.

Smoking has a detrimental dose-response effect on bone metabolism. The third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994 (NHANES-III), already proved an inverse association between cotinine, a metabolite of nicotine, and BMD in 14,060 subjects, men and women [37]. There are also data about fractures. The analysis of data from the Women's Health Initiative study concluded that tobacco use was an independent risk factor for fragility fracture [38].

#### 24.4.1.1 Nutrition

#### Protein

This field has advanced dramatically in recent years. From calcium, which has been a common variable in clinical guides, attention has been shifted to protein intake. European investigators have found how decisive is the diet with adequate protein intake to accomplish a good bone capital during childhood and adolescence [39]. This mechanism reproduces at more advanced age, since increase in diet protein is followed by a lower bone loss and a reduction of fragility fractures [40–42].

#### Calcium

A sufficient intake of calcium has been claimed in the vast majority of clinical guides. There is evidence showing that the consumption of calcium is followed by an increase in the blood circulating levels, which induces a reduction in the levels of parathyroid hormone (PTH). PTH is one main regulator of serum calcium, a crucial second messenger, so that when the circulating level of calcium decreases, PTH mobilizes calcium from the skeleton, the main reservoir. Vitamin D modulates the efficiency of intestinal calcium absorption. The daily recommended amount of calcium, which oscillates between 1000 and 1500 mg depending on the individual profile, has been fine-tuned in more recent publications [43]. Because data from populations with very low calcium intake show good bone health, and because increases in calcium intake may perhaps entail some risk, scientific societies of the UK like the National Osteoporosis Society recommend a daily amount slightly lower (700 mg) [44]. This agrees with experimental studies showing that the balance between intake and losses of calcium in the body moves around 700–750 mg [45].

The caution with excessive calcium ingestion is reinforced by data showing that the risk of urolithiasis [46], cardiovascular disease [47, 48], or even fractures [49] might increase. This evidence comes from observational studies in most cases, but because calcium supplementation, even when administered with vitamin D, has no [50] or a very limited protective effect, and only with older, institutionalized adults [51], discretion in recommending calcium intake is mandatory.

#### 24.4.1.2 Physical Activity

There are two potential strengths in favor of the preventive role of PA, the reduction in the propensity to fall and the improvement of the density and quality of bone. Data in the latter years have supported those two assumptions.

The regular practice of PA is supposed to increase the neuromuscular coordination that should improve equilibrium. The expected reduction in falls has been reported [52].

The other strength of PA resides in the expected increase of bone resistance as a result of the response to the mechanical overload brought with exercise. The experiences of microgravity environments, as that of astronauts in space travels, have been eloquent. Increased bone resorption, in the presence of unchanged rates of bone formation, rapidly leads to net loss of bone mass [53]. Moreover, an association exists between body mass index and bone mass, and it is brown fat, which is promoted as a result of PA, the variant more clearly related with BMD [54].

Clinical studies support the above data. Both BMD data with DXA, ultrasound attenuation in the heel, and bone quality as measured by HR-pCT have found improvement of different sizes with PA during childhood and adolescence [55] or in young women [56, 57]. Protective effect has been found also in the case of post-menopausal women [58] although some discrepancies exist in what concerns the type of exercise, namely, resistance exercise vs. resistance training combined with high-impact or weight-bearing exercise [59].

The prospects in what refers the risk of fracture, given the overall benefit in bone resistance plus the expected reduction in falls, should be encouraging. This has been

indeed the conclusion of 1 meta-analysis including 22 cohort studies, which found an inverse association between PA and total fracture risk, especially hip and wrist fractures [60]. However this position is not unanimous [61], so further research is still required.

#### 24.4.2 Hormone Therapy

The decline in the production of estrogens is the key factor in PMO. Moreover, this hormonal loss produces symptoms and quality of life deterioration in many women. Consequently, the administration of estrogens seems the most appropriate intervention to revert the lost benefits.

In the specific area of PMO, there is a wealth of studies showing how estrogens (or hormone therapy, HT, in a more general denomination that includes the option of combination with progestogens when women have a uterus) stop the process of menopausal bone loss and even recover the accumulated losses. But even more, HT reduces the risk of fragility fracture, as shown in the WHI study [62]. These data are important because HT demonstrated anti-fracture efficacy even in general, nonselected population.

Hormones do not seem to have a significant residual effect after treatment withdrawal, with most of the BMD gain being lost in 1–2 years [63].

Despite so, the present indication of HT is only the treatment of symptoms associated with menopause. The unfavorable balance resulting from the increase in breast cancer risk or cardiovascular disease was the trigger of this limitation. Even so, the European Medicines Agency accepts the use of HT for the "prevention of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women at high risk of future fractures who are intolerant of, or contraindicated for, other medicinal products approved for the prevention of osteoporosis" [64].

It cannot be discarded that a better knowledge of the actions of HT at either the breast or the vasculature might change that restricted position in the future.

# 24.4.3 Pharmacological Management

One key point that needs to be insistently stressed is that the purpose of treating osteoporosis is the reduction of the risk of fracture. The target should be fracture, and not BMD, although it is well known that both are related. That means that in women with low BMD who have a low risk of fracture, pharmacological treatment should not be used. Most women living the postmenopausal period only require lifestyle habits to reduce the risk of osteoporosis. Some of them will already have densitometric osteoporosis, but as far as age is not advanced, the risk is probably low and lifestyle should keep being the best recommendation. Of course, drugs will have to be used in some women because the fracture risk is high enough. There are several treatment options.

#### 24.4.3.1 Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs)

SERMs define a few families of compounds with affinity for the ER. However, the molecular differences with estrogens determine that binding to the receptor is followed by an array of actions moving between the extremes of pure agonism and absolute antagonism. These properties depend on the binding molecule but also of the target tissue [65]. That property converts SERMs in very attractive molecules, with the potential to achieve estrogenic or antiestrogenic effects a la carte.

Raloxifene and bazedoxifene are the two SERMs approved for treating osteoporosis. The pivotal studies have shown that both raloxifene and bazedoxifene achieve increases in BMD and reduce the risk for vertebral but not hip fractures [66, 67]. There was a protective effect against nonvertebral fractures in corresponding post hoc analyses [67, 68].

Raloxifene has demonstrated reduction in the risk for breast cancer [69], although as for estrogens and also for bazedoxifene, an increase in deep vein thrombosis was apparent in the pivotal studies.

Bazedoxifene has demonstrated a more antagonistic effect than raloxifene in endometrium, and this interesting property has been taken as the basis for development of new formulations in which bazedoxifene is mixed with estrogens (conjugated equine estrogens, 0.45 mg/day) to counterbalance the oncogenic potential of estrogens on the endometrium. The potential advantage of bazedoxifene against progestogens is that it probably deactivates their oncogenic potential in the breast. There is still insufficient information about endometrial safety of the estrogenbazedoxifene combination.

Health economy analyses have shown acceptable cost-effectiveness of SERMs [70, 71]. SERMs are a good option for starting treatment in PMO, because they are effective in vertebral fracture, which is the most prevalent in not such older women. Moreover, a reduction of breast cancer risk needs to be considered as an additional benefit. So, selection of a SERM and, at an age in which hip fracture may be a real threat, the option of an alternative may be adequate [72].

# 24.4.3.2 Other Anti-resorptives

#### Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates are a family of molecules that share a high affinity by the calcium salts in the bone (hydroxyapatite), where they remain for years. Once the area is digested by osteoclasts as a result of the remodelling process, bisphosphonates enter into the cytoplasm and create a series of dysfunctions leading to osteoclast apoptosis. Nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates (alendronate, risedronate, ibandronate, pamidronate, and zoledronate) are particularly potent in that regard [73]. As a consequence, there is a decrease in bone remodelling that stabilizes in a few months.

Some bisphosphonates are administered intravenously when a rapid action is needed because their gastrointestinal absorption is poor. The oral administration may be daily, weekly, or monthly. According to meta-analyses of the pivotal studies, the anti-fracture efficacy moves around relative risk 0.4–0.6 for vertebral fracture and 0.6–0.8 for nonvertebral fracture [74]. Ibandronate has not provided data about hip fracture.

Safety is an important issue. Osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ) and atypical femoral fracture have been reported, usually in oncological individuals using high dosages but also in long-term users. A systematic review of the International Task Force on Osteonecrosis of the Jaw concluded that the incidence oscillates between 0.001 and 0.01%, which is ten times more than that in untreated general population [75]. The association with atypical femoral fractures comes from observational studies, although official agencies as EMA have recognized them as an adverse effect [76]. The absolute figures of these fractures are very low when compared with the typical ones, suffered by the untreated population. This should not be, therefore, an argument to refrain from treating when indicated [77].

There is a difficulty with adherence of bisphosphonates, and this impacts effectiveness. It is estimated that there is a global increased risk of 28% in hip fracture and of 43% in vertebral fracture as a consequence of the poor adherence to bisphosphonates [78].

#### Denosumab

The first biological option for treating osteoporosis is denosumab, a totally human antibody against RANKL. The Fracture Reduction Evaluation of Denosumab in Osteoporosis Every 6 Months (FREEDOM) is the pivotal study that demonstrated a 68% reduction in vertebral fractures, a 20% in nonvertebral fractures, and a 40% in hip fractures with denosumab [79]. The anti-resorptive power of denosumab is higher than of bisphosphonates, as shown in comparative studies with alendronate [80, 81].

Adverse effects are not different to bisphosphonates in what refers to the drastic reduction in bone remodelling, so ONJ [82] and atypical femoral fractures have been described as well, although in less number, possibly because of the more recent appearance of denosumab in the market [83]. Denosumab, in turn, bears a specific group of adverse events, which relate with the role of RANKL as an immunological agent. A higher susceptibility to infections, such as those of the urinary tract, cellulitis, etc., is observed [84].

Adherence seems to be better for denosumab than for bisphosphonates [85] something subsequently suggested by a retrospective 2-year assessment [86]. The optimal use of denosumab has been presented in a position statement of the European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS) [87]. Essentially, denosumab is most appropriate for women with PMO and high risk of fracture so that it should be used as a first-line option with women of advanced age or with risk of hip fracture.

# 24.5 Conclusion

Osteoporosis should be addressed from the infancy, but menopause is a crucial moment for women. It is important to take care of the skeleton along the whole life by adhering to a healthy lifestyle, which is particularly so at menopause and the years that follow. This is appropriate and sufficient for most women. Whether HT is prescribed because of menopausal symptoms, additional benefit is expected for the bones. When fracture, and not just low BMD, is a risk of enough size, osteoporotic medications should be considered. SERMs may be a good option during the years in which vertebral fracture is a threat. Moreover, SERMs protect breast and have no risk of ONJ or atypical femoral fractures. Then, when age adds sufficient risk, bisphosphonates may be of help, and also denosumab should enter as an option in cases of higher risk or when bisphosphonates are not eligible.

#### References

- International Osteoporosis Foundation. What is osteoporosis-epidemiology. https://www.iofbonehealth.org/epidemiology. Accessed 8 Apr 2019.
- Kanis JA, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Jonsson B, Oglesby AK. The components of excess mortality after hip fracture. Bone. 2003;32:468–73.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, et al. Long-term risk of osteoporotic fracture in Malmö. Osteoporos Int. 2000;11:669–74.
- Melton LJ, Atkinson EJ, O'Connor MK, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL. Bone density and fracture risk in men. J Bone Miner Res. 1998;13:1915–23.
- Melton LJ III, Chrischilles EA, Cooper C, Lane AW, Riggs BL. Perspective. How many women have osteoporosis? J Bone Miner Res. 1992;7:1005–10.
- Lorenzo J, Horowitz M, Choi Y. Osteoimmunology: interactions of the bone and immune system. Endocr Rev. 2008;29:403–40.
- Atkins GJ, Findlay DM. Osteocyte regulation of bone mineral: a little give and take. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23:2067–79.
- Nakashima T, Hayashi M, Fukunaga T, et al. Evidence for osteocyte regulation of bone homeostasis through RANKL expression. Nat Med. 2011;17:1231–4.
- Xiong J, Onal M, Jilka RL, Weinstein RS, Manolagas SC, O'Brien CA. Matrix-embedded cells control osteoclast formation. Nat Med. 2011;17:1235–41.
- Bandeira F, Costa AG, Soares Filho MA, Pimentel L, Lima L, Bilezikian JP. Bone markers and osteoporosis therapy. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2014;58:504–13.
- Niedźwiedzki T, Filipowska J. Bone remodeling in the context of cellular and systemic regulation: the role of osteocytes and the nervous system. J Mol Endocrinol. 2015;55:R23–36.
- Wang HH, Hsu YH, Chang MS. IL-20 bone diseases involvement and therapeutic target potential. J Biomed Sci. 2018;25:38.
- Arts J, Kuiper GG, Janssen JM, et al. Differential expression of estrogen receptors alpha and beta mRNA during differentiation of human osteoblast SV-HFO cells. Endocrinology. 1997;138:5067–70.
- Braidman IP, Davenport LK, Carter DH, Selby PL, Mawer EB, Freemont AJ. Preliminary in situ identification of estrogen target cells in bone. J Bone Miner Res. 1995;10:74–80.
- Vidal O, Kindblom LG, Ohlsson C. Expression and localization of estrogen receptor-beta in murine and human bone. J Bone Miner Res. 1999;14:923–9.

- Bilezikian JP, Morishima A, Bell J, Grumbach MM. Increased bone mass as a result of estrogen therapy in a man with aromatase deficiency. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:599–603.
- Falahati-Nini A, Riggs BL, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Eastell R, Khosla S. Relative contributions of testosterone and estrogen in regulating bone resorption and formation in normal elderly men. J Clin Invest. 2000;106:1553–60.
- Lindsay R, Hart DM, Aitken JM, MacDonald EB, Anderson JB, Clarke AC. Long-term prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis by oestrogen. Evidence for an increased bone mass after delayed onset of oestrogen treatment. Lancet. 1976;1:1038–41.
- 19. Khosla S, Oursler MJ, Monroe DG. Estrogen and the skeleton. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2012;23:576–81.
- Sowers MR, Finkelstein JS, Ettinger B, et al. The association of endogenous hormone concentrations and bone mineral density measures in pre- and perimenopausal women of four ethnic groups: SWAN. Osteoporos Int. 2003;14:44–52.
- Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Chapuy M-C, Delmas PD. Increased bone turnover in late postmenopausal women is a major determinant of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res. 1996;11:337–49.
- Tomkinson A, Reeve J, Shaw RW, Noble BS. The death of osteocytes via apoptosis accompanies estrogen withdrawal in human bone. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 1997;82:3128–35.
- 23. Jilka RL, Noble B, Weinstein RS. Osteocyte apoptosis. Bone. 2013;54:264-71.
- 24. Yang Y, Zheng X, Li B, Jiang S, Jiang L. Increased activity of osteocyte autophagy in ovariectomized rats and its correlation with oxidative stress status and bone loss. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;451:86–92.
- 25. Kamimura M, Nakamura Y, Sugino N, et al. Associations of self-reported height loss and kyphosis with vertebral fractures in Japanese women 60 years and older: a cross-sectional survey. Sci Rep. 2016;6:29199.
- 26. Azagra R, Roca G, Encabo G, et al. FRAX® tool, the WHO algorithm to predict osteoporotic fractures: the first analysis of its discriminative and predictive ability in the Spanish FRIDEX cohort. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:204.
- González-Macías J, Marin F, Vila J, Díez-Pérez A. Probability of fractures predicted by FRAX® and observed incidence in the Spanish ECOSAP study cohort. Bone. 2012;50:373–7.
- 28. Compston J. FRAX-where are we now? Maturitas. 2015;82:284-7.
- US Preventive Services Task Force, Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, et al. Screening for osteoporosis to prevent fractures: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2018;319:2521–31.
- NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. JAMA. 2001;285:785–95.
- Krieg MA, Barkmann R, Gonnelli S, et al. Quantitative ultrasound in the management of osteoporosis: the 2007 ISCD official positions. J Clin Densitom. 2008;11:163–87.
- 32. Link TM. Radiology of osteoporosis. Can Assoc Radiol J. 2016;67:28-40.
- Jiang N, Xia W. Assessment of bone quality in patients with diabetes mellitus. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29:1721–36.
- Leslie WD, Aubry-Rozier B, Lamy O, Hans D, Manitoba Bone Density Program. TBS (trabecular bone score) and diabetes-related fracture risk. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2013;98:602–9.
- Dufour R, Winzenrieth R, Heraud A, Hans D, Mehsen N. Generation and validation of a normative, age-specific reference curve for lumbar spine trabecular bone score (TBS) in French women. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24:2837–46.
- 36. Silva BC, Leslie WD. Trabecular bone score: a new DXA-derived measurement for fracture risk assessment. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2017;46:153–80.
- Benson B, Shulman J. Inclusion of tobacco exposure as a predictive factor for decreased bone mineral content. Nicotine Tob Res. 2005;7:719–24.
- Jackson R, Mysiw W. Insights into the epidemiology of postmenopausal osteoporosis: the Women's Health Initiative. Semin Reprod Med. 2014;32:454–62.
- 39. Chevalley T, Bonjour JP, Audet MC, et al. Prepubertal impact of protein intake and physical activity on weight-bearing peak bone mass and strength in males. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102:157–66.

- Beasley JM, LaCroix AZ, Larson JC, et al. Biomarker-calibrated protein intake and bone health in the Women's Health Initiative clinical trials and observational study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;99:934–40.
- 41. Darling AL, Millward DJ, Torgerson DJ, Hewitt CE, Lanham-New SA. Dietary protein and bone health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:1674–92.
- Radavelli-Bagatini S, Zhu K, Lewis JR, Prince RL. Dairy food intake, peripheral bone structure, and muscle mass in elderly ambulatory women. J Bone Miner Res. 2014;29:1691–700.
- 43. Cano A, et al. Calcium in the prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis: EMAS clinical guide. Maturitas. 2018;107:7–12.
- 44. National Osteoporosis Society. Healthy eating for strong bones. https://theros.org.uk/ media/2077/healthy-living-for-strong-bones-oct-2016.pdf. Accesed 7 Apr 2019.
- Hunt CD, Johnson LAK. Calcium requirements: new estimations for men and women by cross-sectional statistical analyses of calcium balance data from metabolic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86:1054–63.
- 46. Wallace RB, Wactawski-Wende J, O'Sullivan MJ, Larson JC, Cochrane B, Gass M, Masaki K. Urinary tract stone occurrence in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) randomized clinical trial of calcium and vitamin D supplements. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94:270–7.
- 47. Bolland MJ, Avenell A, Baron JA, et al. Effect of calcium supplements on risk of myocardial infarction and cardiovascular events: meta-analysis. BMJ. 2010;341:c3691.
- 48. Bolland MJ, Grey A, Avenell A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium supplements with or without vitamin D and risk of cardiovascular events: reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative limited access dataset and meta-analysis. BMJ (Clin Res Ed). 2011;342:d2040.
- Warensjö E, Byberg L, Melhus H, et al. Dietary calcium intake and risk of fracture and osteoporosis: prospective longitudinal cohort study. BMJ. 2011;342:d1473.
- Crandall CJ, Aragaki AK, LeBoff MS, et al. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and height loss: findings from the Women's Health Initiative Calcium and Vitamin D clinical trial. Menopause. 2016;23:1277–86.
- 51. Chung M, Lee J, Terasawa T, Lau J, Trikalinos TA. Vitamin D with or without calcium supplementation for prevention of cancer and fractures: an updated meta-analysis for the U.S. preventive services task force. Ann Intern Med. 2011;155:827.
- Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(9):CD007146.
- Smith SM, Abrams SA, Davis-Street JE, et al. Fifty years of human space travel: implications for bone and calcium research. Annu Rev Nutr. 2014;34:377–400.
- Ho-Pham LT, Nguyen UDT, Nguyen TV. Association between lean mass, fat mass, and bone mineral density: a meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2014;99:30–8.
- Meyer U, Ernst D, Zahner L, et al. 3-Year follow-up results of bone mineral content and density after a school-based physical activity randomized intervention trial. Bone. 2013;55:16–22.
- Babatunde O, Forsyth J. Effects of lifestyle exercise on premenopausal bone health: a randomised controlled trial. J Bone Miner Metab. 2014;32:563–72.
- Evans RK, Negus CH, Centi AJ, Spiering BA, Kraemer WJ, Nindl BC. Peripheral QCT sector analysis reveals early exercise-induced increases in tibial bone mineral density. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2012;12:155–64.
- 58. Kelley GA, Kelley KS, Kohrt WM. Effects of ground and joint reaction force exercise on lumbar spine and femoral neck bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:177.
- Zhao R, Zhao M, Xu Z. The effects of differing resistance training modes on the preservation of bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2015;26:1605–18.
- Qu X, Zhang X, Zhai Z, et al. Association between physical activity and risk of fracture. J Bone Miner Res. 2014;29:202–11.
- Silva RB, Eslick GD, Duque G. Exercise for falls and fracture prevention in long term care facilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2013;14:685–9.e2.

- 62. Cauley JA, Robbins J, Chen Z, et al. Effects of estrogen plus progestin on risk of fracture and bone mineral density: the Women's Health Initiative randomized trial. JAMA. 2003;290:1729–38.
- 63. Gallagher JC, Rapuri PB, Haynatzki G, Detter JR. Effect of discontinuation of estrogen, calcitriol, and the combination of both on bone density and bone markers. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2002;87:4914–23.
- 64. European Medicines Agency. Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products for hormone replacement therapy of oestrogen deficiency symptoms in postmenopausal women; 2005. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-clinical-investigation-medicinal-products-hormone-replacement-therapy-oestrogen-deficiency\_en.pdf. Accessed 8 Apr 2019.
- 65. Cano A, Hermenegildo C. Modulation of the oestrogen receptor: a process with distinct susceptible steps. Hum Reprod Update. 2000;6:207–11.
- 66. Ettinger B, Black DM, Mitlak BH, et al. Reduction of vertebral fracture risk in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis treated with raloxifene: results from a 3-year randomized clinical trial. Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation (MORE) Investigators. JAMA. 1999;282:637–45.
- 67. Silverman SL, Christiansen C, Genant HK, et al. Efficacy of bazedoxifene in reducing new vertebral fracture risk in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results from a 3-year, randomized, placebo-, and active-controlled clinical trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23:1923–34.
- 68. Delmas PD, Genant HK, Crans GG, et al. Severity of prevalent vertebral fractures and the risk of subsequent vertebral and nonvertebral fractures: results from the MORE trial. Bone. 2003;33:522–32.
- 69. Vogel VG, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, et al. Effects of tamoxifen vs raloxifene on the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other disease outcomes: the NSABP Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) P-2 trial. JAMA. 2006;295:2727–41.
- 70. Borgström F, Ström O, Kleman M, et al. Cost-effectiveness of bazedoxifene incorporating the FRAX® algorithm in a European perspective. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22:955–65.
- Kim K, Svedbom A, Luo X, Sutradhar S, Kanis JA. Comparative cost-effectiveness of bazedoxifene and raloxifene in the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis in Europe, using the FRAX algorithm. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25:325–37.
- Cano A, Mendoza N, Sánchez-Borrego R, for the Osteoporosis Guideline Writing Group from the Spanish Menopause Society. Sequential use of antiresorptives in younger women. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25:1191–2.
- Rogers MJ, Crockett JC, Coxon FP, Mönkkönen J. Biochemical and molecular mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates. Bone. 2011;49:34–41.
- Crandall CJ, Newberry SJ, Diamant A, et al. Comparative effectiveness of pharmacologic treatments to prevent fractures: an updated systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161:711–23.
- 75. Khan AA, Morrison A, Hanley DA, et al. Diagnosis and management of osteonecrosis of the jaw: a systematic review and international consensus. J Bone Miner Res. 2015;30:3–23.
- 76. European Medicines Agency. Questions and answers on the review of bisphosphonates and atypical stress fractures; 2011. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/referral/questionsanswers-review-bisphosphonates-atypical-stress-fractures\_en.pdf. Accessed 8 Apr 2019.
- Maraka S, Kennel KA. Bisphosphonates for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. BMJ (Clin Res Ed.). 2015;351:h3783.
- Imaz I, Zegarra P, González-Enríquez J, Rubio B, Alcazar R, Amate JM. Poor bisphosphonate adherence for treatment of osteoporosis increases fracture risk: systematic review and metaanalysis. Osteoporos Int. 2010;21:1943–51.
- Cummings SR, San Martin J, McClung MR, et al; FREEDOM Trial. Denosumab for prevention of fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:756–65.
- 80. Brown JP, Prince RL, Deal C, et al. Comparison of the effect of denosumab and alendronate on BMD and biochemical markers of bone turnover in postmenopausal women with low bone mass: a randomized, blinded, phase 3 trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2009;24:153–61.

- Kendler DL, Roux C, Benhamou CL, et al. Effects of denosumab on bone mineral density and bone turnover in postmenopausal women transitioning from alendronate therapy. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25:72–81.
- Bone HG, Wagman RB, Brandi ML, et al. 10 years of denosumab treatment in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results from the phase 3 randomised FREEDOM trial and openlabel extension. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5:513–23.
- Selga J, Nuñez JH, Minguell J, Lalanza M, Garrido M. Simultaneous bilateral atypical femoral fracture in a patient receiving denosumab: case report and literature review. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27:827–32.
- European Medicines Agency. Prolia. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/ prolia. Accessed 8 Apr 2019.
- 85. Kendler DL, Macarios D, Lillestol MJ, et al. Influence of patient perceptions and preferences for osteoporosis medication on adherence behavior in the Denosumab Adherence Preference Satisfaction study. Menopause. 2014;21:25–32.
- Reyes C, Tebe C, Martinez-Laguna D, et al. One and two-year persistence with different antiosteoporosis medications: a retrospective cohort study. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28:2997–3004.
- Cano A, Silvan JM, Estévez A, et al. Spanish Menopause Society position statement: use of denosumab in postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2014;79:117–21.



# Anabolic Agents for the Treatment of Postmenopausal Osteoporosis

25

Salvatore Minisola

# 25.1 Osteoporosis Definition and Its Burden

Osteoporosis is characterized by low bone mass (easily quantified by bone mineral density (BMD) measurement) and qualitative structural decay of bone tissue (not easily evaluated by current techniques); therefore, both quantitative and qualitative skeletal alterations lead to increased bone fragility which results in fractures [1]. Mistakenly often considered an inevitable consequence of aging, osteoporosis with its ominous consequences of fractures represents a substantial and ever-growing burden on healthcare systems in many countries around the world [2].

It has been estimated that ten million Americans over the age of 50 have osteoporosis, so that about 1.5 million fragility fractures occur each year [3]; another 34 million Americans are considered at risk of disease. Concerning the economic burden, the cost has been estimated to be around \$17.9 billion per year. In European Union (EU), a report estimated that in 2010, 6.6% of men and 22.1% of women aged 50 years had osteoporosis, while the number of fragility fractures was estimated to be 3.5 million. The annual direct costs attributable to fracture treatment in the EU are approximately  $\notin$  24 billion. However, if we consider indirect costs such as long-term care and fracture prevention therapies, this figure rises to  $\notin$  37 billion per year [4, 5].

Another important factor not commonly taken into consideration is represented by the deterioration of quality of life of those incurring in a fracture event [6, 7].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

S. Minisola (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Disciplines, "Sapienza" Rome University, Rome, Italy e-mail: salvatore minisola@uniroma1.it

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_25

# 25.2 Standard Therapies for Osteoporosis

The mainstays of treatment (and prevention) of osteoporosis are represented by fall avoidance [8], weight-bearing exercise [9], and adequate calcium and vitamin D intake [10-12]. These general measures can be effective [13] especially in elderly subjects confined to nursing home and vitamin D deficient; however, medical therapy is needed when a previous fracture has already occurred.

Pharmacological therapy is aimed at decreasing the risk of fracture, mainly correcting the imbalance between bone resorption and formation at the level of bone remodeling units [14]. Indeed, there are a number of available drugs that have been shown to reduce the risk of future fractures based on both experimental and clinical data. Therefore, osteoporosis should be no more viewed as an inevitable consequence of aging. These pharmacological agents can be broadly divided into two subgroups: those decreasing bone resorption (acting on osteoclasts) and those increasing skeletal formation (acting on osteoblasts).

Antiresorptive agents [such as estrogens, bisphosphonates, selective estrogen receptor modulator, and the monoclonal antibody to receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (denosumab)] reduce the rate of bone resorption followed by a decrease in the rate of bone formation due to the coupling between these two processes; after about 6 months, a new equilibrium between the two phases of bone remodeling is reached although at a lower rate. These changes are associated with increases of bone mineral density and maintenance of some improvement of structural and material properties of bone leading to reduction of bone fragility. Long-term increases in bone mass are largely secondary to an increase in mineralization density that is a consequence of reduced bone turnover [15].

#### 25.3 Anabolic Therapies

Anabolic drugs hold the ability to increase bone mass to a greater extent than traditional antiresorptive agents.

#### 25.3.1 Teriparatide

The first available drug licensed as an anabolic treatment for osteoporosis was represented by parathyroid hormone (PTH) 1-34 (teriparatide). It stimulates bone formation, particularly in those skeletal segments rich in trabecular bone such as vertebrae, thus reducing both vertebral and non-vertebral fractures [16]. PTH improves bone quality and strength by inducing more favorable changes in micro-architectural features such as connectivity, density, and geometric properties compared to antiresorptive agents [17, 18].

In addition, owing to its ability to primarily stimulate bone formation, PTH 1-34 should be considered a first-line therapy in glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis, which is associated with reduced bone formation [19, 20]. Studies comparing

antiresorptive drugs vs. PTH 1-34 have indeed demonstrated the superiority of teriparatide both in terms of improvements in bone strength [21] and reduction in vertebral fractures [22].

A recent trial (VERO study) evaluated for the first time the anti-fracture efficacy of teriparatide compared to risedronate in 1680 postmenopausal women with at least two moderate or one severe vertebral fracture and a bone mineral density T-score of less than or equal to -1.0. At 24 months, new vertebral fractures occurred in 28 (5.4%) of 680 patients in the teriparatide group and 64 (12.0%) of 680 patients in the risedronate group (risk ratio 0.44, 95% CI 0.29–0.68; p < 0.0001). Clinical fractures occurred in 30 (4.8%) of 680 patients in the teriparatide group compared with 61 (9.8%) of 680 in the risedronate group (hazard ratio 0.48, 95% CI 0.32–0.74; p = 0.0009). Non-vertebral fragility fractures occurred in 25 (4.0%) patients in the teriparatide group and 38 (6.1%) in the risedronate group (hazard ratio 0.66; 95%) CI 0.39–1.10; p = 0.10). This was the first head-to-head study between an antiresorptive agent (risedronate) and an anabolic agent (teriparatide) that shows that the risk of new vertebral and clinical fractures is significantly lower in patient receiving teriparatide than in those receiving an antiresorptive agent [23]. Most importantly the anti-fracture efficacy of teriparatide was consistent in a wide range of patients setting, including treatment-naïve and previously treated risedronate patients [24].

It is important to keep in mind that, when we use teriparatide (which primarily stimulates bone formation), an increase in osteoclastic activity can be observed after a certain period; this foretells the closure of the so-called anabolic window, thus limiting further accrual of bone mass [25]. When treatment with teriparatide is stopped, there is a rapid decline in bone mineral density. Therefore, it is desirable to administer an antiresorptive agent following the completion of the treatment with teriparatide, so that gains obtained are maintained [26].

# 25.3.2 Abaloparatide

This is a 34-amino acid peptide which incorporates critical N-terminal residues, shared by PTH and PTH-related protein (PTHrP) followed by sequences unique to PTHrP. Preclinical studies have clearly demonstrated that both peptides activate the same receptor; however, their kinetics are different determining dissimilar responses. It has been hypothesized that the two molecules favor different receptor conformations with abaloparatide binding with high affinity but only for a short period of time, thus limiting the duration of signaling compared with teriparatide.

Miller and coworkers [27] reported the efficacy and safety of abaloparatide administered in a daily dose of 80  $\mu$ g subcutaneously for 18 months. A total of 2463 patients were initially randomized and 1901 completed the investigation. Women were subdivided into three groups receiving subcutaneous injection of placebo, abaloparatide 80  $\mu$ g, or open-label teriparatide 20  $\mu$ g, respectively. In the modified intention-to-treat population analysis (defined as the intention-to-treat analysis in participants who had both pretreatment and post-baseline X-rays), new vertebral fractures occurred less frequently compared with placebo (0.58% vs. 4.22%; RR

0.14, 95% CI 0.05–0.39, p < 0.001). In the teriparatide group, new morphometric vertebral fractures were detected in six women (RR 0.20, CI 0.08–0.47, p < 0.001 vs. placebo). Somehow similar results were obtained considering non-vertebral fractures; the Kaplan-Meier estimated event rate for non-vertebral fracture was lower with abaloparatide in respect to placebo group [2.7% in patients treated with abaloparatide vs. 4.7% in placebo-treated patients; hazard ratio, 0.57 (95 CI 0.32–1.00) p < 0.049]. There were not significant differences in respect to teriparatide group (HR 0.79, CI 0.43–1.45, p = 0.44), even though the Kaplan-Meier estimated event rates in this last group were not significantly different from placebo-treated patients (HR 0.72, CI 0.42–1.22, p = 0.22).

Considering bone mineral density, it is important to note that mean improvements with abaloparatide were significantly greater than those with teriparatide at the total hip and femoral neck at 6, 12, and 18 months (p < 0.001). Regarding lumbar spine there was a statistical significant difference (p < 0.001) at 6 and 12 months.

It is also important to underline the changes in bone turnover markers in patients treated with abaloparatide or teriparatide. Indeed, there was a similar increase of serum procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide (P1NP) and a less increase in serum carboxy-terminal cross-linking telopeptide of type I collagen ( $\beta$ -CTX) in abaloparatide-treated patients compared to those treated with teriparatide. This finding might be ascribed to the differential binding to PTH type 1 receptor, thus determining a more transient stimulation and lower expression of osteoblast-derived RANK-ligand. This very initial uncoupling of bone formation and resorption may justify the very rapid increase of bone mass with consequent rapid protection against future fracture. This could be particularly important in the immediate period after a fracture occurs; indeed a number of studies have documented that the risk is higher soon after the initial event and then declines with time [28].

Finally, concerning safety, there were more withdrawals from the study in abaloparatide-treated group (9.9% vs. 6.8% in the teriparatide and 6.1% in the placebo groups, respectively) because of adverse events mainly represented by nausea, dizziness, headache, and palpitations. This negative aspect, if conformed in future studies, implies a stringent medical surveillance.

Data from this original investigation have been subsequently reanalyzed, demonstrating that abaloparatide maintains its effect in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis, regardless of age, previous fracture, or basal BMD value [29].

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved abaloparatide for the treatment of osteoporosis in 2017. Approval by the European Medicine Agency (EMEA) is pending.

# 25.3.3 Romosozumab

An important component of the Wnt signaling pathway, a well-known metabolic route to drive osteoblast proliferation and commitment, is represented by sclerostin. This is a glycoprotein mainly secreted by osteocytes (and to a lesser extent by cementocytes and mineralized hypertrophic chondrocytes) which is a potent inhibitor of osteoblastogenesis. Sclerostin secreted from osteocytes reaches the bone surface through the canaliculi where it binds to co-receptors LRP5 and LRP6. It prevents co-receptor localization with frizzled protein and Wnt, thereby decreasing osteoblastogenesis and bone formation [15, 30].

The link between sclerostin and bone formation is very well illustrated by two rare genetic decreases. Both sclerosteosis (due to a less of function mutation) and Van Buchem disease (caused by a deletion downstream of sclerostin gene, which includes sclerostin protein) are characterized by high bone mass. In this context, some scientists suggested that the effect of parathyroid hormone therapy in humans is mediated, at least in part, by a decrease in serum sclerostin levels [31, 32]. In addition, genetic studies have shown that polymorphism in sclerostin gene is associated with low bone mineral density in older men and women, further emphasizing a causal link between modified sclerostin expression and bone mineral density.

These observations led to explore the pharmacological inhibition of sclerostin by a monoclonal antibody in various animal models of bone disease. Data obtained in experimental animals showed a consistent effect of sclerostin antibody (from now on called romosozumab) to increase bone formation, bone mass, and strength at various skeletal sites [33].

Romosozumab has been evaluated in a double-blind study at a monthly dose of 210 mg versus placebo in more than 7,000 postmenopausal osteoporotic patients [34]. At 12 months of treatment, romosozumab was associated with a risk of new vertebral fracture that was 73% lower than the risk observed in the placebo group (16 of 3321 patients in the romosozumab group vs. 59 of 3322 in the placebo group; risk ratio 0.25, confidence interval 0.16–0.47, p < 0.0001). Non-vertebral fractures had occurred in 56 patients of the romosozumab group compared with 75 in the placebo group (p = 0.10).

After 12 months of romosozumab therapy, the positive percent changes of BMD therapy were 13.3, 6.9, and 5.9 at lumbar spine, total hip, and femoral neck, respectively.

Concerning markers of bone turnover, the serum levels of procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide peaked at day 14, while the levels of  $\beta$ -CTX decreased reaching the maximum decline at day 14 and then remained below the level of placebo group during the whole treatment period.

Regarding safety profile, all adverse events were balanced between active treatment and placebo.

Romosozumab has been also investigated in another trial in which 4093 postmenopausal women with osteoporosis and a fragility fracture were randomly assigned to receive monthly subcutaneous romosozumab or weekly oral alendronate for 12 months, followed by alendronate for 12 months in both groups. After 24 months, new vertebral fractures occurred 6.2% in the romosozumab-toalendronate group compared with 11.9% in the alendronate to-alendronate group (48% lower risk of new vertebral fractures in the romosozumab-to-alendronate group). There was a 27% lower risk of clinical fractures and 38% lower risk of hip fractures [35]. During the first year of treatment, serious cardiovascular adverse events were observed more often with romosozumab than with alendronate, a finding not observed in the previous trial utilizing this humanized monoclonal antibody [34]. This could be theoretically ascribed to the reported involvement of sclerostin in aortic vascular smooth muscle remodeling or calcification. Some have also suggested that the comparison drug (alendronate) may be cardioprotective, so that the rate of cardiovascular events in the romosozumab group could be relatively higher than expected. Owing to these concerns, approval for romosozumab remains pending by both FDA and EMEA.

# 25.4 Practical Considerations for Anabolic Drugs on the Market

Before starting the administration of an anabolic agent, we must exclude possible causes of secondary osteoporosis, because in this case, the treatment is not curative (the same applies to antiresorptive agents). Both teriparatide and abaloparatide should not be administered in hypercalcemic patients and those at possible increased risk of osteosarcoma (i.e., patients with Paget's disease, undergoing radiation therapy, or with bone metastases) or in those with increased alkaline phosphatase values of unknown origin. It is also important to exclude at the beginning of therapy raised values of endogenous parathyroid hormone, because this represents a contradiction, on theoretical grounds, to the exogenous administration of the hormone. Since many cases of secondary hyperparathyroidism are linked to hypovitaminosis D, it is important to test and replenish the patient in this particular situation [36, 37]. As both teriparatide and abaloparatide might exacerbate hypercalciuria, it is important to evaluate, in basal conditions, the 24-h urinary calcium excretion. Once the therapy has been started, there are no official guidelines on how to biochemically monitor the patient for serum calcium and uric acid or for 24-h urinary calcium excretion. In any case serum calcium should be obtained 24 h after the last drug injection. If hypercalcemia is found, the first step is a reduction in the amount of calcium and vitamin D administered. If hypercalcemia persists, drug therapy should be adjusted to every other day [38]. If after this change hypercalcemia persists, it is prudent to discontinue treatment.

# 25.5 Conclusions

New anabolic drugs will increase the portfolio of compounds available to treat bone fragility; they also represent an opportunity to change our way of prescribing drugs in the most common and threatening metabolic bone disease. Indeed, unlike the majority of chronic diseases, which are generally treated by a combination of drugs, current practice in the field of osteoporosis is the administration of only one drug at a fixed dose. However, the chronic nature of osteoporosis will force doctors to find alternative solutions by adding and switching therapies with the goal of both prolonging the period of treatment and more importantly avoiding side effects consequent to long-term use of drugs. Therefore, osteoporosis should be no more viewed as an inevitable consequence of aging and estrogen deficiency but as a disease for which we have a wide selection of effective drug treatment with anabolic drugs having a prominent place.

# References

- 1. Papapoulos SE. Anabolic bone therapies in 2014: new bone-forming treatments for osteoporosis. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11:69–70.
- Minisola S, Cipriani C, Occhiuto M, Pepe J. New anabolic therapies for osteoporosis. Intern Emerg Med. 2017;12:915–21.
- 3. Bone health and osteoporosis: a report of the surgeon general, Rockville, MD; 2004.
- 4. Hernlund E, Svedbom A, Ivergård M, et al. Osteoporosis in the European Union: medical management, epidemiology and economic burden: a report prepared in collaboration with the international osteoporosis foundation (IOF) and the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Arch Osteoporos. 2013;8(1–2):136.
- Curtis EM, Moon RJ, Harvey NC, Cooper C. The impact of fragility fracture and approaches to osteoporosis risk assessment worldwide. Bone. 2017;104:29–38.
- Romagnoli E, Carnevale V, Nofroni I, et al. Quality of life in ambulatory postmenopausal women: the impact of reduced bone mineral density and subclinical fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2004;15:975–80.
- Kanis JA, Cooper C, Rizzoli R, et al. Identification and management of patients at increased risk of osteoporotic fracture: outcomes of an ESCEO expert consensus meeting. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(7):2023–34.
- Salked G, Cameron ID, Cumming RG, et al. Quality of life related to fear of falling and hip fracture in older women: a time trade off study. Br Med J. 2000;320(7231):341–6.
- 9. Pfeifer M, Sinaki M, Geusens P, et al. Musculoskeletal rehabilitation in osteoporosis: a review. J Bone Miner Res. 2004;19:1208–14.
- Boonen S, Lips P, Bouillon R, et al. Need for additional calcium to reduce the risk of hip fracture with vitamin D supplementation: evidence from a comparative metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(4):1415–23.
- Romagnoli E, Pepe J, Piemonte S, et al. Management of endocrine disease: value and limitations of assessing vitamin D nutritional status and advised levels of vitamin D supplementation. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;169:59–69.
- 12. Cipriani C, Pepe J, Piemonte S, et al. Vitamin D and its relationship with obesity and muscle. Int J Endocrinol. 2014;2014:841248.
- 13. Murad MH, Drake MT, Mullan RJ, et al. Comparative effectiveness of drug treatments to prevent fragility fractures: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(6):1871–80.
- Riggs BL, Parfitt AM. Drugs used to treat osteoporosis: the critical need for a uniform nomenclature based on their action on bone remodeling. J Bone Miner Res. 2005;20:177–84.
- 15. Minisola S. Romosozumab: from basic to clinical aspects. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2014;14(9):1225–8.
- Neer RM, Arnaud CD, Zanchetta JR, et al. Effect of parathyroid hormone (1-34) on fractures and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(19):1434–41.
- Dempster DW, Zhou H, Recker RR, et al. A longitudinal study of skeletal histomorphometry at 6 and 24 months across four bone envelopes in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis receiving teriparatide or zoledronic acid in the SHOTZ trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2016;31:1429–39.

- Moreira CA, Dempster DW. Histomorphometric changes following treatment for osteoporosis. J Endocrinol Investig. 2017;40(9):895–7.
- Hansen KE, Wilson HA, Zapalowski C, et al. Uncertainties in the prevention and treatment of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res. 2011;26:1989–96.
- Mazziotti G, Formenti AM, Adler RA, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: pathophysiological role of GH/IGF-I and PTH/VITAMIN D axes, treatment options and guidelines. Endocrine. 2016;54:603–11.
- Farahmand P, Marin F, Hawkins F, et al. Early changes in biochemical markers of bone formation during teriparatide therapy correlate with improvements in vertebral strength in men with glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24:2971–81.
- Saag KG, Shane E, Boonen S, et al. Teriparatide or alendronate in glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2028–39.
- 23. Kendler DL, Marin F, Zerbini CAF, et al. Effects of teriparatide and risedronate on new fractures in post-menopausal women with severe osteoporosis (VERO): a multicentre, doubleblind, double-dummy, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10117):230–40.
- Geusens P, Marin F, Kendler DL. Effects of teriparatide compared with risedronate on the risk of fractures in subgroups of postmenopausal women with severe osteoporosis: the VERO trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2018;33(5):783–94.
- Papapoulos SE, Makras P. Selection of antiresorptive or anabolic treatments for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2008;4(9):514–23.
- 26. Canalis E. Novel anabolic treatments for osteoporosis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2018;178(2):R33-44.
- Miller PD, Hattersley G, Riis BJ, et al. Effect of Abaloparatide vs placebo on new vertebral fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2016;316(7):722–33.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA, Odén A, et al. Fracture risk following an osteoporotic fracture. Osteoporos Int. 2004;15:175–9.
- 29. Cosman F, Hattersley G, Hu MY, et al. Effects of Abaloparatide-SC on fractures and bone mineral density in subgroups of postmenopausal women with osteoporosis and varying baseline risk factors. J Bone Miner Res. 2017;32:17–23.
- Costa AG, Bilezikian JP, Lewiecki EM. Update on romosozumab: a humanized monoclonal antibody to sclerostin. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2014;14(5):697–707.
- Drake MT, Srinivasan B, Mödder UI, et al. Effects of parathyroid hormone treatment on circulating sclerostin levels in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(11):5056–62.
- Piemonte S, Romagnoli E, Bratengeier C, et al. Serum sclerostin levels decline in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis following treatment with intermittent parathyroid hormone. J Endocrinol Investig. 2012;35:866–8.
- Ke HZ, Richards WG, Li X, Ominsky MS. Sclerostin and Dickkopf-1 as therapeutic targets in bone diseases. Endocr Rev. 2012;33(5):747–83.
- 34. Cosman F, Crittenden DB, Adachi JD, et al. Romosozumab treatment in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(16):1532–43.
- 35. Saag KG, Petersen J, Brandi ML, et al. Romosozumab or alendronate for fracture prevention in women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(15):1417–27.
- 36. Cipriani C, Romagnoli E, Pepe J, et al. Long-term bioavailability after a single oral or intramuscular administration of 600,000 IU of ergocalciferol or cholecalciferol: implications for treatment and prophylaxis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(7):2709–15.
- Minisola S, Pepe J, Donato P, et al. Replenishment of vitamin D status: theoretical and practical considerations. Hormones. 2018;18(1):3–5.
- 38. Has AV, LeBoff MS. Osteoanabolic agents for osteoporosis. J Endocr Soc. 2018;2(8):922-32.



# 26

# The Links Between Osteoporosis and Sarcopenia in Women

Juan Enrique Blümel, Eugenio Arteaga, María Soledad Vallejo, and Rosa Chea

# Highlights

- 1. Global aging will cause an increase in chronic diseases such as osteoporosis and sarcopenia.
- 2. The frequent coexistence of both diseases suggests cross talking between bone and muscle.
- 3. Different studies have shown that bone and muscle produce cytokines that affect the other.
- 4. The cellular senescence, with its production of cytokines, would be caused by musculoskeletal aging.
- 5. Improving lifestyles and decreasing senescent cells should be the therapeutic objective.

e-mail: juan.blumel@redsalud.gov.cl

E. Arteaga

M. S. Vallejo Obstetricia y Ginecología, Clínica Quilín, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile e-mail: solvallejo@vtr.net

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_26

J. E. Blümel  $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$ . Chea

Departamento de Medicina Interna Sur, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Departamento de Endocrinología, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

# 26.1 Introduction

# 26.1.1 Epidemiology

A substantial and increased proportion of morbidity and mortality due to chronic disease occurs in people aged 60 years and older. Within the leading contributors to disease burden in older people are the diseases of the musculoskeletal system, being responsible for 7.5% of the total global burden [1]. There is an emphasis on maintaining an active lifestyle to reduce the risks of obesity, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, osteoporosis, and diabetes in older people. However, musculoskeletal conditions profoundly limit the ability of people to make these lifestyle changes.

In this group of diseases, osteoporosis and sarcopenia are two disorders that seriously impair the health of older women. Currently it is estimated that over 200 million people worldwide suffer from osteoporosis. Approximately 30% of all postmenopausal women have osteoporosis in the United States and in Europe. In the different Latin American countries, between 8 and 22% of women over 50 have osteoporosis at the level of the femoral neck [2]. At least 40% of these women will sustain one or more fragility fractures in their remaining lifetime. With modest assumptions concerning secular trends, the number of hip fractures could range between 7.3 and 21.3 million by 2050. The major demographic changes will occur in Asia [3]. The socioeconomic impact of hip fractures will increase markedly throughout the world, and there is an urgent need to develop preventive strategies, particularly in the developing countries.

Loss of muscle mass and strength, which in turn affects balance, gait, and overall ability to perform tasks of daily living, is hallmark sign of sarcopenia. Prevalence increased from 13-24% in persons under 70 years of age to >50% in persons over 80 years of age and was slightly greater in Hispanics than in non-Hispanic whites. Globally, with a conservative estimate of prevalence, sarcopenia affects >50 million people today and will affect >200 million in the next 40 years. Sarcopenia represents an impaired state of health with a high personal toll consisting in mobility disorders, increased risk of falls and fractures, impaired ability to perform daily activities, disabilities, loss of independence, and increased risk of death [4, 5].

# 26.1.2 Osteoporosis and Sarcopenia: Are They Two Different Diseases?

A growing evidence shows that osteoporosis and sarcopenia share many common pathways including the sensitivity to reduced anabolic hormone secretion, increased inflammatory cytokine activity, and anabolic or catabolic molecules released by the skeletal muscle or by the bone cells which affect the other tissue (i.e., myokines and osteokines). Studies using animal models in the setting of hind limb unloading or botulinum toxin (Botox) injection also reveal that muscle loss can induce bone loss. Moreover, muscle-derived factors such as irisin and leptin can inhibit bone loss induced by unloading [6]. Therefore, it is not surprising that, although osteoporosis

and sarcopenia are different nosological entities, the coexistence of both diseases in the same individual is not uncommon. The association of these two diseases has led to the development of the term "osteosarcopenia" to diagnose those patients suffering from both diseases. Actually, osteosarcopenia has been defined as the presence of sarcopenia and osteopenia or osteoporosis. Endocrine disorders, mainly diabetes, abnormal thyroid function and low levels of vitamin D, sex steroids, growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), malnutrition, obesity, and the use of corticosteroids are also associated with osteosarcopenia [7].

The prevalence of osteosarcopenia varies with age, sex, and country. A study of community-dwelling Chinese elders older than age 65 found prevalence of osteoporosis-sarcopenia in 10.4% of men and 15.1% of women [8]. Studies in Australian persons with previous history of falls reported that 40% of this high-risk population had osteopenia-sarcopenia. Being a female; having a history of osteoarthritis, oophorectomy, or cancer; and impaired mobility were risk factors for osteosarcopenia in this Australian cohort [9]. Data presented by Campodónico in the Congress of the Argentine Association of Menopause in 2016 shows that osteosarcopenia is found in 9.7% of Chilean women between 35 and 69 years. Although the prevalence of osteosarcopenia may be different in each study group, its diagnosis has significant clinical implications. Patients with osteosarcopenia are more susceptible to occurrence of fragility fracture, poor quality of life, and higher mortality [10].

# 26.2 Pathophysiology

# 26.2.1 Role of Cytokines

The biological explanation of the association of low bone mass with sarcopenia is not based solely on the anatomical proximity of the muscle to the bone, but could be based on the cross talk between both organs. Muscle produces cytokines, called myokines, such as myostatin, transforming growth factor beta  $\beta$ , activin, interleukin-6, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) which have a negative influence on bone metabolism. On the other hand, bone produces other cytokines such as sclerostin that decreases muscle mass. Osteosarcopenia would be produced by the interaction of these cytokines with aging, genetic factors, lifestyles, and chronic diseases (Fig. 26.1) [11].

# 26.2.2 A New Actor: Cellular Senescence

The paradigm of the pathophysiology of osteosarcopenia shown in Fig. 26.1 could be complemented with the concepts of cellular senescence described more than 40 years ago. Fibroblasts in cultures initially undergo rapid division; but afterwards, they lose their capacity for duplication. However, they remain viable in a senescent state for many weeks. Later, cellular senescence was understood as an irreversible arrest of the growth that occurs when the cells undergo aggressions that may be



**Fig. 26.1** Pathophysiology of osteosarcopenia. *FAM5C* family with sequence similarity 5, member C, *FGF2* fibroblast growth factor 2, *GH* growth hormone, *HGF* hepatocyte growth factor, *IGF-1* insulin-like growth factor 1, *IL* interleukin, *MGF* mechano-growth factor, *MMP-2* matrix metallopeptidase 2, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *Vit D* vitamin D. (Modified with permission from: Hirschfeld HP, Kinsella R, Duque G. Osteoporos Int 2017; 28:2781–90)

oncogenic. Therefore, cellular senescence is an important mechanism to prevent the proliferation of potential cancer cells [12].

However, it has become evident that senescence involves more than a simple cessation of cell growth. These senescent cells stop their growth, thus contributing to the depletion of stem cell proliferation and cell aging. In addition to their capacity to suppress tumorigenesis, cell senescence could also promote chronic inflammation associated with aging. Several common molecular pathways have been identified that are associated with both aging and low-grade inflammation. Senescent cells have an altered secretion pattern SASP that comprises a complex mix of factors including cytokines, growth factors, chemokines, matrix metalloproteinases, telomere shortening, and decondensation of pericentromeric satellite DNA (Fig. 26.2). SASP has been related with inflammation that leads to cellular transformation and chronical diseases [13].

In bone, cellular senescence has been studied in animals and human beings. For example, in mice p16Ink4a expression, a senescence marker was significantly higher with aging in osteoblasts, osteocytes B cells, T cells, and myeloid cells. Furthermore, in vivo quantification of senescence-associated distension of satellites (SADS), i.e., large-scale unraveling of pericentromeric satellite DNA, revealed significantly more senescent osteocytes in old compared with young bone cortices [14]. The same study analyzed a panel of 36 established SASP factors (p16INK4a, p16 cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 4A, multiple tumor suppressor 1, p21, p51, etc.) in bone biopsies from women, which found that 12 SASP factors were significantly higher in the bone from old subjects compared with young ones.


**Fig. 26.2** Hallmarks of cellular senescence. *DNA-SCARS* DNA segments with chromatin alterations reinforcing senescence, *p16INK4a* tumor suppressor protein, *SA-Bgal* senescence-associated beta-galactosidase, *SAHF* senescence-associated heterochromatin foci, *SASP* senescence-associated secretory phenotype. (Copy with permission from Rodier F, Campisi J. Four faces of cellular senescence. J Cell Bio 2011; 192:547–56)

In the muscle, stem cell (satellite cells) function is essential for organismal homeostasis, providing a renewable source of cells to repair damaged tissues. Regeneration of skeletal muscle relies on a population of stem cells, which are impaired in very old individuals undergoing sarcopenia. Aged satellite cells lose the repression of locus, which switches stem cell reversible quiescence into a presenescent state; upon regenerative or proliferative pressure, these cells undergo accelerated senescence [15].

Therefore, as in the bone, in the muscle there are markers of cellular senescence in the elderly. We could conclude by pointing out that pathologically the central process that joins osteoporosis with sarcopenia is aging, which in the light of current knowledge would be determined by cellular senescence. It could even be suggested that the processes that have been described separately for both diseases, which involve a series of cellular mechanisms mediated by biochemical mediators of cellular metabolism, would be mere intermediaries of a central process that is cellular senescence. In the next few years, we expect to have the answers to these questions.

# 26.3 Diagnosis of Osteoporosis and/or Sarcopenia

The study of bone mass should be performed with double-photon bone densitometry. The World Health Organization has defined a number of threshold values (measurements) for osteoporosis. The reference measurement is derived from bone density measurements in a population of healthy young adults (*T*-score). Osteoporosis is diagnosed when a person's bone mineral density is equal to or more than 2.5 standard deviations below this reference measurement. Osteopenia is diagnosed when the measurement is between 1 and 2.5 standard deviations below the young adult reference measurement.



**Fig. 26.3** EWGSOP-suggested algorithm for sarcopenia case finding in older individuals. From: Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age and Ageing 2010; 39, 412–23

Sarcopenia is the loss of muscle mass, strength, and function related to aging. The European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) developed a practical clinical definition and consensus diagnostic criteria for age-related sarcopenia (Fig. 26.3) [16].

The diagnosis of osteosarcopenia includes the presence of osteopenia/osteoporosis and sarcopenia in the same patient.

# 26.4 Treatment of Osteoporosis and/or Sarcopenia

#### 26.4.1 Treatment Today

At present, the available therapeutic options to treat osteoporosis are mostly limited either to decreasing bone resorption or to increasing bone formation, and both approaches could be associated with serious side effects. Although estrogen replacement therapy is now rarely used for the prevention or treatment of osteoporosis, it continues to be a valid alternative, especially in women with climacteric symptoms. Additional pharmacological options have been developed, including a selective estrogen receptor modulator (raloxifene), bisphosphonates (alendronate, risedronate, ibandronate, and zoledronic acid), a human monoclonal antibody to receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ -B ligand (RANKL, denosumab), and the parathyroid hormone. The new preparation of conjugated estrogens/bazedoxifene has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration to prevent postmenopausal osteoporosis. However, the suspension of these treatments may cause loss of bone gain obtained with the treatment. This has led to the search for new therapeutic options, without having achieved to date a therapy that satisfies the expectations of physicians and patients. In addition to the mentioned pharmacological options, a diet with an adequate supply of proteins, calcium, and fruits is necessary. Physical activity and the maintenance of adequate levels of vitamin D are essential measures [17].

In relation to sarcopenia, the main causes for the development of this disease are hormonal changes (reduced release of testosterone, estrogen, and growth hormone), nutritional deficiencies, chronic inflammation, and particularly a decrease in physical activity due to a sedentary lifestyle with advancing age. Therefore, treatment must first be focused on reversing these causes. A combination of exercise and high protein intake ( $\geq$ 1.2 g/kg/day), with a relatively high content of animal protein and fractioned throughout the day, has the highest potential in improving different parameters of sarcopenia. In patients with sarcopenic obesity, we must add as an objective the achievement of moderate weight loss [18]. Potential medical treatments of sarcopenia are not evidence based and can be used in selected cases but not in all sarcopenic patients. They include androgenic hormones, estrogens, GH, and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. A meta-analysis of the estrogen-based treatments indicated that this therapy benefits strength [19]. This could explain why those women taking at least 80% of their hormonal prescriptions in the WHI study showed fewer falls compared with placebo [20]. There is evidence that both exercise training and vitamin D supplementation may benefit musculoskeletal health in older adults, and it is plausible that in combination their effects may be additive [21].

If we think that patients who have a musculoskeletal disease also have a high frequency of other comorbidities, it is not surprising that the elderly use many medications. If we add to this the fact that the elderly population is steadily increasing, we can understand why the use of polypharmacy in this age group has increased markedly in recent years. This is reflected in a study conducted in Scotland showing that between 1995 and 2010, the proportion of adults dispensed  $\geq$ 5 drugs doubled to 20.8% [22]. Fundamentally, this is because current treatment strategies for all chronic age-related morbidities are disease-specific, with each drug targeting a single disease or condition, e.g., a statin for cardiovascular risk reduction, an antihyperglycemic agent for diabetes, a bisphosphonate for osteoporosis, etc. This inevitably leads to polypharmacy and the resultant problems related to adverse drug interactions and compliance.

#### 26.4.2 Treatment in the Future

The paradigm of cellular senescence allows us to see chronic diseases as a single disease originated in the increase in the population of senescent cells and, therefore, think of a unique therapy for chronic diseases. Theoretically, the decrease in senescent cells or their biochemical mediators could stop the progression of chronic diseases such as osteoporosis and sarcopenia.

An option to decrease cellular senescence is to reduce senescent cells by activating a suicide gene with a drug. Baker using transgenic mice with accelerated aging, which permits inducible elimination of senescent cells (expressing p16Ink4a) upon administration of a synthetic drug (AP20187), showed that reduction of the senescent cell burden ameliorated multiple aging phenotypes in adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and eyes. P16Ink4a found in these tissues contributes to the acquisition of age-related pathologies [23]. While initial studies used genetic approaches for the killing of senescent cells, recent approaches showed similar effects with both senolytic products (quercetin and dasatinib) and drugs that inhibit the production of the pro-inflammatory secretome of senescent cells (SASP) using a Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitor. The JAK pathway is activated in adipose tissue with aging and plays an important role in regulating inflammatory cytokines produced by senescent cells [24].

Farr et al. treated old mice with bone loss for 2–4 months, with three antiaging interventions, (activation of suicide gene, use of senolytic drugs, and use of SASP blocking drugs), similarly improving bone mass and microarchitecture in both trabecular and cortical bone [25]. On the other hand, the positive effect of estrogens on bone could be due to the decrease in cellular senescence and the increase in osteo-genic differentiation. Oophorectomized rats express less special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 2 (SATB2), a protein that regulates cell differentiation in stem cells, which is associated with greater senescence and less osteogenic differentiation. The administration of E2 causes greater expression of SATB2, which is inhibited by blocking the estrogen receptor (ER- $\beta$ ). These results indicate that estrogen prevents osteoporosis by promoting cell differentiation and by inhibiting the senescence of stem cells through a RE- $\beta$ /SATB2 pathway [26].

Muscle repair and regeneration depends on a population of quiescent stem cells, called satellite cells, and is impaired in very old individuals with sarcopenia. Stem cell function is essential for organismal homeostasis, providing a renewable source of cells to repair damaged tissues. Old age causes an induction of p16INK4a in satellite cells, which translates into a senescent state, a condition in which there is a disorder in the regeneration of muscle fibers and tissue loss. Thus, cell senescence is causally implicated in the intrinsic defective regeneration of sarcopenic muscle. Interestingly, p16INK4a silencing induces rejuvenation of satellite cells, restoring regeneration in geriatric muscles. This suggests that genetic rejuvenation of satellite cells by preventing p16INK4a expression may be an effective way to prevent poor regeneration phenotypes in humans undergoing sarcopenia [14]. As previously mentioned, estrogen decreases cellular senescence, which would explain the results of the Women's Health Initiative Study that indicate that women who adequately complied with hormone therapy had fewer falls, which could reveal better muscle function [17]. The elimination of senescent cells or the inhibition of the production of their SASP (cytokines, metalloproteinase, etc.) in mice and even in humans has shown positive results not only in muscle and bone diseases but also in osteoarthritis, insulin resistance, atherosclerosis, cardiac function, and frailty. All this opens a wide range of possibilities for an eventual use in humans in the coming years [27].

## 26.5 Conclusion

There is an emphasis on maintaining an active lifestyle to reduce the impacts on obesity, cardiovascular conditions, cancer, osteoporosis, and diabetes in older people. However, musculoskeletal conditions profoundly limit the ability of people to make these lifestyle changes. Therefore, physicians must give special importance to musculoskeletal diseases and understand that they are framed within the problems of aging. Therefore, the presence of osteoporosis or osteopenia forces us to look for other comorbidities that occur with increasing age. Today we have specific therapies for each of them, but it is likely that in the next few years, all these diseases will be confined within the same paradigm, cellular senescence, and we will probably have therapies capable of changing the quality of life of the aging human being.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of this document.

Funding acknowledgement: None of the authors received funding for the creation of this paper.

# References

- Prince MJ, Wu F, Guo Y, Gutierrez Robledo LM, O'Donnell M, Sullivan R, et al. The burden of disease in older people and implications for health policy and practice. Lancet. 2015;385(9967):549–62.
- Riera-Espinoza G. Epidemiology of osteoporosis in Latin America 2008. Salud Publica Mex. 2009;51(Suppl 1):S52–5.
- International Osteoporosis Foundation. One in three women over 50 will experience osteoporotic fractures. https://www.iofbonehealth.org/epidemiology. Accessed from 11 May 2018.
- Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymsfield SB, Ross RR, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;147:755–63.
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Landi F, Schneider SM, Zúñiga C, Arai H, Boirie Y, et al. Prevalence of and interventions for sarcopenia in ageing adults: a systematic review. Report of the International Sarcopenia Initiative (EWGSOP and IWGS). Age Ageing. 2014;43:748–59.
- Bettis T, Kim BJ, Hamrick MW. Impact of muscle atrophy on bone metabolism and bone strength: implications for muscle-bone crosstalk with aging and disuse. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(8):1713–20.
- Hassan EB, Duque G. Osteosarcopenia: a new geriatric syndrome. Aust Fam Physician. 2017;46:849–53.
- Wang YJ, Wang Y, Zhan JK, et al. Sarco-osteoporosis: prevalence and association with frailty in Chinese community-dwelling older adults. Int J Endocrinol. 2015;2015:482940.
- 9. Huo YR, Suriyaarachchi P, Gomez F, Curcio CL, Boersma D, Muir SW, et al. Phenotype of osteosarcopenia in older individuals with a history of falling. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16:290–5.
- 10. Yoo JI, Kim H, Ha YC, Kwon HB, Koo KH. Osteosarcopenia in patients with hip fracture is related with high mortality. J Korean Med Sci. 2018;33(4):e27.
- Hirschfeld HP, Kinsella R, Duque G. Osteosarcopenia: where bone, muscle, and fat collide. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28:2781–90.
- 12. Rodier F, Campisi J. Four faces of cellular senescence. J Cell Bio. 2011;192:547–56.
- Maciel-Barón LA, Morales-Rosales SL, Aquino-Cruz AA, Triana-Martínez F, Galván-Arzate S, Luna-López A, et al. Senescence associated secretory phenotype profile from primary lung mice fibroblasts depends on the senescence induction stimuli. Age (Dordr). 2016;38:26.

- 14. Farr JN, Fraser DG, Wang H, Jaehn K, Ogrodnik MB, Weivoda MM, et al. Identification of senescent cells in the bone microenvironment. J Bone Miner Res. 2016;31:1920–9.
- Sousa-Victor P, Perdiguero E, Muñoz-Cánoves P. Geroconversion of aged muscle stem cells under regenerative pressure. Cell Cycle. 2014;13:3183–90.
- 16. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing. 2010;39:412–23.
- 17. Awasthi H, Mani D, Singh D, Gupta A. The underlying pathophysiology and therapeutic approaches for osteoporosis. Med Res Rev. 2018;38(6):2024–57.
- 18. Trouwborst I, Verreijen A, Memelink R, Massanet P, Boirie Y, Weijs P, et al. Exercise and nutrition strategies to counteract sarcopenic obesity. Nutrients. 2018;10(5):E605.
- Greising SM, Baltgalvis KA, Lowe DA, Warren GL. Hormone therapy and skeletal muscle strength: a meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2009;64:1071–81.
- Bea JW, Zhao Q, Cauley JA, LaCroix AZ, Bassford T, Lewis CE, et al. Effect of hormone therapy on lean body mass, falls, and fractures: 6-year results from the Women's Health Initiative hormone trials. Menopause. 2011;18:44–52.
- Antoniak AE, Greig CA. The effect of combined resistance exercise training and vitamin D3 supplementation on musculoskeletal health and function in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7(7):e014619.
- Guthrie B, Makubate B, Hernandez-Santiago V, Dreischulte T. The rising tide of polypharmacy and drug-drug interactions: population database analysis 1995-2010. BMC Med. 2015;13:74.
- Baker DJ, Wijshake T, Tchkonia T, LeBrasseur NK, Childs BG, van de Sluis B, et al. Clearance of p16Ink4a-positive senescent cells delay aging-associated disorders. Nature. 2011;479:232–6.
- 24. Xu M, et al. JAK inhibition alleviates the cellular senescence-associated secretory phenotype and frailty in old age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:301–10.
- Farr JN, Xu M, Weivoda MM, Monroe DG, Fraser DG, Onken JL, et al. Targeting cellular senescence prevents age-related bone loss in mice. Nat Med. 2017;23:1072–9.
- 26. Wu G, Xu R, Zhang P, Xiao T, Fu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Estrogen regulates stemness and senescence of bone marrow stromal cells to prevent osteoporosis via ERβ-SATB2 pathway. J Cell Physiol. 2018;233:4194–204.
- 27. Dolivo D, Hernandez S, Dominko T. Cellular lifespan and senescence: a complex balance between multiple cellular pathways. BioEssays. 2016;38(Suppl 1):S33–44.



# **Female Sarcopenic Obesity**

# 27

**Fidel Hita-Contreras** 

During the twentieth century, the overall life expectancy of the human population is rapidly increasing worldwide. The global share of older people (aged 60 years or over) increased from 9.2% in 1990 to 11.7% in 2013, and it is predicted that by 2050, it will reach 21.1% of the world population, with 392 million persons aged 80 years or over, more than three times the present [1]. Aging is associated with a progressive loss of tissue and organ function over time [2]. With aging, there is an increased risk of unfavorable changes in body composition, including a decrease in muscle and an increase in fat mass [3].

# 27.1 Obesity

Overweight and obesity represent worldwide phenomena, which are associated with a risk to develop several chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome, cancer, rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, cognitive impairment and dementia, gallbladder disease, and those affecting the cardiovascular system [4, 5]. Besides, both obesity and aging impose various functional limitations on the human body, resulting in a severe burden on quality of life [6], and it is estimated that a 2.3% of global disability-adjusted life years are caused by overweight or obesity [7].

With increasing longevity, the proportion of postmenopausal women is also on the rise. Obesity and central adiposity are major health problems during the postmenopausal years. Estrogen deficiency linked to the menopausal transition has been shown to be associated with the increase in visceral fat mass and waist to hip ratio changing from a gynoid to an android body fat distribution pattern, where fat accumulates on the upper portion of the abdomen instead of the hips [8, 9]. However other authors have reported that chronological aging but not menopause

F. Hita-Contreras (🖂)

Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Jaén, Jaén, Spain e-mail: fhita@ujaen.es

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_27

was associated with the increase in weight and waist circumference during the fifth and sixth decades of life, while menopausal status was not associated with these changes [10]. As well as hormonal changes and aging, weight gain at midlife has been also attributed to the reduction in energy expenditure of women who have undergone menopause compared with premenopausal women, mainly as a result of the reduction in physical activity [11].

Body mass index (BMI) is the most commonly employed instrument to assess overweight and obesity in global population-based adult research and is assessed by dividing an individual's weight (kg) by her height (m<sup>2</sup>). A BMI < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> indicates normal weight,  $25 \le BMI < 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$  overweight, and  $BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$  obesity [12]. However, several issues regarding BMI as a tool for obesity assessment have been reported. Its validity to assess obesity status in older adults has been recently questioned [13, 14], especially in older women due to those menopause-related changes in body composition and height decrease associated with kyphosis, shortening of the spinal vertebrae, or thinning of weight-bearing cartilage [15], which may result in BMI overestimation, causing weight category misclassifications. Moreover, BMI has little correlation with adipose mass, which in the second half of life tends to become troncular. To this respect waist circumference has been used to assess abdominal obesity. Overweight status and obesity have been reliably linked to coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, and gallbladder disease using waist circumference to determine overweight and obese status [16]. Waist circumference of 102 cm and over for men and of 88 cm and over for women has been described to assess abdominal obesity [17].

BMI also fails to differentiate between lean and fat tissue. Imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computed tomography (CT) are the gold standard for evaluating the distribution of body fat, but the high cost and low availability make it difficult to use in large population studies. In clinical practice, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) and bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) are the most frequently used methods to assess body composition and calculate body fat percentage. When DEXA was employed for body composition assessment, a body fat percentage of more than 28% and 40% of body fat percent for elderly men and women, respectively, have been used to define obesity [18]. A cutoff point of 27% and 38% of body fat percentage for elderly men and women, respectively, has been described to determine obesity with BIA [19].

# 27.2 Sarcopenia

One of the dramatic changes associated with human aging is the progressive decline of skeletal muscle mass. As the human body ages, the skeletal muscle mass declines annually approximately by 0.1–0.5% starting from age 30, and this gradual decrease, which has been suggested to be approximately 6% per decade after midlife, is accompanied by a simultaneous reduction of strength [20, 21]. There are significant differences among individuals in peak muscle mass, the age at which muscle loss begins, and the amount of muscle that is lost over time [22]. In women there a sharp decline in muscle mass after menopause has been described [23].

The term "sarcopenia" was first proposed by Rosenberg in 1989 to describe the decline of muscle mass associated with aging [24]. Since then, sarcopenia has been defined as the loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength that occurs with advancing age [25].

In the last 20 years, several different definitions of sarcopenia have been proposed, but no consensus has been reached. For instance, Baumgartner et al. [26] used a measure of relative muscle mass, since absolute muscle mass is correlated strongly with height and thus calculated an index of relative skeletal muscle mass as appendicular skeletal muscle mass (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m<sup>2</sup>). They defined sarcopenia as the index of relative skeletal muscle mass being less than two standard deviations below the mean of a young reference group. On the other hand, Janssen et al. [27] converted absolute skeletal muscle mass (kg) to percentage skeletal muscle mass (muscle mass/body mass × 100) and termed the skeletal muscle index. They defined class I and II sarcopenia when values were within 1–2 and <2 standard deviations of young adult values.

Since then, muscle strength and physical performance have incorporated to muscle mass in the criteria for sarcopenia diagnosis. In 2010, the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) defined sarcopenia as "a syndrome characterized by progressive and generalized loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength with a risk of adverse outcomes such as physical disability, poor quality of life and death" [28]. Therefore, diagnostic criteria included low muscle mass (presarcopenia) together with low muscle strength or physical function (sarcopenia). The presence of the three diagnostic criteria refers to severe sarcopenia. Several groups such as the Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) Sarcopenia Project [29]; International Working Group (IWG) [30]; Society of Sarcopenia, Cachexia, and Wasting Disorders (SCWD) [31]; and the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism Special Interest Group on cachexiaanorexia in chronic wasting diseases (ESPEN) [32] have published operational criteria to define sarcopenia, using different assessment tools or cutoff points. For instance, while the EWGSOP employed appendicular skeletal muscle mass/height<sup>2</sup> as skeletal muscle mass index, the FNIH Sarcopenia Project used appendicular lean mass divided by body size (ALM<sub>BMI</sub>). SCWD and ESPEN criteria are similar to those described by the EWGSOP, while IWG took a different cutoff point for gait speed when assessing physical performance.

As for muscle mass assessment, CT and MRI are also considered as the gold standard for estimating muscle mass given that they allow distinguishing fat from other soft tissues [33]. DEXA has been shown to be the preferred alternative method to CT and MRI for research and clinical use since it may discriminate between fat, bone mineral, and lean tissues and estimate appendicular skeletal muscle mass [28]. Bioelectrical impedance analysis estimates lean and fat body mass at the molecular level with good correlation with MRI [34] and DEXA [35]. Although positive correlations have been described between calf circumference and appendicular skeletal muscle mass and skeletal muscle index, and thus it could be used as a surrogate marker of muscle mass for diagnosing sarcopenia [36], anthropometric measurements such as this one or calf circumference are not recommended for diagnosing sarcopenia given that they are prone to error [28].

Regarding muscle strength, handgrip strength is commonly used in research and clinical practice [37], since it has been reported to be highly correlated with lower extremity muscle strength [38], which is important in gait, posture, and physical function. Knee flexion and extension techniques may be suitable for research studies, but their use in clinical practice is limited by equipment and training special requirements [28].

There are a number of methods to evaluate physical performance. The Short Physical Performance Battery test, which combines gait speed, chair-rise time, and balance assessment, is one of the most commonly used tools in the research of sarcopenia [39]. Among other tests, usual gait speed, which is a part of the Short Physical Performance Battery test, but can also be obtained from the timed up-and-go test, can be used as a single parameter to provide a predictive value for disability [40].

# 27.3 Sarcopenic Obesity

Aging-related decrease in muscle and fat mass increase may be masked by a stable body weight, resulting in a phenotype called sarcopenic obesity which is id defined as the coexistence of both sarcopenia and obesity [41]. Although it has gained significant attention from the scientific community in recent years, there is no universally accepted definition. Therefore, true prevalence estimations are unclear due to several factors such as the lack of consensus regarding diagnostic criteria or definitions (i.e., muscle mass alone or together with muscle strength and/or physical performance for sarcopenia) or differences associated with ethnicity in study populations [42]. For instance, Kemmler et al. [43] reported a SO prevalence that ranged from 4.1% (EWGSOP criteria + body fat >25%) to 2.1% (IWGS criteria + body fat >30%) in community-dwell $ing \ge 70$  years men. There is also divergence in terms of the chosen outcome to define sarcopenia (i.e., appendicular skeletal muscle mass, skeletal muscle mass, or fat-free mass) and obesity (i.e., body mass index, waist circumference, or body fat percentage). To this respect, fat accumulation and redistribution associated with muscle loss do not necessarily lead to BMI increase, and Han et al. [44] suggested that waist circumference gives a better indication of adiposity and sarcopenic obesity than BMI.

The prevalence of sarcopenic obesity also varies with regard to the cutoff points and methods used for its diagnosis (Table 27.1). For instance, with DEXA, Baumgartner et al. [41] reported that the prevalence of SO was 2% in 60–69 years old people from New Mexico and 10% for those  $\geq$ 80 years. When using a Relative Skeletal Muscle Index, 8.9% of men and 7.1% of women (70–79 years old, USA) sarcopenic obese (appendicular lean mass/height<sup>2</sup>) [45], but prevalence was higher (60 years and older, USA) when using appendicular lean mass/BMI, ranging from 16 to 40% [46].

# 27.3.1 Etiopathogenesis

The etiopathogenesis of sarcopenic obesity is a complex process where several common pathophysiological mechanisms interplay (Fig. 27.1). These factors involve

	Study group	Body composition assessment	Sarcopenia definition	Obesity definition	Sarcopenic obesity prevalence (females) (%)
Batsis	Adults	DEXA	ALM/BMI	PBF	27.3
et al. $\begin{bmatrix} 46 \end{bmatrix}$	>60 years		ALM	PBF	12.6
	(USA)		ALM	BMI	0.2
Bouchard et al. [47]	Adults 68–82 years (Canada)	DEXA	ASM/ height <sup>2</sup>	PBF	10.82
Oh et al. [48]	Adults >60 years (Korea)	DEXA	ASM/weight	BMI	31.10
Öztürk et al. [49]	Adults ≥65 years (Turkey)	BIA	ASM/ height <sup>2</sup> Handgrip strength Gait speed	BMI	12.5
Moreira et al. [50]	Women 40–65 years	BIA	ASM/ height <sup>2</sup>	WC	7.1

**Table 27.1** Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in female population using various definitions and criteria

*ALM* appendicular lean mass, *ASM* appendicular skeletal muscle mass, *BIA* bioelectrical impedance analysis, *BMI* body mass index, *DEXA* dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, *PBF* percent body fat, *SMM* skeletal muscle mass, *WC* waist circumference



Fig. 27.1 Association of sarcopenia and obesity

lifestyle factors such as diet, low physical activity and sedentary behavior, smoking, hormone changes (insulin, growth factors, vitamin D), oxidative stress, neuromuscular changes, or immunological (proinflammatory cytokines) factors [51].

Aging-related changes in body composition seem to be strongly interconnected. With age, and together with muscle mass decrease, there is an alteration in body fat distribution where visceral fat and waist circumference increase, whereas subcutaneous fat decreases. Besides, there is an important increase in muscle fat infiltration [52].

The aging process is characterized by a state of chronic inflammation, known as "inflammaging." It is an important link among obesity, insulin resistance, aging, and age-associated diseases [4]. Inflammation leads to local and systemic increment of proinflammatory makers, such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , interleukin-1 $\beta$  or 6, interferon- $\gamma$ , inflammatory adipokines, chemokines, and free fatty acids [53].

Obesity and sarcopenia are interconnected. Abdominal fat deposit has been described to be more proinflammatory than general obesity. Increased intramuscular and intrahepatic fat contribute to insulin resistance [54] which may affect protein degradation, protein synthesis, and muscle growth through locally released adipokines and free fatty acids. Adipokines secreted from fat tissue could lead to muscle wasting and fatty infiltration [55] which may cause an inflammatory state within the muscle. With this proinflammatory environment, obese people preferentially mobilize muscle, not fat, leading to fat increase and muscle loss and thus sarcopenic obesity.

#### 27.3.2 Consequences

Obesity-related consequences are widely studied and debated modern epidemics and are related to a substantial and rising percentage of healthcare costs [56]. Among others, obesity is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular disease [57]. Sarcopenia is also known to be linked with adverse glucose metabolism and metabolic syndrome, in middleaged and older nonobese people [58].

Sarcopenia also represents a significant influence on healthcare charges, mainly attributed to its strong effect on disability, and the increased healthcare expenditures in disabled persons [59]. Compared with sarcopenia or obesity alone, individuals with sarcopenic obesity have been reported to have poorer physical function and 2.5 times higher risk of reporting disability regarding instrumental daily living activities [18]. Obesity has been also associated with disability, and BMI and waist circumference have been described as important predictors of the onset or worsening of mobility disability in the older adult [60].

In sarcopenic obese people, both sarcopenia and obesity might synergistically increase their health-related deleterious effects [42], with, among others, worse cardio-vascular risk profiles [61]. However, there are conflicting results, and several studies have reported that, compared with sarcopenic obesity, obesity has more cardiovascular risk factors in older women [62]. Sarcopenic obesity also presents a negative effect on lower functional capacity, a higher risk of falls [35], and a loss of independence [63].

Regarding mortality rates, Janssen et al. [64] reported that higher BMI values may be related to a lower risk, but if obesity is combined with low muscle strength, the risk of mortality may overcome the protective effect. Elderly people with sarcopenia have decreased survival rates following acute illness and with a doubled risk of nosocomial infection [65]. As for sarcopenic obesity, it has been associated with significantly higher risk of all-cause mortality compared to nonsarcopenic, nonobese subjects [66]. Nevertheless, in the study published by Batsis et al. [19] with data extracted from NHANES III study, older women with sarcopenia had a higher risk of all-cause mortality, independent of obesity.

#### 27.3.3 Management

Differences regarding sarcopenic obesity definition and diagnose lead to difficulties in comparing the effectiveness of the strategies that target this entity [67]. Taking into account the complexity of sarcopenic obesity etiopathogenesis, its management requires a multifactorial approach [68].

Obesity management has traditionally centered on decreasing weight rather than increasing muscle. It mainly aims to reduce intra-abdominal fat through caloric restriction. As mentioned above, obesity is associated with several chronic illnesses, and in this way, intentional weight loss in obese patients can have important clinical benefits or prevent many of the obesity-related risk factors for cardiovascular diseases as well as improvements in osteoarthritis or type 2 diabetes mellitus [69]. It has been also described that a moderate weight loss determines a significant improvement in insulin resistance, in fat distribution, and, more importantly, in muscle lipid infiltration [70]. Besides, excess caloric intake that results in obesity may lead to abnormal surges in serum-free fatty acids and glucose levels, which are linked high levels of oxidative stress, accelerating sarcopenia [71].

Therefore, a correct diet approach is of great importance in obesity management. A recent study analyzed several diet patterns in postmenopausal women and showed that with independence of age, menopausal age, total daily caloric intake and daily physical activity, and high consumption of unrefined cereals and legumes together with low intake of refined cereals were associated with lower BMI, waist circumference, and waist to height ratio. Nevertheless, greater consumption of red meat and potatoes, and low consumption of nuts, coffee, and tea, was associated with an increase in these three obesity parameters.

In postmenopausal women, physical exercise benefits in age-related diseases such as disability and falls, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular diseases, or dementia, and cognitive function impairment has been widely described [72]. Nevertheless, the addition of exercise to energy restriction does not appear to have an additive effect on the amount of weight lost [42]. Moreover, weight loss induced by energy restriction alone may be costly in terms of losses in fat-free mass, and thus, muscle mass may decrease together with total body weight.

Several strategies have been described in the recent years regarding the treatment and management of sarcopenia, mainly aimed to improve muscle mass and function [73]. The most important approaches include nutritional and physical exercise interventions, either alone or combined, which have been shown as effective strategies not only for sarcopenia treatment but also to prevent the onset and the development of risk factors for sarcopenia, such as obesity, diabetes, chronic low-grade inflammatory state, cardiovascular accidents, and hormonal deficit. In a recent review, Sgro et al. [74] concluded that that even in the case of overt hormonal deficiency, replacement therapy may be recommended not only because of the direct effects on muscle mass and performance but also because a good hormone milieu represents a requisite for adaptive process of supercompensation to training-induced stimulus. At this respect, recent studies in rats have shown that hormone replacement therapy with growth and/or parathyroid hormone may be an effective strategy in sarcopenia prevention and treatment [75, 76].

#### 27.3.3.1 Physical Exercise

The benefits of distinct forms of programmed physical exercise programs on muscle mass and function have been demonstrated in different age groups. For instance, Crane et al. [77] studied muscle strength in three different age groups (20–39, 40–64, and 64–86 years), concluding that muscle strength significantly decreased with age, and people who practiced long-term aerobic exercise had significantly higher muscle strength assessed by several methods such as grip strength, relative maximal isometric knee extension torque, and absolute and relative 1-RM knee extension. In addition, it has been shown that, in well-trained older adults, skeletal muscle structure analyzed by muscle biopsies is more similar to the active young men than to that of the age-matched sedentary men [78].

It has been widely described that prolonged resistance exercise, which has been shown to be effective and safe even in very old and frail subjects, leads to specific type II muscle fiber hypertrophy in healthy young and older men [79]. Aerobic exercise training has also important benefits, and it is more suitable to maintain and/or increase aerobic and cardiovascular fitness and conserves muscle mass by improving muscle blood flow and decreasing oxidative stress [80].

Resistance exercise is currently described as the most effective exercise strategy to improve muscle mass, strength, and function in older people, but most of these studies have been performed among older, nonsarcopenic obese adults [81, 82]. When analyzing the effects of programmed physical exercise on people with sarcopenic obesity, only a few randomized controlled trials have been published. At this respect, Gadelha et al. [83] found improvements in both fat-free mass and sarcopenic obesity index that considered appendicular FFM based on height and fat mass, after 24 weeks of progressive resistance training.

The benefits of both aerobic and resistance exercises combined in sarcopenic obesity people have been studied, and thus Park et al. [84] found improvements in waist circumference, physical performance, fat mass, and muscle strength in postmenopausal women aged 65 years and over. Chen et al. [85], in a study performed in men and women aged 65–75 years, found an increase in muscle mass and a decrease in total fat mass and visceral fat area after resistance and aerobic exercises alone or combined (concurrent exercise), compared with participants who did not train. Muscle strength performance and serum IGF-1 level were also superior in the trained groups, especially after resistance exercises. Nevertheless, despite these improvements in sarcopenic obesity parameters, a clear conclusion cannot be drawn due to the disparity of the results obtained and the heterogeneity in the assessment of the sarcopenic obesity-related outcomes and criteria [86]. Between the recent training modalities, whole-body electromyostimulation (WB-EMS) has been proven to be effective in increasing muscle thickness, muscle fiber cross-sectional area, and knee extension strength in healthy human skeletal muscles [87]. More specifically, WB-EMS has shown benefits in muscle strength in different target populations such as elite soccer players [88] or postmenopausal women [89]. In 2016, Kemmler et al. [90] reported that, in middle-aged men, WB-EMS effects on general strength and body composition are similar to those obtained by high-intensity resistance training exercise. Nevertheless, WB-EMS studies carried out in sarcopenic obese people usually employee a combination of this exercises and dietary supplementation and will be described below.

#### 27.3.3.2 Nutrition

Nutrition is a key factor in the development of both sarcopenia and obesity, although while sarcopenia is associated with an inadequate nutritional intake, obesity may be a result of an excess in the energy intake consumption (together with low energy expenditure) [91]. Consequently, nutritional strategies focused on sarcopenic obese people should target an optimal nutrient intake to increase skeletal muscle mass or prevent muscle mass loss, as well as to decrease excess fat mass.

Hypocaloric diets are very effective for losing weight in obese older adults. However, this strategy is highly undesirable in sarcopenic obese people, since it is estimated that about 25% of this weight loss is skeletal muscle mass, and can also have harmful effects for the micronutrient status and bone mineral density. Thus, in sarcopenic obesity, a weight loss diet should always focus on the preservation of muscle mass and could be combined with a high-protein diet and/or micronutrient supplementation [67].

Dietary amino acids have been demonstrated to have a positive regulatory effect on the muscle protein synthesis [92]. Protein intake may also be a significant factor for sarcopenia prevention and management. In older adults (>65 years), a dietary protein intake of 1.0–1.2 g/kg is recommended to maintain and regain the muscle mass and function in the long term, while it should be higher (1.2–1.5 g/kg) in individuals that suffer from chronic diseases [93]. This can reduce the risk of chronic diseases and improve outcomes [94]. Nevertheless it has been reported that an excessive intake of protein could be very harmful for the 65 and younger population [95].

The type of protein and the amino acid composition are also relevant for muscle mass preservation or gain during weight loss. Whey protein, the soluble protein fractions extracted from diary milk [96], can stimulate whole-body and muscle protein synthesis [97] and could represent an effective countermeasure to prevent muscle atrophy associated with physical inactivity and muscle unloading during aging [42]. Nevertheless, it has been reported that whey protein ingestion has a greater anabolic effect in the elderly than the essential amino acids that it contains [98]. An intake of leucine (2.0–2.5 g/day), mainly derived from animal sources, has been reported to improve the postprandial muscle protein synthesis in elderly men [99]. Beta-hydroxy-beta-methylbutyrate, a metabolite of leucine, can improve this muscle loss, but to date only a small number of studies have shown increases in lean

(muscle) mass and some muscle function and physical performance parameters in older people with or without resistance exercise and in muscle mass preservation during bed rest [100]. Other essential amino acids such as L-arginine [101] or L-cysteine [102] have been shown to have beneficial effects regarding insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic patients.

Protein source (plant or animal) and intake timing are also of importance. Overall, animal-derived dietary protein seems most effective in eliciting muscle protein synthesis [103]. Regarding the timing of protein intake, a more evenly distribution of dietary protein intake (every 3–4 h), instead of protein consumption during the three main meals, has been associated with higher muscle strength, physical performance, and skeletal muscle mass in older adults [104, 105].

As for older people with sarcopenic obesity, hypocaloric diets should be supplied with adequate protein, which may help to prevent muscle loss [106] and improve adherence to low energy intake [107]. Ensuring adequate dietary protein intake using high-quality proteins should be of importance in adults with sarcopenic obesity, with the quality of the protein being more important than the quantity [42]. It has been described that whey protein and essential amino acid meal replacement during weight loss induced by caloric restriction diet promote a reduction of adipose tissue and a modest loss of lean tissue in the elderly population people [108]. However, although the combination of a hypocaloric high-protein diet seems to be effective in the prevention of sarcopenic obesity, this strategy does not seem to be effective for its treatment [67].

Another strategy is to combine different anabolic nutrients. It has been recently reported that the combination of vitamin D with whey protein, which has been enriched with leucine, could increase protein synthesis and finally promote muscle mass gain in older adults [109]. The risk of developing micronutrient deficiencies such as 25-hydroxyvitamin D; vitamin B6, C, and E; selenium; magnesium; or zinc is relatively high in obese adults, who, in addition, are especially at risk for micronutrient deficiencies when following a weight loss diet [110]. On the other hand, some of these minerals as well as low 25-hydroxy-vitamin D status are associated with the development of sarcopenia [111, 112], and vitamin D supplementation has been demonstrated to improve several sarcopenic parameters in older adults [113].

#### 27.3.3.3 Exercise + Nutrition

As mentioned above, a combination of different approaches seems to be more appropriate than one single strategy, whether it is nutrition or exercise, in sarcopenic obesity management.

The addition of exercise to a hypocaloric diet in obese older adults attenuates the loss of skeletal muscle mass [114], and it also improves muscle strength and performance [67]. In frail obese adults, a hypocaloric diet together with the combination of aerobic and resistance exercise is more effective for improving the functional status than the combination of low energy diet with either aerobic or resistance exercises alone [115].

As for the combination of exercise and nutrition, Liao et al. [116] reported that, in overweight and obese elderly people, higher increases in lean mass, muscular

volume, and leg strength are observed after resistance exercise combined with protein supplementation, in comparison with resistance exercise alone. However, they found that obese participants did not show greater change in muscle volume and grip strength compared with nonobese. Diet supplementation (particularly high protein intake or protein supplementation) combined with exercise is the most common strategy to counteract sarcopenic obesity. A recently published meta-analysis [117] focused on sarcopenic obese people has concluded that exercise alone and together with dietary supplementation improve muscle-related outcomes and reduce fatrelated outcomes. However, the authors state that there is a need for better-designed randomized controlled trials with systematic evaluation of the different types of exercise and dietary supplements. More specifically, Kim et al. [118] analyzed the effects of progressive sequence of resistance and aerobic training and amino acid supplementation with tea catechin alone and combined. They observed that, although exercise and nutrition have beneficial effects on individual variables of body composition and physical function, improvements in muscle mass and variable combinations such as skeletal muscle mass index and fat percentage or physical performance and fat percentage were not found. When analyzing randomized controlled trials with combined nutritional supplements and exercise on sarcopenic obese population, WB-EMS is the most commonly used form of exercise. In a project performed in sarcopenic obesity community-dwelling women aged over 70 years, WB-EMS increased muscle mass and functional capacity, but the effect on body fat was minor, and the addition of protein-enriched supplements did not increase the effects of WB-EMS alone [43]. In the same project, when studying the effects on the metabolic syndrome [119], isolated WB-EMS did not induce significant improvements, but combined with low-dose protein supplementation, more favorable results were observed. In a similar project carried out in men (>70 years), improvements in fat and muscle mass, muscle strength, and gait velocity were observed in both WB-EMS alone and combined with protein supplements [120, 121].

# 27.4 Conclusions

Aging-related decrease in muscle and fat mass increase may be masked by a stable body weight, called sarcopenic obesity. Estimation of the prevalence is difficult due to the lack of consensus regarding sarcopenia definition and the heterogeneity in the assessment of the sarcopenic obesity-related outcomes. Different common pathophysiological mechanisms, such as lifestyle, immunological, endocrine, or vascular factors, are involved in its pathogenesis. A proinflammatory environment seems to play an important role in the association between sarcopenia and obesity. Postmenopause is associated with an increase in visceral adipose tissue, an important source of inflammatory markers. Sarcopenic obesity management requires a multifactorial approach, and several strategies, such as physical exercise or diet, either alone or combined have been studied in literature, but the limited number of studies focused on sarcopenic obesity people and the variability regarding the outcome measures and study designs preclude firm conclusions. An adequate combination of hypocaloric diet focused on losing weight in obese older adults and an appropriate protein intake have been described to be important factors for sarcopenic obesity prevention and treatment. Among the different forms of exercise, resistance and aerobic exercise programs, as well as more recent modalities such as whole-body electromyostimulation, seem to be effective in sarcopenic obesity management.

# References

- United Nations. World population ageing 2013 [Internet]. New York, USA: Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division; 2013. Report No.: ST/ESA/ SER.A/348. http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/ WorldPopulationAgeing2013.pdf.
- 2. Flatt T. A new definition of aging? Front Genet. 2012;3:148.
- Ding J, Kritchevsky SB, Newman AB, Taaffe DR, Nicklas BJ, Visser M, Lee JS, Nevitt M, Tylavsky FA, Rubin SM, Pahor M, Harris TB. Health ABC study, effects of birth cohort and age on body composition in a sample of community-based elderly. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;85(2):405–10.
- 4. Frasca D, Blomberg BB, Paganelli R. Aging, obesity, and inflammatory age-related diseases. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1745.
- Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of comorbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:88.
- Zambon M, Mazzali G, Zoico E, Harris TB, Meigs JB, Di Francesco V, Fantin F, Bissoli L, Bosello O. Health consequences of obesity in the elderly: a review of four unresolved questions. Int J Obes. 2016;29:1011–29.
- 7. Global Health Observatory (GHO) Obesity. Situation and trends. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 8. Berdah J. Staying fit after fifty. Gynecol Obstet Fertil. 2006;34:920-6.
- 9. Davis SR, Lambrinoudaki I, Lumsden M, Mishra GD, Pal L, Rees M, Santoro N, Simoncini T. Menopause. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15004.
- Sternfeld B, Wang H, Quesenberry CP Jr, Abrams B, Everson-Rose SA, Greendale GA, Matthews KA, Torrens JI, Sowers M. Physical activity and changes in weight and waist circumference in midlife women: findings from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;160:912e22.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes. 2008;32:949–58.
- World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and management of the global epidemic. Report of the WHO consultation. Technical report series. No. 894. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.
- 13. Rothman KJ. BMI-related errors in the measurement of obesity. Int J Obes. 2008;3(s3):s56-9.
- 14. Hita-Contreras F. Traditional body mass index cut-offs in older people: time for a rethink with altered fat distribution, sarcopenia and shrinking height. Maturitas. 2018;113:A1–2.
- 15. Sorkin JD, Muller DC, Andres R. Longitudinal change in the heights of men and women: consequential effects on body mass index. Epidemiol Rev. 1999;21(2):247–60.
- 16. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, Fruchart JC, James WP, Loria CM, Smith SC Jr, International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation, International Atherosclerosis Society; International Association for the Study of Obesity. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart,

Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation. 2009;120:1640–5.

- Rollins KE, Javanmard-Emanghissi H, Awwad A, Macdonald IA, Fearon KCH, Lobo DN. Body composition measurement using computed tomography: does the phase of the scan matter? Nutrition. 2017;41:37–44.
- Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. Obes Res. 2004;12:1995–2004.
- Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Barre LK, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity and mortality in older adults: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2014;68:1001–7.
- 20. Janssen I. Evolution of sarcopenia research. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2010;35:707-12.
- Curcio F, Ferro G, Basile C, Liguori I, Parrella P, Pirozzi F, Della-Morte D, Gargiulo G, Testa G, Tocchetti CG, Bonaduce D, Abete P. Biomarkers in sarcopenia: a multifactorial approach. Exp Gerontol. 2016;85:1–8.
- 22. Janssen I. The epidemiology of sarcopenia. Clin Geriatr Med. 2011;27:355-63.
- Montero-Fernández N, Serra-Rexach JA. Role of exercise on sarcopenia in the elderly. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2013;49:131.
- Rosenberg I. Summary comments: epidemiological and methodological problems in determining nutritional status of older persons. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989;50:1231–3.
- Morley JE, Baumgartner RN, Roubenoff R, Mayer J, Nair KS. Sarcopenia. J Lab Clin Med. 2001;137:231–43.
- Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymsfield SB, Ross RR, Garry PJ, Lindeman RD. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;147:755–63.
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50:889–96.
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, Martin FC, Michel JP, Rolland Y, Schneider SM, Topinková E, Vandewoude M, Zamboni M. European working group on sarcopenia in older people, sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: report of the European Working group on sarcopenia in older people. Age Ageing. 2010;39(4):412–23.
- Dam TT, Peters KW, Fragala M, Cawthon PM, Harris TB, McLean R, Shardell M, Alley DE, Kenny A, Ferrucci L, Guralnik J, Kiel DP, Kritchevsky S, Vassileva MT, Studenski S. An evidence-based comparison of operational criteria for the presence of sarcopenia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69:584–90.
- 30. Fielding RA, Bruno V, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, Morley JE, Newman AB, Abellan van Kan G, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Breuille D, Cederholm T, Chandler J, De Meynard C, Donini L, Harris T, Kannt A, Keime Guibert F, Onder G, Papanicolaou D, Rolland Y, Rooks D, Sieber C, Souhami E, Verlaan S, Zamboni M. Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International working group on sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12:1–9.
- 31. Morley JE, Abbatecola AM, Argiles JM, Baracos V, Bauer J, Bhasin S, Cederholm T, Coats AJ, Cummings SR, Evans WJ, Fearon K, Ferrucci L, Fielding RA, Guralnik JM, Harris TB, Inui A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kirwan BA, Mantovani G, Muscaritoli M, AB Newman F, Rosano GMR-F, Roubenoff R, Schambelan M, Sokol GH, Storer TW, Vellas B, von Haehling S, Yeh SS, Anker SD, Society on Sarcopenia, Cachexia and Wasting Disorders Trialist Workshop, Society on Sarcopenia, Cachexia and Wasting Disorders Trialist Workshop. Sarcopenia with limited mobility: an international consensus. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2012;12:403–9.
- 32. Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argiles J, Aversa Z, Bauer JM, Biolo G, Boirie Y, Bosaeus I, Cederholm T, Costelli P, Fearon KC, Laviano A, Maggio M, Fanelli FR, Schneider SM, Schols A, Sieber CC. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: joint document

elaborated by special interest groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics". Clin Nutr. 2010;29:154–9.

- 33. Cesari M, Fielding RA, Pahor M, Goodpaster B, Hellerstein M, van Kan GA, Anker SD, Rutkove S, Vrijbloed JW, Isaac M, Rolland Y, M'rini C, Aubertin-Leheudre M, Cedarbaum JM, Zamboni M, Sieber CC, Laurent D, Evans WJ, Roubenoff R, Morley JE, Vellas B, International Working Group on Sarcopenia, International Working Group on Sarcopenia. Biomarkers of sarcopenia in clinical trials-recommendations from the International Working Group on Sarcopenia. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2012;3:181–90.
- Chien MY, Huang TY, Wu YT. Prevalence of sarcopenia estimated using a bioelectrical impedance analysis prediction equation in community-dwelling elderly people in Taiwan. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56:1710–5.
- 35. Malafarina V, Uriz-Otano F, Iniesta R, Gil-Guerrero L. Sarcopenia in the elderly: diagnosis, physiopathology and treatment. Maturitas. 2012;71:109–14.
- 36. Kawakami R, Murakami H, Sanada K, Tanaka N, Sawada SS, Tabata I, Higuchi M, Miyachi M. Calf circumference as a surrogate marker of muscle mass for diagnosing sarcopenia in Japanese men and women. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2015;15:969–76.
- 37. Laurentani F, Russo C, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, Cavazzini C, Di Iorio A, Corsi AM, Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L. Age-associated changes in skeletal muscles and their effect on mobility: an operational diagnosis of sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol. 2003;95:1851–60.
- Peolsson A, Hedlund R, Oberg B. Intra- and inter-tester reliability and reference values for hand strength. J Rehabil Med. 2001;33:36–41.
- Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, Scherr PA, Wallace RB. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported dis-ability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol. 1994;49:M85–94.
- Mathias S, Nayak US, Isaacs B. Balance in elderly patients: the get-up and go test. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1986;67:387–9.
- 41. Baumgartner RN. Body composition in healthy aging. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2000;904:437-48.
- Molino S, Dossena M, Buonocore D, Verri M. Sarcopenic obesity: an appraisal of the current status of knowledge and management in elderly people. J Nutr Health Aging. 2016;20(7): 780–8.
- 43. Kemmler W, Teschler M, Weißenfels A, Sieber C, Freiberger E, von Stengel S. Prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in older German men using recognized definitions: high accordance but low overlap! Osteoporos Int. 2017;28:1881–91.
- 44. Han TS, Tajar A, Lean MEJ. Obesity and weight management in the elderly. Br Med Bull. 2011;97:169–96.
- 45. Newman AB, Kupelian V, Visser M, Simonsick E, Goodpaster B, Nevitt M, Kritchevsky SB, Tylavsky FA, Rubin SM, Harris TB, Health ABC Study Investigators. Sarcopenia: alternative definitions and associations with lower extremity function. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51:1602–9.
- 46. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity, and functional impairments in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999–2004. Nutr Res. 2015;35:1031–9.
- 47. Bouchard DR, Dionne IJ, Brochu M. Sarcopenic/obesity and physical capacity in older men and women: data from the nutrition as a determinant of successful aging (NuAge)-the Quebec longitudinal study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2009;17:2082–8.
- 48. Oh C, Jho S, No J-K, Kim H-S. Body composition changes were related to nutrient intakes in elderly men but elderly women had a higher prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in a population of Korean adults. Nutr Res. 2015;35:1–6.
- 49. Öztürk ZA, Türkbeyler İH, Abiyev A, Kul S, Edizer B, Yakaryılmaz FD, Soylu G. Health related quality of life and fall risk associated with age related body composition changes; sarcopenia, obesity and sarcopenic obesity. Intern Med J. 2018;48(8):973–81.
- Moreira MA, Zunzunegui MV, Vafaei A, da Câmara SM, Oliveira TS, Maciel ÁC. Sarcopenic obesity and physical performance in middle aged women: a cross-sectional study in Northeast Brazil. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:43.

- Prado CMM, Wells JCK, Smith SR, Stephan BCM, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity: a critical appraisal of the current evidence. Clin Nutr. 2012;31:583–601.
- 52. Delmonico MJ, Harris TB, Visser M, Park SW, Conroy MB, Velasquez-Mieyer P, Boudreau R, Manini TM, Nevitt M, Newman AB, Goodpaster BH, Health, Aging, and Body. Longitudinal study of muscle strength, quality, and adipose tissue infiltration. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:1579–85.
- Grant RW, Dixit VD. Adipose tissue as an immunological organ. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23:512–8.
- Guillet C, Boirie Y. Insulin resistance: a contributing factor to age-related muscle mass loss? Diabetes Metab. 2005;2:5S20–6.
- Woodrow G. Body composition analysis techniques in the aged adult: indications and limitations. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2009;12:8–14.
- Biener A, Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The impact of obesity on medical care costs and labor market outcomes in the US. Clin Chem. 2018;64(1):108–17.
- Kim J, Cho JJ, Park YS. Relationship between sarcopenic obesity and cardiovascular disease risk as estimated by the Framingham risk score. J Korean Med Sci. 2015;30:264–71.
- Zhang H, Lin S, Gao T, Zhong F, Cai J, Sun Y, Ma A. Association between sarcopenia and metabolic syndrome in middle-aged and older non-obese adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Nutrients. 2018;10:E364.
- Janssen I, Shepard DS, Katzmarzyk PT, Roubenoff R. The healthcare costs of sarcopenia in the United States. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2004;52:80–5.
- Vincent HK, Vincent KR, Lamb KM. Obesity and mobility disability in the older adult. Obes Rev. 2010;11:568–79.
- 61. Lim S, Kim JH, Yoon JW, Kang SM, Choi SH, Park YJ, Kim KW, Lim JY, Park KS, Jang HC. Sarcopenic obesity: prevalence and association with metabolic syndrome in the Korean longitudinal study on health and aging (KLo-SHA). Diabetes Care. 2010;33:1652–4.
- 62. dos Santos EP, Gadelha AB, Safons MP, Nobrega OT, Oliveira RJ, Lima RM. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity classifications and cardiometabolic risks in older women. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2014;59:56–61.
- 63. Aibar-Almazán A, Martínez-Amat A, Cruz-Díaz D, Jiménez-García JD, Achalandabaso A, Sánchez-Montesinos I, de la Torre-Cruz MM, Hita-Contreras F. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in Spanish community-dwelling middle-aged and older women: association with balance confidence, fear of falling and fall risk. Maturitas. 2018;107:26–32.
- 64. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Body mass index is inversely related to mortality in older people after adjustment for waist circumference. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53:2112–8.
- Lang T, Streeper T, Cawthon P, Baldwin K, Taaffe DR, Harris TB. Sarcopenia: etiology, clinical consequences, intervention, and assessment. Osteoporos Int. 2010;21:543–59.
- 66. Tian S, Xu Y. Association of sarcopenic obesity with the risk of all-cause mortality: a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2016;16:155–66.
- Trouwborst I, Verreijen A, Memelink R, Massanet P, Boirie Y, Weijs P, Tieland M. Exercise and nutrition strategies to counteract sarcopenic obesity. Nutrients. 2018;10:E605.
- Hita-Contreras F, Martínez-Amat A, Cruz-Díaz D, Pérez-López FR. Osteosarcopenic obesity and fall prevention strategies. Maturitas. 2015;80(2):126–32.
- 69. Poirier P, Giles TD, Bray GA, Hong Y, Stern JS, Pi-Sunyer FX, Eckel RH. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight loss: an update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease from the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism. Circulation. 2006;113:898–918.
- Li Z, Heber D. Sarcopenic obesity in the elderly and strategies for weight management. Nutr Rev. 2012;70:57–64.
- Maltais ML, Perreault K, Courchesne-Loyer A, Lagacé JC, Barsalani R, Dionne IJ. Effect of resistance training and various sources of protein supplementation on body fat mass and metabolic profile in Sarcopenic overweight older adult men: a pilot study. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2016;26:71–7.

- 72. Mendoza N, De Teresa C, Cano A, Godoy D, Hita-Contreras F, Lapotka M, Llaneza P, Manonelles P, Martínez-Amat A, Ocón O, Rodríguez-Alcalá L, Vélez M, Sánchez-Borrego R. Benefits of physical exercise in postmenopausal women. Maturitas. 2016;93:83–8.
- Naseeb MA, Volpe SL. Protein and exercise in the prevention of sarcopenia and aging. Nutr Res. 2017;40:1–20.
- 74. Sgrò P, Sansone M, Sansone A, Sabatini S, Borrione P, Romanelli F, Di Luigi L. Physical exercise, nutrition and hormones: three pillars to fight sarcopenia. Aging Male. 2019;22(2):75–88.
- 75. Brioche T, Kireev RA, Cuesta S, Gratas-Delamarche A, Tresguerres JA, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Viña J. Growth hormone replacement therapy prevents sarcopenia by a dual mechanism: improvement of protein balance and of antioxidant defences. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69:1186–98.
- Brent MB, Brüel A, Thomsen JS. PTH (1-34) and growth hormone in prevention of disuse osteopenia and sarcopenia in rats. Bone. 2018;110:244–53.
- 77. Crane JD, Macneil LG, Tarnopolsky MA. Long-term aerobic exercise is associated with greater muscle strength throughout the life span. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68:631–8.
- 78. Zampieri S, Pietrangelo L, Loefler S, Fruhmann H, Vogelauer M, Burggraf S, Pond A, Grim-Stieger M, Cvecka J, Sedliak M, Tirpáková V, Mayr W, Sarabon N, Rossini K, Barberi L, De Rossi M, Romanello V, Boncompagni S, Musarò A, Sandri M, Protasi F, Carraro U, Kern H. Lifelong physical exercise delays age associated skeletal muscle decline. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2015;70:163–73.
- 79. Nilwik R, Snijders T, Leenders M, Groen BB, van Kranenburg J, Verdijk LB, van Loon LJ. The decline in skeletal muscle mass with aging is mainly attributed to a reduction in type II muscle fiber size. Exp Gerontol. 2013;48:492–8.
- Donges CE, Duffield R, Drinkwater EJ. Effects of resistance or aerobic exercise training on interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, and body composition. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42:304–13.
- Peterson MD, Sen A, Gordon PM. Influence of resistance exercise on lean body mass in aging adults: a meta-analysis. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(2):249–58.
- 82. Liu CJ, Chang WP, Araujo de Carvalho I, Savage KEL, Radford LW, Amuthavalli Thiyagarajan J. Effects of physical exercise in older adults with reduced physical capacity: meta-analysis of resistance exercise and multimodal exercise. Int J Rehabil Res. 2017;40:303–14.
- Gadelha AB, Paiva FM, Gauche R, De Oliveira RJ, Lima RM. Effects of resistance training on sarcopenic obesity index in older women: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2016;65:168–73.
- 84. Park J, Kwon Y, Park H. Effects of 24-week aerobic and resistance training on carotid artery intima-media thickness and flow velocity in elderly women with sarcopenic obesity. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2017;24(11):1117–24.
- Chen HT, Chung YC, Chen YJ, Ho SY, Wu HJ. Effects of different types of exercise on body composition, muscle strength, and IGF-1 in the elderly with sarcopenic obesity. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2017;65(4):827–32.
- 86. Martínez-Amat A, Aibar-Almazán A, Fábrega-Cuadros R, Cruz-Díaz D, Jiménez-García JD, Pérez-López FR, Achalandabaso A, Barranco-Zafra R, Hita-Contreras F. Exercise alone or combined with dietary supplements for sarcopenic obesity in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2018;110:92–103.
- Natsume T, Ozaki H, Kakigi R, Kobayashi H, Naito H. Effects of training intensity in electromyostimulation on human skeletal muscle. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2018;118:1339–47.
- Filipovic A, Grau M, Kleinöder H, Zimmer P, Hollmann W, Bloch W. Effects of a whole-body electrostimulation program on strength, sprinting, jumping, and kicking capacity in elite soccer players. J Sports Sci Med. 2016;15:639–48.
- Kemmler W, Schliffka R, Mayhew JL, von Stengel S. Effects of whole-body electromyostimulation on resting metabolic rate, body composition, and maximum strength in postmenopausal women: the training and electrostimulation trial. J Strength Cond Res. 2010;4:1880–7.

- 90. Kemmler W, Teschler M, Weissenfels A, Bebenek M, Fröhlich M, Kohl M, von Stengel S. Effects of whole-body electromyostimulation versus high intensity resistance exercise on body composition and strength: a randomized controlled study. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2016;2016:9236809.
- Stenholm S, Harris TB, Rantanen T, Visser M, Kritchevsky SB, Ferrucci L. Sarcopenic obesity: definition, cause and consequences. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2008;11:693–700.
- Malafarina V, Uriz-Otano F, Iniesta R, Gil-Guerrero L. Effectiveness of nutritional supplementation on muscle mass in treatment of sarcopenia in old age: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2013;14:10–7.
- 93. Bauer J, Biolo G, Cederholm T, Cesari M, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Morley JE, Phillips S, Sieber C, Stehle P, Teta D, Visvanathan R, Volpi E, Boirie Y. Evidence-based recommendations for optimal dietary protein intake in older people: a position paper from the PROT-AGE study group. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2013;14:542–59.
- Wolfe RR, Miller SL, Miller KB. Optimal protein intake in the elderly. Clin Nutr. 2008;27:675–84.
- 95. Levine ME, Suarez JA, Brandhorst S, Balasubramanian P, Cheng CW, Madia F, Fontana L, Mirisola MG, Guevara-Aguirre J, Wan J, Wan J, Passarino G, Kennedy BK, Wei M, Cohen P, Crimmins EM, Longo VD. Low protein intake is associated with a major reduction in IGF-1, cancer, and overall mortality in the 65 and younger but not older population. Cell Metab. 2014;19:407–17.
- Hayes A, Cribb PJ. Effect of whey protein isolate on strength, body composition and muscle hypertrophy during resistance training. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2008;11:40–4.
- Antonione R, Caliandro E, Zorat F, Guarnieri G, Heer M, Biolo G. Whey protein ingestion enhances postprandial anabolism during short-term bed rest in young men. J Nutr. 2008;138:2212–6.
- Katsanos CS, Chinkes DL, Paddon-Jones D, Zhang X, Aarsland A, Wolfe RR. Whey protein ingestion in elderly results in greater muscle protein accrual than ingestion of its constituent essential amino acid content. Nutr Res. 2008;28:651–8.
- Wall BT, Hamer HM, de Lange A, Kiskini A, Groen BB, Senden JM, Gijsen AP, Verdijk, van Loon LJ. Leucine co-ingestion improves post-prandial muscle protein accretion in elderly men. Clin Nutr (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2013;32:412–9.
- 100. J. Cruz-Jentoft A. Beta-hydroxy-beta-methyl butyrate (HMB): from experimental data to clinical evidence in sarcopenia. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2018;19:668–72.
- 101. Lucotti P, Setola E, Monti LD, Galluccio E, Costa S, Sandoli EP, Fermo I, Rabaiotti G, Gatti R, Piatti P. Beneficial effects of a long-term oral L-arginine treatment added to a hypocaloric diet and exercise training program in obese, insulin-resistant type 2 diabetic patients. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006;291:906–12.
- 102. Jain SK, Micinski D, Huning L, Kahlon G, Bass PF, Levine SN. Vitamin D and L-cysteine levels correlate positively with GSH and negatively with insulin resistance levels in the blood of type 2 diabetic patients. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2014;68:1148–53.
- 103. Van Vliet S, Burd NA, van Loon LJ. The skeletal muscle anabolic response to plant- versus animal-based protein consumption. J Nutr. 2015;145:1981–91.
- 104. Cardon-Thomas DK, Riviere T, Tieges Z, Greig CA. Dietary protein in older adults: adequate daily intake but potential for improved distribution. Nutrients. 2017;9:E184.
- 105. Farsijani S, Morais JA, Payette H, Gaudreau P, Shatenstein B, Gray-Donald K, Chevalier S. Relation between mealtime distribution of protein intake and lean mass loss in free-living older adults of the NuAge study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;104:694–703.
- 106. Farnsworth E, Luscombe ND, Noakes M, Wittert G, Argyiou E, Clifton PM. Effect of a highprotein, energy-restricted diet on body composition, glycemic control, and lipid concentrations in overweight and obese hyperinsulinemic men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78:31–9.
- 107. Weigle DS, Breen PA, Matthys CC, Callahan HS, Meeuws KE, Burden VR, Purnell JQ. A high-protein diet induces sustained reductions in appetite, ad libitum caloric intake, and body weight despite compensatory changes in diurnal plasma leptin and ghrelin concentrations. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;82:41–8.

- 108. Coker RH, Miller S, Schutzler S, Deutz N, Wolfe RR. Whey protein and essential amino acids promote the reduction of adipose tissue and increased muscle protein synthesis during caloric restriction-induced weight loss in elderly, obese individuals. Nutr J. 2012;11:105.
- 109. Chanet A, Verlaan S, Salles J, Giraudet C, Patrac V, Pidou V, Pouyet C, Hafnaoui N, Blot A, Cano N, Farigon N, Bongers A, Jourdan M, Luiking Y, Walrand S, Boirie Y. Supplementing breakfast with a vitamin D and leucine-enriched whey protein medical nutrition drink enhances postprandial muscle protein synthesis and muscle mass in healthy older men. J Nutr. 2017;147:2262–71.
- 110. Damms-Machado A, Weser G, Bischoff SC. Micronutrient deficiency in obese subjects undergoing low calorie diet. Nutr J. 2012;11:34.
- 111. Van Dronkelaar C, van Velzen A, Abdelrazek M, van der Steen A, Weijs PJM, Tieland M. Minerals and sarcopenia; the role of calcium, iron, magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, selenium, sodium, and zinc on muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical performance in older adults: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2017;19:6–11.e3.
- Scott D, Blizzard L, Fell J, Ding C, Winzenberg T, Jones GA. Prospective study of the associations between 25-hydroxy-vitamin D, sarcopenia progression and physical activity in older adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2010;73:581–7.
- 113. Muir SW, Montero-Odasso M. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on muscle strength, gait and balance in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59:2291–300.
- 114. Weinheimer EM, Sands LP, Campbell WW. A systematic review of the separate and combined effects of energy restriction and exercise on fat-free mass in middle-aged and older adults: implications for sarcopenic obesity. Nutr Rev. 2010;68:375–88.
- 115. Villareal D, Aguirre L, Gurney B, Waters D, Colombo E, Armamento-Villareal R, Qualls C. Aerobic or resistance exercise, or both, in dieting obese older adults. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:1943–55.
- 116. Liao CD, Tsauo JY, Wu YT, Cheng CP, Chen HC, Huang YC, Chen HC, Liou TH. Effects of protein supplementation combined with resistance exercise on body composition and physical function in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;106:1078–91.
- 117. Hita-Contreras F, Bueno-Notivol J, Martínez-Amat A, Cruz-Díaz D, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR. Effect of exercise alone or combined with dietary supplements on anthropometric and physical function measures in community-dwelling elderly people with sarcopenic obesity: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2018;116:24–35.
- 118. Kim H, Kim M, Kojima N, Fujino K, Hosoi E, Kobayashi H, Somekawa S, Niki Y, Yamashiro Y, Yoshida H. Exercise and nutritional supplementation on community dwelling elderly japanese women with sarcopenic obesity: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(11):1011–9.
- 119. Wittmann K, Sieber C, von Stengel S, Kohl M, Freiberger E, Jakob F, Lell M, Engelke K, Kemmler W. Impact of whole body electromyostimulation on cardiometabolic risk factors in older women with sarcopenic obesity: the randomized controlled FORMOsA-sarcopenic obesity study. Clin Interv Aging. 2016;11:1697–706.
- 120. Kemmler, Weissenfels A, Teschler M, Willert S, Bebenek M, Shojaa M, Kohl M, Freiberger E, Sieber C, Von Stengel S. Whole-body electromyostimulation and protein supplementation favorably affect sarcopenic obesity in community dwelling older men at risk: the randomized controlled FranSO study. Clin Interv Aging. 2017;12:1503–13.
- 121. Kemmler W, Grimm A, Bebenek M, Kohl M, von Stengel S. Effects of combined whole-body electromyostimulation and protein supplementation on local and overall muscle/fat distribution in older men with sarcopenic obesity: the randomized controlled franconia sarcopenic obesity (FranSO) study. Calcif Tissue Int. 2018;103(3):266–77.



# **Cognitive Decline in Women:** The ZARADEMP Study

28

Patricia Gracia-García, Elena Lobo, Javier Santabárbara, Concepción de la Cámara, and Raúl López-Antón

P. Gracia-García (⊠) Psychiatry Service, Hospital Universitario Miguel Servet, Zaragoza, Spain

Medicine Department, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Aragón (ISS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain

Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Ministry of Science and Innovation, Madrid, Spain e-mail: pgraciag@salud.aragon.es

E. Lobo · J. Santabárbara Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Aragón (ISS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain

Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Ministry of Science and Innovation, Madrid, Spain

Preventive Medicine and Public Health Department, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: elobo@unizar.es; jsantabarbara@unizar.es

C. de la Cámara Medicine Department, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Aragón (ISS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain

Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Ministry of Science and Innovation, Madrid, Spain

Psychiatry Service, Hospital Universitario Lozano Blesa, Zaragoza, Spain

R. López-Antón Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Aragón (ISS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain

Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Ministry of Science and Innovation, Madrid, Spain

Psychology and Sociology Department, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: rlanton@unizar.es

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_28

# 28.1 Introduction

The aging of the world's population is well documented. According to the United Nations (UN) [1], the number of people aged 60 or over worldwide is expected to more than double from 962 million in 2017 to 2.1 billion in 2050. Moreover, given the higher life expectancy worldwide, the number of people aged 80 or over is expected to triple by 2050, from 137 million in 2017 to 425 million in 2050. In Europe, 25% of the population is already aged 60 years or over, and this figure is expected to reach 35% by 2050 [1].

The risk of cognitive impairment and dementia increases with age [2], given that advanced age is the strongest risk factor for dementia in all regions [3]. In addition, subjects with cognitive impairment have a higher risk of progression to dementia [2].

Dementia is traditionally defined as a syndrome of global deterioration of intellectual function occurring in clear consciousness and caused by brain disease; to qualify for the diagnosis, the deterioration must be severe enough to adversely affect activities of daily living (ADL) [4]. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common type of dementia, accounting for an estimated 60–80% of cases [5]. Vascular dementia (VaD), defined as dementia resulting from ischemic or hemorrhagic brain lesions, is also relatively prevalent in population studies [6], being the sole cause of dementia in about 10% of dementia cases [5].

The construct "mild cognitive impairment" (MCI) has been widely used worldwide to define the gray area between intact cognitive functioning and clinical dementia [7]. MCI represents a heterogeneous entity and it is a concept in evolution

Petersen mild cognitive impairment criteria (MCI-P)	DSM-5 mild neurocognitive disorder criteria (MCI-DSM-5)
Subjective memory complaint, usually corroborated by an informant	Concern of the individual, a knowledgeable informant, or the clinician that there has been a decline in one (or more) cognitive domain
Isolated memory impairment on neuropsychological testing compared to healthy subjects matched by age and education level	A modest impairment in cognitive performance, documented by standardized cognitive assessment
Preserved general cognitive function	Cognitive decline involves memory and/or other cognitive functions (attention, language, executive function, perceptual-motor, social cognition)
Intact activities of daily living	Cognitive deficits do not affect independence in activities of daily living, but greater effort or compensatory strategies might be required
No dementia	Cognitive deficits do not occur exclusively in the context of delirium
	Cognitive deficits are not better explained by another mental disorder (such as psychosis or depression)

Table 28.1 Diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment (MCI)

[7]. The first definition (by Petersen, MCI-P) [8] focused on memory problems (Table 28.1), but, thereafter, diagnostic criteria were broadened to include impairment in other areas of cognitive functioning. MCI can be classified into two subtypes: amnestic MCI (aMCI), if performance on episodic memory tests is poor, and non-amnestic MCI (naMCI), in the case of poor performance on tests covering cognitive domains other than memory, such as executive functions, language, or visuo-spatial abilities. The latest version of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-5) [4] recognizes mild neurocognitive disorder as a predementia stage of cognitive impairment that shares many of the features of MCI (MCI-DSM-5) (Table 28.1).

In 2015, the number of people living with dementia worldwide was 46.8 million, and this figure is predicted to increase to 131.5 million by 2050 [3]. Apart from the personal and family burden of the disease, the global cost of dementia is estimated to be US \$818 billion, including medical costs, social care workforce costs, and the significant contribution from informal caregivers [3].

In 2014, 62% of people over 80 were women [9]. This survival bias and, eventually, other sex and gender differences between women and men might explain the higher prevalence of dementia reported among women [9], specifically AD [10]. However, less than half of the up-to-date scientific literature on dementia focuses specifically on women or, more generally, gender issues [9], even though a need to prioritize dementia as a global women's health issue has been recognized [9].

In this chapter, we first describe the profile of cognitive aging in women and summarize epidemiological data on cognitive impairment and dementia, specifically in women. We will then discuss biological, societal, and cultural potential risk factors for cognitive impairment and dementia in women.

# 28.2 Cognitive Performance in Healthy Older Women

Differences in cognitive performance between men and women are consistently discussed in the literature, despite the controversial influence of biological and sociocultural factors. Adult women show an advantage over men in tasks related to memory, verbal fluency, and fine motor skills. Conversely, they perform worse in visuospatial tasks—such as rotation of an object or space navigation—and motor tasks, —such as throwing an object to hit a target [11].

Even in healthy subjects older than 65, there is a clear, age-related decline in performance on executive functioning (mainly inhibition), verbal fluency, verbal memory, and cognitive speed tasks [12]. Some studies suggest that the pattern of sex differences in cognition observed in young adults declines in old age [11] and that there is a decline in the cognitive functions in which women outperform men, clearly significant in verbal fluency [13]. However, other studies [14] report that such differences persist throughout the life span: older women have higher scores than men on psychomotor speed, verbal learning, and memory tests, whereas they underperform on visuo-construction and visual perception tasks [14].

# 28.3 Epidemiology of Cognitive Impairment and Dementia in Older Women

To document prevalence and incidence of cognitive impairment and dementia in women, we will mainly summarize findings of collaborative studies across Europe—the European Studies of Dementia (EURODEM) project—[6, 15] and worldwide, —the Cohort Studies of Memory in an International Consortium (COSMIC) project [16]. Both include longitudinal population-based studies of cognitive aging with large samples of subjects aged 60 or over who were not identified as having dementia, such as the Zaragoza Dementia and Depression (ZARADEMP) project [17, 18], a five-wave epidemiological enquiry in which a sample of 4803 subjects living in a large Spanish city was interviewed at baseline.

# 28.3.1 Mild Cognitive Impairment in Women

#### 28.3.1.1 Prevalence and Incidence of MCI

Heterogeneity in the concept and diagnostic criteria of MCI may partly explain the wide differences in its prevalence reported to date [19, 20].

When MCI was diagnosed according to the scores in the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (MCI-MMSE), defined by a score range from 24 to 27 (with a maximum of 30) [21], the collaborative COSMIC study found an overall prevalence of 12% (95% CI 11.5–12.4) and no sex differences [21]. Prevalence of MCI-MMSE increased with age, but the pattern across age groups was different for men and women: for women, the increase in prevalence was from ages 70–79 to 80–89 and for men, from ages 60–69 to 70–79 [21].

When MCI was diagnosed by a neuropsychological test representing each of the four cognitive domains (memory, language, processing speed, and executive functioning), the COSMIC study found that the strongest association with sex was for memory, with women performing better than men across the COSMIC cohorts. However, this result comes from developed nations, where women have been afforded the same educational opportunities as men [22]. Women tended to perform worse than men on all other cognitive measures but not statistically significantly so for any measure. Processing speed exhibited the strongest decline with age in both sexes. Decline in other cognitive domains showed an interaction of sex with age, with a trend toward a faster decline in women [22].

Regarding MCI subtypes, the COSMIC study [21] found an overall prevalence of 2.0% (95% CI 1.7–2.2) for aMCI and 3.9% (95% CI 3.6–4.2) for naMCI. Prevalence of aMCI did not differ significantly across age groups or by sex; however, prevalence of naMCI across age groups showed a different pattern for women and men, similar to that defined for MCI-MMSE. A meta-analysis published in 2016 [23] that examined sex differences on incidence and prevalence of MCI subtypes found only differences in the prevalence of naMCI, with a higher prevalence among women, apparently mediated by neurological conditions (since studies that specifically

	Overall	Women
Prevalence of MCI	% (95%CI)	% (95%CI)
MCI-P	6.9 (6.5–7.3)	8.3 (7.8–8.8)
MCI-DSM-5	2.5 (2.1–2.9)	3.3 (2.8–3.8)
Prevalence ratio of MCI (over men)		OR (95%CI)
MCI-P		0.88 (0.7–1.2)
MCI-DSM-5		1.4 (0.9–2.1)
Prevalence of global dementia	% (95%CI)	% (95%CI)
1988–1989	5.5 (2.9–9.8)	4.8
1994–1996	3.9 (3.3-4.5)	5.0
Prevalence ratio of dementia (over men)		OR (95%CI)
1994–1996		2.1 (1.5–3.1)
Incidence of dementia	IR (95%CI)	IR (95%CI)
Global dementia	8.6 (7.2–10.2)	9.6 (7.7–11.8)
AD	5.4 (4.3-6.7)	6.8 (5.2-8.7)
Incidence rates of dementia (over men)		IRR (95%CI)
Global dementia		1.3 (0.9–1.9)
AD		1.8 (1.1–3.0)

**Table 28.2** Epidemiological data of cognitive impairment in the overall population and, specifically, in women, found in the ZARADEMP study

*MCI* mild cognitive impairment, *MCI-P* MCI according Petersen criteria, *MCI-DSM-5* MCI according DSM-5 criteria ("mild neurocognitive disorder"), *AD* Alzheimer's disease, *OR* odds ratio, *IR* incidence rate (per 1000 person-years), *IRR* incidence rate ratio, *CI* confidence interval

excluded participants with known neurological conditions did not report significant sex differences).

In the ZARADEMP study, prevalence of MCI in women varies, depending on the diagnostic criteria applied (Table 28.1), between 3.3% (MCI-DSM-5) and 8.3% (MCI-P), which is higher than the prevalence in the overall population (Table 28.2) [20]. However, in multivariate models—after controlling by age, educational level, anxiety, and depression—differences in the prevalence of MCI in women over men were not statistically significant (Table 28.2).

# 28.3.1.2 Outcomes of MCI in Women

MCI is consistently associated with a higher risk of progression to dementia. According to the data of a meta-analysis including seven community studies from Japan, China, Sweden, France, and Austria [24], the annual conversion rate (ACR) from MCI to AD ranged from 5.4 to 11.5% (median: 7.1%). In the ZARADEMP study [25], ACR for dementia was 1.9% for MCI-P and 3.4% for MCI-DSM-5, being 1.2 and 2.2% for AD, respectively. Subjects diagnosed with MCI had a higher risk of progression to dementia than non-cases at 4.5-year follow-up (HR = 2.9 (CI 95% 1.8–4.5) for MCI-P and HR = 5.3 (CI 95% 3.3–8.6) for MCI-DSM-5), independently of age, sex, educational level, and comorbidity with anxiety or depression [25]. In a similar follow-up period, a French community study [26] found a higher conversion rate from MCI to dementia for men (8%) than for women (6%). Moreover, they found gender-specific risk profiles. The factors significantly

associated with progression to dementia on MCI females were disability on instrumental ADL (IADL) (OR = 3.5 (95% CI 2.1-5.9)), lower education (OR = 2.2 (95% CI 1.3-3.6)), ApoE4 allele (OR = 2.1 (95% CI 1.4-4.0)), subclinical depression (OR = 2.0 (95% CI 1.1-3.6)), anticholinergic medications (OR = 1.8 (95% CI 1.0-3.0)), and age (OR = 1.1 (95% CI 1.1-1.2)) [26]. The factors significantly associated with progression to dementia on MCI males were ApoE4 allele (OR = 3.2 (95% CI 1.7-5.7)), stroke (OR = 2.8 (95% CI 1.2-6.9)), lower educational level (OR = 2.3 (95% CI 1.3-4.1)), disability on IADL (OR = 2.2 (95% CI 1.1-1.2)), and age (OR=1.2 (95% CI 1.1-1.2)) [26].

In line with previous studies [27, 28], the ZARADEMP study found an increased mortality rate for subjects diagnosed with MCI [29]. MCI-DSM-5 was associated with a significant increased risk of mortality even after controlling by age, sex, education, medical risk factors, and psychiatric conditions (OR = 1.24 (CI 95% 1.01-1.53)) [29]. Some studies stratifying their results by sex found neither significant differences by sex strata [27] nor an increased risk of mortality in MCI males compared to women [30].

#### 28.3.2 Dementia in Women

#### 28.3.2.1 Prevalence and Incidence of Dementia in Women

The EURODEM collaborative study, including 11 European cohorts from the community and a total of 2346 cases of dementia [15], found an age-standardized prevalence of dementia of 6.4% (4.4% for AD and 1.6% for VaD). In the United States (USA), a higher prevalence of AD (10%) is reported [5]. Prevalence of dementia increases steeply with age, with rates doubling approximately every 5 years [31]. Consistent with international literature [5, 31, 32], the EURODEMP study found that the prevalence of AD increased continuously with age and was higher in women than in men (Fig. 28.1) [15]. For VaD, an age-dependent difference in the prevalence between men and women was reported: under 85 years old, prevalence was higher in men; from that age onward, prevalence was higher in women (Fig. 28.1) [15]. Table 28.2 shows the prevalence of dementia in the ZARADEMP study [17].

Regarding the incidence of dementia, results of the EURODEMP and ZARADEMP studies are also consistent with other international reports that found an increased risk of dementia by age and in women, specifically for AD [5, 31, 32]. The EURODEMP study, recruiting 8 community cohorts, with pooled data including 836 cases of dementia and a 42,996 person-years follow-up [6, 33], found that women had a 30% higher risk of dementia. In all studies, there was an exponential increase in dementia incidence with age, even in the very old. The rates continued to increase with age in women, whereas they plateaued in men at age 85. For AD, the pooled data showed that incidence rates among women were higher and increased more steeply by age than in men, whose rates plateaued at age 85. For VaD, the incidence rates increased with age, without any substantial difference by sex. Incidence rates of dementia and AD in the ZARADEMP study are shown in Table 28.2 [18].



**Fig. 28.1** Prevalence of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD) by age and sex (EURODEMP project). \*Adapted, with permission from the publisher, from Lobo et al. 2000 [15]. The pooled prevalences for the groups aged 65–69, 70–74, 80–84, 85–90, and 90 and older were for AD, 0.7%, 2.3%, 4.3%, 8.4%, 14.2%, and 23.6% in women and 0.6%, 1.5%, 1.8%, 6.3%, 8.8%, and 17.6% in men, and for VaD, 0.1%, 0.6%, 0.9%, 2.3%, 3.5%, and 5.8% in women and 0.5%, 0.8%, 1.9%, 2.4%, and 3.6% in men

Public health planners use incidence rates of dementia to estimate the projected disease burden in a population. While incidence rates reflect the actual experience of a cohort, risk estimates are required to predict how much disease a population may expect. Lifetime risk (LTR), calculated at several ages, has been defined as the probability that a person of a specific age has of suffering the condition at that time in his or her life. Consistent with the results from the Framingham study in the United States [34], LTR in the ZARADEMP study [18] was reported to be higher in women than in men, both for overall dementia and AD. Lifetime probability of suffering dementia for women aged 65 was 19.7% (vs. 14.1% in men) and aged 85, 20.4% (vs. 16.8% in men). The corresponding figures for AD in women were 16.7% and 17.6% (vs. 8.4% and 10.9% in men). Differences regarding sex were independent of the educational level, although they tended to decrease in subjects older than 85 [18].

A recent review of international data investigating the changes in prevalence and incidence of dementia over time suggests a current decline in both [35]. The ZARADEMP study [17], which compares data from 1994 and 1987 (Table 28.2), and a Swedish study [36], which compares data from 2001 and 1995, did not find a significant reduction in the prevalence of dementia in the total population, but they found decreases in prevalence higher than 50% in men. Studies that investigated trends in the incidence of dementia found notable differences in subpopulations, particularly between sexes [35]. A British study, which compares data from 2008 to 1991 [37], found that a decrease in the incidence of dementia was confined to men.

The Framingham study (USA), which compares data from 2005 to 1985 [38], found that in women, the decrease occurred earlier than in men and continued over time. A French study, comparing data from 1999 to 1988 [39], found that the decrease in the incidence of dementia was driven by an effect in women. The authors [35] concluded that diagnosis of dementia, as of any disorder, is contextual and can change across time and geographies. They also reported that societal changes and improvements in living conditions, education and healthcare, as we will discuss later, might have been responsible for these observed trends.

## 28.3.2.2 Outcomes of Dementia in Women

Women with AD seem to deteriorate faster in the earlier stages of the disease and show poorer cognitive profiles at the same stage of dementia than men [40].

Women have a broader spectrum of dementia-related behavioral symptoms with a tendency for depression [32, 41], anxiety, and delusions [42], while aggression is more frequent in men [32].

AD is a leading cause of disability and poor health and is officially listed as the fifth leading cause of death for people aged 65 and over, despite it being frequently unrecognized as cause of death by official sources [5]. The ZARADEMP study found an increased risk of mortality in moderate and severe cases of dementia [43], and that risk increased in parallel with the degree of cognitive impairment (measured by the MMSE), with HR = 2.08 (95% CI 1.42 - 3.04) in the most severe stage (MMSE) score <10) [44]. In this sample, severe cognitively impaired people were more likely to be women, illiterate, and widowed. However, the increased risk of mortality for cognitive impairment was independent of these and other variables related to health status, the population attributable fraction (PAF) of cognitive impairment being 3.49% (95% CI 1.38–6.40) [44]. However, a European study [45] found a higher risk of death in men with dementia than in women. Survival in subjects older than 85 at 2 years was 81% in women without dementia (vs. 76% in men without dementia) and 60% in women with dementia (vs. 52% in men with dementia). Survival at 5 years was 52% in women without dementia (vs. 44% in men without dementia) and 27% in women with dementia (vs. 16% in men with dementia) [45].

The aforementioned European study [45] found that the probability of being in institutional care increased with age and was significantly higher for cases of dementia in both sexes; however, women were more likely to be in an institution than men. This could be due to societal and cultural factors, because women take on a role as caregivers more frequently than men do [9]. Care for patients with dementia takes place 80% of the time by families and is provided by women 78% of the time [32].

#### 28.4 Risk Factors for Cognitive Impairment in Women

In addition to several biological explanations for the sex differences observed in the prevalence and incidence of MCI and dementia, the effects of sociocultural aspects, i.e., gender differences, should also be studied [33] (Table 28.3).

Table 28.3       Potential         modifiable risk factors for       cognitive impairment and/or         dementia in women       dementia	Risk factors for cognitive impairment in women	
	Estrogen depletion in early menopause (?)	
	Depression	
	Diabetes	
	Mid-life hypertension	
	Mid-life obesity	
	Dyslipidemia	
	Smoking	
	Alcohol (?)	
	Diet high in saturated fats	
	Low educational level	
	Jobs with low intellectual demand	
	Lack of physical exercise	

(?) Factors with controversial effects

#### 28.4.1 Biological Risk Factors

**Differences on brain reserve:** Women have a smaller cerebral brain volume than men [11, 46], so they have less ability to cope with pathological insults compared to men and more probability of showing clinical symptoms of AD at the same level of brain pathology [46].

**Genetics**: The E4 allele of the apolipoprotein E (ApoE4) is the strongest known genetic risk factor for late-onset AD; its effects have been reported to be more pronounced in women than in men [46].

**Hormones**: Estrogen receptors have been found in several areas related to cognition in the brain, which could explain (at least partially) differences in cognition found between women and men in adult life and the decline in some cognitive functions in women after menopause [13]. Moreover, estradiol exerts neuroprotective actions—enhancing neuronal growth and formation of synapses—and increases the synthesis of acetylcholine, which is a key neurotransmitter in the regulation of attention and memory. Therefore, depletion of estradiol could increase the risk of cognitive impairment and AD in women [13].

There is evidence in the literature of an association between a prolonged exposure to female hormones——i.e., women with later menopause and longer reproductive period——and better cognitive performance and delayed cognitive decline, despite no evidence of association between prolonged exposure to female hormones and a lower risk of dementia [47].

Hormonal therapy (HT) could have positive effects on cognition during a critical period in early postmenopause, for example, in women after a hysterectomy; however, HT positive or negative effects affect physical health for periods longer than 10 years [13].

Estrogens are also involved in the regulation of behavioral mood through interaction with the serotoninergic systems, so periods of hormonal fluctuations (such as perimenopause) are related to increased vulnerability to mood disorders such as depression [13], which is also associated with cognitive impairment and dementia in different ways. **Depression:** Epidemiological studies based on community samples consistently find a higher prevalence of depression in women than in men [41]. Moreover, women are also more frequent on psychopharmacological drugs [48].

Depression has been significantly associated with MCI and dementia. In the ZARADEMP study, more than 50% of cases of depression and/or anxiety were also diagnosed with MCI-P, and more than 50% of MCI cases had comorbidity with depression or anxiety [20]. A French community study [26] also found that both women and men with MCI were more likely to have depressive symptoms and to take anticholinergic medications than cognitively healthy subjects. In said study, women with MCI were more likely to suffer from insomnia and to have poor subjective health, disability, and social isolation. The ZARADEMP study, consistently with the literature [49], found not only a frequent comorbidity between depression and dementia [41] but also a longitudinal increased risk for dementia, specifically AD, in cognitively healthy subjects with more severe depression (HR = 4.30 (95% CI 1.39-13.33)) [50].

**Cardiovascular risk factors.** Many factors that increase the risk of cardiovascular disease are also associated with a higher risk of dementia:

- *Diabetes:* Type 2 diabetes is a risk factor for cognitive impairment and dementia (VaD and AD) [51]. Diabetes is a relatively frequent diagnosis in the community (8.7%) [52]. Globally, more men than women are diagnosed with diabetes, but there are large sex ratio differences in the prevalence of diabetes across countries that parallel those of obesity, the most prominent risk factor for diabetes in both sexes [53]. Moreover, women have a greater relative risk of cardiovascular complications and mortality in the presence of diabetes [53].
- *Mid-life obesity* has been reported as an independent risk factor for cognitive impairment and dementia [54], specifically in women [55].
- In some studies, hyperlipidemia and mid-life hypertension have been associated with cognitive decline and dementia [54]. Hypertension, generally asymptomatic, was the most prevalent medical condition in the ZARADEMP sample (61.7%), and it was significantly more prevalent in women (65.1% (95% CI = 63.3–66.9)) [52]. Estrogens improve the lipid profile and promote vasodilatation and antioxidant activities; therefore, menopause leads to an overturn of all these effects on vascular health [13].

**Survival bias:** The higher overall lifetime risk of dementia in women might be influenced by the combined effect of the longer life expectancy among them and a selective survival to age 65 of men with the lowest risk of developing dementia. Mortality from cardiovascular causes starts in mid-life, so men who die earlier from cardiovascular diseases might have had, if they had survived, the highest risk of dementia [34].

# 28.4.2 Social and Cultural Factors

Education: Previous studies consistently found that subjects with a low educational level, specifically women, have a higher risk of AD [10, 56]. A higher level of

education has been related to an increase in cognitive reserve; therefore, subjects with a higher level of education may take longer to reach the threshold of dementia detection at a same degree of pathological insult to the brain.

**Occupation**: Some studies [57, 58] have reported an increased risk of cognitive impairment and/or dementia in subjects who have a predominantly manual occupation in life compared to subjects with occupations that involve higher intellectual requirement.

There are gender-specific societal changes in intellectual lifestyle across different generations and countries, in the context of specific economic, political, social, and cultural background [35]. For example, an epidemiological study recruiting a large sample of older subjects from several developed countries worldwide (SCOPE) found significant differences in the level of education by sex, more notable at university level, with a considerably greater percentage of men who had attended university (11.1%) compared to women (3.1%) [48]. In Spain, the ZARADEMP study found a significant higher proportion of illiterate women (10.1%) than men (4.2%) [59]. In the last decades, women living in developed countries are afforded the same educational and occupational opportunities as men; thus, a different sex-specific trend on incidence and prevalence of dementia might be expected in future epidemiological studies.

Lifestyle: Lifestyle behaviors may influence cardiovascular health and, also, the risk of dementia.

- **Diet:** Emerging evidence suggests that a diet low in saturated fats may be associated with reduced Alzheimer's and dementia risk [5].
- Exercise/physical activity: Aerobic and multimodal combined training have been reported to improve global cognition and some cognitive domains in both men and women; however, evidence in the literature suggests that physical exercise could have more positive effects on executive function in women than in men [60] and that the protective effect of physical activity on the risk of dementia could be specific to women [55].
- Smoking: Some studies found that smoking was associated with an increased risk of AD, specifically in men [10]. However, others reported that both men and women were affected by smoking-related neurological disturbances to a similar extent [61]. According to these studies [61], smoking is associated with dementia and deficiencies in general intellectual abilities and several cognitive domains: executive functions, cognitive flexibility, learning and memory processing speed, and working memory.
- Alcohol: Some studies have reported that moderate alcohol consumption may decrease the risk of dementia [55, 62–64]. However, the evidence is not strong enough, and other studies, such as the ZARADEMP study [65], did not find such a protective effect; moreover, a trend toward greater odds of dementia has been associated with heavier alcohol consumption among men and participants with an apoE4 allele [63].

In current older generations, drinking and smoking patterns have been very different between men and women, with a much higher proportion of drinkers [59, 65] and smokers [48, 59] among men. Globally, the prevalence of smoking is higher for men than for women (40% vs. 9% in 2006); however, in the United States and Europe, the prevalence of female smoking nowadays is high (around 17% and 22%, respectively) [66] and might result in a higher risk of cardiovascular diseases and dementia in women compared to previous generations.

# 28.5 Conclusion

The higher prevalence of dementia among women has resulted in a growing recognition of the role of gender in dementia, with emerging evidence suggesting the need to acknowledge and prioritize dementia as a global health issue for women [9].

However, less than half of the published research focusing on dementia refers specifically to women or to gender issues [9]. In this chapter, we have discussed some differences on distribution of risk factors for cognitive impairment and/or dementia between men and women and an eventual differential vulnerability between them to such risk factors. Future research on cognitive impairment and dementia should stratify the analysis by sex for a better understanding of this issue. The understanding of sex and gender differences will help to define individualized treatment and preventive interventions for cognitive impairment.

**Conflict of Interest** P. Gracia-García has received honorarium and support for attendance to scientific meetings from Servier and Pfizer; C. de la Cámara has received funding to attend scientific meetings from Janssen, Lundbeck, and Otsuka. None of these companies have influenced the content of this work. The other authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

*Funding*: The ZARADEMP study was supported by the Fondo de Investigación Sanitaria (FIS), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Gobierno de España (PI 94-1562, 97-1321E, 99-0608, 01-0255, 10-01132, 12-02254 and 16-00896); by the Gobierno de Aragón (B35-Grupo Consolidado Biomedicina); and by the Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER) de la Unión Europea: "Una manera de hacer Europa". The funding sources had no involvement in the study or chapter preparation.

# References

- 1. United Nations (UN), Department of Economic and Social Affairs, World population prospects: the 2017 revision, United Nations (UN); 2017.
- Lipnicki DM, Crawford J, Kochan NA, Trollor JN, Draper B, Reppermund S, Maston K, Mather KA, Brodaty H, Sachdev PS, S.M.a.A.S. Team. Risk factors for mild cognitive impairment, dementia and mortality: The Sydney Memory and Ageing Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2017;18(5):388–95.
- Prince M, Wimo A, Guerchet M, Ali G, Wu Y, Prina M, Alzheimer's Disease International, World Alzheimer Report. The global impact of dementia. An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. London: Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI); 2015.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing; 2013.
- 5. Alzheimer's Association. 2017 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement. 2017;13:325–73.
- Fratiglioni L, Launer LJ, Andersen K, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage J, Soininen H, Hofman A. Incidence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: a collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology. 2000;54(11 Suppl 5):S10–5.
- Petersen RC, Caracciolo B, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L. Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. J Intern Med. 2014;275(3):214–28.
- 8. Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG, Kokmen E. Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. Arch Neurol. 1999;56(3):303–8.
- 9. Erol R, Brooker D, Peel E. Women and dementia: a global research review, the global voice on dementia. London: Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI); 2015.
- Launer LJ, Andersen K, Dewey ME, Letenneur L, Ott A, Amaducci LA, Brayne C, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Kragh-Sorensen P, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage JM, Stijnen T, Hofman A. Rates and risk factors for dementia and Alzheimer's disease: results from EURODEM pooled analyses. EURODEM Incidence Research Group and Work Groups. European Studies of Dementia. Neurology. 1999;52(1):78–84.
- Compère L, Piolino P. [Does the brain have a gender? A literature review in younger and older adults]. Geriatr Psychol Neuropsychiatr Vieil. 2014;12(4):404–12.
- van Hooren SA, Valentijn AM, Bosma H, Ponds RW, van Boxtel MP, Jolles J. Cognitive functioning in healthy older adults aged 64-81: a cohort study into the effects of age, sex, and education. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2007;14(1):40–54.
- Navarro-Pardo E, Holland CA, Cano A. Sex hormones and healthy psychological aging in women. Front Aging Neurosci. 2017;9:439.
- Munro CA, Winicki JM, Schretlen DJ, Gower EW, Turano KA, Muñoz B, Keay L, Bandeen-Roche K, West SK. Sex differences in cognition in healthy elderly individuals. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2012;19(6):759–68.
- 15. Lobo A, Launer LJ, Fratiglioni L, Andersen K, Di Carlo A, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Jagger C, Martinez-Lage J, Soininen H, Hofman A. Prevalence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: a collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology. 2000;54(11 Suppl 5):S4–9.
- 16. Sachdev PS, Lipnicki DM, Kochan NA, Crawford JD, Rockwood K, Xiao S, Li J, Li X, Brayne C, Matthews FE, Stephan BC, Lipton RB, Katz MJ, Ritchie K, Carrière I, Ancelin ML, Seshadri S, Au R, Beiser AS, Lam LC, Wong CH, Fung AW, Kim KW, Han JW, Kim TH, Petersen RC, Roberts RO, Mielke MM, Ganguli M, Dodge HH, Hughes T, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N, Butterworth P, Ng TP, Gao Q, Reppermund S, Brodaty H, Meguro K, Schupf N, Manly J, Stern Y, Lobo A, Lopez-Anton R, Santabárbara J. COSMIC (Cohort Studies of Memory in an International Consortium): an international consortium to identify risk and protective factors and biomarkers of cognitive ageing and dementia in diverse ethnic and sociocultural groups. BMC Neurol. 2013;13:165.
- Lobo A, Saz P, Marcos G, Dia JL, De-la-Camara C, Ventura T, Montañes JA, Lobo-Escolar A, Aznar S, Workgroup Z. Prevalence of dementia in a Southern European population in two different time periods: the ZARADEMP Project. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2007;116(4):299–307.
- Lobo A, Lopez-Anton R, Santabárbara J, de-la-Cámara C, Ventura T, Quintanilla MA, Roy JF, Campayo AJ, Lobo E, Palomo T, Rodriguez-Jimenez R, Saz P, Marcos G. Incidence and lifetime risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease in a Southern European population. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2011;124(5):372–83.
- Ganguli M, Chang CC, Snitz BE, Saxton JA, Vanderbilt J, Lee CW. Prevalence of mild cognitive impairment by multiple classifications: the Monongahela-Youghiogheny Healthy Aging Team (MYHAT) project. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2010;18(8):674–83.
- 20. Lopez-Anton R, Santabárbara J, De-la-Cámara C, Gracia-García P, Lobo E, Marcos G, Pirez G, Saz P, Haro JM, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Modrego PJ, Dewey ME, Lobo A. Mild cognitive impairment diagnosed with the new DSM-5 criteria: prevalence and associations with non-cognitive psychopathology. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2015;131(1):29–39.
- 21. Sachdev PS, Lipnicki DM, Kochan NA, Crawford JD, Thalamuthu A, Andrews G, Brayne C, Matthews FE, Stephan BC, Lipton RB, Katz MJ, Ritchie K, Carrière I, Ancelin ML, Lam LC, Wong CH, Fung AW, Guaita A, Vaccaro R, Davin A, Ganguli M, Dodge H, Hughes T, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N, Butterworth P, Ng TP, Gao Q, Reppermund S, Brodaty H, Schupf N, Manly J, Stern Y, Lobo A, Lopez-Anton R, Santabárbara J, CSoMiaIC (COSMIC). The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in diverse geographical and ethnocultural regions: the COSMIC Collaboration. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0142388.

- 22. Lipnicki DM, Crawford JD, Dutta R, Thalamuthu A, Kochan NA, Andrews G, Lima-Costa MF, Castro-Costa E, Brayne C, Matthews FE, Stephan BC, Lipton RB, Katz MJ, Ritchie K, Scali J, Ancelin ML, Scarmeas N, Yannakoulia M, Dardiotis E, Lam LC, Wong CH, Fung AW, Guaita A, Vaccaro R, Davin A, Kim KW, Han JW, Kim TH, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N, Butterworth P, Scazufca M, Kumagai S, Chen S, Narazaki K, Ng TP, Gao Q, Reppermund S, Brodaty H, Lobo A, Lopez-Anton R, Santabárbara J, Sachdev PS, C.S.o.M.i.a.I.C. (COSMIC). Age-related cognitive decline and associations with sex, education and apolipoprotein E genotype across ethnocultural groups and geographic regions: a collaborative cohort study. PLoS Med. 2017;14(3):e1002261.
- 23. Au B, Dale-McGrath S, Tierney MC. Sex differences in the prevalence and incidence of mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev. 2017;35:176–99.
- Ward A, Tardiff S, Dye C, Arrighi HM. Rate of conversion from prodromal Alzheimer's disease to Alzheimer's dementia: a systematic review of the literature. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra. 2013;3(1):320–32.
- 25. Marcos G, Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, De-la-Cámara C, Gracia-García P, Lobo E, Pírez G, Menchón JM, Palomo T, Stephan BC, Brayne C, Lobo A, Workgroup Z. Conversion to dementia in mild cognitive impairment diagnosed with DSM-5 criteria and with Petersen's criteria. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2016;133(5):378–85.
- Artero S, Ancelin ML, Portet F, Dupuy A, Berr C, Dartigues JF, Tzourio C, Rouaud O, Poncet M, Pasquier F, Auriacombe S, Touchon J, Ritchie K. Risk profiles for mild cognitive impairment and progression to dementia are gender specific. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79(9):979–84.
- Hunderfund AL, Roberts RO, Slusser TC, Leibson CL, Geda YE, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG, Petersen RC. Mortality in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: a prospective community study. Neurology. 2006;67(10):1764–8.
- Wilson RS, Aggarwal NT, Barnes LL, Bienias JL, Mendes de Leon CF, Evans DA. Biracial population study of mortality in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2009;66(6):767–72.
- 29. Santabárbara J, Gracia-García P, Pírez G, López-Antón R, De La Cámara C, Ventura T, Pérez-Sastre M, Lobo E, Saz P, Marcos G, Lobo A. Mortality in mild cognitive impairment diagnosed with DSM-5 criteria and with Petersen's criteria: a 17-year follow-up in a community study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2016;24(11):977–86.
- 30. Vassilaki M, Cha RH, Aakre JA, Therneau TM, Geda YE, Mielke MM, Knopman DS, Petersen RC, Roberts RO. Mortality in mild cognitive impairment varies by subtype, sex, and lifestyle factors: the Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;45(4):1237–45.
- Jorm AF, Korten AE, Henderson AS. The prevalence of dementia: a quantitative integration of the literature. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1987;76(5):465–79.
- 32. Schmidt R, Kienbacher E, Benke T, Dal-Bianco P, Delazer M, Ladurner G, Jellinger K, Marksteiner J, Ransmayr G, Schmidt H, Stögmann E, Friedrich J, Wehringer C. [Sex differences in Alzheimer's disease]. Neuropsychiatr. 2008;22(1):1–15.
- 33. Andersen K, Launer LJ, Dewey ME, Letenneur L, Ott A, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Kragh-Sorensen P, Baldereschi M, Brayne C, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage JM, Stijnen T, Hofman A. Gender differences in the incidence of AD and vascular dementia: the EURODEM studies. EURODEM Incidence Research Group. Neurology. 1999;53(9):1992–7.
- 34. Chêne G, Beiser A, Au R, Preis SR, Wolf PA, Dufouil C, Seshadri S. Gender and incidence of dementia in the Framingham Heart Study from mid-adult life. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(3):310–20.
- 35. Wu YT, Beiser AS, Breteler MMB, Fratiglioni L, Helmer C, Hendrie HC, Honda H, Ikram MA, Langa KM, Lobo A, Matthews FE, Ohara T, Pérès K, Qiu C, Seshadri S, Sjölund BM, Skoog I, Brayne C. The changing prevalence and incidence of dementia over time current evidence. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(6):327–39.
- 36. Wimo A, Sjölund BM, Sköldunger A, Qiu C, Klarin I, Nordberg G, von Strauss E. Cohort effects in the prevalence and survival of people with dementia in a rural area in northern Sweden. J Alzheimers Dis. 2016;50(2):387–96.
- 37. Matthews FE, Stephan BC, Robinson L, Jagger C, Barnes LE, Arthur A, Brayne C, CFaASC Collaboration. A two decade dementia incidence comparison from the cognitive function and ageing studies I and II. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11398.

- Satizabal C, Beiser AS, Seshadri S. Incidence of dementia over three decades in the Framingham Heart Study. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(1):93–4.
- Grasset L, Brayne C, Joly P, Jacqmin-Gadda H, Peres K, Foubert-Samier A, Dartigues JF, Helmer C. Trends in dementia incidence: evolution over a 10-year period in France. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;12(3):272–80.
- Laws KR, Irvine K, Gale TM. Sex differences in cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. World J Psychiatry. 2016;6(1):54–65.
- Lobo A, Saz P, Marcos G, Día JL, De-la-Cámara C. The prevalence of dementia and depression in the elderly community in a southern European population. The Zaragoza study. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1995;52(6):497–506.
- 42. Steinberg M, Corcoran C, Tschanz JT, Huber C, Welsh-Bohmer K, Norton MC, Zandi P, Breitner JC, Steffens DC, Lyketsos CG. Risk factors for neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: the Cache County Study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2006;21(9):824–30.
- Saz P, Launer LJ, Día JL, De-La-Cámara C, Marcos G, Lobo A. Mortality and mental disorders in a Spanish elderly population. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999;14(12):1031–8.
- 44. Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, Marcos G, De-la-Cámara C, Lobo E, Saz P, Gracia-García P, Ventura T, Campayo A, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Olaya B, Haro JM, Salvador-Carulla L, Sartorius N, Lobo A. Degree of cognitive impairment and mortality: a 17-year follow-up in a community study. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2015;24(6):503–11.
- 45. Jagger C, Andersen K, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Helmer C, Baldereschi M, Fratiglioni L, Lobo A, Soininen H, Hofman A, Launer LJ. Prognosis with dementia in Europe: a collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology. 2000;54(11 Suppl 5):S16–20.
- Mielke MM, Vemuri P, Rocca WA. Clinical epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: assessing sex and gender differences. Clin Epidemiol. 2014;6:37–48.
- 47. Georgakis MK, Kalogirou EI, Diamantaras AA, Daskalopoulou SS, Munro CA, Lyketsos CG, Skalkidou A, Petridou ET. Age at menopause and duration of reproductive period in association with dementia and cognitive function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2016;73:224–43.
- 48. Hansson L, Lithell H, Skoog I, Baro F, Bánki CM, Breteler M, Castaigne A, Correia M, Degaute JP, Elmfeldt D, Engedal K, Farsang C, Ferro J, Hachinski V, Hofman A, James OF, Krisin E, Leeman M, de Leeuw PW, Leys D, Lobo A, Nordby G, Olofsson B, Opolski G, Prince M, Reischies FM. Study on COgnition and Prognosis in the Elderly (SCOPE): baseline characteristics. Blood Press. 2000;9(2–3):146–51.
- Cherbuin N, Kim S, Anstey KJ. Dementia risk estimates associated with measures of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2015;5(12):e008853.
- 50. Gracia-García P, de-la-Cámara C, Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, Quintanilla MA, Ventura T, Marcos G, Campayo A, Saz P, Lyketsos C, Lobo A. Depression and incident Alzheimer disease: the impact of disease severity. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2015;23(2):119–29.
- Umegaki H. Type 2 diabetes as a risk factor for cognitive impairment: current insights. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:1011–9.
- 52. Lobo-Escolar A, Saz P, Marcos G, Quintanilla MA, Campayo A, Lobo A, Workgroup Z. Somatic and psychiatric comorbidity in the general elderly population: results from the ZARADEMP Project. J Psychosom Res. 2008;65(4):347–55.
- Kautzky-Willer A, Baggio G, Rossi MC, Lapolla A, Russo GT. Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk in women 2016. Int J Endocrinol. 2017;2017:6905697.
- Baumgart M, Snyder HM, Carrillo MC, Fazio S, Kim H, Johns H. Summary of the evidence on modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia: a population-based perspective. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(6):718–26.
- Dufouil C, Seshadri S, Chêne G. Cardiovascular risk profile in women and dementia. J Alzheimers Dis. 2014;42(Suppl 4):S353–63.
- 56. Letenneur L, Launer LJ, Andersen K, Dewey ME, Ott A, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Kragh-Sorensen P, Baldereschi M, Brayne C, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage JM, Stijnen T, Hofman A. Education and the risk for Alzheimer's disease: sex makes a difference. EURODEM pooled analyses. EURODEM Incidence Research Group. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;151(11):1064–71.

- 57. Gracia Rebled AC, Santabárbara Serrano J, López Antón RL, Tomás Aznar C, Marcos Aragüés G. [Occupation and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia in people in over 55 years: a systematic review, Spain]. Rev Esp Salud Publica. 2016;90:e1–15.
- 58. Gracia-Rebled AC, Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, Tomas C, Lobo E, Marcos G, Lobo A. [Influence of occupation on cognitive impairment with no dementia in a sample population over 55 years from Zaragoza]. Rev Esp Geriatr Gerontol. 2017;53(3):134–40.
- 59. Lobo E, Marcos G, Santabárbara J, Salvador-Rosés H, Lobo-Escolar L, De la Cámara C, Aso A, Lobo-Escolar A, Workgroup Z. Gender differences in the incidence of and risk factors for hip fracture: a 16-year longitudinal study in a southern European population. Maturitas. 2017;97:38–43.
- 60. Barha CK, Davis JC, Falck RS, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T. Sex differences in exercise efficacy to improve cognition: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials in older humans. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2017;46:71–85.
- 61. Pines A. Mid-life smoking and cognition. Climacteric. 2011;14(4):426-7.
- 62. Dufouil C, Ducimetière P, Alpérovitch A. Sex differences in the association between alcohol consumption and cognitive performance. EVA Study Group Epidemiology of Vascular Aging. Am J Epidemiol. 1997;146(5):405–12.
- Mukamal KJ, Kuller LH, Fitzpatrick AL, Longstreth WT, Mittleman MA, Siscovick DS. Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of dementia in older adults. JAMA. 2003;289(11):1405–13.
- 64. Peters R, Peters J, Warner J, Beckett N, Bulpitt C. Alcohol, dementia and cognitive decline in the elderly: a systematic review. Age Ageing. 2008;37(5):505–12.
- 65. Lobo E, Dufouil C, Marcos G, Quetglas B, Saz P, Guallar E, Lobo A, Workgroup Z. Is there an association between low-to-moderate alcohol consumption and risk of cognitive decline? Am J Epidemiol. 2010;172(6):708–16.
- 66. World Health Organization (WHO). Gender, women and the tobacco epidemic. Geneva: Wold Health Organization (WHO); 2010.



# Managing Menopause and Postreproductive Health: Beyond Hormones and Medicines

29

Skye Marshall and Margaret Rees

## 29.1 Introduction

Women and health professionals have been exploring nonhormonal- and nonmedication-based approaches to managing menopausal symptoms and optimising post-reproductive health for many years. In 2002 and 2003, the first publications of the Women's Health Initiative and Million Women studies on menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) raised safety concerns with regard to cancer and cardiovascular risks [1, 2]. Although long-term follow-up has shown no association between MHT and all-cause, cancer-related or cardiovascular-related mortality and guidelines have supported its use, there are still concerns about continuation beyond the age of 60 [3–5]. Furthermore, the US Preventive Task Force does not recommend the use of MHT for the primary prevention of chronic diseases after the menopause [6]. As women are living longer, there are increasing concerns about chronic disease such as cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, dementia and cognitive decline which can adversely affect quality of life and independent living. The focus of a holistic approach is to have a high quality of life and maintain independence-specifically by maintaining bone and muscle mass, function and strength and cognition. Both physical activity and an adequate diet are required for that.

S. Marshall

M. Rees (⊠) University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Faculty of Medicine, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

Robert Wood Johnson Medical School, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA e-mail: margaret.rees@st-hildas.ox.ac.uk

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Bond Institute of Health and Sport, Robina, QLD, Australia e-mail: skye\_marshall@bond.edu.au

F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_29

The World Health Organization has raised concerns about physical inactivity and provided general guidance regarding physical activity in people aged over 65 [7, 8]. Thus:

- 1. Older adults should do at least 150 min of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or do at least 75 min of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or an equivalent combination of moderate-and vigorous-intensity activity.
- 2. Aerobic activity should be performed in bouts of at least 10 min duration.
- 3. For additional health benefits, older adults should increase their moderateintensity aerobic physical activity to 300 min per week or engage in 150 min of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity per week or an equivalent combination of moderate-and vigorous-intensity activity.
- 4. Older adults, with poor mobility, should perform physical activity to enhance balance and prevent falls on 3 or more days per week.
- 5. Muscle-strengthening activities, involving major muscle groups, should be done on 2 or more days a week.
- 6. When older adults cannot do the recommended amounts of physical activity due to health conditions, they should be as physically active as their abilities and conditions allow [8].

In addition to meeting age- and gender-related nutrient targets, there has been increasing focus on the additional health benefits of specific dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean diet, the DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet, the MIND (Mediterranean-DASH Intervention for Neurodegenerative Delay) diet and the Okinawa diet [9]. However, whether benefits are attained when implementing these dietary strategies in later years as opposed to long-term adherence requires examination [9]. Maintaining lean body mass is important, as protein-energy malnutrition in older people, which can occur at any weight, can cause decreased quality of life and independence and increased morbidity and mortality [10–12].

This chapter will explore the recent evidence (published within the past 10 years) for diet and exercise lifestyle options for post-reproductive health in women, specifically examining interventions for menopausal vasomotor symptoms, cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, dementia and cognitive decline.

## 29.2 Menopausal Vasomotor Symptoms

Menopausal vasomotor symptoms (VMS), including hot flushes and night sweats, are experienced by up to 80% of women during menopause, making them the most common menopausal symptoms with a significant negative impact on quality of life [13]. Hot flushes are most frequent in the 12 months following the final menstrual period; and total duration of symptoms is heavily dependent upon the timing of symptom onset, where onset during premenopause can increase duration to over

10 years and onset after menopause may limit duration to less than 4 years [14–18]. Other factors associated with increased duration of symptoms have been identified as younger age, stress, depression, symptom sensitivity, African American ethnicity, higher BMI and increased abdominal adiposity [15, 16, 19]. Non-medical management options recommended by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) include regular exercise, achieving a healthy body weight, avoiding possible triggers (such as spicy foods, caffeine, smoking, alcohol), reducing stress and environmental changes such as wearing lighter clothing and sleeping in a cooler room [20].

## 29.2.1 Dietary Interventions for the Improvement of Menopausal Vasomotor Symptoms

There is observational and interventional evidence to suggest that adherence to dietary guidelines, and a high consumption of plant-based foods in particular, is associated with decreased longevity and severity of VMS independent of weight loss.

The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health (n = 6040 women with a natural menopause) found that consumption of either a fruit-based dietary pattern or a Mediterranean-style diet decreased the odds of reporting vasomotor symptoms by approximately 20% (OR, 0.81 [95%CI, 0.71–0.93] P < 0.001 and OR, 0.80 [95%CI, 0.69–0.92] P < 0.001, respectively) [21]. Conversely, dietary patterns with a high intake of fat and sugar increased the risk of vasomotor symptoms [21]. Similarly, Beezhold et al. found that perimenopausal vegans and women with the highest intakes of vegetables or berries reported the least bothersome vasomotor symptoms [22]. However, these observational findings reflect long-term usual dietary habits and provide no evidence as to whether the same benefits are realised if changes are made once symptoms commence.

The Women's Health Initiative (n = 6104 postmenopausal women with VMS) randomised controlled trial (RCT) delivered intensive education and counselling to achieve a dietary pattern which aimed for a low total dietary fat intake (<20% of total energy), high fruit and vegetable intake ( $\geq$ 5 serves/day) and high whole-grain intake (6 serves/day) [23]. The dietary intervention, which is focussed on increasing plant-based foods and reflects most dietary guidelines [24], resulted in 14% increased likelihood of VMS elimination at 1-year follow-up (multivariate OR, 1.14 [95%CI, 1.01–1.28] P = 0.04; however, there was no significant improvement in those who had moderate to severe symptoms at baseline (multivariate OR, 1.10 [95%CI, 0.81–1.48] P = 0.54) [23]. The improvement in symptoms was driven by both the changes in dietary patterns and changes in adiposity, where those in the intervention were 330% more likely to lose  $\geq 5$  lbs (OR, 3.3 [95%CI, 3.1–3.5]) and those in the control group were 230% more likely to gain  $\geq$ 5 lbs (OR, 2.3 [95%CI, 2.1-2.25]) [23]. However, the change in dietary pattern still produced beneficial effects even in the context of weight gain, where women in the intervention group who gained  $\geq 10$  lbs were still 52% more likely to eliminate symptoms than women

who maintained weight in the control group (uncontrolled OR, 1.52 [95%CI, 1.02–2.27]) [23]. Thus the effect of the plant-based dietary intervention on VMS was over and above the effect of weight change, suggesting that plant-based dietary patterns are important and give a substantial benefit whether or not the individual is able to achieve a healthy body composition [25].

Supporting this, studies which examined the effect of non-plant-based diet, exercise and/or surgery-induced weight loss have found minimal or no effect on VMS improvement once change in weight is controlled for. A randomised trial (n = 338 women with high BMIs) [26], which aimed to induce weight loss via a low-calorie diet (1200–1500 kcal/day) and increased physical activity over 6 months, found that women with hot flushes at baseline were 223% likely to report a slight improvement in VMS (unadjusted OR, 2.23 [95%CI, 1.19–4.15] P = 0.01). However, when adjusted for the weight loss and other confounding variables, the low-energy but non-plant-based diet and physical activity had no effect on VMS (adjusted OR, 1.92 [95%CI, 0.95–3.89] P > 0.05) [26]. Weight loss induced by bariatric surgery (n = 69 women with VMS) resulted in a decrease in the severity of hot flushes at 6 months post-surgery; however, there was no significant change in the prevalence of vasomotor symptoms or vaginal dryness [27].

Therefore, to reduce the duration and severity of VMS, available evidence suggests that before and/or at the onset of menopausal symptoms, women should be supported to consume a plant-based dietary pattern which suits their preferences and resources and to achieve a healthy body composition through decreased adiposity if possible.

## 29.2.2 Nutraceutical and Herbal Interventions for the Improvement of Menopausal Vasomotor Symptoms

In line with the finding of dietary patterns, evidence for the use of supplements to improve VMS shows support for plant-based therapies and phytoestrogens (plantderived xenoestrogens) in particular. A meta-analysis of 18 studies (n = 4 studies using dietary soy isoflavones; n = 14 studies using phytoestrogen supplements) showed that phytoestrogen consumption decreased hot flush incidence by 1.12 (95%CI, -1.12 to -0.95) per day [28]. Two pooled studies of phytoestrogens found night sweat incidence decreased by 1.44 (95%CI, -1.77 to -1.11) per day [28]. The meta-analysis also found some evidence for some herbal supplements, where black cohosh decreased hot flush incidence by 1.12 (95%CI, -1.46 to -0.77; n = 4 studies) per day and red clover (a source of phytoestrogens) reduced hot flush incidence by 0.69 (95%CI, -1.12 to -0.27; n = 7 studies) per day [28]. However, confidence in these estimated effect sizes is low due to large variance between studies, where many studies reported no effect of phytoestrogen or herbal supplementation. The same group has also found that phytoestrogen supplementation is associated with an increase in body weight which per se may affect VMS [29]. Regarding other supplements commonly used for VMS, the small amount of evidence for Chinese

medicinal herbs and non-Chinese medicinal herbs shows no likelihood of benefit [28]. A more recent well-designed RCT found evidence supporting the combined supplementation of red clover isoflavone extract and lactic acid probiotics, where 12 months of supplementation resulted in decreased hot flush incidence of 4.3 (95%CI, -6.8 to -2.3) per day; the severity of the flushes also substantially decreased [30].

Currently, evidence is not yet convincing enough to support recommendation of plant and/or herbal supplements for the relief of VMS. This is particularly important in the context of safety concerns, where there is evidence of serious adverse events. Of the supplements used for VMS, black cohosh caused most serious adverse events and has resulted in cases of liver failure (requiring liver transplants in some cases), nerve and heart damage and death [31, 32]. Soybean supplementation has been found to have drug interactions (with levothyroxine, seaweed and estradiol) and, when used with melatonin in relieving menopausal symptoms, leads to a case of heart complications, drowsiness and headache [31]. Red clover appears to have the least reported adverse events, with only one documented case [31].

#### 29.2.3 Avoidance of Dietary Triggers for the Management of Menopausal Vasomotor Symptoms

The avoidance of caffeine, spices and alcohol as possible triggers of hot flushes are frequently recommended and are even included on the NICE guidelines [20]; however, there has been a paucity of research examining association of these dietary components and VMS. Studies with measurement of Scoville heat units or capsaicin content of spicy foods are lacking. A large cross-sectional observational study of Spanish-speaking women found some association between very frequent consumption of spicy foods and hot flushes, but no association with occasional consumption [33]. The study also found no association of VMS with alcohol consumption [33]. A small cross-sectional study found an association between caffeine intake and greater VMS [34]. It should be acknowledged that cross-sectional research gives no evidence of causality; and clinical trials are needed prior to suggesting menopausal women change their preferred dietary behaviours, especially if such changes may decrease quality of life or social engagement or limit adherence to a plant-based diet (in the context of limiting spicy foods).

#### 29.2.4 Exercise

While exercise is promoted for its general health benefits, studies examining its effect on VMS are conflicting. In 2014 a Cochrane systematic review (n = 5 RCTs, n = 733 women), comparing exercise with no active treatment, exercise with yoga and exercise with MHT, was found insufficient to show whether exercise is an effective treatment for VMS [35]. A three-arm RCT [36] (n = 261 women) compared two 6-month exercise interventions and a control group, where participants in both

exercise interventions groups were offered two face-to-face consultations with a physical activity facilitator to support engagement in regular exercise [36]. In addition, one exercise group received a menopause-specific information DVD and written materials to encourage regular exercise, and the other exercise group was offered the opportunity to attend exercise social support groups in their communities. At 6 months neither of the exercise intervention groups reported significantly less frequent hot flushes/night sweats per week than controls. The cross-sectional Spanish Flamenco project (n = 191 perimenopausal women) found no association between physical fitness and VMSs [37]; however, the Blatt-Kupperman menopausal index was used, whose validity has been questioned [38].

Conversely, some studies have reported beneficial outcomes following exercise interventions. An RCT involving 154 women that were provided with aerobic training for 6 months reported reduced prevalence of VMS for up to 4 years [39, 40]. The evidence with regard to other exercise modalities such yoga, Tai Chi and Pilates is limited, although two systematic reviews have found that yoga may be useful for bothersome vasomotor symptoms [41, 42].

Therefore, although the evidence is not strong for exercise producing additional benefits for VMS symptoms, it should continue to be encouraged for the menopausal and postmenopausal women due to its benefit on overall health and wellbeing.

## 29.3 Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) in women is the number one cause of death worldwide [43]. An estimated 17.7 million people died from CVDs in 2015, representing 31% of all global deaths. Of these deaths, an estimated 7.4 million was due to coronary heart disease, and 6.7 million was due to stroke. In Europe, CVD is responsible for over 3.9 million deaths a year or 45% of all deaths. In men, CVD accounts for 40% of all deaths, while in women, it is responsible for 49% of all deaths. By comparison, cancer accounts for just under 24% in men and just under 20% in women [44]. Modifiable risk factors for CVD include smoking, physical inactivity, central adiposity, excessive alcohol consumption and saturated and trans fats [45, 46].

As with lifestyle approaches to managing VMS, plant-based dietary patterns and physical activity are important for decreasing the risk of CVD. To help prevent heart attacks and strokes, the WHO recommend daily physical activity for at least 30 min, consuming at  $\geq$ 5 serves of fruit and vegetables and limiting salt to 1 teaspoon [47].

#### 29.3.1 Dietary Interventions to Decrease Risk of Cardiovascular Disease

Over the past several decades, there has been much debate and research focussed around the causative and/or preventative effects of single nutrients or foods on cardiovascular health [48]. These ongoing debates around the best or worst type of fatty acid, low-carbohydrate versus low-fat diets or modifying dairy or types of meat have distracted from the fact that humans do not eat foods or nutrients in isolation, leading to no consistent evidence about which approach is superior or how it should fit into the overall diet [49, 50]. Reflecting the importance of the overall balance of foods and synergistic effects between nutrients in a meal, both researchers and clinicians are instead shifting focus to examine the overall dietary pattern and its influence on health [49]. Although the American Heart Association still recommends changes to single nutrients, such as shifting from saturated to unsaturated fats, they recommend that this should occur simultaneously in an overall healthful dietary pattern such as the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) or Mediterranean diet [51].

The traditional Mediterranean dietary pattern is well known for its association with improved long-term health outcomes, especially in relation to cardiovascular disease. The dietary pattern is characterised by consisting of predominantly plant-based (fruit, vegetable and wholegrain) meals which frequently incorporate olive oil, fish and red wine; but the Mediterranean diet also includes other lifestyle factors such as physical activity and eating socially [52]. Therefore, shifting from saturated fats to unsaturated fats as well as limiting sodium through decreased consumption of highly processed foods would occur naturally when changing to a Mediterranean dietary pattern, without an unhelpful focus on single nutrients. Adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern is often quantitatively measured through a diet quality index (DQI), such as the Trichopoulou score [53], MEDAS [54] or MEDI-LITE [55], which can be used in the clinic as well as research.

The most recent meta-analysis reporting on CVD outcomes found that women with the highest Mediterranean DQI scores had 30% decreased risk of coronary heart disease or acute myocardial infarction (RR, 0.70 [95%CI, 0.64–0.78]; n = 6studies; 0% heterogeneity), 17% decreased risk of stroke (RR, 0.83 [95%CI, 0.71-0.97]; n = 3 studies; 0% heterogeneity) and 15% decreased risk of CVD (RR, 0.85 [95%CI, 0.72–0.99]; n = 3 studies; 86% heterogeneity) compared to women with the lowest scores (i.e. lowest adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern) [56]. However, this high-impact evidence is based on observational studies which reflect on lifelong adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern. The few intervention studies which have implemented the Mediterranean diet in older women have shown that implementation in later life stages still has beneficial outcomes. Specifically, RCTs have demonstrated improved CVD risk factors such as HbA1c, adiposity, blood pressure, lipid profiles, inflammation and carotid atherosclerosis [57, 58], 30% decreased risk of CVD events (HR 0.70 [95%CI, 0.53–0.91]) [55] and 19% decreased risk of all-cause mortality in women with a history of myocardial infarction (OR, 0.81 [95%CI, 0.74-0.87]) [59].

The DASH dietary pattern was specially designed 20 years ago to improve cardiovascular health. DASH has a focus on both food and nutrients, recommending increased fruit, vegetables, wholegrains and low-fat dairy but also aiming to limit sodium, saturated and total fat. Evidence of benefit for cardiovascular health is convincing overall [60]; however, little evidence exists for benefit in older women. Two meta-analyses of observational studies, where the majority of the 260,011 participants were middle- and older-aged women, found that those with diets which imitated the DASH diet had 20% decreased risk of CVD (RR, 0.80 [95%CI, 0.74–0.86]; n = 6 studies, 14% heterogeneity) [61] and CVD-death (RR, 0.80 [95%CI, 0.76–0.85]; n = 11 studies, 30% heterogeneity) [62]. Only one intervention study has been conducted in older women (n = 95 postmenopausal women), where a variation of the DASH diet which included lean red meat was used. The diet implemented for 14 weeks improved some CVD risk factors including blood pressure and body weight even in women taking antihypertensive medication but did not improve lipid profiles [63].

Although the DASH diet is highly researched internationally, less than 30% adhere to the diet when it has been recommended by a health professional, and less than 1% of Western populations follow the diet overall [60]. Poor adherence may be due to the dietary pattern being "synthetically designed" as opposed to "naturally occurring", where it does not reflect the food environment or lifestyle of populations as the Mediterranean diet does.

In addition to the specific DASH and Mediterranean dietary patterns, increased adherence to the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, as measured by various DQIs, is also associated with improved cardiovascular outcomes in observational studies of older women. Compared to those who had the worst adherence to the guidelines, older women with the highest DQI scores had 23–28% decreased risk of CVD events and 21–28% decreased risk of CVD death [62]. Furthermore, a Cochrane review has shown that omega-3 supplements are ineffective for cardiovascular health, and the authors recommend increasing fish intake [64].

Maintaining a good metabolism and normal weight are key factors in reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease, as shown by the 30-year follow-up data from the Nurses' Health Study involving 90, 257 women [65]. The study found that cardiovascular disease risk of women with metabolically healthy obesity was increased compared with women with metabolically healthy normal weight, but risk was considerably higher in women with metabolically unhealthy normal weight, overweight and obesity, highlighting that metabolism is a greater risk factor than adiposity. The metabolic health benefits of intensive weight management were illustrated in a randomised control which resulted in remission of type 2 diabetes [66]. This 12-month randomised controlled trial recruited 306 individuals in the primary care in the UK. Participants were aged 20-65 years who had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes within the past 6 years, had a body mass index of 27-45 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and were not receiving insulin. The intervention comprised withdrawal of antidiabetic and antihypertensive drugs, total diet replacement (825-853 kcal/day formula diet for 3-5 months), stepped food reintroduction (2-8 weeks) and structured support for long-term weight loss maintenance. Diabetes remission was achieved in 68 (46%) participants in the intervention group and six (4%) participants in the control group [66]. Remission varied with weight loss in the whole study population, with achievement in none of 76 participants who gained weight, six (7%) of 89 participants who maintained 0-5 kg weight loss, 19 (34%) of 56 participants with 5-10 kg loss, 16 (57%) of 28 participants with 10-15 kg loss and 31 (86%) of 36 participants who lost 15 kg or more [66]. However sustained weight loss is difficult to achieve after the menopause, and then there is the issue of weight regain. It is therefore essential not to stigmatise overweight and obese women but encourage health at every size through a healthy dietary pattern and physical activity.

Overall, evidence for improving cardiovascular health in postmenopausal women aligns with evidence to improve VMS, where women should be supported to consume a plant-based dietary pattern. Choice of dietary pattern should be patient- and family-centred, aligning with their preferences, resources and lifestyle so as to increase adherence. Self-monitoring through online DQIs such as the Healthy Eating Quiz (http://healthyeatingquiz.com.au/) [67] can support implementation with quantitative and personalised feedback, but without the burden of singlenutrient measurement.

#### 29.3.2 Nutraceutical Interventions to Decrease Risk of Cardiovascular Disease

Most of the focus on improving CVD outcomes has been on modifying dietary intakes as opposed to nutraceutical interventions; however, there has been some interest in antioxidants, polyphenols and omega-3 supplements, all prevalent components in the Mediterranean diet. There has also been concern about calcium and vitamin D supplementation in postmenopausal women, where use has been hypothesised to increase risk of CVD [68].

Oxidative stress is thought to be directly involved in aetiology of atherosclerosis leading to the examination of antioxidants for preventing CVD. Observational studies of diets high in antioxidants have found beneficial effects [69]. However, supplementation of antioxidants has produced conflicting findings with some evidence of benefit, no effect and in some cases harm as the supplements become pro-oxidative in vivo [69, 70]. Currently, supplementation of antioxidants for CVD is not recommended, and instead a high consumption through a plant-based diet should be supported.

A meta-analysis comparing usual or refined olive oil with high polyphenol olive oil showed improvements in CVD risk factors including malondialdehyde (MD,  $-0.07 \mu mol/L$  [95%CI, -0.12 to  $-0.02 \mu mol/L$ ), oxidised LDL (SMD, -0.44 [95%CI, -0.78,  $-0.10 \mu mol/L$ ]), total cholesterol (MD, 4.5 mg/dL [95%CI, -6.54, -2.39 mg/dL) and HDL cholesterol (MD, 2.37 mg/dL [95%CI, 0.41, 5.04 mg/dL]) [71]. However, most of the samples included in the meta-analysis were in younger males and females, with only one study conducted in postmenopausal women (n = 10 from Italy) who were given 50 g/day of high polyphenol olive oil. Although sample was small and presumably had baseline adherence to the Mediterranean diet, an additive effect of the high polyphenol olive oil was demonstrated in this group in regard to decreased oxidative DNA damage [71].

Due to the anti-inflammatory properties of omega-3, fish is often hypothesised as one of the main contributors to improved CVD outcomes associated with the Mediterranean diet [66]. However, two recent meta-analyses found that when omega-3 is consumed in supplemental form, it has found no evidence of effect for CVD outcomes [64, 72] and is not recommended for older adults [73].

While calcium and vitamin D supplements have been widely adopted to preventing or managing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women, there has been concern that they increase CVD risk and should be avoided. However, a meta-analysis in postmenopausal women (n = 18 studies, n = 63,653) found no evidence to indicate increased risk of CVD or all-cause mortality with calcium supplementation, with or without vitamin D [68].

Overall, there are no nutraceuticals currently recommended for use in postmenopausal women to improve CVD outcomes, and calcium and vitamin D may be recommended when indicated with no concern for increasing CVD risk. Although there may be benefit from high polyphenol olive oil, consumption of 50 mL of unheated oil is likely to be impractical for most women, and obtaining high polyphenol olive oil outside of the Mediterranean region may also be difficult. Instead, evidence continues to support a plant-based dietary pattern which includes olive oil and fish, such as the Mediterranean dietary pattern.

#### 29.3.3 Exercise

Considerable evidence has established the value of high levels of physical activity for the prevention and treatment of CVD [74]. With the realistic proviso that physical activity is *anything* that makes you move your body and burn calories, and that *something* is always better than nothing, the American Heart Association recommends the following for overall cardiovascular health [75]:

- At least 30 min of moderate-intensity aerobic activity at least 5 days per week for a total of 150
- At least 25 min of vigorous aerobic activity at least 3 days per week for a total of 75 min or a combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity aerobic activity
- Moderate- to high-intensity muscle-strengthening activity at least 2 days per week for additional health benefits
- For lowering blood pressure and cholesterol:
- An average of 40 min of moderate- to vigorous-intensity aerobic activity three or four times per week

An increase in the use of "passive" modes of transport has been associated with declining physical activity levels. A UK Biobank study of 263,450 participants (n = 106,674; 52% women; mean age 52.6) found that cycle commuting was associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer and all-cause mortality, while walking commuting was associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular disease only [76]. In addition the prospective Women's Health Study (n = 27,536 recruited in 1992–1995; followed to 2013) found that the level of global cardiovascular risk did not modify the inverse association between leisure time activity and incident CVD [77]. There is therefore a need to provide safe and affordable facilities and environments for women to exercise in [78, 79].

#### 29.4 Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis causes more than 8.9 million fractures annually worldwide but is mainly a disease of older women where it affects 1 in 3 women compared to 1 in 5 men, and the majority of fractures occur in those  $\geq$ 80 years [80, 81]. The total number of people with osteoporosis in Europe has been predicted to rise by 23%, from 27.5 million in 2010 to 33.9 million in 2025, due to the increasing proportion of elderly people in the population. Modifiable factors for the nonsymptomatic disease in women include smoking, excessive alcohol intake, adiposity, limited weight-bearing exercise, calcium intake, serum vitamin D, blood pressure and cholesterol levels [82]. Osteoporosis does not only limit physical function through fractures; a systematic review found that hip fracture increases risk of death by 8.4–36%, where death was highest in the days and weeks following the index fracture, but the risk remained elevated for months to years [83]. The UK 2016 NICE recommendations for the prevention of fragility fractures regarding advice on diet and exercise include [84]:

- Eat a balanced diet as this may improve bone health.
- Drink alcohol within recommended limits, as alcohol is a dose-dependent risk factor for fragility fracture.
- Take regular exercise (tailored to the person) to improve muscle strength. Encourage:
- Walking, especially outdoors, as this will increase exposure to sunlight, increasing vitamin D production.
- Strength training (such as weight training) of different muscle groups (e.g. hip, wrist and spine).
- A combination of exercise types, for example, balance, flexibility, stretching, endurance and progressive strengthening exercises.
- Calcium and vitamin D supplementation.

#### 29.4.1 Dietary Interventions to Decrease Risk of Osteoporosis

The key dietary interventions for musculoskeletal health are maintaining an adequate intake of calcium and vitamin D as well as ensuring adequate protein intake [85–87]. During the ageing process, the absorption of calcium decreases, and therefore the daily dietary requirement goes up [88]. As this often occurs simultaneously with decreasing appetite, many older women do not meet their dietary calcium requirements. Recommendations on daily calcium intake vary worldwide. For example, in women over 50 years, the USA recommends 1200 mg [89], Australia recommends 1300 mg [88], but the UK National Osteoporosis Society (NOS) recommends only 700 mg [90]. Beyond calcium, other nutrients play a key role in maintaining bone mineral density, including vitamin D, vitamin K, fluoride, potassium, boron and magnesium [88]. Dietary patterns during childhood and young adulthood have a large impact on bone mineral density in older age; however, they are not modifiable risk factors to manage osteoporosis in postmenopausal women [91]. However, dietary changes in older women can have beneficial effects where the goal is to maintain and prevent loss of bone mineral density. A randomised trial which provided postmenopausal women with intensive dietary and physical activity counselling plus three daily serves of calcium and vitamin D fortified dairy (milk and yoghurt) for 30 months prevented loss of arm, total spine and total body bone mineral density, whereas the control group continued to lose bone mineral density [92]. Because foods which are rich in calcium are also sources of other nutrients beneficial for bone health, such as protein, magnesium and vitamin D (usually fortified), women with inadequate intakes should be supported to meet requirements via foods and beverages whenever possible [91].

In addition to consuming the required nutrients, the diet must also avoid excess phosphate, alcohol and caffeine [91]. There is research to show that restrictive weight loss diets such as a low-fat diet enhance bone mineral density loss [93]. This highlights the detrimental effect that restrictive diets may have on the risk of osteoporosis in older women and supports the use of liberalised plant-based diets which are rich in vitamins and minerals as well as dairy and fish for calcium and protein.

#### 29.4.2 Nutraceutical Interventions to Decrease Risk of Osteoporosis

The first study to examine calcium and vitamin D was undertaken over 20 years ago  $(n = 3270 \text{ women}, \text{mean age } 84 \pm 6 \text{ years})$  and found that vitamin D3 and calcium supplements reduced the risk of hip fracture and other nonvertebral fractures [94]. Since then there have been many studies and analyses of calcium and vitamin D supplements alone or in combination on fracture. The results are contradictory and may depend on the study population, compliance with therapy and background dietary intake [95]. However, calcium and vitamin D play a key role in bone metabolism and are therefore has advised as an integral part of osteoporosis management in guidelines worldwide [96, 97].

However, there is no consistent evidence that calcium supplementation at, or above, recommended levels reduces risk of osteoporosis. Clinical trials have produced inconsistent results regarding the role of calcium supplements regarding fracture risk [98–101]. An expert consensus meeting of the European Society for Clinical and Economic Aspects of Osteoporosis, Osteoarthritis and Musculoskeletal Diseases (ESCEO) and the International Foundation for Osteoporosis (IOF) concluded that supplementation with calcium alone for fracture reduction is not supported by the literature [102]. Caution has also been expressed in recommending calcium supplements in women whose diet is replete, because of an increased risk of renal stones and cardiovascular disease such as found in the Women's Health Initiative trials [103–106].

The main source of vitamin D is cutaneous synthesis and in northern latitudes occurs only in the summer, resulting in deficiency for about half of the year [107].

Dark skin pigmentation, excessive sun protection (shade, extensive clothing cover, sunscreen use, limited mobility) and air pollution also reduce vitamin D skin synthesis. Other risk factors for vitamin D deficiency include poor diet or food quality, adiposity, malabsorption syndromes, medication use (e.g. anticonvulsants, antiretrovirals) and skin ageing. Emerging evidence is associating vitamin D deficiency with not only osteoporosis but also cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, infections and neurode-generative disease [108]. Fortified foods do not necessarily provide sufficient amounts of vitamin D, and regular sunlight exposure (without sunscreens) for 15 min, 3–4 times a week, in the middle of the day in summer generate healthy levels in adults but may still be inadequate in older adults due to the thinning of the skin [91, 108].

Vitamin D supplementation can be undertaken with either vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) or vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol). In the UK, national guidelines aim to increase supplement use to prevent vitamin D deficiency among at-risk groups including people aged over 65, but prescribing policy depends on local clinical commissioning groups [109, 110]. The UK Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) recommended a reference nutrient intake (RNI) of 400 IU daily for adults of all ages in 2016 [111]. However, in postmenopausal women at increased risk of fracture, the available evidence supports the use of higher doses. In two 2009 meta-analyses, a protective effect of vitamin D on falls was only seen at daily doses  $\geq$ 700 IU ((RR, 0.81 [95%CI, 0.71–0.92; n = 7 studies; n = 1921 participants) [112] and improvement in fracture risk only seen at >400 IU (RR, 0.80 [95% CI, 0.72-(0.89); n = 9 studies; n = 33,265 participants) [113]. Since then, two subsequent meta-analyses found that vitamin D alone did not improve bone mineral density (n = 23 studies, n = 4082, 92% older women) [114] or prevent fractures; however, dosing was not considered in the analyses [115]. Reflecting the best available evidence, the UK National Osteoporosis Guideline Group (NOGG) recommends that in postmenopausal women who are at increased risk of fracture, a daily dose of 800 IU of cholecalciferol should be advised [97].

Although evidence is unclear for calcium and vitamin D supplemented alone, both vitamin D and calcium for bone mineralisation, and evidence supports combined supplementation for the prevention of fractures [115]. A 2016 meta-analysis (n = 8 studies, n = 30,970 participants) of combined calcium and vitamin D supplements decreased the risk of total fracture by 15% (SRRE, 0.85; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.73-0.98) and hip fracture by 30% (SRRE, 0.70; 95% CI, 0.56-0.87) [116]. Although the Women's Health Initiative clinical trial results published in 2017, which supplemented 1000 mg of calcium and 400 IU of vitamin D, did not prevent height loss in healthy postmenopausal women, the vitamin D dose was likely inadequate, height is a less sensitive marker of bone mineral density, and the height loss in both intervention and control groups was well below the 2 cm criterion for fracture risk [117, 118]. In 2017 an expert consensus paper of the European Society for Clinical and Economic Aspects of Osteoporosis, the Osteoarthritis and Musculoskeletal Diseases (ESCEO) and the International Foundation for Osteoporosis (IOF) concluded that calcium and vitamin D supplementation leads to a modest reduction in fracture risk, although population-level intervention has not been shown to be an effective public health strategy [102].

Soy isoflavone, a type of phytoestrogen, acts as oestrogen agonists and antioxidants in bone cells, leading to interest in isoflavone supplementation for the preservation of bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. A meta-analysis identified that benefits have only been achieved with doses  $\geq 80$  mg/day supplemented for >12 months, where bone mineral density of the lumbar spine improved by 6.0 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>/year ([95%CI, -0.7-2.7] P = 0.08; n = 8 studies; n = 654 women). There was no difference in effect between isoflavones supplemented as an extract or consumed as part of soy products such as isolated soy protein [119]. There has not been a review of other forms of phytoestrogens on osteoporosis risk. Individual RCTs have suggested other phytoestrogens may be beneficial [120– 122]; however, a meta-analysis of RCTs is needed prior to making clinical applications.

Thus, aligning with recommendations for other post-reproductive health, dietary patterns and lifestyle factors are the most important strategy for preventing bone mineral density loss and fractures. Adequate calcium, vitamin D and other vitamin and mineral intakes should be achieved through dietary modification where possible, as the synergistic effects of food and nutrients in vivo achieve the greatest outcomes. In order to evaluate the overall dietary pattern for optimal bone mineral density, individualised dietary assessment and intervention by a dietitian should be considered. If nutrient requirements cannot be met by diet alone, supplementation and/or fortification of combined calcium and vitamin D (at doses of  $\geq$ 700 IU/day) may then become appropriate [96]. If calcium intake is adequate but peak serum vitamin D levels cannot be achieved through diet and sun exposure, single vitamin D supplementation at  $\geq$ 700 IU/day should be considered. There may be additional benefits of consuming high doses of soy isoflavones, which may be achieved through dietary consumption of soy products or supplementation.

#### 29.4.3 Exercise

With regard to osteoporosis, a Cochrane review found that exercise had a relatively small, but possibly important, effect on bone density (1%) compared with control groups (P < 0.05) [123]. Physical exercise, furthermore, reduces the risk of falls in the elderly, indirectly influencing fracture rates [124, 125]. In 2018 the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) found adequate evidence that exercise interventions have a moderate benefit in preventing falls in older adults [126]. Gait velocity declines with age with the greatest fall in the women over 70 [127]. Identifying the age of gait velocity decline of healthy women could allow timely interventions to slow the general decline associated with lower gait velocities, such as falls and fracture. Various types of exercise can be undertaken (weight bearing, back extension, Tai Chi, Pilates, vibration), but it is unclear what types, intensity and duration are the most benefit [128, 129].

#### 29.5 Dementia and Cognitive Decline

Dementia has become a public health priority with substantial impact on not only individuals and their families but also health-care, economic and welfare systems of whole societies. In the 1980s, the governments of developed countries started to express concern about rapid population ageing with dementia and cognitive decline being important causes of disability in later life. However, recent evidence suggests stable or decreased prevalence over the last decades [130, 131].

Dementia is a progressive, irreversible decline in cognition that, by definition, impacts on a patient's pre-existing level of functioning. The clinical syndrome of dementia has several aetiologies with overlapping pathological and clinical features. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common, thought to be present in 50–75% of cases [132]. Other processes include vascular, Lewy body and fronto-temporal pathologies. Dementia and cardiovascular disease have many common risk factors, including hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia, obesity and diabetes. Cardiovascular disease is an important risk factor for cognitive decline in postmeno-pausal women. In the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study, women with CVD tended to be at increased risk for cognitive decline compared with those free of CVD (hazard ratio [HR], 1.29; 95% CI, 1.00–1.67) [133].

#### 29.5.1 Dietary Interventions to Decrease Risk of Dementia and Cognitive Decline

As with cardiovascular health, there has been some focus on single nutrients and their effect on brain ageing [134]. However, as nutrients are consumed as part of dietary patterns and not alone, such research is not helpful when needing to make recommendations to individuals. Observational studies have shown that pant-based dietary patterns, and the Mediterranean diet in particular, have been associated with improved cognitive function in ageing [135]. High Mediterranean DQI scores (i.e. greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet), as well as more frequent legume and fish consumption [two Mediterranean diet core foods], have been associated with greater cortical thickness in a cross-sectional sample [134]. In a prospective cohort study, low Mediterranean DQI scores in an older Scottish cohort were predictive of total brain atrophy over a 3-year interval [136]. Fish and meat consumption did not drive this change, suggesting that other components of the Mediterranean diet or, possibly, all of its components in combination are responsible for the association with improved brain ageing [136].

A meta-analysis of observational studies showed that older adults who had the highest Mediterranean DQI were 21% less likely to develop cognitive disorders (RR, 0.79 [95%CI, 0.7–0.90]; n = 8 studies) [137]; however, no effect was found when examining outcomes in older women only [137]. This finding is supported by Psaltopoulou et al. [138], where meta-regression found that the Mediterranean diet

was more protective against stroke for males than for females. However, males and females benefited equally from the Mediterranean diet in regard to depression and cognitive impairment. Another significant finding from both meta-analyses is that benefits for cognitive outcomes were only found in those with the highest adherence to the Mediterranean diet; and moderate adherence provided no benefit [137, 138]. Intervention studies have demonstrated that commencing a Mediterranean diet, supplemented with high polyphenol olive oil, in later age may still have some benefits for cognitive function [139].

For those who are unable to follow the Mediterranean diet, other dietary patterns, such as adherence to national dietary guidelines in, have also been associated with lower psychological distress; however, the effect sizes were lower than that of the Mediterranean diet [140]. Furthermore, observational studies have also shown older adults who had a very high consumption of fish ( $\geq 4$  vs. <1 fish serving/week) had a slow rate of memory decline, equal to being 4 years younger [141].

#### 29.5.2 Nutraceutical Interventions for Improved Cognitive Function

Reflecting the great interest in the preservation of brain function in ageing, nutraceuticals thought to prevent cognitive decline are widely available and consumed. There has been interest in omega-3, vitamin D, resveratrol, saffron and polyphenols.

Some RCTs have found that high doses of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (2.2–2.4 g/day supplemented for 6 months) given to older adults with no or mild cognitive decline showed mild improvements in memory [142]. However, RCTs using lower doses have found no effect on cognitive function with interventions of up to 5 years [142, 143]. Furthermore, no studies have identified any benefit of omega-3, supplemented alone or in combination with vitamins and minerals, for the prevention and treatment of dementia [73, 144].

Higher serum vitamin status has been associated with improved memory in a large observational study of French older adults (33% women) [145]. Epidemiological evidence also supports associations between low serum 25(OH)D concentrations and poorer cognitive performance in community-dwelling older populations, although an optimal 25(OH)D level for cognitive health could not be determined. The RCT part of the Women's Health Initiative which supplemented 1000 mg of calcium and 400 IU of vitamin D3 to 2034 older women found no significant protective effect against dementia or cognitive impairment. However, serum vitamin D status was not measured, and 400 IU may be an inadequate dose for effect. Therefore, the effect of raising 25(OH)D concentrations on cognitive function remains unclear, as there is a paucity of interventional evidence [146]. Further research is required before vitamin D can be recommended as a preventative supplement for cognitive decline; however, adequate serum vitamin D status should be achieved for overall health.

Resveratrol is a polyphenol found in red grapes, berries and red wine. A metaanalysis of resveratrol supplementation found doses of 150–500 mg improved delayed recognition (SMD, 0.39 [moderate effect size] [95%CI, 0.08–0.7]; n = 3studies; n = 166 participants] and negative mood (SMD, -0.18 [small effect size] [95%CI, -0.31 to -0.05]; n = 3 studies; n = 163 participants], where most participants were older adults and > 50% were women [147]. Although there were no side effects, no improvement in many other measures of cognitive function was found, and resveratrol supplements may have a high financial cost. Although no meta-analysis has been done considering all forms of polyphenols on cognitive function, qualitative synthesis in a systematic review identified many clinical trials of berry juice, cocoa and isoflavone supplementation which reported beneficial outcomes. However, evidence is not yet strong or clear enough for clinical recommendations [148].

Although there is good emerging evidence supporting saffron supplementation for the treatment of depression and anxiety, no studies have yet been conducted in older adult samples [149]. Therefore, further research is required before it can be recommended for postmenopausal women.

Overall, high doses of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and resveratrol may have some benefit on cognitive performance in older women; however, effect sizes are modest, there is no evidence of improvement in dementia risk, and the impact of cost and convenience should be considered. If supplements are used, women should also be supported to have a high polyphenol intake from the diet, such as following a plant-based dietary pattern, with a focus on polyphenol-rich foods such as tea, coffee, soy, cocoa, fruits and vegetables. Postmenopausal women should be regularly evaluated for serum vitamin D status, which should be corrected via food or supplemental strategies; however, there is not yet evidence to support vitamin D supplementation for the protection against cognitive decline.

#### 29.5.3 Exercise

While there is extensive literature about the exercise programmes for people with dementia, there is increasing evidence that physical activity (PA) reduces the risk of cognitive decline and dementia [150]. Furthermore there is a growing body of literature that recognises the positive effects of exercise on mood, anxiety, stress and depression [151]. Data from 11,391 men and women (aged  $\geq$ 50) were obtained from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing cohort. Assessments were carried out at baseline (2002–2003) and at biannual follow-ups (2004–2013) [150]. Older adults who carried out moderate to vigorous activity at least once per week had a 34–50% lower risk for cognitive decline and dementia over an 8–10-year follow-up period. From pre- to post-dementia diagnosis, those who decreased PA levels had a larger decrease in immediate recall scores, compared to those who maintained or increased PA levels. Other forms of activity may be of benefit. Thus, data from the Scottish Health Survey 2012–2013 of 9709 adults found that gardening was

positively associated with mental health [152]. Gardening has the advantage of being potentially cost-effective and a culturally acceptable enjoyable community-based health initiative [153].

# 29.6 Conclusion

A new holistic approach to menopause and post-reproductive health beyond medicines is required. Overwhelmingly, evidence supports the early adoption of an active lifestyle and a plant-based dietary pattern which also contains regular consumption of fish and vitamin D fortified dairy. The Mediterranean diet appears to provide the best outcomes for postmenopausal women; however, any plant-based dietary pattern which aligns with the lifestyle and values of the individual should be supported. Although early adoption of these lifestyle and dietary changes may provide the best outcomes, changes to the diet and activity levels made later in life still provide benefits. There is some evidence supporting specific nutraceuticals for post-reproductive health outcomes; however, food-first strategies should be recommended prior to supplementation. Restrictive, low-energy diets focussed on weight loss are not likely to provide any benefit to be sustainable in older women, and may reduce bone mass, and should therefore be avoided. Instead, promotion of an active lifestyle and a plant-based dietary pattern are likely to naturally decrease adiposity and increase muscle mass, leading to additional benefits; however, even if no change in body composition is achieved, outcomes are still likely to improve. For women at high risk of chronic disease, individualised dietary assessment and intervention by a dietitian is recommended to help make sustainable changes. Implementation also requires teaching of other health and allied health professionals at an early stage. Of primary importance, interventions need to be affordable, feasible, acceptable and enjoyable with a focus on improving quality of life.

## References

- 1. Investigators WGftWsHI. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288(3):321–33.
- Collaborators MWS. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. Lancet. 2003;362(9382):419–27.
- Manson JE, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Chlebowski RT, Howard BV, Thomson CA, Margolis KL. Menopausal hormone therapy and long-term allcause and cause-specific mortality: the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. JAMA. 2017;318(10):927–38.
- De Villiers T, Hall J, Pinkerton J, Pérez SC, Rees M, Yang C, Pierroz D. Revised global consensus statement on menopausal hormone therapy. Maturitas. 2016;91:153–5.
- The NAMS. Hormone therapy position statement advisory panel. The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of the North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2017;24(7):728–53.
- Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Davidson KW, Doubeni CA, Epling JW, Kemper AR, Krist AH, Kurth AE. Hormone therapy for the primary prevention of chronic conditions in postmenopausal women: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2017;318(22):2224–33.

- 7. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Physical inactivity: a Global Public Health Problem World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/ factsheet\_inactivity/en/.
- 8. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Physical activity and older adults: World Health Organisation. http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet\_olderadults/en/.
- Yannakoulia M, Mamalaki E, Anastasiou CA, Mourtzi N, Lambrinoudaki I, Scarmeas N. Eating habits and behaviors of older people: where are we now and where should we go? Maturitas. 2018;114:14–21.
- Artaza-Artabe I, Sáez-López P, Sánchez-Hernández N, Fernández-Gutierrez N, Malafarina V. The relationship between nutrition and frailty: effects of protein intake, nutritional supplementation, vitamin D and exercise on muscle metabolism in the elderly. A systematic review. Maturitas. 2016;93:89–99.
- 11. Agarwal E, Marshall S, Miller M, Isenring E. Optimising nutrition in residential aged care: a narrative review. Maturitas. 2016;92:70–8.
- 12. Marshall S, Bauer J, Isenring E. The consequences of malnutrition following discharge from rehabilitation to the community: a systematic review of current evidence in older adults. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2014;27(2):133–41.
- Hess R, Thurston RC, Hays RD, Chang C-CH, Dillon SN, Ness RB, Bryce CL, Kapoor WN, Matthews KA. The impact of menopause on health-related quality of life: results from the STRIDE longitudinal study. Qual Life Res. 2012;21(3):535–44.
- Zhu D, Chung H-F, Pandeya N, Dobson AJ, Kuh D, Crawford SL, Gold EB, Avis NE, Giles GG, Bruinsma F. Body mass index and age at natural menopause: an international pooled analysis of 11 prospective studies. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(8):699–710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-018-0367-y.
- Avis NE, Crawford SL, Greendale G, Bromberger JT, Everson-Rose SA, Gold EB, Hess R, Joffe H, Kravitz HM, Tepper PG. Duration of menopausal vasomotor symptoms over the menopause transition. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(4):531–9.
- Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Sanders RJ. Risk of long term hot flashes after natural menopause: evidence from the Penn Ovarian Aging Cohort. Menopause. 2014;21(9):924–32.
- Wilson LF, Pandeya N, Byles J, Mishra GD. Hot flushes and night sweats symptom profiles over a 17-year period in mid-aged women: the role of hysterectomy with ovarian conservation. Maturitas. 2016;91:1–7.
- Stuursma A, van Driel C, Wessels N, de Bock G, Mourits M. Severity and duration of menopausal symptoms after risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy. Maturitas. 2018;111:69–76.
- Thurston RC, Sowers MR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Everson-Rose SA, Lewis TT, Edmundowicz D, Matthews KA. Abdominal adiposity and hot flashes among midlife women. Menopause. 2008;15(3):429–34.
- National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). Scenario: managing the menopause. 2015. http://cks.nice.org.uk/menopause#!scenario.
- Herber-Gast G-CM, Mishra GD. Fruit, Mediterranean-style, and high-fat and-sugar diets are associated with the risk of night sweats and hot flushes in midlife: results from a prospective cohort study. Am Clin Nutr. 2013;97(5):1092–9.
- Beezhold B, Radnitz C, McGrath RE, Feldman A. Vegans report less bothersome vasomotor and physical menopausal symptoms than omnivores. Maturitas. 2018;112:12–7.
- 23. Kroenke CH, Caan BJ, Stefanick ML, Anderson G, Brzyski R, Johnson KC, LeBlanc E, Lee C, La Croix AZ, Park HL. Effects of a dietary intervention and weight change on vasomotor symptoms in the Women's Health Initiative. Menopause. 2012;19(9):980–8.
- Australian Dietary Guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC, Australian Government; 2013. https:// www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/n55.
- Reame NK. Fat, fit or famished? No clear answers from the WHI about diet and dieting for long-standing hot flashes. Menopause. 2012;19(9):956–8.
- 26. Huang AJ, Subak LL, Wing R, West DS, Hernandez AL, Macer J, Grady D. An intensive behavioral weight loss intervention and hot flushes in women. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(13):1161–7.

- Goughnour S, Thurston R, Althouse A, Freese K, Edwards R, Hamad G, McCloskey C, Ramanathan R, Bovbjerg D, Linkov F. Assessment of hot flushes and vaginal dryness among obese women undergoing bariatric surgery. Climacteric. 2016;19(1):71–6.
- Franco OH, Chowdhury R, Troup J, Voortman T, Kunutsor S, Kavousi M, Oliver-Williams C, Muka T. Use of plant-based therapies and menopausal symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2016;315(23):2554–63.
- 29. Glisic M, Kastrati N, Musa J, Milic J, Asllanaj E, Fernandez EP, Nano J, Rosales CO, Amiri M, Kraja B. Phytoestrogen supplementation and body composition in postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2018;115:74–83.
- Lambert MNT, Thorup AC, Hansen ESS, Jeppesen PB. Combined Red Clover isoflavones and probiotics potently reduce menopausal vasomotor symptoms. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0176590.
- 31. Di Lorenzo C, Ceschi A, Kupferschmidt H, Lüde S, De Souza NE, Dos Santos A, Colombo F, Frigerio G, Nørby K, Plumb J. Adverse effects of plant food supplements and botanical preparations: a systematic review with critical evaluation of causality. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2015;79(4):578–92.
- 32. Teschke R, Schwarzenboeck A, Schmidt-Taenzer W, Wolff A, Hennermann K-H. Herb induced liver injury presumably caused by black cohosh: a survey of initially purported cases and herbal quality specifications. Ann Hepatol. 2016;10(3):249–59.
- Hunter M, Gupta P, Chedraui P, Blümel J, Tserotas K, Aguirre W, Palacios S, Sturdee D. The international menopause study of climate, altitude, temperature (IMS-CAT) and vasomotor symptoms. Climacteric. 2012;16(1):8–16.
- Faubion SS, Sood R, Thielen JM, Shuster LT. Caffeine and menopausal symptoms: what is the association? Menopause. 2015;22(2):155–8.
- Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Thomas A, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;11:CD006108.
- 36. Daley AJ, Thomas A, Roalfe AK, Stokes-Lampard H, Coleman S, Rees M, Hunter M, MacArthur C. The effectiveness of exercise as treatment for vasomotor menopausal symptoms: randomised controlled trial. BJOG. 2015;122(4):565–75.
- Aparicio V, Borges-Cosic M, Ruiz-Cabello P, Coll-Risco I, Acosta-Manzano P, Špacírová Z, Soriano-Maldonado A. Association of objectively measured physical activity and physical fitness with menopause symptoms. The Flamenco Project. Climacteric. 2017;20(5):456–61.
- 38. Alder E. The Blatt-Kupperman menopausal index: a critique. Maturitas. 1998;29(1):19-24.
- Moilanen JM, Mikkola TS, Raitanen JA, Heinonen RH, Tomas EI, Nygård C-H, Luoto RM. Effect of aerobic training on menopausal symptoms—a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2012;19(6):691–6.
- Mansikkamäki K, Nygård C-H, Raitanen J, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Tomás E, Rutanen R, Luoto R. Hot flushes among aging women: a 4-year follow-up study to a randomised controlled exercise trial. Maturitas. 2016;88:84–9.
- 41. Shepherd-Banigan M, Goldstein K, Coeytaux R, McDuffie J, Goode A, Kosinski A, Van Noord M, Befus D, Adam S, Masilamani V. Improving vasomotor symptoms; psychological symptoms; and health-related quality of life in peri- or post-menopausal women through yoga: an umbrella systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Med. 2017;34:156–64.
- 42. Cramer H, Peng W, Lauche R. Yoga for menopausal symptoms—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2018;109:13–25.
- 43. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Fact sheet: World Health Organisation. 2017. http://www. who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/.
- 44. Wilkins E, Wilson L, Wickramasinghe K, Bhatnagar P, Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, Burns R, Rayner M, Townsend N. European cardiovascular disease statistics 2017. Brussels: European Heart Network; 2017. http://www.ehnheart.org/cvd-statistics.html.
- Cardiovascular risk factors: World Heart Federation. https://www.world-heart-federation.org/ resources/risk-factors/.

- 46. Milic J, Glisic M, Voortman T, Borba LP, Asllanaj E, Rojas LZ, Troup J, Kiefte-de Jong JC, van Beeck E, Muka T. Menopause, ageing, and alcohol use disorders in women. Maturitas. 2018;111:100–9.
- Cardiovascular disease. World Health Organisation. http://www.who.int/cardiovascular\_ diseases/en/.
- Mente A, de Koning L, Shannon HS, Anand SS. A systematic review of the evidence supporting a causal link between dietary factors and coronary heart disease. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(7):659–69.
- 49. Hu FB. Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2002;13(1):3–9.
- Nordmann AJ, Nordmann A, Briel M, Keller U, Yancy WS, Brehm BJ, Bucher HC. Effects of low-carbohydrate vs low-fat diets on weight loss and cardiovascular risk factors: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(3):285–93.
- 51. Sacks FM, Lichtenstein AH, Wu JH, Appel LJ, Creager MA, Kris-Etherton PM, Miller M, Rimm EB, Rudel LL, Robinson JG. Dietary fats and cardiovascular disease: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2017;136(3):e1–e23.
- Willett WC, Sacks F, Trichopoulou A, Drescher G, Ferro-Luzzi A, Helsing E, Trichopoulos D. Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995;61(6):1402S–6S.
- Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(26):2599–608.
- 54. Papadaki A, Johnson L, Toumpakari Z, England C, Rai M, Toms S, Penfold C, Zazpe I, Martínez-González MA, Feder G. Validation of the English Version of the 14-Item Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener of the PREDIMED Study, in People at High Cardiovascular Risk in the UK. Nutrients. 2018;10(2):E138.
- Sofi F, Dinu M, Pagliai G, Marcucci R, Casini A. Validation of a literature-based adherence score to Mediterranean diet: the MEDI-LITE score. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2017;68(6):757–62.
- Rosato V, Temple NJ, La Vecchia C, Castellan G, Tavani A, Guercio V. Mediterranean diet and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Nutr. 2017:1–19.
- Toobert DJ, Glasgow RE, Strycker LA, Barrera M, Radcliffe JL, Wander RC, Bagdade JD. Biologic and quality-of-life outcomes from the Mediterranean lifestyle program: a randomized clinical trial. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(8):2288–93.
- Ros E, Martínez-González MA, Estruch R, Salas-Salvadó J, Fitó M, Martínez JA, Corella D. Mediterranean diet and cardiovascular health: teachings of the PREDIMED Study. Adv Nutr. 2014;5(3):330S–6S.
- Barzi F, Woodward M, Marfisi R, Tavazzi L, Valagussa F, Marchioli R. Mediterranean diet and all-causes mortality after myocardial infarction: results from the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003;57(4):604–11.
- 60. Steinberg D, Bennett GG, Svetkey L. The DASH diet, 20 years later. JAMA. 2017;317(15):1529–30.
- 61. Salehi-Abargouei A, Maghsoudi Z, Shirani F, Azadbakht L. Effects of dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH)-style diet on fatal or nonfatal cardiovascular diseases—incidence: a systematic review and meta-analysis on observational prospective studies. Nutrition. 2013;29(4):611–8.
- 62. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the Healthy Eating Index, the Alternate Healthy Eating Index, the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension score, and health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2015;115(5):780–800.e5.
- Nowson CA, Wattanapenpaiboon N, Pachett A. Low-sodium dietary approaches to stop hypertension-type diet including lean red meat lowers blood pressure in postmenopausal women. Nutr Res. 2009;29(1):8–18.

- 64. Abdelhamid A, Brown T, Brainard J, Biswas P, Thorpe G, Deane K, AlAbdulghafoor F, Summerbell C, Worthington H, Song F. Omega 3 fatty acids for the primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;(7):CD003177.
- 65. Eckel N, Li Y, Kuxhaus O, Stefan N, Hu FB, Schulze MB. Transition from metabolic healthy to unhealthy phenotypes and association with cardiovascular disease risk across BMI categories in 90 257 women (the Nurses' Health Study): 30 year follow-up from a prospective cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(9):714–24.
- 66. Lean ME, Leslie WS, Barnes AC, Brosnahan N, Thom G, McCombie L, Peters C, Zhyzhneuskaya S, Al-Mrabeh A, Hollingsworth KG. Primary care-led weight management for remission of type 2 diabetes (DiRECT): an open-label, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10120):541–51.
- Williams RL, Rollo ME, Schumacher T, Collins CE. Diet quality scores of Australian adults who have completed the healthy eating quiz. Nutrients. 2017;9(8):E880.
- 68. Lewis JR, Radavelli-Bagatini S, Rejnmark L, Chen JS, Simpson JM, Lappe JM, Mosekilde L, Prentice RL, Prince RL. The effects of calcium supplementation on verified coronary heart disease hospitalization and death in postmenopausal women: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Bone Miner Res. 2015;30(1):165–75.
- Willcox BJ, Curb JD, Rodriguez BL. Antioxidants in cardiovascular health and disease: key lessons from epidemiologic studies. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101(10):S75–86.
- Myung S-K, Ju W, Cho B, Oh S-W, Park SM, Koo B-K, Park B-J. Efficacy of vitamin and antioxidant supplements in prevention of cardiovascular disease: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2013;346:f10.
- 71. George ES, Marshall S, Mayr HL, Trakman GL, Tatucu-Babet OA, Lassemillante ACM, Bramley A, Reddy AJ, Forsyth A, Tierney AC, Thomas CJ, Itsiopoulos C, Marx W. The effect of high-polyphenol extra virgin olive oil on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2018;30:1–24.
- 72. Aung T, Halsey J, Kromhout D, Gerstein HC, Marchioli R, Tavazzi L, Geleijnse JM, Rauch B, Ness A, Galan P. Associations of Omega-3 fatty acid supplement use with cardiovascular disease risks: meta-analysis of 10 trials involving 77 917 individuals. JAMA Cardiol. 2018;3(3):225–34.
- 73. Marshall S, van der Meij B. Fish and omega-3 intake and health in older people. Maturitas. 2018;115:117–8.
- Lavie CJ, Arena R, Swift DL, Johannsen NM, Sui X, Lee D-C, Earnest CP, Church TS, O'keefe JH, Milani RV. Exercise and the cardiovascular system: clinical science and cardiovascular outcomes. Circ Res. 2015;117(2):207–19.
- 75. Exercise: American Heart Association 2014. www.heart.org/HEARTORG/HealthyLiving/ PhysicalActivity/FitnessBasics/American-Heart-Association-Recommendations-for-Physical-Activity-in-Adults.
- Celis-Morales CA, Lyall DM, Welsh P, Anderson J, Steell L, Guo Y, Maldonado R, Mackay DF, Pell JP, Sattar N. Association between active commuting and incident cardiovascular disease, cancer, and mortality: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2017;357:j1456.
- 77. Chomistek AK, Cook NR, Rimm EB, Ridker PM, Buring JE, Lee IM. Physical activity and incident cardiovascular disease in women: is the relation modified by level of global cardiovascular risk? J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(12):e008234.
- 78. Cotterell N, Buffel T, Phillipson C. Preventing social isolation in older people. Maturitas. 2018;113:80–4.
- 79. Annweiler C, Noublanche F, Jaglin-Grimonprez C, Bubien Y. Built environments for frail older adults: the now and next. Maturitas. 2018;116:137–8.
- Hernlund E, Svedbom A, Ivergård M, Compston J, Cooper C, Stenmark J, McCloskey EV, Jönsson B, Kanis JA. Osteoporosis in the European Union: medical management, epidemiology and economic burden. Arch Osteoporos. 2013;8(1-2):136.
- 81. Kanis JA, Cooper C, Rizzoli R, Abrahamsen B, Al-Daghri NM, Brandi ML, Cannata-Andia J, Cortet B, Dimai HP, Ferrari S, Hadji P, Harvey NC, Kraenzlin M, Kurth A, McCloskey E, Minisola S, Thomas T, Reginster JY, European Society for Clinical and Economic Aspects of

Osteoporosis, Osteoarthritis and Musculoskeletal Diseases (ESCEO). Identification and management of patients at increased risk of osteoporotic fracture: outcomes of an ESCEO expert consensus meeting. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28:2023–34.

- Thulkar J, Singh S, Sharma S, Thulkar T. Preventable risk factors for osteoporosis in postmenopausal women: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Midlife Health. 2016;7(3): 108–13.
- Abrahamsen B, Van Staa T, Ariely R, Olson M, Cooper C. Excess mortality following hip fracture: a systematic epidemiological review. Osteoporos Int. 2009;20(10):1633–50.
- CKS Osteoporosis—prevention of fragility fractures NICE. 2016. https://cks.nice.org.uk/ osteoporosis-prevention-of-fragility-fractures.
- 85. Hita-Contreras F, Bueno-Notivol J, Martínez-Amat A, Cruz-Díaz D, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR. Effect of exercise alone or combined with dietary supplements on anthropometric and physical function measures in community-dwelling elderly people with sarcopenic obesity: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2018;116:24–35.
- 86. Koutsofta I, Mamais I, Chrysostomou S. The effect of protein diets in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Women Aging. 2019;31:117–39.
- 87. Rizzoli R, Biver E, Bonjour J-P, Coxam V, Goltzman D, Kanis J, Lappe J, Rejnmark L, Sahni S, Weaver C. Benefits and safety of dietary protein for bone health—an expert consensus paper endorsed by the European Society for Clinical and Economical Aspects of Osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, and musculoskeletal diseases and by the International Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29:1933–48.
- Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council; 2005. https://www.nhmrc. gov.au/guidelines-publications/n35-n36-n37.
- Calcium Factsheet: National Institute of Health. https://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/ Calcium-HealthProfessional/.
- Healthy eating for strong bones: National Osteoporosis Society. https://nos.org.uk/information/ healthy-living-and-risk/healthy-eating-for-strong-bones/.
- Anderson JJB. Nutrition and bone health. In: Mahan LK, Escott-Stump S, editors. Krause's food & nutrition therapy. 12th ed. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier; 2008.
- Moschonis G, Katsaroli I, Lyritis GP, Manios Y. The effects of a 30-month dietary intervention on bone mineral density: the Postmenopausal Health Study. Br J Nutr. 2010;104(1):100–7.
- 93. Salamone LM, Cauley JA, Black DM, Simkin-Silverman L, Lang W, Gregg E, Palermo L, Epstein RS, Kuller LH, Wing R. Effect of a lifestyle intervention on bone mineral density in premenopausal women: a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999;70(1):97–103.
- 94. Chapuy MC, Arlot ME, Duboeuf F, Brun J, Crouzet B, Arnaud S, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ. Vitamin D3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in elderly women. N Engl J Med. 1992;327(23):1637–42.
- 95. Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, Doubeni CA, Epling JW, Kemper AR, Krist AH. Vitamin D, calcium, or combined supplementation for the primary prevention of fractures in community-dwelling adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2018;319(15):1592–9.
- 96. Cano A, Chedraui P, Goulis DG, Lopes P, Mishra G, Mueck A, Senturk LM, Simoncini T, Stevenson JC, Stute P. Calcium in the prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis: EMAS clinical guide. Maturitas. 2018;107:7–12.
- 97. Compston J, Cooper A, Cooper C, Gittoes N, Gregson C, Harvey N, Hope S, Kanis J, McCloskey E, Poole K. UK clinical guideline for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Arch Osteoporos. 2017;12(1):43.
- Shea B, Wells G, Cranney A, Zytaruk N, Robinson V, Griffith L, Ortiz Z, Peterson J, Adachi J, Tugwell P. VII. Meta-analysis of calcium supplementation for the prevention of postmeno-pausal osteoporosis. Endocr Rev. 2002;23(4):552–9.
- Tai V, Leung W, Grey A, Reid IR, Bolland MJ. Calcium intake and bone mineral density: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2015;351:h4183.

- 100. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, Burckhardt P, Li R, Spiegelman D, Specker B, Orav JE, Wong JB, Staehelin HB. Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86(6):1780–90.
- 101. Warensjö E, Byberg L, Melhus H, Gedeborg R, Mallmin H, Wolk A, Michaëlsson K. Dietary calcium intake and risk of fracture and osteoporosis: prospective longitudinal cohort study. BMJ. 2011;342:d1473.
- 102. Harvey NC, Biver E, Kaufman J-M, Bauer J, Branco J, Brandi ML, Bruyère O, Coxam V, Cruz-Jentoft A, Czerwinski E. The role of calcium supplementation in healthy musculoskeletal ageing. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(2):447–62.
- 103. Wallace RB, Wactawski-Wende J, O'Sullivan MJ, Larson JC, Cochrane B, Gass M, Masaki K. Urinary tract stone occurrence in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) randomized clinical trial of calcium and vitamin D supplements. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94(1):270–7.
- 104. Prentice R, Pettinger M, Jackson R, Wactawski-Wende J, Lacroix A, Anderson G, Chlebowski R, Manson J, Van Horn L, Vitolins M. Health risks and benefits from calcium and vitamin D supplementation: Women's Health Initiative clinical trial and cohort study. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(2):567–80.
- 105. Chung M, Tang AM, Fu Z, Wang DD, Newberry SJ. Calcium intake and cardiovascular disease risk: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(12):856–66.
- 106. Kopecky SL, Bauer DC, Gulati M, Nieves JW, Singer AJ, Toth PP, Underberg JA, Wallace TC, Weaver CM. Lack of evidence linking calcium with or without vitamin D supplementation to cardiovascular disease in generally healthy adults: a clinical guideline from the National Osteoporosis Foundation and the American Society for Preventive Cardiology. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(12):867–8.
- 107. Pérez-López FR, Brincat M, Erel CT, Tremollieres F, Gambacciani M, Lambrinoudaki I, Moen MH, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Vujovic S, Rozenberg S. EMAS position statement: vitamin D and postmenopausal health. Maturitas. 2012;71(1):83–8.
- 108. Rejnmark L, Bislev LS, Cashman KD, Eiríksdottir G, Gaksch M, Grübler M, Grimnes G, Gudnason V, Lips P, Pilz S. Non-skeletal health effects of vitamin D supplementation: a systematic review on findings from meta-analyses summarizing trial data. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0180512.
- NICE Guidelines [PH56]. Vitamin D: increasing supplement use in at-risk groups. London: NICE; 2014.
- Hill TR, Aspray TJ. Vitamin D prescribing in older people in the UK depends on postcode. Maturitas. 2017;99:109–13.
- 111. Scientific Advisory Council on Nutrition Vitamin D and Health Report: Scientific Advisory Council. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sacn-vitamin-d-and-health-report.
- 112. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Staehelin HB, Orav JE, Stuck A, Theiler R, Wong JB, Egli A, Kiel DP, Henschkowski J. Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2009;339:b3692.
- 113. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Willett WC, Wong JB, Stuck AE, Staehelin HB, Orav EJ, Thoma A, Kiel DP, Henschkowski J. Prevention of nonvertebral fractures with oral vitamin D and dose dependency: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(6):551–61.
- 114. Reid IR, Bolland MJ, Grey A. Effects of vitamin D supplements on bone mineral density: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2014;383(9912):146–55.
- 115. Avenell A, Mak JCS, O'Connell D. Vitamin D and vitamin D analogues for preventing fractures in post-menopausal women and older men. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(4):CD000227.
- 116. Weaver C, Alexander D, Boushey C, Dawson-Hughes B, Lappe J, LeBoff M, Liu S, Looker A, Wallace T, Wang D. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and risk of fractures:

an updated meta-analysis from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27(1):367–76.

- 117. Crandall CJ, Aragaki AK, LeBoff MS, Li W, Wactawski-Wende J, Cauley JA, Margolis KL, Manson JE. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and height loss: findings from the Women's Health Initiative calcium plus vitamin D clinical trial. Menopause. 2016;23(12):1277–86.
- 118. Siminoski K, Jiang G, Adachi J, Hanley D, Cline G, Ioannidis G, Hodsman A, Josse R, Kendler D, Olszynski W. Accuracy of height loss during prospective monitoring for detection of incident vertebral fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2005;16(4):403–10.
- Liu J, Ho SC, Su Y-X, Chen W-Q, Zhang C-X, Chen Y-M. Effect of long-term intervention of soy isoflavones on bone mineral density in women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Bone. 2009;44(5):948–53.
- 120. Yang T-S, Wang S-Y, Yang Y-C, Su C-H, Lee F-K, Chen S-C, Tseng C-Y, Jou H-J, Huang J-P, Huang K-E. Effects of standardized phytoestrogen on Taiwanese menopausal women. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2012;51(2):229–35.
- 121. Marini H, Minutoli L, Polito F, Bitto A, Altavilla D, Atteritano M, Gaudio A, Mazzaferro S, Frisina A, Frisina N. Effects of the phytoestrogen genistein on bone metabolism in osteopenic postmenopausal women: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2007;146(12): 839–47.
- 122. Arcoraci V, Atteritano M, Squadrito F, D'Anna R, Marini H, Santoro D, Minutoli L, Messina S, Altavilla D, Bitto A. Antiosteoporotic activity of genistein aglycone in postmenopausal women: evidence from a post-hoc analysis of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Nutrients. 2017;9(2):179.
- 123. Howe TE, Rochester L, Neil F, Skelton DA, Ballinger C. Exercise for improving balance in older people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(11). http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004963.pub3/abstract.
- 124. Karlsson MK, Magnusson H, von Schewelov T, Rosengren BE. Prevention of falls in the elderly—a review. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(3):747–62.
- 125. Ambrose AF, Cruz L, Paul G. Falls and fractures: a systematic approach to screening and prevention. Maturitas. 2015;82(1):85–93.
- 126. Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, Doubeni CA, Epling JW, Kemper AR, Krist AH. Interventions to prevent falls in community-dwelling older adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2018;319(16):1696–704.
- 127. Kirkwood RN, de Souza MB, Mingoti SA, Faria BF, Sampaio RF, Resende RA. The slowing down phenomenon: what is the age of major gait velocity decline? Maturitas. 2018;115: 31–6.
- Santos L, Elliott-Sale KJ, Sale C. Exercise and bone health across the lifespan. Biogerontology. 2017;18(6):931–46.
- 129. Woodward MJ, Lu CW, Levandowski R, Kostis J, Bachmann G. The exercise prescription for enhancing overall health of midlife and older women. Maturitas. 2015;82(1):65–71.
- 130. Wu Y-T, Matthews FE, Brayne C. Dementia: time trends and policy responses. Maturitas. 2014;79(2):191–5.
- 131. Wu Y-T, Fratiglioni L, Matthews FE, Lobo A, Breteler MM, Skoog I, Brayne C. Dementia in western Europe: epidemiological evidence and implications for policy making. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(1):116–24.
- 132. Blom K, Emmelot-Vonk MH, Koek HDL. The influence of vascular risk factors on cognitive decline in patients with dementia: a systematic review. Maturitas. 2013;76(2):113–7.
- 133. Haring B, Leng X, Robinson J, Johnson KC, Jackson RD, Beyth R, Wactawski-Wende J, von Ballmoos MW, Goveas JS, Kuller LH. Cardiovascular disease and cognitive decline in postmenopausal women: results from the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2013;2(6):e000369.

- 134. Staubo SC, Aakre JA, Vemuri P, Syrjanen JA, Mielke MM, Geda YE, Kremers WK, Machulda MM, Knopman DS, Petersen RC. Mediterranean diet, micronutrients and macronutrients, and MRI measures of cortical thickness. Alzheimers Dement. 2017;13(2):168–77.
- 135. Moore K, Hughes CF, Ward M, Hoey L, McNulty H. Diet, nutrition and the ageing brain: current evidence and new directions. Proc Nutr Soc. 2018;77(2):152–63.
- 136. Luciano M, Corley J, Cox SR, Hernández MCV, Craig LC, Dickie DA, Karama S, McNeill GM, Bastin ME, Wardlaw JM. Mediterranean-type diet and brain structural change from 73 to 76 years in a Scottish cohort. Neurology. 2017;88(5):449–55.
- 137. Wu L, Sun D. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of developing cognitive disorders: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Sci Rep. 2017;7:41317.
- 138. Psaltopoulou T, Sergentanis TN, Panagiotakos DB, Sergentanis IN, Kosti R, Scarmeas N. Mediterranean diet, stroke, cognitive impairment, and depression: a meta-analysis. Ann Neurol. 2013;74(4):580–91.
- 139. Valls-Pedret C, Sala-Vila A, Serra-Mir M, Corella D, De la Torre R, Martínez-González MÁ, Martínez-Lapiscina EH, Fitó M, Pérez-Heras A, Salas-Salvadó J. Mediterranean diet and age-related cognitive decline: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(7):1094–103.
- 140. Hodge A, Almeida OP, English DR, Giles GG, Flicker L. Patterns of dietary intake and psychological distress in older Australians: benefits not just from a Mediterranean diet. Int Psychogeriatr. 2013;25(3):456–66.
- 141. Samieri C, Morris M-C, Bennett DA, Berr C, Amouyel P, Dartigues J-F, Tzourio C, Chasman DI, Grodstein F. Fish intake, genetic predisposition to Alzheimer's disease and decline in global cognition and memory in five cohorts of older persons. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(5):933–40.
- 142. Cederholm T. Fish consumption and omega-3 fatty acid supplementation for prevention or treatment of cognitive decline, dementia or Alzheimer's disease in older adults–any news? Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2017;20(2):104–9.
- 143. Andrieu S, Guyonnet S, Coley N, Cantet C, Bonnefoy M, Bordes S, Bories L, Cufi M-N, Dantoine T, Dartigues J-F. Effect of long-term omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation with or without multidomain intervention on cognitive function in elderly adults with memory complaints (MAPT): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(5):377–89.
- 144. Soininen H, Solomon A, Visser PJ, Hendrix SB, Blennow K, Kivipelto M, Hartmann T, Hallikainen I, Hallikainen M, Helisalmi S. 24-month intervention with a specific multinutrient in people with prodromal Alzheimer's disease (LipiDiDiet): a randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(12):965–75.
- 145. Annweiler C, Doineau L, Gerigne L, Provendier A, Karras SN, Beauchet O, Fantino B, Duval GT. Vitamin D and subjective memory complaint in community-dwelling older adults. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2018;15(7):664–70.
- 146. Aspell N, Lawlor B, O'Sullivan M. Is there a role for vitamin D in supporting cognitive function as we age? Proc Nutr Soc. 2018;77(2):124–34.
- 147. Marx W, Kelly JT, Marshall S, Cutajar J, Annois B, Pipingas A, Tierney A, Itsiopoulos C. Effect of resveratrol supplementation on cognitive performance and mood in adults: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutr Rev. 2018;76(6):432–43.
- 148. Lamport DJ, Dye L, Wightman JD, Lawton CL. The effects of flavonoid and other polyphenol consumption on cognitive performance: a systematic research review of human experimental and epidemiological studies. Nutr Aging. 2012;1(1):5–25.
- 149. Marx W, Firth J, Lane M, Rocks T, Rusunen A, Loughman A, Lopresti A, Marshall S, Berk M, Sarris J, Jacka F, Dean O. The effect of saffron supplementation on symptoms of depression and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutr Rev. 2019 May 28. pii:nuz023. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuz023.

- 150. Soni M, Orrell M, Bandelow S, Steptoe A, Rafnsson S, d'Orsi E, Xavier A, Hogervorst E. Physical activity pre-and post-dementia: English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Aging Ment Health. 2017;17:1–7.
- 151. Mikkelsen K, Stojanovska L, Polenakovic M, Bosevski M, Apostolopoulos V. Exercise and mental health. Maturitas. 2017;106:48–56.
- 152. Shiue I. Gardening is beneficial for adult mental health: Scottish Health Survey, 2012–2013. Scand J Occup Ther. 2016;23(4):320–5.
- 153. Husk K, Lovell R, Garside R. Prescribing gardening and conservation activities for health and wellbeing in older people. Maturitas. 2018;110:A1–2.



# Effects of Exercise on Menopausal Prevalent Conditions

30

Samuel J. Martínez-Domínguez, Juan Bueno-Notivol, Peter Chedraui, Vanesa Alonso-Ventura, Julia Calvo-Latorre, and Faustino R. Pérez-López

## 30.1 Introduction

Physical activity is the antidote to sedentary lifestyle and its consequences, and includes all forms of muscle movement. Physical activity may range from ordinary activities such as walking or household tasks up to other hard tasks, such as sports or several active leisure pursuits. Exercise refers to physical activity specifically intended to improve health and/or fitness. There are three main types of exercise: stretch, strength, and aerobic exercises. Stretch exercising allows avoiding injury and ameliorates performance; strength exercise helps control weight and also avoid injury while stimulating bone formation; and aerobic exercise protects cardiovascular health, that consumes fat mass and contributes at maintaining a healthy weight and fitness.

S. J. Martínez-Domínguez (🖂)

Digestive Department, Lozano-Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

J. Bueno-Notivol Psychiatry Department, Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

P. Chedraui Instituto de Investigación e Innovación en Salud Integral, Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Universidad Católica de Santiago de Guayaquil, Guayaquil, Ecuador e-mail: peter.chedraui@cu.ucsg.edu.ec

V. Alonso-Ventura Cardiology Department, Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

J. Calvo-Latorre Cambridge University Hospitals, NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK

F. R. Pérez-López Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Zaragoza Facultad de Medicina, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: faustino.perez@unizar.es

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 F. R. Pérez-López (ed.), *Postmenopausal Diseases and Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13936-0\_30 Physical activity induces cardiocirculatory, endocrine, and metabolic benefits. Scientific research during the last three decades has demonstrated that exercise is a countermeasure against obesity, cancer, cardiovascular disease, and even mortality. It seems that exercise stimulates the immune system [1], mobilizes and delivers oxygen and substrate to maintain energy turnover [2] and modifies genetic susceptibility to obesity [3]. In addition, myokine and myometabolites may interfere against degenerative diseases and the ageing of systems [4]. The term exercise corresponds to physical activity aimed at improving health and fitness. Programmed exercise has been used to study different health outcomes. Programmed exercise is frequently recommended for peri-, postmenopausal and older women. Although programmed exercise may have benefits, some recommendations have been based on the results from observational studies, and thus clinical effects are less than expected.

The menopausal transition is associated with endocrine adjustments and changes in social environment. During this stage, several symptoms and co-morbid complications are frequent and may vary in intensity and duration. Although vasomotor symptoms are perhaps the most frequent during those years, others may prevail for longer periods and can be more prevalent than vasomotor symptoms, such as changes in body composition and metabolic outcomes, depressive symptoms, musculoskeletal pain, insomnia or sleep disturbances, and both muscle mass and performance [5–10]. Despite several studies, it has been difficult to establish the true relationship between the benefits of exercise on these symptoms or conditions during the second half of female life. The purpose of this chapter is to review current data from selected observational studies, randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and meta-analyses regarding the effects of programmed exercise on body composition, insulin sensitivity and metabolic endpoints, vasomotor symptoms, sleep quality, and emotional prevalent conditions (depressive symptoms, anxiety, and perceived stress) in women during the second half of life.

## 30.2 Changes in Body Composition and Physical Activity in Mid-Aged and Older Women

Ageing and menopause have impact on body composition, physical fitness, and exercise. Changes in body composition is also a marker of the risk of chronic diseases. Around the menopause, there are changes in body composition, although weight may stay stable. Total fat mass progressively increases, with a selective accumulation in the intra-abdominal compartment, whereas subcutaneous fat may stay stable [11]. During early postmenopausal years, the level of physical activity is responsible for the variations of fat distribution that occured during the menopausal transition, while the menopause onset, *per se*, has a secondary role [12].

Longitudinal studies in perimenopausal women have shown that there is some reduction in energy balance which contributes to total and abdominal fat accumulation. In general, body fat and weight increased significantly over time only in those women who became postmenopausal. Using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) one study reported [13] that 2 years before the onset of the menopause, physical activity decreased and remained low. Follow-up studies using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) indicate that during the menopausal transition, total abdominal fat increases despite no changes in body weight, waist circumference, and physical activity, and this evolution was not related to the menopause [14]. In non-obese premenopausal women (mean age 49 years at baseline), a longitudinal study showed that there is an increase in fat mass, fat mass percentage, trunk fat mass, visceral fat, plasma glucose, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C). However, women did not have metabolic deterioration during the 5-year follow-up [15].

Using MRI, Withaker et al. [16] reported that body mass index (BMI), visceral adipose tissue (VAT), and subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) accrual in adult men and women increased over a 7-year period. Changes in BMI were smaller than those observed for VAT, SAT, and VAT/SAT ratio. In addition, VAT, SAT, and VAT/SAT gain decreased linearly, and this deceleration was greater in men than in women.

The main objective of physical activity and programmed exercise is to maintain a healthy body composition and functional/physical independence. Physical activity can improve body composition, although it can be masked if only body weight or BMI is measured, and the benefits of exercise are more pronounced in postmenopausal women than in premenopausal ones. In addition, estrogen hormone therapy can also provide benefits to body composition [17]. Walking interventions produce beneficial changes in body composition in peri- and postmenopausal women. A meta-analysis of RCTs reported that walking for at least 4 weeks produced a significant reduction in BMI, body weight, and body fat percentage [18].

In young people, strength training improves body composition. In middle-aged women, body fat is reduced 1.3% and fat-free mass increased 656 g for each day per week of training. Therefore, this type of exercise has a better impact on body composition while age, energy, and protein consumption have small effects. Despite this, when results are adjusted for differences in physical activity and menopausal status the correlations weakened significantly [19].

A RCT regarding a 12-month exercise program, including aerobic and muscle strength training in sedentary postmenopausal women (50–69 years), was not associated to changes in weight, BMI, and hip circumference although total body fat and percentage of body fat were reduced when compared to the control group [20]. Therefore, exercise induced changes in body composition and had a positive effect on fat distribution. A meta-analysis of RCTs of menopausal women reported a moderate effect of short-term exercise on body fat mass, waist circumference, triglyceride levels, and bone mineral density as compared to women who did not perform exercise [21].

A high adherence to a healthy dietary pattern (Mediterranean diet) is inversely associated with overweight/obesity in peri- and postmenopausal women. The occurrence of low to severe problems during female midlife is positively associated with overweight/obesity. It seems that a high adherence to the Mediterranean diet pattern and a body mass index of 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or lower may improve quality of life in peri- and postmenopausal women [22]. Dietary and exercise intervention may reduce body weight and improve body composition in obese peri- and postmenopausal women.

A meta-analysis of RCTs showed that a combination of diet and exercise was associated with greater weight loss than dietary intervention alone. In addition, diet combined with exercise produced greater fat and lean mass loss than diet alone. It seems that exercise may enhance the changes produced by diet over body weight and composition [23].

In healthy older women (aged 61–81), combined aerobic and low- to moderateintensity exercise for 10 weeks increased muscle strength and gait speed, independent of the order of the exercise combination. In addition, there was improvement in dynamic balance with moderate-intensity combined training [24].

There is a great discussion regarding the importance of lifestyle and exercise in older subjects with sarcopenic obesity in terms of improving muscle mass and performance, and therefore indirectly preventing falls (and thus fractures). A recent meta-analysis of RCTs reported that exercise alone or combined with dietary supplementation for at least 6 weeks in elder individuals increased grip strength (upper extremity performance), gait speed (lower extremity performance), and appendicular skeletal muscle mass. In addition, both interventions were associated with a reduction of waist circumference, total and trunk fat mass. Therefore, exercise may improve both body composition and muscle performance even in that particular population [10].

## 30.3 Effect of Exercise on Insulin Sensitivity, Anthropometry, and Metabolic Outcomes in Postmenopausal Women

Physical activity and regular exercise may improve different endocrine endpoints, including insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis, and lipid metabolism. Physical activity and exercise (all types of muscular activity) are key factors at maintaining glycemic control and insulin sensitivity. Physical activity may also contribute at avoiding excessive body weight and co-morbidities such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, the metabolic syndrome, and some cancers related to insulin resistance.

Data regarding the effects of exercise on insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women is controversial. We recently performed a systematic review and metaanalysis of seven RCTs regarding the effects of programmed exercise for at least 12 weeks of duration on insulin and related outcomes, anthropometric endpoints, and metabolic blood variables [25]. Displayed in Table 30.1 are the effects of programmed exercise on circulating levels of insulin, insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1), IGF-binding protein 3 (IGFBP-3), and values of the homeostatic model assessmentinsulin resistance (HOMA-IR). The duration of programmed exercise was classified as "mid-term exercise intervention" (MTEI) for 3–4 months; and "long-term exercise intervention" (LTEI), corresponding to 6 to 12 months of duration. Among the most important findings were that exercise for 3–4 months was associated with significant lower circulating insulin levels and a reduction of the HOMA-IR values when compared to controls; while there were no significant effects of exercise intervention of 6–12 months in comparison to controls. In addition, there were no significant differences for circulating levels of IGF-1, glucose, and triglycerides with

**Table 30.1** Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials: mean differences (and 95% confidence intervals) between baseline and post-intervention regarding primary and secondary hormone and metabolic outcomes

	Exercise			Mean		
	interventions	Exercise	Control	difference	$I^2$	
Outcome	( <i>n</i> )	(n = women)	(n = women)	(95% CI)	(%)	Р
Insulin (pmol/L)						
– Mid-term EXE intervention	3	110	109	-6.50 (-11.19; -1.82)	0	0.006
<ul> <li>Long-term</li> <li>EXE</li> <li>intervention</li> </ul>	4	269	222	-6.73 (-16.91; 3.44)	0	0.19
HOMA-IR						
– Mid-term EXE intervention	3	110	109	-0.18 (-0.34; -0.03)	0	0.02
– Long-term EXE intervention	3	229	199	-0.13 (-0.76; 0.50)	39	0.68
IGF-1 (ng/mL)						
<ul> <li>Mid-term</li> <li>EXE</li> <li>intervention</li> </ul>	2	109	107	30.98 (-41.68; 103.64)	87	0.40
– Long-term EXE intervention	2	204	173	0.66 (-12.09; 13.41)	0	0.92
IGFBP-3 (ng/mL)						
– Long-term EXE intervention	2	204	173	-307.15 (-848.62; 234.33)	64	0.27
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )						
– Mid-term EXE intervention	3	45	44	-1.48 (-2.48; -0.48)	0	0.004
<ul> <li>Long-term EXE intervention</li> </ul>	3	182	136	-0.72 (-1.92; 0.48)	0	0.24
Waist circumference (cm)						
<ul> <li>Mid-term</li> <li>EXE</li> <li>intervention</li> </ul>	3	45	44	-1.87 (-3.02; -0.72)	0	0.001
<ul> <li>Long-term</li> <li>EXE</li> <li>intervention</li> </ul>	3	182	136	-3.74 (-6.68; -0.79)	0	0.01
Weight (kg)						
- Long-term EXE intervention	3	182	136	-1.67 (-5.40; 2.06)	0	0.38

(continued)
	Exercise			Mean		
	interventions	Exercise	Control	difference	$I^2$	
Outcome	( <i>n</i> )	(n = women)	(n = women)	(95% CI)	(%)	P
Body fat (%)						
– Mid-term	3	45	44	-2.99 (-4.85;	0	0.002
EXE				-1.14)		
intervention						
Glucose (mmol/L)						
– Mid-term	3	110	109	-0.38 (-0.88;	66	0.13
EXE				0.11)		
intervention						
Long-term EXE	4	269	222	0.00 (-0.13;	12	0.97
intervention				0.14)		
Triglycerides (mmol/L)						
– Mid-term	3	110	109	-0.13 (-0.30;	0	0.12
EXE				0.03)		
intervention						
<ul> <li>Long-term</li> </ul>	3	152	135	-0.07 (-0.26,	0	0.47
EXE				0.12)		
intervention						

#### Table 30.1 (continued)

Heterogeneity of studies as measured by  $l^2$ . Data from Bueno-Notivol et al. [25] BMI body mass index, CI confidence interval, EXE exercise, HOMA-IR homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance, IGF-1 insulin growth factor 1, IGFBP-3 insulin growth factor binding protein

both MTEI and LTEI. On the other hand, there was a significant reduction in BMI and body fat percentage after MTEI, and in waist circumference after both MTEI and LTEI [25].

Postmenopausal women have lower body fat oxidation and lower energy expenditure during exercise, and some four kg less of lean body mass (LBM) than premenopausal women [26]. In non-obese late premenopausal and early postmenopausal women, performing high-intensity aerobic exercise for 3 months reduced body weight, waist circumference, and fat mass while increasing lean body mass. This programmed exercise reduced diastolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, lowdensity lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C), and improved insulin response during the oral glucose tolerance test [27]. Training increased insulin sensitivity by several mechanisms, including augmented expression of hexokinase and glycogen synthase, and the dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase [28].

Metabolic and endocrine effects may vary depending on the type of exercise. For instance, a 60 min session of Nordic walking intervention, three times/week, for 12 weeks produced beneficial changes on BMI, fat mass, insulin levels, blood pressure, and probably on endothelial function in healthy postmenopausal women [29].

Di Blasio et al. [30] reported that supervised walking training for 13 weeks in postmenopausal women produced a significant reduction of the plasmatic ratio of cortisol/dehydroepiandrosterone-sulfate (DHEA-S), which is related to the volume of exercise. A minimum training is needed to obtain the significant endocrine benefit. This kind of programmed exercise also influenced inflammatory markers [31].

### 30.4 Vasomotor Symptoms

Vasomotor symptoms, especially hot flashes and night sweats, sometimes associated with difficulty or disrupted sleep and depressive symptoms, are very common in peri- and postmenopausal women [32]. Duration and severity of hot flashes and night sweats are quite variable and more intense in obese women [33]. In general, these symptoms are related to estrogen changes and respond to hormone therapy. As adiposity increases during the menopause transition so do hot flashes, night sweats, and sleep disturbances. While adiposity increases insulin resistance, weight gain after menopause increases the prevalence of sleep apnea that may contribute to poorer sleep and a higher perception of nocturnal hot flashes and sweats [34].

In African American and Latin American women, vasomotor symptoms may persist for a median of 7 years during the menopausal transition, and may last for a longer time if there are negative affective factors, perceived stress, and a history of psychiatric consultation [35, 36]. Some women may complain of vasomotor symptoms even after their sixties. In Australian community-dwelling older women, vasomotor symptoms were associated with depressive symptoms [32].

The effect of physical activity and exercise over vasomotor symptoms is erratic or nil. Luotto et al. [37] reported that aerobic training may reduce hot flushes. The meta-analysis of the few available RCTs suggests that exercise versus no physical activity may have not benefit over the frequency or intensity of vasomotor symptoms. In addition, there were no differences between groups regarding the frequency or intensity of vasomotor symptoms when exercise was compared with yoga [38]. The Active Women Trial reported that a 6-month exercise intervention, with a further 6-month follow-up, reduced the weekly frequency of vasomotor symptoms; although the reduction was not statistically significant [39]. However, there were improvements in secondary outcomes such as depressive symptoms and anxiety, sleep quality, and sexual behavior, despite the fact that these improvements were not significantly different as compared to the control group. Therefore, the evidence suggests that exercise may have no benefits and thus no increase of physical activity should be advised [38, 39].

Yoga has been recommended for the management of vasomotor symptoms. Despite this, a RCT reported that Yoga among healthy women for a 12-week period did not improve vasomotor symptoms as compared to usual activity; although it may reduce insomnia as measured by the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) [40]. Therefore, exercise, yoga, and other relaxation techniques are not recommended for the management of vasomotor symptoms [41]. In women with excessive body weight, exercise may initiate hot flashes in order to compensate the increase of body temperature. The final consequence is that exercise may be disappointing, and full belly breath and hydration are recommended to reduce exercise heat-induced hot flashes.

## 30.5 Sleep Quality and Insomnia

Insomnia and sleep disorders are very common in peri- and postmenopausal women, reaching in some populations up to 30–40% [5–7, 9]. Sleep disturbances may affect 45% of women aged more than 65 years, being associated with higher BMI and waist circumference. The presence of insomnia was inversely associated with physical fitness, and women without sleep disturbances showed better quality of life [42].

Insomnia is associated with sleepiness, fatigue, inability to concentrate in daily tasks, higher chances of accidents, tendency to gain weight, damage of personal or professional relationships, irritability and anxiety during the daytime [6]. Some sleep alterations may be related to hormone imbalances and menopause-related symptoms (mostly vasomotor symptoms and nocturia). However, women with mood disorders, particularly those with depressive symptoms and anxiety may have difficulty to fall asleep and/or early awakenings. In addition, chronic insomnia in mid-aged women may also be associated to different co-morbid conditions, including obstructive sleep apnea and the restless legs syndrome which require an appropriate assessment and treatment [43]. The consequences of poor nocturnal sleep are fatigue, sleepiness, irritability, and poor work efficacy. In postmenopausal women, the long-term consequences of poor quality of sleep and insomnia include increased morbidity and mortality [44, 45].

Menopause hormone therapy may improve both vasomotor symptoms and sleep disorders. However, the current use of hormones has decreased during the last decade or so. Hence, currently, the management of sleep disorders and insomnia can be approached by changes in lifestyle, specific pharmacologic medications, and alternative therapies [46].

There is a correlation between regular exercise and the reduction of insomnia mediated by a decrease of tension and body temperature, hence contributing to sleep and staying asleep. This is a reasonable alternative to the use of pharmacologic drugs. Full benefits may be obtained for instance by jogging up to five miles/ week or by spending some time in the gym, and sometimes the best time for exercise is not later in the day. However, exercise in the evening may be associated with the benefits related to dietary habit modification [47].

Rubio-Arias et al. [48] reported a meta-analysis of RCTs assessing the effect in mid-aged women of programmed exercise for at least 8 weeks on sleep quality, sleep disturbance, and/or insomnia, using respectively the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) and the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (Table 30.2). Low-moderate levels of programmed exercise decreased the PSQI score as compared with controls. In a subgroup analysis, moderate aerobic exercise had a positive effect on sleep quality while programmed yoga did not have a significant effect on sleep quality. In three studies (two studies of yoga and one of aerobic exercise), there was a non-significant reduction in the severity of insomnia when compared to controls as measured with the total ISI score (Table 30.2).

A RCT reported that yoga and aerobic exercise interventions had no significant effects on sleep actigraphic sleep parameters in menopausal women with hot flashes and poor self-reported sleep quality [49]. Another RCT reported that progressive

**Table 30.2** Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials: mean differences (and 95% confidence intervals]) in sleep quality as assessed with the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (overall effect and subgroup by type of physical activity), and insomnia with the Insomnia Severity Index

	Exercise	Exercise	Control	Mean difference	$I^2$	
Outcome	interventions (n)	(n = women)	(n = women)	(95% CI)	(%)	P
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index						
<ul> <li>Overall effect</li> </ul>	5	354	396	-1.34 (-2.67; 0.00)	68	0.05
<ul> <li>Aerobic activity</li> </ul>	3	198	226	-1.85 (-3.62; -0.07)	73	0.04
– Yoga	2	156	170	-0.46 (-1.79; 0.88)	0	0.50
Insomnia Severity Index	3	194	275	-1.44 (-3.28; 0.40)	0	0.13

Heterogeneity of studies as measured by *P*<sup>2</sup>. Data from Rubio-Arias et al. [48] *CI* confidence interval

relaxation exercises (once a week, for 8 weeks) and sleep hygiene training may improve insomnia in postmenopausal women as measured with the Women's Health Initiative Insomnia Rating Scale [50].

## 30.6 Effect of Exercise on Depressive Symptoms, Anxiety, and Perceived Stress

Reports indicate that exercise has benefits on the mental health, by creating a subjective sensation of well-being, but also through brain mechanisms improving the production of some neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors that favor neuronal function and their connections. In addition, exercise may also contribute by regulating emotions and the respiratory function which may be positive for the anxious status [50]. However, clinical results cannot be generalized to different ages or conditions. We reviewed the most recent evidence from RCTs and meta-analyses related to women during their second half of life (Table 30.3).

#### 30.6.1 Depressive Symptoms and Exercise

Depending on the diagnostic procedure, the prevalence of depressive symptoms may increase two-fold in women during their second half of life as compared to men [8, 53, 54]. It is important to consider that a large proportion of women with depressive disorders may have autoimmune thyroiditis [55]. In addition, depressive symptoms are more common among women who take antidepressants, are obese or tobacco consumers, live in insecure economic situations, have lower educational or economical level, have menopause-related symptoms (vaginal atrophy or vasomotor symptoms) or pelvic floor symptoms, and lack regular physical exercising. Contrary to this, having a partner and a paid job exerted a protective role [8, 32, 56].

		Exercise			Mean		
		interventions	Exercise	Control	difference	$I^2$	
Outco	ome	( <i>n</i> )	(n = women)	(n = women)	(95% CI)	(%)	Р
Depr	essive sympton	18					
_	Mid-term	7	368	441	-0.44 (-0.69;	64	0.0008
	EXE				-0.18)		
	intervention						
_	Long-term	6	602	573	-0.29 (-0.49;	57	0.005
	EXE				-0.09)		
	intervention						
Anxi	ety symptoms						
_	Mid-term	8	437	502	-0.42 (-0.81;	87	0.04
	EXE				-0.02)		
	intervention						
_	Long-term	7	536	477	-0.03 (-0.18;	29	0.74
	EXE				0.13)		
	intervention						

**Table 30.3** Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials: standardized mean differences (and 95% confidence intervals) between baseline and post-intervention regarding depressive and anxiety symptoms

Heterogeneity of studies as measured by *I*<sup>2</sup>. Data from Pérez-Lopez et al. [51] and Martínez-Domínguez et al. [52], respectively

CI confidence interval

Depressive mood affected 36% of mid-aged South American women (peri- and postmenopausal), with a higher rate observed among minorities (Afro-Colombian or Quechua women) due to ethnicity or other social discriminatory factors, hot flush severity, hormone therapy use, sedentary lifestyle, perceived unhealthy status, and lower educational level. Contrary to this, higher coital frequency and having a healthy partner without premature ejaculation were associated to less depressed mood [57].

The meta-analysis of few small RCTs reported that exercise may be mildly effective at reducing symptoms of depression, and compared to psychological or pharmacological treatments exercise seems to be less effective in adults aged 18 and over [58]. Exercise may be beneficial for people with mild and moderate depression and mood swings, if they are healthy enough to perform physical activity [59, 60]. A recent meta-analysis of RCTs suggests that exercise may be recommended in women during the second half of life with mild to moderate depressive symptoms, and the benefits may be obtained with exercise of low to moderate intensity (Table 30.3). The benefit of exercise was similar to physical activity of low and moderate intensity. Therefore, women with co-morbid conditions would benefit even with low-intensity physical activity [51].

It is likely that exercise be an opportunity for recreation and social meeting in women with depressive symptoms in their second half of life. In addition exercise improves motor and cognitive functions, and may be as effective as antidepressants [61]. Endorphins, cytokines, and other inflammatory markers have not been studied in peri- and postmenopausal women before, during, or after physical activity.

Exercise may also improve serotonin secretion since physical exercise modulates neurogenesis which is associated with mood improvement and changes in serotonin levels, tryptophan metabolism, and insulin sensitivity [25, 62, 63]. It is also possible that some muscle biochemical signals may improve central nervous system functions and reduce depressed mood [64].

## 30.6.2 Anxiety Symptoms and Exercise

Anxiety symptoms (ASs) are very prevalent among mid-aged and older women although there is no clear relationship with the menopausal transition. Available studies were characterized as having poor measurement of both menopausal status and anxiety symptoms; in addition, confounding factors such as severity of vasomotor symptoms or sleep disorders were not clearly assessed [65]. It has been postulated that the severity of the majority of menopausal symptoms, including anxiety symptoms, are related to the way recent life conditions and events are perceived during the midlife and later years [66]. It has been repeatedly reported that anxiety symptoms can be reduced by regular exercise, especially if having time to focus on breathing [67].

Several meta-analyses have studied the effect of exercise or physical activity on mild to moderate anxiety symptoms in the general population [68, 69]. However, a recent meta-analysis of RCTs including mid-aged and older women reported that mid-term (12 weeks to 4 months) programmed exercise of low to moderate intensity was associated with a mild and significant reduction of anxiety symptoms as compared to controls (Table 30.3). However, long-term exercise interventions for 6–14 months were not associated with a reduction of anxiety symptoms [52]. It seems that the benefits of exercise on anxiety symptoms are limited in time, becoming less effective over time. It remains to be demonstrated if more intense exercise can prolong or maintain the reduction of anxiety in long-term programmed exercise.

The aforementioned meta-analysis had some limitations, including the heterogeneity of analyzed RCTs, the use of small samples of subjects, limited information regarding secondary outcomes and confounding factors, and the lack of more objective endpoints including inflammatory markers.

#### 30.6.3 Perceived Stress and Exercise

Perceived stress is a reaction to environmental conditions associated with the activation of the nervous system, negative sensations and, if sustained, with adverse health consequences. In addition, perceived stress is influenced by family and social factors, general health, smoking and other drug use, insomnia and anxiety, education, and financial difficulties. Different approaches have recommended including physical activity and exercise, psychological technique, relaxation, behavioral therapies, and programmed exercise.

Perceived stress is more prevalent in women than in men, with high rates among women during the second half of life [70]. Factors related with higher perceived

stress include female age, lower education, lower psychological and urogenital quality of life, and financial difficulties [7]. Stress in premenopausal women is associated with a reduction in cognitive parameters such as attention, fluency, and language ability without affecting memory; while in postmenopausal women the majority of cognitive functions are reduced [71]. Longitudinal studies also showed that perceived stress is associated to increased C-reactive protein levels in women, but not in men [72].

According to observational studies, physical activity and exercise are recommended to reduce perceived stress [73, 74]; although there are controversial results in women during their second period of life (midlife and older women) [75–77]. We performed a meta-analysis of five RCTs regarding the effect of exercise on perceived stress, as measured with the Cohen Perceived Stress Scale, in middle-aged and older women [78]. Programmed exercise did not have any significant effect on measured perceived stress in mid-term and long-term interventions as compared to controls.

# 30.7 Effect of Exercise on Bone Mineral Density

There are several meta-analyses reporting the effect of exercise on bone mineral density (BMD) indicating a significant increase on femoral neck and lumbar spine BMD [79–81]. Contrary to this, another meta-analysis reported that in premenopausal women high-intensity progressive resistance training increased BMD at the lumbar spine but not at the femoral neck [82]. Future studies should provide better information on the effect of exercise at different ages and with different intensity and duration of physical activity.

## 30.8 Limitations of Current Evidence and Future Directions

The World Health Organization recommends that adults should engage in at least 150 min of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or engage in at least 75 min of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity [83]. However, sedentary women can incorporate walking into their everyday life and progressively move to more intense exercise for major muscle groups. Daily activities, such as walking and climbing, have also shown health benefits and are consistent when people exercise over longer periods of time [84]. Despite this, there are also biased information from observational studies favoring exercise as the panacea for many aspects [85] which are not confirmed by RCTs.

The available evidence included a variety of types of exercise by intensity and frequency which are not comparable and do not allow a systematic assessment in order to define risks and benefits. The American College of Sport Medicine has Guidelines for Physical Activity in Adults with general recommendations for physical activity, aerobic activity, and strength activity [86]. Clinicians should counsel postmenopausal and older women on how much physical activity and programmed

exercise is needed to maintain a healthy status, to promote weight loss and to maintain weight and obtain realistic expectations on the different outcomes reviewed in this manuscript.

Although the minimum recommended aerobic physical activity (150 min of moderate or 75 min of vigorous exercise per week) can improve cardiovascular health [87], the levels of programmed exercise should be tailored according to the outcomes to be corrected (insulin sensitivity, blood metabolic endpoints, emotional complaints), and according to the individual health status, age, and clinical goals. New alternatives to conventional programmed exercise, such as whole body electromyostimulation, or complements, such as adequate dietary supplementation, need to be assessed in postmenopausal women [10, 88].

Futures studies should incorporate more sophisticated and well-defined clinical and metabolic outcomes in order to improve the current limitations of available studies and define the effect of exercise on different prevalent conditions during the second half of life.

Competing Interest None to declare

Funding: None.

### References

- Pedersen BK, Akerström TC, Nielsen AR, Fischer CP. Role of myokines in exercise and metabolism. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2007;103:1093–8.
- Ball D. Metabolic and endocrine response to exercise: sympathoadrenal integration with skeletal muscle. J Endocrinol. 2015;224:R79–95.
- Ochs-Balcom H, Preus L, Jing N, et al. Physical activity modifies genetic susceptibility to obesity in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2018;25:1131–7.
- 4. Rai M, Demontis F. Systemic nutrient and stress signaling via myokines and myometabolites. Annu Rev Physiol. 2016;78:85–107.
- Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR, Mendoza M, Leimberg ML, Martínez MA, Vallarino V, Hidalgo L. Factors related to increased daytime sleepiness during the menopausal transition as evaluated by the Epworth sleepiness scale. Maturitas. 2010;65:75–80.
- Arakane M, Castillo C, Rosero MF, Peñafiel R, Pérez-López FR, Chedraui P. Factors relating to insomnia during the menopausal transition as evaluated by the Insomnia Severity Index. Maturitas. 2011;69:157–61.
- Cuadros JL, Fernández-Alonso AM, Cuadros-Celorrio AM, Fernández-Luzón N, Guadix-Peinado MJ, del Cid-Martín N, Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR, MenopAuse Risk Assessment (MARIA) Research Group. Perceived stress, insomnia and related factors in women around the menopause. Maturitas. 2012;72:367–72.
- Llaneza P, García-Portilla MP, Llaneza-Suárez D, Armott B, Pérez-López FR. Depressive disorders and the menopause transition. Maturitas. 2012;71:120–30.
- Ornat L, Martínez-Dearth R, Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR. Assessment of subjective sleep disturbance and related factors during female mid-life with the Jenkins Sleep Scale. Maturitas. 2014;77:344–50.
- Hita-Contreras F, Bueno-Notivol J, Martínez-Amat A, Cruz-Díaz D, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR. Effect of exercise alone or combined with dietary supplements on anthropometric and physical performance measures in community-dwelling elderly people with sarcopenic obesity: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2018;116:24–35.

- 11. Toth MJ, Tchernof A, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Effect of menopausal status on body composition and abdominal fat distribution. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24:226–31.
- Kanaley JA, Sames C, Swisher L, Swick AG, Ploutz-Snyder LL, Steppan CM, Sagendorf KS, Feiglin D, Jaynes EB, Meyer RA, Weinstock RS. Abdominal fat distribution in pre- and postmenopausal women: the impact of physical activity, age, and menopausal status. Metabolism. 2001;50:976–82.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32:949–58.
- Franklin RM, Ploutz-Snyder L, Kanaley JA. Longitudinal changes in abdominal fat distribution with menopause. Metabolism. 2009;58:311–5.
- Abdulnour J, Doucet E, Brochu M, Lavoie JM, Strychar I, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Prud'homme D. The effect of the menopausal transition on body composition and cardiometabolic risk factors: a Montreal-Ottawa New Emerging Team group study. Menopause. 2012;19:760–7.
- Whitaker KM, Choh AC, Lee M, Towne B, Czerwinski SA, Demerath EW. Sex differences in the rate of abdominal adipose accrual during adulthood: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2016;40:1278–85.
- 17. Guo SS, Zeller C, Chumlea WC, Siervogel RM. Aging, body composition, and lifestyle: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999;70:405–11.
- Gao HL, Gao HX, Sun FM, Zhang L. Effects of walking on body composition in perimenopausal and postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Menopause. 2016;23:928–34.
- Burrup R, Tucker LA, LE Cheminant JD, Bailey BW. Strength training and body composition in middle-age women. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2018;58:82–91.
- Velthuis MJ, Schuit AJ, Peeters PH, Monninkhof EM. Exercise program affects body composition but not weight in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2009;16:777–84.
- Yeh ML, Liao RW, Hsu CC, Chung YC, Lin JG. Exercises improve body composition, cardiovascular risk factors and bone mineral density for menopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Appl Nurs Res. 2018;40:90–8.
- 22. Sayón-Orea C, Santiago S, Cuervo M, Martínez-González MA, Garcia A, Martínez JA. Adherence to Mediterranean dietary pattern and menopausal symptoms in relation to overweight/obesity in Spanish perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2015;22:750–7.
- 23. Cheng CC, Hsu CY, Liu JF. Effects of dietary and exercise intervention on weight loss and body composition in obese postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Menopause. 2018;25:772–82.
- Shiotsu Y, Yanagita M. Comparisons of low-intensity versus moderate-intensity combined aerobic and resistance training on body composition, muscle strength, and functional performance in older women. Menopause. 2018;25:668–75.
- 25. Bueno-Notivol J, Calvo-Latorre J, Alonso-Ventura V, Pasupuleti V, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR, Health Outcomes and Systematic Analyses (HOUSSAY) Project. Effect of programmed exercise on insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Menopause. 2017;24:1404–13.
- Abildgaard J, Pedersen AT, Green CJ, Harder-Lauridsen NM, Solomon TP, Thomsen C, Juul A, Pedersen M, Pedersen JT, Mortensen OH, Pilegaard H, Pedersen BK, Lindegaard B. Menopause is associated with decreased whole body fat oxidation during exercise. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013;304:E1227–36.
- 27. Mandrup CM, Egelund J, Nyberg M, et al. Effects of high-intensity training on cardiovascular risk factors in pre- and postmenopausal women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;216:384e1–384. e11.
- Mandrup CM, Egelund J, Nyberg M, Enevoldsen LH, Kjær A, Clemmensen AE, Christensen AN, Suetta C, Frikke-Schmidt R, Steenberg DE, Wojtaszewski JFP, Hellsten Y, Stallknecht BM. Effects of menopause and high-intensity training on insulin sensitivity and muscle metabolism. Menopause. 2018;25:165–75.

- Pospieszna B, Karolkiewicz J, Tarnas J, Lewandowski J, Laurentowska M, Pilaczyńska-Szcześniak Ł. Influence of 12-week Nordic Walking training on biomarkers of endothelial function in healthy postmenopausal women. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2017;57:1178–85.
- 30. Di Blasio A, Izzicupo P, Di Baldassarre A, Gallina S, Bucci I, Giuliani C, Di Santo S, Di Iorio A, Ripari P, Napolitano G. Walking training and cortisol to DHEA-S ratio in postmenopause: an intervention study. Women Health. 2018;58:387–402.
- 31. Izzicupo P, D'Amico MA, Bascelli A, Di Fonso A, D'Angelo E, Di Blasio A, Bucci I, Napolitano G, Gallina S, Di Baldassarre A. Walking training affects dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and inflammation independent of changes in spontaneous physical activity. Menopause. 2013;20:455–63.
- Zeleke BM, Bell RJ, Billah B, Davis SR. Vasomotor symptoms are associated with depressive symptoms in community-dwelling older women. Menopause. 2017;24:1365–71.
- Fernández-Alonso AM, Cuadros JL, Chedraui P, Mendoza M, Cuadros AM, Pérez-López FR. Obesity is related to increased menopausal symptoms among Spanish women. Menopause Int. 2010;16:105–10.
- Gao CC, Kapoor E, Lipford MC, Miller VM, Schroeder DR, Mara KC, Faubion SS. Association of vasomotor symptoms and sleep apnea risk in midlife women. Menopause. 2018;25:391–8.
- 35. Avis NE, Crawford SL, Greendale G, Bromberger JT, Everson-Rose SA, Gold EB, Hess R, Joffe H, Kravitz HM, Tepper PG, Thurston RC, Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Duration of menopausal vasomotor symptoms over the menopause transition. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:531–9.
- 36. Blümel JE, Chedraui P, Baron G, Belzares E, Bencosme A, Calle A, Danckers L, Espinoza MT, Flores D, Gomez G, Hernandez-Bueno JA, Izaguirre H, Leon-Leon P, Lima S, Mezones-Holguin E, Monterrosa A, Mostajo D, Navarro D, Ojeda E, Onatra W, Royer M, Soto E, Tserotas K, Vallejo S, Collaborative Group for Research of the Climacteric in Latin America (REDLINC). A large multinational study of vasomotor symptom prevalence, duration, and impact on quality of life in middle-aged women. Menopause. 2011;18:778–85.
- Luoto R, Moilanen J, Heinonen R, Mikkola T, Raitanen J, Tomas E, Ojala K, Mansikkamäki K, Nygård CH. Effect of aerobic training on hot flushes and quality of life—a randomized controlled trial. Ann Med. 2012;44:616–26.
- Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Thomas A, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(11):CD006108.
- Daley AJ, Thomas A, Roalfe AK, Stokes-Lampard H, Coleman S, Rees M, Hunter MS, MacArthur C. The effectiveness of exercise as treatment for vasomotor menopausal symptoms: randomised controlled trial. BJOG. 2015;122:565–75.
- 40. Newton KM, Reed SD, Guthrie KA, Sherman KJ, Booth-LaForce C, Caan B, Sternfeld B, Carpenter JS, Learman LA, Freeman EW, Cohen LS, Joffe H, Anderson GL, Larson JC, Hunt JR, Ensrud KE, LaCroix AZ. Efficacy of yoga for vasomotor symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2014;21:339–46.
- NAMS. Nonhormonal management of menopause-associated vasomotor symptoms: 2015 position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause. 2015;22:1155–72.
- 42. Moreno-Vecino B, Arija-Blázquez A, Pedrero-Chamizo R, Gómez-Cabello A, Alegre LM, Pérez-López FR, González-Gross M, Casajús JA, Ara I, EXERNET Group. Sleep disturbance, obesity, physical fitness and quality of life in older women: EXERNET study group. Climacteric. 2017;20:72–9.
- Attarian H, Hachul H, Guttuso T, Phillips B. Treatment of chronic insomnia disorder in menopause: evaluation of literature. Menopause. 2015;22:674–84.
- 44. Pérez-López FR, Chedraui P, Gilbert JJ, Pérez-Roncero G. Cardiovascular risk in menopausal women and prevalent related co-morbid conditions: facing the post-Women's Health Initiative era. Fertil Steril. 2009;92:1171–86.
- 45. Javaheri S, Redline S. Insomnia and risk of cardiovascular disease. Chest. 2017;152:435–44.
- 46. Maness DL, Khan M. Nonpharmacologic management of chronic insomnia. Am Fam Physician. 2015;92:1058–64.

- 47. Di Blasio A, Di Donato F, Mastrodicasa M, Fabrizio N, Di Renzo D, Napolitano G, Petrella V, Gallina S, Ripari P. Effects of the time of day of walking on dietary behaviour, body composition and aerobic fitness in post-menopausal women. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2010;50:196–201.
- Rubio-Arias JÁ, Marín-Cascales E, Ramos-Campo DJ, Hernandez AV, Pérez-López FR. Effect of exercise on sleep quality and insomnia in middle-aged women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2017;100:49–56.
- 49. Buchanan DT, Landis CA, Hohensee C, Guthrie KA, Otte JL, Paudel M, Anderson GL, Caan B, Freeman EW, Joffe H, LaCroix AZ, Newton KM, Reed SD, Ensrud KE. Effects of yoga and aerobic exercise on actigraphic sleep parameters in menopausal women with hot flashes. J Clin Sleep Med. 2017;13:11–8.
- Duman M, Timur TS. The effect of sleep hygiene education and relaxation exercises on insomnia among postmenopausal women: a randomized clinical trial. Int J Nurs Pract. 2018;4:e12650.
- Pérez-López FR, Martínez-Domínguez SJ, Lajusticia H, Chedraui P. Effects of programmed exercise on depressive symptoms in midlife and older women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Maturitas. 2017;106:38–47.
- 52. Martínez-Domínguez SJ, Lajusticia H, Chedraui P, Pérez-López FR, Health Outcomes and Systematic Analyses (HOUSSAY) Project. The effect of programmed exercise over anxiety symptoms in midlife and older women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Climacteric. 2018;21:123–31.
- Mitchell AJ, Vaze A, Rao S. Clinical diagnosis of depression in primary care: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2009;374:609–19.
- 54. Pérez-López FR, Pérez-Roncero G, Fernández-Iñarrea J, Fernández-Alonso AM, Chedraui P, Llaneza P, MARIA (MenopAuse RIsk Assessment) Research Group. Resilience, depressed mood, and menopausal symptoms in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2014;21:159–64.
- Siegmann EM, Müller HHO, Luecke C, Philipsen A, Kornhuber J, Grömer TW. Association of depression and anxiety disorders with autoimmune thyroiditis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA Psychiat. 2018;75:577–84.
- 56. Tsai KW, Lin SC, Koo M. Correlates of depressive symptoms in late middle-aged Taiwanese women: findings from the 2009 Taiwan National Health Interview Survey. BMC Womens Health. 2017;17:103.
- 57. Salazar-Pousada D, Monterrosa-Castro A, Ojeda E, Sánchez SC, Morales-Luna IF, Pérez-López FR, Chedraui P, Research Group for the Omega II Women's Health Project. Evaluation of depressive symptoms in mid-aged women: report of a multicenter South American study. Menopause. 2017;24:1282–8.
- 58. Cooney GM, Dwan K, Greig CA, Lawlor DA, Rimer J, Waugh FR, McMurdo M, Mead GE. Exercise for depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(9):CD004366.
- Moilanen JM, Mikkola TS, Raitanen JA, Heinonen RH, Tomas EI, Nygård CH, Luoto RM. Effect of aerobic training on menopausal symptoms--a randomized controlled trial. Menopause. 2012;19:691–6.
- 60. Josefsson T, Lindwall M, Archer T. Physical exercise intervention in depressive disorders: meta-analysis and systematic review. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2014;24:259–72.
- 61. Netz Y. Is the comparison between exercise and pharmacologic treatment of depression in the clinical practice guideline of the american college of physicians evidence-based? Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:257.
- 62. Melancon MO, Lorrain D, Dionne IJ. Changes in markers of brain serotonin activity in response to chronic exercise in senior men. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2014;39:1250–6.
- 63. Yuan TF, Paes F, Arias-Carrión O, Ferreira Rocha NB, de Sá Filho AS, Machado S. Neural mechanisms of exercise: anti-depression, neurogenesis, and serotonin signaling. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2015;14:1307–11.
- 64. Agudelo LZ, Femenía T, Orhan F, Porsmyr-Palmertz M, Goiny M, Martinez-Redondo V, Correia JC, Izadi M, Bhat M, Schuppe-Koistinen I, Pettersson AT, Ferreira DMS, Krook A,

Barres R, Zierath JR, Erhardt S, Lindskog M, Ruas JL. Skeletal muscle PGC-1α1 modulates kynurenine metabolism and mediates resilience to stress-induced depression. Cell. 2014;159:33–45.

- 65. Bryant C, Judd FK, Hickey M. Anxiety during the menopausal transition: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2012;139:141–8.
- 66. Pimenta F, Leal I, Maroco J, Ramos C. Menopausal symptoms: do life events predict severity of symptoms in peri- and post-menopause? Maturitas. 2012;72:324–31.
- Mansikkamäki K, Raitanen J, Malila N, Sarkeala T, Männistö S, Fredman J, Heinävaara S, Luoto R. Physical activity and menopause-related quality of life - a population-based crosssectional study. Maturitas. 2015;80:69–74.
- Bartley CA, Hay M, Bloch MH. Meta-analysis: aerobic exercise for the treatment of anxiety disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2013;45:34–9.
- 69. Ensari I, Greenlee TA, Motl RW, Petruzzello SJ. Meta-analysis of acute exercise effects on state anxiety: an updated of randomized controlled trials over the past 25 years. Depress Anxiety. 2015;32:624–34.
- 70. Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D. Who's stressed? Distributions of psychological stress in the United States in probability samples from 1983, 2006, and 2009. J Appl Soc Psychol. 2012;42:1320–34.
- Ramesh MB, Ammu S, Nayanatara AK, Vinodini NA, Pratik KC, Anupama N, Bhagyalakshmi K. A comparative study of the effect of stress on the cognitive parameters in women with increased body mass index before and after menopause. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. 2018;29:469–71.
- Barbosa-Leiker C, Roper V, McPherson S, Lei M, Wright B, Hoekstra T, Kostick M. Crosssectional and longitudinal relationships between perceived stress and C-reactive protein in men and women. Stress Health. 2014;30:158–65.
- Salmon P. Effects of physical exercise on anxiety, depression, and sensitivity to stress. Clin Psychol Rev. 2001;21:33–61.
- Guérin E, Biagé A, Goldfield G, Prud'homme D. Physical activity and perceptions of stress during the menopause transition: a longitudinal study. J Health Psychol. 2017;1359105316683787.
- Hansen CJ, Stevens LC, Richard CJ. Exercise duration and mood state: how much is enough to feel better. Health Psychol. 2001;20:267–75.
- Bond DS, Lyle RM, Tappe MK, Seehafer RS, D'Zurilla TJ. Moderate aerobic exercise, T'ai chi, and social problem-solving ability in relation to psychological stress. Int J Stress Manage. 2002;9:329–43.
- Elavsky S, Gold CH. Depressed mood but not fatigue mediate the relationship between physical activity and perceived stress in middle-aged women. Maturitas. 2009;64:235–40.
- Nigdelis MP, Martínez-Domínguez SJ, Goulis DG, Pérez-López FR. Effect of programmed exercise on perceived stress in middle-aged and old women: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Maturitas. 2018;114:1–8.
- Martyn-St James M, Carroll S. A meta-analysis of impact exercise on postmenopausal bone loss: the case for mixed loading exercise programmes. Br J Sports Med. 2009;43:898–908.
- Kelley GA, Kelley KS, Kohrt WM. Effects of ground and joint reaction force exercise on lumbar spine and femoral neck bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:177.
- Zhao R, Zhao M, Xu Z. The effects of differing resistance training modes on the preservation of bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2015;26:1605–18.
- Martyn-St James M, Carroll S. Progressive high-intensity resistance training and bone mineral density changes among premenopausal women: evidence of discordant site-specific skeletal effects. Sports Med. 2006;36:683–704.
- Oja P, Titze S. Physical activity recommendations for public health: development and policy. EPMA J. 2011;2:253–9.
- Sriram U, LaCroix AZ, Barrington WE, et al. Neighborhood walkability and adiposity in the Women's Health Initiative Cohort. Am J Prev Med. 2016;51:722–30.

- Mikkelsen K, Stojanovska L, Polenakovic M, Bosevski M, Apostolopoulos V. Exercise and mental health. Maturitas. 2017;106:48–56.
- 86. American College of Sports Medicine ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription the Tenth Edition. ISBN/ISSN 9781496339065.
- Swift DL, McGee JE, Earnest CP, Carlisle E, Nygard M, Johannsen NM. The effects of exercise and physical activity on weight loss and maintenance. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2018;61:206–13.
- Kemmler W, Teschler M, Weissenfels A, Bebenek M, von Stengel S, Kohl M, Freiberger E, Goisser S, Jakob F, Sieber C, Engelke K. Whole-body electromyostimulation to fight sarcopenic obesity in community-dwelling older women at risk. Results of the randomized controlled FORMOsA-sarcopenic obesity study. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27:3261–70.